
Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

Gerard Watson
395 2194

Produced on Recycled Paper
1

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Wednesday, 21st October, 2015 at 1.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors

J Blake (Chair)
D Coupar
M Dobson
R Lewis
J Lewis
L Mulherin
M Rafique
L Yeadon

A Carter S Golton

Public Document Pack



2

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS

The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in 
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers 
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:

9.0 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, 
and minutes will also be excluded.

9.2 Confidential information means
(a) information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which 

forbid its public disclosure or 
(b) information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another 

Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an 
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights 
rules. 

10.0 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
10. 1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
would be disclosed provided:
(a) the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the 

proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b) that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the 

Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.

(c) that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or 
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

10.2 In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will 
also be excluded. 

10.3 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10. 4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 
any condition):
1 Information relating to any individual
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information).
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-
holders under the authority.

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

 



3

A G E N D A

Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  

 

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

2  

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which officers 
have identified as containing exempt information 
within the meaning of Section 100I of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and where officers 
consider that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the officers 
recommendation in respect of the above 
information.

3 If the recommendation is accepted, to formally 
pass the following resolution:-

RESOLVED –  That, in accordance with 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as exempt  on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that 
if members of the press and public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information.



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

4

3  

 

LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes)

4  

 

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  

 

MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 23rd September 2015

1 - 14

COMMUNITIES

6  

 

LONG TERM STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP WITH 
LEEDS CITY CREDIT UNION

To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities) providing an 
update on the Council’s continued joint work with 
Leeds City Credit Union (LCCU) to tackle poverty 
in Leeds. In addition, the report also sets out the 
long-term strategy for ongoing partnership working.

15 - 
40



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

5

7  

K

Cross Gates 
and 
Whinmoor; 
Harewood

RE-LOCATION OF RED HALL 
HORTICULTURAL NURSERY TO WHINMOOR 
GRANGE

To consider the report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing on the latest designs 
and costs relating to the relocation of the Parks 
and Countryside horticultural nursery from Red 
Hall to Whinmoor Grange along with the relocation 
of other operational services currently based at 
Red Hall. In addition the report seeks approval of 
an injection into the capital scheme and 
subsequent expenditure of £6.5m for the 
construction and relocation works from Red Hall to 
Whinmoor Grange.

41 - 
70

8  

K

COMMISSIONING A NEW MODEL FOR THE 
DELIVERY OF SUPPORTING PEOPLE 
SERVICES

To consider the report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing providing a summary of 
the performance of the Housing Related Support 
commissioned programme in 2014/15 and 
updating the Board on the review and progress 
towards developing a new model for the city which 
includes the intended outcomes and benefits. In 
addition, the report seeks the Board’s input and 
guidance on the model and forward work 
programme.

71 - 
98

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION & 
COMMUNITY SAFETY

9  

 

IMPROVING AIR QUALITY WITHIN THE CITY

To consider the joint report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing and the Director of 
Public Health providing an update on the progress 
made since the submission of a previous report to 
Executive Board in December 2014. In addition, 
the report provides details on the West Yorkshire 
Low Emission Strategy Paper, Leeds’ action plan 
and a number of current and related funding 
opportunities.

99 - 
202



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

6

ECONOMY & CULTURE

10 

 

STRONG ECONOMY, COMPASSIONATE CITY

To consider the report of the Chief Executive which 
sets out the Council’s vision for a strong economy 
and compassionate city. The aim is to sustain and 
accelerate the economic progress the city is 
making whilst ensuring that all people and 
communities in Leeds contribute and benefit from 
economic success.

203 - 
234

11 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2016/17 
- 2019/20

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive setting out the principles and 
assumptions underlying the proposed financial 
strategy covering the years 2016/17 to 2019/20. 
The report provides the framework for the 
preparation of the 2016/17 Initial Budget Proposals 
which will be presented to the Board in December 
2015 and will inform the Council’s future priorities 
and strategies.

235 - 
254

RESOURCES & STRATEGY

12 

 

FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING 2015/16 - 
MONTH 5

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive setting out the Council’s projected 
financial position for 2015/16 together with other 
key financial indicators after 5 months of the 
financial year.

255 - 
282



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

7

13 

 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 STATEMENT OF 
LICENSING POLICY

To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens & Communities) on the 
Statement of Licensing Policy in respect of the 
Gambling Act 2005. The report includes the 
comments from Scrutiny Board (Citizens and 
Communities) and recommends that the matter be 
referred to full Council for approval in accordance 
with the Budget and Policy Framework

283 - 
344

EMPLOYMENT, ENTERPRISE & OPPORTUNITY

14 

 

EQUALITY UPDATE: IMPROVEMENT 
PRIORITIES 2016-2010, AND THE EQUALITY 
FRAMEWORK RE-ACCREDITATION

To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities) setting out 
the approach taken to develop the Equality 
Improvement Priorities 2016-20 and how these 
support the ambitions of the city. The report also 
outlines the plans for reassessment of the Council 
against the Equality Framework for Local 
Government at ‘excellent’ level.

345 - 
450

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT & PLANNING

15 

K

City and 
Hunslet

AN APPROACH TO STREET DESIGN AND THE 
PUBLIC REALM IN LEEDS CITY CENTRE

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development outlining an approach to street 
design and the public realm. The report identifies 
some key principles to ensure schemes are 
designed and implemented within agreed 
corporate parameters and objectives and includes 
artist’s impressions of how the city centre might 
look if this approach was adopted. Additionally, the 
report includes a prioritised programme for public 
real improvements in the city centre, taking into 
account other major developments and events 
which impact on the city centre.

451 - 
514



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

8

16 

K

City and 
Hunslet

10.4(3)
(Appendix 
3 only)

THE REGENERATION OF THE NEW BRIGGATE 
AREA

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development on the issues and opportunities 
related to the regeneration of the New Briggate 
area. The report identifies how the area could be 
re-energised through partnership between the 
Council and other stakeholders.

(Appendix 3 to this report is designated as exempt 
from publication under the provisions of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3)).

515 - 
532

17 

K

OUR TRANSPORT VISION FOR A 21ST 
CENTURY LEEDS

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development setting out a transport vision for 
Leeds as a prosperous, liveable, healthy and 
sustainable 21st century city.  In addition, the 
report recognises the challenges and complexities 
of changing the way we travel into and around the 
city in order to create a more people friendly and 
productive urban core, identifying the key policy 
principles that the Council will need to adopt to 
deliver a transport system fit for a Leeds as a 21st 
century city. 

533 - 
568

18 

K

THE LEEDS COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE 
LEVY - SPENDING OF THE NEIGHBOURHOOD 
FUND AND OTHER SPENDING MATTERS

To consider the joint report of the Director of City 
Development and the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) detailing the process 
undertaken to generate spending guidance for 
Community Committees in making decisions on 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
neighbourhood fund.  Additionally, the report also 
proposes some minor changes to the Regulation 
123 List.

569 - 
608



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

9

19 

K

Cross Gates 
and 
Whinmoor; 
Harewood

10.4(3)
(Appendix 
2 only)

EAST LEEDS EXTENSION UPDATE AND NEXT 
STEPS

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development on the progress made in planning for 
the delivery of major housing growth and 
infrastructure investment in the East Leeds 
Extension. The report also seeks specific approval 
on a number of matters which will enable the 
investment to progress.

(Appendix 2 to this report is designated as exempt 
from publication under the provisions of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3))

609 - 
664

CHILDREN & FAMILIES

20 

K

LEARNING PLACES PROGRAMME - CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME UPDATE

To consider the joint report of the Director of 
Children’s Services, the Deputy Chief Executive 
and the Director of City Development presenting 
an update on the three year strategy for providing 
sufficient school places in the city, an update on 
progress of the projects currently forming part of 
the Learning Places Programme, seeking approval 
for further authority to spend on the programme, 
along with an update on applications made and 
approved for access to the programme risk fund.

665 - 
694

Third Party Recording 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the 
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification 
of the main speakers and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete.



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

EXECUTIVE BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 23RD SEPTEMBER, 2015

PRESENT: Councillor L Yeadon in the Chair

Councillors D Coupar, M Dobson, J Lewis, 
R Lewis and L Mulherin

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS: Councillors J Bentley and J Procter

APOLOGIES: Councillors J Blake, A Carter, S Golton and M Rafique

35 Chair of the Meeting 
In accordance with Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 3.1.5, in 
the absence of Councillor Blake who had submitted her apologies for absence 
from the meeting, Councillor Yeadon presided as Chair of the Board for the 
duration of the meeting.

36 Substitute Member 
Under the terms of Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 3.1.6, 
Councillors J Procter and J Bentley were invited to attend the meeting on 
behalf of Councillors A Carter and Golton respectively, who had submitted 
their apologies for absence from the meeting.

37 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows:-

(a) Appendix 1 to the report entitled, ‘Redevelopment of Kirkstall Road 
Household Waste Recycling Site and Transfer Station’, referred to in 
Minute No. 47 is designated as exempt from publication in accordance 
with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that the information contained within the 
submitted appendix contains the price evaluation scores for each of the 
tenderers, and which therefore relates to the financial or business 
affairs of each of the tenderers. Keeping this information exempt from 
publication also relates to the business affairs of the Council, where the 
disclosure of such information could damage confidence in the 
Council’s procurement processes. Consequently, it is considered that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption from publication 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

38 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
There were no declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests made at the 
meeting.

39 Minutes 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 15th July 2015 be 
approved as a correct record.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

40 Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds - Proposed Next Steps - 
Progress Report 
Further to Minute No. 104, 19th November 2014, the Director of Adult Social 
Services submitted a report which provided an account of the further work 
which had been undertaken in support of the “Delivering the Better Lives 
Strategy in Leeds – Proposed Next Steps”. The report identified the progress 
which had been made since November 2014 when the Board previously 
considered the matter, and which also sought approval to proceed with further 
proposals, including the structure of the proposed consultation process.

Members noted that the purpose of the submitted report was to gain the 
Board’s approval to undertake a consultation exercise on the proposals 
detailed, with assurances being provided that such consultation would be 
genuine, comprehensive and would involve all relevant parties. 

Furthermore, it was emphasised that whilst noting the significant reduction in 
the Council’s budget over the last five years, the aim was to ensure that 
modern, personalised services were offered which provided the individual with 
a range of choices and enabled them to maintain their independence for as 
long as possible. Also, it was highlighted that should any actions be 
implemented following the consultation period, the Council guarantees that 
individuals affected would have the same level of service, that there is 
sufficient residential care provision in the city and that the Council would 
support all relevant parties throughout the accompanying processes.  

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, it was reiterated that current and 
projected figures indicated that there were sufficient levels of residential care 
provision to meet demand in Leeds. Furthermore, Members were also 
provided with information on the work which had been undertaken on the 
viability of alternative models of provision.   

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the work which has been undertaken in compliance with the 

requirements of the agreement given by the Executive Board on 19th 
November 2014, be noted;

(b) That the following proposals be agreed:-
(i) To begin consultation on the recommended proposals to 

decommission the three remaining care homes (Middlecross, 
Siegen Manor and The Green) and associated day centres 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

(Middlecross, Siegen Manor and The Green) and Springfield day 
centre for older people, with consultation on these services 
commencing on 1st October 2015 and being completed on 23rd 
December 2015. (It was noted that the related recommendation 
within the report remained unchanged from that which featured in 
the November 2014 report);

(ii) To begin consultation on the recommended proposal to 
decommission Radcliffe Lane Day Centre, with consultation taking 
place in the same timescale as the services listed above. (It was 
noted that the related recommendation within the report had been 
altered from that which featured in the November 2014 report, with 
explanatory details set out at sections 3.36-3.41 of the submitted 
report);

(iii) To consult on the proposal to remodel Wykebeck Valley day centre 
over time as a complex needs hub for the East of the city, taking a 
phased approach to accommodate the needs of existing and future 
customers, with consultation taking place in the same timescale as 
the services listed above. (It was noted that the related 
recommendation within the report had been altered from that which 
featured in the November 2014 report, with explanatory details set 
out at sections 3.42-3.45 of the submitted report);

(iv) To continue and complete the review of the Council’s long term 
community support service (home care) which is currently 
underway;

(v) That officers be asked to submit a further report to Executive Board 
in Spring 2016 detailing the outcomes from the consultation process 
on the proposals outlined in the submitted report and in relation to 
the outcomes from the review of options for the residual Community 
Support Service and making further recommendations in relation to 
the next steps;

(vi) To note that a further report has been submitted to the Executive 
Board that sets out proposals in relation to Frederick Hurdle and 
Apna Day Centres (Minute No. 53 refers);

(vii) To note that the lead officer responsible for the implementation of 
such matters is the Director of Adult Social Services.

(At the conclusion of this item, the meeting was adjourned at 1.25 p.m., and 
subsequently reconvened at 1.35 p.m.)

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

41 Outcome of consultation to increase Primary School Places in 
Pudsey/Swinnow 
The Director of Children’s Services, the Director of City Development and the 
Deputy Chief Executive submitted a joint report on proposals which related to 
the Local Authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. Specifically, 
the report made reference to the outcome of the consultation exercise which 
had been undertaken on proposals to expand primary school provision at 
Park Spring Primary School, and sought permission to publish a statutory 
notice in respect of such proposals.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand Park Spring 

Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils, with an 
increase in the admission number from 45 to 60, with effect from 
September 2017, be approved;

(b) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Lead.

42 Outcome of statutory notices on proposals to expand secondary 
provision at Roundhay Through-School 
Further to Minute No. 10, 24th June 2015, the Director of Children’s Services, 
the Director of City Development and the Deputy Chief Executive submitted a 
joint report detailing the outcomes from the publication of statutory notices 
regarding proposals to expand secondary provision at Roundhay Through-
School and which sought approval to implement such expansion.

Responding to an enquiry, Members were advised that the school’s Board of 
Governors had considered and agreed to the proposals. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That changes to Roundhay Through-School by increasing its capacity

from 1250 pupils to 1500 pupils in years 7 – 11, with an increase in the 
cohort sizes from 250 to 300, with effect from September 2017, be 
approved; 

(b) That the increase to the year 7 admissions number in 2017
and 2018 to 300, then its reduction to 240 in 2019, be approved, given 
that the primary children are already on the roll of the school and the 
admission number is the number of additional children from other 
primary schools that would be admitted; 

(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

COMMUNITIES

43 Migration and Refugee Update 
The Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) submitted a report 
which provided an update on a range of issues relating to migration in Leeds 
as well as Leeds’ response to the current Middle East refugee crisis. In 
addition, the report provided context on migration and asylum issues as they 
historically and presently affected the demography of the city as well as 
responding to the current refugee crisis. 

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, it was confirmed that the proposed use of 
up to £100,000 of local welfare scheme funding to support third sector 
organisations in dealing with capacity challenges would not impact upon the 
delivery of the Council’s welfare service provision. Furthermore, it was noted 
that the Council would continue to work in partnership with the third sector in 
order to ensure that the outcomes provided by such organisations were 
maximised.

A discussion then took place on the detail of the Council’s response to the 
Home Office’s consultation paper: ‘Reforming Support for Failed Asylum 
Seekers and other Illegal Migrants’.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) be 

authorised to liaise with Home Office colleagues in order to seek to 
agree the terms and funding arrangements for the relocation of up to 
200 Syrian refugees in Leeds over the next two years;

(b) That the Board endorse the use of up to £100,000 of local welfare 
scheme funding in order to support third sector organisations in dealing 
with current capacity challenges, with the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) agreeing specific proposals in consultation 
with the relevant Executive Member.

44 Future Policy Direction for the Regulation of the Private Rented Sector 
and tackling empty homes 
The Director of Environment and Housing submitted a report presenting the 
issues currently affecting the Private Rented Sector (PRS) in Leeds, and 
outlined a number of potential policy directions in this area. Furthermore, the 
report responded to the deputation presented to the 1st April 2015 Council 
meeting by the Trade Unionist and Socialist Coalition (TUSC) regarding 
private sector housing and letting agencies.

In discussing the available options for the regulation of the private rented 
sector, and also the emerging issue of properties being purchased as part of 
the ‘Right to Buy’ initiative and subsequently being privately rented, it was 
noted that comments made by Members would be taken into consideration as 
such matters were progressed. 

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

RESOLVED – That the Director of Environment and Housing be requested to 
report back to the February 2016 Executive Board on the development of a 
range of options for the improvement and the regulation of the PRS in Leeds, 
specifically:-

(i) A self-regulation agreement with members of Accreditation Schemes; 
(ii) Establishing a “Rogue Landlord” unit;
(iii) Lobbying government for changes to the operation of Housing Benefit 

or Universal Credit within the sector;
(iv)Refining the approach to prosecutions of failing landlords;
(v) Establishing an “Ethical Lettings Agency”; and
(vi)Targeting the Leeds Neighbourhood Approach (LNA) within a 

Neighbourhood Improvement programme.

45 Approval to grant thirteen 99 year leases at less than best consideration 
to Leeds Action to Create Homes (LATCH) 
Further to Minute No. 35, 4th July 2007, the Director of Environment and 
Housing submitted a report which sought approval to surrender 13 existing 
leases and grant 99-year leases at ‘less than best’ consideration to LATCH 
(Leeds Action to Create Homes). The report detailed how this would enable 
LATCH to secure additional finances in order to undertake a programme of 
acquisition and refurbishment of privately owned empty properties across the 
city.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to ensure that the 
Council would work with the relevant organisations in order to ensure that any 
properties involved in this and similar schemes would be brought back into 
use within a specified timescale. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That a recommendation to surrender 13 existing leases to LATCH, be 

approved;

(b) That approval be given to enter into new 99-year Leases at ‘Less Than 
Best’ consideration in order to enable LATCH to secure additional 
finances and enter into a programme of acquisition and renovation of 
empty properties in Leeds;

(c) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of City 
Development in order to approve the terms of the new leases at ‘Less 
than Best’ consideration, based upon a peppercorn rent calculated at 
£1 per annum per property by January 2016.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMMUNITY SAFETY

46 Draft Safer Leeds Strategy 2015/16 
The Director of Environment and Housing submitted a report which presented 
the draft Safer Leeds Strategy for 2015-2016 for the Board’s consideration 
and support, prior to the Strategy being submitted for the purposes of formal 
approval to the meeting of full Council on 11th November 2015.

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was advised that although the 
issue of road safety was not included within the strategy, it did feature within 
the West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan, and it was emphasised that 
collaborative work between relevant partners would continue in order promote 
all aspects of the issue. 

RESOLVED – That the draft Safer Leeds Strategy be supported as the city’s 
Crime and Disorder Strategy for 2015-16, and that the Strategy be submitted 
to full Council on 11th November 2015 for the purposes of approval.

(In accordance with the Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure 
Rules, the matters referred to within this minute were not eligible for Call In as 
the power to Call In decisions does not extend to those decisions made in 
accordance with the Budget and Framework Procedure Rules, which includes 
the resolution above)

47 Redevelopment of Kirkstall Road Household Waste Recycling Site and 
Transfer Station 
Further to Minute No. 217, 5th March 2014, the Director of Environment and 
Housing submitted a report which sought approval to proceed with the 
redevelopment of the Kirkstall Road recycling site. The report highlighted how 
the proposed scheme would provide major enhancements to recycling 
facilities and services for residents in this area of the city, and which aimed to 
support a further increase in recycling performance.

The submitted report and the exempt appendix provided Members with details 
of 2 options: Option 1 included the development of a ‘re-use shop’ within the 
project, whilst Option 2 excluded it.

Members discussed the updated costings and the factors which had led them 
to be revised.  

Following consideration of Appendix 1 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was  

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the appointment of the preferred contractor, to complete the 

design and carry out construction of the proposed Kirkstall Road 
recycling site, in accordance with the details contained within the 
submitted exempt appendix 1 (i.e. Option 1 - including the 
development of a re-use shop), be approved;

(b) That a further injection into Capital Scheme No. 16169 of £943k, to be 
funded through a combination of additional unsupported borrowing 
and grant, be approved, giving a total approved budget of £5.243m;

(c) That authority to spend up to a total of £5.243m on the re-development 
of Kirkstall Road recycling site be approved;

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

(d) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of 
Environment and Housing in order to approve the completion of the 
contract award, and to take any necessary action associated with the 
contract and/or contract award.

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

48 Best Council Plan - Strong Economy and Compassionate City 
Further to Minute No. 30, 15th July 2015, the Deputy Chief Executive 
submitted a report which sought agreement to a renewed ambition for Leeds. 
In doing so, the report presented the draft ‘best city’ outcomes and the 
updated breakthrough projects, which would inform the 2016/17 Best Council 
Plan together with the Council’s financial strategy, and which would also aim 
to build upon the progress previously reported to the Board. 

Responding to Members’ enquiries, it was emphasised that focus would be 
placed upon the delivery of the ambitions presented within the submitted 
document, and that Members would be kept informed of the progress being 
made against such ambitions.

RESOLVED –
(a) That a renewed ambition for Leeds: to be the ‘best city’, as set out in 

the ‘Vision for Leeds 2011-30’ be agreed, which means that it must be 
a compassionate, caring place that helps all of its residents contribute 
to and benefit from the effects of economy growth, thereby tackling 
poverty and reducing the range of inequalities that still exist;

(b) That the draft ‘best city’ outcomes and updated ‘breakthrough projects’, 
as presented at Appendix 1 to the submitted report be noted, which are 
in support of the twin aims of Leeds having a ‘strong economy’ and 
being a ‘compassionate city’. It also be noted that these will be finalised 
in the coming months through developing the 2016/17 Best Council 
Plan and aligned budget, both of which are scheduled to be presented 
to the Board in February 2016. 

(c) That it be noted that the officers responsible for such matters are the 
Chief Executive (for the Best Council Plan) and the Deputy Chief 
Executive (for the Council budget).

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

49 Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 – Month 4 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report presenting the Council’s 
projected financial health position after 4 months of the 2015/16 financial year. 
Furthermore, the submitted report sought approval of the proposed changes 
to the budget and the associated savings detailed at Appendix 2, in order to 
reflect the potential reduction in the Public Health grant. Finally, the report 
provided an update on the Council’s procurement activity during the first 
quarter of the financial year.

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

Responding to an enquiry, the Board received an update on the factors which 
had led to the current forecasting of a year-end overspend within the 
Children’s Services directorate, together with the actions being taken to 
address it.

Members also received an update on the current position regarding the 
national in-year reduction in Public Health grant, and in relation to this, 
discussed the details within Appendix 2, which presented proposals to change 
the budget and make savings in order to accommodate such a grant 
reduction. 

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was advised that dialogue with 
the Home Office would continue, both on the collaborative work which the 
Council was undertaking to assist with the current refugee crisis and also in 
respect of associated Government funding to support such work. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the projected financial position of the Authority for 2015/16 be 

noted;

(b) That in line with the Budget and Policy framework, approval be given to 
the changes to the budget in order to reflect the potential reduction to 
the Public Health grant, together with the proposed savings, as outlined 
in Appendix 2 of the submitted report, which are subject to confirmation 
of the final in-year grant, and which are for implementation by the 
Director of Public Health in line with the Council’s decision-making 
processes.

50 Paying a Real Living Wage 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report which recommended that the 
Council established a real Living Wage for staff of £8.01 per hour from 1st 
April 2016, in line with the West Yorkshire Combined Authorities’ Low Pay 
Charter, which the Council signed up to in April 2015 (Minute No. 191 of 
Executive Board, 22nd April 2015 refers).

Responding to an enquiry, it was confirmed that the real Living Wage initiative 
would apply to all staff, other than in exceptional circumstances, and would 
not include an age threshold.

In addition, Members noted the estimated financial impact that the 
establishment of the real Living Wage would have upon schools, and received 
information on the dialogue which continued with schools, together with other 
partners, on the wider implications of the initiative.  

RESOLVED – 
(a) That it be noted that Council staff will be paid a real Living Wage at 

£8.01 per hour from 1st April 2016;

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

(b) That the budget strategy be developed in order to accommodate this, 
with the minimum pay rate being annually reviewed as part of the 
budget strategy, and with increases being considered in terms of 
affordability, impact on pay structures and national pay settlements;

(c) That it be noted that the Deputy Chief Executive is the responsible 
officer for the implementation of resolutions (a) and (b) (above);

(d) That Leeds City Council engage with partners and the business 
community in Leeds in order to demonstrate how this change will help 
build a stronger economy and a compassionate city, with the Deputy 
Chief Executive reporting back to the Board on this, together with other 
key national developments regarding pay and benefit changes that 
affect low paid staff.

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND PLANNING

51 Project to establish a Leeds domestic energy services company 
(LESCo) 
The Director of Environment and Housing submitted a report which introduced 
the underpinning concepts of the Leeds Domestic Energy Services Company 
(LESCo) project and which outlined the proposed next steps, with the 
intention of securing the support of the Executive Board to proceed as 
planned with the scheme. In addition, the report also focused upon some of 
the cross linkages and interdependencies that this project shared with the 
Council’s wider objectives around the breakthrough projects programme.

The Board welcomed the proposals detailed within the submitted report. In 
addition, Members emphasised the importance of ensuring that that there was 
transparency around the tariffs and offers provided by LESCo. Having noted 
that Council houses would be automatically switched to the new energy 
company during the voids process, it was suggested that consideration be 
given to the service being eventually extended to as wide a customer base as 
possible. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report be noted; 

(b) That approval be given to the Council conducting an open competition 
in order to enable the identification of a suitable organisation to partner 
with, under formal contract;

(c) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of 
Environment and Housing in order to conduct the competitive process 
referred to above, and also to negotiate and agree the resulting formal 
contract and all ancillary matters/documents.

52 Hunslet Riverside Regeneration Plan 
Further to Minute No. 19, 15th July 2015, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report outlining a proposed approach which aimed to secure the 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

regeneration of the Hunslet Riverside area. The report highlighted the scope 
of the opportunities available and the need for an agreed Regeneration Plan. 
Additionally, the report also identified how the Council proposed to use its’ 
assets in order to support growth aspirations in the area.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the principles as set out at section 3.7.1 of the submitted report be 

agreed, in order to guide the delivery of regeneration in the Hunslet 
Riverside area;

(b) That approval be given for the Head of Regeneration to undertake 
stakeholder consultation and prepare a Regeneration Plan for Hunslet 
Riverside, with the associated matters being submitted to Executive 
Board in Spring 2016 for the purposes of approval.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

53 Delivering the Better Lives Strategy Adult Social Care - BME Day 
Services 
Further to Minute No. 104, 19th November 2014, the Director of Adult Social 
Services submitted a report providing an update on the progress made 
regarding consultation on the future of the Adult Social Care day centres for 
older people from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) communities at Apna 
(Hyde Park & Woodhouse) and Frederick Hurdle (Chapel Allerton). 

The report also provided details regarding the current and future demand for 
BME services and presented a number of potential options for the future 
delivery and management of the provision, all of which had been the subject 
of the associated consultation exercise.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, it was highlighted that as part of the 
Better Lives Strategy, the aspiration of re-designing this service model was to 
ensure that users were provided with a range of choices in terms of service 
provision. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the outcomes of the extensive consultation exercise on the future 

delivery of services at Apna and Frederick Hurdle day centres, be 
noted;

(b) That a two stage approach to service change be approved: 
- In Phase One between October 2015 and March 2016, the service 

model be re-designed in co-production with service users, carers, 
staff, and the wider communities working with ASC Commissioning;

- Phase Two to involve the transition to the new service model and 
the services being managed by one or more external providers. 
This phase to take place between April and December 2016;

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

(c) That the new service model and costs be confirmed as the detailed 
proposals are developed, which will be approved through a delegated 
decision when the new arrangements are finalised;

(d) That approval be given to the existing approach continuing into the 
Commissioning phase of the project, whereby service users, carers, 
staff and the wider communities work in co-production with Leeds Adult 
Social Care in order to develop proposals for these services; 

(e) That it be noted that the lead officer responsible for the implementation 
of such matters is the Director of Adult Social Services.

54 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2014/15 
The Director of Public Health submitted a report which provided a summary of 
the background, context and key issues from the Director’s Annual Report 
2014/15. Full copies of the Director’s Annual report were also provided to 
Board Members for their consideration. 

The Board noted the objectives of the Director’s report: namely the health 
benefits of good urban design and also to ensure that communities were able 
to effectively contribute towards the planning process. 

In addition, Members highlighted the importance of ensuring that the 
necessary infrastructure, including public health provision, accompanied new 
housing developments.  Furthermore, the Board welcomed the aspiration of 
ensuring that communities and stakeholders were able to have greater input 
into the planning process, but highlighted how current procedures did not 
always help to facilitate this, and as a result suggested that representations 
could be made to Government on such matters.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report be noted;

(b) That the recommendations, as detailed within the Director of Public 
Health’s Annual Report 2014/15, be supported;

(c) That the Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Services, Public Health and 
NHS) be recommended to receive the Director of Public Health’s 
Annual Report 2014/15.

55 Endorsing the national "Mental Health Challenge" 
The Director of Public Health submitted a report regarding the national ‘Mental 
Health Challenge’, which provided the Board with the opportunity to consider 
the commitments lying behind the initiative, and to signal its commitment to 
this agenda by signing up to the ‘challenge’.

On behalf of the Board, the Executive Member for Health, Wellbeing and 
Adults highlighted the importance of promoting good mental health and 
wellbeing in city’s schools, colleges and workplaces, and also thanked all of 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 21st October, 2015

those who had participated in and contributed to the recent seminar attended 
by Elected Members on the issue of mental health.

Furthermore, the Chief Executive highlighted that as part of the activities of 
National Inclusion Week this week, he had addressed senior officers on such 
matters, with all senior officers adopting an ‘inclusion objective’. It was 
highlighted that these activities, together with the recent Members’ seminar 
and the consideration of such matters by Executive Board were all part of the 
proactive and co-ordinated approach being taken by the Council.   

In conclusion, the Chief Executive offered to take up the role of lead officer for 
promoting the Mental Health Challenge in Leeds, alongside the Executive 
Member for Health, Wellbeing and Adults’ role as Member Champion for this 
initiative.

RESOLVED – That the Executive Board endorse and sign up to the ‘Mental 
Health Challenge’ initiative.

DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 25TH SEPTEMBER 2015

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00P.M., FRIDAY, 2ND OCTOBER 2015

(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12.00noon on 
Monday, 5th October 2015)

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

Report of: Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities)  

Report to: Executive Board 

Date: 21 October 2015 

Subject: Long term Strategic Partnership with Leeds City Credit Union. 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

   

Are there implications for equality and diversity or cohesion and 
integration? 

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in? 

 

 Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?  Yes  No 

If ‘yes’, access to information procedure rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

This report updates members of Executive Board on the innovative joint work being 
undertaken between Leeds City Council and Leeds City Credit Union to tackle poverty in 
Leeds, and increase access to affordable financial services. The report also sets out the 
long-term strategy for ongoing partnership working.  

Since the launch of the Council’s Financial Inclusion Strategy in 2005, Leeds City Credit 
Union has seen year on year increases in both membership and lending, there are now 
31,000 Leeds members up from 11,000 in 2005.  

Using the Council’s community hubs, one stop centres, housing offices and schools 
network the focus of the partnership working has been to provide locally based affordable 
financial services, in order to tackle high cost lending and mitigate the impacts of welfare 
reforms.  

The credit union has an ambition to build its loan book to £20m (currently £8m) in order to 
make a material impact on the estimated £90m high cost lending market in Leeds. Key 
ambitions for the future include; 

 Developing partnerships with social housing providers, to provide products specific 
to this sector. 

 Supporting a strong social economy and promoting civic enterprise, through 
designing products and services for businesses, and start-ups. 

 Report author: Dave Roberts, Jo 
Rowlands 

Tel: 247 4724

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 2

 Widening the demographic of the membership base.   

The report also provides commentary on the Council’s decision in 2009 to provide a loan 
to the Credit Union to assist with the stabilisation of the Credit Union’s financial position.  
The loan is due for repayment in 2019 and options are described for continuing support to 
be made available. Of the available options, the report recommends the rescheduling of 
the loan as part of a longer term strategic view of the partnership working between the 
Credit Union and the Council. 

Recommendations 

That Executive Board; 

1. Notes and welcomes the significant progress made and projects developed through the 
partnership between the Council and Leeds City Credit Union which has helped in the 
delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives on financial inclusion and poverty alleviation 
and further welcomes the ongoing strategic approach to the partnership work. 

2. Authorises the Council entering into an agreement with the Credit Union in connection 
with the continuing support from the Council to the Credit Union, the approval of the terms 
of such agreement to be delegated to the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and 
Communities). 

3. Agrees to the re-scheduling of the loan to the Credit Union as set out in paragraph 3.38 
of this report with the detailed arrangements being subject to determination by the 
Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities). 

 

Page 16



 3

Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report updates members of the Executive Board on the Council’s joint work 
with Leeds City Credit Union (LCCU) to tackle poverty in Leeds. The report also 
sets out the long-term strategy for ongoing partnership working.  

2 Background information 

2.1 LCCU is one of many partners in the city who work alongside the Council to help 
combat the problems brought about by financial exclusion.  Residents and 
households who are deemed to be financially excluded do not have easy access 
to affordable banking services and in many cases unable to access cheaper 
goods and services.  In the more deprived areas of the city this can result in debt 
issues for families and getting into arears with rent and other priority payments. 

2.2 Many residents use high cost lenders, including the relatively recent entrants to 
the financial services market, the Payday Lenders. Up to this year, the market 
leaders in this business charged interest rates of over 5,000% APR on their loans.  
However, following a vigorous national campaign the Government asked the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) to look into the possibility of capping the cost of 
credit. After a consultation process the FCA introduced a cap from January 2015 
(along with other control mechanisms). The Council’s view at the time was that 
the cap did not go far enough and some Payday lenders still charge rates of over 
1,300% APR (this is within the new cap limits).  It is with this in mind that the 
Council believes that it is necessary to continue engagement with our many 
partners such as the advice sector, social housing providers and particularly 
LCCU.  

2.3 LCCU has its origins as a City Council credit union, open to membership for all 
City Council employees and their families in 1987.  Since that time, through 
changes to the common bond (the areas under which individuals are eligible for 
membership) and mergers with other community based credit unions, LCCU has 
grown to become one of the largest “live and work” city based credit union in the 
UK.  Membership is open to anyone who lives or works in the Leeds Metropolitan 
District and their families.   

2.4 Recently LCCU widened its common bond when White Rose Credit Union 
(Wakefield) merged with LCCU and the area of Craven District and Harrogate 
became part of the reach of LCCU.  This has provided greater capacity for LCCU 
but for the purposes of this report it is solely the Leeds area and Leeds credit 
union membership that is the subject of discussion. 

2.5 Following the launch of the City Council's Financial Inclusion Strategy in 2005 a 
programme of branch expansion was initiated with the aim of providing credit 
union facilities in Council One Stop Centres and Housing Offices.  This increased 
the number of branches from two in 2005 to six full service branches and five 
information points by 2015. 

2.6 Since 2005, LCCU membership has increased significantly from 11,000 members 
to almost 31,000 Leeds members today.  Much of this growth has been new 
members on low incomes or benefits.  Total membership, including members of 
the former White Rose Credit Union now stands at 36,000. 

 

Page 17



 4

3 Main issues 

3.1 Social and economic impact of Leeds City Credit Union 

3.2 The close partnership working and the pursuit of initiatives to reach those most in 
need of affordable financial services has resulted in year on year increases both 
in terms of membership and lending. Between June 2014 and 2015, membership 
increased by 11% from approximately 28,000 to over 31,000, whilst lending 
increased by 53%.   

3.3 There is a considerable base of evidence to show that there is a significant return 
to the city on the investment and support provided to LCCU.  LCCU has worked 
closely with the Council and partners to develop support and expand delivery of 
affordable financial services for residents who do not have access to affordable 
banking services. 

3.4 In practice this has meant developing the best products and services in the best 
locations for Leeds citizens. Evidence from the New Economics Foundation 
(2014) has found that credit unions deliver greater financial inclusion than 
mainstream providers by successfully lending to low-income households and 
those with impaired credit access.  In Leeds this situation has been enhanced by 
the sustaining of cash branches in areas not well served by the mainstream 
banks.   

3.5 Research undertaken for Leeds City Council in 2009 found that credit union 
services generated approximately £3 million in increased disposable income for 
Leeds residents.   The study also found that for every £1 invested in these 
services, £9 is generated for the economy.  Analysis of the recent credit union 
lending figures demonstrates that the total value of loans to people on low 
incomes in the quarter ending September 2015 is approximately £1.6 million. If 
these loans had been taken out with a high cost lender instead of LCCU an extra 
£1,025,000 would have been paid in interest payments.    

3.6 Since 2009, the total loan book for loans to financially excluded members has 
increased from £2.3m in 2009 to about £5m currently. On this basis the likely 
current value of increased disposable income to Leeds families will be in the 
region of £6.5m. It is also the case that this value is likely to be an underestimate.  
The calculations in 2009 were based on the comparison with doorstep lenders 
charging interest at around 300% APR.  Since that time there has been a massive 
increase in numbers of high cost lenders, including payday lenders, charging 
significantly higher rates of interest (see background information above).  If this 
was taken into account the actual current increased savings for families would be 
significantly greater. During the most recent quarter ending September 2015, low 
value short term lending was approximately £1.6 million and much of this lending 
would have been to low income families. If these loans had been taken out with a 
high cost lender instead of LCCU, the extra cost to these families would have 
been over £1m in higher interest payments. 

 

Page 18



 5

3.7 The 2009 research also included a survey of LCCU members, to assess the 
impact of the services they received on their financial circumstances and more 
generally their quality of life.  The survey found: 

 52% felt they were financially better off, and were now able to save, buy food, 
things for their children and pay bills. 

 64% believed their money management skills had improved. 

 52% their quality of life had improved. 

 45% stress levels about financial matters had reduced.  

 25% could now buy the food the family needed.  

3.8 These findings support research undertaken in 2014 by the Mental Health 
Foundation which asked people to identify the causes of their anxiety, almost half 
of those surveyed (45%) said that financial issues caused them to feel anxious 
(Living with Anxiety, 2014).  

 

3.9 Key partnership initiatives 

3.10 LCCU is a key partner in helping to tackle financial hardship in the city and this 
partnership has been instrumental in addressing high cost lending and mitigating 
some of the impacts of welfare reforms. Key projects that have been developed 
are set out below, but there are also a number of other initiatives where the 
Council and LCCU have and continue to work together. 

3.11 Using the Community Hub and One Stop Centre network across the city, 
LCCU is providing locally based financial services to those most in need. LCCU 
has full branch services at five Community Hubs and One Stop Centres across 
the city and information points at five others. Work continues to ensure that these 
facilities are well promoted and used.   

3.12 “Your Loan Shop” was launched in August 2014, to compete directly on the high 
street with the high cost cash shops. The loan shop is located at former council 
premises on Roundhay Road, and is supported by a website. There is also a 
customer service area where online applications are available along with all other 
LCCU products and services. 

3.13 In response to the growing need to provide affordable loans to a wider client base, 
LCCU established a Community Development Finance Institution (CDFI) 
Headrow Money Line (HML). HML was set up as an independent charity but 
operates as a ‘sister’ organisation to LCCU.  As a CDFI it is able to offer loans 
which are marginally higher risk than can be offered by the credit union as they 
are able to charge higher rates of interest. If people are declined a credit union 
loan, they are asked if they would like to be referred to the Headrow Moneyline. 
This enables people to re-build a credit history so that if they need to borrow 
again, they can access cheaper credit options, including the credit union. 

3.14 Credit union schools saving clubs are running in about 20 primary schools and 
funding has now been obtained to produce an automated IT based accounting 
system for schools savings club work.  This will assist in enabling schools savings 
clubs to be delivered with less need for detailed involvement from school staff 
therefore making the project more attractive to schools.  Presentations have been 

Page 19



 6

delivered to Cluster Managers and Governor Forums to promote work with 
schools.   

3.15 Housing Leeds fund LCCU to deliver a citywide Money Management and 
Budgeting Service. The service is primarily focused at Housing tenants who are 
in arrears and struggling to pay their rent due to low incomes or poor money 
management. The support service is delivered by three LCCU staff members and 
aims to provide timely intervention to avoid court proceedings. 14 surgeries are 
held across the city on a weekly basis, residents are signposted to specialist 
partners if required, and also conduct income and expenditure reviews as well as 
setting up payments through the bill paying and budget accounts. This service will 
be of even greater value when Universal Credit is rolled out in Leeds in early 
2016.  

3.16 In 2014, LCCU launched a new website which enables speedier membership 
and loan applications. They were also involved with the Council Take a Stand 
and Leeds Money Information Centre (MIC) marketing promotion campaigns. 
With the support of the Council, major pre-Christmas marketing campaigns have 
run for the past two years, which is traditionally the biggest lending period in the 
year for all financial institutions. This has included; advertising at Leeds railway 
station, bus and bus shelter adverts, door drop to 51,000 households, Leeds City 
Council payslip adverts and social media – Facebook and Twitter. In the quarter 
before Christmas trading period, LCCU lending increased by 27% between 2012 
and 2013, and 21% between 2013 and 2014. 

3.17 LCCU was one of only two credit unions in the country to be selected to help new 
entrepreneurs to set up in business under the Governments Start-up loans 
scheme. To complement this scheme, LCCU has commenced enterprise lending 
from its own lending funds and intends to grow this area of the business to assist 
with the City’s regeneration and employment ambitions. 

3.18 LCCU is also currently assisting with the administration of loans in connection with 
the Council’s Empty Property Initiative. This is a new scheme aimed at 
providing loans to owners of empty homes to help bring them into use. This 
scheme has only just been launched but it is hoped that it will assist in bringing 
back into use thousands of houses which are currently not available for 
occupation. 

 

3.19 New initiatives 

 
3.20 At a major launch event held at Compton Road Community Hub on Friday 11 

September, three new initiatives were announced which it is hoped will help to 
build further on the success of LCCU and make a significant difference in trying to 
help people out of the hands of the high cost lenders. The initiatives are: 

 A web based Pay Day loan product charging credit union rates. 

 A deal, involving a gift card scheme, with a number of high street retailers to 
provide domestic appliances, furniture and electronic goods at prices up to 
50% cheaper than high street rent to buy stores.  

 An expansion of the credit unions successful “Your Loan Shop” which started 
trading last year and is now being set up and supported in the Councils 
Community Hub at the Compton Centre in Harehills. 

Page 20



 7

3.21 The latter two initiatives are believed to be unique to Leeds, being the first to be 
established anywhere in the country. 

3.22 Future strategy and ambition 

3.23 Looking ahead the credit union has an ambition to build its loan book to £20m 
(currently £8m up from £7m in 2013) in order to make a material impact on the 
estimated £90m high cost lending market in Leeds. It is felt that this level of 
affordable borrowing would start to disrupt the high cost lending market. The 
growth phase of this plan will require investments in staff, technology and 
marketing. In addition to reducing the market share of the high cost lenders, the 
plan would also see a considerable additional saving for households and the local 
economy and further build the capacity of the credit union. The following section 
outlines the future focus of action for the credit union.  

3.24 LCCU is leading the way with its partnerships with the city’s social housing 
providers including housing associations. The main focus of the current work is 
working with tenants and housing staff around budgeting and financial education.  
Ambitions in this area include; 

 Developing a product around saving for a deposit on a home. 

 Working with Community Housing Trusts to purchase land and build 
affordable homes at scale. 

 Providing mortgages in partnership with the Council. 

 Expanding on the success of the “Green Deal” initiative in which loans 
were assessed and underwritten by LCCU to encourage residents to 
make energy efficient improvements to their properties. This scheme has 
now ended but the credit union is keen to develop a scheme which could 
include lending to residents or social enterprises looking to retro-fit 
properties. 

3.25 Leeds as a city is one of the leaders of “Civic Enterprise”. LCCU are keen to 
support a strong social economy and are investigating; 

 Offering loans to corporate members looking to start up service based mutuals 
and spin-outs (particularly in social care). 

 Supporting the delivery of asset transfer by offering community loans.  

 Through Headrow Moneyline, offer loans to riskier ventures, such as new 
business start-ups and university spin-outs, that support the City’s ambitions 
around resource efficiency and “Smart Cities”. 

3.26 LCCU is proud to be seen as a financial institution for the unbanked and the most 
vulnerable in our society. However, there is much to be learned from international 
credit unions, which as a matter of course serve a much wider demographic. In 
order to do this the credit union is considering; 

 Targeting companies more aggressively to sign up to pay-roll deductions. 

Page 21



 8

 Building on the successful marketing campaigns referred to above and 
continuing to pursue more imaginative marketing strategies and mediums. 

 Expanding their high street presence by developing the “Your Loan Shop” 
model.   

 Setting up a distinctive product to help savers looking to purchase a season 
ticket for any of the local sports teams. 

 Taking advantage of the pride Leeds residents and businesses have in the 
Leeds “brand” by starting a campaign for local banking - encouraging investors 
to take out deferred shares in LCCU, knowing that the investment would return 
to the city and its people.   

 Investigating new administration and banking platforms to develop better 
products and services for members. Recognising the need to respond to the 
increasing use of smart phones and new mobile devices to access loans and 
savings services. 

3.27 Universal Credit 

3.28 The radical transformation of the national benefits system with the introduction of 
Universal Credit (UC) will prove to be a challenging time for both the council and 
many Leeds residents. The Council is currently making preparations for the 
introduction of UC in Leeds in February 2016 and the Citizens and Communities 
Scrutiny Board are conducting an investigation looking at the plans which are 
being progressed. 

3.29 One of the important aspects of UC introduction is ensuring that partners are well 
briefed and that there is good coordination between partners. 

3.30 LCCU will be one of the Council’s key partners in this work to support citizens 
affected by Universal Credit and ensuring that mechanisms and facilities are put 
in place to maximise help available. Some of these important work areas include; 

 Designing and refining budgeting style accounts to help UC claimants to 
manage their household budgets more effectively. 

 Working directly and through partners to ensure that all residents have 
accounts which are suited to receive UC payments and manage household 
expenditure. 

 Continue to work with social landlords to provide assistance to tenants finding 
difficulty with managing their rent payments. 

3.31 In terms of continued collaboration with the Council, there is an intention to 
continue the quarterly Development Working Group. This is the practical way in 
which the Council and LCCU manage joint working and develop new activity. The 
working party has representatives from LCCU and all council directorates.  For 
example, the credit union is currently investigating with Adult Social Care how to 
reach out to the many care workers in the city who may benefit from payroll 
savings or access to affordable credit.  

Page 22



 9

 

3.32 Consolidation of LCCU Financial Base 

3.33 In 2009, as part of a set of proposals to stabilise the financial position of LCCU, a 
subordinated loan was provided to LCCU on a commercial basis. This served to 
stabilise the reserves position of the credit union and satisfy regulators. The loan 
was subsequently rescheduled and is currently due for full repayment in April 
2019. The current value of the outstanding loan is £1.19m. Interest of £54,000 per 
year is payable until that date. Officers have been exploring with LCCU how the 
value of this loan can continue to be utilised in a way which would continue to 
support LCCU’s ambitions but would also safeguard the council’s investment.   

3.34 One of the reasons for providing the subordinated loan in 2009 was to ensure that 
LCCU could meet its regulatory requirements relating to maintaining a capital to 
total assets ratio which at the time was set at 8%. At the time, LCCU faced some 
significant financial challenges and their annual accounts showed an operating 
loss for a number of years. Following a change of management and a much more 
robust system of financial management being put in place the finances of LCCU 
were stabilised as part of a longer term business plan (of which the subordinated 
loan formed part of the process). By 2011 LCCU returned a modest operating 
surplus and in 2013 the Financial Services Authority (FSA) declared that LCCU 
was meeting all of its regulatory requirements from that point, particularly in 
respect of the capital ratio.  The turnaround of the financial fortunes of LCCU are 
a testament to the diligent work of LCCU management and staff alongside the 
support of the council as an important strategic partner. LCCU and its 
management are committed to continue the strengthening of the credit union still 
further.  The availability of the subordinated loan will be very helpful in this 
respect, especially if potential changes to capital ratios described below come into 
force. 

3.35 The FSA has subsequently been succeeded by the Prudential Regulation 
Authority (PRA) in respect of capital ratio requirements. As indicated above, the 
PRA require credit unions to hold a capital to total asset ratio of 8%. However, 
subsequent to the recent discussions with LCCU about options for the Council’s 
investment, there have been further developments by the regulators. The 
Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) has issued a proposal for consultation on 
requirements for credit unions to hold a higher level of capital ratio than is 
currently the case. The PRA are proposing in their consultation that this should be 
increased to 10%. Currently, LCCU’s accounts show that their capital ratio stand 
at 11% and is well within the regulatory provisions. However, if LCCU repays the 
subordinated loan, its reserves will reduce to 9%. This is still within the current 
regulatory requirement but if the outcome of the PRA consultation is to increase 
capital ratios to 10%, LCCU would not be able to meet this requirement without 
some form of capital injection.  This is not just a challenge for LCCU but many 
other credit unions around the country might find these new requirements to be 
onerous. 

3.36 Although the discussions about options for the current loan have been ongoing 
prior to the PRA issuing its consultation it would now seem that these proposals 
may be very timely in order to ensure the financial stability of LCCU under a 

Page 23



 10

potentially tighter regulatory situation. The PRA will announce its intentions in new 
regulations to be published in December 2015. 

3.37 Three options for the council’s future investment have been considered as follows: 

3.38 Rescheduling the subordinated loan 

3.39 In 2009 the Council provided LCCU with a loan (current value is £1.19m) at an 
interest rate of 4.5%. The original loan was rescheduled with effect from April 
2010 and is currently due to be repaid in April 2019. Therefore, the loan has 3 ½ 
years to run and it is proposed to reschedule the loan into a 10 year loan. This will 
assist LCCU with the anticipated change in regulations (as referred to in 
paragraph 3.34).  LCCU would continue to pay interest payments but these would 
be in line with current interest rates which are now considerably lower than rates 
in force on the existing loan.  The current loan interest payments are set at 4.54%, 
which is in line with interest rates when the loan was last rescheduled in 2010. 
Since then the market interest rates have fallen.  

3.40 Investment in a deferred share   

3.41 As a result of changes in legislation for credit unions it is now possible for 
corporate bodies to invest in credit unions and become a shareholder in the same 
way as an individual member.  This offers the opportunity for the council to 
convert the subordinated loan to an investment or ‘share’.  In order for this to be 
effective in terms of consolidating the credit unions capital reserve the investment 
would have to be made by way of a ‘deferred share’. This means that the council 
would not have the automatic right to withdraw the money except under the terms 
of a specific agreement laid down between the council and the credit union, 
subject to PRA approval. Because of this, from an accountancy point of view, the 
investment would very likely have to be treated as an immediate revenue cost. It 
should also be noted that this would not be like buying a share in a company, in 
that the Council would not become an owner of LCCU – it would simply be 
depositing a sum of money with LCCU which the latter would then hold in 
accordance with its rules. 

3.42 Writing off the loan 

3.43 The further option would be to write off the loan. As this is a revenue based loan, 
this would mean an immediate revenue short fall on the council budget, which is 
not deemed to be desirable.  

3.44 Status quo (do nothing) 

3.45 A potential option is to leave the situation as it is and the subordinated loan would 
be paid back in 2019 in line with the current agreement.  However, this would 
have consequences for the PRA’s regulatory requirements.  Although the loan is 
not due for repayment until 2019 the PRA would require that the value of the loan 
be reduced in value, from the point of view of the capital to total asset ratio, by 
20% per year, starting from April 2015. By 2019, even before the loan is repaid, its 
value will have reduced to zero.  Although LCCU would still meet the current 
regulatory requirement (8%) after repaying the loan – notwithstanding a potential 
increase in the requirement to 10% as described in para 3.35 above – there would 

Page 24



 11

be little buffer in place in the event of any potentially unforeseen shocks within the 
UK financial system.  Therefore, the do nothing option is not considered to be a 
realistic or robust proposal to consider. 

4 Corporate considerations 

4.1 Consultation and engagement  

4.1.1 This report has been prepared in consultation with LCCU, and the relevant 
officers from across the council including in finance, legal and housing.     

4.2 Equality and diversity, cohesion and integration 

4.2.1 A key focus of the partnership work between LCCU and Leeds City Council has 
been to support people suffering hardship, poverty and inequality, and therefore 
issues of equality, diversity, cohesion and integration are key aspects of this work. 
The projects and initiatives outlined in the report are central to the council’s 
financial inclusion strategy, which has been subject to a detailed Equality Impact 
Assessment which is attached as an appendix to this report.   

4.3 Council policies and the  best council plan 

4.3.1 ‘Supporting communities and tackling poverty’ is one of the Council’s six Best 
Council Plan objectives.  The activities set out in this report support the ‘helping 
people out of financial hardship’ priority in the Best Council Plan and proposition 
under the Citizens@leeds approach to tackling poverty. It also supports objectives 
in the Safer Leeds Strategy, the Children’s and Young People’s Plan , the Child 
Poverty Action Plan and the Leeds Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy all of 
which have a strong focus on addressing debt, maximising income and moving 
people and families out of poverty. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The rescheduling of the subordinated loan will result in lower interest charges 
being made and this will result in a reduced income to the Council of 
approximately £22,000 per year until April 2019 (the current repayment date).  
However, income from the loan over previous years has been generally above 
market rates and it is considered that overall the Council has received good value 
from the loan whilst at the same time providing valuable assistance to an 
important strategic partner. 

4.5 Legal implications, access to information and call-in 

4.5.1 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 empowers the Council to do anything that 
individuals generally may do, subject to any restrictions as to the use of its powers 
to which the Council was subject when that Act came into force or which have 
subsequently been imposed. 

4.5.2 As regards the provision to LCCU of the assistance referred to in this report, in so 
far as the Council is subject to statutory restrictions (such as its fiduciary duties to 
council tax payers) it is believed that the Council is complying with these. It should 
be noted though that the activities of the Council are also subject to the European 
Commission’s rules as to the provision of State aid. 

4.5.3 State aid occurs when public resources are used in a way which gives an 
organisation an advantage over its competitors in a way which distorts or is likely 
to distort competition between European member states. A number of cases have 

Page 25



 12

made it clear that the provision of assistance to credit unions is subject to the 
State aid rules and the Council will therefore have to comply with those rules in 
connection with the arrangements referred to in this report. 

4.5.4 As regards the rescheduling of LCCU’s existing loan, the revised interest rate will 
need to be at a rate which, having regard to the credit rating of LCCU and the 
value of any security provided for the loan, is at least equivalent to the minimum 
rate of interest prescribed by the European Commission for loans to be 
considered to be State aid compliant.  

4.5.5 As regards the other assistance provided and to be provided by the Council to 
LCCU, and in so far as such assistance is not already exempt from or allowed 
under the State aid rules, it is proposed to enter into an agreement with LCCU 
under which LCCU will undertake to provide certain services for the benefit of the 
inhabitants of Leeds, the terms of such agreement to be approved by the 
Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities). In this way, it is believed 
that such arrangements will then satisfy the provisions of the State aid rules as 
regards what are known as “Services of General Economic Interest”. 

4.6 Risk management 

4.6.1 In accordance with Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) regulations, the 
Council’s loan to the Credit Union must be by way of a subordinated loan. This 
means that any loan is effectively last in the queue in the event of the winding up 
of the Credit Union; members of the Credit Union taking precedence before 
repayment of any loan made by the Council. For the loan to be included in the 
calculation of the Credit Union’s capital and therefore satisfy the PRA’s 8% capital 
ratio requirement, the loan must meet the following conditions: 

4.6.1..1 The maturity of the loan must be more than five years from the date on which the 
loan is made; 

4.6.1..2 The subordination provisions provide that the claims of the subordinated 
creditors rank behind those of all unsubordinated creditors, including the credit 
union’s shareholders; 

4.6.1..3 To the fullest extent possible, creditors waive their rights to set off amounts they 
owe the credit union against subordinated amounts owed  by the credit union; 

4.6.1..4 The only events of default are non-payment of any interest or principal under the 
debt agreement or the winding-up of the credit union; 

4.6.1..5 The remedies available to the subordinated creditor in the event of default in 
respect of the subordinated debt are limited to petitioning for the winding-up of 
the credit union or proving for and claiming in the liquidation of the credit union; 

4.6.1..6 The subordinated debt must not become due and payable before its stated final 
maturity date except on an event of default; 

4.6.1..7 The terms of the subordinated debt must be set out in a written agreement or 
instrument that contains terms that provide for the above conditions; 

4.6.1..8 The debt must be unsecured and fully paid up. 

Page 26



 13

4.6.2 In short, the Credit Union are precluded from providing security for any such 
subordinated loan and the Council effectively rank last in the order in which 
creditors will be paid in the event of the Credit Union being wound-up. However, 
the likelihood of such financial failure is now significantly lower than in 2009 when 
the original loan was granted. In 2009 LCCU was recovering from serious 
financial problems but over the last 6 years the fortunes of LCCU have improved, 
the business plan that was put in place has been met and LCCU is now seen as a 
strong, viable and sustainable organisation.  The risk associated with the  
proposal to reschedule the loan is low compared to the risks that existed in 2009. 

4.6.3 The Council can, by way of agreement with the Credit Union, attach conditions to 
the loan agreement, albeit non-compliance with such terms and conditions does 
not constitute default and therefore the Council could not impose those conditions. 

4.6.4 The Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS) extends to Credit Unions. 
As such, all members of LCCU are protected up to a maximum of £75,000 each in 
the event that the Credit Union is insolvent. If this risk were to materialise the PRA 
would freeze the Credit Union’s permissions to operate and handover 
administration to the FSCS. The FSCS would aim to pay members out quickly in 
the event of insolvency. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Leeds City Credit Union is a key partner in helping to tackle poverty in Leeds, 
through delivering affordable locally based financial services.  Successful and 
sustainable partnership working with Leeds City Council has resulted in increases 
to both membership and loans over the past ten years, through developing 
innovative customer focussed products and services.  

5.2 With the support of the Council, LCCU has ambitions grow their membership base 
and provide genuine alternatives to the high cost credit sector.  

6 Recommendations 

That Executive Board; 

6.1 Notes and welcomes the significant progress made and projects developed 
through the partnership between the Council and Leeds City Credit Union which 
has helped in the delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives on financial 
inclusion and poverty alleviation and further welcomes the ongoing strategic 
approach to the partnership work. 

6.2 Authorises the Council entering into an agreement with the Credit Union in 
connection with the continuing support from the Council to the Credit Union, the 
approval of the terms of such agreement to be delegated to the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities). 

6.3 Agrees to the re-scheduling of the loan to the credit union as set out in paragraph 
3.38 of this report with the detailed arrangements being subject to determination 
by the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities). 

Page 27



 14

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 28



 15

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment. 
 
This form: 

 can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment 
 should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion 

of the assessment 
 should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable  

 
Directorate:    
Citizens and Communities 

Service area:  
Welfare and Benefits 

Lead person:  
Dave Roberts 

Contact number:  
247 4724 

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:  
 
 
1. Title:  Financial Inclusion Action Plan 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy /Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify   Financial Inclusion Action Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Impact Assessment 

 

  X 

Page 29



 16

 
 
2.  Members of the assessment team:    
Name Organisation Role on assessment 

team  
e.g. service user, 
manager of service, 
specialist 

Financial Inclusion 
Steering Group, key 
members include: 

  

Financial Inclusion 
Manager 

Financial Inclusion Team, LCC Manager of service 

Chief Executive Leeds Citizens Advice Bureau Specialist 
Chief Executive Leeds City Credit Union Specialist 
Head of Public Heath 
Partnerships 

Public Health, LCC Manager of service 

Executive Officer 
(Advice Services) 

Welfare Rights Unit, LCC Manager of service 

Chief Executive  Chapeltown CAB Specialist 
Service Manager Housing Leeds Manager of Service 
Head of Customer 
Contact 

Customer Services, LCC Manager of service 

Project Manager Ebor Gardens Advice Centre Specialist 
Chief Executive  Better Leeds Communities Specialist 
Centre Manager St Vincent’s Support Centre Specialist 
Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 
Communications 

Connect Housing Specialist 

Customer Services 
Director 

Leeds Federated Housing Specialist 

Community Support 
Manager 

Yorkshire Bank Specialist 

 
3.  Summary of strategy, policy, service or function that was assessed:  
 
As a Local Authority we have responsibilities to address poverty and deprivation – which is 
a key priority for the Council.  The activities set out in the Financial Inclusion Action Plan 
support the: 
 

 Best Council Plan 
 Safer and Stronger Communities Plan 
 Children’s and Young People’s Plan 
 Child Poverty Action Plan 
 Leeds Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 
All of which have a strong focus on: 
 

 addressing debt  
 maximising income and  

Page 30



 17

 moving people and families out of poverty. 
 

 
 
4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment  
(complete - 4a. if you are assessing a strategy, policy or plan and 4b. if you are assessing 
a service, function or event) 
 
4a.  Strategy, policy or plan   
(please tick the appropriate box below) 
 
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes 
 

            

 
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes and the supporting 
guidance 
 

 

 
A specific section within the strategy, policy or plan 
 

 

Please provide detail: 
 
The Financial Inclusion Action Plan 
 
4b. Service, function, event 
please tick the appropriate box below 
 
The whole service  
(including service provision and employment) 
 

            

 
A specific part of the service  
(including service provision or employment or a specific section of 
the service) 
 
 
 

 

 
Procuring of a service 
(by contract or grant) 
 

 

Please provide detail: 
 
 
 
5. Fact finding – what do we already know 
Make a note here of all information you will be using to carry out this assessment.  This 
could include: previous consultation, involvement, research, results from perception 
surveys, equality monitoring and customer/ staff feedback.  
 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

Page 31



 18

(priority should be given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration related information) 
 
Addressing poverty and deprivation is a key priority for the Council. The Best Council 
Plan 2013-17 identifies key outcomes that need to be achieved if we are to achieve 
our best council ambition. One of the outcomes cover the need to improve the quality of life 
for our residents, particularly those who are vulnerable or in poverty.  The Council needs to 
better promote and increase access to affordable credit and free debt advice . There is 
also a need to reduce reliance on high cost lending and support our citizens to be able to 
budget more effectively. 
 
The Financial Inclusion Steering Group has investigated the national picture and also the 
work that has been undertaken locally by StepChange and the Citizens Advice Bureau. 
 
Locally, partners (debt advice agencies, Credit Union, StepChange) have reported to the 
Council that they are seeing many more clients with debt problems associated with payday 
loans.  In many cases clients have multiple loans with a number of payday loans. 
 
The high cost credit market makes use of the fact that its customers lack access to other  
forms of mainstream credit.  A quarter of the customers of high cost credit companies  
cannot access any other form of credit.  As a result these customers have restricted choice 
and therefore are not able to shop around for other forms of credit that are more affordable 
to them and more manageable to pay back.  It is estimated that 5 million people in the UK  
access high cost credit of which 2 million use Payday lenders.  
 
Based on the national picture, it is estimated that up to 60,000 people in Leeds may use  
high interest lenders including approximately 22,500 people who may take out Payday  
loans.  Furthermore it is estimated that (based on national data), the high cost market in  
Leeds could be in the region of £90m.  It is forecasted that if everyone using high cost  
credit in Leeds had access to affordable sources this could reduce the cost of borrowing by 
up to £60m a year. 
 
According to debt charity StepChange, the number of people taking out payday loans  
doubled from 2011 to 2012 with the average owed increasing by £390.  The charity’s  
research also showed that the average payday loan debt of clients now exceeds their  
monthly net income and they are increasingly getting caught in the payday loan trap. More  
than 30,000 people with payday loans have sought debt advice from the charity  
StepChange in the first six months of 2013 which is almost as many as in the whole of  
2012.  In 2012, 74% of those people seeking help with payday loans had a net annual  
income of less than £20,000. 
 
Stepchange also reported that more than twice as many people who sought help with  
debts in 2012 had payday loans compared with 2011.  It helped 36,413 people last year  
who had payday loan debts, some 20,000 more than the previous year.  Worryingly, they  
also reported that 42% of their clients under age 25 had payday loans.  This is a four fold  
increase in just two years. 
 
 
Leeds City Credit Union (LCCU) 
Leeds City Credit Union is one of the largest in the UK with some 33,000 members and 
there are six full service branches as well as five information points. LCCU already 
provides a substantial amount of affordable credit in Leeds; the current loan book is £7.1m. 

Page 32



 19

The credit union has an ambition to build the loan book to £20m i.e. approximately 20% of 
the £90m estimated total high cost lending market in Leeds. The growth phase of this plan 
will require investments in staff, technology and marketing. In addition to reducing the 
market share of the high cost lenders, the plan would also see a considerable additional 
saving for households and the local economy and further build the capacity of the credit 
union. 
The following research looks at detailed research that has been undertaken in the city: 
 
2004 Research: Exclusion to Inclusion:  

The 2004 research considered two aspects of the issue. Firstly, to undertake research to 
establish the extent of the problem in Leeds for individuals, disadvantaged communities 
and Leeds as a whole. Secondly, to undertake a feasibility study to determine responses 
that would address the situation, and in particular consider what role could be played by 
the expansion of Credit Union facilities or other forms of community enterprise in 
addressing the problems faced by financially excluded communities. 

A survey was conducted involving interviews with 410 householders and the results of this 
survey formed a significant base of data illustrating the extent of the problem. 

The study identified the credit market in Leeds which targets disadvantaged 
neighbourhoods and the different communities within them and particularly focused on 
sub-prime moneylenders. The percentage of people with and without bank accounts was 
identified and also those without access to mainstream credit facilities.  Difficulties which 
people faced in obtaining mainstream banking facilities were considered and what factors 
were associated with this difficulty (e.g. Security/identity checks brought about through 
money laundering regulations, lack of access to bank facilities, lack of 
skills/knowledge/access to telephone/internet banking, banking practices, religious or 
cultural factors). 

The research also looked into the extent of debt and its impact on individuals, 
disadvantaged communities and the City as a whole and considered the distinction 
between manageable and un-manageable debt in the defined areas.  

The research identified needs which came under three broad headings:  

Affordable credit 
Debt advice and  
Financial literacy 

When the 2004 research was concluded the findings were reported to a half day 
conference attended by a significant number of partners working in the Leeds area.  At this 
conference it was determined that a similar exercise should be undertaken five years later. 
This was to attempt to identify if the impact of the financial inclusion strategy (which was 
developed in response to research findings) was having the desired and intended effects in 
the neighbourhoods which were subject to the original research. 

 

Therefore in January 2010, the same survey was conducted with 600 households in the 
same neighbourhoods. In addition, 300 households in less deprived neighbourhoods were 
surveyed focusing on homeowners to provide information about the extent of financial 
exclusion arising from the economic recession in recent years. 

Evolution of Financial Exclusion in Leeds since 2004  

A report was then compiled which compares the results from the 2004 and 2010 surveys. It 

Page 33



 20

also contains an extensive discussion of the changes in financial inclusion policy and 
financial exclusion nationally for the same period. The findings of this report paint a 
somewhat bleak picture of financial exclusion in Leeds. With the important exception of 
access to and use of banking and transaction services, financial exclusion has grown since 
the last survey. This is not necessarily a reflection on the significant financial inclusion 
interventions implemented in the UK and in Leeds. On the contrary, a study of the 
economic and regeneration impact of financial inclusion activities in Leeds estimated that 
these interventions had a cumulative impact on the regional economy of £28 million 
(Dayson et al, 2009). Ultimately, as with any, the impact of financial inclusion interventions 
can only be ascertained through a designated study examining the effects on beneficiaries 
of a given number of interventions and also the costs of these interventions. 

However, the findings of this study provide important lessons for financial inclusion 
practitioners. First, the influence of national factors on financial exclusion locally is likely to 
be considerable. In virtually all aspects of financial exclusion the survey data suggest that 
Leeds mirrored the country. Although Leeds has proven innovative and effective in its 
approach to financial exclusion, the influence of national policies and regulatory regime is 
evident in numerous aspects. The enhanced access to bank accounts in Leeds is at least 
in part due to the national government’s push on paying benefits into bank accounts and 
pushing for the introduction of no-frills bank accounts. This would suggest that local 
authorities and other stakeholders in financial inclusion also need to be attuned to the 
national picture and lobby the national government for the implementation of more effective 
financial inclusion policies. 

Second, the trends in financial exclusion are closely linked to trends in employment and 
other socio-economic factors. For example, access to mainstream loans is often 
dependant on the respondent being in employment. This suggests that combating financial 
exclusion is not likely to be effective if done in isolation of wider social inclusion 
interventions and labour market interventions. Financial inclusion interventions are 
important to avoid people slipping back into the cash economy as they are leaving the 
labour market. 

Finally, financial exclusion is not only affecting traditionally financially excluded groups and 
areas, but also less deprived areas and households. The respondents residing in less 
deprived areas were in fact less likely to save and have mainstream borrowing than 
respondents in the deprived areas surveyed in 2004. They were also slightly more likely to 
have had an application for credit rejected. This would suggest that financial inclusion 
interventions should not only target the typically financially excluded, but also less deprived 
areas and households.  

Groups most affected by financial exclusion 

A comparison of the Original and Repeat survey respondents suggest that the same 
groups are experiencing financial exclusion in both 2004 and 2010. In both the Original 
and Repeat survey, social housing tenants were far more likely to have fallen behind with 
bills than owner-occupiers. Owner occupiers were more likely to have savings and home 
contents insurance than other tenures. Overwhelmingly, workless and lone parent 
households were more likely to have no savings at all or less than £100. The groups least 
likely to have a bank account were men under 60 living alone and pensioner only 
households.   

 

Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information 
Please provide detail:  

Page 34



 21

 
No  
 
Action required:  N/A  
 
 
 
6.  Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to 
be affected or interested  
 
          Yes                                   No 
 
Please provide detail:  
 
 
See details of household surveys from 2004 and 2010 above.  
 
Partners from the Financial Inclusion Steering Group (listed above) who work with people 
directly affected by high cost lenders have been involved in putting together the action 
plan.   
 
 
Action required:  
Continue to have regular dialogue with partners to ensure actions represent the needs of 
those most affected. 
 
 
 
 
7.  Who may be affected by this activity?   
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers 
that apply to your strategy, policy, service or function  
Equality characteristics 
 
            
                  Age                                                  Carers                               Disability         
             
 
               Gender reassignment                   Race                                Religion  
                                                                                                                      or Belief 
 
                 Sex   (male or female)                     Sexual orientation  
 
 
                 Other   
                 
(Other can include – marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, and those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving public health) 
Please specify:  All equality characteristics are relevant but particularly financial exclusion, 
tackling poverty and improving public health 
 

X  

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



 22

Stakeholders 
                   
                  Services users                                  Employees                    Trade Unions 
 
 
                 Partners                                          Members                          Suppliers 
           
 
                 Other please specify 
 
Potential barriers                
 
                    Built environment                                 Location of premises and services 
 
     
                     Information                                           Customer care         
                     and communication 
      
                     Timing                                             Stereotypes and assumptions   
              
 
                     Cost                                                       Consultation and involvement 
 
 
                     Financial exclusion                              Employment and training 
 
 
                  specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function 
 
Please specify                       
 
 
 
8.  Positive and negative impact   
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential 
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the 
barriers 
8a. Positive impact: 

The high cost credit market makes use of the fact that its customers lack access to other  
forms of mainstream credit.  A quarter of the customers of high cost credit companies  
cannot access any other form of credit.  As a result these customers have restricted  
choice and therefore are not able to shop around for other forms of credit that are more  
affordable to them and more manageable to pay back.  It is estimated that 5 million  
people in the UK access high cost credit of which 2 million use payday lenders.  
 
Based on the national picture, it is estimated that up to 60,000 people in Leeds may use  
high interest lenders including approximately 22,500 people who may take out payday  
loans.  Furthermore it is estimated that (based on national data), the high cost market in  
Leeds could be in the region of £90m.  It is forecasted that if everyone using high cost  
credit in Leeds had access to affordable sources this could reduce the cost of borrowing  

x 

x 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

x  

Page 36



 23

by up to £60m a year. 
 
All actions within the Financial Inclusion Action Plan will positively impact on poverty in the 
city.  Working with partners to maximise income, tackle high cost lenders, provide access  
to more affordable credit and promote healthy lifestyles will help reduce instances of  
depression, mental and physical health issues associated with debt and poverty. 
 
Action  required: 

Ensure that equality is considered at each stage of the Financial Inclusion Lending Action 
Plan – attached – and particularly when any activities take place. 

 
8b. Negative impact: 

 
There will be no negative impact resulting from LCC’s direct actions, however external 
factors may have an impact. 

Action  required: 

 
None 

 
9.  Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the 
groups/communities identified? 
 
                 
                   Yes                                                  No 
 
Please provide detail: 
 
Work to tackle Financial Inclusion in the city will provide access to more affordable credit 
and promote healthy lifestyles and will help reduce instances of depression, mental and  
physical health issues associated with debt and poverty.  In April 2011 a report entitled  
‘Improving Public Health through Income Maximisation’ was produced by LCC’s Financial  
Inclusion Team.  The report recommended a best practice model for commissioning  
money advice services.  It pulls together the key evidence to support the need for advice  
services as an important facility to assist with improving the health of those suffering from  
multiple disadvantage. 
 
Action required:  
Continue to implement action plan 
 
 
 
10.  Does this activity bring groups/communities into increased contact with each 

x  

Page 37



 24

other? (e.g. in schools, neighbourhood, workplace) 
 
        
                   Yes                                                  No   
 
Please provide detail:A key aspect of tackling financial inclusion is the ability to provide 
improved access to affordable credit and free advice services. This includes better use of 
our One Stop Centres/ Community hubs, and locating services in the best possible 
locations. For example, Leeds City Credit Union has just opened an affordable loans shop 
‘Your Loan Shop’ on Roundhay Road in Harehills.     
 
Action required:  
Continued promotion and publicity of alternatives to high cost lending.  Work with 
Corporate Communications ongoing. 
 
 
 
11.  Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of 
another? (e.g. where your activity/decision is aimed at adults could it have an impact on 
children and young people) 
 
                   Yes                                                  No 
 
 
Please provide detail: 
        
The actions will not benefit any particular group at the expense of another.   
 
Action required:   
 

X  

 x 

Page 38



 

 25 

 
12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan 
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action) 
 
Action 
 

Timescale Measure Lead person 

Implement the financial inclusion action plan 
 
 

Ongoing  Measure achieved and 
completed 

Dave Roberts 

Continue to have regular dialogue with partners 
to ensure actions represent the needs of those 
most affected. 

Ongoing Revision of the action plan 
as necessary 

Dave Roberts 

 
Ensure that equality is considered at each stage 
of the financial inclusion action plan and 
particularly when any activities take place. 
 
 

Ongoing  Dave Roberts 

Continued promotion and publicity of alternatives 
to high cost lending.  Work with Corporate 
Communications ongoing 

Ongoing Meetings with partners as 
necessary 

Dave Roberts 

 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 

   

P
age 39



 

 

13. Governance, ownership and approval 
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration impact assessment 
Name Job Title Date 
 
Dave Roberts 

Financial Inclusion Manager 07.10.2014 

 
 
14.  Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration actions  
(please tick) 
 
            As part of Service Planning performance monitoring 
 
  
                  As part of Project monitoring 
 
                  Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board 
                  Please specify which board 
 
             
                  Other (please specify) 
 
 
 
15. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality impact assessment should be attached as an appendix to the 
decision making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality impact assessments that are not to be published 
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
assessment was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 1 October 2015 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

 

x 

 

 

Page 40



Report of: Director of Environment and Housing

Report to: Executive Board

Date: 21st October 2015

Subject: Re-location of Red Hall Horticultural Nursery to Whinmoor Grange

Capital Scheme Number: 32415/ 000 / 000

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Crossgates and Whinmoor, Harewood

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. In September 2013 Executive Board considered the business case for re-providing the 

Parks and Countryside services horticultural nursery and operation function from its 

existing base at Red Hall to Whinmoor Grange with the following being resolved;

 That the use of land at Whinmoor Grange to develop a replacement horticultural 

nursery, be approved.

 That commencement of the design and site layout of a circa 6 hectare 

horticultural nursery facility and ancillary facilities at Whinmoor Grange to RIBA 

Stage D, funded from existing budget provision (Capital Scheme 16442) 

indicating how this would relate to adjoining parts of the site, be approved. 

 That a further report be submitted to Executive Board in the form of a Design 

and Cost report, outlining the processes involved in progressing the 

development of a horticultural nursery at Whinmoor Grange along with further 

detail on funding.

1

Report author:  Tony Stringwell
Tel:  395 7400

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



2. The Design has now been completed to RIBA Stage C. The total cost of the 

development of the horticultural nursery at Whinmoor Grange is estimated at £6m, 

inclusive of fees. This is broken down between external works (£1.6m), glasshouse 

construction (£4m), and fees (£400k). In addition a further £500k is required to review 

depot facilities and fund the relocation of current Red Hall based Parks and 

Countryside operational activities to other existing Council sites.

3. In accordance with CPR 3.1.4 it is proposed that the external works will be carried out 

by P&C as in-service providers for a fixed sum of £1.6m. 

4. Following procurement workshops it is proposed, due to the specialist nature of the 

facility and in order to obtain greater cost certainty, to procure a specialist glass-house 

supply and installation company to complete the design of, and build, the glass-house 

for a fixed price sum of £4m. 

5. In accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) 3.1.8 the report 

requests that Executive Board approve the use of a single stage develop and construct 

procurement route, via an open non-EU procurement, for the procurement of a 

specialist contractor to undertake the proposed construction of a Glass House with 

ancillary facilities for a Horticultural Nursery at Whinmoor Grange. The report also 

proposes that the evaluation model will be based on 70% of marks for the lowest 

compliant cost and 30% of marks on quality criteria. In accordance with CPR 15.2 

detailed quality evaluation criteria will be issued for approval by the Chief Officer Parks 

and Countryside prior to the issue of invitations to tender.

6. Members should note that a planning application was submitted on 22nd July with 

determination due at Plans Panel on 29th October. The period for comments has now 

expired, and no adverse comments have been received from the public or Ward 

Members.

Recommendations

7. Executive Board is requested to;

i) Approve an injection of £6.5m into capital scheme 32415/000/000;

ii) Approve expenditure of up to £6.5m to design and build a replacement 

horticultural nursery for LCC Parks and Countryside at Whinmoor Grange 

and re-locate other services from the existing Red Hall depot subject to 

planning approval and the Local Growth Fund loan agreement.

2
Page 42



iii) Approve in accordance with CPR 3.1.8, the selection of a single stage 

develop and construct procurement approach via an open non-EU 

procurement to obtain a specialist contractor to undertake the proposed 

construction of a horticultural nursery glasshouse at Whinmoor Grange, and 

the evaluation criteria of 70% of marks for the lowest compliant cost and 30% 

of marks for quality criteria.

iv) Approve the current designs (appendix 1) and costs for Whinmoor Grange 

nursery, subject to planning approval.

v) That the Chief Officer Parks and Countryside will be responsible for implementing 

the recommendations within this report and ensure that the Parks and Countryside 

service vacate the Red Hall site by the end of 2016. 

3
Page 43



1   Purpose of this report

1.1 To advise members of the latest designs and costs relating to the re-location of the 
Parks and Countryside horticultural nursery from Red Hall depot to Whinmoor Grange, 
and the re-location of other Parks and Countryside operational and depot services 
currently based at Red Hall.

1.2 To seek an injection of £6.5m into capital scheme 32415/000/000 and authority to 
spend that amount on the construction of a horticultural nursery at Whinmoor Grange 
as a replacement for the existing nursery at the Red Hall estate which is earmarked for 
disposal, and also to fund the relocation of other operational services currently housed 
at Red Hall.

2   Background information

2.1 The Red Hall site covers around 29 hectares and is located between the Outer North 
Ring Road and A58 Wetherby Road. The majority of the land is in Council ownership 
comprising operational Parks & Countryside facilities (17ha) and playing fields and 
open space (11ha), though the original Red Hall House and stables (1ha) are owned 
and occupied by the Rugby Football League as its headquarters.  

2.2 The Red Hall site as a whole is one of the Council’s most significant and valuable 
strategic land holdings due to its size and location on the northern fringe of the built 
up area of Leeds and its allocation in the Local Development Framework for 
development.  There is the potential for a significant capital receipt from its sale, in 
support of the Council’s financial plan.  

2.3 A further report on this agenda, East Leeds Extension Update & Next Steps, provides 
Executive Board with an update on progress in planning for the delivery of major 
housing growth and infrastructure investment in the East Leeds Extension including 
proposals for the development of Red Hall. This additional report highlights the 
progress made in establishing a planning brief for the Red Hall site and the need for 
public consultation. It is highlighted that the Red Hall site could provide for;

 Up to 400 dwellings;

 The retention and funding of green space on site in the form of at least two 
playing pitches, with options on how and where these could be located on site;

 The existing Listed Buildings – protection of their setting and views as well as 
maintaining the operational function of the majority of these as they form the 
headquarters of the Rugby Football League;

 Retaining Public Right of Way links to the countryside and new links to Roundhay 
Park.

2.4 Furthermore the report seeks approval for a strategy for marketing and disposal of the 
Red Hall site, central to which is the need for the Parks and Countryside service to 
vacate the site. In order to facilitate the release of council owned land at Red Hall 
estate for the proposed East Leeds Extension and East Leeds Orbital Road 
(ELE/ELOR) a number of preparatory tasks were approved by Executive Board in May 

4
Page 44



2012. These included the refurbishment of Farnley Hall Coach House to allow re-
location of staff from Red Hall which was completed in December 2013, surveys at 
Whinmoor Grange and Red Hall, design work on Whinmoor and associated fees.  

2.5 Moving on from the above, on 4th September 2013 Executive Board approved the use 
of Whinmoor Grange to provide a replacement horticultural nursery to facilitate the 
disposal of the Red Hall estate and approved the progression of designs and costs to 
RIBA Stage D.

2.6 As previously highlighted to Executive Board, the horticultural nursery provides a 
broad range of positive outputs including city wide support for the development of 
volunteering and community engagement focussed activities, acting as a centre for 
horticulture excellence and training along with the provision of two million bedding 
plants and approximately 250,000 edibles per year. The volume and variety of supply 
required to maintain existing provision which is spread across a geographically 
dispersed city, supports the business case for continuing to grow produce in house as 
it is neither economic nor possible to buy produce in.    

2.7 During recent years the nursery has been successful in developing an enterprising 
culture and has proactively sought out opportunities to generate income. Examples 
include the establishment of an on-site retail offer stocking surplus produce and the 
development of floral sponsorship opportunities which generate a combined income 
per annum of in excess of £400k.      

2.8 In addition to enterprise, the nursery has a vital role in assisting the Parks & 
Countryside service in engaging with community groups and other third sector 
organisations along with providing a valuable resource in support leaning and 
development opportunities.  In recent years there has been substantial growth in 
volunteer participation across the service, with volunteer activity across parks and 
greenspaces equating to approximately 109 full time equivalent staff. This 
development of volunteer activity and opportunities has been supported by the 
continued growth of ‘in bloom’ groups across the city. The nursery plays an important 
role in sustaining the ‘in bloom’ initiative which has social, economic, environmental 
and transformational benefits.

2.9 The nursery is also a valuable learning resource and plays a central role in the 
development in each of the 30 new horticultural apprentices engaged by the service in 
the last 2 years. In addition the horticultural nursery at Red Hall has successfully 
developed and supported numerous pathways into work opportunities including the 
following;

 The establishment of an enhancement team to support with nursery 
operations and incoming generating extra work. The team includes former 
employees from Roseville Enterprises and therefore continues to provide 
opportunities for supported employment of vulnerable adults. 

 Supporting the RHS in delivering applied learning techniques for children with 
special education needs with an interest in horticulture.  

2.10    The additional benefits of a new nursery include the following:

5
Page 45



 Opportunities to generate further income through purpose built plant retail and 
visitor facilities;

 Enhanced sponsorship opportunities in community parks;
 Create opportunities for cross council trading by maintaining current production 

capacity, on a site that is significantly smaller in footprint;
 Establish the horticultural nursery as a key centre for apprentices and learning.
 The continued provision and support of pathways into work opportunities.   

3   Main issues

3.1 Design Proposals and Full Scheme Description.

3.2 The design and function of the current horticultural nursery at Red Hall is inefficient 
both from a production perspective and in terms of land use. The present nursery 
production area links six polythene tunnels via a conveyor system running for 
approximately a quarter of a mile. The full production area includes 2 acres of glass in 
15 separate glass houses and 4.5 acres of covered tunnels. Standing grounds and 
open ground planting areas account for a further 3.5 acres.

3.3 The proposals outlined in this report highlight a new facility that is more efficient in 
design, accessibility and production and will achieve the same level of production on a 
much smaller covered footprint of 4.3 acres, 2.2 acres less than the existing growing 
area at Red Hall. 

3.4 The design proposals for Whinmoor Grange will provide for;

 A horticultural nursery glass-house, including sowing and germination room, potting 
line and storage, and a rain water harvesting system.

 Vehicle access from Thorner Lane.

 Office and welfare facilities for site staff.

 Small horticultural retail areas for sale of surplus plant material.

 Parking for staff, visitors and public.

 Outdoor storage areas.

 A sustainable urban drainage system based on external water attenuation ponds.

3.5 The proposed construction is a specialist built modular system that integrates all of the 
internal activities into a single building envelope. This will allow more efficient 
production systems in a smaller space than can be achieved at the current Red Hall 
nursery.

3.6 It is proposed that ground works and provision of service connections will be 
managed by an in-service provider, Parks and Countryside, commencing in 
November, subject to final approvals to secure a Local Growth Fund loan from the 
Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership.  Procurement of a specialist 
glasshouse provider on a design and build basis will be undertaken by the Council in 

6
Page 46



parallel with the commencement of work on site. The specialist glasshouse 
construction should be able to commence on site in March 2016, with completion 
anticipated in autumn 2016.

3.7 In parallel with the programme of work at Whinmoor, plans will also be developed to 
expand and grow existing depot facilities to accommodate area based operational 
staff that will need to decant from Red Hall prior to the end of 2016. Separate 
decision and approvals will be brought forward for this process as necessary and 
where required. To support the delivery of this holistic programme of work, the Parks 
and Countryside service are in the process of establishing a new post with 
responsibility for overseeing this transition. 

3.8    Programme – 

3.8.1 The high level programme appears below;

October 21st 2015 – Executive Board DCR/ATS approval

October 29th 2015– Planning approval

November 2015 – Local Growth Fund loan agreement

November 2015 – External works by in-service provider commence

November 2015 – Glasshouse tender invitations issued

January 2016 – Glasshouse contractor appointed

March 2016 - External works to building footprint and access road completed

March 2016 – Glasshouse construction commences on site

November 2016 – Completion

December 2016 – Parks and Countryside decant complete

3.9    Procurement

3.9.1 A number of meetings and workshops were held to discuss the preferred 
procurement options, the meetings were attended by officers from Parks and 
Countryside, Asset Management, Projects Programmes & Procurement Unit, and 
representatives from the Council’s design partner NPS Leeds.

3.9.2 The agreed outcome was that the project naturally falls into two distinct elements, 
the first being the external preparatory works, the second the design and 
construction of the glasshouse.

3.9.3 The external works fall within the provisions of Contract Procedures Rules (CPR)  
3.1.4 in that an internal service provider (ISP) exists and has confirmed that they 
can carry out the works, the ISP in this case being the Parks and Countryside 
service.

7
Page 47



3.9.4 The design of the glasshouse is a specialised field with a small number of suitably 
experienced and skilled companies in the market. Accordingly in the interest of 
placing the design and associated risk with the party best able to manage that risk 
it is proposed to seek early involvement of a specialist contractor on a design and 
build basis. This also has the benefit of achieving greater cost certainty than 
delaying procurement until a fully designed scheme is available.

3.9.5 This report seeks Executive Board approval of the procurement route in 
accordance with CPR 3.1.8 for the selection of a single stage develop and 
construct approach via an open non-EU procurement to obtain a specialist 
contractor to undertake the proposed construction of a horticultural nursery and 
ancillary facilities at Whinmoor Grange, and the evaluation criteria of 70% of 
marks awarded for the lowest compliant cost and 30% of marks on the basis of 
quality criteria. Approval of the specific evaluation criteria will be requested in line 
with CPR 15.2 prior to tender issue.

4     Corporate Considerations

4.1   Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Harewood along with Crossgates and Whinmoor ward members have been 
consulted on the proposals for the new horticultural nursery at Whinmoor Grange 
and no adverse comments have been received.

4.1.2 As part of the planning process, members of the public had the opportunity to 
comment on the proposals and no adverse comments were received during the 
consultation period. This process was supplemented by undertaking a two week 
period of consultation using the council’s online consultation platform Talking 
Point; again no adverse comments were received.  

4.1.3 In addition, a display highlighting proposals for the new nursery development has 
been in situ at the existing Red Hall facility prior to the submission of the planning 
application and throughout the application determination period. Average daily 
transactions at this facility are approximately 40 to 50 per day and all customers 
were able to view proposals and comment should they wish. 

4.1.4 Furthermore, local Parish Councils, including Barwick and Scholes and Thorner, 
were contacted and invited to an open day to view plans and discus proposals 
with officers. 

4.2   Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Due consideration has been given to the needs of minority groups, as required 
under equality legislation, in the formation of the design to this point. 
Consideration  has been given to ensuring that the facility is fully accessible 
through the design process.           

4.2.2 A screening document has been prepared and an independent impact 
assessment has been completed for the approvals requested. The full document 
is available in the appendices of this report, but the main issues are as follows :- 

8
Page 48



 Ensure through the design process that the facility is fully accessible;

 Develop local staff engagement processes to communicate changes to working 
arrangements;

 Positive benefits associated with significant work streams being undertaken by 
Leeds City Council Staff, and the opportunities to support with staff development. 

4.3   Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposals contained in this report contribute to the Best Council Plan 2015/16 
objective of becoming a more efficient and enterprising council through the 
creation of fit-for-purpose bespoke operational facilities that will offer significant 
efficiencies in the delivery of the Parks and Countryside service.

4.3.2 Delivery of the Whinmoor Grange scheme will also contribute to the objective of 
promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth, by facilitating the release of 
land at the Red Hall estate for use in housing and transport infrastructure 
improvements through the East Leeds Extension and East Leeds Orbital Road 
proposals.

4.4   Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The full scheme costs are estimated at £6.5m broken down as below;

Glasshouse construction - £4m

External works by in-service provider £1.6m

Fees and other costs - £400k  

Review and re-location of other P&C services from Red Hall to other sites - £500k

4.4.2 It should be noted that preparatory works at Whinmoor Grange are the subject of a 
provisional Local Growth Fund (LGF) loan approval from the Leeds City Region 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) for £2m at 0% interest. The loan will fund all of 
the external works being carried out by Parks and Countryside as internal service 
provider, the demolition of an existing shed at Whinmoor, (to be carried out under 
a separate authorisation) and elements of the glasshouse contractors works. The 
conditions of the loan will require the Council to draw down in the current financial 
year and to demonstrate commencement of works by April 2016.

4.4.3 The Deputy Chief Executive can approve the terms of the LGF loan as negotiated 
between the Council and LEP under existing delegations. It is intended to accept 
the loan and complete the related agreement, subject to Executive Board’s 
consideration of the related matters set out in this report.

4.4.4 The balance of the costs will be met through unsupported prudential borrowing, 
with the principal and interest costs to be repaid through the capital receipt to be 
secured from future sale of land at Red Hall. The same capital receipt will be 
required to repay the 0% LGF loan.

9
Page 49



4.4.5 Capital Funding and Cash Flow. 
Authority to Spend TOTAL TO MARCH
required for this Approval 2015 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019 on

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
LAND (1) 0.0
CONSTRUCTION (3) 5600.0 1000.0 4600.0
FURN & EQPT (5) 0.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 300.0 150.0 150.0
OTHER COSTS (6)& (7) 600.0 300.0 300.0
TOTALS 6500.0 0.0 1450.0 5050.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total overall Funding TOTAL TO MARCH
(As per latest Capital 2015 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019 on
Programme) £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Capital Receipt 6500.0 1450.0 5050.0

Total Funding 6500.0 0.0 1450.0 5050.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance / Shortfall = 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

FORECAST

FORECAST

Parent Scheme Number :      32415/000/000 

4.4.6 Revenue Effects

4.4.7 Any revenue implications will be funded from within existing approved budgets.

4.5    Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The decisions requested in this report constitute a key decision and are therefore 
eligible for call-in.

4.6    Risk Management

4.6.1 There is a risk that the specialist contractors may not be able to deliver the full 
glasshouse proposals within the £4m limit. This has been mitigated by early 
identification of value engineering options, in addition the tender documentation 
will specify that the capped budget for the scheme is £4m and proposals must be 
provided which comply with this budget.

4.6.2 There is a risk of coordination issues arising between the ISP and the selected 
glass house contractor. This will be mitigated by use of a whole project approach 
and early involvement of the glasshouse contractor through the design and build 
procurement. In addition NPS will be retained throughout the project as technical 
advisors.

5     Conclusions

5.1 The proposals contained in this report will facilitate the release of Council land to 
allow construction of housing and transport infrastructure as part of the ELE/ELOR 
proposals.

5.2 In addition proposals contained within the report will lead to the enhancement and 
development of an improved and more efficient  horticultural nursery that will allow 

10
Page 50



the a continuation of the positive outcomes associated with this area of service 
provision and the potential for growth in existing on site activities.

6      Recommendations

6.1    Executive Board is requested to;

i)  Approve an injection of £6.5m into capital scheme 32415/000/000

ii)  Approve expenditure of up to £6.5 to design and build a replacement horticultural 

nursery for LCC Parks and Countryside at Whinmoor Grange and re-locate other 

services from the existing Red Hall depot subject to planning approval and Local 

Growth Fund loan agreement.

iii)  Approve in accordance with CPR 3.1.8, the selection of a single stage develop and 

construct procurement approach via an open non-EU procurement to obtain a 

specialist contractor to undertake the proposed construction of a horticultural 

nursery glasshouse at Whinmoor Grange, and the evaluation criteria of 70% of 

marks for the lowest compliant cost and 30% of marks for quality criteria.

iv) Approve the current designs (appendix 1) and costs for Whinmoor Grange nursery, 

subject to planning approval.

v) That the Chief Officer Parks and Countryside will be responsible for implementing 

the recommendations  within this report and ensure that the Parks and Countryside 

service vacate the Red Hall site by the end of 2016.  

7. Background documents1 

None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available for download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

11
Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



P
a
c
k
in

g
 /
 L

o
a
d

in
g

A
re

a

G
la

s
s
h
o
u
s
e

A
c
c
e
s
s

A
l
t
e
r
n
a
t
i
v
e

G
l
a
s
s
h
o
u
s
e

E
x
i
t

O
ff
ic

e

A
c
c
e
s
s

S
h
o
p

A
c
c
e
s
s

P
la

n
t

R
o
o
m

O
f
f
i
c
e
s
 
a
n

d

W
e
l
l
f
a
r
e

R
e
t
a
i
l
 
A

r
e
a

P
ro

d
u

c
ti

o
n

A
re

a

G
la

s
s
h

o
u

s
e

Outdoor

Retail Area

(surplus Plants)

1
0

Native hedgerow tree planting

- subject to overhead power

line easement / clearance

restrictions

Gates

Gates

P

r

o

p

o

s

e

d

 

A

c

c

e

s

s

 

R

o

a

d

 

a

n

d

 

F

o

o

t

p

a

t

h

Proposed Site Entrance

from Thorner Lane

Junction design subject to

LCC Highway approval

H

I

G

H

 

V

O

L

T

A

G

E

 

O

V

E

R

H

E

A

D

 

P

O

W

E

R

 

L

I

N

E

N

0

20
100m

E

x

i

s

t

i

n

g

 

T

r

e

e

 

B

e

l

t

Grass

Outdoor

Storage Area

Grass

Outdoor

Storage Area

Cycle Store

10no.

1

1

8

.

5

0

1

1

6

.
5

0

1
1
6
.0

0

1

1

5

.

5

0

1

1

7

.
0

0

1
1
7
.
5
0

1

1

8

.

0

0

120.00

1
1
9
.0

0

119.50

1

2

0

.
5

0

1

2

1

.

0

0

Outdoor Storage

Area

Grass

Outdoor Storage

Area

Surface Water

Attenuation

820m3

S
it
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d

+

1

1

5

.

5

0

+

1

1

5

.

0

0

+

1

1

4

.

5

0

+

1

1

4

.

5

0

+

1

1

8

.

9

5

+

1

1

8

.

9

5

20

Nursery Delivery

& Storage Area

O

f

f

 

s

i

t

e

 

n

a

t

i

v

e

 

t

r

e

e

 

s

h

e

l

t

e

r

 

b

e

l

t

 

p

l

a

n

t

i

n

g

O
n

 s
it

e
 n

a
ti

v
e
 t

re
e

s
h

e
lt

e
r 

b
e
lt

 p
la

n
ti

n
g

Grass

Outdoor

Storage Area

Pedestrian

Access

P

a

s

s

i

n

g

 

/

 

W

a

i

t

i

n

g

S

p

a

c

e

P

a

s

s

i

n

g

 

/

 

W

a

i

t

i

n

g

S

p

a

c

e

+

1

1

6

.

5

0

+

1

1

6

.

0

0

+

1

1

5

.

5

0

3
0

40

5
0

60

S
  
W

  
A

  
L
  
E

S
  
W

  
A

  
L
  
E

S
  
W

  
A

  
L
  
E

1

1

5

.

0

0

1

1

4

.

5

0

1

1

4

.

0

0

+

1

1

5

.

0

0

+

1

1

7

.

5

0

+

1

1

5

.

5

0

Overflow

Spillway

Gates

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

1

1

6

.
5

0

1

1

7

.
0

0

1

1

6

.
5

0

1

1

6

.
0

0

1

1

5

.
0

0

1

1

5

.
0

0

1

1

4

.
5

0

1

1

5

.
5

0

1

1

4

.
5

0

1

1

6

.
5

0

1

1

6

.
0

0

1

1

5

.
5

0

1

1

7

.
0

0

1

1

7

.
5

0

1

1

8

.
0

0

1

1

8

.
5

0

1

1

9

.

5

0

1

2

0

.

0

0

1

2

0

.

0

0

120.50

121.0
0

1
2
0
.0

0

120.50

1

2

1

.
0

0

118.5
0

118.0
0

117.50

1

1

8

.

5

0

1

1

8

.

0

0

1

1

7

.

5

0

1

1

9

.

5

0

1

2

0

.

0

0

1

1

6

.

5

0

+

1

1

8

.

9

5

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

+

1

1

8

.

9

5

Gates

SN

438100N

438200N

438300N

438400N

438500N

120.338

120.284

120.249

120.217

120.172

120.141

120.095

120.093

120.081

120.055

120.031

120.029

120.008

119.980

119.916

119.867

119.804

119.736

119.669

119.611

117.384

117.323

117.265

117.164

117.092

117.016

117.006

116.993

116.977

116.970

116.984

116.981

120.321

120.277

120.231

120.179

120.089

120.017

119.958

119.944

119.880

119.847

119.782

119.725

119.642

119.570

119.510

119.564

119.469

119.518

119.405

119.404

119.352

119.417

119.339

119.260

119.364

119.421

119.526

117.079

117.090

117.101

117.114

117.124

117.139

117.140

117.215

117.293

117.388

117.461

117.519

119.711

119.781

119.842

119.907

119.960

120.021

120.086

120.115

120.127

120.063

120.082

120.101

120.181

120.195

120.250

120.286

120.330

120.362

120.391

120.444

120.098

120.287

120.179

119.526119.783

119.800

119.518

119.409
119.404

119.437

119.526

120.424

120.380

120.325

120.299

120.244

120.196

120.125

120.084

120.066

119.991

119.949

119.912

119.851

119.778

119.714

119.695
119.596

119.661

119.757

119.804

119.868

119.901

119.969

119.993

120.051

120.113

120.195

120.252

120.299

120.343

7
0

Surface Water

Irrigation Reservior

1100m3 (2m depth)

1
1
9
.5

0

O

n

 

s

i

t

e

 

n

a

t

i

v

e

 

t

r

e

e

s

c

r

e

e

n

 

p

l

a

n

t

i

n

g

O

n

 

s

i

t

e

 

n

a

t

i

v

e

 

t

r

e

e

s

c

r

e

e

n

 

p

l

a

n

t

i

n

g

O

n

 

s

i

t

e

 

n

a

t

i

v

e

 

t

r

e

e

 

s

h

e

l

t

e

r

 

b

e

l

t

 

p

l

a

n

t

i

n

g

S

 

 

W

 

 

A

 

 

L

 

 

E

S

u

r

f

a

c

e

 

W

a

t

e

r

 

A

t

t

e

n

u

a

t

i

o

n

 

S

w

a

l

e

s

 

/

 

R

e

e

d

 

B

e

d

 

F

i

l

t

r

a

t

i

o

n

Connection from

access road

drainage

Controlled outfall

to water course

subject to EA

approval

T

r

e

e

 

P

r

o

t

e

c

t

i

o

n

 

F

e

n

c

i

n

g

M
/
C

y
c
l
e
 
P

a
r
k
i
n

g

Visitor / Staff

Parking

70no.

C

C

A

A

D

D

B

B

B
in

 S
to

re

R
e
c
y
c
l
e

B
i
n

R
e
c
y
c
l
e

B
i
n

R
e
c
y
c
l
e

B
i
n

R
e
c
y
c
l
e

B
i
n

W

a
s
t
e

B
i
n

W
a
s
t
e

B
i
n

W

a
s
t
e

B
i
n

W
a
s
t
e

B
i
n

W
a
s
t
e

B
i
n

W
a
s
t
e

B
i
n

R
e
c
y
c
l
e

B
i
n

R
e
c
y
c
l
e

B
i
n

Paving - Bitmac -

Vehicle

Soft Landscape -

Hedgerow Trees

Soft Landscape -

Shrubs

Paving - Bitmac -

Pedestrian

Fence - Steel

Welded Mesh 1.8m

Paving - Setts -

Pedestrian

Soft Landscape -

Grass

Soft Landscape -

Reed Bed /Wetland

Soft Landscape -

Native Trees

LEGEND

Soft Landscape -

Hedge

Site Boundary

Paving - Reinforced Stone / Road

Scalpings - Temp Parking Area

Paving - Flags -

Pedestrian

Fence - Steel

Welded Mesh 2.4m

Existing Contours

0.25m intervals

Proposed Levels

Proposed Contours

0.25m intervals

+

1

1

8

.

9

5

  


















TEL:

EMAIL:

Head Office:




Other Office locations can be found on our website

FAX:






 




  







 









  

 

  












  





 
 

 



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment.

This form:
 can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment
 should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion 

of the assessment
 should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable 

Directorate: Environments and 
Housing

Service area: Parks and Countryside 

Lead person: 
T Stringwell

Contact number: 3957400

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment: 
21/09/2015

1. Title: 
Relocation of Redhall Horticultural Nursery
Is this a:

     Strategy /Policy                    Service / Function                 Other
                                                                                                               

If other, please specify Project to deliver location change for service facility

2.  Members of the assessment team:   
Name Organisation Role on assessment team 

e.g. service user, manager of service, 
specialist

T Stringwell LCC Project Manager
S Frosdick LCC Equality  Lead officer for service
P Ackroyd LCC Nursery Manager

1

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Impact Assessment

X

Page 55



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014

3.  Summary of strategy, policy, service or function that was assessed:  
The project seeks to relocate the horticultural nursery from its current location at Redhall to 
a site in close proximity and onto land in council ownership. The design will use the latest 
design principles for these types of facilities and will seek to ensure that the council retains 
the ability to produce high quality plants for use across the city, produced to high 
environmental standards, limiting transportation needs, thereby supporting engagement of 
school and volunteer groups and sustaining the employment and skills development of 
nursery and other staff. It should be noted that the nursery has in recent years taken on 
staff from the former Roseville Enterprises providing assisted work placements for staff 
who find secure employment difficult due to complex needs. The new provision will be able 
to continue to support this approach.

4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment 
(complete - 4a. if you are assessing a strategy, policy or plan and 4b. if you are assessing 
a service, function or event)

4a.  Strategy, policy or plan  
(please tick the appropriate box below)

The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes
           

The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes and the supporting 
guidance

A specific section within the strategy, policy or plan

Please provide detail:

4b. Service, function, event
please tick the appropriate box below

The whole service 
(including service provision and employment)

           

A specific part of the service 
(including service provision or employment or a specific section of 
the service)

Procuring of a service
(by contract or grant)

Please provide detail:
See section 3 summary for detail. The project relates to a specific area of the Parks and 
Countryside service and includes impacts to suppliers, service users and staff including 
colleagues with specific needs including learning and physical disabilities.

2

X

Page 56



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014

5. Fact finding – what do we already know
Make a note here of all information you will be using to carry out this assessment.  This 
could include: previous consultation, involvement, research, results from perception 
surveys, equality monitoring and customer/ staff feedback. 

(priority should be given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration related information)
During the development of the project to date we have undertaken consultation with 
local ward members, senior council officers, public via the councils engagement 
processes, via displays at the current nursery to visiting public, with local Parish 
councils. The design in its current format has been subject to planning application with 
public notices as required under this procedure. |The feedback gained from this activity 
has been incorporated into the project. Prior to this an informal planning statement for 
the site was reported to Executive Board in October 2011 and approval to commence 
the project was secured.

The existing nursery display has generated no formal responses either negative of 
positive from the customers using the shop facility. However staff report conversations 
with service users who are keen to be assured that the provision will continue to be 
provided at either location. Barwick and Scholes parish Council have written to confirm 
that they have no objections to the scheme and no other comments have been received 
including to the planning application.

Relocation of the nursery will have an impact on staff who will be required to travel to 
the alternative site and this will be dealt with via the councils normal arrangements for 
displaced staff. However the staff impacted have been kept closely informed of the 
development of the project and are keen to see the project delivered to ensure 
continuation of service and the protection of continued employment. It has been noted 
that some staff employed at the nursery have sensitive needs and arrangements will be 
made throughout the project development and implementation to ensure that they are 
fully able to engage and influence the design and delivery of the scheme. This has 
included the provision of BSL signers attending staff briefings where the project has 
been discussed. It is anticipated that 2 new staff will shortly be joining the nursery staff 
team from Roseville with more complex learning needs and this will be assessed more 
fully once they have started work.

The design for the nursery will comply with legislation with regards to accessibility and 
will seek to employ the lates design principles for process management that seek to 
limit the need for manual handling of material thereby reducing the physical impact of 
manual work on employees. The site layout will seek to remove the barriers to access 
that currently exist associated for the public who will no longer be required to enter a 
industrial work space to gain access to the nursery shop.

Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information
Please provide detail: 
The 2 new members of staff are known to have learning difficulties that have not yet been 
fully assessed by the service.. 

Action required: 
An assessment of need will be undertaken as soon as is practicable after transfer and will 

3
Page 57



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014

influence future engagement practice to ensure they are full engaged in the process and 
that their needs are accommodated in the design of the scheme with regards to their 
employment.

6.  Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to 
be affected or interested 

          Yes                                   No

Please provide detail: 
Please see description above regarding consultation activities.

Action required: 
To continue to engage with all stakeholders as the project proceeds. As the change will 
have an impact of arrangements for staffing a separate Organisational Change Impact 
Assessment will be undertaken at the appropriate time.

7.  Who may be affected by this activity?  
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers 
that apply to your strategy, policy, service or function 

Equality characteristics

           
                  Age                                                  Carers                               Disability        
            

               Gender reassignment                   Race                                Religion 
                                                                                                                      or Belief

                 Sex   (male or female)                     Sexual orientation 

                 Other  
                
(Other can include – marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, and those 
areas that impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-
being)
Please specify:

Stakeholders
                  
                  Services users                                  Employees                    Trade Unions

                 Partners                                          Members                          Suppliers
          

4

X

X

X

X

X X

X X

Page 58



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014

                 Other please specify

Potential barriers.                

                    Built environment                                 Location of premises and services

    
                     Information                                           Customer care        
                     and communication
     
                     Timing                                             Stereotypes and assumptions  
             

                     Cost                                                       Consultation and involvement

                     Financial exclusion                              Employment and training

                  specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function

Please specify

                      

8.  Positive and negative impact  
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential 
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the 
barriers
8a. Positive impact:

The scheme will ensure continued employment to current nursery staff including those 
identified with complex needs. The nursery also provides opportunities for training and 
development for young people on the apprenticeship programme, the graduate 
programme, and for the large number of volunteers that engage with the Parks and 
Countryside service via routes such as ‘In Bloom’, educational visits, community food 
growing and other schemes such as support to the RHS horticultural access course 
current under development.

A significant amount of the capital works will be completed in house securing valuable 
revenue support for the service and provide a unique training and development opportunity 
to be involved in the design and build process for the nursery.

It is anticipated that the scheme will support the future development of the surrounding 
land in line with the East Leeds Extension particularly the plans for green space provision. 
Action  required:

5

X

X

X X

X

Page 59



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014

Consideration to be given to the development of an engagement pack to support public 
and school visits to the site during the implementation phase to support onward 
educational engagement in areas such as environmental work, business management.

8b. Negative impact:

Some staff may have to travel further to work however public transport links to the site are 
good and similar to the existing facility.  Staff parking will be provided and financial 
compensation is available in line with the council’s employment practice.

Action  required:

To identify and mitigate impacts on staff that are identified from the planned Organisational 
Change Impact Assessment.

9.  Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the 
groups/communities identified?

                
                   Yes                                                  No

Please provide detail:
Strong links currently exist with 3rd sector groups and partners and these will continue to 
be supported and will have increased capacity to develop should the project proceed.

Action required: 
Continued engagement through-out the development phase.

10.  Does this activity bring groups/communities into increased contact with each 
other? (e.g. in schools, neighbourhood, workplace)

       
                   Yes                                                  No  

Please provide detail:
Increased opportunities to support educational work through the educational pack and site 
visit/nursery tours that are difficult to support in the current facility due to the industrial 
nature of the site..
Action required: 
None at this time.

11.  Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of 
another? (e.g. where your activity/decision is aimed at adults could it have an impact on 
children and young people)

6

X

X

Page 60



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014

                   Yes                                                  No

Please provide detail:
         

Action required:  
None

7

X

Page 61



12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action)

Action Timescale Measure Lead person

An assessment of need will be 
undertaken for staff with 
learning difficulties as soon as 
is practicable after the planned 
transfer to influence future 
engagement practice ensuring 
they are full engaged in the 
process and that their needs 
are accommodated in the 
design of the scheme with 
regards to their employment.

3 months Staff consulted and issues 
correctly identified

P Ackroyd, Nursery manager

To continue to engage with all 
stakeholders as the project 
proceeds. As the change will 
have an impact of 
arrangements for staffing a 
separate Organisational 
Change Impact Assessment 
will be undertaken at the 
appropriate time.

6 Months or at key approval 
points 

Engagement resources to 
continue to be developed as 
the scheme progresses. The 
OCIA will be undertaken at the 
correct point in the programme 
once it is known that the 
scheme is moving to 
implementation.

T Stringwell

Consideration to be given to 
the development of an 
engagement pack to support 
public and school visits to the 
site during the implementation 
phase to support onward 
educational engagement in 

6 Months Resources developed and 
available

T Stringwell

8

P
age 62



Action Timescale Measure Lead person

areas such as environmental 
work, business management.
To identify and mitigate 
impacts on staff that are 
identified from the planned 
Organisational Change Impact 
Assessment.

6 Months Implement mitigation of any 
identified impacts 

P Ackroyd

Continued engagement 
through-out the development 
phase.

Ongoing T Stringwell

9

P
age 63



13. Governance, ownership and approval
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration impact assessment
Name Job Title Date
M Kinnaird Development Manager 23/09/2015

Date impact assessment completed
21/09/2015

14.  Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
actions  (please tick)

            As part of Service Planning performance monitoring

 
                  As part of Project monitoring

                  Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board
                  Please specify which board

            
                  Other (please specify)

15. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision. 

A copy of this equality impact assessment should be attached as an appendix to the 
decision making report: 

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council.

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions. 

 A copy of all other equality impact assessments that are not to be published 
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record.

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
assessment was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services 

Date sent:

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

10

X

Page 64

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration.

A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.  

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.

Directorate: Environment and Housing Service area: Parks and Countryside
Lead person: Tony Stringwell Contact number: 0113 3957400

1. Title: Re-location of Red Hall Horticultural Nursery to Whinmoor Grange 
Is this a:

     Strategy /Policy                    Service / Function                 Other
                                                                                                               

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

In order to realise the development potential of council owned land at Red Hall, it 
is necessary for the Parks and Countryside Service to vacate the site. An 
Informal Planning Statement produced for the council owned site at Whinmoor 
Grange identified potential locations for key operational functions to relocate from 
Red Hall to Whinmoor Grange, including the horticultural nursery the depot and 
office facilities.    

The role of the nursery within the Parks and Countryside service is broad and can 
be summarised into three principal areas:

 The production of plants, shrubs and edible produce from seed along with 
associated income generating activities;  

 Community engagement; 
 Centre for horticultural excellence and training. 

Numerous advantages can be identified in support of developing replacement 
horticultural nursery facilities at Whinmoor Grange. Most notable of which, are the 

1

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening

x

Page 65



EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

positive outcomes associated with maintaining a horticultural hub within Leeds at 
the heart of the East Leeds Extension. Developing a horticultural nursery in this 
location presents opportunities to support the long term provision of a Parks and 
Countryside apprenticeship programme and also further develop the extensive 
programme of community engagement opportunities provided by the nursery.

A review of the business case associated with the re-provision of an in house 
horticultural nursery has been undertaken. The outcome of this process, when 
considered in conjunction with the significant beneficial outcomes attributable to 
the nursery, would support an investment case for the re-provision of a 
horticultural nursery to Whinmoor Grange. 

In order to realise this aspiration, it is proposed that a design for a new 
horticultural nursery at Whinmoor Grange be commissioned to RIBA D and that a 
detailed report be brought back to Executive Board in the form of a design a cost 
report upon the completion of this process.  

Previous screen undertaken in advance of the design identified the need to 
remove physical barriers to accessing the facility through the design process. 
This included the following;

      Built Environment
 Improved signage and interpretation to provide different levels of information 

about  access and features; 
 The Installation of improved visitor entrance.
 Dda accessibility.

The design of the facility has now been undertaken to a position where we are 
able to submit for planning consent and executive board approval to inject 
funding with authority to spend.

Moving forward we are now in a position to request approvals and therefore 
screen the following executive decisions; 

 Approve an injection of £6.5m into capital scheme 32415/000/000;
 Approve expenditure of up to £6.5m to design and build a replacement 

horticultural nursery for LCC Parks and Countryside at Whinmoor Grange and 
re-locate other services from the existing Red Hall depot subject to planning 
approval and the Local Growth Fund loan agreement.

 Approve in accordance with CPR 3.1.8, the selection of a single stage 
develop and construct procurement approach via an open non-EU 
procurement to obtain a specialist contractor to undertake the proposed 
construction of a horticultural nursery glasshouse at Whinmoor Grange, and 
the evaluation criteria of 70% of marks for the lowest compliant cost and 30% 
of marks for quality criteria.

 Approve the current designs (appendix 1) and costs for Whinmoor Grange 
nursery, subject to planning approval.

2

Page 66



EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.  

The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels).

Questions Yes No
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics? 

No

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal?

No

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom?

Yes

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices?

Yes

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7

If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 

cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 

integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment. 

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

3

Page 67



EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

The relocation of the horticultural nursery from Red Hall to Whinmoor Grange will have 
an impact on those staff presently based at this site in addition numerous staff employed 
within the service will be engaged in the onsite construction of the facility. 

Through regular staff briefing all staff employed within the service has been kept 
informed of progress with development. Those staff that will be moved to Whinmoor have 
been identified and are informed and aware of proposals. Other staff affected by the 
requirement to vacate the existing depot facility are aware of the requirement to vacate 
the site. Upon completion of detailed and final decant proposals, a full staff engagement 
process will be undertaken to ensure that all staff are fully consulted.     

Further to the above, an extensive public consultation exercise has been undertaken to 
inform the public of proposals. As part of the planning process, members of the public 
had the opportunity to comment on the proposals and no adverse comments were 
received during the consultation period. This process was supplemented by undertaking 
a two week period of consultation using the council’s online consultation platform Talking 
Point; again no adverse comments were received.  

In addition, a display highlighting proposals for the new nursery development has been in 
situ at the existing Red Hall facility prior to the submission of the planning application and 
throughout the application determination period. Average daily transactions at this facility 
are approximately 40 to 50 per day and all customers were able to view proposals and 
comment should they wish. 

Furthermore, local Parish Councils, including Barwick and Scholes and Thorner, were 
contacted and invited to an open day to view plans and discus proposals with officers. 

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

Based on the above it is felt that the deliver of those improvement included within the 
scope of this project will have a positive effect in the following areas.  

One of the positive impacts associated with the development of a new facility is that it will 
allow a valued asset to be much more accessible to both public and staff.

This can supplemented, promoted and enhanced by implementing the following;  

Information and Communication
 Educational visits – teacher pack- teacher guided tours, education rooms;
 More school holiday activities; 

4

Page 68



EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

 Improved interpretation.
Customer Care and Staff/Volunteer Training

 All staff to be trained in hosting activities and events.
 Internal staff to be involved in developing the facility on site. This will provide 

opportunities to enhance staff development and skill sets.  

Notwithstanding the above and the evidence that due regard has been given to equality 
issues, it is felt that a supporting argument van be made in in favour of undertaking a full 
EIA to ensure this issue is given due regard and an appropriate level of consideration. 
This position is further supported when due consideration is given to the fact that the 
public in form of both customers and stakeholders will be effected by these decision and 
also that staff employed by the service will be equally effected. Furthermore some of 
those staff effected have complex needs.

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 21/09/15

Date to complete your impact assessment 22/09/15

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

Tony Stringwell

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name Job title Date
Mike Kinnaird Business Development 

Manager
17/09/15

7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published.

Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing

Date screening completed 21/09/2015

If relates to a Key Decision send to Corporate 
Governance
Any other decision please send to Equality 
Team (equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk)

5

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Neil Evans, Director of Environment and Housing

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 21 October 2015

Subject: Commissioning a new model for the delivery of supporting people services 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. The commissioned Housing Related Support (HRS) Programme, previously known as 
the Supporting People programme, has had a positive impact across Leeds since 
2003.  The main aim of the programme is to support vulnerable people, including those 
who are homeless, to achieve and maintain independent living.  The programme 
contributes to key outcomes and priorities within the Best Council Plan 2015-20 and 
the council’s vision for Leeds to be a compassionate and caring city.  Through holistic 
service delivery, it also contributes to the achievement of wider outcomes for the 
Council and its partners such as those related to community safety, health and well-
being, poverty and debt, social inclusion and employment and training.  This not only 
helps to achieve positive and sustainable outcomes for clients, but also delivers 
significant added value for other public sector services such as housing, health, police, 
probation and employment and skills.

2. In 2014/15 10,527 individuals / families were supported through the programme to 
achieve, maintain and progress towards independent living.  6,500 service users left 
the programme achieving nearly 28,000 outcomes between them.  This demonstrates 
the services’ ability to support individuals to address a multitude of issues including 
securing accommodation, addressing fuel poverty, improving physical and mental 
health and developing work and life skills.  This report provides a summary of the 
programme achievements in 2014/15 and updates the Board on the current review 
taking place and progress towards developing a new model for delivering housing 
related support in the city.

Report author:  Tracey Phillips
Tel:  24 76734

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



3. A cross-Directorate strategic review is currently being undertaken to help inform what 
the new model for service delivery will look like.  The review has extensively involved 
both providers and users of services.  This inclusive approach to both how the review is 
managed and the consultation delivered is necessary to ensure that customer journeys 
are simplified and service delivery is integrated. The review is being undertaken in the 
context of changing needs and demands, changes in wider policy (particularly in 
relation to welfare reform) and interdependencies with other service provision for this 
client group, to ensure the best outcomes for our customers and best use of 
commissioned resources.

4. Key findings from the review to date have resulted in the development of principles and 
features which the new model should include.  These include the development of a 
single adult floating support service, a single gateway approach through a new IT 
system, intensive supported accommodation environments for complex clients and 
increased locality working.   These are detailed in the report for consideration and will 
inform the future commissioning and re-contracting of provision.

Recommendations

5. Executive Board is asked to:

 Note the progress of the review; 

 Provide approval to proceed with the recommendations within the report for the 
re-procurement / re-contracting of housing related support services in the 
context of the proposed key principles and features of a new model to a 
maximum budget of £10.4 million.

 Note the Director of Environment and Housing will use his delegated authority 
to take commissioning and decommissioning decisions which will be a direct 
consequence of this key decision, for example approval of the detailed 
specifications for procurement and subsequent contract awards.  These will be 
at most significant operational decisions.  This is subject to the decisions being 
in line with the key principles and features as described in the report.  

1 Purpose of this report
1.1 To provide a summary of the performance of the Housing Related Support 

commissioned programme in 2014/15;
1.2 To update the Board on the review and progress towards developing a new model 

for the city including the intended outcomes and benefits;
1.3 To gain input and guidance from Executive Board on the model and forward work 

programme.

2 Background information
2.1 Leeds City Council commissions a programme of services that deliver a 

combination of floating (visiting) and accommodation based support to vulnerable 
people in Leeds. The programme makes a big contribution to supporting 
vulnerable families, children and young people in the city supporting around 

Page 72



10,500 cases (individuals and families) a year, many of which are also Leeds City 
Council tenants.

2.2 Although some of the services are provided to meet the needs of those who are 
deemed statutory homeless (through the provision of emergency and temporary 
accommodation), many of those who benefit from the services are vulnerable but 
fall below statutory thresholds.  The range of client groups supported is broad e.g. 
young people; older people; offenders; those who have suffered domestic abuse 
and the range of support needs vary from social isolation, welfare and debt advice 
to homelessness or at risk of homelessness, mental health and drug and alcohol 
support.  Many service users have multiple and complex needs such as poor 
mental health, drug and/or alcohol issues and homelessness and often individuals 
are leading chaotic lifestyles.  For providers safeguarding issues are many and 
complex.  

2.3 The Strategy and Commissioning Team in the Office of Public Health manage the 
programme on behalf of Environment and Housing Directorate. The services 
directly support the Council’s ambition to have a ‘“strong economy within a 
compassionate society” and the Council’s Best Council Plan priority of ‘supporting 
communities and tackling poverty’.

2.4 A number of reviews have taken place in recent years and services have been 
changed through decommissioning, re-modelling and re-tendering as a result.  

2.5 This work has developed a more integrated and flexible programme, 
strengthening partnership working and integrating pathways for clients. Overall, 
making services more customer friendly and easier to access.  Organisations 
providing services have adopted a more holistic or ‘whole person’ approach to 
delivering support, which has simplified the referral pathways to some degree and 
encouraged partnership working, but more work is needed to strengthen and build 
on this approach.

2.6 An ongoing challenge is to maintain the ability to effectively and efficiently respond 
to need within the current budgetary and economic context.  Also at a time of 
significant policy and service change in many areas which may affect these client 
groups such as changes to welfare benefits and health and social care provision.

2.7 Feedback from key stakeholders, such as other organisations offering support to 
these client groups, and providers of current services, tells us that client needs 
are becoming more complex and that needs have changed.  Similarly, other 
organisations delivering key services to these client groups, including other 
Council services, are also changing and it is important to ensure that housing 
related support complements and makes best use of the public funding used to 
commission services in the City.

3 Main issues
3.1 Current Housing Related Support Programme 

3.2 The current housing related support programme consists of the original 
‘Supporting People’ contracts excluding those that transferred to Adult Social 

Page 73



Care in 2013.  Services include homeless hostel provision, dispersed 
accommodation with support and floating visiting support.

3.3 In 2014/15 53 services were delivered by 25 organisations in the housing and 
third sectors.  These are mainly local or regional providers whose strength comes 
from their knowledge and understanding of the local communities, services and 
referral pathways.  In 2014/15 10,527 individuals / families were supported 
through the programme.  

3.4 Following a review and consultation with providers a new performance monitoring 
system was introduced in April 2014.  Although direct data comparisons with 
previous years are not possible the new system does allow us to capture 
information that enables us to better tell the story of what the providers do and the 
impact that their services have on the individuals they work with.  Information 
captured by the new system includes referral sources, re-presentations (within 
one service), waiting list numbers and times, housing outcomes, social and 
economic outcomes.     

3.5 Headline outcomes for the programme relate to:
- People assisted to achieve independent living
- People assisted to maintain independent living
- People progressing towards independent living.

3.6 Accommodation services are aimed at assisting people to achieve independent 
living.  These include homeless hostels, accommodation for those with mental 
health or drug and alcohol needs, a domestic violence refuge and dispersed 
community properties.  We know that many service users have very chaotic 
circumstances and independence is not always possible straight away, therefore 
the numbers who have progressed towards independent living, by moving into 
other types of supported housing, are also reported. During 2014/15 68% of those 
who left these services achieved or progressed towards independence, which is 
good.

3.7 Floating support services are aimed at enabling people to maintain independent 
living.  These include a range of services visiting people in their own homes.  
There are services for different client groups, a care leavers service, hospital 
discharge service for older people and a support service for sex workers.  Of 
those who left these services, 74% maintained or progressed towards maintaining 
independent living.  Again this is a good result given the complex needs and 
chaotic circumstances of the majority of service users. 

3.8 Wider outcomes are also reported.  In many cases the housing need is the result 
of a combination of other factors and work is undertaken by both service users 
and the provider to address a range of issues in order to be able to live 
independently.  6,500 service users left the programme and achieved nearly 
28,000 outcomes between them, which is on average 5 per person.  Examples of 
the individual outcomes reported are: - 691 people have addressed fuel poverty 
issues, 2,307 improved physical health and 2,214 improved mental health 
outcomes, 1,515 related to developing work and life skills, 323 full and part time 
jobs obtained.

3.9 During the year there were 13,000 referrals into the programme with the most 
common referrers being Housing Options, the Police and self- referral.

Page 74



3.10 In addition to the above in 2014/15 the street outreach service was expanded to 
include work with people who were begging as well as rough sleepers.  Over the 
year the team has worked with 278 people.  

3.11 The programme also contributes to the funding of two resource centres in the city 
that provide advice and support to vulnerable people – Archway and Raise.  
During 2014/15 Archway supported 539 young people and Raise supported 1,776 
adults who were homeless, rough sleeping or vulnerably housed by providing a 
combination of advice, support and personal services such as showers and 
laundry facilities.  

3.12 More detailed performance information can be provided on request.

3.13 Review of Housing Related Support Programme
3.14 Scope and brief
3.15 There are 42 contracts in scope for the review.  A list of these services and details 

of recent and other concurrent reviews is attached at Appendix 1. 
3.16 The current commissioning budget is £10.4m. This is made up of funding from 

Environment and Housing and includes a contribution from Children’s Services. 

3.17 The review will inform a new commissioning model, identifying opportunities for 
re-configuration and re-modelling.  The review outcome will inform the future 
commissioning model which will be developed to effectively and efficiently meet 
identified need and demand as well as providing value for money.  The review 
and subsequent procurement process provides an opportunity to ensure that 
housing related support services in Leeds are able to deliver and respond 
effectively. 

3.18 A cross cutting and inclusive approach to the review has been taken to ensure 
outcomes are maximised, the provision is integrated and recommendations are 
future proof.  

3.19 The key drivers for change are; 

- To respond to the changing needs of service users and increasing complexity 
of need.  Understand how services could be developed to best meet these 
needs; 

- the need for better integrated services - clarify existing pathways and 
processes for HRS services and the city wide offer, identifying gaps, barriers 
and improvements and ensuring provision of services is available from 16 
years+;

- To ensure alignment and contribution to the outcomes as set out in the Best 
Council Plan and other key council and partnership strategies such the 
Housing Strategy, Children’s and Young People’s Plan, Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and Drug and Alcohol Strategy. 

- the need for programmes of support which can be flexible and responsive to 
changes in demand; 

Page 75



- To ensure best practice approaches and lessons learnt are shared and 
influence provision.

3.20 The review is intended to have four key benefits to improve the housing and 
support outcomes for vulnerable people in housing need:-

- Streamlined and clear pathways for referrals and service users;

- Services that are integrated, flexible and responsive to changes in need and 
demand;

- Timely support to prevent clients’ needs becoming more complex;

- Accommodation that is fit for purpose and delivers the best outcomes with 
links to wider outcomes of employment, financial inclusion and improved 
health and wellbeing. 

3.21 Methodology

3.22 The review methodology has included an analysis of current services and of need 
and demand. This has included provider questionnaire analysis (gathering 
information on pathways in and out of services, client needs, gaps, barriers, 
lessons learnt), contract management intelligence and performance and client 
data.  The data has been used to inform the model and draw out key issues which 
we need a new performance system to address.

3.23 Mapping and interdependencies work has also taken place to understand the 
wider landscape of provision of services for these client groups and how people 
access these services.  This work has been mapped out to identify how 
commissioned housing related support services can effectively contribute to the 
City offer.  This includes linkages to statutory and commissioned provision in 
Children’s Services, Adult Social Care, Citizens and Communities, Employment 
and Skills, Public Health, the Better Care Fund, the Breakthrough Projects, NHS, 
Housing Management and Housing Support.  It also includes reading across to 
other reviews which are being delivered concurrently within the Service such as 
those related to domestic violence, offenders and Drug Intervention Programme 
(DIP)/Integrated Offender Management (IOM).

3.24 Consultation has been a key element of the review and extensive consultation has 
taken place with stakeholders including Council Directorates, Members, other 
public sector partners, providers and a broad range of service users.  Full details 
of the consultations and key findings can be provided on request.  

3.25 An Outcomes Based Accountability (OBA) session ‘Housing Related Support – 
delivering a step change’ was held in May 2015 at the Civic Hall at which there 
were 98 attendees.  This included stakeholders, providers and service users.  The 
session discussed the key trends/issues affecting homelessness, tenancy 
sustainment and independent living; the strengths / weaknesses of the current city 
response, key gaps or challenges and what a new model for delivery should look 
like to deliver a step change. Principles and key features for a new delivery model 
were then shared and discussed at a follow up event on the 17th September.

3.26 Governance and Timescales 

Page 76



3.27 The review is being overseen by a cross Directorate Board and Project Team.  
The Board is chaired by Bridget Emery, Chief Officer Strategy and Commissioning 
with representation from Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, Housing 
Management, Housing Support, Projects, Programmes & Procurement Unit 
(PPPU), Citizens and Communities and Information Management and 
Technology.

3.28 The review and implementation of the outcomes will be completed over a period 
of 2 years with the following stages:-

- Mapping and analysis of current provision/ interdependencies and models – to 
end September 2015.

- Consultation with key stakeholders and service users – throughout.

- Options appraisal and recommendations – to end October 2015.

- Service design and writing specifications - up to end December 2015.

- Tendering – January to October 2016.

- Mobilisation of new services will take up to 6 months. 

- Services start April 2017.

3.29 Key Findings
3.30 Documents summarising the intelligence gathered from each of the stages of the 

review have been produced and overseen by the Project Team and Board. As 
detailed in section 3.23 full details of the consultations that have taken place and 
a summary of these results can be provided on request.

3.31 Key performance data that informed the findings include:
- 71% of service users have 2 or more support needs while 35% have 3 or 

more;
- 39% of service users have a mental health need, of which 45% had two or 

more additional needs and 16% had three
- 26% of service users have a drug and/or alcohol need;
- 52% of clients who have moved on were referred to another service for 

support or advice (70% of those having left accommodation services) 
indicating that additional support is required once leaving the main 
programme;

- 7% of those leaving accommodation services had abandoned their tenancies;
- 10% of admissions to accommodation and 16% to floating support services 

were re-presentations (to the same service)
- At least 423 referrals did not result in admissions because they chose another 

service instead or were referred somewhere more appropriate indicating a 
number of duplicate referrals

Page 77



- The ‘achieved independent living’ rate for the drug and alcohol 
accommodation services is 29% compared to 43% over all services and 
eviction/abandonment rare is also the highest

3.32 A set of key principles and features of a new model have been developed 
informed by the work to date and consultations detailed above.  These principles 
and features will directly inform the design of future housing related support 
services in Leeds. A detailed list of these is provided at Appendix 2.

3.33 Key features include:

 A single adult floating support service, a generic service with a multi-skilled 
workforce for families and singles

- Providers will be expected to be flexible in terms of who they work with 
and how;

 Multi-agency teams with the longer term ambition of this including specialist 
services such as drug and alcohol and mental health services

 Locality working to allow for the development of local expertise, knowledge 
and integrated working

 Continuity of support for service users where possible (consistent support 
worker)

 Integrated working with Housing Options and Housing Management

 Peer/befriending/volunteer support will be integral to the model.  This is 
already an element of some of the newer services and has been very 
successful.

 Provision of short term direct access emergency accommodation for 
assessment and need based move on

 Emergency accommodation to include easy access provision for those difficult 
to engage or with no recourse to public funds

 Intensive supported accommodation environments for complex clients to 
receive a programme of support (temporary accommodation)

  A portfolio of flexible dispersed community properties where people receive 
support, not client specific (temporary accommodation)

- Providers will be expected to be flexible in terms of who they work with 
and how;

 A single gateway into the services with multiple access points.
3.34 The document details the benefits and opportunities presented by the 

recommendations and further considerations to be taken into account in the 
ongoing planning of services.

3.35 It describes a phased approach to re-commissioning and re-contracting the 
services:
- Phase 1 – main strands of the model in place from April 2017;
- Phase 2 – services for young people re-commissioned in 2018 following a joint 

review with Children’s Services;  

Page 78



- Phase 3 – mental health accommodation services to be re-commissioned 
following a joint review with Adult Social Care and health in the context of the 
city’s emerging Mental Health Framework.

3.36 Workforce development will be key to successful delivery and ensuring that all 
service users’ needs are met.  Mental health awareness and positive behaviour 
support training are two of the needs identified through the consultation process.  
The Council will support providers to meet staff training needs, for example in the 
provision of safeguarding and restorative practice training through the Innovation 
Fund.

3.37 It is proposed that single gateway approach is delivered through an IT solution 
which would also form an integral part of the commissioning performance 
management framework.  Through consultation and researching best practice in 
other cities such an approach delivers demonstrable benefits for the service user, 
provider and commissioner (see section2, Appendix 2).  Service users only need 
to tell their story once, shared information provides consistency for staff and 
service users and journeys and outcomes are recorded directly, reducing 
resource requirements for providers and commissioners.  It will provide 
increasingly robust and reliable data and intelligence to inform performance 
assessments and to effectively plan future services.

3.38 Future service demand and needs are being assessed through current service 
performance and client data, Leeds Housing Options data and trends in relation to 
homelessness, preventions and use of temporary accommodation.  Needs data 
from other services working with this vulnerable client group will also be assessed 
such as care leavers data to ensure the model is futureproof.  Flexibility within the 
designed model itself is essential.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 
4.1.1 The review has included extensive consultation to date which will continue 

through the process of options appraisals and decision making.  This is detailed in 
the Consultation Plan and Communication and Engagement Plan implemented by 
the Project Team and overseen by the Project Board.

4.1.2 Two large consultation events at the Civic Hall enabled stakeholders, providers, 
service users, Directors, Chief Officers, Executive and Elected Members to 
discuss key issues.  The launch event was held in May this year and a recent 
event on 17th September provided opportunity to comment and input to the 
‘principles and features’ of a new model.  The event demonstrated support for the 
principles of the new model.

4.1.3 Providers have also been consulted through a number of means such as 
questionnaires, the third sector provider forum, contract management meetings 
and individual meetings.  Meetings have also taken place with front line staff.

4.1.4 The views of service users have been sought through providers’ current client 
feedback processes and also through a range of small group sessions.  Care has 
been taken to ensure that this process has gathered input from a diverse range of 
clients and potential clients including homeless service users, care leavers, 
travellers, mental health service users and young people.

Page 79



4.1.5 A number of individual stakeholder meetings have been held to gather data and 
investigate interdependencies and pathways and these will continue throughout 
the development of the model and onward in defining operational arrangements.  
This has included discussions with Housing Options, Housing Management (e.g. 
older peoples’ services, housing (support) workers) National Probation Service, 
prisons, West Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC), Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, Forward Leeds, Homeless Link, ASC (Migrant/Asylum 
service, older peoples’ services) sex worker practitioners, Leeds Tenants 
Federation.

4.1.6 Consultation has also taken place through strategic groups such as Housing 
Advisory Board, Homelessness Forum, Children and Families Trust Board and 
Executive and Lead Member briefings for Health and Well-being, Communities 
and Homelessness. Executive Members and Lead Members whose portfolio 
includes services within scope of the review will continue to be briefed and 
updated throughout the project timeframe.

4.1.7 Further opportunities for consultation and engagement can be built into the 
current Plan and at present further consultation is planned with the Integrated 
Commissioning Executive (ICE), Customer Strategy Board and the community 
committees.

4.1.8 Detailed consultation will take place with individual providers once the implications 
of the recommendations are clear.  There may also be a need to consult with 
Ward Members who may be affected by the outcome. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
4.2.1 The housing related support services will be delivered across the city, but will aim 

to meet the specific needs of some of the most vulnerable residents e.g. 
homeless, rough sleepers, older people, those with mental health issues. As such 
equality and diversity issues are central to both the review and the delivery of 
these services.  Equality and diversity has been and will continue to be 
considered and addressed through the review analysis and in the development of 
the new model. These issues are embedded and central to most of the key 
principles of the new model e.g. flexibility, access, restorative practice, 
responsive, person-centred.

4.2.2 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has been completed 
and is attached.  A full Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken on the 
detailed recommendations of the new model prior to decision making.  

4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan
4.3.1 The commissioning of housing related support services directly supports the 

delivery of the key outcomes and priorities within the Best Council Plan (BCP) 
2015-20, specifically the 2015/16 objective of ‘supporting communities and 
tackling poverty’ and the council’s renewed ambition for Leeds to be a 
compassionate and caring city.  It also contributes to the ‘Vision for Leeds 2011-
2030’ and the delivery of wider outcomes for the Council and its partners including 
those related to community safety, health and well-being, poverty and debt, social 
inclusion and employment and training.  This not only maximises the sustainability 
of positive outcomes for clients, but also delivers significant added value for other 
public sector services such as housing, health, police, probation and employment 
and skills.

Page 80



4.3.2 The services will also contribute to the delivery of the Breakthrough Projects on 
tackling domestic violence and abuse; housing growth and high standards in all 
sectors; more jobs, better jobs; making Leeds the best place to grow old in; early 
intervention and reducing health inequalities. This will be achieved through the 
commissioning of  integrated, person centred services for a range of vulnerable 
client groups and ensuring individuals and families are supported to achieve the 
wider outcomes required to achieve and maintain independent living and to live 
happy and healthy lives. 

4.3.3 The programme will contribute to achievement of the following BCP indicators:
- Repeat incidence rate of domestic violence and abuse
- Number of successful alcohol and drug treatments
- Number of delayed hospital discharges
- Number of bed weeks commissioned for older people in residential and 

nursing placements
- Proportion of older people aged 65 and over still at home 91 days after 

discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services
- Proportion of people who use services who have control over their daily lives
- Number of children looked after
- Number of people supported into jobs:
- Number of people supported to improve skills;

4.3.4 The services commissioned as part of this review have a shared vision which will 
also contribute towards the delivery of outcomes from the following strategies and 
plans:
Housing Strategy 2015 – 18
Theme: Promoting Independent Living
Leeds Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (currently under review)
Outcomes: Increasing the number of people to supported to live safely in their 
own home 
Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-19
Outcome: All children and young people are protected from harm
Children and Young People’s Housing Plan
Care Leavers Strategy
Care leavers to live in safe, suitable accommodation that meets their individual 
needs;
Programmes to reduce homelessness to address the specific needs of care 
leavers
Adult Social Care Better Lives Programme
Priority: Better lives through housing, care and support
Leeds Drug and Alcohol Strategy and Action Plan

Page 81



Outcomes: More people to recover from drug and alcohol misuse

4.3.5 The Programme will also have a significant contribution to Leeds being a ‘Child 
Friendly’ and ‘Age Friendly’ city.

4.3.6 Through the development of the contract specifications providers will be required 
to commit to the Council’s values and deliver in the context of key agendas such 
as safeguarding from harm, Think Family approach, achieving the Domestic 
Violence Quality Mark and the Early Help approach. 

4.3.7 As evident throughout the report, the effective and robust management of the 
programme, including the undertaking of strategic reviews and performance 
management reviews, also contributes towards becoming an ‘Efficient and 
Enterprising Council’

4.4 Resources and value for money 
4.4.1 As highlighted in section 3.16 of this report the total cost of the housing related 

support programme in Leeds is currently £10.4 million. The new model will be 
commissioned from within this budget and will take note of any savings that need 
to be made. 

4.4.2 As part of the review, a detailed analysis is being undertaken of the unit costs of 
current service delivery and the capacity that may be required within different 
elements of the new model.   This information will be used to determine how to 
achieve value for money and to ensure the services are flexible to respond to 
changing needs.

4.4.3 Analysis is also taking place to investigate different financial models and to 
benchmark service costs.  This will ensure that the model is viable for the Council 
and providers.

4.4.4 The review is aimed at delivering a more efficient and effective model which will 
deliver added value across the city. Services commissioned will be integrated to 
the city offer for vulnerable people, flexible and better able to respond to needs. 
Better use of technology through a single IT solution would also contribute to 
reducing bureaucracy, duplication and resources for both the Council and 
providers.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
4.5.1 The review and re-commissioning of the housing related support programme is 

being conducted in accordance with the Council’s contract procedure rules and it 
will be subject to the full Public Contracts Regulations.  This report is subject to 
Call In.

4.5.2 As this is a key decision, future decisions arising from this report i.e. decision to 
award a contract will be at most Significant Operations decisions and therefore 
not be subject to Call In.

4.6 Risk Management
4.6.1 Risks associated with the review and the re-commissioning of housing related 

support services have been identified, reviewed and managed through a Risk 
Register tracked through fortnightly Project Team meetings.

Page 82



4.6.2 The register identifies risks relate to finance, communication, governance, 
resources, outcomes, contractual arrangements, consultation and engagement 
and procurement. The identification and mitigation of new and increasing risks is 
an ongoing process and will continue to be throughout the life of the project.  The 
risk register is available upon request. 

5 Conclusions

5.1 Housing related support makes a big contribution to supporting vulnerable 
families, children and young people in the city.

5.2 Feedback from service users, key stakeholders and providers demonstrates that 
client needs are becoming more complex and that needs have changed.  
Similarly, other organisations delivering key services to these client groups, 
including Council services, are also changing and it is important to ensure that 
housing related support adds value and makes best use of commissioned 
resources in the City.

5.3 The review and subsequent re-commissioning / re-contracting of services 
provides an opportunity to ensure that the housing related support programme is 
able to deliver and respond effectively to strategic priorities and provide positive, 
sustainable outcomes for vulnerable people in need.

5.4 Following work to date the key principles and features of the new model have 
been captured in the table in Appendix 2. These will be developed further in 
partnership with key stakeholders and will inform the way forward.

6 Recommendations
6.1 Executive Board is asked to:

 Note the progress of the review; 

 Provide approval to proceed with the recommendations within the report for the 
re-procurement / re-contracting of housing related support services in the 
context of the proposed key principles and features of a new model to a 
maximum budget of £10.4 million.

 Note the Director of Environment and Housing will use his delegated authority 
to take commissioning and decommissioning decisions which will be a direct 
consequence of this key decision, for example approval of the detailed 
specifications for procurement and subsequent contract awards.  These will be 
at most significant operational decisions.  This is subject to the decisions being 
in line with the key principles and features as described in the report.  

7 Background documents1 
7.1 None  

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 HRS Review 2015-2017

Disability
 Connect – Floating Support: Disabled People
 KeyRing – Living Support Networks
Drug & Alcohol
 Leeds Housing Concern– Carr Beck Group Homes
 Leeds Housing Concern – Carr Beck Hostel
 Leeds Housing Concern – DIP/IOM Housing 

Service
 Leeds Housing Concern – Sinclair 
 St George’s Crypt – Faith Lodge
 St George’s Crypt – Regents Terrace
Exiting Prostitution
 Genesis – New Futures
Homeless
 Connect – Floating Support: Homeless
 Connect – Re-connect
 CRI – Street Outreach
 Great Places – Floating Support
 Leeds Action to Create Homes – LATCH 
 Leeds Housing Concern – Men’s Sector 

Community Properties
 Leeds Housing Concern – Oakdale House & 

Women’s Properties
 RD Willis – Temporary Accommodation
 Riverside – Bracken Court
 Riverside – Floating Support
 Sanctuary – Floating Support
 St Anne’s – Holdforth Court
 St Anne’s – RAISE 
 St George’s Crypt – Overnight Service 
Mental Health
 Catholic Care – Foundry Mill
 Community Links – Positive Pathways
 Community Links – The Maltings 
 Community Links – Rose Villa
 Touchstone – Move On Service
Offenders
 Foundation - Accommodation
 Foundation – Floating Support
 Stonham – South Leeds  Tenancy Sustainment
 Stonham – Kirkstall Lodge
Older People
 Age UK – Hospital Discharge
 Care & Repair – Housing Choices
 Connect – Floating Support: Older People
 Creative Support – ILS Older People 
 Making Space – Waterhouse Court
Young People
 GIPSIL – FLAGSHIP 
 GIPSIL – Leaving Care 
 Leeds Housing Concern – Seacole
 Re’new – Archway 
 Re’new – Young Persons’ Floating Support

Domestic Violence & Abuse 

 Leeds Women’s Aid (Consortium) – LDVS 
 Stonham – Refuge 

Drug Intervention Programme / Integrated 
Offender Management

 CRI – DIP / IOM
 DISC – DIP / IOM
 Leeds Housing Concern – DIP / IOM Housing 

Service

Recent Sector Reviews Concurrent Reviews

Offenders

 Foundation – Accommodation 
 Foundation – Floating Support
 Stonham – South Leeds  Tenancy Sustainment
 Stonham – Kirkstall Lodge

Drugs & Alcohol

 Leeds Housing Concern – Carr Beck Group 
Homes

 Leeds Housing Concern – Carr Beck Hostel
 Leeds Housing Concern – Sinclair 
 St George’s Crypt – Faith Lodge
 St George’s Crypt – Regents Terrace

Now part of the new D&A service

 Leeds Housing Concern – Sustain 
 St Anne’s – Alcohol Floating Support
 St George’s Crypt – Floating Support

Older & Disabled People

 Age UK – Hospital Discharge
 Care & Repair – Housing Choices
 Connect – Floating Support: Disabled People
 Connect – Floating Support: Older People
 Creative Support – ILS Older People 
 Leeds Federated Housing Association – 

Choices
 Leeds Federated Housing Association – 

PhysAbility
 Making Space – Waterhouse Court

Reconfigured Services Delivered via Consortia

 Community Links – Positive Pathways
 GIPSIL – FLAGSHIP 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 Housing Related Support Review – Key Principles and Features of a new model
Principles 

 Providing support to vulnerable people 
 Early Intervention & Prevention should be key
 Integrated Support
 Client complexity should be addressed
 Person Centred
 Safeguarding
 Streamlined pathways – easy to navigate and access
 Flexible & Responsive
 Timely and planned
 Whole family approach
 A focus upon recovery and maintenance
 Building resilience
 Aspirational in approach
 Restorative
 Peer mentoring
 Choice

Key Outcomes (not exhaustive list at this stage)

 Minimise use of temporary accommodation
 Settled accommodation and tenancy sustainment
 Supporting people to achieve and maintain independent living

P
age 87



Appendix 2 Housing Related Support Review – Key Principles and Features of a new model
Key Features - What Does This Look Like / Benefits Further considerations

1. Single Adult Floating Support Service

 Generic service with multi-skilled workforce with specialisms built in (not clinical or 
professional) for families and singles – not client group specific

 Person centred support with a flexible length of stay and opportunities for re-
engagement

 There should be clear pathways onwards into non-commissioned specialist clinical or 
professional services (mental health or drug & alcohol)

 Clear pathways also for hospital discharge and leaving prison
 A triage system should be in place
 Consideration should be given to virtual locality based teams to develop local 

knowledge and connections.  This would also assist in managing staff time effectively
 Staffing would be flexible in caseload management – support matched to need rather 

than caseload/contract requirements
 Consideration will be given to equal access to services and equality and diversity.
 A service to meet the needs of rough sleepers and beggars would still be required.

 Will allow for simplified access to services, increased flexibility and better management 
of waiting lists

 Service users will be able to access services quicker
 Service standards would need to be agreed and included in specifications (waiting 

times, service length etc.)
 

 Flexibility in length and type of support – the 
Performance Framework will need to capture 
service user journey and distance travelled.

 The core role of the housing related support 
worker should be defined in the specification.  
This will maximise resources to ensure that 
statutory and commissioned services are 
complementary.

 Service standards could be benchmarked 
from current services

 Branding and choice – need to ensure 
service user choice is available

 The cost implications of an area based model 
need to be explored

2. Single Gateway with multiple access points (SPOC)

 A shared database (IT Solution) - a service user accesses the services at one point and 
this is recorded along with their journey and outcomes

 Single shared client assessment – service users will only need to tell their story once
 Shared client data/risk assessment.  The existing referrals process and limited 

information sharing may be limiting the potential outcomes for service users.

 Consistency for staff and service users in forms/tools used and reduced duplication
 Shared systems support the outcomes and recommendations from recent serious case 

 System development would need to be built 
in and this requires provider consultation. 
Could be a phased approach. 

 Explore opportunities for using/developing 
existing systems 

 Ownership of the system would need to be 
with the Council

 The system would need to read across to the 

P
age 88



Appendix 2 Housing Related Support Review – Key Principles and Features of a new model
reviews

 Forms an integral part of the commissioning Performance Framework as information will 
feed directly into the reporting system reducing resource requirement for both providers 
and commissioners

 Increasingly robust data and intelligence to inform performance assessments and to 
effectively plan future services and commissioning (for providers and commissioners)

Domestic Violence Front Door Safeguarding 
Hub

3. Multi Agency Teams 

 In general, improved joint working with streamlined pathways and referral points across 
all provision

 The ambition would be for specialist professional mental health and drug and alcohol 
support to be part of the programme

 Primarily involved in the delivery of intensive programmes of accommodation based 
support for individuals with complex needs

 The case conferencing approach should be embedded

 Timely access to the right support 
 Meeting the needs of service users with multiple and complex issues

 Consideration should be given to how 
Forward Leeds and mental health provision 
could be integrated in future.

 Further work is required to assess demand 
and capacity of intensive accommodation 
provision.

4. Locality Working

 Area based working across the programme would allow for the development of local 
expertise & knowledge

 This would assist in developing relationships with local Housing Officers, Forward 
Leeds, Neighbourhood Networks, third sector groups, private landlords.

 Word of mouth could encourage others to access the services early 
 Support workers would have a role in building resilience by fostering social / community  

links 

5. Continuity of Support

 Support should following the service user (same support worker).  There is recognition 
 Consideration needs to be given to the  

model in relation to the ongoing support 

P
age 89



Appendix 2 Housing Related Support Review – Key Principles and Features of a new model
that this may not be possible in all circumstances.

 This should include consistency through transition – Pre-tenancy to ongoing support in 
permanent accommodation and where service users leave supported accommodation

 Peer support/befriending/volunteering could offer ongoing low level support when the 
service withdraws

 Re-engagement with support should be part of the model to prevent crisis
 Consider the use of a ‘navigator’ role for more complex clients 
 Support worker should manage the transition to complementary and ongoing services 

being provided to those leaving 
accommodation based services

6. Integrated working with Strategic Housing - Leeds Housing Options (LHO) / Housing 
Leeds

 Ensure that close and effective working relationships are developed with LHO staff, 
Health and Housing and Housing (Support) Officers

 The commissioned services need to play a key role in early intervention and prevention 
activity receiving referrals from Housing and case conferencing and providing feedback 
to referrers

 Housing assessments should inform support packages and referrals made to 
commissioned services

 Information sharing is needed to deliver a coherent, streamlined city offer for service 
users. 

 Pre-tenancy support should be offered to those near the top of waiting lists for 
properties

 Where appropriate, floating support could be offered to those where a preventative 
measure has been actioned e.g. homeless at home, private rented sector bond issued

 Where a need is identified, floating support providers should also be engaging with 
those supported to access a private sector tenancy via LHO.

 Need to consider how effective information 
sharing be facilitated.

7. Peer / Befriending / Volunteer Support

 This provision of ongoing low level support should be integral to the model
 This can be a rewarding experience for both the service user and volunteer who 

provides a positive role model within the service
 It is often an opportunity for skills development
 Embedding this within the model contributes to the vision of an aspirational service 

which builds resilience 

P
age 90



Appendix 2 Housing Related Support Review – Key Principles and Features of a new model
 Peers and volunteers can assist with local knowledge and community integration 

combatting social isolation 
 This would be a proven cost effective means of maintaining low level support for a 

longer period of time.

8. Young People’s Services

 Overall, the current model is well received, recently reviewed and working well. 
 The model is fairly integrated and involves close working with LHO and Children’s 

Services (joint funded)
 Ofsted were complimentary about the services at the recent inspection
 The proposed model for HRS rolls out some of the key principles from the current young 

person’s services
 There are currently some unknowns in relation to the uncertainty over welfare changes 

for those under 21 and likely impact on need and any future service model
 Young People’s HRS services could be re-commissioned as a Phase 2 in 2018 

following a joint review with Children’s Services.
 A re-commissioned model could be integrated with the wider model in terms of 

performance management and databases.

 There would be risks associated with 
developing a new model with the current 
uncertainty in relation to benefit changes. 

 There is a need to understand more about 
the numbers of young people in care  / 
leaving care

 Client complexity is an issue but can continue 
to be discussed in the context of the current 
overall model

9. Mental Health Accommodation

 Joint work is currently taking place in the city to develop the Mental Health Framework 
and determine the city wide offer.  It makes sense to work with Adult Social Care and 
Health on this and await the outcome.  

 In the interim HRS would continue to support the provision of four accommodation 
based services

 It would not provide best value for the city to 
commission these services in isolation from 
the wider Framework. 

10. Emergency Accommodation

 There is a need for direct access very short term accommodation for assessment and 
appropriate move on

 Licence agreements would be used in this accommodation.
 Accessible city centre emergency provision for out of hours and those with no recourse 

P
age 91



Appendix 2 Housing Related Support Review – Key Principles and Features of a new model
to public funds required.

 The provision would need to be flexible to respond to changes in demand
 This needs to include 24 hour access for families and singles
 These services would need to work closely with Leeds Housing Options to ensure the 

Council can meet its statutory duty. 
 A package of support and re-housing would be offered.

11. Temporary Accommodation

 The model should minimise the number of moves people need to make which can lead 
to instability

 A focus on planned moves
 Provision should include intensive supported accommodation environments where the 

more complex clients receive wrap around support.  This should include separate 
provision for women and men. (See section 3 above).  Service users would move on 
from this provision into their own tenancies with ongoing support.

 Dispersed community accommodation should be available where individuals would 
receive floating support.

 These would be flexible tenancies to accommodate all client groups
 The model needs to consider whether specific accommodation is required for high risk 

offenders
 The provision of accessible and fire proof accommodation will be considered as part of 

the model
 Overall reduction in the number of accommodation units is anticipated with an increase 

in service users receiving support in their own tenancies.
 All properties should be inspected for quality purposes

 Accommodation should be available across 
the city

 Further consideration needs to be given to 
whether a hub and spoke locality based 
model would be beneficial for service users

 Pathways through the accommodation 
services need to be developed to fully 
consider move on and potential bottlenecks

 Consideration to be given to whether there 
could be the opportunity for tenancies to be 
converted to permanent

 Further consultation required to consider 
pathways for complex clients and those not 
engaging 

 Work is ongoing to consider the provision of 
accommodation for those with drug and 
alcohol issues and offenders.  

12. Private Rented Sector

 Develop linkages between commissioned provision and the Council’s Private Sector 
Housing Team and Leeds Housing Options Private Sector Team.

 Ensure supported clients who move into alternative private rented accommodation have 
the opportunity to have the property inspected so that it meets the Council’s minimum 

 Greater regulation and inspection of private 
rented options could reduce the options 
available to service users

P
age 92



Appendix 2 Housing Related Support Review – Key Principles and Features of a new model
safety and hazard standards.

 Commissioned provision should link in to Private Sector Housing Team should clients 
be living in poor quality or hazardous private rented accommodation.

 Access to quality private rented properties for clients within commissioned provision 
should be improved by creating better links with these teams.

 Commissioners to focus on stimulating the private sector market and to drive quality up 
through developing landlord contacts and improving accredited and approved landlord 
lists.  Work with landlords to mitigate risks and increase confidence in tenancy 
sustainment.  

 Encourage private rented tenancies in a wide range of locations throughout the city.
 Ensure sustainability for clients within private sector accommodation and promote the 

sector as a viable long term option or stepping stone to independent living.
13. Innovation

 A grant pot could be made available to commissioned providers to stimulate innovation, 
to test out new ways of working / approaches and the invest to save model.

 This would add to the flexibility of the modelP
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Public Health (on behalf of 
Environment and Housing) 

Service area: Strategy and 
Commissioning 
 

Lead person: Tracey Phillips 
 

Contact number: 24 76734 

 
1. Title: Commissioning a new model for the delivery of Housing Related Support 
services 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 X  

Page 95



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
The report that this EDCI screening relates to updates Executive Board on the 
current strategic review of commissioned Housing Related Support services and 
progress towards developing a new model for the city.  It also requests input and 
guidance from Executive Board on the model and forward work programme. 
 
Following work to date, the report outlines the key features and principles of the new 
model.  These will be developed further into specific recommendations for future re-
commissioning/re-contracting and potentially decommissioning.   These will be 
significant operational decisions taken by the Director of Environment and Housing 
using his delegated authority. 
 
The housing related support services will be delivered across the city, but will aim to 
meet the specific needs of some of the most vulnerable residents e.g. homeless, 
rough sleepers, older people, those with mental health issues.  As such equality and 
diversity issues are central to both the review and the delivery of these services.   
 
Equality and diversity has been and will continue to be considered and addressed 
through the review analysis and in the development, procurement and contracting of 
the new model:  

- Review analysis includes client data (equality characteristics); 
- Analysis of current properties within the provision and their accessibility; 
- Stakeholder, provider and service user consultation addressed access to 

services (including accommodation), barriers and ability of services to meet 
needs (personal support needs and cultural, language etc.); 

- Extensive consultation with a wide range of client groups has occurred and 
will continue; 

- Specifications will directly address equality issues; 
- Evaluation processes will assess providers ability to meet EDCI requirements; 
- Ongoing monitoring of equality considerations through the contract 

management and quality processes for the housing related support 
programme. 

 
Equality, diversity and cohesion issues are embedded and central to most of the key 
principles of the new model e.g. flexibility, access, restorative practice, responsive, 
person-centred.  This will drive the further development of the model and subsequent 
recommendations relating to re-commissioning / re-contracting / decommissioning. 
 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 

Page 96



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 √ 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

√  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

√  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 √ 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 √ 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
 
 

Page 97



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

A full impact assessment will be 
undertaken on the commissioning 
and decommissioning 
recommendations made as a 
direct consequence of this report.  

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

November 2015 and prior to any  
decision making by Director of 
Environment and Housing  

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Tracey Phillips, Programme 
Leader  

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Julie Staton 
 

Head of Commissioning 22/09/2015 

Date screening completed 22/09/2015 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 98



Report of: Director of Environment and Housing and Director of Public Health

Report to: Executive Board

Date: 21st October 2015

Subject: Improving Air Quality within the City 

Are specific electoral wards affected?  Yes  No

Are there implications for equality and diversity or cohesion and 
integration?

 Yes  No

Is the decision eligible for call-in?  Yes  No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?  Yes  No

If ‘yes’, access to information procedure rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. The seriousness of current air pollution levels and their impact on public health is now 
much better understood. We are all exposed to air pollution to some extent and this is 
having a harmful effect on the health of individuals, reducing life expectancy and 
increasing health inequalities.

2. The Volkswagen scandal has raised public awareness about emissions levels and the 
detrimental effect that diesel vehicles are having on air quality. Volkswagen admitted 
that almost 1.2m vehicles in the UK are impacted and this means more than one-in-10 
diesel cars on Britain’s roads are affected.

3. The scandal has coincided with the release of DEFRA’s public consultation document, 
which states that currently Leeds will be one of 7 locations in England that will not meet 
the EU air quality standards by 2020. If the UK fail to meet the standards by 2020, it 
could face huge infraction fines that could be passed down to the relevant local 
authorities under the Localism Act.

4. Transport accounts for a minimum of 60% of all emissions where objective levels are 
exceeded, so there is an urgent need for the Council and other fleet operators within 
the City to take action to improve air quality across the city.

5. Raising public awareness of the risks of poor air quality to health and providing 
guidance to members of the public about what they can do to help reduce emissions is 
a fundamental aspect of the work that will be undertaken over the next 12 months.

Report author: Polly Cook
Tel: 52484

Page 99

Agenda Item 9

http://www.theguardian.com/business/2015/sep/30/vw-emissions-scandal-12m-uk-cars-affected
http://www.theguardian.com/business/2015/sep/30/vw-emissions-scandal-12m-uk-cars-affected


6. There are areas of the city centre that exceed the 40µg/m3 objective for NO2 contained 
in the UK air quality regulations. For example, at the Corn Exchange the latest readings 
show that the level is at 55µg/m3. 

7. The Council has therefore been exploring opportunities for reducing its own impact on 
Air Quality as well as considering levers and policies to influence others to make the 
necessary changes.

8.  A West Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy 2016 to 2021 (WYLES) has been written 
and is currently under consultation. 

9. To support the WYLES, a Leeds’ specific action plan has been developed to show 
what actions need to be taken in order to meet the proposed targets to ensure that 
Leeds’ emissions fall within legal limits and that the public health outcomes for Leeds’ 
citizens are improved. A high level summary of the plan can be found at appendix 1.

Recommendations

10.Members of the Executive Board are recommended to:

 
 Note the progress the Council has made to date and its plan for expansion for its 

own alternative fuel vehicles and associated infrastructure;

 Endorse the WYLES and Leeds’ Air Quality Action Plan;

 Adopt the targets for 2020 and 2030 for PM2.5 referred to at paragraph 3.11 of this 
report;

 Support the allocation of parking spaces for electric vehicles in Council car parks to 
be implemented by the end of the financial year as part of the Cutting carbon and 
improving air quality breakthrough project;

 Support the enforcement of the planning conditions on new developments to 
increase charging infrastructure across the City. This is an on-going action that falls 
under the Chief Officer of Planning’s responsibility to monitor for all new 
developments;

 Support the establishment of walking and cycling friendly infrastructure, using 
appropriate planning conditions to ensure new developments support alternative 
modes of transport; 

 Support further work being carried out to determine the required scope and number 
of potential clean air zones within the city to ensure compliance with EU directives 
is met as a minimum, improving public health outcomes for the citizens of Leeds. 
The Director of Environment and Housing will oversee the delivery of the study and 
report back to Executive Board on progress as part of the breakthrough project’s 
annual report.

Page 100



1 Purpose of this report
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on progress since the report 

that was brought to Executive Board in December 2014 as well as to provide 
details on the West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy paper, Leeds’ action plan 
and a number of current opportunities for funding in relation to the subject matter 
of this report.

2 Background information
2.1 The Department of Health’s Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants 

(COMEAP) estimate the burden of particulate air pollution in the UK to be 
equivalent to nearly 29,000 deaths (2008) and an associated 340,000 life years 
lost across the population1. For Leeds this is equivalent to 350 deaths (2010) and 
an associated 3,825 life years lost2. These measures are an average across the 
population; it is not known how the effects are distributed among individuals.

2.2 There is now categorical evidence that long-term exposure to everyday air 
pollutants contributes to cardiovascular disease (CVD, including heart diseases 
and stroke), lung cancer, and respiratory disease (including asthma and chronic 
bronchitis). The heaviest burden is borne by those with greatest vulnerability 
and/or exposure. The elderly, children, pregnant women and those with 
cardiovascular disease and/or respiratory disease are more susceptible to air 
pollution than others. Those who spend more time in highly polluted locations will 
be affected more.

2.3 Reducing PM by 10µg/m3 would extend lifespan in the UK by 5 times more than 
eliminating casualties on the roads, or three times more than eliminating passive 
smoking. 4

2.4 There are no absolutely safe levels of the main pollutants of concern. Any 
improvement in air quality will therefore have positive health consequences3

2.5 Asthma UK report the following:

 Two thirds of people with asthma find that air pollution makes their asthma worse, 
putting them at an increased risk of a potentially fatal asthma attack

 People with asthma have told us that on days when air pollution levels are high they 
feel that they can’t even leave the house for fear that it will trigger an attack.

 42% of people with asthma have told us that traffic fumes discourage them from 
walking or shopping in congested areas.

 29% of people with asthma have told us that a reduction in air pollution is the single 
thing that would make the most difference to their quality of life

1 COMEAP (2010) “The Mortality Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Particulate Air Pollution in the United 
Kingdom: A report by the Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants”, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/304641/COMEAP_mortality_e
ffects_of_long_term_exposure.pdf  
2 Public Health England (2014) “Estimating Local Mortality Burdens Associated with Particulate Air Pollution” 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/332854/PHE_CRCE_010.pdf    
3 Review of evidence on Health Aspects of Air Pollution – REVIHAAP project: final technical Report, World 
Health Organization Office for Europe, 2013. http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-
health/air-quality/publications/2013/review-of-evidence-on-health-aspects-of-air-pollution-revihaap-project-
final-technical-report  
4 Miller and Hurley (2006) “Comparing estimated risks for air pollution with risks for other health effects”, 
Institute of Occupational Medicine, Report TM/06/01

Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/304641/COMEAP_mortality_effects_of_long_term_exposure.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/304641/COMEAP_mortality_effects_of_long_term_exposure.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/332854/PHE_CRCE_010.pdf
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/publications/2013/review-of-evidence-on-health-aspects-of-air-pollution-revihaap-project-final-technical-report
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/publications/2013/review-of-evidence-on-health-aspects-of-air-pollution-revihaap-project-final-technical-report
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/publications/2013/review-of-evidence-on-health-aspects-of-air-pollution-revihaap-project-final-technical-report


 85% of people with asthma have told us that they are concerned about the effect 
that increasing traffic fumes will have on their and their family’s health in the future.

2.6 The case study below illustrates how poor air quality can impact on an individual’s 
health. This case study is typical of many cases that present in Leeds with asthma 
exacerbations.

Case Study  (provided by Respiratory Clinician at LTHT)

A female patient, age 24, non-smoker, had a history of well controlled asthma during 
childhood in New Zealand. She came to Leeds in 2013 at which point she was taking 
a low dose steroid inhaler and her lung function was stable. Since arriving in Leeds, 
and despite medical attempts to improve her stability, the patient has experienced 
several asthma exacerbations requiring hospital treatment. When admissions were 
compared with air quality, there was a definite link. Since leaving Leeds in 2014, the 
patient’s asthma medication has reduced to the original treatment and her chest 
remains stable.

2.7 General public awareness of the impacts of poor air quality on their health is lower 
compared to other health issues such as smoking or obesity. There is a 
requirement for levels of awareness to be raised if the City is to be able to 
significantly reduce its level of emissions. 

2.8 Nationally, the government’s plans to improve Air Quality in order to meet 2010 targets 
set by the EU were dismissed as insufficient and quashed by the Supreme Court in April 
2015. The court ruled on the basis that plans would not achieve legal limits in some 
British cities until after 2030. Client Earth (an environmental pressure group) took the case 
to the Supreme Court on the basis of the government’s failure to plan effectively and to 
further demand that the EU then expedite the case against the UK government and press 
for fines for failure to meet obligations. Client Earth’s case concerned 16 cities and 
regions, with Leeds, London and Manchester being repeatedly referred to in national press 
coverage of this ruling.

2.9 A report was brought to Executive Board in December 2014 that looked at the feasibility 
of introducing a Low Emission Zone (LEZ) in the centre of Leeds. It was recommended 
that the required improvements to air quality should be achieved via dialogue with key 
transport partners rather than via enforced change but that a LEZ would remain an option 
if progress was not made quickly enough. DEFRA now use the term Clean Air Zone 
(CAZ) to refer to a LEZ.

2.10 Where pollutant levels exceed or are likely to exceed the air quality objectives, Local 
Authorities are required to declare Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) and devise 
Action Plans to improve air quality. Leeds currently has 6 AQMAs declared for Nitrogen 
Dioxide and nationally there were 613 declared at the end of 2013.

2.11 DEFRA has installed air quality measurement equipment as part of the Automatic Urban 
and Rural Network (AURN) at two sites in West Yorkshire, both of which are located in 
Leeds (one on Woodhouse Lane in the City Centre on land to the south of the multi-storey 
car park and the other at the City Council’s kerbside site on Otley Road, Headingley, close 
to the junction with Shire Oak Road). The equipment measures NO2 as well as particulate 
matter, specifically PM10 and PM2.5. The Council have chosen to carry out the majority 
of additional monitoring at or in the immediate vicinity of residential properties. PM10 is 
measured at one additional site located alongside the bus stops at the Corn Exchange, 

Page 102



using Council owned equipment. NO2 is measured at nine sites (including both AURN 
sites) across the city, using automatic equipment. Hourly results from the automatic 
analysers is collected daily by a software package for data management held within the 
Council. Monthly data about NO2 is also obtained from a further 70 sites, using passive 
diffusion tubes. 

2.12 However, many of Leeds’ nationally reported breaches of the EU Directive exist at 
publicly accessible locations where no long-term exposure is likely to occur. These 
include footpaths alongside the Inner Ring Road close to the former Yorkshire Post 
building and Armley Gyratory; adjacent to the bus station; the Meadow Road access into 
the city centre and the associated section of the M621 motorway. 

3 Main issues

DEFRA Consultation

3.1 DEFRA has recently published a consultation document that identified Leeds as one of 
seven locations in England that currently is not expected to be fully compliant with the 
European Directive by 2020. A stretch of 2.7km of the inner ring road, running through 
the Armley Gyratory, has been identified as being at risk of being non compliant in terms 
of NO2 levels after 2020. Roads are only considered to be non compliant if there is risk of 
exposure to the public i.e. residential properties nearby, pedestrian access etc.

3.2 As extended public exposure has been the Council’s main concern to date, limited 
monitoring has been carried out to establish baselines or changes that may be achieved by 
traffic management, emission reductions and other means at these specific ‘EU sites’, with 
no adjacent residential properties.

3.3 With the section of road that has been flagged by DEFRA, there is clearly a need to 
examine in closer detail how measures might be deployed as a short term expedient for 
meeting the European Directive by 2020. However, it is recognised that the issues 
identified on the 2.7km stretch of road are only symptomatic of the wider issues that have 
been illustrated by the work in Leeds and West Yorkshire.. 

3.4 The Council met with DEFRA on 25th September to discuss the consultation 
document in detail and the action plan. At the meeting it was agreed that:

 The Council will implement further air quality measurement equipment along 
the section of road that has been identified as at risk to verify the results of 
the model;

 If the monitoring shows that the risk is lower than anticipated, the Council will 
review the model and support the development of a local model that is 
adapted to the conditions within Leeds;

 Any monitoring methodology or changes to the model will need to be agreed 
to ensure that they are EU compliant;

 In parallel with reviewing the model and measurement, the options for 
changing the pedestrian access along this section of road are also being 
reviewed.

Page 103



 The Council will both respond to the formal consultation by the deadline of 6th 
November and provide a high level summary of what support it needs from 
central government to achieve compliance.

3.5 DEFRA highlighted that the planning process should also not allow any scheme 
which will delay compliance as well as introduce exceedance. This raises issues 
for consideration within the development of the plans for transport in the City 
Centre which may have implications for future traffic levels using the roads 
currently identified as non-compliant.

3.6 DEFRA reported that they as part of their action plan that will be submitted in 
December, they will state that Leeds can become compliant by 2020 if a clean air   
zone were to be implemented. It is anticipated that a Clean Air Zone (CAZ) 
proposal for Leeds would be used to regulate buses, coaches, taxis, HGVs and 
LGVs but not the domestic car. DEFRA are currently consulting on a framework 
for CAZs that would set the criteria that vehicles would have to meet. This 
suggests that the CAZ would limit petrol engines to EURO 4 and diesel engines to 
the Euro 6 standards. In the short term DEFRA strongly suggested that as a 
minimum a voluntary CAZ is considered. The publication of the DEFRA 
consultation and the identification of Leeds as an area of concern has increased 
the pressure on the Council to seriously consider the implementation of a CAZ as 
part of its air quality strategy if the Council’s monitoring confirms DEFRA’s 
findings.

WYLES

3.7 A West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy 2016 to 2021 (WYLES) has been 
developed through collaboration between the Councils of Bradford, Calderdale, 
Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield Council as well as Public Health England and West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority.  This document can be found at appendix 2.

3.8 The vision contained within the WYLES is:

“A vibrant West Yorkshire economy, where people use transport and power and 
heat their homes and businesses in a way which improves air quality to create a 
safe and healthy environment for people to live, work and invest.”

3.9 In working towards the above vision, the West Yorkshire local authorities will use 
the strategy to achieve the following aims:

Aim 1
Air quality in West Yorkshire will meet the air quality limit values as 
set out in EC Directive 2008/50/EC by 2020

Aim 2
To contribute significantly to a reduction in emissions across the 
region and at locations where concentrations are known to be 
especially high.

Aim 3
To avoid activity which has an adverse impact on air quality and to 
prioritise activity which delivers co-benefits of cutting carbon 
emissions and reducing environmental noise.

3.10 The WYLES therefore provides the framework for the specific activity that Leeds Council 
plans to undertake to improve air quality. The Council has developed a high level plan on 

Page 104



a page (appendix 1), supported by a detailed action plan to show how the Council will 
meet the specific targets contained within the WYLES.

3.11 The current target for PM2.5 particulate matter is to attain a concentration of less than 25 
µg/m3 and to reduce the 3 year rolling average by 15% from 2010 level by 2020. As this 
has already been achieved across the city, it is suggested that the Council adopt a target to 
reduce the PM2.5 by 20% from 2010 by 2020 and to aspire to meet the World Health 
Organisation’s limit of 10 µg/m3 by 2030.

3.12 The action plan is a live document with a number of identified projects. Against each 
project or programme, the anticipated air quality benefits will be projected. As projects are 
completed, actual benefits will be recorded against those projected to ensure that the 
overarching air quality targets will be achieved across the city. If the total benefits of the 
identified projects are insufficient to meet the agreed targets, additional options will be 
investigated to ensure that the targets are met.

3.13 In order to meet the targets, changes need to be made to all areas of fleet across the City, 
including but not limited to buses, taxis and private hire, private vehicles, HGVs and 
LGVs. The chart below shows that all of these sectors are major contributors to the air 
pollution within the City and that an action plan for each sector is required as tackling one 
sector in isolation will not enable the City to meet the necessary reductions.

Chart 1

3.14 The background emissions refers to emissions that are generated by domestic heating, 
industrial processes from both within and outside the West Yorkshire boundary as well as 
transport sources plus natural background levels.

3.15 The Council’s vision for the future of transport is detailed in the Executive board 
report “21st Century Leeds ‘A new direction in transport for a new kind of city’” also 
to be presented to Executive board this month and the longer term strategic aims 
contained within the report support the change that is required to deliver the 
improvement in air quality for the city.

3.16 West Yorkshire has been shortlisted to submit a bid for the ‘Go Ultra Low City Scheme’ 
(GUL City bid) – a £35m fund that will be split between 2 or 4 regions or cities. The 
scheme is designed to encourage bidders to develop ambitious, innovative campaigns to 
drive up the number of electric vehicles purchased in their area. These plans may take the 

Page 105



form of providing support for public sector fleet purchases, assisting businesses to 
establish business case for EV use, creating a scrappage scheme to encourage a shift from 
diesel to EV cars across the domestic and small business sectors as well as developing 
policy levers or incentives to make EV purchases more favourable. Additionally, 
development of ‘Smart’ technology to make vehicle charging easier, investigating 
opportunities for sustainable energy generation to support charge points and running 
campaigns to encourage the trial of electric vehicles amongst the public will form part of 
the strategy to encourage take up of EV’s.

Measurement
3.17 As the current automatic measurement of air quality is minimal, this limits the 

opportunities for real time use of the data to support individuals with specific health 
concerns to adjust their behaviour dependant on the level of emissions on any given day. It 
also limits our ability to see first hand the impact that certain measures have on air quality 
and to see whether there are any other emerging areas of concern.

3.18 To overcome this barrier, the Council will establish a network of measuring equipment by 
2020. The Council is exploring a number of funding opportunities and links with the 
University of Leeds to increase the frequency and spread across the city of air quality 
measurement for all emission types.

Council’s Progress
3.19 In order for the Council to be able to drive change across the City, it is key that the 

Council leads by example. Since the report of December 2014, a review of all the 
Council’s fleet has been undertaken to identify opportunities to replace the fleet with 
lower emissions vehicles. By the end of 2015/16, the Council will have increased its 
proportion of low emission fleet to at least 7% from 3%. Each year the annual replacement 
programme will be reviewed to ensure that lower emission vehicles are considered for all 
vehicles that are due for replacement. The replacement programme process has been 
redesigned so that low emission vehicles will be the default option unless these are not 
available or operationally unsuitable.

3.20 A report was also presented at Executive Board in July 2015 that focused on the 
development of a Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) station within the vicinity of the Aire 
Valley, enabling the fleet of 73 refuse collection vehicles to be converted to compressed 
gas by 2021.These vehicles have the highest emissions within the Council’s fleet, so 
disproportionately contribute to the fleet’s overall emissions. The CNG station will also 
provide opportunity for further fleet conversion, both within the Council and across other 
fleet operators within the City.  

3.21 The table below shows the fleet replacement profile, the number of vehicles that will be 
replaced each year with an alternative type and highlights that by 2020 it is anticipated 
that 23% of the Council’s fleet will have been replaced by alternative fuelled vehicles or 
hybrids.  

3.22 The pace of change for the Council’s fleet is dictated by two key elements, the ability to 
establish operational and economic feasibility of alternative fuel vehicles and the 
availability of suitable infrastructure to support the vehicles. CNG will only be available 
as a fuel from 2018 based on current planning, hence facilitating an accelerated transfer to 
gas vehicles from that date onwards. Electric charge points require sufficient power supply 
at depot locations, however this is a significant barrier to deployment as most sites do not 
have spare energy capacity, as such investment in supply is required.   

Page 106



Year No of vehicles due 
for replacement in 
year

No. & % of in year 
replacements  to be 
moved to alternative 
fuels/ hybrids

Total no.  / % of 
fleet running on 
alternative fuels/ 
hybrids etc. by end 
of year

2015/16 303  50 (16.5%)  93 (7.5%)
2016/17 85  22 (25%)  115 (9.5%)
2017/18 29 20 (68%) 135 (11%)
2018/19 47 27 (57%) 162 (13.5%)
2019/2020 223 115 (51%) 277 (23%)

Table 1 – Anticipated Council fleet replacement profile for the next 5 years

3.23 As well as the Council’s fleet, work is being undertaken to examine the ‘grey fleet’ – 
essentially this is vehicles used in the course of business travel, such as use of employees 
own cars, taxis, buses and trains – and how the emissions from these can be reduced. 
Provision of an effective sustainable travel plan that encourages low emission travel is 
being developed. As part of this work an electric pool car is currently being trialled with 
members of staff working within a housing office.

3.24 Further work will also be undertaken to ensure that the Council’s procurements evaluate 
the supplier’s impact on air quality (e.g.. contracts using delivery vehicles etc.), as well as 
looking at using the car leasing scheme to influence staff behaviour.

Cars - Domestic Customers

3.25 As well as encouraging commercial fleets to changeover to alternative fuels, it is 
important that work is undertaken to encourage change by private individuals. The change 
could be anything from leaving their car at home and choosing an alternative method of 
travel (e.g. walking, cycling, public transport, car sharing etc.), to buying a hybrid or 
electric vehicle. Work is on-going to improve the choices currently available for those 
who want to leave their car at home (e.g. cycle superhighway, new train stations, new park 
and rides, NGT etc.). 

3.26 The Council has a key role to play to influence the shift to alternative methods of transport 
for domestic customers, using its parking policy to encourage people to choose more 
sustainable modes of travel into the city centre as well as supporting travel planning across 
the City.

3.27 It therefore remains most important as the pace of technology and innovation proceeds 
that the public are well informed about the choice and implications of their travel and 
vehicle purchasing decisions. However, there is still a lack of awareness about the public 
health issues caused by poor air quality, preventing the general public from making 
informed choices. The lack of real time data available makes it more difficult to engage 
with the public on an on-going basis. Public Health will continue to explore opportunities 
to fund awareness campaigns, albeit now in the context of the recent national 
announcement of a reduction in the public health grant.

3.28 The Council is also exploring ways to make the issue more commonly understood both 
internally and externally. Internally channels such as Get Connected will be used to raise 
employee awareness as well as using the normal communication channels to highlight the 
changes that the Council is making. Again the Council will work to promote Council 

Page 107



change externally to raise the profile of air quality as an issue and to show what can be 
done to reduce emissions

3.29 If WYCA is successful in its bid for the GUL City Bid, there will be opportunities to use 
the funding to improve public awareness of electric vehicles across the region. 

3.30 People are often reluctant to buy an electric vehicle as they are concerned about how far 
they will be able to travel on the charge and where they will be able to recharge their car. 
This is known as “range anxiety”. Yorkshire and Humberside currently has the lowest 
number of electric vehicle charge points in the country. The Council currently operates 24 
publically accessible charge points in the City, of which 8 are dedicated to Electric 
Vehicle (EV) drivers only. The remainder can be used by non-EV drivers, or used by EV 
drivers with a pre-arranged appointment. Across the City there are approximately 20 other 
charge points (this excludes those in car dealerships). This number will increase as 
planning consents are granted. Ownership of electric vehicles is also very low compared to 
other regions.

3.31 Most people who buy electric cars will primarily charge their vehicle at home and will not 
need to charge again to undertake their normal day to day travel as an electric vehicle can 
support approximately a seventy mile round trip without recharging. However, the lack of 
charging infrastructure is still an issue for longer journeys. The OLEV City bid will enable 
some improvement in infrastructure but there is likely to still be a requirement for further 
investment.

3.32 Another lever that the Council has to encourage the uptake of electric/ hybrid cars in the 
domestic sector is to use existing planning conditions to ensure that new houses are 
equipped with charging points. For houses with garages, this is a very minor additional 
cost as most houses will already be equipped with an external electricity supply. For 
developments that have car parking, it is still possible to provide a number of charge 
points proportionate to the number of dwellings or the amount of floor space being 
created.

3.33 Designated parking for low emission vehicles is also proposed as an additional incentive 
to encourage people to swap to low emissions vehicles. The Council will provide 
designated spaces at a number of car parks across the City, linked to charging 
infrastructure. The parking may either be provided free of charge or at a reduced rate.

Cars – Taxi and Private Hire
3.34 The proportion shown in chart 1 at paragraph 3.7 for cars, also includes taxis and private 

hire vehicles. There are currently 3,700 private hire vehicles and 530 ‘hackney’ taxis 
licensed within Leeds, with the number of licensed drivers being higher as some vehicles 
are utilised by multiple users. The majority of these vehicles are diesel, with a very small 
number of petrol or hybrid vehicles currently operating. The age profile of both private 
hire and taxi fleets shows that licensed vehicles are typically between 3 and 9 year old. A 
Taxi or Private Hire vehicle may complete up to 50,000 miles in a year, compared to the 
average vehicle which will cover 7,900 miles annually. The age of vehicles, the fuel used 
and the high mileage of each contribute to the trade having a disproportionate effect on air 
quality relative to the number of vehicles operating. 

3.35 Analysis of traffic flow utilising ANPR data across 4 key traffic locations demonstrated 
that taxi and private hire vehicles accounted for on average 6% of all traffic. The highest 
traffic flows of all vehicles was found along the A660, the proportion of taxi and private 

Page 108



hire vehicles relative to other vehicles was also highest along this route. Whilst general 
traffic flow peaks significantly between 6 and 9am with a slight peak across late afternoon 
and early evening, taxi and private hire has a less well defined cycle with a largely static 
volume of vehicles operating with a decline only between 2 and 5am. Across Leeds 
analysis found that at certain times of day (11pm to 2am) taxis accounted for 35% of the 
proportion of traffic flow. Taxis by their nature spend time idling at ranks, which has a 
negative impact on emissions, private hire vehicles will often idle when awaiting pre-
booked passengers. Activity is often clustered around key sites – for example Leeds City 
Train Station as well as city centre pick up and drop offs, therefore concentrating the 
effects of emissions within areas that are already affected by traffic volumes from 
different vehicles (buses, private vehicles, retail deliveries and so on.) 

3.36 There is therefore a clear case for change, if a significant number of taxi and private hire 
vehicles can be transitioned to low emission alternatives then there will be a measurable 
impact upon Air Quality. Leeds University research found that if all private hire and taxis 
were transferred to Hybrid Electric vehicles then reductions across the whole Leeds 
transport sector in CO2, NOx and PM would be 1.5%, 4.1% and 4.4% respectively.

3.37 As part of the GUL City Bid West Yorkshire also plans to utilise some of the potential 
funding to support the private hire trade by extending the scrappage scheme for small 
business to the trade to encourage a shift from diesel to electric or hybrid electric vehicles. 
Support in assessing the feasibility of running hybrid electric effectively and the required 
infrastructure for this will be provided through an Energy Savings Trust study for the 
region. Increasing the number of electric and hybrid electric vehicles in the region will 
also then provide a greater volume of second hand vehicles of this nature that will appeal 
to the private hire as well as taxi trade as they typically use second hand vehicles. 

3.38 There is also the ‘Taxi Fund’ a £20m scheme designed to allow for subsidy to be provided 
to drivers or operators purchasing ultra-low emission, Hackney vehicles that have been 
adapted for use by disabled passengers. This scheme can also be utilised to support the 
development and delivery of charge infrastructure for both Hackney taxi and private hire 
vehicles. The West Yorkshire authorities are bidding as a region and have been awarded a 
fully funded feasibility study that will assist with identifying opportunities for low 
emission vehicles being introduced to taxi and private hire fleets. Submission of this bid 
will supplement the GUL City Bid in providing for support and incentives across the 
region for both Taxi and private hire fleets. Consultation with the trade across the region is 
underway that has secured support from operators for both the GUL City Bid and the Taxi 
Fund and is also being used to refine the measures that would be required from the trade to 
assist with a transition to electric or hybrid vehicles.

3.39 A significant challenge to transitioning Leeds fleet of Taxi and Private Hire vehicles to 
low emission vehicles is presented by the De-Regulation Act which came into effect from 
1st October 2015. This act enables operators to subcontract work to drivers and vehicles 
licensed outside the district, effectively allowing vehicles and drivers licensed outside of 
Leeds to freely operate within the authority. As such efforts to challenge local operators to 
license cleaner vehicles in Leeds could be undermined by older, higher emission vehicles 
from other districts being driven within the city. 

Buses
3.40 West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) currently has limitations on its 

powers to require bus operators to provide services with vehicles meeting 
specified standards.  The exception to this is where bus services are operated 

Page 109



under contract to WYCA.  These services are, in general, those where revenue 
would not justify commercial operation but there is a social need, with the majority 
of such services being in the more rural areas of West Yorkshire or linking 
communities to smaller centres 

3.41 There are a number of options for influencing fleet investment by bus operators 
operating commercial services, as set out below:

 WYCA could introduce a Statutory Quality Partnership Scheme whereby bus 
operators were required to meet environmental standards in return for a 
proportionate improvement in bus infrastructure within the City Centre. Operators 
can object to such a scheme if they felt that the requirement on them was not 
proportionate to the benefits. 

 WYCA could develop a Voluntary Partnership scheme whereby there is agreement 
between the parties on a timetable for environmental improvements, allowing the 
industry to adjust to increased environmental standards over time. Whilst such a 
scheme has no “teeth” operators have been willing to enter into such arrangements 
in the past and as PLCs, by and large, they have adhered to the partnership 
proposals as there is a reputational risk of reneging on the agreement.   

 Signalling intent through amending the conditions of contract for procured bus 
services.

 Funding, within affordability constraints and State Aid rules, the additional costs of 
greener buses. To date WYCA has done this through bids for external funding and 
is currently bidding for further funding from both the Clean Bus Technology Fund, 
enabling bus retrofit and the OLEV Low Emission Bus Scheme for the purchase of 
replacement buses.

3.42 WYCA is also pursuing the inclusion of Bus Franchising powers within the Leeds 
City Region Devolution proposals. This would allow environmental standards to 
be set on all bus services as part of contract specifications, albeit within 
affordability constraints.  It is expected that a Buses Bill will set out how these 
powers might be exercised, and the associated timescale.

3.43 WYLES will set out targets for cleaner bus fleet and lead to discussions and 
negotiation on how these could be achieved by 2020.

3.44 The Council will undertake further work to investigate the feasibility of implementing one 
or more Clean Air Zones across the city in the absence of finding a negotiated position 
with the bus companies.

Commercial Vehicles (HGVs and LGVs)

3.45 The GUL City Bid will provide opportunities for SMEs to change their fleet to lower 
emissions alternative via the introduction of a scrappage scheme.

3.46 In addition the creation of the CNG station within the vicinity of the Enterprise Zone 
presents real opportunities for the HGV sector to move to a lower emission alternative. In 
the business case for the CNG station, money has been allocated for the marketing of the 

Page 110



alternative fuel to try and encourage companies to make the switch. Links are already 
starting to be established with potential customers within the Enterprise Zone.

3.47 Other options that will also be considered are the introduction of a Clean Air Zone 
targeted at specific categories of commercial vehicles. Further work will be undertaken to 
look at both the options and the likely benefits.

4 Corporate considerations

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 A cross functional team, including representatives from HR, highways, 
environmental health, public health, PPPU, ICT, planning and WYCA have been 
involved in developing the underpinning action plan.

4.1.2 The Institute for Transport Studies from the University of Leeds is involved in developing 
the GUL City Bid.

4.1.3 A SmartKlub event held in July 2015 which considered the barriers and opportunities 
inherent in developing an alternative fuel infrastructure. Business representatives 
recognised the uncertainty in this field and are looking for support from the state to help 
establish effective delivery models. A key opportunity, but not without challenges is to 
establish city scale sustainable energy supplies to support transport. SmartKlub 
recommended that other agencies are tasked to manage these ideas into business 
propositions, through LEP – Smart Energy Accelerator, Open Data Institute data dives and 
further SmartKlub input into sustainable energy and electric vehicle charge points as a 
theme within the OLEV bids. 

4.1.4 Consultation and engagement with the Taxi and Private Hire trade, both in Leeds and 
across the West Yorkshire Region are on-going. Initial representations have been made to 
the trade and members via the Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Committee Working Group. 
Further consultation with the trade has been undertaken via the Highways and Taxi 
Association meeting, a forum in which the trade regularly engage with the Council. Both 
of these events have been used to measure the appetite for transition to low emission 
vehicles and assess what level of support the trade may need to make that change. The Air 
Pollution Service Manager and the Institute for Transport Studies (Leeds University) have 
also undertaken research on the suitability of utilising hybrid electric vehicles for taxi or 
private hire use with the support and consultation of the trade. A workshop held in Leeds, 
to which representatives of the trades across West Yorkshire had been invited was 
undertaken in August 2015 at which the opportunities for transition to low emission 
vehicles were discussed. Whilst there are barriers to overcome, and more work to be done 
to determine a road map for the transition of taxi and private hire vehicles to low emission 
alternatives there is support for this from the operators. Letters of support have been 
submitted by trade representatives across West Yorkshire that endorse the regions bid for 
the Taxi Fund with operators keen to develop their understanding of both the economic 
and environmental opportunities that low emission vehicles may offer, as such further 
dialogue is planned with more detailed information to be provided to operators that will 
better enable business modelling to be completed. 

4.1.5 The Executive Members for the environment, environmental health and public health and 
wellbeing and transport have all been consulted. An air quality session was also run for the 
whole of Cabinet in October. 

4.2 Equality and diversity, cohesion and integration

Page 111



4.2.1 As the purpose of this report is to look to improve air quality, the benefits will be more 
marked in the groups that have been identified as more susceptible to the impacts of air 
quality according to data published by Public Health England. 

4.2.2 An equality impact assessment was completed on 25th August 2015 and is attached at 
appendix 3. 

4.3 Council policies and the best council plan
4.3.1 The successful implementation of the air quality action plan contributes to the 

Council’s cutting carbon and improving air quality breakthrough project, directly 
contributing to the sub area of making low carbon Leeds a reality by planning for a 
more sustainable future and setting a revised and improved carbon target for 
2050. It will also make a significant contribution to the reduction of harmful 
emissions from the council’s fleet and will therefore also support the sub area of 
delivering air quality improvements by transforming the Council’s fleet of vehicles 
and establishing a green transport infrastructure.

4.3.2 The aims of WYLES should also support and influence the rethinking the City 
Centre breakthrough project in terms of ensuring any redesign focuses on 
improving air quality within the City. This will complement and support policies 
being developed by WYCA as part of the forthcoming new Single Transport Plan 
for West Yorkshire.

4.3.3 The development of the related green infrastructure directly contributes to the 
Council’s forward looking commitment of introducing 21st Century infrastructure. 

4.3.4 The use of alternative fuels will directly contribute to a reduction in the Council’s 
carbon emissions, a measurable KPI included in the Best Council Plan.

4.4 Resources and value for money 
4.4.1 To successfully deliver improved air quality for the city, a cross Council approach 

is required as it cuts across so many areas of work (e.g. public health, planning, 
parking, transport, environmental health). This work has been incorporated into 
the Cutting Carbon Breakthrough Project team’s work programme, managed by 
PPPU.

4.4.2 Where possible, the team are identifying and bidding for grants to support the 
development of this work.

4.4.3 The replacement of the Council’s own fleet for alternative fuel vehicles will be 
done as part of the normal vehicle replacement cycle and supported by individual 
business cases to show the benefit over the whole life of the vehicle.

4.5 Legal implications, access to information and call-in
4.5.1 There are no legal implications to note in respect of this report.

4.6 Risk management
4.6.1 The Council has focused on dealing with air quality within residential areas, where 

there is the potential for prolonged exposure under the UK Air Quality 
Regulations. However, DEFRA also have to comply with an EU Directive that 
focuses on the areas with poor air quality but where there is more limited 
opportunity for exposure. This creates a potential challenge between meeting the 
Council’s primary objectives to protect the health of its citizens as effectively as 

Page 112



possible and the pressure that it may be put under by Central Government to 
tackle areas where prolonged exposure is lower. 

4.6.2 If WYCA is unsuccessful in securing funding from the GUL City Bid that will 
enable the region to accelerate the growth of electric vehicles, then this will be a 
major set back in the City’s plans. However, the Council will still be able to 
promote the growth of CNG vehicles and in parallel look for opportunities to work 
with the commercial sector/ LEP to investigate other ways to incentivise faster 
growth in the region of alternative fuelled vehicles.

4.6.3 As there is evidence to suggest that certain groups (elderly, children, pregnant 
women, disabled) are more adversely affected by poor air quality, there is a risk of 
challenge under the public sector duty of the Equality Act 2010 should the Council 
fail to take action to address air quality, particularly from those that reside in areas 
designated as Air Quality Management Areas.

5 Conclusions
5.1 Long term it is very clear that only concerted action across a range of measures will 

provide the kind of comprehensive solutions to the air quality issues within the City.

5.2 As part of the cutting carbon and improving air quality breakthrough project an 
annual report is taken to executive board annually to show progress to date. 
Within this report it is intended to incorporate an update on the work towards the 
improvement of air quality so that progress and the associated action plan can be 
monitored annually.

6 Recommendations

Members of the Executive Board are recommended to:

 Note the progress the Council has made to date and its plan for expansion for its 
own alternative fuel vehicles and associated infrastructure;

 Endorse the WYLES and Leeds’ Air Quality Action Plan;

 Adopt the targets for 2020 and 2030 for PM2.5 referred to at paragraph 3.6 of this 
report;

 Support the allocation of parking spaces for electric vehicles in Council car parks to 
be implemented by the end of the financial year as part of the Cutting carbon and 
improving air quality breakthrough project;

 Support the enforcement of the planning conditions on new developments to 
increase charging infrastructure across the City. This is an on-going action that falls 
under the Chief Officer of Planning’s responsibility to monitor for all new 
developments;

 Support the establishment of walking and cycling friendly infrastructure, using 
appropriate planning conditions to ensure new developments support alternative 
modes of transport; 

Page 113



 Support further work being carried out to determine the required scope and number 
of potential Clean Air Zones within the city to ensure compliance with EU directives 
is met as a minimum, improving public health outcomes for the citizens of Leeds. 
The Director of Environment and Housing will oversee the delivery of the study and 
report back to Executive Board on progress as part of the breakthrough project’s 
annual report.

7 Background documents4 
None

4 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 114



LEEDS	AIR	QUALITY	ACTION	PLAN	(DRAFT)	
Vision: Towards a city where transport and industry has a posi ve impact on health 

AIMS	

1. A city that is fair, open and welcoming 

2. An economy that is prosperous and sustainable 

3. A city where all communi es will be successful 

CONTRIBUTING	TOWARDS	
1. Improved air quality  

2. Improved health and wellbeing and reduced health 
inequali es  

3. Lower carbon pollu on and reduced noise impacts 

4. Leeds developed as a skills and business base for 
low emission technology  

 

 

E1 
Increase the use of 
sustainable modes of 
transport   

E2 
Clean the Public 
Transport Fleet 

E3 
Accelerate the uptake of 
cleaner vehicles within 
the domes c market 

E5 
Building a Low Emission 
City 

E6 
Improved Promo on and 
Profile 

E7 
Developing our 
Capability 

E4 
Reduce emissions from 
industry and businesses  
and the public sector 

ENABLERS	

E5.1	Development	of	public	EV		
recharging	and	gas	refuelling	
infrastructure	

E5.2	Development	access	to	a	
Public	Transport	Smart	Card		for	
charging	vehicles	

E5.3	Develop	a	City	Centre	
transport	strategy	that		reduces	
through	traf ic	

E5.4	Promote	EV	recharging	in	
residential	&	commercial	premises		
through	partnership	working	with	
developers	and	through	planning	

E5.5	Promote	sustainable	
modes		through	partnership		
working	with	developers	and	
through	planning	

E.5.6		Develop		ways	to	smarten		
the	grid	to	adapt	to	future	vehicle	
technology	needs	

E.5.7	Increase	the	creation	and	
use	of	green	spaces	

E6.1	Capitalize	on	national		
events	to	raise	awareness	

E6.2	Increase	social	media	
engagement.	

E6.3	More	targeted	marketing	
and	communications	plans.	

E6.4	Engage	with	Government	
to	in luence	national	plans	and	
funding	

E6.5		Engage	with		the	LEP,	
WYCA	and	neighboring	
authorities	to	ensure	that	there	is	
a	coordinated	&	strategic	
approach		

E6.6	Develop	our	own	staffs’	
understanding	of		air	quality	
issues	

	

	

E4.1	Promote		the	conversion	of	
taxis	to	low	emission	alternatives	

E4.2	Promote		the	conversion	of	
HGVs	to	low	emission	alternatives	

E4.3	Convert	the	Authority's	vehicle	
leet	to	low	emission	vehicles	

E4.4	Work	with	partners	to	support	
the	conversion	of	other	public	sector	
leets	for	example	NHS	

E4.5	Consider	staff	incentives	to	
change	their	own	vehicles	

E.4.6		to	add—Cleaning	up	

emissions	from	industry	e.g.	
construction	/	energy.	

E3.1	Develop	incentives	for	low	
emission	vehicle	take‐up		

E3.2	Improve	traf ic	 low	
conditions	and	promote		Eco‐
driving	

E3.3	Promote	the	use	of	low	
emission	vehicles	for	community	
groups	and	car	clubs 	
	

	

	
	

	

E2.1	Promote	electric	trains	
	

E2.2	Promote	the	adoption	of	
retro it	equipment	to	reduce	
emissions	

E2.3	Promote		the	conversion	of	
buses	to	low	emission	alternatives	

	

E1.1		Increase	bus	patronage	
through	improved	bus	priority	
measures	

E1.2		Increase	public	transport	
usage	through	the	creation	of	new	
public	transport	options	including	
NGT,	new	train	stations	and	P+R	

E1.3	Improve	cycling	and	
walking	infrastructure	and	
develop	training		

E1.4	Encourage		the	use		of		car	
sharing	

E1.5	Encourage		the	use		of	
sustainable	modes	through	travel	
planning		

E1.6	Promote	the	use	of	
alternative	modes		(rail/water)	
for	freight	

	

	
	
	

E7.1	Improving	measurement	of	
air	quality	

E7.2	Develop	an	apprenticeship	
programme	to	skill	vehicle	
repairers	and	servicing	staff	

E7.3	Engage	with	business	to	
understand	how	Leeds	can	become	
a	centre	of	excellence	for	
technology	innovation	

E7.4	Work	with	the	universities	
to	set	out	a	research	programme	
that	could	aid	our	understanding		
and	be	ready	to	bid	for	funding.	

E7.5	Maximise	funding	and	
resources	through	partnerships	
and	effective	bids.	

E7.6	Engage	with	partners	in	
other	sectors	to	reduce	emissions,	
including	Health	and	Third	Sector	

	
	

OBJECTIVES	

PRIMARY	SUCCESS	MEASURES	

KEEPING	ON	THE	RIGHT	TRACK	
	

Increased awareness of air quality issues.  

Reduced emissions from transport  

 

Increased numbers using sustainable modes of transport 
Increased number of  children walking and cycling to 
school. 
 

Increased take‐up of low emission vehicles  

Associated life years lost 
 

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



   

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy 

 

 (WYLES) 

    

2016-2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft_v2 for Public Consultation  

October 2015 

Page 117



   

1 

 

About the West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy 

The West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy (WYLES) has been developed through 

collaboration between the West Yorkshire local authorities (Bradford MDC, Calderdale 

MBC, Kirklees MDC, Leeds CC and Wakefield MDC); West Yorkshire Combined 

Authority (WYCA) and Public Health England (PHE), with each organisation having an 

input and contributing to the content of the strategy.   

With funding from the Department for the Environment and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) the 

WYLES project has been managed by Bradford MBC, with technical support provided 

by Low Emissions Strategies Ltd. and Public Health England and specific 

acknowledgements are given for their contribution to the development of this Strategy. 

The WYLES is intended to influence and shape other local and regional strategies, 

plans and policies to facilitate a reduction in emissions, mainly from vehicles, and 

improve air quality, resulting in a healthier place for people to live, work and visit. 

The Strategy sets out specific aims and objectives to be achieved over the next five 

years, although it is recognised that further action will continue to be required beyond 

the timeframe of this Strategy.  The Strategy will be kept under review and will be 

renewed towards the end of the five year period to take into account changing needs, 

technologies and priorities. 

A West Yorkshire Task Group will be set up to deliver the objectives within this Strategy 

and provide annual progress reports to each of the West Yorkshire local authorities and 

to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. 

Consultation on the WYLES 

This draft WYLES has been developed with input from technical experts from their 

respective fields, including air quality; transport policy and public health, however for the 

WYLES to be successfully delivered, wider stakeholder and public consultation is 

required to help shape the final version of the strategy.  We are therefore inviting 

responses, initially from interested groups and subsequently through public 

consultation. This consultation phase is with key stakeholder groups with a closing date 

of 7th August 2015. 

A consultation pro-forma is attached and responses can be made on-line: 

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/WYLES-Stakeholder 

For further information please contact your local authority representative: 

Authority Name e-mail 

Bradford Council Sally Jones sally.jones@bradford.gov.uk 

Calderdale Council John Riley john.riley@calderdale.gov.uk 

Kirklees Council Wendy Blakeley wendy.blakeley@kirklees.gov.uk 

Leeds Council Jon Tubby jon.tubby@leeds.gov.uk 

Wakefield Council Gary Blenkinsop gblenkinsop@wakefield.gov.uk 

WYCA Steve Heckley steve.heckley@westyorks-ca.gov.uk 

Page 118



   

2 

 

Contents 

Foreword 3 

1. Executive Summary. 4 

2. WYLES:  Vision, Aims and Objectives. 10 

3. Introduction. 14 

Theme 1 – Evidence for Change:  

4. Health Impact. 16 

5. Legal Requirements. 21 

6. Where is Air Quality Problem? 24 

7. Low Emission Zone Studies. 27 

Theme 2 – Creating a Low Emission Future:  

8. Influencing Policies, Strategies and Plans. 31 

9. Place-shaping. 34 

10. Travel Choice and Active Travel. 39 

11. Leading by Example. 42 

Theme 3 – Reducing Vehicle Emissions:  

12. Private Cars. 45 

13. Buses. 49 

14. Trains. 54 

15. Commercial Vehicles & Freight. 56 

16. Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles. 59 

17. Local Authority Fleet. 61 

18. Theme 4 – Controlling Emissions from Non-Transport Sources:  

18.2 Energy & Industry. 64 

18.4 Combined Heat & Power (CHP). 65 

18.7 Biomass and Wood Burning. 65 

List of Abbreviations  

Appendices:  

Appendix 1 – Air Quality Limit Values and Objective Levels  

Appendix 2 – LEZ Feasibility Study – Modelled Scenarios  

Appendix 3 – Low Emission Vehicles Guidance  
  

WYLES Supporting Documents:  

Air Quality & Planning Technical Guide  

West Yorkshire Low Emission Procurement Guide  

West Yorkshire Bus Emission Strategy  

 

Page 119



   

3 

 

Foreword 

 

Insert text here from relevant Member / 
Lead from each authority. 

Photo 
Signature 
Name 
Title 

   

 

Insert text here from relevant Member / 
Lead from each authority. 

Photo 
Signature 
Name 
Title 

   

 

 

“The Strategy is an excellent opportunity to work with 

colleagues across West Yorkshire to reduce emissions and 

improve air quality whilst at the same time maintaining a strong 

economic growth, resulting in a healthier place for people to live, 

work and visit.” 

Cllr Peter McBride 
Cabinet Member for Transportation, Skills, Jobs and Regional Affairs 

   

 

Insert text here from relevant Member / 
Lead from each authority. 

Photo 
Signature 
Name 
Title 

   

 

Insert text here from relevant Member / 
Lead from each authority. 

Photo 
Signature 
Name 
Title 

   

 

Insert text here from relevant Member / 
Lead from each authority. 

Photo 
Signature 
Name 
Title 

 

Public Health England has collaborated on the development of the West 

Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy and is fully supportive of it. 

Page 120



   

4 

 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1. Most of West Yorkshire benefits from very good air quality and, overall, air 

quality has improved relative to air pollution levels experienced by previous 

generations.  However, traffic in our urban centres and on busy roads result in 

levels of air pollution which have a significant impact on the health of the 

population, with those having underlying health conditions being most at risk.  

There are two pollutants of greatest concern: Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and 

Particulate Matter (PMn), which have an adverse affect on health and are a 

mainly a problem because of vehicle exhaust emissions, with diesel exhaust 

emissions contributing most to the air pollution problem. 

1.2. Unlike the smoke and smog problems of the past, nitrogen dioxide and 

particulate matter are invisible, leading to a perception that the air is “clean”.  

However, particulate matter is so fine that it is inhaled deep into the respiratory 

tract and, in the case of very fine particles and nitrogen dioxide may transfer 

into the blood stream.  A range of health problems are attributed to exposure to 

high levels of nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter, the most obvious being 

respiratory conditions, asthma and cardio-vascular disease, but evidence is now 

also showing an association with cancer, strokes,  low birth-weight babies and 

even childhood cognitive development.  These health conditions impact both on 

quality of life and life expectancy.  The Public Health Outcomes Indicator for air 

pollution points to the equivalent of one in twenty deaths in West Yorkshire each 

year being attributable to poor air quality. 

1.3. Nitrogen dioxide and particulates, together with other air pollutants, have been 

set an upper air quality limit value that the general population should not be 

exposed to and are legally binding through EU and UK law.  The urban areas of 

West Yorkshire have been identified as having some of highest levels of air 

pollution in the UK, with only London showing higher levels at a regional level.  

Current projections indicate that concentrations of nitrogen dioxide will not fall 

below the limit values in some parts of West Yorkshire until after 2030.  

Continued failure to meet the limit values will put the UK Government at risk of 

legal action being taken against it under European law, with the further risk of 

any fine imposed on the UK Government being passed down to local authorities 

if their action, or in-action, has contributed to the limit value being exceeded.  

Legal action has already been taken against the UK Government by Client 

Earth for the continued breach of the limit values in both the European Courts 

and UK Supreme Court  It is therefore important, not least for the protection of 

public health, that all public bodies work together to achieve compliance with 

the limit values by the earliest possible date. 

1.4. We know that traffic-related air pollution is the main reason why people are 

exposed to levels of air pollution which can damage health, but our society and 

economy is structured around the effective and efficient movement of people 

Page 121



 

5 

 

and goods.  The challenge is to reduce emissions, without adversely impacting 

on the economy and our social expectations.  Conversely, this is also an 

opportunity for our society and economy to benefit from the innovation and 

activity that will lead us to a low emission future. 

1.5. We already know a lot about the concentrations of air pollutants in the region 

and where air pollution is highest, however, we need to build on our existing 

knowledge to help inform decision-making so that the most cost-effective and 

viable options to deliver air quality improvements are made, which do not have 

unintended adverse economic, social or environmental impacts. 

1.6. No single action will lead to improved air quality, but a range of actions and 

activity is required at a local, regional, national and European level in order to 

achieve the desired reduction in emissions.  This Strategy considers the local 

and regional activity required to reduce emissions, having regard to the national 

and European context.  The Strategy is a collaboration between West Yorkshire 

authorities and recognises that the actions that will have greatest impact are 

ones which are implemented across the region, such as regional transport 

policy, economic growth, housing, spatial planning, infrastructure developments 

and behaviour change. 

1.7. This Strategy has four main themes: 

• Evidence for Change 

• Creating a Low Emission Future 

• Reducing Transport Emissions 

• Controlling Emissions from non-Transport Sources 

1.8. The first theme: Evidence for Change, explores the evidence which is driving 

the need for change, including the impact on health and the legal consequences 

of not taking action.  Evidence arising from Low Emission Zone feasibility 

studies and work by local authorities in their role in assessing local air quality 

has identified where air quality is poor and what causes the main air pollution 

problems.  We know that older diesel vehicles cause the most significant air 

quality issues and exposure to poor air quality is highest in urban areas, and 

when people live near to busy roads areas of traffic congestion.  Evidence 

suggests that action targeting the most polluting vehicles which operate mainly 

in urban areas, for example older diesel buses, will achieve the most significant 

air quality and health benefits.  Action to improve air quality can, in most cases, 

also deliver additional benefits by reducing carbon dioxide emissions and 

reducing environmental noise. 

1.9. The second theme: Creating a Low Emission Future, considers what needs 

to be done to shape the places where we live and work, how we travel and the 

Page 122



 

6 

 

choices we make so that low emission travel becomes part of normal everyday 

life.  The WYLES will help inform other strategies and policies to achieve this.  

Notable strategic plans include the Single Transport Plan and Strategic 

Economic Plans developed by WYCA, and Local Development Plans produced 

by Planning Authorities, but other policies and plans, for example on Carbon 

Management, Procurement and Commissioning of Services can also influence 

how the low emission future is achieved and how the places where we work and 

live are shaped.  An Air Quality & Planning Technical Guide has been 

developed as part of the WYLES to assess the air quality impact from new 

development and help quantify the level of mitigation required to make 

developments sustainable.  The West Yorkshire Authorities will use this Guide 

to help shape new developments, for example by creating electric charging 

infrastructure, so that ulta-low emission vehicles become a realistic and viable 

alternative for more people. 

1.10. Changing behaviour is a key element of delivering a low emission future.  The 

car has become, and will continue to be, a part of everyday life for most people, 

but increasingly people are interested in alternative travel options and journey 

planning, with active travel (walking and cycling) – the ultimate low emission 

vehicle – being increasingly important.  The WYLES can be used to compliment 

the travel planning and active travel strategies across West Yorkshire. 

1.11. The WYLES will also help raise awareness of the impact that emissions, 

particularly from vehicles, have on air quality and health.  It can be confusing 

picture: for many years diesel engines have been seen as better for the 

environment because of their lower CO2 emissions compared to petrol, but we 

know that diesel engines emit higher levels of nitrogen dioxide and particulates 

than their petrol equivalent and so contribute more to air quality problems.  The 

WYLES will help to educate and inform so that everyone, from key decision 

makers to individuals considering their next vehicle purchase, will be better 

informed about the health and environmental consequences of the choices and 

decisions they make. 

1.12. Low Emission Zones (LEZ) are one way in which local authorities can regulate 

emissions from vehicles in urban centres, by only allowing vehicles into zoned 

areas which emit a low level of exhaust emissions.  Most modern towns and 

cities benefit from some form of traffic management, for example pedestrianised 

areas, cycle-only routes, bus-lanes and bus-gates are now an integral part of 

town and city centres.  However, outside London, there are very few traffic 

management areas based on vehicle emission standards and there are 

complexities around implementing such schemes.  Low Emission Zone 

feasibility studies have been carried out for Leeds and Bradford and these are 

considered in the WYLES.  Although LEZs can reduce vehicle emissions within 

a defined area, more work needs to be undertaken in terms of the practical 

implementation and economic impact of implementing Low Emission Zones, but 

Page 123



 

7 

 

remain an option for regulatory control if voluntary measures fail to achieve the 

aims of this Strategy. 

1.13. Creating a Low Emission Future will also require public authorities to lead by 

example.  Local authorities operate over 3,000 fleet vehicles and employ over 

30,000 thousand people across the region which provides the potential to 

influence the uptake of low emission vehicles, both as part of their business 

operations and in the wider population.  Local authorities will carry out fleet 

reviews to see how low emission vehicles can be incorporated into the vehicle 

mix, and will promote the uptake of ulta-low emission vehicles with their own 

employees.  Public authorities can also influence others through the 

commissioning of services and the procurement of goods and so consideration 

will be given to how this influence can be used to encourage contractors and 

service providers to reduce their emissions when awarding contracts.   

1.14. Theme 3 – Reducing Transport Emissions, considers each of the main 

transport modes which contribute to local air pollution problems.  The emphasis 

is on reducing overall emissions by moving to cleaner fuels and technologies, 

such as electric, hybrid-electric, natural gas, LPG and hydrogen, and also 

reducing emissions from conventional diesel and petrol driven vehicles.  There 

are many factors to be taken into account when choosing a new vehicle, 

whether this be an individual, bus company, taxi driver or fleet manager.  

Decisions are heavily influenced by previous purchase choices and affordability 

– particularly initial purchase price.  Because alternative fuels and technologies 

are relatively new to the market there is greater uncertainty about choosing 

something different and initial purchase costs can seem prohibitive.  Work is 

required to better understand the barriers to ULEV uptake and work with 

individuals and companies to make low emission vehicles a viable and 

affordable alternative.  The following transport modes are considered in the 

WYLES: 

• Private Cars – Car use is a part of everyday life for most people, but with 

nearly one million cars in the region, accounting for 78% of the 9.8 billion 

miles driven on West Yorkshire roads each year, they are a significant 

contributor to overall emissions which impact on air quality.  Diesel cars have 

also grown in popularity, with a three-fold increase in the last decade, 

however diesel cars can produce 22 times more particulate exhaust 

emissions and four times more NOx emissions than petrol cars, which is one 

of the reasons why air quality targets have not been achieved across the UK.  

Ultra-low emission vehicles, such as plug-in electric cars, are becoming 

increasingly popular as more people are seeing the benefits that ULEVs can 

bring, including: lower running costs, zero road tax, Government “plug-in 

grant” towards purchase costs as well as the environmental benefits.  

However, ULEVs still represent less than 0.05% of cars in West Yorkshire 

and more work needs to be done to promote ultra-low emission vehicles as a 

Page 124



 

8 

 

viable option for more people.  Emissions from traditional (diesel and petrol) 

engine technology will reduce as new cars come into the market, but this will 

take a long time and therefore the WYLES will support the growth of ultra-low 

emission fuels and technologies in the region. 

• Buses – as a public transport option, buses are part of the solution, but, 

because they are mainly diesel powered, also contribute to the air pollution 

problem; particularly in towns and cities where air quality is poorest.  Bus 

companies typically operate buses for a long time and older buses produce 

higher emissions than modern equivalents.  The majority of bus services are 

operated by private companies on a commercial basis, however, the WYLES 

will be used to support bus operators to accelerate bus replacement 

programmes; operate newer, cleaner buses in urban areas; fit NOx and 

particulate abatement technology on buses; and consider low emission 

alternatives in order to reduce emissions from buses. 

• Trains – trains, like buses, are part of the public transport solution, however, 

a considerable number of train routes in the region have not been electrified 

and therefore diesel engines continue to be used and contribute to the overall 

air pollution problem, particularly in urban stations, such as Leeds and 

Bradford.  The WYLES supports the move to electrify more train routes in the 

region and reduce the reliance on diesel engine trains. 

• Commercial Vehicles and Freight – West Yorkshire has some of the 

busiest strategic motorway networks in the UK and is a hub for major 

logistics and distribution companies.  Consequently, the number of HGVs on 

the road network contribute significantly to overall air pollution.  Recent years 

have also seen an increase in the number of light goods vehicles (LGVs), 

which may be attributed to an increase in internet sales, home deliveries and 

growth in the independent service sector and trades.  The commercial sector 

can be difficult to influence, but they understand the need to reduce their 

carbon footprint, improve their “green” credentials and be socially responsible 

for the impact they have on the environment.  The WYLES will aim to support 

the commercial sector to reduce emissions from their fleet operations, for 

example by supporting driver training programmes to reduce fuel costs and 

assisting companies to understand whole-life costs of vehicles and support 

alternative, low emission fuels and technologies such as compressed natural 

gas (CNG), liquefied natural gas (LNG), dual fuel, electric and plug-in electric 

and hydrogen fuel options. 

• Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles – Nearly 11,000 thousand taxis and private 

hire vehicles operate West Yorkshire region and most are diesel cars or 

vans.  The majority of journeys are short journeys in town and city centres 

and therefore contribute to overall air pollution.  However, as well as being a 

contributor to the pollution problem, taxis and private hire can be part of the 

Page 125



 

9 

 

solution, by show-casing the potential for low-emission vehicles and 

“normalising” their use  to the thousands of passengers they carry each year.  

The WYLES will encourage and support taxi and private hire operators to 

switch to low emission alternatives and consider what policy incentives will 

support taxi and private hire operators to make the change. 

• Local Authority Fleet – local authorities operate over 3,000 cars, vans and 

heavy goods vehicles, such as refuse disposal and highway maintenance 

vehicles as part of their fleet operations.  Local authority employees also use 

their own cars, the so-called “grey fleet”, for business journeys.  The WYLES 

will seek to increase the number of low emission vehicles and ultra-low 

emission vehicles in both the local authority fleet and grey fleet.  The West 

Yorkshire Low Emissions Procurement Guide has been developed in support 

of the WYLES to assist with the whole life costing of vehicles to balance 

potentially higher purchase costs, but lower running costs of low emission 

vehicles compared to traditional fuel types and help inform procurement 

decisions.  Policy incentives, such as salary sacrifice schemes for low 

emission vehicles, will also be considered to incentivise uptake of privately 

owned ultra-low emission vehicles. 

1.15. Theme 4 – Controlling Emissions from non-Transport Sources, considers 

the other contributing factors to air quality problems in West Yorkshire.  The 

focus of this Strategy is predominantly around reducing emissions from 

transport, but there are also other sources which contribute to air pollution.  

Some emerging initiatives intended to reduce CO2 emissions, including 

Combined Heat & Power and District Heating schemes and the trend for 

biomass or wood burning, may have unintended consequences in terms of 

making air quality worse.  The WYLES will raise awareness of these potential 

conflicts and promote sustainable energy and heat production which do not 

have an adverse impact on air quality. 

 

Page 126



   

10 

 

2. WYLES Vision, Aims and Objectives 2016 – 2021 

2.1 Vision 

 

2.2 Aims 

In working towards achieving the above vision the West Yorkshire local authorities 
and West Yorkshire Combined Authority will use this Strategy to achieve the 
following aims: 
 
 

Aim 1 
Air quality in West Yorkshire will meet the air quality limit values as set out in 
EC Directive 2008/50/EC by 2020.  

Aim 2 
Contribute significantly to a reduction in emissions across the region and at 
locations where concentrations are known to be especially high. 

Aim 3 
To avoid activity which has an adverse impact on air quality and to prioritise 
activity which delivers co-benefits of cutting carbon emissions and reducing 
environmental noise. 

 
2.3 Objectives 

 
The West Yorkshire local authorities (WYLA) and West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (WYCA) will work together to achieve the above aims and will commit to the 
following strategic objectives: 
 

Objectives - Theme 1: Evidence for Change 
By 

When 
By 

Who 

T1A 

We will use the best available evidence, or develop new 
evidence where any gaps exist, to support policy making, 
funding decisions, and action planning to reduce transport and 
other emissions in the region in order to deliver the WYLES 
aims. 

  

T1B 
We will carry out relevant assessments to ensure actions to 
deliver the WYLES aims do not result in any unintended 
adverse economic, social or environmental impact. 

  

A vibrant West Yorkshire economy, where people use transport and 
power and heat their homes and businesses in a way which 

improves air quality to create a safer and healthier environment 
for people to live, work and invest. 

Page 127



 

11 

 

T1C 
We will build on the work undertaken as part of the Low 
Emission Zone Feasibility Studies to improve transport and air 
quality modelling capability for the region. 

  

T1D 
We will review local air quality management arrangements 
across the region to ensure they provide an effective means of 
supporting decision-making and action planning. 

  

T1E 
We will establish a clear performance monitoring framework in 
order to review progress towards achieving the aims of the 
WYLES. 

  

 

Objectives - Theme 2: Creating a Low Emission Future 
By 

When 
By 

Who 

T2A 
We will raise awareness of the WYLES with key stakeholders 
in order to influence other key strategies, polices and plans 
that have an impact on air quality. 

  

T2B 
We will work together to identify funding opportunities and set 
out an annual spending plan to deliver the aims and 
objectives of the WYLES. 

  

T2C 

Working with health professional and academics, we will raise 
awareness of air quality and the other environmental and 
health impacts from emissions from transport and other 
sources to influence perceptions and encourage behaviour 
change to increase active travel and low emission travel. 

  

T2D 
We will use the West Yorkshire Air Quality and Planning 
Technical Guide to help deliver sustainable developments in 
the West Yorkshire area. 

  

T2E 
We will lead by example by promoting the uptake of ultra-low 
emission vehicles within local authority fleets and by local 
authority employees. 

  

T2F 
We will use existing networks with key employers in the 
region to promote low emission vehicle alternatives in public 
and private fleet operations and vehicles used by employees. 

  

Page 128



 

12 

 

T2G 

When commissioning and procuring goods and services we 
will promote the use of low emissions criteria when awarding 
contracts under the principles of social value and sustainable 
procurement.  

  

T2H 
We will review the need to implement one or more Low 
Emission Zones within urban areas of the region. 

  

 

Objectives - Theme 3: Reducing Transport Emissions 
By 

When 
By 

Who 

T3A 

We will carry out research to better understand potential 
barriers to the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles by 
individuals and develop a package of measures that would 
overcome these. 

  

T3B 
We will work together implement the package of measures 
identified in objective T3A and seek funding opportunities and 
partnership arrangements to achieve this wherever possible.   

  

T3C 

We will work with West Yorkshire bus operators to accelerate 
the investment in newer buses and/or emissions abatement 
technology to reduce bus emissions in line with option 2 or 3 
as outlined in this Strategy. 

  

T3D 

We will work with Rail North to promote electrification of key 
railway routes within the West Yorkshire region and engage 
with train operating companies to replace older diesel trains 
operating within urban areas of the region. 

  

T3E 

We will work with the freight and logistics sector within the 
region to better understand how to support businesses to 
reduce emissions from their fleet operations and support fleet 
operators to switch to low emission alternatives, including 
developing the necessary refuelling infrastructure to support 
this.  

  

T3F 

We will work with the freight and logistics sector to review how 
more goods may be transported by alternatives to road 
transport, including rail and water transport for long-haul 
journeys and urban “last-mile” deliveries. 

  

T3G 

We will work with hackney carriage and private hire operators 
to determine how they may be supported to reduce emissions 
from taxi and private hire fleet, including demonstrating 
financial benefits; supporting funding bids and considering 
policy incentives to promote uptake of low emission taxis.  

  

Page 129



 

13 

 

T3H 

We will use the West Yorkshire Low Emissions Procurement 
Guide to review our fleets and assess whole-life costs of 
vehicles to compare low emission alternatives to diesel, and 
switch to low emission vehicles where the business case 
supports this. 

  

 

Objectives - Theme 4: Controlling Non-transport Emissions 
By 

When 
By 

Who 

T4A 

We will raise awareness with key stakeholders of potential air 
quality impacts from the introduction of urban combined heat 
and power (CHP) plants, and biomass and wood-burning to 
ensure that these do not adversely compromise local air 
quality. 

  

T4B 
We will work with industry and regulators to reduce emissions 
from industrial processes in the region and ensure emissions 
do not result in any exceedance of air quality limit values. 

  

 

 

 

Page 130



   

14 

 

3. Introduction 

3.1. Breathing clean air, which does not adversely affect health, should be a basic 

requirement of any modern society.  Air quality has improved significantly over 

recent decades from the days when thick smogs and smoke could be seen 

coming from chimneys in the region, however, we cannot yet say that the air 

which people breath in some part of West Yorkshire does not have a negative 

impact on their health. 

3.2. The “quality” of air describes its composition, and breathing clean air, without 

harmful pollutants, is something that we would all wish to achieve.  Some 

pollutants occur naturally, while others are a result of human activities, which we 

have all become used to in today’s society, such as driving a car, heating our 

homes and businesses, generating electricity and power, industrial and 

manufacturing processes and transporting goods. 

3.3. It is not possible to eliminate air pollution altogether, but steps can be taken to 

minimise the amount of pollution created and to control exposure to levels of 

pollution which negatively impact on people’s health.  Figure 1 illustrates how air 

quality becomes a problem in urban areas, as local hot-spots of pollution from 

traffic or other localised emission sources adds to background pollution resulting 

in overall air pollution levels which have a negative impact on health. 

Figure 1 - Illustration of how air pollution builds up in urban areas 

 

 

 

 

3.4. In busy town and city centres areas the overall urban background 

concentrations can exceed levels which impact on health and so all the 

population in that area can be exposed to high pollution levels.  In other cases 

Emissions from: 

Vehicles on individual roads / 
junction and local sources such as 
construction activity. 

General urban traffic and heat / 
power combustion processes. 

Wider strategic road network, 
power stations and major industry. 

Natural processes: storms, 
volcanoes, lightning, sea-salt, 
animal and plants etc. 

Page 131



 

15 

 

the urban background levels will be below threshold levels which impact on 

health and only the population near to busy roads or other localised hot-spot will 

be exposed to harmful levels of pollution. 

3.5. We know that exhaust emissions from traffic, and particularly from diesel 

vehicles, contributes most to urban background and localised air pollution and, 

therefore, the focus for the West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy (WYLES) is 

on reducing transport-related exhaust emissions over the next five years and 

beyond.  However, the WYLES will also look to shape regional and local policy 

to create a future where low emission technology becomes a normal part of 

everyday life for people and businesses in the region, and also considers other, 

non-transport emissions which may emerge as potential threats to air quality in 

the coming years. 

3.6. Everyone in West Yorkshire has a role to play in improving air quality, including 

individuals, businesses, public sector organisations and local and national 

Government.  However, the local Councils in West Yorkshire, together with the 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA), recognise that together they play a 

key role in shaping how the region develops moving forward through the 

development of economic, social and environmental policy and the allocation of 

funding.  The intention of the WYLES is to provide the strategic commitment 

from the West Yorkshire Council’s and WYCA to implement a range of actions, 

both at a policy level and practical level, to improve air quality for the people of 

West Yorkshire. 

Page 132



   

16 

 

4. Theme 1 – Evidence for Change: Health Impact 
 
4.1. Poor outdoor air quality is a contributing factor to many health problems as 

well as damaging ecosystems, biodiversity and valued habitats. The adverse 
health effects from short and long-term exposure to air pollution range from 
premature deaths caused by heart and lung disease to worsening of 
respiratory symptoms (i.e. asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
(COPD, commonly known as chronic bronchitis), which lead to a reduced 
quality of life and increased health care costs. There is also evidence linking 
air pollution with a range of cancers1 (lung and bladder in particular), low birth 
weight babies2 and subsequent neurodevelopment problems in children3. In 
2013, the World Health Organisation (WHO) classified diesel exhaust 
emissions as carcinogenic to humans4. The main health effects associated 
with the inhalation of vehicle emissions are shown in Figure 2 below: 

 
Figure 2: Main health effects of vehicle pollutants 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                             
1
 http://www.iarc.fr/en/media-centre/iarcnews/pdf/pr221_E.pdf 

2
 http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanres/article/PIIS2213-2600(13)70192-9/abstract 

3
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25229653 

4
 http://terrance.who.int/mediacentre/audio/press_briefings/ 

Page 133



 

17 

 

 
4.2. The two main pollutants of concern in urban areas are nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 

and particulate matter (PMn).  Studies have shown an association between 
nitrogen dioxide in outdoor air with adverse health effects, including reduced 
life expectance, however, it has not been clear if these effects were caused 
by NO2 itself or other pollutants (such as particulate matter) emitted from the 
same source: for example traffic will produce both NO2 and PMn emissions.  
In a statement5 recently published by the Government Committee on the 
Medical Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP), the evidence that NO2 itself is 
responsible for adverse health effects such as asthma, respiratory conditions 
and increased cardiovascular risk has strengthened substantially. 
 

4.3. Particulate matter is categorised by the particle diameter and three main 
descriptors are used: 

 
PM10 – particles smaller than 10 microns (0.01mm)  

PM2.5 – particles smaller than 2.5 microns (0.0025mm) 

PM0.1 – particles smaller than 0.1 microns (0.0001mm) 

Figure 3 below illustrates the size of this particulate matter relative to a 

human hair. 

Figure 3: Particle size relative to human hair. 

 

                                                             
5
 Statement on the Evidence for the Effects of Nitrogen Dioxide on Health, COMEAP (March 2015) 

PM10 

PM2.5 

PM0.1 

Page 134



 

18 

 

 
4.4. The small particle size means that that these pollutants are inhaled deep into 

the lung tissue and the smallest particles can pass into the bloodstream and 
be circulated around the body.  Although much remains to be understood 
about the toxicity of different particle sizes, chemical composition and particle 
structure, COMEAP reports6 a clear causal link between exposure to 
particulates and adverse impacts on health, with a clear recommendation that 
reducing the concentration of particulate matter in air will benefit public 
health. 
 

4.5. Public Health England (PHE) have developed a methodology7 for assessing 
the equivalent number of deaths and life years lost that can be attributed to 
long term exposure to particulate air pollution arising from human activity.  
Using this methodology, PHE calculate that particulate air pollution in West 
Yorkshire has a health impact equivalent to approximately one in twenty of all 
deaths: equating to around one thousand deaths and 11,000 life years lost 
each year.  These figures do not represent the actual number of individuals 
whose life has been shortened as a direct consequence of exposure to air 
pollution, rather the combined impact which air pollution has on the wider 
population: i.e. exposure to air pollution contributes a small amount to the 
deaths of a larger number of people. 

 
4.6. The Department for Health and Public Health England use the Public Health 

Outcomes Framework8 (PHOF) to determine the relative health of the 
population and includes an indicator for the number of deaths attributable to 
long term exposure to fine particulate (PM2.5) air pollution based on the PHE 
methodology.  Table 1 below shows the most recent figures from the PHOF 
indicator for West Yorkshire and the equivalent life years lost.   

 
Table1: Estimated fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air 

pollution (2012 data). 

 
Percentage 

mortality 
attributable to 

PM2.5 

Number of 
registered 

deaths  
(over 30*) 

Equivalent number of 
deaths attributable to 

exposure to air pollution 
(PM2.5) 

West Yorkshire 4.9% 18,378 901 

Bradford 4.7% 4,028 189 

Calderdale 4.4% 1,797 80 

Kirklees 4.7% 3,437 162 

Leeds 5.0% 6,108 306 

Wakefield 5.4% 3,008 163 

*The PHOF indicator excludes deaths from lower age groups as long-term exposure to air pollution is 
unlikely to have been a contributory factor. 

                                                             
6
 Statement on the Evidence for Differential Health Effects of particulate Matter According to Source or 

Components, COMEAP (March 2015) 
7
 Estimating Local Mortality Burdens Associated with Particulate Air Pollution, Public Health England, 2014 

8
 Public Health Outcomes Framework: Indicator 3.01 – Fraction of all-cause adult mortality attributable to 

anthropogenic particulate air pollution (measured as fine particulate matter, PM2.5) (Public Health England). 

Page 135



 

19 

 

 

4.7. The indicator shows that some local authority areas have slightly higher 
mortality rates due to air pollution than others, which is indicative of the 
differences in pollution sources and proximity to where people live: for 
example the Wakefield district has a greater proportion of heavy vehicles 
(which emit more particulates) on the strategic motorway network than other 
areas. 

 
4.8. In 2010 COMEAP9 produced a detailed report on the mortality effects on the 

long-term exposure to air pollution which produced some significant 
headlines, including that, in 2008, particulate matter had an effect on 
mortality in the UK equivalent to 29,000 deaths, with an associated total loss 
of life of 340,000 life-years. 

 
4.9. The Department for the Environment and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), the 

Government department with responsibility for air quality, also report10 that air 
pollution reduces life expectancy of every person in the UK by an average of 
six months, with an estimated annual cost to society of up to £16 billion per 
year. 

 
4.10. Premature death is the ultimate health impact associated with air pollution, 

but poor air quality particularly affects people with pre-existing respiratory and 
cardiac problems. It can be seen from Table 2 that the number hospital 
admissions for asthma, coronary obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and 
heart conditions (in this instance myocardial infarctions), in West Yorkshire 
are considerably higher than those for England as a whole.  If the incidence 
rates for England were to apply in West Yorkshire there would be 678 fewer 
asthma admissions, 1,245 fewer for COPD and 463 fewer heart attacks. 
These figures give an indication of the levels of ill health and the size of the 
‘high risk’ population that will benefit most from improvements in air quality in 
the region. 

 

Table 2:  West Yorkshire hospital admissions for Asthma, COPD and MI 

2012/13 

                                                             
9
 The Mortality Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Particulate Air Pollution in the United Kingdom, COMEAP 

(2010) 
10

 Protecting and Enhancing our Urban and Natural Environment to Improve Public Health and Wellbeing, 

DEFRA, (accessed May 2015). 

Cause of Admission 

to Hospital 2012/13 

Admissions per 1000 

population 

Additional 

admissions in West 

Yorkshire compared 

to England 
West 

Yorkshire  England  

Asthma 1.39 1.09 678 

COPD 2.63 2.07 1,245 

Myocardial 

Infarction 
1.39 1.18 463 

Page 136



 

20 

 

 

4.11. In addition to the more predictable health impacts from exposure to air 

pollution such as those linked to respiratory and cardiac function, studies also 

suggest associations with other adverse health outcomes, including 

strokes11,which increases the risk of vascular dementia, low birth-weight 

babies12  and cognitive development in schoolchildren13. 

 

                                                             
11

 Short term exposure to air pollution and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis, BMJ March 2015; 

350:h1295 
12

 Maternal Exposure to Particulate Air Pollution and Term Birth Weight: A Multi-Country Evaluation of Effect 

and Heterogeneity, Environmental Health Perspectives, (March 2013) 
13

 Association between Traffic-Related Air Pollution in Schools and Cognitive Development in Primary School 

Children: A Prospective Cohort Study, PLOS Medicine (March 2015) 

 

Page 137



   

21 

 

5. Theme 1 – Evidence for Change: Legal Requirements 
 
5.1. Although improving public health is the main driver for the WYLES, there is 

also a legal imperative to improve air quality.  Air Quality Directive 
2008/50/EC14 sets out the obligations for Member States in terms of 
assessing ambient air quality and ensuring Limit Values (LV) for certain 
pollutants are not exceeded.  The requirements of the Directive have been 
transposed into domestic law through the Environment Act 1995 and 
subordinate regulation15,16. 
 

5.2. The UK Government is responsible for assessing ambient air quality and for 
meeting the Limit Values and targets set out in the Air Quality Directive.  In 
addition, local authorities are required to carry out a Local Air Quality 
Management (LAQM) function to review and assess air quality within local 
authority administrative boundaries.  The LAQM function requires local 
authorities to determine whether national Air Quality Objectives (AQO) are 
being achieved; declare Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) where 
AQOs are being exceeded, and to work towards achieving compliance with 
the AQOs by implementing and Air Quality Action Plans (AQAP).  The Air 
Quality Objectives which local authorities are required to work towards are 
very similar as the Limit Values which the UK Government is required to 
achieve.  Appendix 1 shows a table of the National Air Quality Objectives 
Levels and EU Limit Values for all pollutants.  Table 3 shows the levels for 
the two most relevant pollutants: nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter. 

 
Table 3: Summary of Air Quality Objectives, Limit Values and Targets 

Pollutant 

National  

Air 

Quality 

Objectives 

Date to be 

achieved / 

retained 

EU Limit 

Value 

Date to be 

achieved / 

retained 

NO2 (annual mean) 40µgm-3 31/12/2005 40µgm-3 1/1/2010 

PM10 (annual mean) 40µgm-3 31/12/2004 40µgm-3 1/1/2005 

PM2.5 (annual mean) N/A 
Stage 1: 25µgm-3 1/1/2015 

Stage 2: 20µgm-3 1/1/2020 

 

5.3. It is important to note that the above limit values and objective levels do not 

mean that levels below these values do not affect human health.  For 

example, the World Health Organisation (WHO) clearly state17 that there is 

no “safe” level of air pollution and therefore policy makers determine air 

quality limit values on the basis of the acceptability of risk, which may differ 

                                                             
14

 DIRECTIVE 2008/50/EC on Ambient Air Quality and Cleaner Air for Europe, 21 May 2008 
15

 Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 
16

 Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000 
17

 Air Quality Guidelines – Global Update 2005 (World Health Organisation) 

Page 138



 

22 

 

between different societies.  The National Objective Levels and European 

Limit Values for particulate matter in Table 3 are above those recommended 

by the World Health Organisation; who suggest guideline values of 20µgm-3 

and 10µgm-3 for PM10 and PM2.5 respectively.  Even still, a review18 of the 

evidence on which the air quality guidelines were based have shown that 

exposure to levels of particulate air pollution below 10µgm-3 can have shown 

adverse health effects and demonstrate that there is no safe threshold of 

exposure. 

5.4. The National Objective Levels and EU Limit Values are therefore set in a 

policy and legal context, rather than a pure health-based context, in order to 

achieve a staged reduction in the level of particulate air pollution.  Member 

States are required to achieve a reduction in PM2.5 exposure relevant to a 

2010 baseline Average Exposure Indicator (AEI).  The 2010 AEI baseline 

was calculated to be 13µgm-3, and the UK is required to achieve a 15% 

reduction by 2015, with a further reduction by 2020.  These targets, even 

though they are above the WHO Guideline values, are considered to be 

challenging and policy makers will be required to make difficult decisions in 

order to achieve these targets within the above timeframe.  

5.5. The latest DEFRA reports19,20 indicate that the West Yorkshire Urban Area 

(one of 43 zones in the UK used for EU reporting on air quality) is meeting 

the targets for PM10 and PM2.5, although recognises that reducing particulate 

exposure continues to be a challenge.  However, the annual mean limit value 

for nitrogen dioxide continues to exceed the EU Limit Values.  The latest 

DEFRA predictions indicate that parts of the region have a maximum annual 

mean level of 73µgm-3 in 2015, falling to 53 µgm-3 by 2020.  Only the Greater 

London zone is predicted to have higher concentrations of nitrogen dioxide in 

the UK and the West Yorkshire zone is only one of three of the 43 zones in 

the UK where the Limit Value of 40µgm-3 is not anticipated to be met until 

after 2030 (more than 20 years after the original date for compliance). 

5.6. The European Commission has commenced infraction proceedings against 

the UK Government for failing to meet the Limit Value for nitrogen dioxide 

and has indicated that it would like [the UK Government] “to achieve full 

compliance with existing air quality standards by 2020 at the latest”.  More 

recently, in a case brought by Client Earth21, the Supreme Court ruled that 

the UK Government should submit new Air Quality Plans to the European 

Commission by the 31st December 2015 on how it intends to achieve 

compliance with the limit value for nitrogen dioxide in the shortest possible 

time.  The implication being that continued failure to meet the limit value 

                                                             
18

 REVIHAAP Project: Technical Report, World Health Organisation (2013) 
19

 Updated projections for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) compliance, DEFRA, July 2014 
20

 Air Pollution in the UK, DEFRA, September 2014 
21

 R (on the application of ClientEarth) (Appellant) v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs (Respondent) [2015] UKSC 28, 29 April 2015 

Page 139



 

23 

 

beyond 2020, would result in further legal action and possible infraction fines 

against the UK Government. 

5.7. Meeting air quality obligations is not the role for Government alone.  

Achieving air quality improvements will require input from a range of 

stakeholders including:  transport planning, land-use planning, economic 

development, public health as well engagement and support from private and 

other public sector organisations. 

5.8. DEFRA has written to all local authorities seeking their co-operation in 

achieving compliance with the air quality limit values, adding: “we feel we 

ought to remind you of the discretionary powers in Part 2 of the 

Localism Act under which the Government could require responsible 

authorities to pay all or part of an infraction fine”.  Given that the West 

Yorkshire zone is not predicted to achieve compliance with the limit value for 

nitrogen dioxide until after 2030, there is an urgent need to ensure that 

responsible local authorities are doing all that they can to achieve compliance 

with the limit value by 2020 as any further delay in achieving the air quality 

limits could lead to EU fines being passed to local authorities. 

5.9. Any EU fine may be a lump sum amount and further on-going penalty for 

continued non-compliance.  A complex methodology applies to determining 

the level of fine and is affected by the relevant Member States’ GDP, the 

seriousness of the breach and the length of time the breach has been 

ongoing.  The UK Government has, to date, never been fined under infraction 

proceedings and so there is no UK precedent, although examples cited in 

Government guidance22 includes a French fishing case in which a fine of 

€20m lump sum and a further fine of €58m every six months was imposed 

until compliance was achieved. 

                                                             
22

 Policy Statement for Part 2 of the Localism Act 2011, Department for Communities and Local Government 

(2012) 

Page 140



   

24 

 

6. Theme 1 – Evidence for Change: Where is Air Quality a Problem? 
 

6.1. There is no single defining map which clearly shows air quality in the West 
Yorkshire region, however a number of sources can be used to better understand 
where air quality is of greatest concern. 

 
Local Air Quality Management Information 
 
6.2. As outlined above, local authorities have responsibility to review and assess air 

quality in their areas.  A combination of measuring the concentration of pollutants 
at locations which are of concern and computer modelling software using data, for 
example traffic data, is used to determine air pollution levels.  Whereas the reports 
and modelled data provided by DEFRA at a national level are at a relatively large 
scale (1km2), local air quality monitoring and modelling can provide information at a 
local level and identify “hot-spot” locations. 

 
6.3. When local authorities identify locations where air pollution levels exceed the 

National Air Quality Objectives (Appendix 1 and Table 3 above) they must declare 
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).  Twenty-nine AQMAs have been 
declared in the West Yorkshire area declared, 28 because of NO2 concentrations 
and one because of particulate (PM10) concentrations.  Figure 4 below is an extract 
from DEFRAs interactive map of AQMAs declared in England, together with a map 
of the AQMAs and areas of concern within West Yorkshire. 

 
Figure 4: Air Quality Management Areas Declared by Local Authorities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 141



 

25 

 

6.4. The way in which individual local authorities declare AQMAs does differ, for 
example some authorities declare only the specific area where exposure exceeds 
Air Quality Objectives, whereas others, such as some AQMAs declared by 
Wakefield Council, cover not only the area of exposure, but also the surrounding 
area and road network which contributes to the Air Quality Objective being 
exceeded at a location.  This difference in approach, when considered in a regional 
context, can give a skewed impression of where air quality problems are most 
significant and do not necessarily assist decision-making at a West Yorkshire level.  
Further work is proposed to provide a consistent approach across the region in 
order to aid decision-making. 
 

6.5. What the local air quality monitoring and modelling work does show is that there 
are a number of localised hot-spots within urban areas and along the arterial road 
network and at road junctions where air pollution is of greatest concern. 

 
Low Emission Zone Studies 

 
6.6. In 2014 Leeds and Bradford Council’s carried out Low Emission Zone feasibility 

studies (see Section 7), which included modelling emissions from transport and 
other sources.  This has subsequently been extended to provide information across 
the West Yorkshire region.  Figure 5 shows a map of modelled concentrations of 
NO2 across the region. 
 

Figure 5: Modelled Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations in West Yorkshire (2015) 

  

Page 142



 

26 

 

6.7. The above maps show that for most of the geographical area of West Yorkshire air 
quality is relatively good, however, it is also clear that air quality is a problem in 
some towns and cities and, with the exception of a small number of industrial 
operations, is largely due to emissions from traffic within urban areas along major 
roads. 

 

Page 143



   

27 

 

7. Theme 1 – Evidence for Change: Low Emission Zone Studies 
 
7.1. Low Emission Zones (LEZ) are a method of traffic management which restrict 

access to a controlled Zone, so that only the cleaner vehicles can enter the Zone, 
or more polluting vehicles are subject to a financial penalty.  Traffic management in 
and around towns and city centres is not unusual and there are many examples of 
bus lanes, bus gates, pedestrianised zones and access restrictions being placed 
on public highways using Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO).  Low Emissions Zones 
are common across Europe23 and can be found in cities such as London24, 
Oxford25 and Norwich.  London is also currently consulting on plans to introduce an 
Ultra-Low Emission Zone26 to limit access to the centre of London to only the 
cleanest of vehicles from 2018 onwards. 
 

7.2. LEZ’s can apply to different types of vehicles and emission standards, but deciding 
which restrictions should apply in order to deliver the greatest air quality benefits is 
done through modelling of various scenarios.  DEFRA27 has developed a Cost v 
Benefit assessment tool: Marginal Abatement Cost Curve (MACC) to test out 
relative scenarios that could be implemented through a LEZ approach in order to 
accelerate compliance with meeting the NO2 limit values.  DEFRA have tested 
many different scenarios, but found that targeting a LEZ at the most polluting heavy 
duty vehicles (lorries and buses), would deliver the most significant reduction in 
NO2 emissions relative to the cost to implement the scheme.  The DEFRA study 
recognised that testing various options that would deliver air quality benefits would 
be only the first step and further feasibility work would be required at a local level to 
determine whether a scheme would be practical and acceptable to implement. 

 
7.3. In 2014, LEZ feasibility studies were carried out by Bradford and Leeds Councils, 

involving joint working with public health professionals.  The Studies involved the 
collection detailed traffic data for the Leeds and Bradford areas with subsequent 
modelling of various scenarios to determine the impact on vehicle emissions and 
air quality. All the scenarios which were tested can be found in Appendix 2, 
however, four scenarios were identified that would lead to the most cost effective 
air quality improvements, these are: 

 

• Reducing emissions from buses in urban areas. 

• Reducing emissions from Heavy and Light Goods Vehicles. 

• Reducing emissions from diesel cars (including taxis / private hire) in urban 

areas. 

• Reducing all vehicle journeys in urban areas by 10%. 

 
7.4. The air quality improvements associated with each scenario was subsequently 

used to inform a Health Impact Assessment (HIA).  The HIA was able to quantify 
the specific health benefits that each scenario could bring as a result of lowering 

                                                             
23

 www.lowemissionzones.eu  
24

 https://www.tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/low-emission-zone 
25

 http://www.oxford.gov.uk/PageRender/decEH/OxfordLowEmissionZone.htm 
26

 https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/environment/ultra-low-emission-zone 
27

 Air Quality Plans for the achievement of EU air quality limit values for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) in the UK, draft 

Overview Document, Defra, June 2011 

Page 144



 

28 

 

PM2.5 and NO2 emissions for future years compared with the 2012 baseline.  The 
HIA findings for each scenario can be seen in Table 4 below.  It should be noted 
that not all health benefits associated with air quality improvements are included in 
current HIA methodologies, for example increased uptake of active travel and 
health impacts with weaker associations to air quality, are not taken into account, 
and therefore these results are likely to under-estimate the actual health benefits. 

 
Table 4: Estimated Health Benefits from Low Emission Zone Scenarios28 

 
 LEZ Modelled Scenario 

All pre-euro 4 
HGVs and 

buses 
upgraded to 

euro6 by 
2016 

All pre-euro 
5 buses 

upgraded 
to euro 6 by 

2021 

Reduction in 
number of 

diesel cars from 
50% to 20% (as 

in the year 
2000) 

10% 
reduction in 
number of 

car journeys 
by 2021 

 
Approximate health benefit across Leeds and 

Bradford population 
Deaths (PM2.5) -15 -18 -18 -19 

Cardiopulmonary deaths 
(PM2.5) 

-8 -11 -10 -10 

Coronary events (PM2.5) 
(Bradford only) 

-24 -45 -45 -45 

Low birth weight babies 
<2500g (PM2.5) -12 -14 -14 -15 

Pre-term births (PM2.5) -3 -4 -4 -4 

Low birth weight babies 
<2500g (NO2) 

-19 -38 -45 -37 

Childhood asthma 
development <18yrs (NO2)* -254 -506 -596 -494 

Annual years of life gained 
for newborns (all births 
combined) 

+267 +322 +321 +346 

* Childhood asthma development is a ‘one-off’ health impact and is not additive on an annual basis 

 

7.5. The above scenarios show direct health benefits to individuals, but, preventing Ill-

health also provides an economic benefit by saving on healthcare costs to the NHS 

and Social Services.  The University of York, Centre for Health Economics (funded 

by the  Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care - 

Yorkshire and Humber) used health economics methodology to quantify the 

economic benefit the above scenarios could potentially bring.  The methodology 

uses an approach commonly used by the NHS to determine the relative cost 

effectiveness of different health interventions.  The technique uses the concept of 

                                                             
28

 Cooper D et al, West Yorks LEZ Feasibility Study, HIA Methodology & Preliminary Findings, April 2014 

Page 145



 

29 

 

Quality Adjusted Life Years (QALY) and assigns a notional cost (or saving) per 

QALY of £20,000 to £30,000.  Table 5 shows the key findings of the potential 

health economic benefits from the various Low Emission Zone scenarios. 

Table 5: Health Economic Benefits from Low Emission Zone Scenarios29 

 
 LEZ Modelled Scenario 

All pre-euro 4 
HGVs and 

buses 
upgraded to 

euro6 by 
2016 

All pre-euro 
5 buses 

upgraded 
to euro 6 by 

2021 

Reduction in 
number of 

diesel cars from 
50% to 20% (as 

in the year 
2000) 

10% 
reduction in 
number of 

car journeys 
by 2021 

 
Approximate health benefit across Leeds and 

Bradford population 
Deaths (PM2.5) -15 -18 -18 -19 

Cardiopulmonary deaths 
(PM2.5) 

-8 -11 -10 -10 

Coronary events (PM2.5) 
(Bradford only) 

-24 -45 -45 -45 

Low birth weight babies 
<2500g (PM2.5) -12 -14 -14 -15 

Pre-term births (PM2.5) -3 -4 -4 -4 

Low birth weight babies 
<2500g (NO2) 

-19 -38 -45 -37 

Childhood asthma 
development <18yrs (NO2)* -254 -506 -596 -494 

Annual years of life gained 
for newborns (all births 
combined) 

+267 +322 +321 +346 

Annual Health Cost Saving £3,880,242 £5,514,536 £5,530,811 £5,682,536 

One-off health Cost Saving 
– Cases of Childhood 
Asthma* 

£4,322,064 £8,610,096 £10,141,536 £8,405,904 

* Childhood asthma development is a ‘one-off’ health impact and is not additive on an annual basis 

 

7.6. This data shows the potential economic benefits to health and social care provision 

by taking action to improve air quality.  It should be noted that the figures only 

represent data provided as part of the Leeds and Bradford Low Emission 

Feasibility Studies and therefore the savings would be much higher if implemented 

across West Yorkshire.  
                                                             
29

 Costs and Benefits Associated with Emissions: Case Study exploring the Health Impacts of West Yorkshire Low 

Emission Zone. Loma et al, University of York, Centre for Health Economics (2014) 

Page 146



 

30 

 

7.7. Studies in California, where there have been aggressive emission reduction 

policies on place for the last 20 years support these findings30.  Where they have 

reduced air pollution they have seen improvements in health and lung function and 

lung growth in children. 

7.8. Tables 4 and 5 above show that different scenarios can be tested to better 

understand the relative impact that each has in order to help inform decision-

making.  However, implementation of any particular scenario has to be seen in a 

wider context of the economic, social and environmental considerations as well as 

the deliverability of any preferred option. 

7.9. The evidence from the LEZ studies suggests that implementing a LEZ traffic 

management scheme would appear to be an effective mechanism for targeting the 

most polluting vehicles and improving air quality in urban areas.  However, before 

deciding whether the implement a LEZ and if so, what type of vehicles should it 

apply to, what emission standard should apply and when should it be implemented 

(to allow sufficient lead-in time).  In addition, concerns regarding potential 

economic impacts, practical implementation considerations, and possible 

unforeseen consequences, such as increased fares on buses and potential 

displacement of more polluting vehicles would all need to be considered before 

implementing a LEZ. 

7.10. Both Leeds and Bradford Councils have considered the findings of the Low 

Emission Feasibility study and have concluded that further detailed work is 

required to understand the impacts, benefits and practical issues around the 

implementation of Low Emission Zones.  Before any final decision is made on 

using the LEZ approach air quality improvements are to be pursued through a Low 

Emission Strategy approach and increased partnership working with key 

stakeholders.  This WYLES takes forward the recommendations from Leeds and 

Bradford LEZ feasibility studies at a regional level. 

                                                             
30

 http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa1414123 

Page 147



   

31 

 

8. Theme 2 – Creating a Low Emission Future: Influencing Policy, Strategies and 

Plans 

8.1. The WYLES should be used to help inform and influence other relevant strategies 

and policies, both at a regional and local level.  Figure 7 illustrates how the 

WYLES cuts across and can be used to inform a range of strategies, policies and 

plans that different public bodies are engaged in delivering.  Some of the key 

policy areas which the Strategy can inform and influence are discussed below, 

but these are by no means exhaustive. 

 

8.2. Transport is fundamentally linked to economic growth through the movement of 

people and goods and the delivery of services.  Economic growth and 

employment delivers significant benefits, not least the benefits to health, and the 

aim of the WYLES is to support sustainable economic growth by providing the 

regional context for what is needed to improve air quality moving forward.  

Decision-makers at all levels should use the WYLES to influence their own 

strategies, polices and plans, and West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s  Strategic 

Economic Plan and Single Transport Plan, provides a real opportunity to translate 

the objectives of the WYLES into  positive action. 

 

8.3. Local authorities are required to produce Local Plans and policies which 

determine where development, such as housing and employment, is required.  

The underlying theme of development is that it should be sustainable, having 

regard to the relevant economic, social and environmental factors.  This Strategy 

should be used to inform local authorities when making local plans and taking 

planning decisions. 

 

8.4. The WYLES focuses on air quality, with a primary focus on transport emissions, 

because this has the most direct and significant impact on health.  The number of 

deaths attributable to poor air quality is one of a number of relevant public health 

indicators that Directors of Public Health and other health professionals are 

focussed on improving.  The WYLES should therefore be used to help inform 

health professionals working across the region in what they can do to contribute 

to the objectives contained within the Strategy and ultimately improve health 

outcomes. 

 

8.5. The aims and objectives within this Strategy look to improve air quality, but 

emissions from transport also make a significant contribution to carbon dioxide 

emissions and climate change.  Policy makers, businesses and individuals are 

aware of the need to reduce their carbon footprint and this strategy can be used 

to deliver co-benefits of improving air quality and helping to tackle climate change.  

Policy decisions should be taken which maximise these co-benefits, but where 

Page 148



 

32 

 

there is a potential for policy conflict, the option which has the greatest benefit, or 

least impact, on public health should be chosen. 

 

8.6. In the way that the WYLES can deliver improvements to the climate change 

agenda, the same can also be said of the potential co-benefits for reducing 

environmental noise, for which there is a growing evidence-base as having an 

adverse impact on health31.  DEFRA have produced maps32 of the roads which 

cause the highest noise exposure levels:  unsurprisingly there is a strong 

correlation between these roads and the traffic on roads which produce emissions 

which also impact on air quality.  Highways Authorities are required to take action 

in areas where people are exposed to high noise levels from road traffic and 

although not all actions to improve air quality will necessarily result in 

improvements in noise it is very unlikely that there would be any negative impact 

and more likely that there would be positive beneficial impact of reducing noise. 

 

                                                             
31

 Public Health Outcomes Framework – Indicator 1.14: Noise Complaints and Exposure to Noise, Public Health 

England 
32

 Noise Maps for England, DEFRA: http://services.defra.gov.uk/wps/portal/noise/ 

 

Page 149



   

33 

 

Figure 6:  West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy and links to other key Policy Areas 

Low 

Emission 

Strategy 

Air Quality 

Noise 

Carbon 

Reduction 

Public Health 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

Highways Authority 

Passenger Transport 

Directors of Public Health 

Public Health England 

Public Authority Solicitors 

Public Sector Procurement 

Sustainability Officers 

Business & Commerce 

Environmental Health 

STAKEHOLDERS POLICY AREAS DRIVERS 

Improved 

Health 

Outcomes 

Sustainable 

Development 

“Green” 

Economy 

“Cleaner” 

Transport 

Legal 

Compliance 

Social Value 

Procurement 

Carbon 

Reduction 

OUTCOMES 

A clean and healthy 

place to live, work 

and invest. 

VISION 

Planning Authority 

P
age 150



   

34 

 

9. Theme 2 – Creating a Low Emission Future: Place-Shaping 

Planning Policy 

9.1. Sustainability is at the heart of national planning policy, whereby the 

environmental, social and economic impact of development must be taken into 

account when making Local Plans and when taking planning decisions. The 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)33 recognises the importance of air 

quality and sustainable transport when deciding where new development is 

needed and when determining individual planning applications. 

9.2. The NPPF states that planning policies should: 

“Sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national 

objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality 

Management Areas and the cumulative impacts on air quality from individual 

sites in local areas. Planning decisions should ensure that any new 

development in Air Quality Management Areas is consistent with local air 

quality action plans”. 

9.3. National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)34 provides further detailed 

guidance and states Local Plans should: 

• Consider the potential cumulative impact on air quality from developments. 

• Consider the impact of point-sources of air pollution, for example industrial 

emissions. 

• Where air quality may be unacceptable, identifying measures for offsetting 

the impact including supporting measures in an air quality action plan or 

low emissions strategy. 

9.4. West Yorkshire local authorities are at various stages in their production of 

their Local Plans, with some authorities having already adopted their Plans and 

others in the development and consultation phases.  Planning authorities are 

guided by NPPF in the preparation of their Local Plans and this Strategy can 

help shape their development and implementation to ensure developments are 

sustainable moving forward. 

Development Management 

9.5. As well as considering air quality impact when making Local Plans, it is also a 

material consideration when determining individual planning applications. The 

National Planning Guidance further states: 

                                                             
33

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
34

 http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/ 

Page 151



 

35 

 

• If a proposed development will lead to an unacceptable risk of air pollution 

or prevent sustained compliance with EU Limit values or national objectives 

then Planning 

• Authorities should consider how the development can be made acceptable 

(for example through mitigation) or whether permission should be refused. 

9.6. Examples of mitigation are suggested in the Guidance, including: 

• Infrastructure to promote modes of transport with low impact on air quality; 

• Contributing funding to measures, including those identified in air quality 

action plans and low emission strategies, designed to offset the impact on 

air quality. 

9.7. Given that the West Yorkshire region is failing to meet the EU obligations on air 

quality it is clear that planning authorities have a significant role to play in 

ensuring future development will not make air quality worse and will also make 

a positive contribution to meeting the air quality objectives moving forward. 

9.8. One key strand of the WYLES has been the 

development of an Air Quality & Planning 

Technical Guide to assist developers, 

consultants, air quality officers and planning 

authorities to ensure that the principles of 

sustainable development, with particular 

reference to air quality, are satisfied when 

making planning decisions. 

9.9. The Guide has the following key elements: 

• It takes account of the cumulative impact 

from developments. 

• It provides guidance on appropriate 

mitigation having regard to the scale and 

kind of development. 

• For major developments is provides a systematic way of assessing the 

health damage costs arising from increased air pollution and uses this to 

determine the level of mitigation required to make the development 

sustainable in air quality terms. 

• It focuses effort on practical measures to protect and improve air quality 

9.10. The approach taken provides clarity and certainty to developers and planners 

so that it is easy to understand how air quality will be considered during the 

planning application process.  The Guide also encourages designers to 

Page 152



 

36 

 

Figure 7: Air Quality Mitigation - Example 
 

Proposal: 150 house residential development in an urban location and within an Air Quality 
Management Area. 
 
Development Classification: “Major” 
 
Increase in Traffic = 288 vehicle trips (6%) 

 
Increase in NOx = 0.27 tonnes per year 
Increase in PM10 = 0.032 tonnes per year 

 
Equivalent Health Damage Cost (5 years) = £12,941 

 
Mitigation to offset impact: 

 
• EV Charging Points in each property. 
• S106 Contribution to cycle infrastructure. 
• S106 Contribution to City Car Club. 
• Travel Plan for Site. 
• Public Transport infrastructure / services  

 

consider appropriate mitigation at the design stage so that mitigation becomes 

an integral part of the development and not an after-thought. 

9.11. Making appropriate land-use decisions includes: 

• Separating sources of air pollution away from those who could be affected 

by air pollution.  

• Making active travel choices the easiest option wherever possible. 

• Connecting the places where people live, work, shop and relax by 

sustainable transport modes. 

• Building the necessary infrastructure to enable ultra-low emission vehicles 

to become a normal part of everyday life. 

9.12. The Technical Guide uses evidence from HM Treasury to quantify the damage 

cost attributable to air quality impact from increases in air pollution (NO2 and 

PM2.5) and provides a notional cost to this impact in monetary terms.  This 

figure is then used to determine the scale and kind of mitigation that would be 

required to mitigate or off-set the increase in air pollution.  Figure 7 below 

provides an example of the methodology used. 

 

 

Page 153



 

37 

 

9.13. Using the Guide, only developments categorises as “major” or where air 

quality is already known to be poor would require a full air quality impact 

assessment.  Smaller developments, which may introduce only moderate 

increases in traffic would not require a full assessment, but, in recognition of 

the cumulative air quality impact from such development, standard mitigation 

would be required including features such as EV Charge Points, Cycling 

provision and Travel Planning schemes.  The type of mitigation required will 

vary from development to development in discussion with the Local Planning 

Authority, Environmental Health, Highways Authority and Transport Authority.  

Two mitigation requirements will usually be required are: the provision of 

electric vehicle (EV) charging points (See Table 6 below) and the control of 

particulate (dust) emissions during demolition and construction. 

Table 6 – EV Charge Point Provision for New Developments 

 

9.14. The West Yorkshire Planning Authorities, supported by specialist advice from 

air quality officers, travel planning officer and highway officer, will use the Air 

Quality & Planning Technical Guide to mitigate against adverse impacts on 

air quality from new developments in order to ensure sustainable 

development across the region.  The Air Quality & Planning Technical Guide 

is supporting document to the WYLES. 

Single Transport Plan 

9.15. The Single Transport Plan 2015 to 203535 is being developed by West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority as a long-term plan for the future transport 

provision in West Yorkshire.  Creating cleaner, healthier places to work, visit 

and live in is at the heart of the Plan, which has five core principles: 

• One system, HS2/HS3 ready: a core ambition being a ‘metro-style’ public 
transport network that integrates all modes,  into one-system that is easily 
understood, easy to access by a range of options and offers quick, 
convenient connections within the city region.  The public transport 

                                                             
35

 Single Transport Plan (Draft), West Yorkshire Combined Authority (January 2015): http://www.westyorks-

ca.gov.uk/transport/ 

 

Development Type Electric Vehicle Charging 

Residential 
One EV charge point per unit (dwelling with dedicated 
parking) or 1 EV charge point per 10 spaces 
(unallocated parking) 

Commercial / Retail EV charging for 10% of car parking spaces. 

Page 154



 

38 

 

network would reduce pressure on roads and facilitate the efficient 
movement of freight than cannot be transported by rail, canal or pipeline. 

• Place making: interventions to make our cities, towns and 
neighbourhoods more attractive places to invest, live and work - 
delivering improvements to air quality and health through Low 
Emission Vehicles for the movement of people and goods and 
encouraging people to switch to cycling and walking for shorter 
journeys. 

• Smart futures: using technology for enhanced customer relationships and 
retail opportunities and for efficient management of the transport 
network(s), as well providing open data as part of a wider city region 
initiative. 

• Effective use of resources: pooling resources between services and 
sectors to address financial constraints and deliver shared objectives - 
particularly in respect of rural communities with a lower level of public 
transport provision , and for young people to access education, 
employment and  training. 

• Effective asset management: to adequately maintain all of our transport 
system: roads, bridges, street lights, public transport stations and shelters, 
footways and cycle routes, to gain maximum value for money and meet 
the needs of users and Plan objectives. 

A further cross-cutting theme of Carbon Reduction is also included within 
the STP. 

9.16. The Single Transport Plan clearly states its ambition to reduce transport 

emissions and reduce air quality and this Strategy is considered to be a key 

supporting document that will be used to help deliver this ambition. 

 

 

Page 155



   

39 

 

10. Theme 2 – Creating a Low Emission Future: Travel Choice and Active Travel  

Active Travel 

 

10.1. Active travel is an approach to travel and transport that focuses on physical activity 

(walking and cycling) as opposed to motorised and carbon-dependent means.  

Active travel is cheap, inclusive and accessible, but is also the ultimate “low 

emission vehicle”. Choosing to walk or cycle over motorised transport will not only 

reduce air pollutants, congestion and climate change impacts (20% of car-related 

CO2 emissions are from journeys <5km), it will also: 

 

• Improve health and well-being for the individual - Inactivity has a health effect 

comparable in scale to that of air quality. Eliminating inactivity in the UK would 

cut mortality rates by 7.5%36. 

• Promote a vibrant local economy 

• Benefit community cohesion 

10.2. Figure 8 below shows the economic benefits each year of getting just one child to 

walk or cycle to school37. 

 

Figure 8 – Illustration of the health benefits from walking and cycling 

 
 

                                                             
36

 http://www.panorama.am/en/current_topics/2015/01/15/inactivity-deaths/ 
37

 Kings Fund inforgraphic 2014 

Page 156



 

40 

 

 

 

 

10.3. The local authorities in West Yorkshire encourage the uptake of active travel 

through the provision of infrastructure and behaviour change programmes, this 

work has seen a steady increase in the number of people choosing to walk and 

cycle for shorter journeys in West Yorkshire. 

 

10.4. Studies in other parts of the UK have indicated that reducing urban speed limits 

and introducing 20 mile per hour zones have potential to increase the number of 

people choosing to walk and cycle.  The West Yorkshire local authorities are 

currently undertaking research to understand the benefits of varying speed limits 

through a combination of research and evaluated trial projects. 

 

10.5. Active travel offers excellent opportunities for health improvement for the individual 

and will go some way to reduce the number of vehicles on the road and therefore 

emissions.  It is also relevant that individuals undertaking active travel can reduce 

their own exposure to pollutants (exposure is around 5 times higher in a vehicle 

than on the pavement).  This Strategy recognises the importance of active travel, 

but acknowledges that it is unlikely that enough people will switch from using 

motorised transport to walking and cycling to make the difference to air quality that 

is required to protect health and achieve air quality targets.  The WYLES is 

supportive of any action which promotes active travel, but, in order to achieve the 

scale of change necessary to improve air quality, the WYLES focus will be on 

reducing transport emissions. 

 

Travel Planning 

10.6. A Travel Plan is a long-term management strategy for integrating proposals to 

promote and encourage sustainable travel.  Travel Plans are a tool particularly 

aimed at reducing the need to travel, gaining economic efficiencies, reducing the 

impact of car travel and encouraging greater use of public transport, cycling and 

walking. 

 

10.7. The West Yorkshire Travel Plan Network supports over 200 major employers in 

the region to promote more sustainable ways of travel to work through a wide 

variety of free support packages and initiatives. The Network is supported by the 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority to provide the following: 

 

• Walking – health information (walking the way to health initiative WHI), 

pedometer loans and journey planners. 

• Public transport – information, journey planners, timetables and public 

transport passes (Metrocard schemes) 

Page 157



 

41 

 

• Cycling - information about the benefits of cycling, cycle training, bike 

maintenance and cycling, route planners, ride for rewards scheme (awards bike 

miles which can be redeemed) 

• Mopeds and motorbikes – sustainability and CO2 information, free bike 

parking locations, free 1 hour bike trials and bike training information  

• Car journeys – information on car sharing (WYcarshare.com), eco-driving and 

new car sustainability information, car parking, car clubs and fleet management 

information from the energy savings trust. 

10.8. Employers are also encouraged to employ smart working practices to reduce the 

need for journeys altogether, for example: flexible working, home working and 

using remote tele/video conferencing facilities. 

 

10.9. The current travel-planning model focuses on reducing journeys by car, however, 

the approach can also be used to encourage emission reductions.  The WYLES 

will therefore use the existing Travel Plan Network to engage with key employers, 

providing access to over 200,000 employees in the region to promote the uptake 

low emission vehicles when developing travel plans. 

 

10.10. In addition to businesses, local authority education departments work with schools 

to develop school travel plans for children, parents and teachers.  Traffic issues 

associated with schools is a common cause for concern and authorities already 

work with schools to influence school travel behaviour.  As part of the WYLES we 

will look to take this one step further by raising awareness of air quality issues 

associated with school travel and engaging with parents, schoolchildren and 

teachers to support alternative school travel options. 

 

10.11. Travel planning is also important when new housing and business developments 

are taking place because people are considering new ways of travel and are more 

likely to consider alternative travel options.  Travel Planning is already a key 

feature of the development management process and developers are often 

required to produce travel plans for new developments.  The Air Quality and 

Planning Technical Guide will add further weight to travel planning as a tool to off-

set and mitigate against the impact of air quality from new developments.   

   

Page 158



   

42 

 

11. Theme 2 - Creating a Low Emission Future – Leading by Example 

11.1. In order to create change it is important that key organisations, including local 

authorities and other public sectors organisations and socially responsible 

companies lead by example.  Local Authorities in West Yorkshire operate over 

3,000 fleet vehicles and are significant employers in the region, generating many 

thousands of business miles each year and are responsible for spending public 

money when procurement of goods and services. These represent significant 

opportunities for influencing change, both within local authority organisations and 

beyond, including employees and the many private, public and voluntary sector 

organisations who engage with local authorities on a daily basis. 

Local Authority Fleet 

11.2. Although many factors need to be taken into account when deciding what type of 

vehicle is most suitable for a particular job it is a legal requirement38 that public 

bodies must consider the energy and environmental impact that a vehicle will 

have during the length of its operational life, which include taking into account 

emissions which impact on air quality.  Initial purchase costs for low emission 

vehicles and associated infrastructure can be expensive relative to conventional 

vehicles and fuels, however over the life of a vehicle, because running costs are 

typically much lower for low emission vehicles than conventional equivalents, the 

whole-life costs can be lower and therefore represent good value to the tax-

payer.  The Department for Transport has produced guidance39 on what 

authorities need to do in order to comply with the Regulations and, as part the 

WYLES, this Guidance has been used to develop a West Yorkshire Low 

Emission Procurement Guide to assist fleet managers to purchase or lease 

vehicles having regard to the environmental impacts for the whole life of the 

vehicle.  This Guidance is available as a supporting document to the WYLES. 

11.3. West Yorkshire local authorities already run a number of electric and electric-

hybrid vehicles, but will continue to review their fleets and use the West Yorkshire 

Low Emission Procurement Guide to determine whether more fleet vehicles 

should be replaced with low emission and ultra-low emission alternatives.  Public 

sector fleet procurement is discussed in more detail under Theme 3: Reducing 

Vehicle Emissions. 

Local Authority Employees 

11.4. The public sector is a major employer in the region and most of those employees 

will drive vehicles of their own, in their personal life, but also on business carried 

out on behalf of their public sector employers – the so-called “grey fleet”.  The 

WYLES will seek to support and incentivise employees to consider ultra-low 
                                                             
38

 The Cleaner Road Transport Vehicles Regulations 2011 
39

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidelines-for-the-directive-on-the-promotion-of-clean-and-energy-

efficient-road-transport-vehicles-2009-33-ec 

 

Page 159



 

43 

 

emission and ultra-low emission vehicles in the future.  Opportunities to support 

and incentivise the uptake of low emission vehicles could include: 

• Salary Sacrifice and Car Lease schemes for LEVs and ULEVs. 

• Providing ULEV pool cars so that employees become familiar with “new” 

technology. 

• Providing electric vehicle charge-points in workplaces. 

Local Authority Spending 

11.5. The purchasing power of the public sector is significant across West Yorkshire, 

which is an opportunity to influence the providers of goods and services to 

ensure the vehicles used by the providers emit the lowest possible emissions 

11.6. Public Sector organisations must follow strict procurement rules, but included 

within those rules is a duty40 to consider “social value” as part of the procurement 

process.  This means that when procuring goods and services authorities must 

take into account social and environmental considerations and can set criteria 

when awarding contracts and procuring service how these may be improved.  For 

example this could include incorporating minimum vehicle emission standards 

when awarding contracts. 

11.7. It is recommended that the following standards are integrated into tendering and 

contract award evaluation: 

• All contracting of goods and services where vehicles will be required to access 

urban areas should include provision for meeting the current and previous 

European Emission Standard. 

• Additional weight should be given in award criteria to tenders that can 

demonstrate best practice in minimising vehicle emissions and the use of low 

and ultra-low emission vehicles. 

Local Sourcing 

11.8. Sourcing goods and services from local suppliers could contribute to reducing 

emissions, both from the overall number of miles travelled, but also the type of 

vehicle typically used: for example, local suppliers would tend to use light-goods 

vehicles rather than heavy goods vehicles, which might be expected from a 

regional distributor.  Local sourcing therefore offers the potential to reduce 

transport emissions in the supply chain.  Supporting local businesses to invest in 

low emission vehicles and how to incorporate their environmental advantage 

when tendering or quoting for contracts, coupled with a procurement strategy 

                                                             
40

 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

Page 160



 

44 

 

which rewards those with good environmental credentials, would provide the 

opportunity to reduce overall emissions and support the local economy. 

Page 161



   

45 

 

 

12. Theme 3 – Reducing Vehicle Emissions: Private Cars 

What are the issues? 

12.1. There are nearly one million cars41 registered in the West Yorkshire region and 

cars account for 78% of the 9.8 billion miles42 driven on West Yorkshire roads 

each year.  Cars therefore contribute significantly to vehicle exhaust emissions 

and impact on air quality in the region. 

12.2. One key issue has been the significant growth of diesel cars driven on our roads.  

As can be seen from Figure 9, diesel cars now account for more than a third of all 

cars on our roads, compared to a little over 1 in 10 at the start of the millennium.  

The growth of diesel cars is perhaps not surprising because of their relative fuel-

efficiency and lower Vehicle Excise Duty, which supports vehicles with low CO2 

emissions: diesel cars produce less CO2 per kilometre than their petrol 

equivalents.  Unfortunately, this may have led to a public perception that diesel is 

more “environmentally friendly” than petrol, when, in fact, diesel cars, particularly 

older diesel cars, produce significantly higher emissions of NOx and PM than their 

petrol equivalents. 

Figure 9: Cars Licensed in Great Britain by Fuel Type 2000 - 2014 

 

                                                             
41

 Licensed vehicles by body type, by local authority, Great Britain, annually from 2010, VEH0105, Dft (June 2015) 

 
42

 Motor vehicle traffic (vehicle miles) by Local Authority in Great Britain, annual from 1993, TRA8901, DfT (May 2015) 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Petrol Diesel Alternative Fuel

Page 162



 

46 

 

 

12.3. Vehicle emissions are controlled under law through Euro Standards. New vehicles 

must comply with Euro emission standards under test conditions.  Table 7 shows a 

simplified version of the Euro Standards for diesel and petrol cars and how the 

emissions standards for NOx and particulates (PM) have changed over time. 

Table 7: Euro Standards for New Petrol and Diesel Cars (NOx and PM) 

Year Euro Std 

NOx 

(g/km) 

PM 

(g/km) 

Petrol Diesel Petrol Diesel 

1992 Euro 1 0.97* 0.97* n/a** 0.14 

1996 Euro 2 0.5* 0.7* n/a** 0.08 

2000 Euro 3 0.15 0.50 n/a** 0.05 

2005 Euro 4 0.08 0.25 n/a** 0.025 

2009 Euro 5 0.060 0.180 0.005*** 0.005 

2014 Euro 6 0.060 0.080 0.005*** 0.005 

* For Euro 1 and Euro 2 NOx emissions also included hydrocarbons (HC). 

**No specified PM limit for petrol engines as emissions are negligible. 

***Applies only to petrol vehicles with direct injection engines. 

 

12.4. It can be seen from above Table that emissions from diesel cars have been 

significantly higher than their petrol equivalent under test conditions.  Studies43 

have also shown that emissions can be higher in real-world driving conditions, with 

diesel vehicles emitting up to 22 times more particulate matter and 4 times more 

NOx than their petrol equivalent.  The latest Euro 6 standard will result in 

emissions being reduced, although it is still too early to assess whether emissions 

under test conditions will translate to the same emissions under real-world driving 

conditions.  It also takes time to for people to replace their vehicles and therefore, 

unless there is a personal incentive to change a vehicle earlier than planned, 

older, more polluting cars are likely to remain on the roads in West Yorkshire for 

some time to come. 

12.5. The growth in diesel car ownership, coupled with higher NOx and PM emissions, 

means that privately owned cars are a significant contributor to poor air quality in 

the region.  The number of people driving cars means that everyone has a role to 

play in reducing emissions and even small changes at an individual level can 

result in a very significant change when taken collectively. 

What can be done?  

12.6. If the West Yorkshire region is to play a part in meeting EU air quality obligations 

in relation to air quality then steps must be taken to reduce emissions from car 
                                                             
43

 Recent Evidence Concerning Higher NOx Emissions from Passenger Cars and Light Duty Vehicles, Carslaw et al, 

(2011) 

Page 163



 

47 

 

exhausts.  The Government’s strategy: Driving the Future Today, has set a target 

that by 2050 nearly all cars and vans in the UK will be an ultra-low emission 

vehicle (ULEV).  This will mean a shift-change in the traditional internal 

combustion engine (ICE) as the predominant power source for vehicles, and 

although the ICE is likely to remain a feature of the vehicle market for many years 

to come, other alternative powered vehicles, such as Battery Electric Vehicles 

(BEV), Fuel Cell Electric Vehicles (FCEV) and Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles 

(PHEV), are likely to play a much more significant role if the ULEV target is to be 

achieved. 

12.7. As Figure 9 above shows, there is currently very little penetration of alternative 

fuelled vehicles into the UK car market and considerable effort will be required to 

change the way people think when choosing a car, how cars fit into overall 

journey-planning, and developing the necessary infrastructure to re-charge / refuel 

with alternative powers sources, such as electricity, gas or hydrogen fuel cell 

technology. 

12.8. However, as Figure 10 below shows,  there are early signs of the developing 

ULEV market, and although ULEVs still only account for a small percentage of 

cars overall it is a sign of potential growth in this area, which has, in part, been 

stimulated by the Government’s plugged-in grant scheme for ultra low emission 

cars and vans. 

Figure 10: New Ultra Low Emission & Electric Vehicles: UK 2010 – Q1 201544 

 

                                                             
44

 Vehicle Licensing Statistics: Quarter 1 (Jan – Mar) 2015, DfT (June 2015) 

Page 164



 

48 

 

12.9. The Government has announced £500m funding between 2015 and 2020 to 

support a range of initiatives to further stimulate the ULEV market.  This is an 

opportunity to increase the number of ultra-low emission cars on the roads of 

West Yorkshire and the WYLES will be used to support the growth of the ULEV 

market and access Government funding to support initiatives to achieve this, 

including: 

• Carrying out research to help inform decision-making to promote the take up 

of ultra-low emission vehicles. 

• Raising awareness and exposing more people to ultra-low emissions vehicles, 

for example through increasing the number of ULEVs within local authority 

fleets, pool cars, lease car schemes and car clubs. 

• Developing and supporting electric vehicle recharging infrastructure and 

alternative fuel refuelling stations that are fit for purpose: understanding the 

market and having infrastructure which supports ULEV growth. 

• Building ULEVs as part of wider journey-planning, including public transport, 

car clubs and active travel with smart-card technology with integrated payment 

and journey planning information. 

• Consider policy initiatives, such as preferential parking, free EV charging and 

low emission zones / routes as a means to promote ULEVs. 

 

 

Page 165



   

49 

 

13. Theme 3 – Reducing Vehicle Emissions: Buses 

13.1. The application of increasingly stringent EU standards has resulted in reduced 

emissions from newer buses (see Figure 11).  For instance, NOx emissions from 

Euro VI buses are only 5% of those from Euro I buses. 

Figure 11: Euro Emission Standards for Buses 

 

 

 

13.2. However, as with cars, real-world driving conditions have also resulted in higher 

emissions than under test conditions, although the latest Euro VI standard is 

likely to perform much better than predecessor standards in this regard. 

13.3. It is not uncommon for buses to be operated for ten to fifteen years and therefore 

older buses, which produce higher emissions, can continue operating for many 

years.  The West Yorkshire bus fleet is older than the national average (although 

younger than the average if London is excluded).  Table 8 below shows the 

current West Yorkshire bus fleet profile by  Euro Standard and indicates that a 

significant proportion of the bus fleet is operating to emission standards which 

came into effect more than ten years ago.  It is estimated that current investment 

levels in the bus fleet replacement programme will not be sufficient to achieve the 

objectives of this Strategy. 

Table 8: West Yorkshire Bus Fleet by Euro Standard (2015) 

 

 

 

 

 

13.4. Buses are also more prevalent in urban areas: this is inevitably so because it is 

where people need to be and where bus station and transport hubs are located.  

The same buses will also make repeat journeys into urban areas as part of their 

route.  Consequently, relative to the total number of vehicles on the roads, buses 

can have a significant contribution to emissions in urban areas.  For example, the 

Low Emission Zone Feasibility Studies (see Theme 1: Evidence for Change) 

Euro Standard % 
Euro I 1.2 

Euro II 25.3 
Euro III 20.8 
Euro IV 27.3 
Euro V 24.4 
Euro VI or equivalent 1.0 

Page 166



 

50 

 

estimated that diesel buses account for 43% of NOx emissions within the 

Bradford Inner Ring Road. 

13.5. Targeted action to reduce emissions from these buses can result in the most 

significant reduction in emissions relative to the costs of implementation: this has 

been the conclusion of both local and national Low Emission Zone feasibility 

studies. 

What Can be Done? 

13.6. Provision of good public transport is critical to improving air quality by providing a 

viable alternative to car use and reducing the number of individual car journeys, 

however, buses also contribute to air quality problems because they operate in 

the most populated areas and can produce some of the highest exhaust 

emissions of all vehicles. 

13.7. Buses in West Yorkshire are mainly operated by private bus companies, such as 

FirstGroup, Arriva, Transdev and a number of other smaller independent 

operators.  Most bus services are operated on a commercial basis, with little 

intervention from local authorities or WYCA.  There is, however, a strong working 

relationship with bus operators in the region and authorities will work with 

operators to reduce emissions from the bus fleet in West Yorkshire.  Figure 12 

shows some of the initiatives that bus operators working with local authorities 

have achieved. 

Figure 12: Recent Initiative to reduce bus emissions. 

165 “Yellow” school buses go green by 

fitting NOx and Particulate abatement 

technology to reduce exhaust 

emissions – resulting in older buses 

now achieving emission standards 

better than Euro VI and protecting the 

health of children.  

 

Arriva introduce 12 hybrid buses and FirstGroup 

introduces 22 hybrid buses in the region, with further 

hybrid buses being introduced in Bradford and 

Calderdale. 

Bradford Council work with FirstGroup and Transdev to 

fit exhaust abatement technology on 25 buses operating 

on urban routes resulting in at least 95% of buses going 

to the Bradford interchange being Euro IV or better by 

2016. 

Page 167



 

51 

 

Strategy for reducing bus emissions 

13.8. West Yorkshire has densely populated towns and cities, such as Leeds and 

Bradford, surrounded by large rural areas (the largest rural area of any 

metropolitan region).  In rural areas air quality is significantly less of an issue than 

the urban areas.  The strategy has therefore focussed on bus services which 

frequently operate in towns and cities.  An assessment, based on the frequency 

of bus services in towns and cities, has identified nine hundred buses, which 

should be targeted for emission reduction. 

13.9. Three options are outlined below: 

Option 1: Euro III by 2020 (Business as Usual) 

13.10. Under business as usual it has been assumed that bus operators will replace 

6.7% of their fleet every year (normal investment practice in the bus industry) and 

when doing so will replace the oldest, poorest emission buses within their fleet.  

This level of investment would mean that although Euro I and Euro II buses 

would likely to be taken out of bus fleets, Euro 3 buses would continue to be in 

operation. 

Option 2: Minimum Euro III with abatement technology by 2020 (Euro III+) 
 

13.11. This option would mean that Euro I or Euro II buses would not operate on urban 

routes and that all other buses operating on urban routes would need to be 

replaced with either newer buses, alternative fuel technology or fitted with 

emission abatement technology (Euro III+) by 2020.  This option assumes 

accelerated investment in new fleet, retro-fitting of Euro III, Euro IV and Euro V 

buses with “clean bus” technology and all pre-Euro III buses removed from urban 

routes. 

13.12. The following minimum standards would apply: 

• Alternative Low Emission Fuel (“Tank to Wheel”) - e.g. Electric / Hydrogen / 

Biomethane / Natural Gas. 

• Euro VI diesel electric hybrid. 

• Euro VI diesel 

• Euro V diesel electric hybrid  

• Euro V diesel with thermally effective SCR (selective catalytic reduction) 

• Euro IV diesel with effective SCR & DPF (diesel particulate filter) 

• Euro III with SCR & DPF 

 

13.13. This option requires a greater proportion of investment (estimated £6.5m) on 

retro-fitting emission abatement technology across the wider bus fleet to reduce 

emissions than on investing in new buses.  

 

Page 168



 

52 

 

Option 3: Minimum Euro IV with abatement technology by 2020 (Euro IV+) 
 

13.14. This option would mean that Euro I, Euro II and Euro III buses would not operate 

on urban routes and that all other buses operating on urban routes would need to 

be replaced with either newer buses, alternative fuel technology or fitted with 

emission abatement technology (Euro IV+) by 2020.  This option assumes 

accelerated investment in new fleet, retro-fitting of Euro IV buses with “clean bus” 

technology and all pre-Euro IV buses removed from fleets. 

13.15. The following minimum standards would apply: 

• Alternative Low Emission Fuel (“Tank to Wheel”) - e.g. Electric / Hydrogen / 

Biomethane / Natural Gas. 

• Euro VI diesel electric hybrid 

• Euro VI diesel 

• Euro V diesel electric hybrid  

• Euro V diesel 

• Euro IV diesel with SCR & DPF 

 

13.16. This option requires greater investment in newer buses and less (estimated 

£2.5m) on retrofitting abatement technology. 

13.17. Each of the above options is predicted to have a different impact on bus 

emissions and Table 9 below indices the relative percentage emission reduction 

from each option. 

Table 9: Estimated Emission Reduction from each Option 

Scenario NOx PM 

Option 1: Euro III by 2020 -44% -75% 

Option 2: Euro III+ by 2020 -89% -88% 

Option 3: Euro IV+ by 2020 -79% -85% 

 

13.18. Option 1 (investment under business as usual conditions) is not predicted to 

achieve the necessary reduction in emissions to meet the aims of this Strategy 

and consequently greater investment under either Option 2 or 3 will be required.   

13.19. Option 2 achieves a slightly better reduction in emissions than option 3 

(particularly NOx emissions), with less capital cost, but the bus fleet would be 

slightly older than if Option 3 was implemented. 

13.20. Option 3 would result in slightly less improvement in emissions compared with 

Option 2 and would have a higher capital cost, but this option would result in a 

Page 169



 

53 

 

relatively newer bus fleet, with possible consequential benefits of increased bus 

patronage. 

Working with Bus Operators 

13.21. West Yorkshire Combined Authority is the lead organisation who works with bus 

operators to provide bus services in the region.  WYCA have produced a West 

Yorkshire Low Emissions Bus Strategy, which is produced as a supporting 

document to the WYLES.  WYCA will lead engagement with the region’s bus 

operators to accelerate the investment in new buses, alternative fuels and 

abatement technologies, and assist with potential funding streams, in order to 

achieve the emission reductions through the implementation of Option 2 or 

Option 3 above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



   

54 

 

14. Theme 3 – Reducing Vehicle Emissions: Trains 

What are the Issues? 

14.1. Diesel trains emit high levels of particulates and NOx, however, when considered 

on the basis of pollution per passenger per kilometre travelled, emissions are 

much less than other forms of transport including cars and buses.  Trains are 

therefore part of the solution to reducing transport related emissions.  This is not to 

say that trains do not produce emissions, such as NOx, particulates, CO2 and 

noise, with emissions from trains being most significant at train stations in urban 

locations such as Leeds and Bradford train stations.  Therefore, any action to 

reduce emissions from trains will benefit air quality and the quality of our 

environment. 

14.2. The impact of trains on local air quality varies according to the type of rail vehicle 

in use.  Older trains emit more pollution so renewing train fleets will help reduce 

emissions.  Electric vehicles impose minimal impact on local air quality compared 

to diesel trains and therefore the most effective way to ensure that trains do not 

contribute to local air quality problems and reduce passenger exposure is to 

support calls for electrification of the regional rail network. 

What can be done? 

14.3. The procurement and deployment of rail rolling stock is generally determined at a 

national level as part of the rail franchising process.  As with bus operations, 

WYCA is the lead organisation at a regional level which engages with train 

operating companies and Network Rail.  Acting through Rail North, WYCA is 

seeking to influence decisions regarding rail rolling stock and to advance the 

process of replacing older, more polluting trains with newer, cleaner rolling stock. 

14.4. Whilst electric trains operate between Leeds and Wakefield,  and connect Leeds 

and Bradford with Shipley, Keighley, Skipton and Ilkley, the remainder of the West 

Yorkshire rail network is operated by diesel trains. Many of the diesel rail vehicles 

in use in West Yorkshire are over 30 years old and do not benefit from modern 

engine technologies. Incremental improvements in emissions can therefore be 

obtained by replacing older diesel vehicles with electric trains or cleaner, newer 

diesels. 

14.5. Electrification of the Transpennine rail route between York, Leeds, Huddersfield 

and Manchester planned for 2019/20 will replace diesel vehicles with electric 

providing a commensurate benefit to air quality. Further electrification is subject to 

funding however the Leeds – Harrogate and Leeds, Bradford, Halifax lines are 

high in the regional priority for electrification in the early 2020s.  

14.6. In addition to the plan to electrify more of the rail network, plans to replace older 

diesel trains are included in the revised Northern and Transpennine rail franchises 

which will start in 2016.  These plans involve the replacement of the older “Pacer” 

Page 171



 

55 

 

trains with brand new diesel vehicles with improved emission control.  It is 

anticipated that the new rolling stock will be in service from 2019 onwards.   

14.7. A step change improvement in the content and quantity of emissions from rail 

vehicles is therefore expected  from 2019/2020 onwards. 

Page 172



   

56 

 

15. Theme 3 – Reducing Vehicle Emissions: Commercial Vehicles & Freight 

What are the issues? 

15.1. Freight represents a low proportion of traffic flows at around 8% of traffic in the 

West Yorkshire region45, but produces a disproportionate amount of emissions.  

Road freight is not just about Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs), Light Goods Vehicles 

(LGVs) such as vans have seen significant growth, rising by 46% between 2000 

and 2009. 

15.2. West Yorkshire is a prime location for the distribution of goods, having an excellent 

strategic road network from North to South (M1 and A1) and East to West (M62).  It 

is not surprising that many distribution centres and logistics operators are located 

within the region, with the freight sector contributing about 25% of the region’s 

economy.  Road freight is the most used mode for freight movements in West 

Yorkshire, moving around 1,900 million tonnes of freight in West Yorkshire (2008 

data). Motorways account for the majority of freight trips by length of journey, 

specifically the M1, M621 and M62. Freight can account for up to 16% of traffic 

flows by mode on the motorway network46. 

15.3. The West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan: Freight Strategy (2012) recognises the 

importance of the freight sector to the West Yorkshire economy and also 

recognises the disproportionate contribution that road freight has in terms of 

emissions compared with non-road freight.  The WYLES supports the Freight 

Strategy by promoting actions to reduce emissions from freight and commercial 

vehicles. 

What can be done? 

15.4. Freight and commercial activity is potentially one of the most difficult for local 

authorities to directly influence, given that decisions in relation to the procurement 

of fleet vehicles is entirely a commercial decision.  However, commercial 

organisations are required to report on CO2 emissions and are encouraged to 

reduce their emissions and the West Yorkshire authorities will seek to support 

commercial operators to reduce transport emissions. 

15.5. Examples of what can be done include: 

 

• Seeking opportunities to increase the take-up of alternative fuels and 
technologies by HGV and LGV operators, for example a recent Gas 
Infrastructure Feasibility Study commissioned by Wakefield Council found that 
three strategic LNG/CNG gas refuelling stations could be supported at key 
locations near to the M1 (j41), M62 (j30) and the A1 (Barnsdale Bar) highway 
networks. 

                                                             
45

 West Yorkshire Freight Study 2010 
46

 West Yorkshire LTP Freight Strategy 2012 

Page 173



 

57 

 

• Working with commercial fleet operators to use whole-life costing during 
vehicle procurement to promote the economic as well as environmental and 
health benefits from low emission HGVs and LGVs. 

 

• Using the West Yorkshire Air Quality & Planning Technical Guide to ensure 
new commercial developments incorporate facilities for ultra-low emission 
vehicles, such as electric charging points and minimum Euro emission 
standards for fleet vehicles. 

 

• Encourage more freight to be transported by rail for long-haul journeys. 
 

• Exploring the potential for the regions’ canals and waterways for the transport 
of goods. 

 

• Using sustainable procurement criteria to reward those businesses which have  
a lower environmental impact. 

 

• Minimising emissions in urban areas from HGVs and LGVs – the so-called 
“last mile” of deliveries  – for example through the use of freight consolidation 
centres and consideration of Low Emission Zones. 

 

• Supporting fleet operators to reduce emissions through improved driver 
training, fuel management and the adoption of accreditation scheme such as 
“Eco Stars” to reduce transport emissions. 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 174



 

58 

 

 

 

 

Page 175



   

59 

 

16. Theme 3 – Reducing Vehicle Emissions: Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles 

What are the Issues? 

16.1. There are approximately 11,000 taxis (hackney carriages and private hire vehicles) 

operating in the West Yorkshire region, with more than 90% of these being are 

diesel cars and vans.  Most taxi journeys take place within and between the 

regions’ towns and cities, with some high-use taxis covering in excess of 100,000 

miles each year.  Although they make up only a small proportion of the overall 

vehicle numbers in the region, taxis do emit a higher proportion of NOx and 

particulate emissions so contribute disproportionately to poor urban air quality. 

16.2. Taxis and private hire vehicles are also used by many people, which creates the 

opportunity for them to be used to expose passengers to new alternative fuels and 

technologies, such as electric vehicles. 

What can be done? 

16.3. As with other commercial operations, local authorities have a limited influence over 

the types of car which taxi and private hire operators buy.  However, there are 

opportunities to influence taxi and private hire operators to reduce emissions from 

the vehicles they operate.  Areas that could include the following: 

• Work with taxi and private hire companies to apply for Government funding 

(for example the £20m ULEV Taxi Grant Scheme announced in 201547) to 

support ULEV taxis and private hire vehicles. 

• Using the local authority taxi licensing function to promote incentivise the 

uptake of ultra-low emission taxis and private hire vehicles, for example by 

designating ULEV taxi ranks in high demand areas. 

• Demonstrating the potential fuel savings and financial benefits from operating 

ULEV taxis and private hire vehicles (see Figure 13 for a summary of a recent 

Leeds / Institute for Transport Studies  case-study). 

• Working with taxi and private hire operators to develop rapid electric charge-

point network in suitable locations. 

• Using public sector transport contracts to promote low emission taxis. 

16.4. If encouragement is not effective or widely supported, then the local authority 

licensing function remains an option for specifying minimum emission standards of 

taxi and private hire cars. 

 

                                                             
47

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/382190/taxis-preliminary-

guidance.pdf 

Page 176



 

60 

 

Figure 13: Taxis Case Study by Leeds Council and Institute for Transport Studies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aim: to demonstrate the economic and environmental benefits of low emission 

taxis and private hire vehicles compared to diesel equivalents. 

Taxis and PHVs in Leeds: 

• 537 Hackney Carriages 

• 3,500 Private Hire Vehicles 

• Approx. 90% Diesel 

Study: 

Using a Petrol Hybrid Electric Vehicle typical taxi and private hire journeys 

have been simulated within Leeds city centre, while exhaust emissions and 

fuel consumption are monitored and recorded.  Data gathered will quantify the 

relative cost and emissions under real-world driving conditions. 

The information will be available in Autumn 2015 and will be used to 

demonstrate the business case to taxi and private hire operators for switching 

to low emission technology. 

Page 177



   

61 

 

17. Theme 3 –  Reducing Vehicle Emissions: Local Authority Fleet 

17.1. Local authority fleet operations are an ideal opportunity to ‘lead by example’ and 

influence public vehicle purchasing decisions.  

17.2. West Yorkshire local authority currently operate approximately 3,000 fleet vehicles 

of which the overwhelming majority are diesel vehicles of varying Euro Standard 

(see Figure 14). 

Figure 14: West Yorkshire Local Authority Fleet – vehicles by Euro Standard 

 

17.3. The fleet emission profile of purchased vehicles tends to be below that of leased 

fleet vehicles.  All West Yorkshire Authorities have demonstrated low emission 

vehicle alternatives and some are beginning to look at more intensive fleet 

transformation to use cleaner fuels and technologies.  Appendix 3 provides further 

guidance on Low Emission Vehicles and alternative fuels and the impact on air 

quality. 

17.4. The Cleaner Road Transport Vehicles Regulations 2011 require public sector 

organisations to consider the energy use and environmental impact of vehicles 

they buy or lease.  A key concept of the Regulations is the consideration of whole-

life costs whereby the operational costs over a vehicle life, including pollution 

damage costs, are taken into account rather than just the purchase price.  This 

helps to redress the issue of low emission vehicles costing more than conventional 

vehicles, while potentially having lower operating costs that outweigh the purchase 

increment. 

17.5. In order to achieve compliance with the above Regulations and to support local 

authority procurement teams a West Yorkshire Low Emission Procurement Guide 

has been produced as a supporting document to the WYLES. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Bradford Leeds Wakefield Kirklees Calderdale

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

v
e

h
ic

le
s

Absolute numbers of vehicles by Euro standard

EV

Euro 6

EEV

Euro 5

Euro 4

Euro 3

Euro 2

Euro 1

Page 178



 

62 

 

17.6. As part of the WYLES project, a public sector fleet benchmarking exercise was 

also carried out, including: 

• Review of fleet emission profiles. 

• Review of vehicle emission strategies and feedback from low emission 

vehicle demonstration projects. 

• Assessment of opportunities and barriers to ULEV take-up. 

• An understanding of whole life costs, including standard diesel and ULEV 

alternatives.  

• Sharing knowledge and expertise in vehicle procurement frameworks and 

contracting requirements. 

• Explore possibilities for shared infrastructure. 

• Consideration of the use of ‘off-set’ funding secured through the planning 

process (see section 7) to help develop low emission refuelling infrastructure. 

17.7. Several barriers were identified to the take up of low emission vehicles, including: 

• Fleet managers with capital budgets did not have sufficient resources to 

cover the incremental cost of procuring certain low emission technologies as 

they would not benefit from any operational cost savings as these budgets 

were controlled by separate client departments. 

• Some low emission vehicles did not meet the specifications required by 

specialist vehicles. 

• Where significant operational cost savings could be made, the incremental 

capital cost of certain vehicles was considered to be prohibitive. 

• Lack of information regarding the performance and maintenance of new 

technologies. 

• Cost of infrastructure for certain technologies was seen as prohibitive.  

• Existing contracts and framework prevented the take-up of certain low 

emission vehicle technologies in the short to medium term.   

17.8. Local authorities will continue to share knowledge and seek opportunities to 

establish best practice by regularly appraising available low emission vehicle 

alternatives to standard technology, demonstrating suitable low emission vehicles 

and incorporating whole life cost considerations into procurement processes. This 

should include annual appraisal and assessment of all feasible LEV and ULEV 

options as follows: 

Page 179



 

63 

 

 

• A re-assessment of previous LEV / ULEV technology that has previously been 

deemed ‘unsuitable’ for public sector use 

• Any new vehicles and technology that have come onto the market since the 

previous study and an assessment of whether such vehicles would be ‘fit for 

purpose’ within the fleet.  Where LEV / ULEVs are identified as being fit for purpose 

there will be a study undertaken to identify the whole life cost and total cost of 

ownership of the current vehicle use in comparison to the LEV / ULEV options to 

include the pros and cons of each option in terms of suitability, emissions (NOx, PM 

and CO2) and costs. 

Funding for Ultra-low Emission Vehicles 

17.9. The Government recognises that public sector organisations are leaders within 

their communities and funding streams do become available to assist with the 

capital funding of ultra-low emission vehicles, for example under the Governments 

Plugged-in-Fleets initiative48. West Yorkshire local authorities will use these 

available funding streams as a means of reducing emissions form their fleet 

operations.  

                                                             
48

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ultra-low-emission-vehicles-getting-wider-public-sector-fleets-ready 

Page 180



   

64 

 

18. Theme 4 – Controlling Emissions from Non-Transport Sources 

18.1. Although the focus of the WYLES is to reduce transport emissions, it is important to 

recognise other non-transport emission sources within this Strategy.  In terms of 

the pollutants of concern: Oxides of Nitrogen (NOx) and particulates (PM10 and 

PM2.5), energy generation, industrial emissions and domestic combustion are the 

other main sources of concern.  Domestic and European laws have brought in 

tighter emission controls, particularly for the industrial and energy sectors, which 

have seen significant reductions in most air pollutants from these sectors over 

recent decades 

Energy & Industry 

18.2. Emissions from the energy and industrial sectors have reduced over recent years 

due to a combination of moving away from traditional fossil fuel combustion and 

improved abatement technology.  Figure 15 shows how the fuel mix for primary 

energy consumption over the decades has changed, with a significant shift away 

from solid fuels, growth in the use of gas, and in more recent years an increase in 

the proportion of biofuels and waste as a source of energy.   

Figure 15: Total Primary Energy Consumption in the UK, 1970 to 2013 

18.3. The growth in the use of waste and biofuels is positive in terms carbon reduction, 

but we also need to be aware of the potential for increase in NOx and particulate 

emissions from these types of fuel.  Although controlling emissions from the energy 

sector and large-scale industry sits mainly with national bodies, such as the 

Environment Agency, rather than local authorities, we will seek to ensure that 

Page 181



 

65 

 

emissions from these sectors, including the increased use of waste and biofuel, do 

not have an adverse impact on air quality in the region. 

Combined Heat & Power (CHP) 

18.4. As can be seen from Figure 15, power stations and major industry produce 

emissions which are widely dispersed and contribute mainly to background air 

quality.  In terms of health impact, local sources of air pollution can be of greater 

concern and in recent years we have seen an increase in the number of combined 

heat and power (CHP) plants being installed to serve the heating and electricity 

needs to single buildings or clusters of buildings at a local level.  CHP plants are 

considered beneficial for carbon reduction because they are more efficient because 

energy is produced closer to where is used.   

18.5. Because the energy generation is carried out at a local, rather than regional level, 

there is greater potential for the emissions from CHP plant to have an impact on 

local air quality and impact on the health of the local population: energy generation 

becomes a potential local air quality “hot-spot”, rather than part of the regional 

background (see Introduction).   

18.6. Careful consideration therefore needs to be given to where CHP plants are 

installed: where air quality is good, the carbon reduction benefits may outweigh air 

quality concerns, but where air quality is a problem then introducing a further and 

potentially significant source of pollution to add to the problem should be avoided.  

West Yorkshire local authorities have a role to play in ensuring that the air quality 

impacts of CHP plants are fully considered when carrying out their planning and 

regulatory functions to ensure that air quality is not made worse in the region. 

Biomass and Wood-burning 

18.7. Over the last half a century there has been a significant shift in the fuel used by 

domestic consumers.  Local authorities have played a significant role in reducing 

emissions from the domestic sector through the introduction of smoke control areas 

and the use of other pollution control legislation.  The most significant benefits from 

this have been reductions in sulphur dioxide and smoke emissions, which had a 

devastating impact on health and the environment. 

18.8. As described above, the main source of local air pollution is now urban traffic, but 

this does not mean that we should ignore the domestic sector altogether.  An 

emerging concern in relation to local air quality is the increased trend in the use of 

biomass boilers and wood-burning on domestic heating appliances: perceived to 

have good carbon reduction credentials (with some appliances benefiting from the 

Government’s Renewable Heat Incentive Scheme). Burning wood or biomass 

results in more particulate emissions and this is a cause for concern to local 

authorities as existing controls available through clean air legislation and planning 

may not be sufficient to prevent the increase in emissions from these appliances. 

Page 182



 

66 

 

18.9. Local authorities will use existing powers to control emissions from domestic 

heating appliances, including wood-burning appliances, raise awareness of the 

potential impact on local air quality with installers and consumers and, if existing 

regulatory control prove insufficient, will consider what alternative regulatory 

controls may be available to prevent harmful emissions to the environment.  

Page 183



   

67 

 

List of Abbreviations 

AEI 
Average Exposure Indicator: the baseline indicator used to report on 
progress on meeting PM2.5 reduction targets. 

AQAP 
Air Quality Action Plan: local authorities are required to produce an air 
quality action plan when they have declared an air quality management area 
(AQMA). 

AQMA 
Air Quality Management Area: a geographical area declared by local 
authorities when they have determined that air quality is exceeding air 
quality objectives. 

AQO 
Air Quality Objective: concentration levels for certain prescribed pollutants 
that have been determined in UK law. 

COPD Coronary Obstructive Pulmonary Disorder 

CVD Cardio-vascular Disease 

DEFRA Department for the Environment and Rural Affairs 

LAQM 
Local Air Quality Management: the term used to describe the function of 
local authorities to review and assess air quality in their areas and declare 
AQMAs and produce AQAPs. 

LEV 
Low Emission Vehicle: the general term used for vehicles which produce 
lower emissions (usually referred to in relation g/km Carbon).  LEVs may 
include internal combustion engines. 

LEZ 
Low Emission Zone: a designated area, usually in towns or cities where a 
traffic regulation order restricts access except for vehicles which meet a 
specified emissions criteria. 

LV Limit Value: refers to the Limit Values set out in EU Directive 2008/50/EC 

MACC 
Marginal Abatement Cost Curve: a tool used to assess the cost-v-benefits of 
introducing various abatement options. 

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide 

NOx 
Oxides of Nitrogen – including Nitrous Oxide (NO) and Nitrogen Dioxide 
(NO2) 

NPPG National Planning Policy Guidance 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

OLEV 
Office for Low Emission Vehicles: part of the Department of Transport set up 
to increase the number of ULEVs. 

PHE Public Health England 

PMn 
Particulate Matter with a diameter of “n” (usually in microns) including PM10, 
PM2.5 and PM0.1. 

QALY Quality Adjusted Life Year 

TRO 
Traffic Regulation Order: a regulation made by local authorities to manage 
traffic on the roads. 

ULEV 
Ultra Low Emission Vehicle: vehicles which emit very low emissions (usually 
referred to in g/km Carbon) and used to determine eligibility for plugged in 
grants: https://www.gov.uk/plug-in-car-van-grants/overview  

Page 184



   

68 

 

Appendix 1 – National Air Quality Objectives and EU Limit and Target Values 

 

 

P
age 185



 

69 

 

 

P
age 186



   

70 

 

Appendix 2: Low Emission Zone Feasibility Study – Modelled Scenarios 

SCENARIO NAME DESCRIPTION 

2012 base  Existing fleet mix 

2016 base Projected fleet mix do minimum 

2016 fuel split Projected fleet but with the petrol/diesel mix for cars and N1 
vans returned to Year 2000 ratios 

2016 all buses Euro VI Projected fleet but all buses (including Euro IV and Euro V) 
become Euro VI buses 

2016 all HGV Euro VI Projected fleet but all HGV (including Euro IV and Euro V) 
become Euro VI  

2016 all bus and HGVs 
Euro VI 

Projected fleet but all buses  and HGVs (including Euro IV and 
Euro V) become Euro VI  

2016 All vans Euro 6 Projected fleet but all vans replaced with Euro 6 

2016 E2&E3 retrofit  Projected fleet but with Euro II and Euro III buses retrofitted with 
"non TFL DPF and SCR" technology 

2016 all Pre Euro IV 
buses Euro VI 

Projected fleet but all buses older than Euro IV are replaced 
with an Euro VI 

2016 all Pre Euro IV 
HGV Euro VI 

Projected fleet but all HGV older than Euro IV are replaced with 
an Euro VI 

2016 Pre Euro IV bus 
and HGVs to Euro VI 

Projected fleet but all buses and HGVs older than Euro 4 are 
replaced with Euro VI 

2016 10% reduction in 
car use 

Projected fleet with 10 % reduction in car use resulting from 
measures to promote walking and cycling 

2021 base Projected fleet mix do minimum 

2021 fuel split Projected fleet but with the petrol/diesel mix for cars and N1 
vans returned to year 2000 ratios 

2021 All buses to Euro 
VI 

Projected fleet but with all buses (including Euro IV and Euro V) 
become Euro VI buses 

2021 All HGVs to Euro 
VI 

Projected fleet but with all HGVs (including Euro IV and Euro V) 
become Euro VI  

2021 All bus and 
HGVs to Euro VI 

Projected fleet but with all buses and HGVs (including Euro V) 
become Euro VI  

2021 All vans to Euro 
6 

Projected fleet but all vans replaced with Euro 6 

2021 All pre Euro V 
buses to Euro VI 

Projected fleet but with all buses older than Euro V are replaced 
with Euro VI buses 

2021 All pre Euro V 
HGV to Euro VI 

Projected fleet but all HGVs older than Euro V are replaced with 
Euro VI  

2021 All pre Euro V 
bus and HGVs to Euro 
VI 

Projected Leeds fleet but All Pre Euro V buses  and HGVs 
become Euro VI  

2021 10% reduction in 
car use 

Projected fleet with 10 % reduction in car use resulting from 
measures to promote walking and cycling 

Page 187



   

71 

 

Appendix 3: Low Emission Vehicles Guidance 

What is a Low Emission Vehicle? 

In considering what a low emission vehicle is, it is necessary to first consider what 

‘emissions’ should be considered, and then how low counts as ‘low’. 

In the context of vehicles, emissions fall into two types. The first is emissions affecting air 

quality – currently49 these are the oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and particulate matter (PM). 

The second is greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, mainly carbon dioxide (CO2) but also 

methane, nitrous oxide and some others, usually measured together with CO2 as overall 

CO2e (equivalent). 

Air quality 

The emerging definition of ‘low’ emissions, in terms of NOx and PM, is the Euro 6/VI50 

standard. Figures 1 and 2 below show how the European statutory standards have 

progressed over time, for cars and heavy duty vehicles (trucks and buses) respectively51. 

 

Figure 1: Evolution of Euro emissions standards for passenger cars 

Three key points can be noted from the graph above. First, diesel cars have far higher 

NOx emissions than petrol cars, although the latest Euro 6 standard is only slightly higher 

for diesel than petrol. Second, there is no PM standard for petrol engines – this is because 

PM emissions from petrol engines are inherently very low. Finally, the Euro 6 standard for 

NOx for diesel cars is less than half the Euro 5 standard. 

                                                             
49

 There are several other types of exhaust emission that are regulated because of air quality concerns, especially 

carbon monoxide (CO) and unburned hydrocarbons (HC). However, effective technologies to control these have been 

in place for many years, and so they are not a current policy/technology issue. 
50

 Euro emissions standards for cars and vans are represented by numbers 1-6, whereas for heavier vehicles they are 

designated by Roman numerals I-VI. 
51

 There are separate standards for vans at various GVW, but these are similar to those for cars and are not shown for 

the sake of clarity. It should be noted that for heavy duty vehicles, only the engine is tested, and pollutants are 

measured in terms of mg per unit of power (mg/kWh) rather than per km in the case of cars/vans.  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Petrol NOx Diesel NOx Diesel PM

m
g

/k
m

Euro emissions standards (passenger cars)

Euro 1 (Jan '93) Euro 2 (Jan '97) Euro 3 (Jan '01) Euro 4 (Jan '06) Euro 5 (Jan '11) Euro 6 (Sept '15)

Page 188



 

72 

 

 

Figure 2: European emissions standards for heavy duty engines (mg/kWh). These will 

mostly be diesel, but the same standards would apply to larger engines running on other 

fuels such as gas or biofuels. 

The key thing to note from Figure 2 above is that the standard for NOx has been lowered 

even more from Euro V to Euro VI than was the case for passenger cars. 

The standards shown above are those that vehicle and engine manufacturers are required 

to meet over a standard test cycle. It has always been acknowledged that these standard 

cycles were not a perfect representation of real world driving, but the full effect of this has 

only recently become apparent, as the introduction of Euro 4 and 5 vehicles failed to 

improve air quality as expected. More recently still, portable emissions monitoring (PEMS) 

has become easier and cheaper, and so several studies have tested vehicles in real world 

driving to assess the true difference between the test cycle and on-road performance. 

 

Figure 3: Real world NOx emissions of passenger cars (g/km) vs Euro standards 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

Nox PM

m
g

/k
W

h

Euro emissions standards (heavy duty engines)

Euro I ('93) Euro II ('99) Euro III ('01) Euro IV ('06) Euro V ('09) Euro VI ('15)

Page 189



 

73 

 

Figure 3 above shows the results of two studies on the real world performance of diesel 

cars. It can be seen that from Euro 3 to Euro 6, the emissions limits for NOx were lowered 

by 85%, and yet the actual NOx emitted in real world driving has only decreased by about 

40%. The graphic above was taken from an ICCT study52, in which 15 new Euro 6 cars 

were tested. Although most of the vehicles failed to meet the standard in real world driving, 

one of them did achieve it, showing that the technology does exist. There are plans to 

introduce an element of PEMs into the Euro 6 test process from 2017, and this will 

hopefully force all manufacturers to improve their approach. 

The picture for heavy duty vehicles is more optimistic, as can be seen in Figure 4 below. 

Taken from a separate report by the ICCT53, this shows the results of 210 tests on 38 

different vehicles, including buses, rigid trucks and articulated trucks. Each dot represents 

a test, with 22 tests of Euro IV, 133 of Euro V and 55 of Euro VI. The ‘conformity factor’ is 

the ratio of the result to the standard limit, so a value of ‘2’ means the vehicle was emitting 

double what it should for its Euro standard, and any value under ‘1’ would mean it was 

cleaner than its Euro standard would require. 

 

Figure 4: Performance of heavy duty engines against Euro standards 

The figure clearly illustrates the problem with Euro IV and V – these vehicles are typically 

emitting several times what they should, with Euro V particularly bad. Research suggests 

the reason for this is that the standard test cycle includes very little driving with the engine 

at low temperatures or idling, where the catalysts used are less effective, despite this 

being common in real world urban use. 

The picture for Euro VI is much more optimistic. For Euro VI, changes were made in the 

test cycle, and manufacturers were also required to include monitoring equipment that 

                                                             
52

 “Fact sheet: Real-world emissions from modern diesel cars”, October 2014, www.theicct.org 
53

 “Briefing: Comparison of real-world off-cycle NOx emissions control in Euro IV, V, and VI”, March 2015, 

www.theicct.org 

Page 190



 

74 

 

would constantly monitor exhaust gases in use, and put the engine into partial shut-down if 

limits were exceeded. It would appear from the results in Figure 4 that this has been 

effective, and indeed that at Euro VI level heavy duty vehicles may for the first time be less 

polluting than passenger cars and vans.  

For the fleet manager or policy maker looking to promote ‘low emission vehicles’ with a 

view to improving air quality, there are the following take-away messages: 

• Diesel cars, even brand new models, probably still have poor emissions 

performance (although this is likely to improve after 2017). 

• Petrol cars are a better option. Emissions will be broadly related to fuel 

consumption, so more efficient cars, and hybrids, will be better. ‘Zero emissions’ 

vehicles, i.e. electric (or hydrogen), emit nothing during driving so are the best 

choice for urban areas. 

• In the case of buses and trucks, Euro VI is very clean in practice. As with cars, 

emissions will be related to fuel consumption, so more efficient vehicles will further 

improve emissions performance. 

 

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions: 

The definition of ‘low’ GHG emissions is more difficult to pin down. Air quality is a local 

problem, so emissions control is mainly a concern on the vehicle itself, at point of use. 

Climate change is a global problem, so GHG emissions need to consider the whole 

lifecycle of the fuel – an electric car can’t have ‘low’ emissions if the GHG emissions at the 

power plant are more than an equivalent car would have generated running on petrol. 

A low GHG emissions technology needs to offer a significant reduction in emissions 

compared to the best available ‘conventional’ technology, which is usually a modern diesel 

engine. For several recent funding opportunities, the UK government has required a 

minimum GHG saving of 15% vs diesel to qualify, on a ‘well-to-wheels’ basis (i.e. taking 

the whole lifecycle of the fuel/energy into account). Some technologies just manage about 

15%, whereas others can achieve considerably more, which is why the latest round of 

funding for low emission buses has moved to a sliding scale. 

A wide range of technology approaches are available to lower GHG emissions, most of 

which lower energy use and therefore running costs as well. The principles of the main 

technologies are explained in the table below, followed by a table that summarises the 

technology options by vehicle type, along with their main costs and benefits. 

Low emission technologies: 

Parallel 

hybrid 

(Hybrid 

Electric 

Vehicle or 

HEV) 

This is the type of vehicle most synonymous with the term ‘hybrid’, 

with the Toyota Prius the most well-known example. This type of 

hybrid has a conventional engine drive-train driving the wheels, but 

has a separate, parallel, electric drivetrain (battery and motor(s)) 

also helping to drive the wheels. Commonly one set of wheels is 

driven by the conventional engine and the other by the electric 

Page 191



 

75 

 

motor. All of the energy used by the electric drivetrain is gathered 

from regenerative braking – i.e. allowing the wheels to push the 

electric motor, generating electricity while using the electrical 

resistance of the motor to slow the car. 

The electric motor will generally operate at times of peak load, such 

as acceleration. The biggest benefit in terms of fuel economy is to 

allow the vehicle to have a downsized conventional engine, thus 

saving fuel all the time while still having the performance of a 

vehicle with a larger engine. 

This type of hybrid is best suited to urban driving, with frequent 

acceleration and deceleration. For this reason the Toyota Prius is 

one of the most popular taxis in the UK. In motorway conditions 

however, there is little opportunity to collect electrical energy, and 

the downsized engine may be less efficient than a larger equivalent. 

Plug in 

hybrid 

(PHEV) 

The term plug-in hybrid normally refers to a parallel hybrid fitted with 

a larger battery pack, and the ability to charge from an external 

source of electricity. The ‘plug-in’ Prius, for example, has a battery 

about four times larger than the non-plug-in Prius, meaning it can be 

driven just by the electric motor for 12.5 miles. 

Since most journeys, especially in urban areas, are quite short, this 

type of vehicle can operate in pure electric mode for much of the 

time. However, if necessary it can be used for longer journeys, 

operating in the same way as a parallel hybrid once it’s all electric 

range is used up. 

Series 

hybrid (or 

Range 

Extended 

Electric 

Vehicle - 

REEV) 

Like a parallel hybrid, a series hybrid has an electric drivetrain and a 

‘conventional’ engine. However, in a series hybrid the conventional 

engine is only used to generate electricity to extend the range of the 

battery, not to directly drive the wheels. The Vauxhall Ampera and 

BMW i3 are the best known series hybrids in the UK market. 

The advantage of the series approach is that in theory the 

conventional engine can be redesigned once it no longer has to 

drive the wheels. As it is only generating electricity, it can be made 

smaller, lighter, and more efficient at a single power output. 

Meanwhile only the very efficient electric motor(s) are actually used 

to drive the wheels. 

In practice, series hybrids tend to have larger batteries than plug-in 

(parallel) hybrids, hence they are seen as Range Extended Electric 

Vehicles (REEVs). Charged from the mains, the Ampera has a 

range of around 50 miles before the range extender needs to kick 

in. This type of vehicle offers more opportunity to redesign the 

chassis and the conventional engine, and manufacturers are only 

Page 192



 

76 

 

just starting to exploit these possibilities fully, particularly BMW with 

the i3. 

Battery 

electric 

(BEV) 

A Battery Electric Vehicle (BEV) is a straightforward electric vehicle 

with only electric motors driving the wheels and a battery to store 

energy. Typical range on one charge is around 100 miles, but the 

top of the range Tesla S can achieve 270 miles (with a £90,000 

price tag). 

The battery of a BEV is charged from an external source. Most 

BEVs (cars) can charge from a standard plug socket, but this 

usually takes 6- 8 hours, and a heavy duty (blue) plug is 

recommended for regular use. Dedicated charging posts are able to 

deliver a ‘fast’ charge in 3-4 hours. ‘Rapid’ chargers can deliver an 

80% charge in around 30 minutes, but not all BEVs can accept this 

level of charge, and installing rapid chargers is expensive as they 

draw so much current that local electricity grids often need 

upgrading to support them.  

Gas Internal combustion engines can run on natural gas from the UK 

gas grid. A modern gas engine is very similar to the latest petrol 

engines, using spark plugs to ignite the gas, and a 3-way catalyst to 

remove CO, hydrocarbons and NOx from the exhaust. The 

efficiency is also similar to a petrol engine. 

Natural gas, or methane, is the cleanest burning fossil fuel in terms 

of carbon emissions. ‘Biomethane’ is methane produced through 

anaerobic digestion of organic material, and so is a renewable fuel 

with very low lifecycle greenhouse gas emissions. 

Gas can be stored on a vehicle either in compressed or liquefied 

form. Compressed gas needs to be stored in pressurised tanks, and 

takes up over three times as much volume as petrol or diesel (for 

the same amount of energy), which will limit the practical range of 

the vehicle on a single fill. Liquefied gas has double the energy 

density of compressed gas, giving longer vehicle range, but must be 

stored in a special tank at -162oC. Over a period of days, the gas 

will warm up and ‘boil off’ so such vehicles need to be in constant 

regular use. 

Hydrogen 

fuel cell 

A hydrogen fuel cell vehicle is driven by electric motors, but uses a 

fuel cell in place of a battery. A fuel cell is a device which can create 

electricity continuously through the chemical reaction of a fuel. A 

hydrogen fuel cell reacts hydrogen with oxygen in a controlled way, 

to create a stream of electrons (rather than an explosion and lots of 

heat, as usually happens when hydrogen reacts with oxygen). 

The advantage of a fuel cell vehicle is that it is essentially an electric 

Page 193



 

77 

 

vehicle that can be refuelled at a filling station. 

There are still several major obstacles to fuel cell vehicles. The 

most immediate is the cost of fuel cells themselves, which is still 

very high. The second is the ability to store hydrogen – compressed 

hydrogen has a very low energy density, so several tanks are 

needed to achieve the same range as a conventional fuel tank. This 

need not be a huge problem if fuelling stations are common, but as 

yet there are very few they are quite expensive. Finally, hydrogen is 

only really an energy ‘carrier’ – the well-to-wheel emissions 

reductions achieved by a hydrogen vehicle depend on the way the 

hydrogen is created. 

Novel hybrid 

(flywheel, 

air, 

hydrogen) 

While most hybrid vehicles use an electric drivetrain, this does 

require a battery, which is both heavy and expensive. For this 

reason many engineers have looked at alternative ways of 

harvesting braking energy and re-using it to improve overall vehicle 

performance. 

Flywheels store kinetic energy by accelerating a spinning wheel to 

tens of thousands of RPM. Although automotive flywheels have 

been considered theoretically for a long time, they were first made a 

practical reality with the KERS (Kinetic Energy Recovery System) 

developed for Formula 1. Since proving the concept in racing, they 

have been further developed for buses, which have a continuous 

stop-start drive-cycle well suited to the technology. Two different 

manufacturers are in the process of bringing these buses to market. 

Another way of storing braking energy is to use it to compress air in 

a small pressurised tank. This air can then be used to give a 

moderate engine efficiency boost by driving a supercharger. A more 

ambitious system, soon to be put into production by Peugeot, is a 

full parallel hybrid with a larger compressed air tank and a hydraulic 

motor which can drive the wheels. Similar to an electric plug-in 

hybrid, the compressed air tank can be charged/filled from an 

external source, and the vehicle can drive for short distances on air 

alone. 

One novel system uses electrical energy from regenerative braking 

to generate hydrogen using a small electrolyser. This hydrogen is 

then fed back into the engine along with the fuel, boosting engine 

performance and thus reducing fuel consumption. 

 

 

Other technologies that don’t quite count as ‘low emission’: 

 

Page 194



 

78 

 

LPG (liquid 

petroleum 

gas) 

Liquid Petroleum Gas is a mixture of propane and butane, and is a 

co-product of the production of refined petrol and/or natural gas 

(methane). Like natural gas it can be used in an engine very similar 

to a petrol engine – in fact since manufacturers no longer produce 

LPG-specific vehicles, all LPG vehicles are now converted from 

petrol. LPG attracts a lower rate of fuel duty than petrol and diesel, 

and there is a national network of filling stations, so there are still a 

significant number of people choosing it on cost grounds. 

LPG offers around a 15% GHG saving vs petrol, and was supported 

as a low emissions option by the government. Given that diesel 

engines are inherently more efficient than petrol, the rise of diesel in 

the car market has wiped out most of the benefit from using LPG. 

However, new sources of renewable LPG have become available 

recently, as a by-product of some biofuel production processes, 

which could offer significant extra GHG reductions. 

Mild hybrid ‘Mild’ hybrids capture energy from regenerative braking, and feed it 

back into the electrical systems of the vehicle. This recovered 

electrical energy is not therefore used to directly power the wheels, 

but will increase fuel economy by reducing the work the engine has 

to do to recharge the battery via the alternator. 

In vehicles where the engine has to support a high auxiliary 

electrical load, mild hybridisation can have a big impact on fuel 

consumption. This would be true for passenger cars in hot countries 

where the air conditioning is in constant use. This approach is 

increasingly being used in larger vehicles, switching refrigeration 

units to run on batteries for example, and switching refuse truck 

compactors and bin lifts from hydraulic systems powered by the 

engine, to electrical operation with much of the energy coming from 

the continuous stopping and starting of this type of vehicle. 

The advantage of this approach is that the energy collected from 

braking can be used without fitting a second, expensive, electric 

drivetrain. However, the benefits to be gained are limited unless 

there are significant demands for electricity in the vehicle. 

Dual fuel One drawback of both gas and LPG is that although they are 

cheaper and cleaner than diesel, they require an ignition source. 

Diesel engines are more efficient than petrol engines because 

diesel can be made to ignite when compressed, whereas petrol 

requires a spark. Due to the different thermodynamics of the 

processes involved, ‘compression ignition’ engines are about 25% 

more efficient than ‘spark ignition’ engines, which is why diesel 

vehicles are cheaper to run even though diesel is more expensive 

than petrol. 

Page 195



 

79 

 

‘Dual fuel’ engines attempt to burn gas or LPG with diesel efficiency, 

by injecting a mixture of diesel and gas into the cylinder. The 

droplets of diesel ignite under compression, thereby also igniting the 

gas. 

Dual fuel engines can only substitute gas for diesel effectively when 

operating at a high, steady load, such as motorway driving. Dual 

fuel systems for modern engines are only coming onto the market in 

small numbers as yet, and the effect of the systems on emissions, 

especially NOx and methane, is still poorly understood. 

 

 

Low emission vehicles – suitability and availability by vehicle type 

 

Cars 
 

[BMW i3] 

• Passenger cars are available in a full 

range of hybrid and electric models.  

• From an urban air quality point of view, 

vehicles that can run in full electric 

mode in urban areas (BEV, PHEV, 

REEV) are the surest option until Euro 6 

tests are improved, but any small petrol 

car will be very clean. 

• For fleets running vehicles every day in 

urban environments, BEVs already offer 

a good economic payback. 

Taxis 

 

[Toyota Prius] 

• [See notes for cars above, which also 

apply to taxis.] 

• Due to their mostly urban use, the 

Toyota Prius has already become one 

the most popular choices for taxis. 

• While gas is not really an option for 

private cars, due to a lack of fuelling 

infrastructure, black cabs with gas 

engines are available and being used 

where access to a fuelling station can 

be arranged. (As in Reading, where 

taxis have been given access to the bus 

company’s fuelling station.) 

Page 196



 

80 

 

Small 

vans 
 

[ENV200] 

• There are several all electric small vans 

available from Nissan, Renault and 

Peugeot, but no hybrids. 

• The VW Caddy is available in the UK in 

a gas variant. 

• There are currently no factory 

production hybrid or electric vans in the 

2.5-3.5t GVW range (Transit size). 

Large 

vans and 

minibuses 
 

[Fuso Canter hybrid] 

• In the 3.5-7.5t GVW range there are a 

small number of hybrid options, notably 

the Fuso Canter (pictured). 

• Gas versions of the Mercedes Sprinter 

and Iveco Daily are available and can 

offer cost savings vs diesel. 

 

Rigid 

trucks 

(15-26t) 
 

[Eurocargo CNG] 

• Gas is the only low emissions 

technology available for this type of 

vehicle – the Iveco Eurocargo is the 

only readily available model. 

• Typical mileages for this type of truck 

are too low to offer economic payback 

on this type of gas truck if the cost of a 

fuelling station is included. However, it 

may be economic for a mixed fleet, 

where more of the cost of refuelling 

infrastructure is recovered from other 

vehicle types using more fuel. 

Refuse 

collection 

vehicles 
 

[Econic CNG] 

• Mercedes and Scania make gas fuelled 

RCVs. The high fuel consumption of 

these vehicles makes economic 

payback relatively quick, even with the 

cost of refuelling infrastructure. 

• Some manufacturers, including Volvo, 

are developing hybrid options, as this is 

suited to the stop-start nature of their 

use. Recovered braking energy may 

also be used to power bin-lifts and 

compactors, rather than the vehicle. 

Page 197



 

81 

 

Buses  

[Optare Solo Flybus] 

• A full range of low emission 

technologies are available for buses – 

hybrid, plug-in-hybrid, electric, flywheel 

hybrid, gas and hydrogen. 

• The stop-start drive-cycle and high 

mileage make all options suitable for 

buses – the best fit needs to be 

assessed on a case-by-case basis. 

HGVs 

 

[Volvo FM methane-diesel] 

• Electric and hybrid are not suitable 

technologies for long-haul trucks as the 

batteries required would be too heavy, 

and there is little opportunity to recover 

braking energy. 

• Gas is a viable option, but is limited as 

most hauliers require engines of 400+ 

bhp, and the most powerful gas engines 

currently available are around 330 bhp. 

• Several hauliers are switching to dual 

fuel vehicles, as these offer cost and 

emissions savings while still providing 

the safety net that they can run on 

diesel if the gas runs out. 

 

 

 

 

Page 198



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: 
Strategy & Resources 

Service area: 
PPPU 

Lead person: 
Polly Cook 

Contact number: 
0113 3952484 

 
1. Title: Leeds’ Air Quality 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The proposal is to define the Council’s role in addressing the city’s air quality 
problem, and to develop a strategy to positively contribute to improving air quality in 
Leeds, taking into account the policy levers available to the Council, the impact on 
businesses and the economy, and public health. 
 
 
 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 199



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
Yes. The information available to us from various sources that confirms some specific 
equality strands are disproportionately affected by Air Quality issues, such as disabled 
people (asthma/COPD), elderly people (poorer immune systems and less reserve) and 
pregnant women (low birth weight babies and increased maternal complications). The 
following information is extracted from a presentation delivered by a clinician specialising 
in respiratory conditions in June 2015: 

 
The statistics are as follows: 

Page 200



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 
Increased rates of asthma development with air pollution. 
 

 30% increase in adult onset asthma for every 1-μg/m3 increase in the 
concentration of traffic-generated PM10 

 
 Increased risk of COPD 

 
A 7-μg/m3 increase in the 5-year mean PM10 concentration was associated with a 33% 
increase in the development of COPD and a 5.1% decline in forced expiratory volume. 
 
There are also increase risks of: 
 

 Pneumonia in adults 
 Lung cancer 
 General mortality 

 
The recommendations contained in the main Executive Board report have been designed 
with the intention of delivering tangible outcomes that will improve air quality in Leeds, 
and consequentially improve conditions for the afore mentioned groups.  
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
 
As above, the negative impacts are health related, and the positive impacts brought 
about by improving air quality will have a positive effect on all members of the public, 
therefore there are only advantages for all by implementing the recommendations 
detailed in the main report. 
 
 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
N/A. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Polly Cook Executive Programme 

Manager 
25th August 2015 

Date screening completed  
 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 

Page 202



 

 

Report of Chief Executive  

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 21 October 2015 

Subject: Strong Economy, Compassionate City 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. This report is the response to the White Paper motion passed at July Council on 
sharing economic success in the city.  

2. Leeds has bounced back from the recession strongly. Employment is back to pre-
recession levels, there are cranes on the city’s skyline, and the private sector is 
growing fast. This economic success is a result of the resilience, entrepreneurship, 
innovation, and investment by the private sector. The Council has also played a pivotal 
role. We have not just sat back and left it to the market to provide the economic 
recovery. We have intervened proactively to kickstart development and regeneration 
projects, support businesses to grow and invest, and to help people into work.  

3. The Council used its powers to help assemble the sites for the Trinity and Victoria 
Gate schemes, unlocking over £0.5 billion of retail investment. The Council bringing 
forward its land at Sovereign Street to enable the development of 160,000 square feet 
of Grade A office accommodation and a new public square. The Council’s First Direct 
arena has attracted over a million visitors, and a huge amount of additional spending 
to Leeds. We have worked with developers to pump prime the delivery of more than 
300,000sq.ft of modern manufacturing and logistics employment space in the 
Enterprise Zone. We have forward funded the new railway station at Kirkstall Forge, 
helping bring forward a major brownfield development project with 1000 new homes. 
We have provided over £7.5m in grants to businesses in Leeds, levering in over £50m 
in private sector investment, creating around 1,000 jobs. We have helped thousands of 
people into work, including 4,600 between April 2014 and March 2015.   

 Report author:  Tom Riordan 

Tel:  0113 24 74554 

Page 203

Agenda Item 10



 

 

4. We need to integrate our approach to promoting economic growth and tackling 
poverty. By enhancing the ability of all our people to contribute to the economy to their 
full potential we can boost the economic productivity and competitiveness of Leeds. 
We can also reduce the costs of poverty to the economy and the taxpayer. 

5. We should not take economic growth for granted. To tackle poverty we need to create 
more and better jobs. We need a city which is open for business where we continue to 
support inward investment, business growth, and the development of new homes, 
business premises and retail and leisure schemes. There is a challenge to build a 
more productive economy. The public sector has a role in providing the right 
conditions for businesses to commercialise innovation, access a skilled workforce, use 
infrastructure to connect to markets, and to promote trade and investment.  

6. The Council is also seeking a wider commitment from the private sector and other 
employers. In line with the concept of Civic Enterprise, we want the Council to be more 
enterprising, and enterprises to be more civic. We are seeking a commitment from 
businesses and other large organisations to work with the Council and other 
organisations to help tackle poverty and invest in communities in Leeds. We will seek 
a true partnership with the private sector where organisations such as the Chamber of 
Commerce are integral to finding solutions, not just consultees.  

7. We need to do more to support people to create and access new economic 
opportunities and to respond to the challenges of economic change. We should treat 
every person in Leeds as an underdeveloped asset. In line with our ambitions as a 
Child Friendly City we will put children at the heart of our growth strategy. We must 
ensure our young people are well equipped with the right skills, ambition, mindset and 
resilience to succeed in further and higher education and in the modern workplace. We 
can do more to tackle the growing issue of low pay. There is a scope for us to build on 
our existing work to integrate services aimed at helping people in poverty to develop 
more comprehensive approaches to regenerating neighbourhoods, bringing together 
support for people with plans for physical renewal.  

8. The ambition for a strong economy, compassionate city is set out in the Best Council 
Plan, and in particular in the Best Council Plan objectives around promoting 
sustainable and inclusive economic growth, supporting communities and tackling 
poverty, and becoming a child friendly city. The Council’s cross-cutting breakthrough 
projects are also relevant, particularly the projects on more jobs, better jobs, strong 
communities benefitting from a strong city, and housing growth and high standards in 
all sectors. The overall aim of this report is reflected in one of the main themes of the 
report of the Commission for the Future of Local Government around sustainable and 
inclusive economic growth. 

9. The main themes proposed in this paper do not intend to be comprehensive, and do 
not seek to cover all the work the Council is doing already. The intention is to focus on 
a few areas where we can do more and there are practical steps we can take to make 
a difference.  The priority areas of work identified contribute to a coherent approach to  
creating more and better jobs, connecting people to opportunities (including children), 
and building strong communities and attractive places. The proposed main themes are 
set out below. 

Page 204



 

 

1. Tackling low pay – developing a city wide approach to tackling low pay through 
championing the Living Wage, and supporting people to progress into better jobs. 

2. Regenerating places – a new approach to regeneration based on improving the 
prospects for people in our most deprived neighbourhoods, by creating a rolling 
programme of prioritised schemes, setting out clear visions and plans for these 
places, integrating investment and services and intervening early. 

3. A life ready for learning – putting children at the heart of the growth strategy 
and preparing them for the world of work, by strengthening careers advice and links 
with employers to enhance young people’s ability to succeed in their future careers.  

4. Supporting businesses to grow and invest – strengthening our approach to 
working with business to assist them, signpost  advice, funding and investment, and 
increasing the value of community investment by business, by securing a stronger 
and more widespread commitment from firms and public sector employers to invest 
in local communities, and the skills and health of their workforce.  

5. Creating quality places and spaces – raising the quality of housing and 
commercial development in terms of design, sustainability, the quality of public 
space, community benefits, and employment and training opportunities. 

6. Backing innovators and entrepreneurs – building a more productive economy, 
based on commercialising knowledge and innovation, creating new firms and 
scaling up small businesses, and retaining more graduates in Leeds, stopping a 
“brain drain” to other cities. 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is recommended to approve the following: 

Tackling Low Pay 

i)   Living wage city – Leeds City Council will work with partners to develop a 
Living Wage City campaign to encourage employers to pay the Living Wage as 
accredited by the National Living Wage Foundation. The aim should be to 
significantly increase the number of Living Wage businesses in Leeds over the 
next year. 

ii)  Supporting people to get better jobs – Leeds City Council will work with the 
LEP, the Chamber of Commerce, and education and training providers to 
develop proposals to create a careers advice and in-work progression service, 
and support for employers, aimed at helping people moving out of low paid work 
into better jobs.   

Regenerating places 

iii)  A new approach to regeneration – the Council will identify a rolling 
programme of prioritised schemes in deprived areas, with an emphasis on 
bringing together the approach to supporting people and communities with 
interventions to deliver positive physical development and change, with a 
particular focus on early intervention to tackle the causes of poverty. A paper 

Page 205



 

 

recommending the details of the approach should be brought to Executive Board 
by early 2016. 
  

A life ready for learning – putting children at the heart of the growth strategy 

iv) Strengthening business engagement in schools – The Council will work with 
business leaders, head teachers, universities and colleges and leading experts 
and enterprises in the third sector to look at how to build on existing work to 
strengthen business engagement in Leeds schools. The aim should be to 
ensure that all secondary schools, particularly those with a high proportion of 
pupils from deprived areas, have strong partnerships with business.  

v)  Enhancing careers advice and guidance for young people – the Council will 
work with business leaders, head teachers, universities and colleges, leading 
experts in the third sector, and the national Careers and Enterprise Company to 
look at how to strengthen independent careers advice in schools. The aim 
should be that all secondary schools offer good quality careers advice. 
 

Supporting business to invest in growth and communities 

vi)  Key Account Management – the Key Account Management approach to 
working with businesses should be extended across the Council and a wider 
range of businesses to strengthen the approach to promoting business growth 
and community investment. The aim should be to ensure regular contact with 
150 businesses that are significant strategically. 

vii) Promoting community investment – the Council works with other 
organisations and business leaders to develop an initiative to encourage more 
businesses in Leeds to commit to investing in their workforce and their local 
communities. The aim should be for 50 businesses to strengthen their 
community investment work.  
  

Creating quality places and spaces  

viii) Creating quality places and spaces – we will continue to seek to improve the 
quality of design of new development, including through refreshing the 
Neighbourhoods for Living design guidance document. 

ix) Securing good jobs and skills outcomes from major development and 
infrastructure projects – we will set out how we will build on the achievements 
and learning over recent years to set out how we can strengthen our approach 
to using major developments and infrastructure projects to support training and 
jobs for local people. A paper setting out the details of this approach should be 
brought to Executive Board by earlier 2016. 

Backing innovators and entrepreneurs  

x)  Keeping graduates in Leeds – we will develop an initiative to improve levels of 
graduate retention in Leeds, including interventions to help tackle skills 

Page 206



 

 

shortages and fill vacancies at graduate level in the digital sector, and a Leeds 
graduate careers fair and clearing system to connect students to future job 
opportunities in Leeds. A paper setting out the details of this approach should be 
brought to Executive Board by earlier 2016. 

xi) Backing innovators – we will develop an initiative to support the future growth 
of innovative businesses that have been incubated by Universities and other 
bodies, and are now looking to grow and move on to new business space and 
employ more people. A paper setting out the details of this approach should be 
brought to Executive Board by earlier 2016. 

xii) Backing entrepreneurs – we will develop a new enterprise programme using 
European Funds to provide support for people starting new businesses. We will 
also provide support for small business accelerators in the city, including the 
proposed digital business accelerator. 

Next Steps 

xiii) The Chief Executive, supported by the Chief Officer Economy and 
Regeneration, is responsible for implementation, and will update Executive 
Board on progress in spring 2016.  

Page 207



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 In July 2015 Full Council passed a White Paper Motion on sharing the economic 
success of the city: 

1.2 “This Council notes that the Leeds economy has achieved significant economic 
growth in recent years, outperforming national comparators and demonstrating 
the hard work of businesses in Leeds as well as the success of the vision 
pursued by the Council since 2010 to ensure Leeds remains “open for business”, 
despite the challenging economic outlook nationally.   

1.3 Council believes that the cost of living crisis means now, more than ever, is the 
time for all communities in our diverse city to share in the benefits of the city’s 
economic growth. Council believes that businesses in the city have a pivotal role 
to play to ensure this happens, through an ethical and civic approach to doing 
business in Leeds.   

1.4 Council confirms its major priority for the year ahead is to work to transform 
Leeds into a compassionate, caring city where all its residents benefit from the 
effects of the city’s economic growth.  Council will focus on creating the right 
conditions for the economy of Leeds to prosper, but will also work to ensure a 
consequence of that growth is a reduction in the inequalities that exist in Leeds. 

1.5 Council therefore calls on the Chief Executive to bring forward an Executive 
Board report on a strategy to enable elected members on behalf of Leeds City 
Council to work with businesses and organisations to help communities across 
Leeds share in the economic success of the city, through measures that include: 
the Living Wage, reducing corporate tax avoidance, supporting local skills and 
employment initiatives, the Mindful Employer’s initiative, fully meeting planning 
process obligations for community infrastructure and providing affordable 
housing.” 

1.6 This paper sets out the Council’s vision for a strong economy and compassionate 
city. The aim is to sustain and accelerate the economic progress the city is 
making whilst ensuring that all people and communities in Leeds contribute and 
benefit from economic success. 

1.7 The vision of ‘strong economy, compassionate city’ is based on an aim to 
promote “good growth” which is sustainable and inclusive. This was set out in the 
report of the Commission for the Future of Local Government as one of the five 
main roles for councils. 

1.8 This paper proposes that the Council adopt an integrated approach to supporting 
growth and tackling poverty. Through the Council’s “More Jobs, Better Jobs” 
partnership we are developing a robust evidence base on the case for joining up 
work on economic growth and poverty reduction. 

1.9 If we rely on a trickle-down approach to economic growth, not all people and 
communities will benefit, inequalities will widen. The economy will be held back 
over the longer term as a result of the costs of poverty, and the fact that not 
everyone will be contributing to the economy to their full potential.  

Page 208



 

 

1.10 If we seek to tackle poverty separately to supporting growth there is a risk that we 
will only mitigate the consequences of deprivation, not tackle its causes. Without 
growth, the scope for redistribution of wealth will be limited, particularly in the 
context of austerity.  

1.11 An inclusive and sustainable approach to growth will contribute to building a 
stronger, more resilient and competitive economy for the long term. It will enable 
us to develop the knowledge and ideas to exploit new economic opportunities, 
and to adapt to future economic change. 

2 Background information 

2.1 Leeds was hit hard by the recession. In the depths of the downturn in 2009 we had 
lost 28,000 jobs. Development on major retail, office and industrial schemes 
stalled. Developers found themselves unable to access finance. And severe public 
spending cuts, which have fallen disproportionally on cities in the north, also 
damaged economic confidence. 

2.2 As a result of the Council’s leadership and the resilience of the private sector 
Leeds has bounced back strongly from the recession. Employment is back to pre-
recession levels and the private sector is growing fast. 

2.3 We have over 600,000 square feet of grade A office space under construction in 
the city centre. We are in the midst of a £0.5 billion boom in retail property 
investment, with Hammerson’s Victoria Gate scheme (including the largest John 
Lewis outside London) on site, following Land Securities £300m Trinity Leeds 
scheme which was the largest shopping centre in Europe to complete in 2013.  

2.4 Beyond the city centre we have over 300,000 square feet of modern industrial and 
logistics premises under construction in the Enterprise Zone, into which we are 
attracting businesses. We have kick-started development on major mixed use 
schemes such as Kirkstall Forge in West Leeds, and Thorpe Park in East Leeds. 
The White Rose centre in South Leeds is also being extended. All of which is 
delivering new business space, new homes and thousands of new jobs. 

2.5 According to Centre for Cities, Leeds is experiencing the fastest rate of private 
sector jobs growth of any major city in the UK. Leeds has the highest number of 
fast-growing scale-up companies of any area outside London and the South East. 
We are attracting major new investments in manufacturing, digital, and business 
services. Leeds has now moved into the top five UK cities in terms of the number 
of inward investment projects. 

2.6 We haven’t achieved this by sitting back and leaving it all to the market. Leeds City 
Council has been proactive in intervening to kickstart regeneration, attracting 
investment and getting the economy moving. We have supported developers to 
facilitate and de-risk major schemes in all parts of Leeds. We secured funding 
from Government to create the Leeds City Region Business Growth Programme 
small grants scheme, part of which is run by Leeds City Council. This has provided 
over £7.5m in grants to businesses in Leeds, levering in over £50m in private 
sector investment, creating around 1000 jobs. The Council has also helped over 
4,600 people into work between April 2014 and March 2015.  

Page 209



 

 

2.7 We should not take the future economic success of the city for granted. We still 
need to work to improve the productivity of our economy, create better jobs, 
develop our capacity and ability to exploit new ideas, engage with new markets, 
focus on production not just consumption, and work closely with the private sector 
and partners to cope with ongoing pressures of austerity. 

2.8 Not everyone is benefitting equally from the city’s economic success. We have 
longstanding problems of deprivation in parts of our city. Around 65,000 Leeds 
households (20% of the total) are living in poverty. Around 150,000 people in 
Leeds (around 20% of the Leeds population) live in wards ranked amongst the 
10% most deprived nationally. Unemployment in Leeds at (9.6%) remains above 
the national average. This figure rises to more than 20% in some areas of Leeds; 
for example, Seacroft, Hunslet and Richmond Hill. Around one in eight of all 
working age adults in the city receive an out-of-work benefit but this figure rises to 
more than one in five in more deprived areas. 

2.9 The Council has responded to these issues by developing a new, more integrated 
approach to providing services and support to people in poverty. Executive Board 
approved on 6th November 2013 the recommendations of a report, Developing a 
new approach to poverty and deprivation. This set out the Council’s approach to 
providing accessible and integrated services to people, helping people out of 
financial hardship, helping people into work, and being responsive to the needs of 
local communities.  

2.10 The Council has also formed the “More Jobs, Better Jobs” partnership with Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation to look at how we can better integrate policy and action to 
support growth and tackle poverty.  
 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Overview 

3.1.1 The main themes proposed below do not intend to be comprehensive, and do not 
seek to cover all the work the Council is doing already. The intention is to build on 
the Councils existing initiatives around promoting economic growth and 
regeneration, enhancing our cultural offer, tackling unemployment, joining up 
services to respond to issues of poverty, improving housing conditions, a planning 
system that promotes good quality development, cutting carbon emissions, 
tackling health inequalities, and creating a Child Friendly City.  

3.1.2 The main themes set out below contribute to a coherent approach to supporting 
economic growth and tackling poverty. The themes around supporting business 
growth, backing innovators and entrepreneurs and tackling low pay contribute to 
the need to create more jobs and better jobs, and to increase economic 
productivity. The theme around putting children at the heart of the growth strategy 
contributes to a long-term approach to building a knowledge based economy, 
developing a skilled, creative and resilient workforce. The themes around a new 
approach to regeneration, and creating quality places and spaces contribute to 
strengthening communities, connecting people to opportunities, and creating 
attractive places where people want to live and businesses invest in. 

Page 210



 

 

3.1.2 Securing greater devolution will enhance our ability to support economic growth 
and tackle deprivation. 

3.2 Tackling Low Pay 

The Issues  
 

3.2.1 Leeds has bounced back strongly from the recession. Leeds is experiencing the 
highest rate of private sector jobs growth of any major UK city. Job numbers are 
now back to pre-recession levels, and unemployment is falling. 

3.2.2 But low pay is a significant problem. Over 70,000 workers in Leeds earn less than 
the Living Wage of £7:85 an hour. Many of these people are undertaking part time 
roles, in insecure jobs, including zero hours contracts.  

3.2.3 Low pay creates costs for the public sector. Contrary to popular belief, the majority 
of benefit claimants are in jobs, mainly part-time and low paid work. If we can 
halve numbers of people in in-work poverty in Leeds City Region we will save the 
taxpayer £60 million. Low pay also affects economic productivity. People can 
become caught in a trap of low pay and low skills, limiting their ability to contribute 
more to the economy. 

3.2.4 Some employers are taking a lead in tackling low pay by paying a “Living Wage” at 
the level accredited by the Living Wage Foundation (currently £7:85 an hour). The 
increase of the national minimum wage to £7:20 also sends an important signal to 
employers, although it will not increase the incomes of many people as it will be 
introduced alongside cuts to in-work benefits. 
 

What we will do  

Living Wage City 

3.2.5 The Living Wage (as specified by the Living Wage foundation, currently £7:85 an 
hour) is part of the solution. Leeds City Council have committed to pay all its staff 
the “real” Living Wage at the rate set by the Living Wage foundation next year, and 
to consider carefully increases in future years, despite the acute financial 
challenges we face. Some businesses are also taking a lead. For example, in the 
retail sector Ikea and Lidl are becoming Living Wage employers despite the severe 
cost competition in the retail market. KPMG pay their staff the Living Wage and 
also require their suppliers to do so.  

3.2.6 Leeds City Council will work with businesses and other organisations to develop a 
cross-sector campaign to get firms to commit to becoming Living Wage employers. 

 
Supporting people to progress into better jobs 

3.2.7 We will also launch a new initiative to engage with employers to support people to 
progress into better jobs and out of low pay and insecure employment. As the 
labour market changes, the rungs on career progression ladders are getting are 
being taken away or getting further apart. Employers should be supported to take 

Page 211



 

 

the lead, supported by the Council, the LEP, and education providers. Leeds City 
Council and the LEP have been working with the Joseph Rowntree Foundation to 
identify practical steps that can be taken to support better in-work progression. 
Potential interventions include: 

 A careers service for low paid workers, focused on providing independent 
advice and guidance on career opportunities;  

 An in-work progression service for individuals which could provide coaching, 
training and advice to help people access a higher paid job; and 

 Support for employers to improve training of low paid workers, to create clearer 
career progression opportunities for people, looking how jobs and workforce 
structures are designed, and to remove barriers to people moving into better 
paid jobs.  
 

3.3 Regenerating Places 

3.3.1 Despite the progress being made in the city, there are persistent problems of 
deprivation in some of our communities. The map at Annex 1 shows the 
neighbourhoods in Leeds which are amongst the 10% most deprived nationally. 

3.3.2 Until 2010 there were a series of area-based initiatives targeted on deprived areas 
and funded by central Government. Examples of these regeneration projects 
include City Challenge, the Single Regeneration Budget, the Neighbourhood 
Renewal Fund, and the Local Economic Growth initiative.  However we no longer 
have these programmes, and government policy, and funding through the LEPs, is 
focused on supporting economic growth, not tackling poverty as a primary 
objective. 

3.3.3     Problems of deprivation in Leeds have worsened as a result of austerity and 
welfare changes such as the Benefit Cap, Personal Independence Payments 
(which have replaced Disability Living Allowance payments), the Bedroom Tax, 
and Universal Credit. These pressures will become greater with the planned 
further reduction in the benefits cap, the removal of child tax credits, and the 
freezing of working age benefits.  

3.3.4 In response to these issues, Leeds City Council has developed an integrated 
approach to tackling poverty and deprivation. This has including developing new 
solutions and integrated approaches to service delivery to ensure that services for 
people in poverty are integrated, more accessible and delivered by working with 
local people.  

3.3.5 The Council have also been undertaking work aimed at improving the quality of 
existing housing stock, bringing forward sites for new homes, improving town and 
district centres and enhancing the quality of local environments, and creating 
better transport connections. In some areas, for example Middleton in South 
Leeds, and Holt Park in north Leeds, area-wide frameworks have been developed 
to guide these various physical initiatives. In Little London we have delivered a 

Page 212



 

 

comprehensive programme of improvements. We are developing plans for area-
wide regeneration of Hunslet and Hunslet Riverside.  

3.3.6 We now need to build on this work, to develop a more comprehensive approach to 
regeneration of areas with significant problems of deprivation.  

What we will do? 

Developing a new approach to regeneration  

3.3.7 The Council will develop a new approach to regeneration of deprived areas. We 
will set out a prioritised rolling programme of area-wide projects targeted at 
deprived neighbourhoods.   

3.3.8 This will involve bringing together elected members, communities, and partners 
(including business and the third sector) to set out a clear, ambitious whilst 
realistic vision of how areas can develop and change.  

3.3.9 This should inform a clear approach to how the Council will work with partners to 
deliver services, manage its assets, help people into work and out of low pay, 
support business and enterprise, improve existing housing stock and deliver 
housing growth to support the regeneration of our communities. 

3.3.10 It will not be possible to do this in all relevant areas of the city at once. There will 
be a need to focus effort in particular areas. This should be done by identifying the 
areas of need, and those where the Council and its partners has sufficient levers 
for change (which could include major development and growth projects, strategic 
assets, housing stock, or funding initiatives). 

3.3.11    The main principles will be: 

 Tackling the causes of poverty and deprivation, as well as seeking to mitigate 
the consequences; 

 Linking our work on promoting economic and jobs growth with that to tackle 
poverty; 

 Integrating service delivery and programmes across relevant policy areas, 
including bringing together initiatives aimed at supporting people, economic 
growth, and physical change; and 

 Intervening early to support people and places, seeking to tackle issues and 
problems at source (for example similar to the approach adopted through the 
Troubled Families programme). 
 

3.4 A life ready for learning – putting children at the heart of the growth strategy 

The Issue 

3.4.1 The economic success of Leeds will require skilled people, who can solve 
problems, generate new ideas, and exploit new opportunities. The extent to which 

Page 213



 

 

all people in Leeds can access job opportunities will depend on them having the 
right skills, and the ability to develop their skills as the economy changes. 

3.4.2 Our young people, our workforce of tomorrow, need to be equipped with the right 
skills and aspirations. Raising levels of educational attainment is important. Leeds 
is making significant improvements in school standards. Over nine out of ten 
primary schools in Leeds are now rated “Good” or “Outstanding” by Ofsted, and 
there is a positive direction of travel with secondary schools. In 2015, Leeds 
schools achieved an improvement in GCSE results (as measured by the 
proportion of pupils obtaining five or more A* to C grades) in contrast to the 
national trend.  

3.4.3 It is important our young people are equipped with the skills that are relevant to 
the modern economy, and help them access jobs in sectors in which there are 
likely to be high levels of vacancies. These might be sectors forecast to grow, 
such as digital, or sectors with high job replacement requirements because of a 
current ageing workforce. For example, the Manufacturing University Technical 
College, supported by the Chamber of Commerce, that will open in the South 
Bank of Leeds City Centre in 2017 will help address skills shortages in the 
manufacturing sector. There is scope for similar initiatives in relation to the Digital 
and Creative Industries sector. There are opportunities to forge links between 
Leeds schools and the national HS2 College, which will have one of its two main 
bases in Doncaster.   

3.4.4 However, to some extent the shape of the future economy is uncertain. It is 
important that our schools equip our young people with the ability and mindset to 
keep their skills up to date to ensure they are resilient and can prosper in the face 
of future economic change. Employers also indicate that they increasingly value 
basic numeracy, literacy and IT skills, as well as softer skills such as 
communication, team working, customer service, and problem solving. 

3.4.5 Whilst future economic change poses challenges it also will provide opportunities. 
There is greater scope for schools, businesses, colleges and universities to work 
together to enthuse our young people about the wide range and huge scale of 
opportunities in the modern economy. 

3.4.6 There are a range of initiatives to encourage and assist businesses and schools 
to work together, for example the Council’s Education Business Partnership, and 
the Make the Grade Programme run by the Ahead Partnership. But employer 
engagement in schools remains patchy, and there is scope to do much more. 

3.4.7 There is a need to improve careers guidance in our schools so that young people 
are well-informed when making decisions about future their education and 
employment. Young people with unclear or unrealistic career ambitions are far 
more likely to spend time not in education, employment and training.  

3.4.8 Young people feel this is an important issue and this is demonstrated by Child 
Friendly Leeds Wish No 9 “There are a greater number of better quality jobs, work 
experience opportunities and good quality careers advice for all”. In 2012/13 the 
Leeds Youth Council (LYC) ran a campaign focusing on improving careers 
information, advice and guidance (IAG) in schools as they felt it did not start early 

Page 214



 

 

enough. The LYC produced a “Careers Advice – tips from young people leaflet” 
outlining the specific types of IAG young people themselves have said they want 
to receive in different year groups. This leaflet was launched to the Leeds Careers 
Advisors Network and sent to all careers advisors in Leeds schools. 

3.4.9 The Leeds Youth Council’s campaign for 2014/15 was “Better work experience 
opportunities for young people”. The LYC chose this specific campaign following a 
“Make Your Mark” ballot of over 19,000 young people in the city. Better work 
experience was the top voted issue that youth councillors felt they could make a 
difference to. To contribute towards improving work experience outcomes, the 
LYC decided to script and record two short films on the issue. 

3.4.10 Careers advice nationally has long been criticised as inadequate and patchy. 
Ofsted reported that in 2013 that three quarters of schools nationally were not 
implementation their duty to provide impartial careers advice effectively (Going in 
the right direction, Careers guidance in schools from September 2012, Ofsted, 
September 2013). Ofted’s report said, “The information students received about 
careers was too narrow. Too many students were unaware of the wide range of 
occupations and careers that they might consider”.  

3.4.11 Schools now have a statutory duty to provide careers advice for students aged 8 -
13. The National Careers Service offers advice to people over the age of 13, but 
the main mechanism for providing advice to people aged under 18 is a helpline 
and website. Leeds City Council has created Leeds Pathways, a website 
providing advice on training, education and careers advice for young people, 
which provides a valuable resource. But there is strong evidence that young 
people need face-to-face advice from a trusted source. Schools can chose to 
commission additional support from contractors delivering the National Careers 
Service. The Government has recently established the Careers and Enterprise 
Company, as an independent, employer led body, which will seek to create a 
network of “enterprise advisors” made up of business volunteers.  

3.4.12 Despite these initiatives, whilst schools are aware of the need to provide good 
careers advice, given the fact that the previous infrastructure and funding for 
careers has been removed, many schools are struggling to meet this requirement. 

What we will do 

Strengthening business engagement in schools 

3.4.13 The Council will work with business leaders, head teachers, universities and 
colleges and leading experts in the third sector to look at how to strengthen 
business engagement in Leeds schools. The aim should be to ensure that all 
secondary schools, particularly those with a high proportion of pupils from 
deprived areas, have strong partnerships with business. This might involve 
individual businesses partnering with existing schools. The landscape for helping 
businesses engage with schools is confusing and fragmented. The Council will 
need to work in partnership with social enterprises and the third sector on this 
agenda. 

Page 215



 

 

3.4.14 This will require more businesses to commit to engaging with schools, and 
potentially for businesses that are already working with schools to deepen their 
involvement. Building better business and education links will be an important part 
of the approach to Key Account Management set out elsewhere in this paper. 

Enhancing careers advice and guidance for young people 

3.4.15 The Council will work with business leaders, head teachers, universities and 
colleges, relevant social enterprises such as the Ahead Partnership, and the 
national Careers and Enterprise Company to look at how to strengthen 
independent careers advice in schools. Options could include: 

 Encouraging schools to buy-in to an enhanced city wide careers service;  

 creating a local network of business and employer volunteers to provide 
careers advice as part of the drive to strengthen business engagement in 
schools; 

 Providing regular information and intelligence to schools on the Leeds 
economy and range of opportunities for young people; and  

 Holding a conference to bring together Head Teachers, business leaders and 
economic experts with the aim of securing a better understanding of the 
economic opportunities for young people, employer requirements, and the 
issues around career advice. 
 

3.5 Supporting businesses to grow and invest 

The Issues 

3.5.1 Leeds City Council will continue to adopt an approach of the city being “open for 
business”. We have planning policies which set out ambitious targets and plans 
for growth. We will continue to be proactive in helping bring forward major 
regeneration and development projects. We are promoting investment in the city, 
and we offer incentives for new investment through our discretionary rates relief 
policy, and grants schemes such as the Leeds City Region Business Growth 
Programme. We are planning significant investments in new infrastructure. One of 
the main reasons we are seeking greater devolution from Whitehall is to give us 
the powers and resources to support economic growth.  

3.5.2 There is a need to us to work with business in a more structured way so that we 
can provide support, signpost them to others who can assist, solve problems that 
the Council may be able to address, and to help them attract investment and 
funding. We can advise business on any grants that might be available to support 
expansion projects and activities such as research and development, training and 
apprenticeships and energy efficiency. We can also identify firms that are seeking 
funding from overseas investors and ensure we showcase these opportunities 
through our work to promote inward investment.  

3.5.3 Of course the first priority is to support firms in creating and retaining jobs. But 
many businesses have significant scope to make a positive contribution to a wider 

Page 216



 

 

agenda. We can mandate some firms to undertake activities through the planning 
system, our procurement activities, and as a condition of giving grants. But we 
need firms to commit to actions not just because it is compulsory for them to, but 
because they genuinely want to make a difference.  

3.5.4 Business has an important role to play in tackling poverty through job creation, 
recruitment, training and workforce progression, procurement, operating practices, 
voluntary work, charitable giving and through its position of influence.  

3.5.5 Community investment refers to an organisation’s impact on the economy, 
environment and society. Firms with corporate responsibility or community 
investment policies commit to supporting activities and achieving outcomes over 
and above their minimum regulatory requirements and beyond the narrow confines 
of a solely market approach to spending on wages, goods and services. 

3.5.6 It should also be stressed that in seeking to secure greater business involvement 
and support around this agenda, we are not taking economic success for granted. 
The recession and the recovery from it have been hard for many businesses. 
Smaller businesses and firms in particular sectors continue to find it difficult to 
access affordable finance. Leeds firms are operating in a fiercely competitive 
environment, and Leeds is competing for jobs and investment with other cities 
nationally and globally.  

3.5.7 There is a wide range of potential activity we are promoting or there is potential for 
us to encourage: 

 Recruitment policy – apprenticeships, guaranteed interviews, giving 
opportunities to people who are unemployed, and vulnerable groups such 
care leavers, and ex-offenders; 

 Commitment to tackling low pay – by encouraging in-work progression, good 
practice on issues such as zero-hours, flexible working, and initiatives such 
as Living Wage; 

 Engagement with schools and young people, including mentoring, support in 
raising aspirations and attainment, and supporting care leavers;  

 A commitment to improving the health of their workforce and supporting 
employees with health issues, including being positive about mental health 
through initiatives such as the Mindful Employers Charter; 

 Volunteering to support Neighbourhood Networks and other initiatives to 
support older people and tackle loneliness; 

 Enlightened procurement policies which support local supply chains; 

 Managing environmental impact and carbon reduction; 

 Charitable giving; 

 Sponsoring arts and culture projects and events; and 

Page 217



 

 

 Mentoring small / start-up businesses. 

3.5.8 Many firms are already doing good work in this area. However others are 
undertaking well-intentioned activity in a somewhat ad hoc way. Some firms want 
to engage on this agenda but lack the skills and contacts to do so. There are a 
range of organisations that can help businesses get involved in supporting their 
communities, but this has also led to somewhat of a crowded market place of 
intermediary organisations. 

3.5.9 To address some of these issues, earlier this year Leeds City Council teamed up 
with a range of other organisations to produce a guide to community investment 
(“This is how we do business. Community investment in Leeds. A guide for 
companies looking to engage in local communities.” Leeds City Council, March 
2015). In doing so we brought together a partnership of orgnisations seeking to 
promote community investment (Ahead Partnership, Business in the Community, 
Doing Good Leeds, Groundwork, Leeds City Council, Leeds Community 
Foundation, People Help People, Smart Aid, The Conservation Volunteers, and 
Voluntary Action Leeds). The launch of the guide was supported by the Leeds 
Chamber of Commerce. The guide sets out the benefits to business of community 
investment, and advice on how to do it. 

What we will do 

3.5.10 The Council will be more structured and coordinated in the way in which we 
engage with business with a view to supporting their growth as well as 
encouraging them to engage with work in the city to tackle poverty. A Key Account 
Management approach for managing relationships with businesses is already 
undertaken in some parts of the organisation. It is now proposed to widen this 
across the organisation and to involve a wider range of businesses (particularly 
those outside the City Centre), council officers and elected members in business 
engagement through the Key Account Management approach. The intention is not 
to duplicate the work of existing business representative organisations, and we 
will consider how we can work with them as part of this initiative. 

3.5.11 It is proposed that the Council works with other organisations and business 
leaders to identify what more could be done to promote community investment. 
The aim should be to get more firms investing in their workforce and communities. 
It will be important to ensure that this goes beyond preaching to the converted, 
and seeks to engage with firms that are not currently active in this type of work. 
There is also scope to secure greater positive strategic impact from the work of 
firms already committed to this agenda. Potential actions include: 

 Holding a conference and exhibition to promote community investment; 

 Bringing together the HR Directors of large employers to identify what more 
can be done collectively to support the development and well-being of their 
existing workforce, as well as providing opportunities to people who are not in 
work currently; and 

 Creating a web-based resource of case studies setting out how firms have 
invested in their workforce and communities.  

Page 218



 

 

3.5.12 It is also important that the Council continues to ensure it leads by example. 
Relevant initiatives include the move to being a Living Wage Employer, the 
support for employee volunteering, and work to look at how the Council’s 
procurement policies can support local firms. 
 

3.6 Creating quality places and spaces  

The Issue 

3.6.1 We have set out ambitious plans for the growth of Leeds. These include providing 
70,000 additional homes by 2028. A further 493 hectares of employment land and 
1 million sqm of office space is also planned to accommodate forecast jobs 
growth. This growth of the city is needed to enable us to house a growing and 
changing population, and support future economic growth.  

3.6.2 We have also been proactive in getting development moving including securing 
the viability of several key developments in the city. This has been achieved by 
collaboration with both public and private partners to unlock stalled development. 
Examples include underwriting schemes at Leeds Enterprise Zone, teaming up 
with developers to give them the confidence to build large modern factories. This 
gave them the confidence to build, and as a result occupiers are now signing up. 
We have also acquired buildings to kickstart schemes stalled by the recession 
including for the Victoria Gate development.  

3.6.3 The South Bank is one of Europe’s largest regeneration projects and the council 
has used its unique position as custodian of the city to unlock development 
opportunities and create jobs within the South Bank, strengthening infrastructure 
and connectivity between the rest of the city centre and surrounding 
neighbourhoods. This project will create 20,000 new jobs, 4,000 new homes and 
300,000 square metres of new commercial floorspace, and an educational cluster 
that will see up to 10,000 students using new learning facilities within the South 
Bank. 

3.6.4 We need to continue using development to improve our city, including building 
more affordable housing, continuing with our successful housing growth 
programme to build more council homes, improving infrastructure, greenspace 
and public realm including a city centre park.  Work is progressing and recently 
the council sold a plot of land just to the south of Leeds railway station to create a 
new flagship office for KPMG, we reinvested the profits to create Sovereign 
Square, a new public open space in the surrounding area. 

3.6.5 The challenge is to continue to promote this growth whilst maintaining high 
aspirations for quality, good design, improvements to public realm and ensuring 
environmental sustainability. We want to encourage new growth in a sustainable 
way that integrates well with existing communities, whilst at the same time 
retaining the local distinctiveness of our separate settlements and our countryside.  

 

 

Page 219



 

 

What we will do? 

Improving the design of new development and supporting healthy lifestyles 

3.6.6  We are committed to quality design and high standards of construction for new 
development. Our Leeds Standard for new housing focuses on space standards 
and energy efficiency and acts as a guide for developers. We are updating 
‘Neighbourhoods for Living’, a guide to residential design in Leeds to strengthens 
our commitment to top quality development. 

3.6.7 Good quality new homes are at the heart of council ambitions for growth. We have 
established a high standard of quality for our new build council housing and that of 
our partners such as housing associations. Working with developers we will use 
‘Neighbourhoods for Living’ to push these ideas further, our aim is to create 
neighbourhoods that respect the local context, offering a choice of housing which 
provides good access to complementary local facilities within walking distance.  

3.6.8 We want to make sure that our growth programme including 70,000 new homes 
are developed in ways that improve health and wellbeing and do not make health 
inequalities worse. Our aim is to keep health issues central on the planning 
agenda and to make sure that individuals and communities can have their say in 
the development process. 

3.6.9 The ‘Director of Public Health in Leeds Annual Report 2014-15. Planning a 
Healthy City: Housing Growth’ report highlights the benefits of continuously linking 
planning and health. This includes being an Age Friendly City and ensuring that 
Leeds has places, services, settings and structures that support people to age 
actively. Building more homes suitable for the elderly and improving access to 
outdoor spaces are ways in which we can respond flexibly to ageing-related 
needs and preferences. 

3.6.10 Strengthening social cohesion, building communities, encouraging an active 
lifestyle and tackling community safety are just some of the benefits of good 
development. Air quality is also an issue in Leeds and the Council has committed 
to reducing its carbon emissions 40% by 2020. Travel initiatives such as the new 
Cycle Superhighway, insulating homes and the District Heating programme will 
help us to make the city a more pleasant place to live 

 
Maximising good jobs and skills from new developments 

3.6.11 We will continue to work with developers to secure good jobs and training 
outcomes from major development schemes. Through our engagement with 
developers and through strengthening planning obligations we have ensured that 
local people have been given the opportunity to get work and training on major 
schemes. An example is the construction of the first direct Arena, which supported 
90 apprenticeships and employed 80 local people. 

3.6.12 We will set out how we will build on the achievements and learning over recent 
years to set out how we can strengthen our approach to using major 

Page 220



 

 

developments and infrastructure projects to support training and jobs for local 
people. Potential actions include: 

 Strengthening planning policies and obligations; 

 Encouraging developers to consider jobs and skills opportunities from the 
outset of their planning for new projects and to mainstream this thinking and 
culture in the way they take forward their schemes; 

 Focusing on opportunities associated with the operation and end-users of 
new developments, not just the construction phase; and  

 Improving long-term planning for major infrastructure projects and the 
infrastructure investment priority, engaging with people, including school age 
people, early to make them aware of the potential opportunities and support 
them in relevant education and training.  

 

3.7 Backing innovators and entrepreneurs 

The Issues 

3.7.1 Leeds has been successful in recovering from the recession, but we now need to 
put in place the building blocks for a more productive economy. There is scope for 
us to do better in areas such as graduate retention, the commercialisation of 
innovation and enterprise. 

3.7.2 There is strong evidence that an important factor in the economic competitiveness 
of cities, and their performance in terms of innovation and entrepreneurship,  is 
the proportion of graduates in the workforce. There is increasing recognition of the 
need for cities to focus on developing, attracting and retaining skilled and talented 
people to help drive economic growth. This is is contrast to the traditional 
approach to economic development with is to attract and grow businesses on the 
assumption that the workforce will follow. In the 19th and 20th century the 
workforce followed the corporation; in a 21st century knowledge economy 
businesses invest where there is a skilled and creative workforce. 

3.7.3 Leeds, along with many other UK cities outside London, suffers from a “brain 
drain” of graduates, who move to London after completing their courses. Whilst 
some graduates move back to Leeds and the surrounding areas later in life, there 
is a net outflow from Leeds to London of people aged 22 to 30. Some major 
employers in Leeds report challenges in attracting large numbers of graduate 
applicants compared to other cities. There are skills shortages at graduate level in 
some sectors, particularly digital. 

3.7.4 The RSA’s City Growth Commission, which was Chaired by the now Treasury 
Minister Lord O’Neil, looked at this issue. It set out recommendations on what 
cities could do to improve graduate retention in its final report published in 
October 2014, Unleashing Metro Growth, and earlier report, UniverCities: The 
Knowledge to Power UK Metros. The ideas set out included creating fiscal 

Page 221



 

 

incentives for graduates to stay in cities, and for cities and universities to run city-
based clearing systems to match local employers to graduates looking for work. 

3.7.5 Innovation and Enterprise 

3.7.6 Leeds has a rich history and modern expertise in commercialising innovation in 
sectors as diverse as textiles, medical technologies, financial services, retail and 
engineering. For example: 

 the British army was clothed at the Battle of Waterloo in 1815 with uniforms 
made by AW Hainsworth of Stanningley; who 200 years later are world 
leaders in creating fire resistant textiles today; 

 the world’s first ever hip replacement joint was manufactured on the 
Thackray site in Beeston in the 1960s; in 2015 De Puy Synthes opened a 
£21 million new state of the art medical technologies research and 
development facility on the same site; 

 the world’s first ever telephone bank, first direct, was formed in Leeds, and 
the city is now seeing new businesses being created in financial 
technologies; and 

 Marks and Spencer was founded in Leeds Kirkgate Market in 1884; and 
Leeds is home to the European headquarters of Asda Walmart today, one of 
the world’s most innovative retail businesses.   

3.7.7 We need to do more to promote our expertise and excellence in innovation in 
businesses, as well as the centres of expertise in our Universities, and the public 
sector (particularly the NHS). We also face challenges in increasing Research and 
Development (R&D) spend, where Yorkshire and the Humber lag behind most 
other parts of the UK and Scotland in terms of R&D spending by Government as 
well as business. 

3.7.8 It is also important we continue to support the creation of new businesses and the 
growth of small businesses. Leeds is an entrepreneurial city. For example a 
recent analysis of the location of fast-growing companies showed that, outside 
London, Leeds has the UK’s second highest number of “scale-up” companies 
(firms that experience over 20% staff and / or turnover growth for three 
consecutive years). 

3.7.9 However there is scope for us to do more to support highly innovative small 
businesses with high growth potential. Some of these businesses start-up in small 
premises, or are “incubated” by the universities, but then struggle to find suitable 
premises, staff and finance to enable them to grow and scale-up. 

3.7.10 Leeds City Council are supporting the Leeds City Region Growth Service, to 
advise and signpost support to small businesses with high growth potential. 
Through the Leeds Manufacturing initiative we are working with the Manufacturing 
Advisory Service to provide support and advice to manufacturing firms. The 
Council, in partnership with the British Library, have created the Business 
Intellectual Property Centre to advise small firms on intellectual property issues.   

Page 222



 

 

3.7.11 There are a range of private sector led initiatives to assist small businesses. For 
example Natwest have launched their Entrepreneurial Spark programme in Leeds 
to free workspace, hands on mentoring, a start-up ‘bootcamp’ and a free 
programme of up to 18-months of advice, support and funding clinics. KPMG are 
opening a new national digital solutions centre in Leeds which will offer co-
working space for small businesses. All three Leeds Universities provide 
incubation space for new businesses, and the University of Leeds is planning a 
major new Innovation and Enterprise Centre. The Government’s spring budget in 
2015 announced funding to support the creation of a new digital accelerator in 
Leeds.  

What we will do? 

Keeping graduates in Leeds 

3.7.12 We will develop an initiative to improve levels of graduate retention in Leeds. This 
will include: 

 Interventions to help tackle skills shortages and fill vacancies at graduate 
level in the digital sector; 

 A Leeds graduate careers fair and a clearing system to connect Leeds 
students to opportunities in Leeds firms;  

 Research to understand graduate perceptions of Leeds as a place to live and 
work; and 

 Work with the Universities, Colleges and the Chamber of Commerce to 
ensure a partnership and joined up approach in the city. 

Backing innovators and entrepreneurs 

3.7.13 We will develop an initiative to support the future growth of innovative businesses 
that have been incubated by Universities and other bodies, and are now looking to 
grow and move on to new business space and employ more people.  

3.7.14 We will develop a new enterprise programme using European Funds to provide 
support for people starting new businesses. We will also provide support for small 
business accelerators in the city, including the proposed digital business 
accelerator. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 As well as discussions with relevant Executive Members, this paper has been 
informed through the work of the Council’s More Jobs, Better Jobs, partnership 
with Joseph Rowntree Foundation. This is undertaking a series of research 
projects to look at how we can better link policy and interventions aimed at 
supporting economic growth and tackling poverty. The project’s steering group 
membership includes Council officers, Leeds City Region LEP, Joseph Rowntree 

Page 223



 

 

Foundation, Leeds Chamber of Commerce, and the Leeds Community 
Foundation. 

4.1.2 A draft of this paper has been shared with the Chamber of Commerce. Several 
comments were made by the Chamber, including on the importance of the 
Council working closely in partnership with business organisations such as the 
Chamber, not just seeing them as consultees. The Chamber also indicated that in 
some areas, the Council should seek to deliver with and through existing 
organisations, including social enterprises. This paper was amended to take into 
account these comments.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Themes running through this report have an impact on equality and diversity. The 
Council aims to improve the lives of all its citizens and foster good relations 
between different groups in the community and it is considered that the 
recommendations in this report will have a positive outcome.  

4.2.2 Tackling low pay and promoting the living wage will help reduce poverty. Work 
progression and social mobility will help reduce inequality. Encouraging corporate 
social responsibility and civic enterprise has the potential to benefit young people 
and poorer communities. 

4.2.3 An Equality Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has been undertaken to 
assess the impact of this report on equality and diversity and is attached as an 
appendix.  
 

4.3 Council Policies and the Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 The vision of the Best Council Plan 2015-2020 is for Leeds to be a 
compassionate, caring city that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of 
the city’s economic growth. This report is an extension of that vision and sets out 
ways in which Leeds can achieve this goal, and in particular the Best Council Plan 
objectives around: supporting communities and tackling poverty; promoting 
sustainable and inclusive and economic growth; and building a child-friendly city. 
The Best Council Plan objective on becoming a more efficient and enterprising 
council is also relevant to how we will take forward the recommendations set out 
in this paper.  

4.3.2 The main themes set out in this report are consistent with several of the Council’s 
cross-cutting “Breakthrough Projects”. The more jobs, better jobs breakthrough 
project helps inform the Council’s overall strategic approach to integrating its work 
on promoting economic growth and tackling poverty. The strong communities 
benefitting from a strong city breakthrough project is developing our approach to 
coordinating and targeting our work to deliver services and tackle poverty in local 
areas. The housing growth and high standards in all sectors breakthrough project 
is directly relevant to the priorities set out in this paper on creating good quality 
new development and public spaces, and in ensuring we maximise the positive 
jobs and skills outcomes from new development projects.  

 

Page 224



 

 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The recommendations in this report do not have any direct implications for Council 
funding. The financial impact of the living wage for the council has been subject to 
a separate report to Executive Board. It is assumed that the initiatives set out in 
the report can be resourced through the existing capacity of Council teams and 
existing budgets. However this will require a concerted focus and good 
coordination in relation to these initiatives across several parts of the organisation. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no significant legal issues relating to the recommendations in this 
report. This report is eligible for Call-In. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 There is always a risk to the Leeds economy through both policies and external 
pressures. The Council recognises sustainable and inclusive growth is a 
fundamental aim for the economy and has positive benefits to the city. The 
policies set out in this report including working closely with business will benefit 
the citizens of Leeds and the economy as a whole.  

4.6.2 Specific financial risks, including fraud, and risks in relation to safeguarding, 
business continuity and information governance are not considered to be 
impacted by the recommendations in this report. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Leeds has recovered strongly from the recession. The Council has demonstrated 
real leadership in supporting business to bring forward new developments and 
investments to create jobs. A great deal of positive work has also been 
undertaken to support vulnerable people and communities to help tack issues of 
poverty. Despite the ongoing significant reductions in Council budgets and in 
benefits for people, we have remained ambitious about doing what we can to 
grow the economy and help people in poverty.  

5.2 Now is the time to build on this previous work and look forward to how we can 
build a more productive and sustainable economy which all our people contribute 
to and benefit from to their full potential. We cannot rely on a trickle down 
approach to growth. We need an approach that focuses on creating better quality 
jobs, enhancing the skills and capabilities of our workforce, supporting innovation 
and enterprise, creating quality places to live and work, and reducing the costs of 
poverty to the economy and the taxpayer. This will be good for our economy over 
the long term, and it will be good for our people and our city. 

5.3 The Council cannot do this alone. We need to be realistic about what we can 
deliver and resource directly. We can help simplify, map and coordinate what 
exists already, and be clear about what the Council can and will do, recognising 
that others may be better placed to undertake some work. But we can 
demonstrate leadership and be a catalyst for action. To build a strong economy 

Page 225



 

 

and a compassionate city we need the support and action of our public sector 
partners, businesses, schools, colleges and universities, and third sector groups.  

6.   Recommendations 

         Executive Board is recommended to approve the following: 

    Tackling Low Pay 

i)   Living wage city – Leeds City Council will work with partners to develop a 
Living Wage City campaign to encourage employers to pay the Living Wage as 
accredited by the National Living Wage Foundation. The aim should be to 
significantly increase the number of Living Wage businesses in Leeds over the 
next year. 

ii)  Supporting people to get better jobs – Leeds City Council will work with the 
LEP, the Chamber of Commerce, and education and training providers to 
develop proposals to create a careers advice and in-work progression service, 
and support for employers, aimed at helping people moving out of low paid work 
into better jobs.   

Regenerating places 

iii) A new approach to regeneration – the Council will identify a rolling programme 
of prioritised schemes in deprived areas, with an emphasis on bringing together 
the approach to supporting people and communities with interventions to deliver 
positive physical development and change, with a particular focus on early 
intervention to tackle the causes of poverty. A paper recommending the details 
of the approach should be brought to Executive Board by early 2016. 

A life ready for learning – putting children at the heart of the growth strategy 

iv)  Strengthening business engagement in schools – The Council will work with 
business business leaders, head teachers, universities and colleges and leading 
experts and enterprises in the third sector to look at how to build on existing 
work to strengthen business engagement in Leeds schools. The aim should be 
to ensure that all secondary schools, particularly those with a high proportion of 
pupils from deprived areas, have strong partnerships with business.  

v) Enhancing careers advice and guidance for young people – the Council will 
work with business leaders, head teachers, universities and colleges, leading 
experts in the third sector, and the national Careers and Enterprise Company to 
look at how to strengthen independent careers advice in schools. The aim 
should be to ensure that all secondary schools are offering good quality careers 
advice. 
 

Supporting business to invest in growth and communities 

vi) Key Account Management – the Key Account Management approach to 
working with businesses should be extended across the Council and a wider 
range of businesses to strengthen the approach to promoting business growth 

Page 226



 

 

and community investment. The aim should be to ensure regular contact with 
150 businesses that are significant strategically. 

vii) Promoting community investment – the Council works with other 
organisations and business leaders to develop an initiative to encourage more 
businesses in Leeds to commit to investing in their workforce and their local 
communities. The aim should be for 50 businesses to strengthen their 
community investment work.  
  

Creating quality places and spaces  

viii) Creating quality places and spaces – we will continue to seek to improve the 
quality of design of new development, including through refreshing the 
Neighbourhoods for Living design guidance document. 

ix) Securing good jobs and skills outcomes from major development and 
infrastructure projects – we will set out how we will build on the achievements 
and learning over recent years to set out how we can strengthen our approach 
to using major developments and infrastructure projects to support training and 
jobs for local people. A paper setting out the details of this approach should be 
brought to Executive Board by earlier 2016. 

Backing innovators and entrepreneurs  

x)  Keeping graduates in Leeds – we will develop an initiative to improve levels of 
graduate retention in Leeds, including interventions to help tackle skills 
shortages and fill vacancies at graduate level in the digital sector, and a Leeds 
graduate careers fair and clearing system to connect students to future job 
opportunities in Leeds. A paper setting out the details of this approach should be 
brought to Executive Board by earlier 2016. 

xi) Backing innovators – we will develop an initiative to support the future growth 
of innovative businesses that have been incubated by Universities and other 
bodies, and are now looking to grow and move on to new business space and 
employ more people. A paper setting out the details of this approach should be 
brought to Executive Board by earlier 2016. 

xii) Backing entrepreneurs – we will develop a new enterprise programme using 
European Funds to provide support for people starting new businesses. We will 
also provide support for small business accelerators in the city, including the 
proposed digital business accelerator. 

Next Steps 

xiii) The Chief Executive, supported by the Chief Officer Economy and 
Regeneration, is responsible for implementation, and will update Executive 
Board on progress in spring 2016. 
  

Page 227



 

 

7 Background documents1  

9.1   None. 

Annex 1 

 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 228



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration.

A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.  

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.

Directorate: Development Department Service area: Economic Development

Lead person: Gareth Read Contact number: 2474180

1. Title: 
Economic Success in the City
Is this a:

     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other
                                                                                                               

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

This screening document is in relation to a paper for Executive Board. It is in 
response to a White Paper Motion agreed by full council in July titled “Economic 
Success in the City”. 

The paper sets out the Council’s vision for a strong economy and compassionate 
city, in line with the priorities in the Best Council Plan. It focuses on encouraging 
“good growth”, whilst ensuring that a consequence of growth is a reduction in the 
inequalities that exist in Leeds.

The main themes in the paper are:

1. Tackling low pay – developing a city wide approach to tackling low pay 
through championing the Living Wage, and supporting people to progress into 

1

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening

X

Page 229



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

better jobs.

2. A new approach to regeneration – improving the prospects for people in our 
most deprived neighbourhoods, by setting out clear visions and plans for 
these places, integrating investment and services and intervening early.

3. Schools for life and work – enhancing the ability of our young people to 
succeed in work in the future, by strengthening careers advice, and links with 
business and employers. 

4. Better business – increasing the value of community investment by 
business, by securing a stronger and more widespread commitment from 
firms and public sector employers to invest in local communities, and the skills 
and health of their workforce. 

5. Creating quality places and spaces – raising the quality of new housing and 
commercial development, and main centres in terms of design, sustainability, 
the quality of public space, community benefits, and employment and training 
opportunities.

6. Building a culture of innovation and entrepreneurship – building a more 
productive economy, based on commercialising knowledge and innovation, 
and creating new firms and scaling up small businesses.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.  

The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.

Questions Yes No
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics? 

X

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal?

X

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom?

X

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices?

X

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

X

2

Page 230



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7

If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 

cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 

integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment. 

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

A main theme of the Executive Board paper is a reduction of inequality in Leeds. The 
paper is in accordance with the Best Council Plan and aims to promote Leeds as a 
compassionate city for the benefit of all citizens, tackling low pay and in work 
progression, reducing inequality, tackling deprivation and ensuring the benefits of a 
growing economy reach all citizens of Leeds. 

The focus is on collaboration with business to promote civic enterprise and corporate 
social responsibility, promoting economic growth and regeneration, enhancing our 
cultural offer, tackling unemployment, joining up services to respond to issues of poverty, 
improving housing conditions, a planning system that promotes good quality 
development, cutting carbon emissions, tackling health inequalities, and creating a Child 
Friendly City. These aims are all considered to have a positive effect on equality, 
particularly on the young and those on lower incomes but more broadly to all sections of 
society. 

Promoting health and wellbeing, including mental health through initiatives such as the 
Mindful Employers Charter, and tackling loneliness are positive steps that will impact all 
citizens but especially the elderly and those with mental health issues. The paper aims to 
help businesses get involved in supporting their communities.

Improving the quality of housing and low carbon initiatives will reduce fuel consumption 
and household bills. Improvements to infrastructure, including digital has a positive 
impact on the city, as does improving public spaces. 

The paper promotes Leeds as a Living Wage City with the aim of reducing inequality. 
Although this is touched upon in the paper, there is a separate paper to September’s 

3

Page 231



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

Executive Board which looks at the implications in more detail including the cost of this 
policy, public procurement implications, and encouraging business to become Living 
Wage employers. The council will only encourage business to be living wage employees 
and each business would need to voluntarily agree, therefore, it is not anticipated that 
any negative effects (i.e job losses) would be caused by this proposal. 

Improving skills and training, strengthening business engagement in schools, lifetime 
learning and exploiting the economy will have a particular impact on the young (including 
those who are NEET) and the unemployed. Increased devolution, skills for life and 
training initiatives should help more people into work, and local devolved programmes 
such as the Youth Contract have been proven to be more successful than national 
programmes.

Devolution of certain powers from Whitehall to the Leeds City Region will have an impact 
on Leeds citizens as more tax revenue will be able to be retained locally and more 
powers on spending can be controlled. These policies are predicted to benefit citizens of 
Leeds. One of the main reasons we are seeking greater devolution from Whitehall is to 
give us the powers and resources to support economic growth.   

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

The initiatives are aimed at encouraging more collaboration with businesses, improving 
relations and working more closely with communities and partners. We want business to 
become more civic and are encouraging “good growth” which benefits all of society rather 
than a trickle down approach.

It is hoped that both business and communities will benefit from more collaboration, for 
example community work can also improve skills or act as training for employees, 
improve morale, and benefit closer working relations. 

The paper does not propose diverting resources from one group to another but instead 
improve collaboration. There may be a financial cost on business which could have a 
negative impact, and the policies are not mandatory because of this which could impact 
on effectiveness. 

Overall the benefits of a more compassionate economy, which focusses on growth but 
also the needs of the city will have a positive outcome for all.

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

Needs to be monitored and assessed otherwise outcomes might not be achieved.

The council can act as a broker between businesses and communities to promote the 
4

Page 232



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

positive impact of closer collaboration. Other actions include a skills initiative, promoting 
the Living Wage City, a new approach to regeneration and promoting the city.

If successful a low pay initiative will have a positive impact on low paid workers through 
helping promote the living wage and encouraging innovation, alongside more training and 
progression.  

Actions to reduce any negative impacts include working closely with business to highlight 
the benefits of these policies to their own productivity and workforce. Making sure that 
the opportunities for community investment are in place and advertising sufficient so that 
there is not an excessive amount of work for business or a delay in implementation. 
Active monitoring of the policies within the paper is also necessary to maintain 
momentum of the outcomes.

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

Date to complete your impact assessment

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name Job title Date
Claire McCall Area Community Safety 

Co-ordinator
25th September, 2015

Date screening completed 25th September, 2015

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision. 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report: 

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council.

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions. 

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record.

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent:

5

Page 233

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services 

Date sent: 25th September, 
2015

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent: 25th September, 
2015

6

Page 234

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


 

  

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive  

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 21st October 2015 

Subject: Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 – 2019/20 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to update Members on the development of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy which is designed to support the 
Council’s ‘Best Council’ and wider ‘Best City’ aspirations in the context of the 
Government’s spending plans. At its September 2015 meeting, Executive Board 
agreed a renewed ‘Best City’ ambition aimed at tackling inequalities: for Leeds to 
have a Strong Economy and to be a Compassionate City, the Council contributing 
to this by being a more Efficient & Enterprising organisation.  The financial strategy 
is part of the framework that will help to achieve this ambition. 

2. Whilst the precise scale of future reductions in government funding beyond 2015/16 
will not be known until the Spending Review and Local Government Settlement are 
announced in November and December 2015, it is clear from the Chancellor’s 
summer budget and other announcements that the Government’s deficit reduction 
plans will extend through to at least 2019/20, with the announced reductions in 
public expenditure meaning that further savings will be required. 

3. The current and future financial climate represents a significant risk to the Council’s 
priorities and ambitions, and whilst we have been able to successfully respond to 
the challenge so far, it is clear that the situation will be increasingly difficult over the 
coming years.  Although the Council has a basic legal duty to set a balanced 
budget, there are clearly also strong organisational reasons for ensuring that we 
have in place sound arrangements for financial planning and management. The 
financial strategy and annual budget, as well as a means of controlling spending to 

Report author: Alan Gay/Doug Meeson  

Tel: 74250 

Page 235

Agenda Item 11



 

  

the available resources, is also a financial expression of the Council’s ambitions, 
policies and priorities. Whilst the annual budget setting process can simply be seen 
as a year by year exercise, it is clear that this needs to be set within a context of a 
medium-term financial strategy. This is all the more critical given the financial 
challenges that we are facing.  

4. The Council has a comprehensive approach to the development of its financial 
strategy, its annual budget and the identification of saving plans.  Whilst there is 
currently an unprecedented level of uncertainty around future levels of funding, the 
Council has a proven history and capability in this area and prudent planning 
assumptions have been built into the 2016/17 to 2019/20 financial strategy with 
work underway to develop a range of options to meet the financial challenge. 

5. However, there is no doubt that the Council will need to manage the significant 
challenge of identifying further financial savings and this will prove increasingly 
difficult over the coming years.  While the Council to date has been successful in 
responding to the challenging reductions to its funding since 2010 which has been 
in the region of £180m over the past 5 years, we now need to work differently to 
address this challenge.  

6. As set out in the Leeds-led Commission on the Future of Local Government (2012), 
the future of the Council lies in moving away from a heavily paternalistic role in 
which we largely provide services, towards a greater civic leadership role: working 
with people, not doing things to or for them.  This shift has considerable implications 
for the way in which the Council makes decisions, develops strategies and its 
financial and workforce planning.  It requires a sound understanding of people’s 
needs and their demands (now and in the future) and a greater level of engagement 
with the citizens of Leeds.  

7. On the 5th October 2015, the Chancellor set out major plans to devolve new 
powers from Whitehall to local areas to promote growth and prosperity.  By the end 
of the current Parliament, local government will be able to retain 100% of local 
taxes – including all of the £26 billion of revenue from business rates. Although 
these changes will have a significant impact on the Council’s core funding mix, 
there is as yet insufficient detail behind the headline announcement to make any 
informed changes to the figures at appendix 1. 

8. The financial strategy does not attempt to provide a detailed budget for coming 
years but it does set out the main financial issues facing the Council and sets out a 
broad framework for the delivery of efficiencies and savings to bridge the identified 
funding gap of £146m. The Initial Budget Proposals for 2016/17 will be brought to 
the Executive Board on the 16th December 2015. 

Recommendation 

9. Members are asked to approve the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 – 
2019/20 and agree that the assumptions and principles outlined in this report will be 
used as a basis for the detailed preparation of the 2016/17 Initial Budget Proposals 
and will inform the Council’s future priorities and strategies. 

Page 236



 

  

1. Purpose of report     

1.1 This report sets out for the Executive Board the principles and assumptions 
underlying the proposed financial strategy covering the years 2016/17 to 2019/20. 
This will provide the framework for the preparation of the 2016/17 Initial Budget 
Proposals which will be presented to Members in December 2015 and will inform 
the council’s future priorities and strategies.  

2. Background information 

2.1 The last report on the Medium term Financial Strategy was considered by Executive 
Board in October 2014.  The financial strategy has now been updated to reflect the 
2015/16 budget, the latest announcements in respect of government funding and 
updated cost pressures. 

2.2 Whilst the precise scale of future reductions in government funding beyond 2015/16 
will not be known until the Spending Review and Local Government Settlement are 
announced in November and December 2015, it is clear from the Chancellor’s 
summer budget and other announcements that the government’s deficit reduction 
plans will extend through to at least 2019/20, with the announced reductions in 
public expenditure meaning that further savings will be required. 

2.3 The current and future financial climate represents a significant risk to the Council’s 
priorities and ambitions, and whilst we have been able to successfully respond to 
the challenge so far it is clear that situation will be increasingly difficult over the 
coming years.  Although the Council has a basic legal duty to set a balanced 
budget, there are clearly also strong organisational reasons for ensuring that we 
have in place sound arrangements for financial planning and management. The 
financial strategy and annual budget, as well as a means of controlling spending to 
the available resources, is also a financial expression of the Council’s ambitions, 
policies and priorities. Although the annual budget setting process can simply be 
seen as a year by year exercise, it is clear that this needs to be set within a context 
of a medium-term financial strategy. This is all the more critical given the financial 
challenges that we are facing.  

2.4 On the 8th July 2015, the Chancellor presented a budget that set out Government’s 
plans to tackle the deficit and a broad range of policy changes around welfare, 
housing, tax, a new Living Wage and devolution.  It also signposted a 
Comprehensive Spending Review for local government and the public services.  
More detail came on 21st July when the Treasury launched, ‘The Spending Review: 
“A country that lives within its means”.  This document confirmed government’s 
intention to continue the deficit reduction programme with a further £20bn of 
“consolidation” by 2019/20, in addition to the £17bn announced shortly before in the 
summer budget.  Treasury also asked government departments to set out plans for 
reductions to their resource budgets based on two scenarios: 25% and 40% savings 
in real terms by 2019/20.  With Schools, the NHS, Defence and International 
Development continuing to be protected, the public sector contribution to tackling 
the deficit will fall more heavily on ‘unprotected’ departments, including 
Communities & Local Government. 

2.5 In the light of further anticipated Government spending reductions through to at 
least 2019/20, it is important that the Council has a robust financial strategy in place 

Page 237



 

  

to support the delivery of its ambitions and priorities over the next four financial 
years. 

2.6  The financial strategy does not attempt to provide a detailed budget for the coming 
years but it does set out the main financial issues facing the Council and sets out a 
broad framework for the delivery of efficiencies and savings to bridge the identified 
funding gap of £146m. Initial Budget Proposals for 2016/17 will be brought to the 
Executive Board on the 16th December 2015. 

2.7 The financial strategy recognises and supports the ambition to be the ‘Best 
 City in the UK’ and the Council’s ambition to be the ‘Best Council in the UK’.  The 
 financial strategy is part of the framework to help achieve the best city outcomes  all 
 aimed at tackling inequalities: for Leeds to have a Strong Economy and to be a 
 Compassionate City and for the Council to be a more Efficient & Enterprising 
 organisation.  Members are also referred to the ‘Strong Economy, Compassionate 
City’ report on today’s agenda which details some of the key themes and practical 
steps we can take to make a difference in these areas, in response to the White 
Paper motion passed at July’s Council on sharing economic success in the city. 

3. The Council’s Financial Strategy – Looking Back 

3.1 Since 2010, councils have dealt with a 40% real terms reduction to their core 
government grant. In adult social care alone, funding reductions and demographic 
pressures have meant dealing with a £5 billion funding gap. Even in this challenging 
context, local government has continued to deliver.  Public polling nationally has 
shown that roughly 80% of those surveyed are satisfied with local services and that 
more than 70% of respondents trust councils more than central government to 
make decisions about services provided in the local area – a trend that has been 
sustained during the last five years.  

3.2 Between the 2010/11 and 2015/16 budgets, the Council’s core funding from 
Government will have reduced by around £180m and in addition the Council has 
faced significant demand-led cost pressures. This means that the Council will have 
to deliver reductions in expenditure and increases in income totalling some £330m 
by March 2016. To date, the Council has responded successfully to the challenge 
and has marginally underspent in every year since 2010. 

3.3 The Council’s response to these challenges has been to seize the opportunity to 
 shape our own future.   Building on the idea of civic enterprise, born out of the 
 Commission for Local Government which was conceived and led by the Council, 
the approach to and taking control of our own destiny is captured in our vision for 
Leeds to be the best city in the UK. We have three key themes which drive our work 
to become the best city: for Leeds to have a strong economy and to be a 
compassionate city and for the council to become more efficient and enterprising.  
Through our restorative practice approach, our aim is  that communities will be less 
reliant on the state and more resilient. Consequently, the Council has focussed on 
the fundamental causational factors by stimulating good economic growth and 
creatively managing demand for services. In addition, we have also implemented a 
significant programme of more traditional efficiencies but firmly believe it is the 
former activity that will create sustainable solutions. 

Page 238



 

  

3.4 Strong Economy: Leeds has weathered the recession better than many of its 
neighbours which is in no small part due to the work of city partners in creating the 
right conditions for growth. Despite austerity, our ambition remains undiminished. 
Key economic achievements include:  

 Work placed employment is now back to pre-recession levels. 
 GVA per worker £43k amongst highest outside London. 
 New Homes Bonus - over 11,500 new/refurbished dwellings (band D) 

projected since 2010/11 generating in excess of £58m over the period.  
 Progress on delivery of £104m of major infrastructure projects including the 

flood alleviation scheme, the Aire Valley and Kirkstall Forge. 
 The Council will pay a Real Living Wage of £8.01 per hour for all staff from 

April 2016 giving a £3m boost each year to the local economy. 
 In 2013, the 13,000 capacity First Direct Arena opened generating a £55m 

boost to the local economy. 
 In 2014, Leeds hosted the Tour de France Grand Départ which boosted the 

Leeds economy by £17m.  
 A longer-term economic boost to local economy through the City’s declared 

intention for Leeds to bid for the European City of Culture 2023.  
 Leeds will host the World Triathlon Series with an anticipated boost to the 

local economy of £3.5m. 
 A Council capital programme in excess of £1bn which is focussed on 

delivering economic regeneration.  
 
 These successes have created a strong economy where fewer people rely on the 

state and communities are more resilient. This has a direct impact on the 
council’s financial position and enables us to meet many of our compassionate 
city ambitions: for example housing and business growth has brought funding 
directly into the council. 

 
3.5 Compassionate City: from both a city and council perspective there have been 

a number of successes in terms of our ambition to be a compassionate city, 
including: 

 
 The numbers of children who are looked after by the local authority continue 

to safely reduce. 
 Infant mortality rates are at an all-time low. 
 Public health programmes and NHS health checks have led to a decrease in 

smoking rates, helping to reduce deaths from cardio-vascular disease. 
 The Council’s Better Lives programme is increasing the number of people 

able to live independently in their own homes. 
 Over 14,000 local residents have been supported to improve their skills. 

 
3.6 Enterprising and efficiency: The Council’s approach to managing funding 

reductions has been successful to date to the extent that challenging savings and 
reductions have been delivered whilst continuing to prioritise services that 
support the most vulnerable across the city.  These include;  

 
 Staff reductions of over 2,500 ftes by March 2016, saving £55m per year 

on employee costs. 
 Savings of over £35m through better procurement 

Page 239



 

  

 Asset review programme – getting the most from the assets we own and 
investing in new assets where it makes financial sense. Saving over £4m 
since 2013/14. 

 
3.7 It is notable that the proportion of the Council’s total spend on Children’s Services 

and Adult Social Care has increased from 48.5% in 2010/11 to almost 60% in 
2015/16. 

 
3.8 It is significant that despite the funding reductions and spending pressures, 

through effective strategic financial planning, annual budget setting and robust 
budget monitoring, the Council has consistently managed to achieve an 
underspend in each financial years from 2010/11 through to 2014/15. This has 
enabled the Council to use its general fund reserves each year in a planned way 
to help manage with the timescales associated with funding reductions and 
service change/transformation.  

4. Local Government Funding – the National Context 

4.1 In the summer budget announced on the 8th July 2015, the Chancellor set out the 
Government’s fiscal plan and re-affirmed the Government’s commitment to 
deliver an overall surplus and reduce debt year on year.   

 Graph 1 Total public sector spending and receipts (per cent of GDP) 

 
 
  Source: Office for Budget Responsibility 
 
4.2 The budget articulated £12 billion of savings from welfare with a commitment to a 

higher wage, lower welfare, lower tax national economy that is more productive.  
In addition, Government identified £5 billion from addressing avoidance, evasion 
and imbalances in the tax system.  The key headlines within the budget were: 

 
 The deficit will be cut at the same pace as in the last Parliament which is 

marginally slower than previously anticipated. 

 Planned spending reductions amount to £37 billion over the course of the 
Parliament with £12 billion of reductions in welfare, £5 billion from taxation 

Page 240



 

  

and the remaining £20 billion which will be delivered through the Spending 
Review. 

 The Office for Budget Responsibility’s (OBR) Departmental Expenditure 
Limits (DELs) totals increased substantially compared to the March 2015 
budget and in particular in 2016/17 with an increase of £4 billion signalling 
that the planned spending reductions will be managed over a longer time-
period than previously anticipated. 

 Public Sector pay rises will be capped at 1% a year for four years from 
2016/17. 

 

Table 1 Spending reduction plans over this Parliament (£ billion) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 Source: Office for Budget Responsibility, HM Treasury policy costings and HM Treasury 

calculations 
 
4.3 The summer budget 2015 confirmed the Government’s commitment to fund 

increases in the NHS and defence spending. The government also remains 
committed to meeting its target of spending 0.7% of GNI on Official Development 
Assistance (ODA), and is protecting schools funding on a per-pupil basis 
including pupil premium rates. Alongside protecting these specific areas, the 
Spending Review will prioritise spending according to a number of core 
outcomes:  

 Promoting innovation and greater collaboration in public services  
 Promoting growth and productivity, including through radical devolution of 

powers to local areas in England  
 Delivering high-quality public services, such as the NHS  
 Promoting choice and competition  
 Driving efficiency and value for money across the public sector  

 
4.4 Subsequently, on the 21st July 2015 Treasury launched the Spending Review: ‘A 

country that lives within its means’ which asked government departments to 
draw-up plans to help to deliver the further £20 billion of spending reductions 
overall, over the next 4 years (2016/17 through to 2019/20). 

4.4 Government will formally set out the Spending Review on the 25th November 
2015, with a subsequent finance settlement for local government likely in mid-
December 2015. 

 

 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Discretionary consolidation 9 20 31 37 

   Of which announced at Summer Budget 2015 6 9 13 17 

Of which welfare reform 5 7 9 12 

Of which tax avoidance and tax planning, 
evasion and compliance, and imbalances in the 
tax system 

1 2 4 5 

Remaining consolidation 3 11 18 20 

Page 241



 

  

 

5. Developing the Council’s Financial Strategy – Looking Forward 2016/17-
2019/20  

 
5.1 The medium term financial strategy does not attempt to provide a detailed budget 

for the coming years, but is designed to set out the main financial issues facing 
the Council and to identify and target areas for the delivery of efficiencies and 
savings.   

 
5.2 The strategy is built upon a series of key assumptions and estimates primarily 

around the levels of funding from Government, business rates, council tax and 
also assumptions around rising costs, for example the rising costs of 
employment, demographic pressures, etc. 

 
5.3 Funding Envelope 
 
5.3.1 Settlement Funding Assessment 

5.3.1.1 Each year the Government announces a Local Government Finance Settlement 
in which it sets out the total funding available for local government, including 
Business Rates income and the amount it intends to make available to each 
individual council. The total amounts allocated to each council are termed 
“Settlement Funding Assessments” (SFAs).  Around 46% of the 2015/16 SFA will 
be paid directly to local authorities as Revenue Support Grant (RSG). The 
remaining 54% - known as baseline funding - will come from Business Rates.  
The starting point for the calculation of SFA is the Business Rates baseline with 
Revenue Support Grant as a ‘balancing item’ between the business rates 
baseline figure and the total SFA, and therefore it is the level of RSG that is 
reduced to reflect a reduction in SFA. 

5.3.1.2 Whilst there is currently an unprecedented level of uncertainty around future 
levels of government funding, the forecasts included in the financial strategy are 
based on OBR Fiscal Outlook data to model the potential impact of the changes 
to Government Departmental Expenditure Limits on the Council’s budget.  The 
modelling assumes that funding for schools, the NHS, defence and International 
Development are maintained in real terms, and that funding reductions would fall 
equally on the other government departments, including local government.  Over 
the 4-year period, by March 2020 the total reduction in the Council’s settlement 
funding assessment is forecast to be £69.5m or 25.9%.  

 Table 2- Forecast Settlement Funding Assessment  

 
 

Page 242



 

  

5.3.1.3 The anticipated funding reductions for 2016/17 to 2019/20 need to be treated 
with some degree of caution, as the impact of national reductions upon the 
Council will not only be affected by any variations in the reductions between 
government departments, but also the timescales for the reductions and 
potentially the distribution of resources between local authorities through the 
Settlement Funding Assessment mechanism.  

 Based on the assumption that the Business Rates Baseline figure will increase 
by 2% each year, the implied reduction in the Council’s Revenue Support Grant 
would be £81.3m, or 65% by March 2020. 

 Table 3 – Forecast Revenue Support Grant and Business Rates Baseline 

 
 

5.3.2 Business Rates Retention Scheme   

5.3.2.1 Leeds has the most diverse economy of the all the UK’s main employment 
centres and has seen the fastest rate of private sector jobs growth of any UK city 
in recent years.  Yet this apparent growth in the economy is not being translated 
into business rates growth; in fact the Council’s business rates income has 
declined month by month since the start of the 2015/16 financial year and other 
authorities are reporting similar problems. 

5.3.2.2 Under the Business Rates Retention (BRR) scheme which was introduced in 
2013/14, business rates income is shared equally between local and central 
government. Local authorities that experience growth in business rates are able 
to retain 50% of that growth locally. The downside is that local authorities also 
bear 50% of the risk if their business rates fall or fail to keep pace with inflation, 
although a safety-net mechanism is in place to limit losses from year to year to 
7.5% of their business rates baseline. Although BRR allows local authorities to 
benefit from business rates growth, it also exposes them to risk from reductions 
in rateable values. The system allows ratepayers and their agents to appeal 
against their rateable values if they think they have been wrongly assessed or 
that local circumstances have changed. When agreement cannot be reached, 
appeals may be pursued through the Valuation Tribunal and then through the 
courts. One major issue with the system is that successful appeals are usually 
backdated to the start of the current Valuation List, i.e. 1st April 2010, and this 
greatly increases the losses in cash terms – by nearly six times in the current 
financial year.  At end of September 2015 there were approximately 6,500 
appeals outstanding in Leeds and the total rateable value of the assessments 
with at least one appeal outstanding totals some £485m, which equates to more 
than half of the total rateable value of the city.  

Page 243



 

  

5.3.2.3 As part of the normal process for reviewing the 2014/15 accounts, under proper 
accounting practice, the Council identified a post balance sheet adjustment to the 
collection fund account and specifically to increase the level of provision for 
business rate appeals by some £23.9m to £41.5m.  This adjustment reflected the 
latest information from the Valuation Office.  The worsening position was due to a 
combination of factors which included an increase in the number of appeals, an 
increase in the success rate of those appeals that were being resolved and also 
a significant number of downward revisions to valuations by the Valuation Office 
on their own initiative.  As a result of the worsening position on business rates in 
2014/15, the council was no longer required to make a levy payment in that 
financial year. 

5.3.2.4 The financial strategy includes an allowance of £11.9m in 2016/17 which 
recognises the worsening position on business rates and the contribution 
required from the general fund to the collection fund.  This £11.9m is in addition 
to the £6.4m contribution in 2015/16 which will also carry-forward into 2016/17.  
The overall contribution in the financial strategy from the general fund in 2016/17 
is therefore £18.3m.  This contribution assumes a certain level of business rates 
growth which recognises the continuing improvement of the economic climate 
across the city. 

5.3.2.5 On the 5th October 2015, the Chancellor set out major plans to devolve new 
powers from Whitehall to local areas to promote growth and prosperity.  By the 
end of the current Parliament, local government will be able to retain 100% of 
local taxes – including all of the £26 billion of revenue from business rates.  It is 
worth noting that whilst local government as a whole will retain 100% of the 
business rates, some degree of re-distribution across the country will still be 
necessary within the system to take account of the significant differences 
between rate yields and needs in some areas.  Government has also signalled 
an intention to abolish the Uniform Business Rate and give local authorities the 
power to cut business rates to boost enterprise and economic activity in their 
areas. Local areas which successfully promote growth and attract businesses will 
therefore keep all of the benefit from increased business rate revenues. At the 
same time, the core Revenue Support Grant will be phased out, and local 
government will take on new responsibilities. 

 
5.3.2.6 The Chancellor has also announced that under devolution arrangements an 

Elected Mayor will be given the power to levy a supplementary rate, described as 
an “Infrastructure Levy”; this will be subject to the support of local businesses and 
would be limited by a cap which is likely to be set at 2p on the rate. 

 
5.3.2.7 Although these changes will have a significant impact on the Council’s core 

funding mix, it is not expected that they will have any impact on the 2016/17 
settlement. 

5.3.3 Council Tax 
 
5.3.3.1 The 2015/16 budget was supported by a 1.99% increase in the level of Council 

Tax which remains the 2nd lowest of the Core Cities and mid-point of the West 
Yorkshire districts.  

 

Page 244



 

  

 Table 4 – 2015/16 Council Tax levels 

 
(Figures exclude Police and Fire precepts) 

 
5.3.3.2 Government previously provided funding for the on-going effect of previous 

Council Tax freezes up to 2015/16. The Council accepted the Council Tax freeze 
grant for the years 2011/12 to 2013/14, and government funding of £9.428m was 
built into the Council’s 2015/16 settlement (the grant for freezing Council Tax in 
2012/13 was for one year only).  The financial strategy continues to assume that 
this funding will continue into 2016/17, but currently there is no certainty as to 
this. 

5.3.3.3  At this stage, the financial strategy makes no assumption about an increase in 
Council Tax in future years.  For information, a 1% increase would generate 
additional income of approximately £2.5m in 2016/17. Whilst Government has yet 
to confirm any detail regarding Council tax capping, any increase in Council Tax 
in future years is likely be subject to the Government’s referendum limit, which for 
2015/16 was set at 2%.     

 
5.3.4 Specific Grants - Public Health Grant 

5.3.4.1 The allocation of the main ring-fenced Public Health grant funding for 2015/16 
was frozen at 2014/15 levels at £40.5m. In addition, the responsibility for the 0-5 
years services which include health visiting services and Family Nurse 
Partnership will transfer to the Council from October 2015 with further funding of 
£5m.  

5.3.4.2 However, on the 4th June 2015, Government announced a national £200m in-
year reduction in the 2015/16 for the Public Health grant. At the end of July 
Government issued a 4-week consultation with a closing date of 28th August with 
a preferred option, based on ease of implementation, of a flat-rate cut across all 
local authorities, regardless of local needs and circumstances, for Leeds, this 
would amount to a funding cut of £2.8m. This would equate to a 7% cut of the 
current public health budget prior to the planned transfer in October 2015 of the 
commissioning responsibilities for health visiting services.   

5.3.4.3 Whilst the Public Health grant for 2015/16 is already committed, work has been 
undertaken to identify potential savings and understand the resulting impact. 
Managing reductions of this scale at such a late juncture in the financial year will 
inevitably see reductions in general public health services which are provided 
through the Council, NHS bodies and the 3rd sector and will impact on services 
such as health protection, tobacco control, healthy lifestyles, drug & alcohol 

Page 245



 

  

services, health-checks and specific targeted support for vulnerable children and 
adults.  Executive Board approved the changes to the budget to reflect the 
potential reduction to the public health grant and proposed savings, subject to 
confirmation of the final in-year grant. 

5.3.4.4 At this stage there is no firm information that this cut will be recurrent although it 
is anticipated that this will be confirmed through the Spending Review.  In line 
with the general principle applied to reductions in specific grant funding, the 
financial strategy assumes that any reduction in the public health grant will be 
matched by a corresponding reduction in related spend. 

5.3.4.5 Other specific grants – as a general principle, the strategy assumes that 
variations in specific grants will be matched by reductions in related spending, for 
example non-recurrent grant funding such as the DfE Innovation Fund, and other 
potential grant reductions such as the Youth Offending grant, the Education 
Support grant and the Housing Benefit Administration grant, although this will be 
subject to review as announcements are made and implications fully understood.    

6. Changes in Costs 

6.1 Inflation - the financial strategy makes allowance for £33.6m of net inflation 
across 2016/17 through to 2019/20.  This includes provision of £4m each year for 
a 1% pay award in each year over and above the cost of implementing the living 
wage. The financial strategy makes allowance for inflation where there is a 
contractual commitment, but anticipates that the majority of other spending 
budgets are cash-limited.  An anticipated 3% rise in fees and charges has also 
been built into the financial strategy. 

6.2 Employer’s National Insurance - employer’s national insurance costs are due 
to increase in 2016/17 as announced in the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement in 
2013. The cost of this in 2016/17 would amount to £7.7m of which £7m relates to 
general fund services and £0.7m to the Housing Revenue Account. The 
Chancellor had previously indicated that public sector funding would take this 
additional burden into account, although given the overall position on government 
funding the Council has taken a realistic view and made provision in the financial 
strategy. 

6.3 Real Living Wage – at its September 2015 meeting, the Executive Board noted 
that Council staff would be paid a real Living Wage at £8.01 per hour from the 1st 
April 2016 with the decision to be implemented by the Deputy Chief Executive.  
The latest estimated cost of implementation to the general fund is £2.6m in 
2016/17 with additional costs of £0.7m in 2017/18 and 2018/19 and a further 
increase of £1m in 2019/20.  In addition, the cost to the Housing Revenue 
Account would be in the region of £0.2m in 2016/17 with the impact for schools-
based staff being around £2.1m.  These calculations are based on the Campaign 
for Living Wage Foundation hourly rates which at September 2015 were set at 
£7.85 per hour (outside London), and which are due to be reviewed in November 
2015.   

 By paying a real Living Wage of £8.01 per hour from the 1st April 2016, the 
Council is not committing to automatic indexed future increases. Any future 
increases will need to take into account recommendations from the Living Wage 

Page 246



 

  

Foundation, any national pay increases, affordability and the financial 
circumstances of the Council. 

 
6.4 Demography – the financial strategy also recognises the increasing demography 

pressures in Adult Social Care with provision of £22.1m across the life of the 
strategy. The population growth forecast assumes a steady increase from 2015, 
in the number of people aged 85 -89 during 2016 and 2017 (2.9% and 2.8% 
respectively) followed by further increases but at a lower rate at 1.8% for the later 
years of the strategy, resulting in additional costs for domiciliary care and 
placements (£3.5m). In addition, the strategy reflects the anticipated impact of 
increasing cash personal budgets of £2m across through to 2020. The Learning 
Disability demography is expected to grow by £3.7m per annum, which includes 
an anticipated growth in numbers of 3.5% (based on ONS data) over the period; 
but noting that the high cost increase is primarily a combination of increasingly 
complex (and costly) packages for those entering adult care, as well as the 
meeting the costs of the increasing need for existing clients who’s packages may 
last a lifetime. 

6.5 Debt – the financial strategy makes allowance for an increase in debt costs of 
£2.5m in 2016/17, £2.1m in 2017/18 and £2m in 2018/19 which reflects the on-
going capital programme commitments together with anticipated changes in 
interest rates.  The gross total capital programme is over £1bn and seeks to 
deliver investment in line with the Council’s plans and objectives.  The level of the 
capital programme will continue to be reviewed to ensure that it is deliverable and 
that it continues to be relevant.  The forecast debt costs reflect the costs of 
financing both present and future borrowing in line with assumed borrowing 
costs.  These assumed borrowing costs will be kept under review and adjusted 
for the latest market estimates. 

6.6 National Living Wage – as part of the budget in July 2015, Government 
announced the introduction of a new National Living Wage of £7.20 per hour, 
rising to £9 per hour by 2020.  Implemented from April 2016, the national Living 
Wage would be paid to all employees aged over 25.   

 In addition to the additional cost of implementing the Real Living Wage for all 
directly-employed staff, the financial strategy also makes allowance for 
implementing the cost of the National Living Wage for commissioned services.  
The immediate impact in 2016/17 is estimated at an additional cost of £5.2m with 
an additional cost of £18.4m by 2019/20. 

6.7 West Yorkshire Transport Fund – the strategy provides for an increase in the 
contribution to the West Yorkshire Transport Fund from £5.4m in 2014/15 to 
£11.4m over 10 years, an increase of £0.6m each year. The Leeds share based 
on population figures is around £0.2m and provision has been built into the 
financial strategy to reflect this.   

7. Reserves and non-recurrent income 

7.1 General and useable reserves are a key measure of the financial resilience of the 
Council allowing the authority to address unexpected financial pressures. 

7.2 The Council’s balance of general reserves at April 2015 was £22.3m and after 
taking into account the budgeted use of £1.4m in 2015/16, will leave an 

Page 247



 

  

anticipated balance at March 2016 of £20.9m.  For 2015/16, the minimum 
general reserve level was set at £17m. 

7.3 At this stage, the financial strategy makes no assumption about the use of 
general reserves.  However, given the uncertainty about future government 
funding, the financial challenges ahead and the inherent risks in future budgets, 
there is an argument that the level of general reserves should be increased over 
the course of the strategy in order to increase the Council’s financial resilience. 

8. The Budget Gap 

8.1 After taking into account the impact of the anticipated changes in funding and 
spend, it is forecast that the Council will need to generate savings in the order of 
£146m by 2019/20 as summarised in Appendix 1, although this is very much 
dependent on the range of assumptions highlighted previously in this report, 
particularly around the level of future core funding from Government. 

8.2 The Council has a comprehensive approach to the development of its financial 
strategy, its annual budget and the identification of saving plans.  Over 
successive financial years the Council has delivered efficiencies and savings 
through smarter procurement, generating additional income, better business 
management and innovative demand management.  Whilst there is currently an 
unprecedented level of uncertainty around future levels of government funding 
the Council has a proven history and capability in this area and prudent planning 
assumptions have been built into the 2016/17 to 2019/20 financial strategy with 
work underway to develop a range of options to meet the financial challenge. 

8.3 However, there is no doubt that the Council will need to manage the significant 
challenge of identifying further financial savings and this will prove increasingly 
difficult over the coming years.  While the Council to date has been successful in 
responding to the challenging reductions to its funding since 2010 - in the region 
of £180m over the past 5 years - we now need to work differently to address this 
challenge.  

8.4 As set out in the Leeds-led Commission in the Future of Local Government 
(2012), the future of the Council lies in moving away from a heavily paternalistic 
role in which we largely provide services, towards a greater civic leadership role: 
working with people, not doing things to or for them.  This shift has considerable 
implications for the way in which the Council makes decisions, develops 
strategies and its financial and workforce planning.  It requires a sound 
understanding of people’s needs and their demands (now and in the future) and 
a greater level of engagement with the citizens of Leeds.  Much will depend on 
redefining the social contract: the relationship between the State and the citizen 
where there is a balance between rights and responsibilities; a balance between 
reducing public sector costs and managing demand, and improving outcomes.  If 
more people are able to do more themselves, the Council and its partners can 
more effectively concentrate and prioritise service provision.  

8.5 Making these step changes will help to tackle the range of inequalities and 
challenges that continue to exist in Leeds, as highlighted by the Joint Strategic 

Page 248



 

  

Needs Assessment (JSNA) work1 carried out earlier this year.  These include, for 
example: 

 20% of the Leeds population live in deprived areas, centred in the Inner East 
and Inner South of the city; 

 Educational attainment is one of the main determinants of life chances and 
though good progress has been made, Leeds is below the national average 
on some key indicators; 

 Housing remains a challenge in terms of affordability, quality and meeting 
demand;  

 Health inequalities continue to impact on the most vulnerable, with increased 
demand on related public services through growing numbers and increased 
complexity of needs; and 

 Across the city and within localities there is – and will continue to be – 
significant demographic change through an ageing population, increased birth 
rate, more transient populations and changing ethnicities.  Again, these put 
additional pressures on public services. 

8.6 The 2015 Index of Deprivation was released on 30th September by the 
Department of Communities and Local Government and while a full analysis will 
be provided to the Executive Board in November, the data shows that Leeds 
continues to have a number of neighbourhoods in the most deprived 10% 
nationally2.  The Council will need to consider carefully how to address the city’s 
inequalities within the context of its available resources. 

8.7 Inevitably, addressing an estimated budget gap of £146m by March 2020 will 
require the Council to take difficult decisions in order to reduce the Council’s net 
spend.  These decisions will unavoidably include reducing and ceasing services 
and also generating additional income through increasing fees and charges for 
services, potentially based on the ability to pay.   

9. Housing Revenue Account  

9.1 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) includes all the expenditure and income 
incurred in managing the Council’s housing stock and, in accordance with 
Government legislation, operates as a ring fenced account. 

9.2 In July 2015 the Chancellor announced that for each of the next 4 years (2016/17 
to 2019/20) housing rents will reduce by 1%  each year and then revert back to 
the previous policy of CPI+1% from 2020/21. For Leeds, this equates to a 
reduction of £20.5m in rental income over this four year period which will then 
start to be offset by reverting back to annual rent increases of CPI+ 1% in 
2020/21. These reductions in rental income will be required to be managed along 
with having to absorb pay, price and service pressures. 

9.3 The HRA Financial Plan was based on the assumption that rents would increase 
in line with CPI +1% each year  for 10 years  as per the Government Policy 
introduced last year – in essence a 3% increase pa (based on the Government 
CPI target of 2%).  The Chancellor’s announcement is therefore effectively a 4% 

                                            
1 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a rolling programme of needs assessments and analysis with a primary focus on 
Health and Wellbeing.  Its purpose is to influence priorities and inform commissioning strategies and plans.  The 2015 JSNA for Leeds 
focused on population, deprivation, housing, mental health, potential years life lost and learning disabilities. 
2 Leeds has 105 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA) in the most deprived 10% nationally; 22% of all Leeds LSOAs.  LSOAs are the 
geographical building blocks for the Index of Deprivation with an average of 1,500 residents per LSOA.  Leeds has 482 LSOAs in total. 

Page 249



 

  

pa reduction from the Plan for each of the next 4 years (2016/17 to 2019/20).  
When compared to the level of resources assumed in the HRA Financial Plan 
this equates to a loss of £283m of rental income over a 10 year period (2016/17 
to 2024/25). 

9.4 The rollout of universal credit in Leeds commenced in 2015 and once fully 
implemented it will require the Council to collect rent directly from around 24k 
tenants. This will have implications for the level of rental income receivable. 

9.5 Despite the reduction in resources the Council remains committed to the 
Investment Strategy agreed at Executive Board and the projected loss of rental 
income will need to be managed through a combination of identifying efficiencies, 
implementing cost reductions in the HRA and reviewing other sources of income. 
Further details of these proposals will be incorporated into the Initial Budget 
Proposals report that will be considered at Executive Board in December. 

10. Next Steps 

10.1 The Council has been successful in responding to the challenging reductions to 
its funding since 2010. The Council has identified significant savings over the 
period through smarter procurement, generating additional income, staffing 
savings and improvements in efficiency.  However, there is no doubt that the 
Council will need to manage the significant challenge of identifying further 
financial savings and this will prove increasingly difficult over the coming years.  
Whilst, the Council to date has been successful in responding to the challenging 
reductions to its funding since 2010 which has been in the region of £180m over 
the past 5 years, we now need to work differently to address this challenge. 

10.2 As set out in the Leeds-led Commission in the Future of Local Government 
(2012), the future of the Council lies in moving away from a heavily paternalistic 
role in which we largely provide services, towards a greater civic leadership role.  
This will be achieved through redefining the social contract to identify the 
respective responsibilities of the State and the citizen and to improve demand 
management.  This shift has considerable implications for the way in which the 
Council makes decisions, develops strategies and its financial and workforce 
planning.  It requires a sound understanding of people’s needs and their 
demands (now and in the future) and a greater level of engagement with the 
citizens of Leeds. The proposed medium term financial strategy provides a high 
level framework to help the Council in responding to this challenge and it will 
underpin the detailed budget setting process for 2016/17 and beyond.  

10.3 As per the timetable below, the Initial Budget Proposals for 2016/17 will be 
presented to Executive Board in December 2015, which will be subject to further 
public consultation.  

Page 250



 

  

 

11. Corporate Considerations 

11.1 Consultation and Engagement  

11.1.1 The financial strategy has been driven by the Council’s ambitions and priorities 
which have been shaped through past consultations and stakeholder 
engagement. It is proposed that public perception evidence that services and 
localities already hold about people’s priorities is brought together and a 
summary of the findings produced to support the Initial Budget Proposals for 
2016/17.    

11.1.2 This strategy will provide the framework for the Initial Budget Proposals for 
2016/17 and a consultation exercise will be undertaken on these budget 
proposals following Executive Board in December 2015.  As in previous years, 
residents and wider stakeholders will have the opportunity to comment on the 
initial budget proposals in a variety of ways, for example hard-copy feedback 
forms in public spaces, online and also through city-wide networks.    

11.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

11.2.1 This report does not have any specific implications for equality and diversity nor 
for cohesion and integration, but is should be noted that the Council’s budget 
process is subject to equality impact assessments as appropriate.  Tackling 
inequalities is at the heart of the renewed ambition and therefore equality 
considerations will be a primary focus when the council is developing its priorities 
and budget proposals for 2016/17. 

11.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

11.3.1 The draft set of outcomes as reported to Executive Board in September 2015 will 
be used to develop refreshed priorities for the Council and will inform a revised 
Best Council Plan for 2016/17.  These will be drawn-up in conjunction with the 
2016/17 budget proposals and so seek to ensure that the Council’s financial 
resources are directed towards its policies and priorities and, conversely, that 
these policies and priorities themselves are affordable. 

11.4 Resources and Value for Money  

Page 251



 

  

11.4.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are 
detailed in the main body of the report. 

11.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

11.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  

11.6 Risk Management 

11.6.1  The Council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of risk 
management processes. Failure to address medium-term financial pressures in a 
sustainable way is identified as one of the Council’s corporate risks, as is the 
Council’s financial position going into significant deficit in the current year 
resulting in reserves (actual or projected) being less than the minimum specified 
by the Council’s risk-based reserves policy. Both these risks are subject to 
regular review. In addition, financial management and monitoring continues to be 
undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial management resources are 
prioritised to support those areas of the budget that are judged to be at risk, for 
example the implementation of budget action plans, those budgets which are 
subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. This risk-based 
approach has been reinforced with specific project management based support 
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans. 

11.6.2  It is recognised that the proposed strategy carries a number of significant risks. 
Delivery of the annual budget savings and efficiencies proposed will be difficult, 
but failure to do so will inevitably require the Council to start to consider even 
more difficult decisions which will have far greater impact upon the provision of 
front line services to the people of Leeds. 

12. Recommendation 

12.1 Members are asked to approve the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 – 
2019/20 and agree that the assumptions and principles outlined in this report will 
be used as a basis for the detailed preparation of the Initial Budget Proposals for 
2016/17 and will inform the council’s future priorities and strategies.  

13.  Background documents1  

  None 

 

 

 

 

 

1  The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

 

Page 252



 

  

 

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board    

Date: 21st October 2015 

Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 – Month 5 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of 
the authority in respect of the revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA).  

 
2. The 2015/16 financial year is the second year covered by the 2013 Spending 

Review and again presents significant financial challenges to the Council.  In terms 
of the medium-term financial strategy, it is clear that the Government’s deficit 
reduction plans will extend through to at least 2019/20, with the announced 
reductions in public expenditure meaning that further savings will be required.  A 
report outlining the Council’s 2016/17 to 2019/20 Financial Strategy is also on the 
agenda for the October Executive Board. 
 

3. Executive Board will recall that the 2015/16 general fund revenue budget provides 
for a variety of actions to reduce spending by £45m. It is clear that action is taking 
place across all areas of the Council and also that significant savings are being 
delivered in line with the budget. However, after 5 months of the financial year the 
year-end forecast is for an overall overspend of £3.48m which represents a 
favourable movement of £0.87m compared to the previous month.  The key 
pressures continue to be in the demand-led budgets and specifically those 
supporting children in care. 
 

4. An overspend of £3.48m on the revenue budget in the current financial year, and 
consequential call on general reserves, is not sustainable given the anticipated 
reduction in government funding and financial challenges in the coming years.  All 

Report author: Alan Gay/Doug Meeson  

Tel: 74250 

Page 255

Agenda Item 12



 

  
 

Directors have therefore been asked to implement the directorate budget 
contingency plans and tasked with identifying and implementing any further actions 
to bring the budget into a balanced position by March 2016.  References to these 
plans and actions are included within the relevant directorate at section 3.2 and will 
be confirmed for inclusion in the half-year financial health report. 
 

5. At the end of month 5 the HRA is projecting a surplus of £0.47m. 

Recommendations 

6. Members of the Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position 
of the Authority for 2015/16. 
 

1. Purpose of this report     
 
1.1 This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health 

position for 2015/16 together with other key financial indicators.  
 
1.2 Budget management and monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, 

and this report reviews the position of the budget after 5 months of the financial 
year and also comments on the key issues impacting on the overall achievement of 
the budget for the current year. 

 
2. Background information 
 
2.1 Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund was set at 

£523.78m, supported by the use of £1.4m of general fund reserves.   
 
2.2 The balance of general reserves at April 2015 was £22.3m and when taking into 

account the budgeted use of £1.4m in 2015/16 will leave an anticipated balance at 
March 2016 of £20.9m. 

 
2.3 Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. In 
2015/16 we have reinforced this risk-based approach with specific project 
management based support and reporting around the achievement of the key 
budget actions plans. 

 
3. Main Issues  
 
3.1 At month 5 of the 2015/16 financial year a forecast year-end overspend of £3.48m 

is projected as shown in the table below.  

Page 256



 

  
 

  
   
3.2 The key issues are outlined below.  
 
3.2.1 Adult Social Care – The directorate is currently projecting an overspend of £0.6m, 

which is 0.3% of the net managed budget. The overall projection at month 5 is 
unchanged from the previous month, although there are some changes across the 
main budget heads. The projected staffing underspend has increased by £0.7m to 
£2.3m which reflects further contingency savings being identified. These savings 
however have been offset by a forecast increase in costs for community care 
packages and transport. There continues to be some risks within the overall budget, 
mainly relating to the activity levels within the community care budget and progress 
over the coming months in delivering key budget action plans.   

 
 The year-end projection recognises some slippage and likely non-achievement of 

planned savings on some of the most challenging budget action plans.   In addition, 
although there is some slippage in delivering the specific actions associated with 
savings of £2.8m within the community care packages budget, this has been largely 
offset by savings through continued careful management of care plan approvals. 
The year-end projection also recognises  a £1m risk in respect of the revenue 
funding for community intermediate care beds from health which is now unlikely, but 
contingency plans are being developed and the projection assumes that these will 
offset the potential shortfall.  

 
 The month 5 projection also recognises pressures of £1.2m in the budgeted saving 

from reviewing grants and contracts with third sector providers, and also £0.4m on 
transport. There is also slippage of £0.7m in respect of the charging review will 
occur as any changes will not now take place until April 2016. These pressures are 
largely offset by the anticipated savings on staffing and by additional grant income. 
 
The Directorate continues to identify and implement contingency actions. It is 
anticipated that further staffing savings of £0.2m and running expenses savings of 
£0.1m can be delivered by the year-end. In addition, further work is being 
undertaken to evaluate the maximising of potential budget action plan savings, 
which at this stage of the year, coupled with the above actions on staffing and 
running costs, is anticipated to be sufficient for the delivery of a balanced budget 
overall by the year end. 

 

Page 257



 

  
 

3.2.2 Children’s Services – overall, the Directorate is forecast to overspend by £2.82m, 
or 2.3% of its net managed budget. This represents a favourable movement of 
£0.25m from the month 4 position.  The forecast pressure on the children looked 
after related budgets, has improved by £0.5m this month, mainly due to the 
changing mix of placement provision.  At the end of August 2015 there were 1,249 
children in care which is an overall increase of 8 in the month.  Externally provided 
residential placements have reduced by 2 this period to 49 and placements with 
Independent Fostering Agencies have reduced by 25 to 235. However, the month 5 
projection does recognise some increased activity in other children looked after 
related budgets, most notably in-house foster care and direct payments.   

 
In respect of staffing, the directorate is projecting an underspend of £1.9m.  The 
year-end forecast recognises slippage in the recruitment plans for services funded 
from the Innovations Fund [£1.6m], a forecast underspend on Children's Centre 
staffing [£0.8m] and a forecast overspend on Youth Services [£0.4m]. The 
directorate is also targeting a £0.5m underspend on the agency staffing budget of 
which £0.3m relates to implementation of the in-year contingency plan. Staff 
turnover and an in-year pause on recruitment are forecast to deliver £0.5m of 
savings by the end of the financial year. 

 
The 2015/16 budget includes £3.15m of savings from service transformation across 
Children's Services against which the Directorate is currently forecasting a year-end 
overspend of £0.6m. 

 
In addition, the 2015/16 budget includes £0.83m of anticipated savings around 
demand management, particularly around the transport needs of children with 
Special Educational Needs.  At this stage £0.5m is anticipated to be at risk, 
particularly around the demand for transport children and young people with special 
educational needs. The year-end projection already recognises £0.5m pressure due 
to increased demand for SEN transport. There is a significant risk that the budget 
will come under further pressure in the second half of the year due to changes in 
SEN provision away from in house to externally commissioned placements. 
 
In addition to the contingency plans already reflected in the projection, a case by 
case review of placements is continuing and working towards safely and 
appropriately reducing externally provided residential and fostering placements to 
38 and 200 respectively by March 2016.   
 
Other options are also being considered with a view to reducing the projected 
overspend and, once costed, will be incorporated in the half-year projection. In 
addition to the recruitment pause on many vacant posts, maximising the innovations 
fund and restricting expenditure on supplies and services there is further review of 
ELI requests which could save a further £0.1m if implemented for part of the year, a 
review of unspent direct payments for care packages that will require the repayment 
of unspent balances (this could potentially deliver £0.1m of repayments) and 
maximising improvement activity income, bringing in another £50k. These options 
could increase the contingency by a further £0.25m above the £1.15m already 
reflected in the projection. 
 

3.2.3 City Development - the month 5 forecast is that the directorate will spend within 
the £51.9m net managed budget. A key change since the previous month is a 
reduction in the forecast overspend for Asset Management of £0.1m which reflects 
further staffing savings. The year-end projection for the directorate continues to 

Page 258



 

  
 

anticipate achieving further savings across the budget to offset the forecast risks, 
and these savings are shown within the Resources and Strategy forecast until the 
details have been agreed. The year-end balanced projection also assumes that the 
directorate will receive additional one off income in achieving its balanced position. 
Some slippage on the delivery of the budget action plans around increased 
advertising income is anticipated and the forecast recognises that the community 
asset transfer proposals are unlikely to progress resulting in a potential shortfall of 
£0.14m.  
 

 The Directorate is already closely managing recruitment and spend in order to 
ensure that the Directorate does not overspend this year but it will look to make 
further savings from a wider freeze on recruitment subject to operational needs, 
reducing discretionary spend during the remainder of the financial year and 
reviewing fees and charges. Whilst there are still potential risks, particularly around 
income and some budget actions still to be delivered, there is the potential to deliver 
additional savings of around £0.2m.    

 
3.2.4 Environment & Housing – overall the directorate is forecasting a year-end 

underspend of £0.96m against its £61.2m net managed budget. The main area of 
underspend relates to car parking where, through a combination of staffing savings 
and additional fee income from both off and on-street, an underspend of £0.6m is 
projected. In other areas of the directorate, Waste Management are anticipating a 
marginal overspend of £0.1m and Community Safety are forecasting a saving of 
£0.15m, with the latter being due to savings on staffing offset by reduced charges to 
the Housing Revenue Account and other minor pressures. 

 
3.2.5 Public Health - the allocation of the main ring-fenced Public Health grant funding 

for 2015/16 was frozen at 2014/15 levels at £40.5m. In addition, the responsibility 
for the 0-5 years services which include health visiting services and Family Nurse 
Partnership, will transfer to the Council from October 2015 with further funding of 
£5m.  
 
On the 4th June 2015, Government announced a national £200m in-year reduction 
in the 2015/16 for the Public Health grant. At the end of July Government issued a 
4-week consultation with a closing date of 28th August with a preferred option, 
based on ease of implementation, of a flat-rate cut across all local authorities, 
regardless of local needs and circumstances, for Leeds, this would amount to a 
funding cut of £2.8m. This would equate to a 7% cut of the current public health 
budget prior to the planned transfer in October 2015 of the commissioning 
responsibilities for health visiting services. 
 
In anticipation of a reduction in government grant, the month 4 financial health 
report to the Executive Board included a range of potential savings totalling some 
£2.2m which will be implemented when the outcome of the consultation is 
announced. 

 
3.2.6 Strategy & Resources – the Directorate is forecasting a potential overspend of 

£0.14m against its budget which is due to a forecast shortfall of income [£0.1m] in 
the Projects, Programmes and Procurement Unit and also an anticipated reduction 
in court fee income in Financial Services [£0.1m].  These pressures are offset by a 
forecast underspend of £0.05m in Human Resources.  Across the remainder of the 
Directorate, services are on track to deliver against its budget action plans.   

 

Page 259



 

  
 

 Work is continuing across the Directorate and the latest indications are that actions 
can be taken to bring the Directorate in under budget by year end. An underspend 
of £200k is being targeted. 

 
3.2.7 Citizens & Communities – at this stage in the financial year the directorate is 

expecting to deliver the budgeted level of savings and deliver an underspend of 
£0.07m.  Many of the required budget action plans have already been implemented 
and achieved and in all cases work is progressing to achieve the required savings. 

 
3.2.8 Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL) – the bottom-line year-end forecast for CEL is to 

overspend by £0.3m primarily due to an anticipated overspend across school 
catering services of £0.17m as the result of a shortfall on the expected increase in 
the number of meals, and also a potential £0.15m overspend on property cleaning 
due to delays in implementing a reduced cleaning specification and realising the 
associated savings. 

 
 An action plan is being developed to bring the projected overspend back to a 

balanced position and it looks likely that further savings from ‘Better Business 
Management’ within the Business Support Centre will significantly contribute to this. 

 
3.2.9 Strategic & Central budgets - overall, the strategic & central budgets are forecast 

to overspend by £0.6m, although there are a number of key variations within this 
figure. 

 
i) The Business Rates Retention Scheme came into effect in April 2013 and 

significantly changed the system of financing local government.  In terms of 
business rates income, whilst there has been some growth, this has been offset 
by the impact of successful valuation appeals and other reductions to the rating 
list, either through closure, Valuation Office reviews or other appeals against the 
rating list.  Whilst the impact of major variations in business rates income is 
managed through a collection fund and therefore will impact on future years, 
there will be an impact on the levy payment to the business rates pool which is 
budgeted for within the general fund.  Based on the latest business rates 
information, we are anticipating a levy payment of £1.8m in 2015/16 which is 
£1m less than the budget. 
 

ii) An additional £1.3m of savings to the revenue budget are anticipated in 2015/16 
through the additional capitalisation of eligible general expenditure (£0.3m) and 
eligible spend in schools budgets (£1m). 

 
iii) The 2015/16 budget included a £1.2m action plan in respect of reviewing and 

reducing directorate spend outside of council contracts.  Work is on-going to 
realise these savings however it is anticipated that £0.6m of the savings will slip 
into future financial years.  In addition, the forecast on the strategic budget 
recognises that £0.5m of the £1m corporate procurement target will be achieved 
through Directorate budgets.  
 

iv) New Homes Bonus is a funding mechanism rewarding councils that increase the 
number of occupied homes within their areas. The reward effectively doubles 
the amount of Council Tax for every new home built or empty home brought 
back into use, and is payable for six years.  The 2015/16 budget assumes some 
£18.5m in respect of New Homes Bonus.  At month 5, the forecast recognises 
an anticipated shortfall of £0.4m.  

Page 260



 

  
 

 
v) In addition, there is a potential reduction in section 2781 income of 

approximately £1.5m which reflects lower development activity than anticipated. 
 
3.2.10 Additional information across the range of budget action plans, other risk areas and 

forecast budget variations can be found in the financial dashboards at appendix 1. 
 
3.3 Other Financial Performance 
 
3.3.1 Council Tax 

 
 The current Council Tax in-year collection rate stands at 46.01% which continues to 

be marginally ahead of the performance in 2014/15.  The year-end forecast is to 
achieve the 95.7% target collection rate, collecting some £283m of income in the 
year. 

 
3.3.2 Business Rates  
 
 The current Business Rates collection rate stands at 47.96% which is in line with 

the performance at this point in 2014/15.  The year-end forecast is to achieve the 
97.7% target collection rate, collecting some £378m of business rates income.  
However, whilst collection rates continue to be on target, as mentioned at 
paragraph 3.2.9, there is a significant issue around the total income to be collected 
and specifically the high number and backdating of business rates appeals.  The 
financial impact of these will manifest through the collection fund and therefore will 
impact on the 2016/17 financial strategy. 

 
3.3.3 Prompt payment of Creditors 
 
 The current performance for the prompt payment of invoices processed within 30 

days is 92.68% which compares favourably against the target of 92%. 
 
4.    Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

4.1 After 5 months of the financial year the Housing Revenue Account is forecasting a 
net surplus of £0.47m against the 2015/16 budget.  

4.2 Overall income is projected to be £0.6m more than the budget which is primarily 
due to additional rent income of £0.3m, along with additional income from service 
charges and other income.  Savings of £0.3m are forecast in relation to employees, 
which is primarily due to vacant posts.   

4.3 The HRA financial dashboard is included at appendix 1. 
5. Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement  

5.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation 

 

1 The Council receives income from developers to fund highways works which are required for new 
development schemes. These are known as section 278 agreements and the Council’s 2015/16 revenue 
budget provides for income of £5.2m for such schemes. 
 

Page 261



 

  
 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

5.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2015/16 was subject to Equality Impact 
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on 
25th February 2015. 

5.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

5.3.1 The 2015/16 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and 
priorities. This report comments on the financial performance against this budget.   

5.4 Resources and Value for Money  

5.4.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are detailed 
in the main body of the report. 

 
5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

5.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 
5.6 Risk Management 
 
5.6.1 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and key income budgets.  
To reinforce this risk-based approach, specific project management based support 
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans is in place 
from 2015/16. 

 
6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position of the Authority 

for 2015/16. 
 
7. Background documents1  
 
7.1 None

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 262



 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

Appendix 1 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total 
Expenditure

Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Health Partnerships 403 (342) 61 (48) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (48) 48 0
Access and Care 
Delivery

236,597 (43,520) 193,077 (1,442) 47 121 (29) 550 719 62 0 0 29 125 154

Care Reform 1,508 (147) 1,360 (203) 4 0 (1) 33 60 0 0 0 (106) (96) (202)
Strategic 
Commissioning

23,889 (29,691) (5,801) (224) 29 (40) (13) 197 822 0 0 0 770 68 838

Resources and Strategy 7,459 (1,221) 6,239 (356) (0) 36 (6) 0 0 0 0 0 (326) 163 (163)

Total  269,856 (74,920) 194,935 (2,273) 79 118 (49) 780 1,601 62 0 0 319 309 627

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 5

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall narrative
The directorate is currently projecting an overspend of £0.6m, which is 0.3% of the net managed budget. The overall projection is unchanged since Month 4, although there are some changes across the main budget 
heads. The projected staffing underspend has increased by £0.7m reflecting further contingency savings being identified. This has been offset by increased costs within the budgets for community care packages and 
transport. 
There are some risks associated with this projection, mainly relating to the activity levels within the community care budget and progress over the coming months in delivering key budget action plans.  
Some slippage and likely non-achievement of planned savings has been identified on some of the most challenging budget action plans. Although there is slippage in delivering the specific actions associated with 
savings of £2.8m within the community care packages budget this has been largely offset by savings through continued careful management of care plan approvals. £1m relates to revenue funding for community 
intermediate care beds from health which is now unlikely, but contingency plans are being developed and the projection assumes that these will offset the shortfall. The current projection is for shortfalls of £1.2m in 
the budgeted saving from reviewing grants and contracts with third sector providers and £0.4m on transport. Slippage of £0.7m on the charging review will occur as any changes will not now take place until April 
2016. These pressures are largely offset by projected underspends on staffing and grant income, further details of which are outlined below.  
The main variations at Month 5 across the key expenditure types are as follows:

Staffing (-£2.3m – 3.1%)
Savings due to vacancies within the care management, reablement and Telecare services amount to £0.8m. Within older people’s residential care staffing savings of £0.5m reflect the closure of Primrose Hill and the 
Roseville laundry earlier than was anticipated when the 2015/16 budget was set. Savings of £0.8m are projected in commissioning services, resources and strategy, health and wellbeing and care reform services 
due to staff turnover and careful vacancy management.

Transport (+0.4m – 8.2%)
The budgeted savings have not yet been identified, but work is ongoing in conjunction with Passenger Transport Services. 

Grants and contracts (+0.8m – 5.8%)
Savings of £1.5m have been budgeted from third sector spend through a combination of reviewing contracts and the small number of grants, and reviewing the scope for some modest charges to be introduced by 
these organisations. Through a review of these areas savings of £0.7m have been identified without impacting on the delivery of services by the third sector. Work is continuing to assess the scope for any further 
savings.

Community care packages (+£0.8m – 0.5%) 
The main variation relates to residential and nursing care placements. Those relating to older people are currently running below budget but those for people with mental health needs and particularly those with 
complex physical impairments are exceeding the budget provision. These cost pressures relate mainly to a relatively small number of customers with very high cost care packages. Independent sector domiciliary 
care, the learning disability pooled budget and direct payments are slightly higher than budgeted, but this is largely offset by a projected underspend on supported accommodation.

Income (+£0.3m – 0.4%)
There is a small income shortfall due to the closure of Primrose Hill residential home earlier than was expected and there is some slippage on the charging review budget action plan. Additional government grant 
income of £0.5m relates to deprivation of liberty safeguarding and delayed transfers of care.

P
age 263



 

  
 

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast Variation 

against 
Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. L Ward 0.3 G 0.0

2. L Ward 0.5 G 0.0

3. M Naismith 0.7 A 0.4

4.
J Bootle / M 
Naismith

0.2 A 0.1

5. M Naismith 0.3 R 0.3

6.
J Wright / M 
Naismith

1.2 G 0.0

7. J Bootle 2.0 R 2.0

8. D Ramskill 0.9 G 0.0

9. S Hume 3.0 G 0.0

10. Health Funding S Hume 5.9 G 0.0

11. S Hume 1.0 R 1.0

12. J Suddick 0.4 R 0.4

13. M Ward 2.0  R  1.2

14. A Hill 0.9 R 0.7

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Various ‐2.3

2. J Bootle ‐1.7

3. S Hume ‐1.0

4.
Service user 
income

S McFarlane ‐0.2

5. Grant income S McFarlane ‐0.5

6. Other income Various 0.3

Adult Social Care Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation 0.6

Grants for deprivation of liberty safeguarding and delayed transfers of care

Reablement service Targets set for increased referrals that will reduce the demand for community care services

Review of high cost mental health care packages Clear strategy for achieving savings including targeting of high cost providers, but delivery not yet fully evidenced

Review of high cost physical disability care packages Targeting high cost providers. Review capacity required. 

Impact of telecare Targets for increased telecare installations to reduce the demand for community care services

Review of contract/grant arrangements including Supporting 
People

£1m of savings identified with good delivery plans associated with them. Remainder looking difficult to achieve at this 
stage.

Transfer of home care packages to independent sector Plans in place to deliver through staff turnover and ELI

Community Intermediate Care beds ‐ contingency actions
Options being explored to address the likely non‐achievement of the CIC bed plan, namely a reprioritisation of existing 
funding plans, and slippage on integration schemes

Additional Comments

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 5

Charging and Income Collection
Dependent on the outcome of customer consultation over the summer. Some slippage in the timetable but 
contingency savings identified.

Staffing
Savings within Access and Care Delivery relate to care management, business support, reablement, telecare and the 
closure of Primrose Hill residential home earlier than budgeted.

Community care packages
Although there has been slippage in delivering the specific actions within Budget Action Plans, the resulting pressures 
have been largely contained within the overall community care budget through careful budget management.

Includes slippage on some minor Budget Acton Plans and reduced income relating to staffing underspends

Client contributions are higher than budgeted and this is partly offsetting the slippage in the charging review.

Review of mental health cases (CHC and Section 117) Target saving considered difficult to achieve, but work ongoing to identify all the actions that can be taken.

Transport Delivery of savings not yet evident

Community Intermediate Care beds
Original plan for revenue payment from Health re LCC capital to build new units now unlikely to be achieved. 
Contingency actions being developed.

Reduce growth in learning disability pooled budget
Actions include reviewing care packages and reviewing the local authority that has responsibility for cases in the light 
of the Care Act. Monitoring of savings arising from these actions is quite difficult.

Funding received and the need for additional spend in addition to that budgeted in 2015/16 is minimal

Reducing care costs through innovation
Work to deliver underway, including reviews of packages, better use of technology and staff training. Monitoring of 
savings arising from these actions is quite difficult.

Business case being developed to calculate/evidence contribution from Health. Report then to be produced to enable 
detailed negotiations with Health

Home care Better Care Fund scheme

P
age 264



 

  
 

 
 
 
  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Partnership, 
Development & 
Business  Support

21,197 (2,799) 18,398 659 0 (183) 0 500 0 0 0 0 976 264 1,240

Learning, Skills  & 
Universal  Services

132,591 (117,230) 15,361 (534) 0 (21) 0 405 (561) 0 0 0 (711) (184) (895)

Safeguarding, Targeted 
& Specialist Services

124,254 (30,856) 93,398 (1,979) 0 (84) 100 0 3,778 682 0 1,104 3,601 (1,130) 2,471

Strategy, Performance & 
Commissioning

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Central  Overheads 9,857 (12,938) (3,081) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total  287,899 (163,823) 124,076 (1,854) 0 (288) 100 905 3,217 682 0 1,104 3,866 (1,050) 2,816

CHILDREN'S SERVICES

MONTH 5

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Overall
The Directorate is highlighting an overall potential year end overspend of £2.82m which equates to 2.3% of the Directorates Net Managed Budget and represents a favourable movement of £250k from the last 
period.  

CLA Obsession 
Overall the  financial projections  for CLA related spend  have improved by  £0.5m this month. At the end of  August there were 1,249 CLA  - an overall increase  of 8 from P4.  External residential placements have 
reduced by 2 this period to 49  and IFA placements have reduced by  25 to 235 . A case by case review  of external placements  is working towards  safely reducing  external residential  and IFA placements to 38 
and 200 respectively by the end of  the financial year.  However,  P5 has also seen increased activity in other CLA related budgets  (notably  in-house foster care  and direct payments) .  

Staffing 
Overall the Directorate is projecting  a year end underspend  across  staffing of approximately  £1.9m. down from a £2.3m projected underspend in P4  as in overall terms the staffing costs  for the directorate rose 
by £100k this month.  The year end forecast is primarily  accounted for  by slippage in the recruitment plans for services funded from the Innovations Fund  £1.6m, a forecast underspend on Children's Centre 
staffing of £0.8m and a forecast overspend on Youth Services of £0.4m.The directorate is also  aiming to deliver a £0.5m underspend  on agency staffing of which £0.3m relates to  implementation of the in-year 
contingency plan. Staff turnover and an in-year pause on recruitment is forecast to deliver  a further £0.5m  of savings by the end of the financial year.

Service Transformation  
The 2015/16 budget includes  £3.15m of savings from service transformation across Children's Services  against which the Directorate is currently forecasting a year-end overspend of approx. £0.6m.

Transport
The 2015/16 strategy includes £0.83m of anticipated savings around demand management , particularly around the transport needs of children with Special Educational Needs. At this stage £0.50m is anticipated 
to be at risk. Demand around SEN transport remains a major concern and the Transport Action Plan is therefore deemed a key risk.

Partnerships/Trading 
At this stage, the action plans around rationalising/trading the learning improvement service are projected to be delivered in full. 

P
age 265



 

  
 

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 
Variation

A. Key Budget Action plans (BAP's) £m £m

1. Steve Walker 7.00 R 3.50

2 Steve Walker 3.15 R 0.60

3
Andrea 

Richardson
3.05 A 0.50

4
Andrea 

Richardson
2.16 R 0.00

5 Paul Brennan 1.00 G 0.00

6 Sue Rumbold 0.83 A 0.50

7 Paul Brennan 0.25 A 0.25

B. OTHER SIGNIFICANT VARIATIONS

8 Paul Brennan 0.00 A (1.00)

9 Paul Brennan 0.00 A (0.50)

10 Various 0.00 A (1.15)

11 0 A 0.12

Children's Services Directora 2.82

Original plans put on hold pending the outcome of on‐going consultation with schools forum (see 9 below)

Joint funding proposal around devolvement of early intervention/targeted services to clusters  (including 
Childrens Centres services and Youth Services) agreed by Schools Forum in June).    

Directorate on track to deliver £0.2m saving on agency staffing based on current activity and aims to deliver a 
further £0.3m reduction in spend through implementation of in‐year contingency plan

Implementation of in‐year contingency plan to pause recruitment, reduce spend on supplies and services and 
further maximise spend against Innovations  Fund and other income sources 
Indications are that favourable outturn variation in Vine income for 14/15 will re‐materialise in 2015/16 (220k) 
but there will be a pressure of circa £250k on income generated by the Trading Services Team within 
Partnerships 

Additional Comments

CHILDREN'S SERVICES
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

Children Looked After (CLA) Placements ‐ 
reducing the need for children to be in care 

Service Transformation/Redesign 

Reduction/reconfiguration of Youth Services 
(recommissioning of targeted Information & 
Advice contract and In‐house Youth Services)

 At 31/3/15 the active cohort of CLA stood at 1, 270, down 70 from the position at 31/3/14 (1,340) but 40 
greater than assumed within the budget. At P5 the CLA cohort stands at 1,249 ‐ main issue continues to be 
dependency on external residential placements (49) and Independent Fostering Agency placements (235)

£3.15m savings from service re‐design & Early Leavers Initiative (£2.15m) and exploration of joint/co‐funding 
from key partners (£1.00m) to support devolvement of preventative/targeted services to localities. Discussions 
on‐going with partners re joint funding of multi‐agency teams; ELI driving staffing savings through post deletions 
and service reconfiguration ‐ slippage anticipated

£3.05m savings from re‐commissioning of the Targeted Information & Advice Contract (£1.35m) and reducing in‐
house provided Youth Services (£1.70m). Commissioning target delivered ‐ pressure of circa £0.6m anticipated 
(£0.45m staffing; £0.10m running costs & £0.05m activity centre income). 

Reconfiguration of Children's Centres (including 
Family Support & Parenting Team & Early Help 
Commissioned Services)

Learning Improvement ‐ reconfiguration and/or 
further trading 

Transport ‐savings through reducing demand 
(Independent Travel Training) and general 
efficiency savings

Partner Heads/active schools/

Slippage in plans to re‐configure Children's Centres and associated services circa £1.3m; ongoing discussions 
with partners re joint funding of Children's Centre services 

New "Leeds for Learning" web‐site implemented enabling schools to enrol/subscribe for services on‐line and 
services to track demand and inform marketing strategy.  Services aiming to deliver through combination of 
vacancy management and increased trading ‐ no slippage anticipated at this stage.

Team continue to actively work on Independent Travel Training element of savings (circa £330k) ‐ potential 
pressure around SEN & GRT transport

"A life Ready for Learning" ‐  
development/agreement of proposals for co‐
funding from Schools/Health 

Agency Staffing

Other Variations

In‐year Contingency Plan

P
age 266



 

  
 

  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) 
/ overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning and Sustainable Development 9,037 (5,497) 3,540 8 (17) (3) (12) (17) (29)

Economic Development 4,979 (3,985) 994 (4) 120 (169) 10 (43) 59 16

Asset Management and Regeneration 12,032 (10,700) 1,332 (440) 54 9 (4) (392) (773) 1,150 377

Highways and Transportation 56,854 (36,332) 20,522 (300) 502 507 (24) 2 687 (693) (6)

Libraries, Arts and Heritage 25,597 (8,145) 17,452 (40) 16 214 (1) 3 20 5 217 (114) 103

Sport and Active Recreation 25,084 (18,893) 6,191 6 (357) (18) (6) 253 (240) (362) 310 (52)

Resources and Strategy 2,014 (107) 1,907 37 2 39 (450) (411)

Total 135,597 (83,659) 51,938 (733) 335 528 (38) (124) 20 (235) 0 0 (247) 245 (2)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR
MONTH 5

CITY DEVELOPMENT

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall
The month 5 forecast variation for City Development Directorate is that the Directorate will spend within the £51.9m net managed budget. The main changes since Period 4 are that the overspend projected for 
Asset Management has decreased by just over £100k reflecting further staffing savings. The Directorate continues to anticipate achieving further savings  across the Directorate to offset its overspends, with the 
savings being  shown in  Resources and Strategy until the details have been agreed. It is also projected that the Directorate will receive additional one off income in achieving its balanced position.  

Staffing
An underspend of just over £733k is projected. The budgeted reduction in FTEs has been achieved following over 100 staff leaving the Directorate through the Early Leaver Initiative scheme in the final quarter of 
2014/15. Vacancies will continue to be closely managed during the year to ensure that further savings are realised.   Income - the forecast position is an underachievement of £245k and this is mainly due to a 
projected shortfall in advertising and other income in Asset Management and in Sport offset by additional income in other services. 

Planning and Sustainable Development 
Planning and Sustainable Development is forecast to spend within budget. Staffing is currently expected to slightly overspend as the budgeted vacancy factor is not quite achieved. The service is still experiencing 
high volumes of planning applications and workloads and at Period 5 planning and building fee income is £2,069k against the phased budget of £1,950k. Overall, income is projected be in line with the budget for 
the year. 

Economic Development 
Economic Development is forecast to spend within budget. The main risk area is the level of income and expenditure at Kirkgate Market, particularly with the commencement of the re-development scheme. Income 
at Kirkgate Market is currently in line with the budgeted assumptions.   

Asset Management and Regeneration 
Asset management is forecast to overspend by £377k. Staffing is projected to underspend by £440k as a result of a number of vacant posts. A shortfall in income of £1,149k is forecast, mainly due to longer lead in 
times required to secure new income from various budget initiatives including new commercial property acquisitions, additional advertising income and income from operating additional car parking at the Leeds 
International Pool site. Although all these are progressing income will be  less than the budgeted assumptions this financial year.

Highways and Transportation 
Highways and Transportation is forecast to spend within budget with an underspend on staffing and additional spend on premises and supplies and services offset by additional income mainly as a result of 
additional spend on contractors reflecting the increase in work that the service is managing. 

Libraries, Arts and Heritage 
The service is projected to overspend by £103k.  The overspend is as a result of some budget actions not progressing as quickly as reflected in the budget. 

Sport and Active Recreation 
The service is expected to spend within budget with a shortfall in income of £272k expected to be offset by expenditure savings including savings on energy costs. 

Resources and Strategy 
The service is projected to have an underspend of £411k. A Directorate staff saving target of £300k is currently included in the Resources and Strategy budget together with saving targets for the Better Business 
Management work stream. These saving targets will be allocated to individual services during the year and overall further savings in staffing and supplies and services are expected across the Directorate together 
with additional one-off income. These are currently shown as an additional underspend in Resources and Strategy. 

P
age 267



 

  
 

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations: Action Plan 
Value

RAG

Lead Officer
A.  Budget Action Plans £'000 £'000

1. Ben Middleton 560 G 0

2. Gary Bartlett 300 A 0

3. Ed Mylan 680 G 0

4. Tom Bridges 950 G 0

5.
Chris 
Gomersall/Ben 
Middleton

700 R 620

6. Tim Hill 300 G 0

7. Various CO's  810 A 0

8. Cluny MacPherson 500 G 0

9. Cluny MacPherson 820 A 140

10. Cluny MacPherson 200 A 60

11. Reduction in highways maintenance budgets Gary Bartlett 360 G 0

B. Other Significant Variations
1. Ed Mylan (504)
2. Other expenditure  Ed Mylan 195

3. Ed Mylan (512)

City Development Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation (2)

Additional spend mostly in Highways and LAH largely funded by additional income. 

Other additional income from fees and charges/VAT 
exemption and changes in volumes

Arts grant reduction ‐ new funding arrangements New grant allocations will deliver the savings. DDN published 25 March and implemented 1st April

Other Culture savings. Including savings on the 
events budget, Breeze and CAT proposals for 
Pudsey Civic Hall and Yeadon Tarn Sailing 
Centre and other running cost savings

Most saving proposals being implemented. The CAT proposals are unlikely to progress so alternative savings will need to be 
brought forward in the service. 

Additional one off income anticipated to be received in 15/16 subject to final agreement being reached. 

Increased income Planning and Building Control

Other Income (net)

Other Staff savings

Efficient and enterprising Council ‐ Reduction in asset 
running costs 

Dimming/switching off street lights

Staff savings through ELIs and vacancies

Joint working with WYCA and City Region efficiencies

New income in Asset Management including increased 
income from advertising from 2 new advertising towers, new 
commercial property acquisitions and income from 
establishing a temporary car park on the LIP site

Additional Comments

A further report on delivery options being produced for discussion with the Executive Member. A possibility that an 
Executive Board report may be required. Proposals may need to include invest to save initiative. Other savings expected to 
make up any shortfall. 

Savings in Sport and Active Recreation 
including reduction in operating hours and 
realignment of sports development unit

Detailed proposals being worked up. Any changes will require consultation therefore implementation not possible by 1 April 
and likely to be October and this will impact on savings target although expected to be offset by other savings.

Mostly savings on Merrion rent and on schedule to be delivered. Merrion purchase completed end of May.

Proposed price increases have been implemented. Some risks in terms of the increases in volumes but this will be 
monitored during the year. 

Pre‐application planning charges have been implemented and there is an increased income target for building control. 
Additional income is also assumed from the Community Infrastructure Levy to fund administration costs.

Budget reduced

Projected net savings from vacancies and expected ELIs

ELI reductions managed across directorate. FTE reductions achieved following a number of ELI leavers at the end of March. 

Leeds and Partners now wound up and new arrangements put in place which will deliver the budgeted savings. The 
budgeted £250k contribution from L&P reserves has been received. 

JC Decaux progressing with the new sites including discharging the planning conditions. They are also progressing with 
awarding appropriate contracts. Determination period a min of 8 weeks, construction 4‐6 mths. Earliest 'go live' date 
estimated end Oct. Max potential income 15/16 is £100k. Harper St car park purchased, additional acquisition being 
explored. LIP car park expected to open in August/September 2015. 

Forecast Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget

CITY DEVELOPMENT
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

P
age 268



 

  
 

  

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total 
Expenditure

Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Month 1 61,432 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Month 2 61,432 (573) (27) (142) (70) 95 110 0 0 0 (607) 377 (230)
Month 3 61,432 (972) 3 9 77 246 114 0 0 0 (523) 80 (443)
Month 4 61,223 (1,137) 234 (282) (32) 351 32 0 0 58 (776) 263 (513)
Month 5 61,223 (1,243) 196 1,127 (54) 182 32 0 0 58 299 (1,256) (957)

Latest 
Estimate Month 1 Month 2 Month 3 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

1,745 0 (180) (159) (149) (149)
Strategic Housing, SECC, Contracts and GFSS 10,349 0 (20) (8) (108) (157)

Property Maintenance Leeds (4,920) 0 0 0 0 0
Parks & Countryside 8,362 0 (30) (57) (57) (88)

18,640 0 0 0 0 175
Household Waste Sites & Infrastructure 4,234 0 0 68 99 (105)
Refuse Collection 16,699 0 0 0 0 0
Environmental Action 10,676 0 0 (81) (30) (31)
Environmental Health 2,451 0 0 0 (3) (3)

(7,014) 0 0 (206) (265) (599)
Total 61,223 0 (230) (443) (513) (957) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Projected VariationsSummary By Expenditure Type

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING

PERIOD 5

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

Summary By Service

Waste Strategy and Disposal

Car Parking

Community Safety

Overall Position  (£957k under budget)

Community Safety (£149k under budget)
A £203k staffing underspend on Leeds Watch is expected due to the on-going restructure implementation.  £119k of other staffing underspends arising due to vacant posts within LASBT and Signpost.  Charges to the HRA will be £138k lower than 
budgeted and other net pressures are expected to total £35k.

Parks & Countryside (£88k under budget)
The net income generated at Tropical World is projected to be £255k higher than the budget due to increase visitor numbers following redevelopment works at the attraction.  An overspend of £64k has been projected on staffing.  A non-staffing 
pressure of £67k is expected on golf along and £30k on forestry supplies. Other net pressures total £6k.  

Property Maintenance Leeds (balanced position)
PM Leeds is currently projecting a balanced budget position. There remain key risks on the account around turnover and in particular around the following trades:- lift installation schemes and Aids & Adaptations Work. These risks have been 
discussed with the relevant Head of Service and identified on their risk register.

Car Parking (£599k under budget)
Vacant attendant posts are projected to save £193k . Fee income remains strong and forecast to be above the budget (£541k higher),  and BLE income is projected to be £210k higher than the budget. However, there has been a reduction in the 
number of PCNs issued. PCN income is now forecast to be £254k below the budget. Expenditure variations on the replacement IT system and additional bank charges for credit card payments are £91k. 

Housing Support/Partnerships/SECC/Contracts/GFSS (£157k under budget)
£308k of staffing underspends due to vacant posts are partially offset by £95k of related income pressures from the HRA/Capital and the £54k target for DSU and Intelligence efficiencies.    The efficiency target for Supporting People contracts is 
expected to be achieved alongside £34k of additional prioritised Domestic Violence prevention work.  Work is on-going to identify actions that will deliver the £287k Directorate Wide procurement target. Other net pressures are projected to be £2k.

Environmental Action & Health (£34 under budget)
The service has now implemented the restructure. A minor variation of £33k. 

Waste Management (£70k over budget)
Refuse Collection (£0k) 
Staffing costs are forecast to be £54k over budget (0.4%) and vehicle hire costs are forecast +£33k due to a slight delay in some of the new fleet arriving . These costs pressures are offset by a saving of £76k on vehicle insurance costs being lower 
following a review of the required level of  provision. Minor  savings  of £11k.

HWSS & Infrastructure (£105k)
Slippage on the Kirkstall Road redevelopment  will realise an in year saving of £220k in financing costs. A saving of £250k from the strategic review of HWSS and staffing / vehicle usage. was budgeted and £137k will be delivered, leaving a 
pressure of £115k.

Waste Strategy & Disposal +£175k
Reducing market prices for recycled material  is expected to cost  £358k  from additional SORT  disposal and loss of recycling income.  Lower volumes of residual and garden waste in Qtr1  should save £173k. 
An estimated £153k of programme management costs from the PPPU will be required to help the service deliver key waste projects .However, savings of £70k on PFI advisor costs, staffing savings of £60k and £33k income will mitigate the impact.

P
age 269



 

  
 

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations
Lead Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG Forecast Variation 
against Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. Susan Upton 1.6 G 0.0

2. Susan Upton 0.3 A 0.1

3. Sean Flesher 0.4 G 0.0

4. Simon Costigan 1.4 G 0.0

5. Helen Freeman 0.3 G (0.0)

6. Sam Millar 1.0 G 0.0

7. Neil Evans 0.8 G 0.0

8. Directorate wide staffing reductions Neil Evans 1.5 G 0.0

9. Contract / Procurement Savings / Line by Line 1.0 G 0.0

10. All Other action plan items 0.0 G 0.0

Sub Total 8.3 0.1

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Susan Upton 0.2

2. Susan Upton 0.0

3. Susan Upton (0.0)

4. Helen Freeman 0.0

5. Car Parking Fee Income Fee Income Helen Freeman (0.5)

6 Car Parking Staffing Helen Freeman (0.2)
6 Environmental Action staffing Helen Freeman (0.3)
7 Parks & Countryside ‐ Tropical World income Sean Flesher (0.2)

8 Sean Flesher 0.0

9 Property Maintenance Simon Costigan 0.0

10 Sam Millar (0.2)

11 Strategic Housing Partnerships John Statham 0.0
12 Strategic Housing Support Liz Cook 0.0
13 All Other variations All CO's 0.1

Sub Total (1.1)

Environment & Housing ‐ Forecast Variation (1.0)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR
 PERIOD 5

Parks & Countryside ‐ Bereavement Services

Community Safety ‐ CCTV/Security restructure

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING

£385k pressure in 14/15 ‐ trend to be monitored throughout the year

Restructure proposals now agreed and implementation commenced

Staffing efficiencies delivered through holding posts vacant and grant fallout managed

Dealing Effectively with the City's waste

HWSS Strategic Review and Permit scheme

Parks and Countryside additional income New charges implemented and working with taxation team to support VAT exemptions

Review of rates to be charged in progress;

New structure being implemented ‐ in year variation from slippage

WYP &CC grant use

Integration of Property Maintenance and 
Construction Services

Woodhouse Lane Car Park

£7.6m budget. P ‐ On street income approx. £0.35m above budget

Refuse Collection staffing costs

Staffing efficiencies delivered through holding posts vacant and grant fallout managed
Balance of all other budget variations across all divisions  including £220k savings on Kirkstall Road financing costs

Waste Disposal Costs

Car Parking Fee Income BLE / PCN income

Refuse Collection vehicle costs

Vacant posts in service 

Income rec'd in April/May above budgeted level ‐ trend to be monitored throughout the year

Permit scheme implemented in April 15; Strategic review underway; Report expected July.

BLE  £1.4m in total . Phase 3 to start mid year. PCN's   £2.4m

AWC4 roll out complete; PFI grant of £1.9m (Nov) is on target & new contracts for disposal now in place; Temp contracts in 14/15 all 
ended.

Contracts reviewed / renegotiated and savings expected to be delivered

Price rise implemented Jan 15. Income on line as at end of May

£12m pay budget in service;  Continue to monitor weekly numbers 

Repairs budget has been under pressure for a few years; additional provision made + 17 new vehicles and reduction in landfill; Fuel 
costs £1.5m

£100k to be identified but given current level of vacant posts, this will be achieved

Savings from insurance, fuel, pest control contracts; 

Net budget £16.8m for 324.8k tonnes of waste;  SORT waste expected to be £320k over but other reductions offset to £185k

£743k funding secured; £57k from ASBU; £60k costs won't be incurred; £143k to find

Savings in Housing related support programme

Additional Comments

P
age 270



 

  
 

 
 
 
 
  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategy & Improvement 4,791 (607) 4,184 (82) 0 0 0 0 0 53 0 0 (29) 27 (2)

Finance 16,487 (7,128) 9,359 (109) 0 (51) 15 (26) 0 0 0 0 (171) 263 92

Human Resources 8,049 (1,749) 6,300 (137) 0 91 (3) 0 0 0 0 0 (49) (1) (50)

Information Technology  21,287 (6,942) 14,345 (863) 0 93 2 0 0 0 (13) 0 (781) 781 0

Projects, Programmes  & 
Procurement 7,494 (7,564) (70) (402) 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 (400) 500 100

Legal  Services 5,242 (6,854) (1,612) 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Democratic Services 5,040 (56) 4,984 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 (33) 0

Total  68,390 (30,900) 37,490 (1,559) 0 135 14 (26) 0 53 (13) 0 (1,396) 1,537 141

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall
In respect of the savings associated with the Council's commitment to reduce the cost of support services by 30% over a 4 year period, plans are progressing well to achieve the savings in 2015/16. Use of the early leavers initiative together with non-filling of 
leavers and exploitation of income opportunities means that services should be able to realise the savings required.  
Currently a small overspend of £141k is projected for the year mainly due to lower court fee income and the level of non-chargeable work in PPPU. However, the Directorate will endeavour to bring the budget into a balanced position by year end.

Strategy and Improvement
The service has met its staffing efficiency savings targets for this year and  the projection is for a small underspend of £3k.  The Intelligence Council staff have now been transferred back to their original directorates. 

Finance
The main challenge for this service is to meet the current shortfall based on staff in post to date and known recruitment and leavers through to year end and shortfall in income.  The service is  pursuing options and the budget is expected to come in on target 
by year end.  A number of minor pressures on income reduction are offset by reduced staffing costs and savings on supplies and services.   However, the trend in court fee income, which is dependent on the number of summonses raised in respect of 
Council debt, is lower than budgeted and a pressure of £92k is now expected.  

Human Resources
HR have met the £622k savings incorporated in the budget and a modest underspend of £50k is now forecast. The Manager Challenge Programme is expected to be funded from the earmarked reserve created in 2013/14.

Information Technology
Savings targets are expected to be achieved  and the only issue identified to date is an overspend of £50k on ICT4Leeds due to insufficient sign up from schools and academies. At present the projections assume that this overspend will be covered by other 
compensating savings. Further potential pressures could arise from the expansion of the city wide Smart Cities Agenda and on ongoing dispute with Virgin Media.

Projects, Programmes and Procurement Unit
Following the outturn 2014/15 a key risk area is PPPU income, specifically the level of non-chargeable or reduced rate work. Work is ongoing to maximise the charges and for this month an overspend of £100k is projected.
PPPU are leading on the plan to achieve £860k savings from a review of PFI contract management and work is progressing to deliver the target. It is anticipated that a proportion of the saving will be realised in general fund services, but a significant saving is 
expected within HRA and Schools, where a charge can be made by the PPPU for the work on contract review.   In respect of the £1.2m reflected in the budget for non-contract spend savings (allocated across directorates) scoping work done by PPPU 
suggests that a maximum of £883k can be achieved in 2015/16. However, of this £387k has already been included within Directorate budgets and £143k relates to capital spend or HRA. The remaining £353k is still under review.

Legal Services
Savings built into the budget for 2015/16 are on line to be delivered. The staffing budget is currently underspent but there are plans to recruit to posts and Legal Services have two locums covering vacant posts (Planning and Housing Disrepair) as these have 
proved difficult to recruit to. 

Democratic Services
It is expected that the savings targets will be met this financial year although not necessarily be delivered in line with the original strategy. 

P
age 271



 

  
 

 
  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer Action Plan Value RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. Doug Meeson 0.09 G 0.09

2.
Lorraine 
Hallam

(0.05) G (0.05)

3. Dylan Roberts 0.71 G 0.00

4.
Catherine 
Witham

0.45 G 0.00

5
Strategy and 
Improvement

Mariana 
Pexton

0.25 G 0.00

6 Dylan Roberts 0.20 B 0.00

7 Doug Meson 0.20 G 0.00

8 David Outram 0.86 A 0.00

9 David Outram 1.20 R 0.00

B. Other Significant Variations

1 David Outram A 0.10

0.14

MONTH 5

Review of non‐contract spend

Finance

HR

ICT

Legal and Democratic Services

Business improvement ‐ print savings

Income ‐ court fees

Required level of savings have now been achieved through staff movements, leavers and ELI.

Fees to be monitored in year.

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Strategy and Resources Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation

PFI Contract Management

Additional Comments

Definite actions now in place for c£590k.

Definite actions now in place for £620k of the savings. 

Initial analysis of PFI contracts has identified potential annual savings (cashable and cost avoidance) of £1m. 
Plan of proposals considered by Finance Performance Group on 12th June. PPPU now working on specific 
options with relevant Directorates. 

Analysis produced by PPPU in June indicated that savings of up to £883k could be realised in 2015/16. However 
£387k of the saving is already budgeted for across Directorate budgets and £143k is capital or in HRA. 
Remaining £353k still under review. Pressure shown in the Strategic dashboard. 

Legal services savings of £117k on‐line. Democratic Services, savings delivered: £100k Scrutiny, £9k Members 
Support, £105k reduction in Members Superannuation . Balance of £91k intended to be delivered from the 
Members Support budget and a combination of ELI, maternity and other efficiencies . Implementation partially 
dependent upon assistance from Members.

Actions underway for delivery of £448k of savings. Plans in place for delivery of residue.

Implemented and savings being delivered on target.

PPPU income Shortfall in income currently projected, options being pursued to enable the service to balance

P
age 272



 

  
 

 
  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities 7,540 (1,662) 5,878 (102) 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (2) 0 (2)

Customer Access 13,581 (1,184) 12,397 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Elections, Licensing & 
Registration 5,830 (5,239) 591 (204) 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 (200) 200 0

Benefits, Welfare and 
Poverty

297,700 (294,609) 3,091 (51) 0 235 0 0 0 3,801 0 0 3,985 (4,048) (63)

Total  324,651 (302,694) 21,957 (357) 100 239 0 0 0 3,801 0 0 3,783 (3,848) (65)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall
At this stage in the year the Directorate is expecting to achieve the budgeted level of savings.  Many of the actions have already been achieved and in all cases work is progressing to deliver the savings and a small underspend of £64k is now 
projected.
In terms of other volatile budget areas, trends in housing benefits overpayments can significantly impact on the budget position however it is too early in the year to confidently predict the outcome at this stage.  

Communities
Community Centres were overspent by £100k last year and £75k of this is recurring meaning the true pressure in 15/16 is £175k . Whilst it is expected that this will be contained within Citizens and Communities overall we are working with Facilities 
Management to deliver efficiencies.  All other action plan items have been delivered.  The Communities Team and Area Support have some vacant posts and a number of staff are on maternity leave, posts will be filled in due course but delays in 
recruitment will generate a budget saving of approx £100k.  

Customer Access
Currently the staffing cost is under budget.  However recruitment is needed to be able to cope with existing workloads at the Contact Centre as efficiencies based on Transactional Web Services developments have not yet  been fully realised. The 
delays in implementation of Customer Access Phase 1 mean there is a risk that the staffing cost will be over budget by the year end.  Some of the pressure is partly offset with in year savings in Business Support staffing.  Community Hub recruitment 
could also create an in year pressure - worst case scenario suggests this may be as much as £250k but this is dependent on timing and recruitment and to some extent may be avoidable.

Elections, Licensing and Registration
Overall budgets are online but the shortfall in income in Registrars and Entertainment Licencing in 2014/15 is continuing  with a forecasting shortfall this year of £100k in each service (£200k in total).  Savings on staffing budgets in the same service 
areas are expected to offset the income shortfall.

Benefits, Welfare and Poverty
BWP is expected to slightly underspend (£64k) by year end based on the information detailed in Period 5.  Additional spend on overtime and supplies and services costs is to be funded from grants from the DWP and the DCLG relating to new 
burdens work which the section is involved with.  Following a realignment of budgets, housing benefit payments are expected to be £3,801k overspend, though this is funded by increased grant and overpayment income.
In respect of the revised Local Welfare Support Scheme for 2015/16, the budget of £1.1m is projected to be fully spent and this now includes estimated spend of £100k on support for the migrant third sector as reported to Executive Board on 
23/9/15.P

age 273



 

  
 

 
  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead 
Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 0.1 B 0.0

2 0.1 G 0.0

3 0.1 G 0.0

4 0.1 B 0.0

5 0.2 G 0.0

6 0.3 G 0.0

7 0.2 B 0.0

8 0.2 B 0.0

9 0.1 A 0.2

10 0.1 B 0.0

11 0.1 B 0.0

12 0.3 A 0.0

13 0.1 G 0.0

14 0.1 B 0.0

15 0.1 G 0.0

A. Other Significant Budgets

1 G ‐0.1

2 G ‐0.2

Citizens and Communities Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation ‐0.1

CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

Savings to be identified to fund the overspend on Community Centres

Housing Benefit Payments, Subsidy and Overpayment 
Income

Steve Carey
Gross expenditure budget of £295m.  Monitored monthly throughout the year.  No 
variance to budgets currently anticipated.

All other budget headings

Steve Carey

Budget reduced

Additional Comments

Community based assets ‐reduction in relevant costs 
from participating services as Community Hubs formed

Fraud and error reduction incentive scheme

Use Social Inclusion Fund to support financial inclusion 
work

10% reduction in Well Being budget

Delivery of transactional web services

EClaim for Benefits

Reduce innovation fund by 25%

Reduce Advice Agency Grant by 10%

Review of community centres

Reduce opening hours of contact centres 9am‐5pm

Shaid Mahmood

Steve Carey

Steve Carey

Budgets (£2.5m) transferred to C&C on 1st April. New management arrangements will 
be introduced during the year and there is a high level of confidence that full savings 
will be delivered.

Lee Hemsworth

Housing Benefits overpayments

Review of Communities running costs

Further integration of Contact Centre with Council Tax

Reduce property visits in Council Tax Service

Shaid Mahmood

Lee Hemsworth/Steve 
Carey

Steve Carey

Increase in fees in Licensing and Registration services and 
Translation and Interpretation

John Mulcahy

Low risk and ELI based. Depends on finding more efficient ways of working together

Use more efficient ways of identifying properties that may be occupied

Actioned

Assumes we continue our improved performance in this area

Govt grant. Level of payment depends on how effective we are at reducing fraud

Actioned

Budget reduced ‐ to be managed by Area Committees

Steve Carey

Shaid Mahmood

Introduce online claim form for HB and CTB. May be delayed after April which may 
mean slightly reduced saving 

Budget reduced 

Lee Hemsworth

Lee Hemsworth

Shaid Mahmood

Steve Carey

Consultation process started. Once complete a delivery plan will be developed 
including: general efficiencies in facility management; CAT or other community 
management arrangements and closure options. Any proposals for closure will 
require Executive Board decision.

Actioned

Opening hours reduced as planned on 1st April.

Some technical issues with new system meant that it was only part implemented on 
1st April (employee portal only) in the areas of environmental services and highways. 
Customer portal will go live in May. This may result in lower overall savings being 
achieved.

P
age 274



 

  
 

 
  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Public Health Grant (45,533) (45,533) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,824 2,824

Staffing and General  
Running Costs

5,464 (31) 5,433 (439) 0 (14) 0 (75) 0 0 0 0 (528) 0 (528)

Commissioned and 
Programmed Services:
 ‐ General  Public Health 259 259 0 0 0 0 0 (80) 0 0 0 (80) 0 (80)
 ‐ Population Healthcare 489 489 0 0 (65) 0 0 (92) 0 0 0 (157) 0 (157)
 ‐ Healthy Living and 
Health Improvement 16,441 16,441 0 0 (36) 0 (43) (373) 0 0 0 (452) 0 (452)

 ‐ Older People and Long 
Term Conditions 3,071 (36) 3,035 0 0 (28) 0 (20) (154) 0 0 0 (202) 0 (202)

 ‐ Child and Maternal  
Health 10,654 10,654 0 0 (14) 0 0 (484) 0 0 0 (498) (17) (515)

 ‐ Mental  Wellbeing and 
Sexual  Health 9,200 9,200 (10) 0 (50) 0 0 (60) 0 0 0 (120) 0 (120)

 ‐ Health Protection 1,233 1,233 0 0 2 0 0 (202) 0 0 0 (200) (28) (228)
Transfer From Reserves (1,211) (1,211) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Savings  to be identified (541) (541) (541)
Supporting People 936 (637) 299 0 0 (2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (2) 1 (1)
Drugs  Commissioning 2,886 (2,954) (68) 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 (11) 0

Total  50,633 (50,402) 231 (449) 0 (196) 0 (138) (1,986) 0 0 0 (2,769) 2,769 0

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

PUBLIC HEALTH 

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall
The allocation of ring fenced Public Health grant for 2015/16 had been frozen at 2014/15 levels of £40.5m.  However, in addition the responsibility for the 0 - 5 years services (health visiting services and 
Family Nurse Partnership) transfers to LCC in October and further funding of £5m will be provided. Work is ongoing with the current provider of health visiting and Family Nurse Partnership services to 
ensure a smooth transition to LCC from NHS England.
In 2014/15 there was an underspend of £1,211k of the ring fenced grant which has been brought forward for use in 2015/16 in line with grant conditions.  Of this amount, £800k had been expected to fund 
the base budget for 2015/16 and the remaining £411k has been allocated to services committed to during 2014/15 but which have not yet taken place. 

The Government announced on the 4th June a national £200m reduction in 2015-16 for the Public Health Grant provided to local authorities.  A consultation with local authorities on implementation was 
issued on 31st July and closed on 28th August.  However, the consultation states that the Department of Health's preferred option is to reduce each local authority's allocation by 6.2%, which would mean a 
reduction of £2,823k for Leeds City Council.  At this stage there is no firm information that these cuts will be recurrent, however there are suggestions that this will be the case following the comprehensive 
spending review.   Although the Public Health grant for 2015-16 is already committed, work is ongoing to identify potential savings, critical decisions will need to be made in order to meet this significant 
challenge. To date, £2,282k of potential savings have been identified and are reflected in the projections below. This leaves a further saving of £541k required (still to be identified) if the reduction is 6.2%.

Detailed Analysis
New contracts for integrated sexual health services and drugs and alcohol services commenced on 1st July.  Work is ongoing to identify any potential financial pressures particularly in relation to Shared 
Care activity, medical costs, testing and prescribing and dispensing costs for drugs and alcohol treatment and recovery.
There is currently an underspend on the staffing budget due to posts going through the recruitment process, any underspend achieved will be considered as part of any current pressures and the challenge 
to meet the Government's announcement on the reduction to the Public Health grant.

P
age 275



 

  
 

 
  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer Action Plan Value RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

2. Ian Cameron 4.99 G 0.00

3. Ian Cameron 0.25 G 0.00

4. Ian Cameron 0.28 G 0.00

5. Ian Cameron 0.16 G 0.00

6. Ian Cameron 0.05 G 0.00

7. Ian Cameron 0.15 G 0.00

8. Ian Cameron 0.26 G 0.00

9. Ian Cameron 0.11 G 0.00

10. Underspend brought forward from 2014/15 Ian Cameron 0.80 G 0.00

11. Ian Cameron 0.270 G 0.00

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Ian Cameron (0.45)

2 Grant reduction Ian Cameron Anticipated reduction in grant 2.82

3 Ian Cameron (2.37)

0.00

Reduction in social marketing costs

NHS Healthcheck ‐ estimated reduction in demand

Public Health (Ringfenced) ‐ Forecast Variation

Savings to be identified to fund reduction in grant

Responsibility has passed to the CCG's for this service with no requirement to transfer funding.

Grant conditions allow for underspends in one year to be used in the following year.

External Providers

Staffing budget Delays in recruitment have resulted in a projected underspend

Charge to HRA from Supporting People Team
A proportion of staff time is spent supporting HRA contracts.  An analysis of the time spent on this has 
resulted in a recharge to HRA.

Adult Weight Management

Reduction in small projects

PPPU reviews completed during 2014/15

Increase in ring fenced grant

Reduction in staff costs

Additional Comments

From October 2015 funding and contract responsibility for 0‐5 years public health services transfers to the 
council.  This responsibility is funded by an increase in ring fenced grant.

Following a review of essential posts, savings have been identified.

Based on current levels of activity, the demand for this service has reduced resulting in an estimated saving.

The DoH notified the council of a PCT legacy balance outstanding.  Provision was made in 2014/15 for this 
and so is not required in 2015/16.

Reduction in social marketing activity.

A number of projects carried out in 2014/15 are no longer required.

Work on new contracts is complete and no further charges are expected for this service.

PCT legacy balance not required

PUBLIC HEALTH 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

P
age 276



 

  
 

  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business  Support Centre 9,920 (5,134) 4,786 (138) 10 (83) 0 79 0 0 0 0 (132) 131 (1)

Commercial  Services 55,692 (54,911) 781 398 71 (137) 503 1 0 0 0 0 836 (522) 314

Facil ities  Management 9,724 (3,503) 6,221 50 69 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 125 (125) 0

Corporate Property 
Management 6,336 (85) 6,251 78 (40) 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 49 (49) 0

Total  81,672 (63,633) 18,039 388 110 (208) 508 80 0 0 0 0 878 (565) 313

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall
The overall projected position at period 5 for CEL is an overspend of £314k which is primarily accounted for by a £165k overspend against the Catering net budget and a £150k overspend on Property Cleaning. 
The Catering overspend is a result of an income shortfall against the increased budgeted number of meals whereas the Property overspend arises from not meeting efficiencies included within the base budget.

Business Support Centre
A balanced position is projected, savings on staffing budgets due to delays in recruitment are offset  by shortfall against the income budgets. In order to create Shared Services budgets for Mailroom, Document 
Management and Services Agency (Print and Signs) have transferred to BSC (from Facilities). The income shortfall arises from where schools switch to academies  and no longer use some of the BSC's 
services (£31k) and a shortfall against the purchasing card rebate of £38k.

Commercial Services
The Commercial Services overspend of  £315k is, as explained above, accounted for by a shortfall against an increase in the budgeted number of meals on Catering (£350k full year effect for Universal Free 
School Meals assumed in the 2015/16 budget) to Period 5; the projection assumes that the budgeted number of meals will be achieved for the remainder of the financial year. Due to delays in implementing the 
£200k budgeted savings by implementing a lower cleaning specification, Property Cleaning are forecasting an overspend of £150k.

The projection assumes that the transfer of budgets for ASC catering and cleaning staff will be cost neutral.

Facilities 
A balanced period 5 position is projected. There's a £56k pressure on the staffing savings as a result of non delivery of closure savings assumed in the 2015/16 Asset Rationalisation programme for community 
centres. This pressure is recharged to Citizens and Communities.

Corporate Property Management
A balanced position is projected with the projected overspend against staffing to be managed by a combination of additional income and savings against running costs.

P
age 277



 

  
 

 
  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer Action Plan 

Value
RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 Julie Meakin 0.87 G 0.0

2 Jo Miklo 0.21 G 0.0

3 Terry Pycroft 0.10 G 0.0

4 Terry Pycroft 0.10 G 0.0

5 Mandy Snaith 0.08 G 0.0

6 Julie Meakin 0.06 G 0.0

7
Dave 
Outram/Julie 
Meakin

TBC G 0.0

8 Mandy Snaith 0.05 G 0.0

9 Terry Pycroft 0.05 G 0.0

10
Richard 
Jackson

0.20 R 0.1

B. Other Significant Variations

1 Net effect of all other variations 0.2

0.3

CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 5

Increased trading with public by Fleet Services, 
servicing etc

Efficiencies from lower cleaning spec to building and 
selling services to others

Asset rationalisation

Better business management: admin/intel/mail & 
print/prog & project management

Fleet services vehicle replacement savings and 
efficiencies

Fleet services pay as you go tyre contract

Transfer of ASC properties to Facilities Management

Additional Comments

Primarily reduction in utility bills/bus rates on Merrion and other vacated buildings. Merrion vacated 
March 2015

Relates to the transfer of Catering & Cleaning staff from ASC to Cel Group. DDN now signed. 

Expected to achieve

New contract in place since Oct 14. Currently £10k pm cheaper than old fixed price contract.

Virements for centralising Core Admin & Exec Support into BSC are being progressed and hopefully 
finalised by month 4

Civic Enterprise Leeds ‐ Forecast Variation

New trading now taking place includes: MoT testing; extension of vehicle maintenance contract with 
Uni of Leeds; and safety training courses.

Half way through fleet replacement programme. New vehicles are more efficient, require less 
maintenance and are covered by warranty

Savings proposals being actioned but impact needs to be monitored

Other savings: insurance, JNC review, legal charges, TU 
convenors

Procurement off contract spend

Extension of catering in Civic Hall Savings proposals being actioned but impact needs to be monitored

See comments in S&R tab against Procurement non‐contract spend

P
age 278



 

  
 

 
  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Accounts (11,480) (32,488) (43,968) (200) 0 (200) 1,900 1,700

Debt 47,052 (1,075) 45,977 (54) (54) (54)

Govt Grants 2,828 (27,830) (25,002) (1,044) (1,044) (1,044)

Joint Committees 37,697 0 37,697 0 0

Miscellaneous 2,317 (1,172) 1,145 0 0

Insurance 10,227 (10,227) 0 5,125 52 (3,903) 1,274 (1,274) 0

Total 88,641 (72,792) 15,849 0 0 4,925 0 52 0 (1,044) (54) (3,903) (24) 626 602

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 5

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS 

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall :
The Strategic budget forecast for period 5 is for an overspend of £0.6m. 

External debt costs and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
The budget for MRP includes £14.8m of savings targets - £10.5m from the use of capital receipts and £4.3m for the realignment of MRP on pre-2007/08 debt to an asset lives based approach.  To support the 
achievement of these savings we are closely monitoring the levels of capital receipts both in 2015/16 and across the medium-term and also working with the Council's valuers around the reasonable detemination of 
asset lives.

Corporate targets
The Strategic  budget includes targets for general capitalisation of £4.9m, capitalisation of spend in schools revenue budgets of £2.5m and in line with the 2014/15 outturn, the latest 2015/16 projections anticipate 
additional savings from capitalising eligible costs.  In addition the strategic budget includes savings of £1m around procurement [£0.5m forecast variation at month 4) together with a PFI contract/monitoring target of 
£0.9m [which will be allocated to service budgets following confirmation of where the reductions in spend will actually be achieved].  The month 4 projection also recognises a potential shortfall in achieveing the 
£1.2m Directorate Procurement target which is currently held across Directorate budgets.  

P
age 279



 

  
 

 
  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Budget RAG
Forecast 
Variation 

against Budget

Lead Officer
A.  Major Budget Issues £'000

1. Doug Meeson 16,208 G (54)

2. Doug Meeson 29,769 G 0

3. Doug Meeson (18,446) G 400

4. Doug Meeson (9,171) G 0

5. Doug Meeson (5,200) R 1,500

6. Doug Meeson (4,982) A (300)

7. Schools capitalisation target Doug Meeson (2,500) A (1,000)

8. Doug Meeson (1,000) A 500

9. David Outram (860) A 0

10. Early Leaver Initiative Doug Meeson 0 A 0

11. Directorate Procurement Target David Outram (1,200) A 600

B. Other Significant Budgets

1. Doug Meeson 0 A 0

2. Doug Meeson 2,828 A (1,044)

3. Doug Meeson (9,908) A 0

Strategic & Central Accounts ‐ Forecast Variation 602

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 5

Potential additional capitalisation of eligible costs held across school revenue budgets

Centrally‐held budget savings target.  Actual savings will be shown in Directorate budgets.

Budget held in the strategic accounts pending confirmation of where the reductions in expenditure will be 
achieved

Work is progressing around reducing the level of non‐contract spend across the Council.  The latest 
information is that £0.6m of savings will be achievable in 2015/16 with £0.6m of savings slipping into 2016/17.

No major changes to date.

PFI Contract Monitoring Target

£2m earmarked reserve established to fund the severance costs in 2015/16.  Latest information on approved 
business cases together with staffing plans from Directorates indicate that spend in the year to March 2016 is 
likely to be at or below the level of the reserve

Corporate Procurement Target

Debt Costs and Extenal Income 

Minimum Revenue Provision

New Homes Bonus

Business Rates  (S31 Grants, Levy & EZ)

S278 Contributions

General capitalisation target

Additional Comments

Potential £8m reduction in MRP from asset life method (budgeted £4.3)

Potential additional capitalisation of eligible costs held across Directorate revenue budgets

Activity across the City increasing, however marginal shortfall in anticipated grant income forecast for 
2015/16

No material variations anticipated at this stage

Forecast from Capital team is £3m, potential risk of £2.2m

Potential saving on the levy payment to the Business Rates Pool reflecting the level of Business Rates Growth 
and revaluation appeals

Contra budgets in directorates/service accounts.  Reduction on budgeted schemes currently offset by 
expected £1.2m increase ref Southbank regeneration scheme

Potential additional costs in‐year which will be managed through the Insurance Reserve

Business Rates Levy

Insurance

Prudential Borrowing Recharges

P
age 280



 

  
 

 
  

Summary of projected over / under spends (Housing Revenue Account)

Comments

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income
Co
mm

Rents (221,128) (221,447) (319) (331)
Acc
ess

Service Charges (6,588) (6,705) (117) (39)

Wel
fare

Other Income (27,695) (27,838) (143) (69)

Total Income (255,411) (255,990) (579) (439)
Ass
etLibr
ary

Expenditure

Disrepair Provision 1,500                      1,500                      ‐                     ‐                           
Sup
port

Repairs to Dwellings 42,733                    42,733                    ‐                     ‐                           
Part
ners

Employees 26,329                    26,005                    (324) (371)

Premises 7,205                      7,175                      (30) (32)

Supplies & Services 5,782                      5,831                      49                      100                          

Internal Services 36,548                    36,796                    248                   

Capital Programme 69,984                    69,984                    ‐                     ‐                           

Appropriations (17,941) (17,823) 118                    73                            

Con
trac

Unitary Charge PFI 31,971                    31,885                    (86) (86)
GFS
S

Capital Charges 43,318                    43,402                    84                      Capital charges as per the latest estimated from the Treasury Management team 84                            

P&C Other Expenditure 7,982                      8,027                      45                      164                          

Total Expenditure 255,411              255,515              104                 (67)

Tot
al

Total Current Month ‐                       (474) (474) (506)

Link Officers £144k, LLBH PFI PTC £50k and tenant furniture £50k, offset by Savings on Tenant Mobility 
Scheme (£50k), Swarcliffe Insurance Refund £(68)k, Swarcliffe UC due to RTB £(25)k and savings on EPCs 
£(50)k.

Savings on Swarcliffe PFI.

Swarcliffe PFI £183k and LLBH £46k, both transfer to reserves. Energy Portfolio Projects from PPPU £(110)k

PPPU Category Management charge £171k, Energy portfolio work from PPPU £110k, additional HR charge 
£116k, increased Regeneration time spent on HRA projects £108k, additional accommodation £58k, 
increased property cleanup work £50k, offset by savings on ASBU (£147k), Housing Options (£110k), 
Housing Support (£24k), Equal Pay (£42k), PPPU PFI saving (£44k)

Void incentive £35k, BITMO Management Fee £10k

Projected Year 
End Spend

Executive Member for Communities
Financial Dashboard ‐ 2015/16 Financial Year

Housing Revenue Account ‐ Month 5 (August 2015)

Directorate
Variance to 

budget
Previous Month 

(Under) / Over Spend
Current Budget

Loss of £55k in telecomms income (renegotiated leases) offset by savings in DR&M (£71k), LLBH&H PTC 
costs (£50k) & increased capitalisation (£38k), RTB fee income based on projected 380 sales (£39k)

Reduction in income from  sheltered accommodation £20k, offset by additional furniture income (£69k) 
and MSF general charge (£69k)

Void numbers lower than budget.

Navigation House rent & premises costs £76k,  Utilities saving (£100k),  Miscellaneous Cleaning (£17k), 
Little London Bus Stop works £10k

Savings on vacant posts (£555k) offsetting severance costs £129k and Agency £102k

P
age 281



 

  
 

 
 
  Change in Stock Budget Projection

350 380

50 50

(250) (233)

(142) (55)

(30) (30)

Total (22) 112

Provisions Budget Projection

1,928 1,928

1,610 1,610

2,835 2,835

1,124 1,124

Total 7,497 7,497

£000 £000 £000

Tenant Arrears (Domestic Rents and Charges)

Current Tenants ‐ exc Tech 5,847                      6,582                      736                   

Former Tenants 3,037                      3,216                      179                   

8,884                      9,798                      915                   

Under occupation

Volume of Accounts 5,255                      5,115                      (140)

Volume in Arrears 2,792                      2,850                      58                     

% in Arrears 53% 56% 3%

855 871                         16                     

Collection Rates

Dwelling rents 97.45% 96.19% ‐1.26%

Target 98.06% 98.06% 0.00%

Variance to Target ‐0.61% ‐1.87% ‐1.26%

Executive Member for Communities
Financial Dashboard ‐ 2015/16 Financial Year

Housing Revenue Account ‐ Month 5 (August 2015)

Right to Buy sales

Taken out of Charge

New Build (PFI)

New Build (Council House Growth)

Brought back into Charge

2014/15 Week 52 2015/16 Week 22 Variance

Disrepair provision

Bad Debt provision (Current Tenants)

Bad Debt provision (Former Tenants)

Others
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

N
um

be
r o

f h
ou

se
s 
so
ld

Council House Sales

Sales 2014‐15
Cumulative Sales 2014‐15
Monthly Sales 2015‐16
Monthly Sales 2015‐16 Proj
Cumulative Sales 2015‐16
Cumulative Sales 2015‐16 Proj

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

7000000

8000000

Period  1 Period  2 Period  3 Period  4 Period  5 Period  6 Period  7 Period  8 Period  9 Period
10

Period
11

Period
12

2014/15 2015/16

Comparison of Current Tenant Arrears 2014/15 and 2015/16 (excluding Technical Arrears)

Ar
re
ar
s

P
age 282



Report of Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities)

Report to Executive Board

Date: 21st October 2015

Subject: Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. Every three years the Council is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to review the 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy (Licensing Policy), and to consult 
upon any changes.

2. The three yearly review is taking place this year and officers have reviewed the current 
policy and made suggestions in line with changes to Gambling Commission’s Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice.  The public consultation took place April to June.  
The consultation report and final draft of the policy was reviewed and endorsed by 
Licensing Committee on 7th July.

3. Executive Board heard the matter at the July meeting and referred the matter to 
Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities).  The matter was heard at their September 
meeting.

Recommendations

4. That Executive Board considers the contents of the report which includes the 
comments from Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities) and refers the matter to full 
Council for approval.

Report author:  Susan Holden
Tel:  51863

Page 283

Agenda Item 13



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To advise Executive Board of the comments from Scrutiny Board (Citizens and 
Communities) and to request that Executive Board refer the matter to full Council 
for approval in accordance with the Budgetary and Policy Framework.

2 Background information

2.1 Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 the Licensing Authority is required to 
prepare a statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their 
functions under this Act.  This process is to be repeated every three years from 31st 
January 2007.  

2.2 The consultation process is laid out clearly in the Gambling Act 2005, the Gambling 
Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement)(England and Wales) Regulations 
2006 and the Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling 
Commission (www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk).

3 Main issues

3.1 This will be the fourth time that the council has reviewed and amended the 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy (the policy).

3.2 The approval of the policy follows the Budgetary and Policy Framework.  This report 
provides the comments made by Scrutiny Board in September.

3.3 Scrutiny Board heard a report from the Head of Elections, Licensing and 
Registration which outlined the main changes to the existing policy and the 
consultation responses.

3.4 Scrutiny Board considered the matter of the minor change made to clarify one part 
of the policy, and also considered the contents of the policy and the consultation 
responses.

3.5 The key areas of discussion were:

 The health impacts of gambling – whilst acknowledging that health-related 
issues linked to gambling were being addressed under the current objective 
linked to protecting children and other vulnerable persons, Members questioned 
what work was being undertaken nationally to make public health a specific 
licensing objective under the Gambling Act?  It was noted that the LGA 
continues to call for the introduction of a public health objective but also 
acknowledges that other new initiatives linked to local risk assessments are 
being progressed to help explore area-based vulnerability and gambling related 
harm.  

 Local Area Profiles – the Board welcomed the introduction of Local Area Profiles 
aimed at informing local risk assessments.  However, the Board identified the 
need for such profiles to be compiled in conjunction with local Community 
Committees as well as Community Hubs.

Page 284



 Identifying the impacts of gambling on communities – Members agreed that 
further research is needed in this regard which would also help inform Local 
Area Profiling.

 Social Inclusion Fund – it was noted that Community Committees could apply for 
Social Inclusion Funding to help address any social impacts relating to gambling 
within their localities.

 Enforcement of the Policy – Members raised concerns regarding children 
accessing gaming machines and noted that applicants and existing licensees 
must satisfy the Council that there will be/are sufficient measures to ensure 
under 18 year olds do not have access to their premises.  Reports of any 
breaches should therefore be reported to the Council.

 Members welcomed the ongoing partnership working with the LGA, the 
Gambling Commission and other local authorities in this regard.

3.6 The final draft of the policy is attached at Appendix A. 

3.7 The approval of the policy is a matter for full Council.  The approval process follows 
the Budgetary and Policy Framework.  The suggested timescale for approval is as 
follows:

Executive Board 15th July 2015
Scrutiny Board 14th September 2015
Executive Board 21st October 2015
Council 11th November 2015

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The licensing policy is subject to a statutory consultation which was undertaken 
between April and June. The council received four responses to the consultation 
which were discussed by Licensing Committee at their July meeting and by Scrutiny 
Board in September.  The responses were included in the Consultation Report 
which was attached to the July Executive Report and are available on request.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The Gambling Act 2005 has three licensing objectives:
a) preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime,
b) ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and
c) protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling.

4.2.2 The licensing authority, in exercising their functions under the Act, shall aim to 
permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks its reasonably 
consistent with the licensing objectives.

Page 285



4.2.3 Therefore the council has produced a Statement of Licensing Policy with this in 
mind and has taken special consideration of the protection of children and 
vulnerable people.

4.2.4 The Licensing Policy review process is subject to a EDCI Assessment, and a 
screening form has been completed.  It is attached at Appendix B.

4.3 Council Priorities and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Statement of Licensing Policy sets out the principles the council will use to 
exercise its functions under the Gambling Act 2005.  Applicants for licences and 
permits for gambling are expected to read the Policy before making their application 
and the council will refer to the Policy when making its decisions.  

4.3.2 The licensing regime contributes to the following Best Council Plan 2015-20 
outcomes:

 Improve the quality of life for our residents, particularly for those who are 
vulnerable or in poverty;

 Make it easier for people to do business with us.

4.3.3 The licensing regime is linked to the Best Council Plan objectives:

 Supporting communities and tackling poverty, and
 Becoming a more efficient and enterprising council

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 A review of the effectiveness of specific consultation methods has been 
instrumental in reducing costs.  The public consultation of the policy is now mostly  
undertaken by email, which has helped reduce the cost further.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The development of a policy under the Gambling Act 2005 is a matter for full 
Council and follows the Budgetary and Policy Framework which requires that 
Executive Board refers this matter to Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities) 
and then for it to be further considered by Executive Board before being 
recommended to full Council for approval.  Therefore this report is not available for 
call in as it has already been considered by Scrutiny.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 Executive Board has the option of not referring the revised Policy to full Council at 
this time, and requesting that further work is undertaken.  This would impact on the 
policy approval timescales.  A revised policy must be in place by January 2016 in 
order for the council to continue determining gambling licences and authorisations 
under the Gambling Act 2005.  

Page 286



5 Conclusions

5.1 The Statement of Licensing Policy is under statutory review.  A public consultation 
has been undertaken and the policy reviewed based on the comments received.  
The final draft policy and the consultation report were endorsed by Licensing 
Committee.  Under the Budgetary and Policy Framework Executive Board referred 
the policy to Scrutiny Board who have provided their comments.  It is now for 
Executive Board to consider those comments and if accepted, refer the matter to 
full Council in November 2015.

6 Recommendations

6.1 That Executive Board consider the contents of the report which includes the 
comments from Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities) and refers the matter to 
full Council for approval.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 There are no unpublished background documents that relate to this matter.

1  The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Statement of Licensing Policy 
2016 – 2018   
 
 
 

 
Gambling Act 2005 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Page 289



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 2 

 
Further copies of this document can be obtained from: 
 
Entertainment Licensing 
Leeds City Council 
Civic Hall 
Leeds 
LS1 1UR 
 
Tel: 0113 247 4095 
Fax: 0113 224 3885 
 
Email: entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk 
Web: www.leeds.gov.uk/licensing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Please note: 
The information contained within this document can 
be made available in different languages and formats 
including Braille, large print and audio cassette. 

 

Page 290



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 3 

Contents  Page

 
Executive Summary  5 

 
Part A    The Gambling Act 2005   

  1.   The licensing objectives  6 

  2.   The Leeds district  7 

  3.   The purpose of the Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of    
    Licensing Policy 

9 

  4.  The licensing framework  10 

  5.   Declaration  10 

  6.  Responsible authorities  10 

  7.   Interested parties  11 

  8.   Exchange of information  12 

  9.   Licensing authority functions  12 

 
Part B    Promotion of the licensing objectives   

  10.   Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or    
    disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being    
    used to support crime 

13 

  11.   Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open    
    way 

13 

  12.   Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from    
    being   harmed or exploited by gambling 

13 

 Protection of children  13 

 Protection of vulnerable persons   14 

 
Part C    Premises licences   

  13.   Introduction to premises licensing  16 

 Definition of a premises licence  16 

 Location  17 

 Local Licensing Guidance  18 

 Duplication with other regulatory regimes  19 

 Conditions  19 

 Door supervision  20 

  14.   Adult gaming centres  20 

  15.  Licensed family entertainment centres  21 

 

Page 291



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 4 

  16.   Casinos  22 

  17.   Bingo premises  23 

  18.   Betting premises  23 

  19.   Tracks  24 

  20.   Travelling fairs  25 

  21.   Provisional statements  25 

 
Part D    Permits, notices and lottery registrations   

  22.   Unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming      
    machine permits 

27 

  23.   Gaming machine permits in premises licensed for the    
    sale of alcohol  

28 

  24.   Prize gaming permits   29 

  25.   Club gaming and club machines permits  31 

  26.   Temporary use notices  32 

  27.   Occasional use notices (for tracks)  32 

  28.  Small society lottery registrations  33 

 
Part E  Enforcement   

  29.   Enforcement principles  34 

30.   Reviews  35 

 
Appendices   

  Appendix 1  Gaming machines  36 

  Appendix 2  Glossary of terms  39 

  Appendix 3  Summary of gaming entitlements for clubs and pubs  43 

  Appendix 4  Large Casino  44 

Page 292



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 5 

 

Executive Summary 

 
The Gambling Act 2005 obtained Royal Assent in 2005 and came into effect in 2007.   
 
Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 the Licensing Authority is required to prepare a 
statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Act.  This 
process is to be repeated every three years from 31st January 2007.   
 
The consultation process is laid out clearly in the Gambling Act 2005, the Gambling Act 2005 
(Licensing Authority Policy Statement)(England and Wales) Regulations 2006 and the Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission (www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk). 
 
The purpose of the Statement of Licensing Policy is to set out the principles that the Council 
propose to apply when determining licences, permits and registrations under the Gambling Act 
2005. 
 
Any decision taken by the Council in regard to determination of licences, permits and registrations 
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it is reasonably consistent with 
the licensing objectives which are: 
 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime. 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling 

 
The principles to be applied specifically to the determination of premises licence applications 
include definition of premises, location, duplication with other regulatory regimes, conditions, 
door supervision, layout of the premises and supervision of gaming facilities.  The policy also 
specifically mentions adult gaming centres, family entertainment centres, casinos, bingo premises, 
betting premises, tracks and travelling fairs. 
 
The council has the ability to issue permits for prize gaming and unlicensed family entertainment 
centres.  The council is able to specify the information it requires as part of the application process 
which will aid determination and this information is described in this Policy.   
 
Club gaming and club machine permits are also issued by the council.  The process for this is 
described, along with other processes specified in the legislation for example temporary use 
notices, occasional use notices and small society lotteries. 
 
Enforcement of the legislation is a requirement of the Act that is undertaken by the council in 
conjunction with the Gambling Commission.  The policy describes the council’s enforcement 
principles and the principles underpinning the right of review. 
 
The policy has three appendices, describing the stakes and prizes which determine the category of 
a gaming machine, a glossary of terms and exempt gaming in pubs and clubs. 

Page 293



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 6 

 

Part A The Gambling Act 2005 

 
1.    The licensing objectives 
 
1.1   Under the Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) Leeds City Council is the licensing authority for the 

Leeds district and licences premises for gambling activities as well as granting various other 
gambling permits. In this document, unless otherwise stated, any references to the council 
are to the Leeds Licensing Authority.  

 
1.2  The council will carry out its functions under the Act with a view to aiming to permit the 

use of premises for gambling in so far as it is reasonably consistent with the three licensing 
objectives set out at Section 1 of the Act. The licensing objectives are: 

 

 preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
  crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

 ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
  gambling. 
 

1.3  More information can be found about how the council will achieve this in Part B and C of 
this document. 

 
1.4  The council will follow any regulations and statutory guidance issued in accordance with 

the Act and will have regard to any codes of practice issued by the national gambling 
regulator, the Gambling Commission. 

 
1.5  The council is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it should aim to 

permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is: 
 

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 

 in accordance with this document. 
 
1.6  The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice (LCCP) require 

gambling premises to undertake a risk assessment taking into consideration their local 
information.  Specific information about localities is provided in this policy at Section xxx. 

    

Page 294



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 7 

2.    The Leeds district 

 
 
2.1  Leeds City Council has sought to establish Leeds as a major European city and cultural and 

social centre. It is the second largest metropolitan district in England and has a population 
of 2.2 million people living within a 30 minute drive of the city centre. 

 
2.2  The Leeds metropolitan district extends over 562 square kilometres (217 square miles) and 

has a population of 761,481 (ONS, Population Estimates for UK as at 30 June 2013). It 
includes the city centre and the urban areas that surround it, the more rural outer suburbs 
and several towns, all with their very different identities. Two‐thirds of the district is 
greenbelt (open land with restrictive building), and there is beautiful countryside within 
easy reach of the city.  

 
2.3  Over recent years Leeds has experienced significant levels of growth in entertainment use 

within the City coupled with a significant increase in residential development. The close 
proximity of a range of land uses and the creation of mixed‐use schemes has many benefits 
including the creation of a vibrant 24‐hour city. Leeds City Council has a policy promoting 
mixed use development including residential and evening uses throughout the city centre. 

 

Page 295



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 8 

2.4  Leeds has strong artistic traditions and top performing artistes can be seen at the Leeds 
first direct Arena, Leeds Town Hall and at other indoor and outdoor venues across the city. 
The success of arts and heritage organisations including the Grand Theatre, West Yorkshire 
Playhouse, Opera North, Northern Ballet Theatre, Phoenix Dance Theatre, Harewood 
House and the Henry Moore Institute, has helped to attract other major arts and heritage 
investments such as the award winning Royal Armouries and the Thackray Medical 
Museum. The city also boasts a wealth of community based sports, entertainment, 
heritage and recreational facilities. There is a vibrant voluntary sector including thousands 
of groups and societies.  

 
2.5  Sport is a passion for people in Leeds and Yorkshire.  Leeds United Football Club has a loyal 

and passionate following and Elland Road is one of England’s great traditional grounds.  
Cricket is followed with enthusiasm with Yorkshire Cricket Club’s home in Headingley.  
Leeds has a world’s first dual code rugby partnership – Leeds Rhino Rugby League and 
Leeds Carnegie Rugby Union.  The Leeds Rhinos in particular have enjoyed great success in 
recent years.  Wetherby racecourse was established in 1891 and is considered one of the 
best jump courses in the country. 

 
2.6  Leeds is a city with many cultures, languages, races and faiths. A wide range of minority 

groups including Black Caribbean, Indian, Pakistani, Irish and Chinese as well as many other 
smaller communities make up almost 11% of the city population.  

 
2.7  The Vision for Leeds 2011‐2030 is published by the Leeds Initiative, as the city’s strategic 

partnership group.  It sets the overall aim that “by 2030, Leeds will be locally and 
internationally recognised as the best city in the UK”  By 2030: 

 

 Leeds will be fair, open and welcoming  

 Leeds’ economy will be prosperous and sustainable  

 All Leeds’ communities will be successful  
 
2.8  This statement of licensing policy seeks to promote the licensing objectives within the 

overall context of the three aims set out in the Vision for Leeds 2011‐2030. 
   
Child Friendly 
 

2.9  The council has announced its intention for the city to become ‘Child Friendly’.  This links 
back to the council’s vision which states: 

 
‘Best city… for children 
Leeds will be a child‐friendly city where the voices, needs and 
priorities of children and young people are heard and inform the 
way we make decisions and take action.’  
 

2.10  There are over 180,000 children and young people in Leeds.  To 
become a child friendly city, and the best city for children and 
young people, their voices and views need to be heard and 
responded to, and that they are active participants in their local 
community and citywide.  

 

Page 296



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 9 

2.11  The UN convention on the rights of the child sets out the basic rights for children 
worldwide. The UN developed the model for child friendly city model – a place where 
children rights are known and understood by children and adults alike, and where these 
rights are reflected in policies and budgets.  

 

2.12  As part of the aim for Leeds to become a child friendly city, the council declared 12 wishes: 
 

2.13  This policy is particularly affected by wish 2 – “Children and young people find the city 
centre welcoming and safe, with friendly places to go, have fun and play” and wish 3 – 
“There are places and spaces to play and things to do, in all areas and open to all”. 

 
3.  The purpose of the Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Licensing Policy  
 
3.1   Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of the 

principles which they propose to apply when exercising their functions under the Act. This 
document fulfils this requirement. Such statement must be published at least every three 
years. The statement can also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amendments must 
be consulted upon. The statement must then be re‐published. 

 
3.2  Leeds City Council consulted widely upon this policy statement before finalising and 

publishing it. A list of the persons we consulted is provided below:  
 

 West Yorkshire Police 

 the Local Safeguarding Children Board 

 Public Health 

 Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 

 West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 Department of Neighbourhoods & Housing, Environmental Health Services 

 Development Department 

 Gambling Commission 

 national bodies representing the gambling trade 

 representatives of existing licence holders 

 local Members of Parliament 

 town/parish councils in the district 

 Ward Members 

 representatives of local businesses 

 members of the public 

 community representatives 

 Faith groups within the Leeds district 

 national charities concerned with the social impact of gambling 

 other charities offering support to alcohol and drugs users 
 
3.3   The consultation took place between 13th April and 28th June 2015 and followed the 

Cabinet Office’s Code of Practice on Consultation.  The consultation elicited four responses 
which are available on request.  The policy was approved at a meeting of the Full Council 
on xxxx  

 

Page 297



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 10 

4.  The licensing framework 
 
4.1  The Gambling Act 2005 brought about changes to the way that gambling is administered in 

the United Kingdom. The Gambling Commission is the national gambling regulator and has 
a lead role in working with central government and local authorities to regulate gambling 
activity. 

 
4.2  The Gambling Commission issues operators licences and personal licences. Any operator 

wishing to provide gambling at a certain premises must have applied for the requisite 
personal licence and operator licence before they can approach the council for a premises 
licence. In this way the Gambling Commission is able to screen applicants and organisations 
to ensure they have the correct credentials to operate gambling premises. The council’s 
role is to ensure premises are suitable for providing gambling in line with the three 
licensing objectives and any codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission. The 
council also issues various permits and notices to regulate smaller scale and or ad hoc 
gambling in various other locations such as pubs, clubs and hotels.  

  
4.3  The council does not licence large society lotteries or remote gambling through websites. 

These areas fall to the Gambling Commission. The National Lottery is not licensed by the 
Gambling Act 2005 and is regulated by the Gambling Commission under the National 
Lottery Act 1993.   

 
5.   Declaration 
 
5.1  This statement of licensing policy will not override the right of any person to make an 

application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence, 
as each will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory requirements 
of the Gambling Act 2005.   

 
5.2  In producing this document, the council declares that it has had regard to the licensing 

objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, 
and any responses from those consulted on the policy statement. 

 
6.   Responsible authorities 
 
6.1  The Act empowers certain agencies to act as responsible authorities so that they can 

employ their particular area of expertise to help promote the licensing objectives. 
Responsible authorities are able to make representations about licence applications, or 
apply for a review of an existing licence. Responsible authorities will also offer advice and 
guidance to applicants.  

 
6.2  The council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply to designate, in 

writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children 
from harm. The principles are: 

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing 
authority’s area 

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather than 
any particular vested interest group etc. 

 

Page 298



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 11 

6.3  In accordance with the regulations the council designates the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board for this purpose.  Leeds Safeguarding Children Board has produced a “West 
Yorkshire Consortium Procedures Manual which can be found at 
http://westyorkscb.proceduresonline.com.   Applicants may find this manual useful as a 
point of reference, a guide for good practice and the mechanism by which to make a 
referral to Social Care, when producing their own policies and procedures in relation to the 
objective of protection of children and vulnerable people. 

 
6.4  The contact details of all the responsible authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 are 

available on the council’s website within the guidance documents at 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/Business/Pages/Gambling‐Premises‐Licences.aspx. 

 
7.   Interested parties 
 
7.1  Interested parties are certain types of people or organisations that have the right to make 

representations about licence applications, or apply for a review of an existing licence.  
These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as follows: 

  
“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an application 
for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which 
issues the licence or to which the applications is made, the person‐ 

 
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 

activities, 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)” 

 
7.2  The council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply to determine 

whether a person is an interested party. The principles are: 
 

 Each case will be decided upon its merits. The council will not apply a rigid rule to its 
decision making.  It will consider the examples of considerations provided in the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities.  

 

 Within this framework the council will accept representations made on behalf of 
residents and tenants associations. 

 

 In order to determine if an interested party lives or has business interests, sufficiently 
close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the gambling activities, the council 
will consider factors such as the size of the premises and the nature of the activities 
taking place.      

 
7.3  The council will provide more detailed information on the making of representations in a 

separate guidance note. The guidance note has been prepared in accordance with relevant 
Statutory Instruments and Gambling Commission guidance.  

 

Page 299



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 12 

8.    Exchange of information 
 
8.1  Licensing authorities are required to include in their policy statement the principles to be 

applied by the authority with regards to the exchange of information between it and the 
Gambling Commission, as well as other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

 
8.2  The principle that the council applies is that it will act in accordance with the provisions of 

the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the provision that the 
Data Protection Act 1998 will not be contravened.  The council will also have regard to any 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to local authorities on this matter, as well as 
any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the 
Gambling Act 2005. 

 
9.   Licensing authority functions 
 
9.1   Licensing authorities are responsible under the Act for: 
 

 licensing premises where gambling activities are to take place by issuing premises 
licences  

 issuing provisional statements  

 regulating members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine Permits 

 issuing Club Machine Permits to commercial clubs 

 granting permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at Unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres 

 receiving notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) of 
the use of two or less gaming machines 

 granting Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 
2003, where more than two machines are required 

 registering small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 

 issuing Prize Gaming Permits 

 receiving and endorsing Temporary Use Notices 

 receiving Occasional Use Notices (for tracks) 

 providing information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences issued 
(see section above on ‘Exchange of information’) 

 maintaining registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions. 
 
9.2  The council will not be involved in licensing remote gambling at all. This will fall to the 

Gambling Commission via operator licences. 

Page 300



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 13 

 

Part B Promotion of the licensing objectives

 
10.   Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 

crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
 
10.1  The Gambling Commission will take a lead role in keeping gambling crime free by vetting all 

applicants for personal and operator licences. The council’s main role is to try and promote 
this area with regard actual premises. Thus, where an area has known high levels of 
organised crime the council will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable 
to be located there (see paragraph 13.8 and 13.9) and whether conditions may be required 
such as the provision of door supervision (see paragraph 13.15). 

 
10.2  There is a distinction between disorder and nuisance. In order to make the distinction, 

when incidents of this nature occur, the council will consider factors such as whether 
police assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was.  

 
10.3  Issues of nuisance cannot be addressed by the Gambling Act provisions however problems 

of this nature can be addressed through other legislation as appropriate.  
   
10.4  Examples of the specific steps the council may take to address this area can be found in the 

various sections covering specific premises types in Part C of this document and also in Part 
D which covers permits and notices.    

  
11.  Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
 
11.1  The council is aware that except in the case of tracks (see section 18) generally the 

Gambling Commission does not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with 
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via 
operating and personal licences.  

 
11.2  However the council will familiarise itself with operator licence conditions and will 

communicate any concerns to the Gambling Commission about misleading advertising or 
any absence of required game rules or other matters as set out in the Gambling 
Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice. 

 
11.3  Examples of the specific steps the council may take to address this area can be found in the 

various sections covering specific premises types in Part C of this document and also in Part 
D which covers permits and notices.    

 
12.   Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling   
 
Protection of children  
 
12.1  This licensing objective means preventing children from taking part in most types of 

gambling.  The council will therefore consider whether specific measures are required at 
particular premises, with regard to this licensing objective. Appropriate measures may 
include supervision of entrances / machines, segregation of areas etc.  

Page 301



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 14 

 
12.2 The Act provides the following definition for child and young adult in Section 45: 
 

Meaning of “child” and “young person” 
(1) In this Act “child” means an individual who is less than 16 years old. 
(2) In this Act “young person” means an individual who is not a child but who is less 

than 18 years old. 
 
  For the purpose of this section protection of children will encompass both child and young 

person as defined by the Act. 
 
12.3  The council will pay particular attention to any codes of practice which the Gambling 

Commission issues as regards this licensing objective in relation to specific premises such 
as casinos. 

 
12.4  Examples of the specific steps the council may take to address this area can be found in the 

various sections covering specific premises types in Part C of this document and also in Part 
D which covers permits and notices.    

 
Protection of vulnerable people 
 
12.5  The council is aware of the difficulty in defining the term “vulnerable person”.   
 
12.6  The Gambling Commission, in its Guidance to Local Authorities, does not seek to offer a 

definition for the term “vulnerable people” but will, for regulatory purposes assume that 
this group includes people: 

 
  “who gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means, elderly 

persons, and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, or because of the influence of alcohol or drugs.”  

 
12.7  The Department of Health document “No Secrets” offers a definition of a  vulnerable adult 
  as a person: 
 
  “who is or may be in need of community care services by reason of mental or other 
  disability, age or illness; and who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself, or 
  unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or exploitation.” 
 
12.8 In the case of premises licences the council is aware of the extensive requirements set out 

for operators in the Gambling Commissions Code of Practice.  In this document the 
Gambling Commission clearly describe the policies and procedures that operators should 
put in place regarding: 

 

 Combating problem gambling 

 Access to gambling by children and young persons 

 Information on how to gambling responsibly and help for problem gamblers 

 Customer interaction 

 Self exclusion 

 Employment of children and young persons 

Page 302



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 15 

 
12.9  All applicants should familiarise themselves with the operator licence conditions  and codes 

of practice relating to this objective and determine if these policies and procedures are 
appropriate in their circumstances.  The council will communicate  any concerns to the 
Gambling Commission about any absence of this required information.  

 
12.10  Applicants may also like to make reference to Leeds Safeguarding Adults  Partnership 

document entitled “Leeds Multi Agency Safeguarding Adults Policies and Procedures” 
which provides extensive guidance on identifying vulnerable people and what can be done 
to reduce risk for this group.  This document can be accessed via 
http://www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk  

 
12.11  Applicants should consider the following proposed measures for protecting and supporting 

vulnerable persons, for example: 
 

 leaflets offering assistance to problem gamblers should be available on gambling 
premises in a location that is both prominent and discreet, such as toilets 

 training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to maintain 
a sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are gambling, as part of 
measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable (see 12.4.1). 

 trained personnel for the purpose of identifying and providing support to vulnerable 
persons 

 self exclusion schemes 

 operators should demonstrate their understanding of best practice issued by 
organisations that represent the interests of vulnerable people 

 posters with GamCare Helpline and website in prominent locations 

 windows, entrances and advertisements to be positioned or designed not to entice 
passers‐by. 

 
12.12  It should be noted that some of these measures form part of the mandatory conditions 

placed on premises licences. 
 
12.13  The council may consider any of the above or similar measures as licence conditions 
  should these not be adequately addressed by any mandatory conditions, default 
  conditions or proposed by the applicant.   

Page 303



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 16 

Pa 

Part C Premises licences 

 
13.1  The council will issue premises licences to allow those premises to be used for certain 

types of gambling. For example premises licences will be issued to amusement arcades, 
bingo halls, bookmakers and casinos.  

 
13.2  Premises licences are subject to the permissions/restrictions set‐out in the Gambling Act 

2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions which are 
detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  Licensing authorities are able to 
exclude default conditions and also attach other conditions, where it is believed to be 
necessary and proportionate. 

 
13.3 Applicants should also be aware that the Gambling Commission has issued Codes of 

Practice for each interest area for which they must have regard.  The council will also have 
regard to these Codes of Practice. 

 
Definition of “premises” 
 
13.4  Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”. Different premises licences cannot apply in 

respect of a single premises at different times.  However, it is possible for a single building 
to be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts of 
the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as being 
different premises.  Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as 
being separate premises will always be a question of fact in the circumstances.   

 
13.5  The council will take particular care in considering applications for multiple licences for a 

building and those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (non‐gambling) 
purposes. In particular the council will assess entrances and exits from parts of a building 
covered by one or more licences to satisfy itself that they are separate and identifiable so 
that the separation of different premises is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ 
into a gambling area. 

  
13.6  The council will pay particular attention to applications where access to the licensed 

premises is through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or unlicensed). 
Issues that the council will consider before granting such applications include whether 
children can gain access, compatibility of the two establishments; and the ability to comply 
with the requirements of the Act. In addition an overriding consideration will be whether, 
taken as a whole, the co‐location of the licensed premises with other facilities has the 
effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise would, or should, be prohibited under 
the Act. 

 
13.7  An applicant cannot obtain a full premises licence until they have the right to occupy the 

premises to which the application relates.  
 

Page 304



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 17 

Location 
 
13.8  The council is aware that demand issues (e.g. the likely demand or need for gambling 

facilities in an area) cannot be considered with regard to the location of premises but that 
considerations in terms of the licensing objectives can. The council will pay particular 
attention to the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder. 

 
13.9  With regards to these objectives it is the council’s policy, upon receipt of any relevant 

representations to look at specific location issues including: 
 

 the possible impact a gambling premises may have on any premises that provide 
services to children or young people, i.e. a school, or vulnerable adult centres in the 
area 

 the possible impact a gambling premises may have on residential areas where there 
may be a high concentration of families with children 

 the size of the premises and the nature of the activities taking place 

 any levels of organised crime in the area. 
 

13.10  In order for location to be considered, the council will need to be satisfied that there is 
sufficient evidence that the particular location of the premises would be harmful to the 
licensing objectives.  From 6 April 2016, it is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s 
Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), under section 10, for licensees to assess 
the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at 
their premises and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks.  
In making risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in 
this policy. 

 
13.11  The LCCP goes on to say licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk 

assessments: 
 

a. to take account of significant changes in local circumstance, including those identified 
in this policy; 

b. when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 
mitigation of local risks; 

c. when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 
d. in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new premises 

licence. 
 
13.12  The council will expect the local risk assessment to consider as a minimum: 
 

 whether the premises is in an area of deprivation 

 whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime and/or disorder 

 the ethnic profile of residents in the area 

 the demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups 

 the location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, leisure 
centres and other areas where children will gather 

 

Page 305



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 18 

13.13  In any case the local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, including people 
with gambling dependencies, are protected. 

 
13.14  Other matters that the assessment may include: 
 

 The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of excessive 
gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and how the manning of 
premises affects this. 

 Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and how the system 
will be monitored. 

 The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of persons using the 
premises. 

 The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any one time.  If at any 
time that number is one, confirm the supervisory and monitoring arrangements when 
that person is absent from the licensed area or distracted from supervising the 
premises and observing those persons using the premises. 

 Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age persons and vulnerable 
persons, which may include dedicated and trained personnel, leaflets, posters, self‐
exclusion schemes, window displays and advertisements not to entice passers‐by etc.  

 The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, gambling care 
providers and other relevant information be provided in both English and the other 
prominent first language for that locality. 

 Where the application is for a betting premises licence, other than in respect of a track, 
the location and extent of any part of the premises which will be used to provide 
facilities for gambling in reliance on the licence. 

 
13.15  Such information may be used to inform the decision the council makes about whether to 

grant the licence, to grant the licence with special conditions or to refuse the application.   
 
13.16   This policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will be 

decided on its merits, with the onus being upon the applicant to show how the concerns 
can be overcome. 

 
Local Area Profile 
 
13.17  Each locality has its own character and challenges. In order to assist applicants, where 

there is an issue in a local area which impacts on how the applicant should complete their 
risk assessment, the council may publish a local area profile.  This profile, compiled in 
conjunction with the Community Hubs and approved by the Licensing Committee, can be 
obtained from Entertainment Licensing. 

 
13.18  The local area profiles should be given careful consideration when making an application.  

Applicants may be asked to attend a meeting with licensing officers to discuss the profiles, 
appropriate measures to mitigate risk in the area and how they might be relevant to their 
application.  The local area profiles will be presented to any subsequent licensing 
subcommittee when they determine an application that has received representations. 

 

Page 306



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 19 

13.19  The council recognises that it cannot insist on applicants using the local area profiles 
when completing their risk assessments. However an applicant who decides to disregard 
the profiles may face additional representations and the expense of a hearing as a result. 

 
Duplication with other regulatory regimes 
 
13.20  The council will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems 

where possible, including planning. The council will not consider whether a licence 
application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations approval, 
in its consideration of it. It will though, listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns 
about proposed conditions which are not able to be met by the applicant due to planning 
restrictions, should such a situation arise. 

 
Conditions 
 
13.21  The council is aware that the Secretary of State has set mandatory conditions and default 

conditions and the Gambling Commission has set Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 
which are necessary for the general good conduct of gambling premises, therefore it is 
unlikely that the council will need to impose individual conditions imposing a more 
restricted regime in relation to matters that have already been dealt with.  

 
13.22  Where there are specific risks or problems associated with a particular locality, or specific 

premises, or class of premises, the council will attach individual conditions to address this. 
 
13.23  Any conditions attached to a licence issued by the council will be proportionate and 
  will be: 
 

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility 

 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for, and/or related to 
the area where the premises is based 

 fairly and reasonably related to the scale, type and location of premises 

 consistent with the licensing objectives, and 

 reasonable in all other respects.  
 
13.24  Decisions about individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there 

will be a number of control measures the council will consider using, such as supervision of 
entrances, supervision of adult gaming machines, appropriate signage for adult only areas 
etc. There are specific comments made in this regard under each of the licence types in this 
policy. The council will also expect the applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as to the 
way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively 

   
13.25   Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions or 

by the applicant, the council may consider licence conditions to cover issues such as: 
 

 proof of age schemes 

 CCTV 

 supervision of entrances  

 supervision of machine areas 

 a reduction in the number of betting machines (betting premises) 

Page 307



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 20 

 the manning of premises 

 physical separation of areas 

 location of entrance points  

 notices / signage 

 specific opening hours 

 a requirement that children must be accompanied by an adult 

 enhanced CRB checks of the applicant and/or staff  

 support to persons with gambling addiction 

 policies to address seasonal periods where children may more frequently attempt to 
gain access to premises and gamble such as pre and post school hours, half terms and 
summer holidays 

 policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may attempt to 
gain access to premises and gamble   

 any one or a combination of the measures as set out in this policy. 
 
13.26  This list is not mandatory or exhaustive and is merely indicative of examples of certain 

measures which may satisfy the requirements of the licensing authority and the 
responsible authorities, depending on the nature and location of the premises and the 
gambling facilities to be provided. 

 
13.27  There are conditions which the council cannot attach to premises licences which are: 
 

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible for the applicant to 
comply with an operating licence condition; 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation; 

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Gambling 
Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs 
and this provision prevents it being reinstated) and 

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes. 
 
Door supervision 
 
13.28  The council will consider whether there is a need for door supervision in terms of the 

licensing objectives of protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling, and also in terms of preventing premises becoming a source of 
crime. It is noted though that the Gambling Act 2005 has amended the Private Security 
Industry Act 2001 and that door supervisors at casinos or bingo premises are not required 
to be licensed by the Security Industry Authority. Where door supervisors are provided at 
these premises the operator should ensure that any persons employed in this capacity are 
fit and proper to carry out such duties. Possible ways to achieve this could be to carry out a 
criminal records (CRB) check on potential staff and for such personnel to have attended 
industry recognised training.   

 
14.  Adult gaming centres 
 
14.1  Adult gaming centres are a new category of premises introduced by the Act that are most 

closely related to what are commonly known as adult only amusement arcades seen in 
many city centres.  

 

Page 308



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 21 

14.2 Under the Act a premises holding an adult gaming centre licence will be able to make 
category B, C and D gaming machines available and no one under 18 will be permitted to 
enter such premises (see Appendix 1).  

 
14.3  The council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 

persons from harm or being exploited by gambling in these premises.  The council will 
expect applicants to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure 
that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises. 

   
14.4  Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory and default 

conditions and the Gambling Commission Codes of Practice or by the applicant, the council 
may consider licence conditions to address such issues. 

 
15.  Licensed family entertainment centres (FECs) 
 
15.1  Licensed family entertainment centres are those premises which usually provide a range of 

amusements such as computer games, penny pushers and may have a separate section set 
aside for adult only gaming machines with higher stakes and prizes.  Licensed family 
entertainment centres will be able to make available unlimited category C and D machines 
where there is clear segregation in place so children do not access the areas where the 
category C machines are located (see Appendix 1).    
 

15.2  Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which children are 
admitted then the council will ensure that: 

 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the remainder 
of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than 
through a designated entrance.  For this purpose a rope, floor markings or similar 
provision will not suffice and the council may insist on a permanent barrier of at least 1 
meter high 

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines (category C) are located 

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised at all times 

 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by 
staff; and 

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices 
indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
15.3  The council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 

persons from harm or being exploited by gambling in these premises.  The council will 
expect applicants to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure 
that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine areas.  

 
15.4  The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. 

 

Page 309



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 22 

15.5  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, 
however, they may include: 

 appropriate measures and training for staff as regards suspected truant children on the 
premises 

 measures and training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young 
children being on the premises 

 measures and training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived 
problems on or around the premises. 

 the arrangements for supervision of premises either by staff or the use of CCTV.  Any 
CCTV system installed should both the interior and the entrance working to the latest 
Home Office and ACPO standards and to the satisfaction of West Yorkshire Police and 
the local authority.  The system must record images clearly and these recordings be 
retained for a minimum of 31 days.  If the equipment is inoperative the police and local 
authority must be informed as soon as possible and immediate steps taken to make the 
system operative.  Notices must be displayed at the entrances advising that CCTV is in 
operation. 

 
15.6  Due to the nature of these premises, which are attractive to children, applicants who 

employ staff to supervise the premises should consult with the Independent Safeguarding 
Authority to determine if their staff need to be CRB checked. 

 
15.7  The council will refer to the Commission’s website to familiarise itself with any conditions 

that apply to operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the category 
C machines should be delineated. The council will also make itself aware of the mandatory 
or default conditions and any Gambling Commission Codes of Practice on these premises 
licences. 

   
16.  Casinos 
 
16.1  Leeds has a number of casinos which were licensed under the Gaming Act 1968, which 

have been subsequently converted into Gambling Act 2005 Converted Casino Premises 
Licences. 

 
16.2  The Gambling Act states that a casino is an arrangement whereby people are given the 

opportunity to participate in one or more casino games whereby casino games are defined 
as a game of chance which is not equal chance gaming. This means that casino games offer 
the chance for multiple participants to take part in a game competing against the house or 
bank at different odds to their fellow players.  Casinos can also provide equal chance 
gaming and gaming machines.  Large and small casinos can also provide betting machines. 

 
Licence considerations / conditions 
 
16.3  The Gambling Commission has provided Guidance for Licensing Authorities and Licence 

Conditions and Code of Practice which are applied to Operator’s Licences.  The council will 
take this into consideration when determining licence applications for converted casino 
licences. 

 

Page 310



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 23 

16.4  Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions, 
Gambling Commission Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice or by the applicant, the 
council may consider licence conditions to cover certain issues. 

 
16.5  Detailed information on the Large Casino Application Process can be found in Appendix 4. 
 
17.   Bingo premises 
 
17.1  There is no official definition for bingo in the Gambling Act 2005 however from a licensing 

point of view there is a category of premises licence specifically for bingo premises which is 
used by traditional commercial bingo halls for both cash and prize bingo. In addition this 
premises licence will authorise the provision of a limited number of gaming machines in 
line with the provisions of the Act (see Appendix 1).  

 
17.2   The council is aware that it is important that if children are allowed to enter premises 

licensed for bingo that they do not participate in gambling, other than on category D 
machines. Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which children 
are admitted then the council will ensure that: 

 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the remainder 
of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than 
through a designated entrance. For this purpose a rope, floor markings or similar 
provision will not suffice and the council may insist on a permanent barrier of at least 
one meter high  

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located 

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised at all times 

 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by staff 

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices 
indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18 

 children will not be admitted to bingo premises unless accompanied by an adult.  
 
17.3  The Gambling Commission has provided Guidance for Licensing Authorities and Licence 

Conditions and Code of Practice which are applied to Operator’s Licences.  The council will 
take this into consideration when determining licence applications for bingo premises. 

 
17.4  Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions, 
  the Gambling Commission Code of Practice or the applicant, the council may consider 
  licence conditions to address such issues. 
 
18.   Betting premises  
 
18.1  Betting premises are premises such as bookmakers where various types of gambling are 

authorised to take place. The Act contains a single class of licence for betting premises 
however within this single class there are different types of premises which require 
licensing such as high street bookmakers, bookmakers located in self‐contained facilities at 
race courses as well as the general betting premises licences that track operators will 
require. 

 

Page 311



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 24 

Betting machines 
 
18.2  The council is aware that Section 181 of the Act contains an express power for licensing 

authorities to restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances 
in which they are made available by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises 
licence. When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of betting 
machines in particular premises, the council, amongst other things, will take into account 
the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person‐to‐person 
transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines.  

 
18.3  Where an applicant for a betting premises licence intends to offer higher stake category B 

gaming machines (categories B2‐B4) including any Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBTs), 
then applicants should consider the control measures related to the protection of 
vulnerable persons, highlighted in section 12. 

 
18.4  Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions, 

Gambling Commission Code of Practice or the applicant, the council may consider licence 
conditions to address such issues. 

 
19.   Tracks 
 
19.1  Tracks are sites (including racecourses and dog tracks) where races or other sporting 

events take place. Betting is a major gambling activity on tracks, both in the form of pool 
betting (often known as the “totaliser” or “tote”), and also general betting, often known as 
“fixed‐odds” betting. Multiple betting outlets are usually located on tracks such as ‘on‐
course’ betting operators who come onto the track just on race days to provide betting for 
the races taking place on that track. There can also be ‘off‐course’ betting operators who 
may operate self‐contained facilities at the tracks which offer customers the chance to bet 
on other events, not just those taking place on the track. 

 
19.2  All tracks will require a primary `general betting premises licence’ that the track operator 

will hold. It should be noted that track operators do not require an operating licence from 
the Gambling Commission although they may apply for one. This is because the various 
other gambling operators offering betting at the track will each hold an operating licence. 

 
19.3  Tracks may also be subject to one or more premises licences, provided each licence relates 

to a specified area of the track. This may be preferable for any self‐contained premises 
providing off‐course betting facilities at the track. The council will however assess each 
individual case on its merits before deciding if this is necessary. Where possible the council 
will be happy for the track operator to decide if any particular off‐course operators should 
apply for a separate premises licence. 

 
19.4   If any off‐course operators are permitted to provide betting facilities under the 

authorisation of the track operator’s premises licence, then it will be the responsibility of 
the premises licence holder to ensure the proper conduct of such betting within the 
premises boundary. 

 

Page 312



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 25 

19.5  Gambling Commission guidance also indicates that it would be possible for other types of 
gambling premises to be located at a track under the authorisation of separate premises 
licences, e.g. a casino premises licence or adult gaming centre premises licence. If you 
require further guidance on this provision please contact the Entertainment Licensing 
Section. 

 
19.6  Children and young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for 

betting are provided on days when dog‐racing and/or horse racing takes place, although 
they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines and betting machines 
(other than category D machines) are provided. 

 
19.7  The council will consider the impact upon the protection of children licensing objective and 

the need to ensure that entrances to each type of betting premises are distinct and that 
children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

   
Betting machines 
 
19.8  The council is aware that Section 181 of the Act contains an express power for licensing 

authorities to restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances 
in which they are made available by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises 
licence. When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of betting 
machines in particular premises, the council, amongst other things, will take into account 
the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person‐to‐person 
transactions and the location of the machines, in order to ensure they are in a properly 
segregated area where children are not permitted. 

 
19.9  Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions, 

the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice or the applicant, the 
council may consider licence conditions to address such issues. 

 
20.   Travelling fairs 
 
20.1  Travelling fairs have traditionally been able to provide various types of low stake gambling 

without the need for a licence or permit provided that certain conditions are met and this 
provision continues in similar fashion under the new Act.  
 

20.2  Travelling fairs have the right to provide an unlimited number of category D gaming 
machines and/or equal chance prize gaming (without the need for a permit) as long as the 
gambling amounts to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair (see Appendix 1).  

 
20.3  The council will consider whether any fairs which take up the above entitlement fall within 

the statutory definition of a travelling fair. 
 
20.4  The council is aware that the 27 day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair is 

per calendar year and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, 
regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land. The 
council will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which crosses the 
council boundary is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 

Page 313



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 26 

21.   Provisional statements 
 
21.1  A provisional statement application is a process which allows a developer to examine the 

likelihood of whether a building which he expects to be constructed, to be altered or to 
acquire a right to occupy would be granted a premises licence.  A provisional statement is 
not a licence and merely gives the holder some form of guarantee that a premises licence 
would be granted so the developer can judge whether a development is worth taking 
forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence.  An applicant may also apply for a 
provisional statement for premises which already hold a premises licence (either for a 
different type of gambling or the same type).     

 
21.2  In terms of representations about premises licence applications, following the grant of a 

provisional statement, no further representations from responsible authorities or 
interested parties can be taken into account unless they concern matters which could not 
have been addressed at the provisional statement stage, or they reflect a change in the 
applicant’s circumstances. In addition, the council may refuse the premises licence (or 
grant it on terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by 
reference to matters: 

 
a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or 
b) which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances. 

 
21.3  When determining a provisional statement application the council will operate in 

accordance with the Act and will not have regard to any issues related to planning consent 
or building regulations, e.g. the likelihood that planning consent will be granted.  

 

Page 314



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 27 

 

Part D   Permits, notices and lottery registrations

 
22.   Unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming machine permits (UFECs) 
 
22.1  The term ‘unlicensed family entertainment centre’ is one defined in the Act and refers to a 

premises which provides category D gaming machines along with various other 
amusements such as computer games and penny pushers. The premises is ‘unlicensed’ in 
that it does not require a premises licence but does require a permit to be able to provide 
category D machines. It should not be confused with a ‘licensed family entertainment 
centre’ which requires a premises licence because it contains both category C and D 
gaming machines.  

 
22.2  The Gambling Act 2005 contains provision for local authorities to prepare a “Statement of 

Principles” that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a 
permit. Schedule 10, Para 7 of the Act states “In preparing this statement, and/or 
considering applications, it [the council] need not (but may) have regard to the licensing 
objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Commission. 

 
22.3  In line with the above provision the council has prepared a ‘Statement of Principles’ in 

relation to unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming machines as follows: 
 
Statement of Principles 
 
22.4  The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. 

 
22.5  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, 

however, they may include: 

 appropriate measures and training for staff as regards suspected truant children on the 
premises 

 measures and training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young 
children being on the premises 

 measures and training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived 
problems on or around the premises. 

 the arrangements for supervision of premises either by staff or the use of CCTV.  Any 
CCTV system installed should both the interior and the entrance working to the latest 
Home Office and ACPO standards and to the satisfaction of West Yorkshire Police and 
the local authority.  The system must record images clearly and these recordings be 
retained for a minimum of 31 days.  If the equipment is inoperative the police and local 
authority must be informed as soon as possible and immediate steps taken to make the 
system operative.  Notices must be displayed at the entrances advising that CCTV is in 
operation. 

 
22.6  Due to the nature of these premises, which are attractive to children, applicants who 

employ staff to supervise the premises should consult with the Independent Safeguarding 
Authority to determine if their staff need to be CRB checked. 

 

Page 315



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 28 

22.7  The council will also expect, as per the Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants 
demonstrate: 

 A full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs 

 That the applicant has no relevant conviction (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of 
the Act), and  

 That staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 
 
22.8  In line with the Act, while the council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit, the 

council can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that the issues raised in the 
“Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the application. 

  
22.9  Applicants only need to address the “Statement of Principles” when making their initial 

applications and not at renewal time.  
 
23  Gaming machine permits in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol 
 
23.1  There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 

premises, to automatically have two gaming machines, of categories C and/or D. The 
premises merely need to notify the council. The council can remove the automatic 
authorisation in respect of any particular premises if: 

 

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing 
objectives; 

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of Section 282 of the 
Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the licensing authority, that 
a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machine has been complied with) 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises. 
 
23.2  If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then it needs to apply for a permit 

and the council must consider that application based upon the licensing objectives, any 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 
2005,  and “such matters as they think relevant.” The council considers that “such matters” 
will be decided on a case by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to 
protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling. The 
council will also expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that children and young people under the age of 18 do not have access 
to the adult only gaming machines.   

 
23.3  All alcohol licensed premises with gaming machines must have regard to the need to 

protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and 
provide sufficient  measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not use the adult only 
gaming machines.   

 

Page 316



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 29 

23.4  Measures which may satisfy the council that persons under 18 years will be prevented 
from using the machines may include the machines being in close proximity to the bar, or 
in any other area where they are capable of being adequately supervised. Notices and 
signage may also help. As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, applicants may 
wish to consider the provision of information leaflets and or helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare. 

 
23.5  The council can decide to grant the permit with a smaller number of machines and/or a 

different category of machines than that applied for. Conditions (other than these) cannot 
be attached. 

 
23.6  The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission about the location and operation of the machine(s). 
 
23.7 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for 

their non‐alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would need to be dealt with under 
the relevant provisions of the Act. 

 
23.8  Alcohol licensed premises are able to provide some limited equal chance gaming.  

Licensees are referred to the advice provided by the Gambling Commission and Appendix 3 
of this document. 

 
24.   Prize gaming permits  
 
24.1   Section 288 defines gaming as prize gaming if the nature and size of the 

prize is not determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised 
by the gaming. The prizes will be determined by the operator before play commences. 
Prize gaming can often be seen at seaside resorts in amusement arcades where a form of 
bingo is offered and the prizes are displayed on the walls. 

 
24.2   A prize gaming permit is a permit issued by the licensing authority to 
  authorise the provision of facilities for gaming with prizes on specified premises. 
 
24.3  The Gambling Act 2005 contains provision for local authorities to prepare a “Statement of 

Principles” that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a 
permit. Schedule 14, Para 8 of the Act states, “in preparing this statement, and/or 
considering applications, it [the council] need not (but may) have regard to the licensing 
objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Commission under 
Section 25. 

 
24.4  In line with the above provision the council has prepared a Statement of Principles in 

relation to prize gaming permits as follows: 
 
Statement of Principles 
 
24.5  The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. 

 

Page 317



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 30 

24.6  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, 
however, they may include: 

 

 appropriate measures and training for staff as regards suspected truant children on the 
premises 

 measures and training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young 
children being on the premises 

 measures and training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived 
problems on or around the premises. 

 the arrangements for supervision of premises either by staff or the use of CCTV.  Any 
CCTV system installed should both the interior and the entrance working to the Home 
Office and ACPO standards as described PSDB leaflet 09/05 and to the satisfaction of 
West Yorkshire Police and the local authority.  The system must record images clearly 
and these recordings be retained for a minimum of 31 days.  If the equipment is 
inoperative the police and local authority must be informed as soon as possible and 
immediate steps taken to make the system operative.  Notices must be displayed at the 
entrances advising that CCTV is in operation. 

 
24.7  Due to the nature of these premises, which are attractive to children, applicants who 

employ staff to supervise the premises should consult with the Independent Safeguarding 
Authority to determine if their staff need to be CRB checked. 

 
24.8  The council will also expect, as per the Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants 

demonstrate: 
 

 A full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible 

 That the gaming offered is within the law. 
 
24.9  In line with the Act, while the council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit, the 

council can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that the issues raised in the 
“Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the application. 

  
24.10  Applicants only need to address the “Statement of Principles” when making their initial 

applications and not at renewal time.  
 
24.11  There are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which the permit holder must comply. 

The conditions in the Act are: 
 

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which 
the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed on 
the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in 
the premises on the day that it is played; 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non‐monetary prize); and 

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.  

 

Page 318



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 31 

25.  Club gaming and club machine permits 
 
25.1  Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes may apply for a ‘club gaming permit’ or a 

‘club machine permit’. The ‘club gaming permit’ will enable the premises to provide 
gaming machines (three machines of categories B4, C or D), equal chance gaming. i.e. 
poker, bingo etc. A ‘club machine permit’ will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (three machines of categories B4, C or D). Commercial clubs may apply for a ‘club 
machine permit’ only. 

 
25.2  To qualify for these special club permits a members club must have at least 25 members 

and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming.  A 
members’ club must be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, 
and controlled by its members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of 
the Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations. 

  
25.3  Clubs must have regard to the protection of children and vulnerable persons from harm or 

being exploited by gambling.  They must provide sufficient measures to ensure that under 
18 year olds do not use the adult only gaming machines.   These measures may include: 

 

 the machines being in close proximity to the bar, or in any other area where they are 
capable of being adequately supervised 

 notices and signage  

 the provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
25.4  Before granting the permit the council will need to satisfy itself that the premises meets 

the requirements of a members’ club and that the majority of members are over 18. 
 
25.5  The council may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 
 

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or 
miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit 
for which they have applied; 

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons; 
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 

applicant while providing gaming facilities; 
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or 
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.  

 
25.6  There is also a ‘fast‐track’ procedure available for premises which hold a club premises 

certificate under the Licensing Act 2003. Under the fast‐track procedure there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the ground 
upon which the council can refuse a permit is reduced. The grounds on which an 
application under the process may be refused are: 

 
(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, 
(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 

gaming; or 

Page 319



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 32 

(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last 
ten years has been cancelled. 

 
26.   Temporary use notices 
 
26.1  Temporary use notices allow the use of premises on not more than 21 days in any 12 

month period for gambling where there is no premises licence but where a gambling 
operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. 
Premises that might be useful for a temporary use notice would include hotels, conference 
centres and sporting venues. 

 
26.2  Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for any form of equal chance gambling 

where those participating in the gaming are taking part in a competition whish is intended 
to produce a single, overall winner. 

 
26.3  Only persons or companies holding a relevant operating licence can apply for a temporary 

use notice to authorise the particular class of gambling permitted by their operating 
licence. 

 
26.4  A temporary use notice must be lodged with the licensing authority not less than three 

months and one day before the day on which the gambling is due to take place. Detailed 
information about how to serve a temporary use notice will be available in a separate 
guidance note.     

 
26.5  The Act makes a special reference, in the context of temporary use notices, to a “set of 

premises” to try and ensure that large premises which cannot reasonably be viewed as 
separate are not used for more temporary use notices than permitted under the Act. The 
council considers that the determination of what constitutes “a set of premises” will be a 
question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given. In considering 
whether a place falls within the definition of a “set of premises”, the council will look at, 
amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the premises. The council 
will be ready to object to notices where it appears that their effect would be to permit 
regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of premises. 

 
27.   Occasional use notices (for tracks) 
 
27.1  There is a special provision in the Act which provides that where there is betting on a track 

on eight days or less in a calendar year, betting may be permitted by an occasional use 
notice without the need for a full premises licence. Track operators and occupiers need to 
be aware that the procedure for applying for an occasional use notice is different to that 
for a temporary use notice.   The application may be made in writing, to the council by the 
person responsible for the administration of the events on a track or by an occupier of the 
track. 
 

27.2 The council has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring that the 
statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. The council will however 
consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is entitled to benefit from 
such notice. 

 

Page 320



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 33 

 
28.   Small society lottery registrations 
 
28.1  A lottery generally refers to schemes under which prizes are distributed by chance among 

entrants who have given some form of value for their chance to take part. 
 
28.2  The Act creates two principal classes of lotteries: Licensed lotteries and exempt lotteries. 

Licensed lotteries are large society lotteries and lotteries run for the benefit of local 
authorities. These will be regulated by the Gambling Commission. Within the class of 
exempt lotteries there are four sub classes, one of which is small society lotteries.  

 
28.3  A small society lottery is a lottery promoted on behalf of a non‐commercial society as 

defined in the Act which also meets specific financial requirements set out in the Act. 
These will be administered by the council for small societies who have a principal office in 
Leeds and want to run such lottery.  

 
28.4  A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on sale in a single lottery is £20,000 or less 

and the aggregate value of the tickets put on sale in a calendar year is £250,000 or less.   
 
28.5   To be ‘non‐commercial’ a society must be established and conducted: 
 

 for charitable purposes, 

 for the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or a cultural 
activity; or 

 for any other non‐commercial purpose other than that of private gain. 
 

28.6  The other types of exempt lotteries are ‘incidental non‐commercial lotteries’, ‘private 
lotteries’ and ‘customer lotteries’. If you require guidance on the different categories of 
lotteries please contact the council. 

 
28.7  The National lottery is not licensed by the Gambling Act 2005 and continues to be 

regulated by the National Lottery Commission under the National Lottery Act 1993.    

Page 321



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 34 

   

Part E Enforcement 

 
29.    Enforcement principles 
 
29.1  The council will work closely with the responsible authorities in accordance with a locally 

established joint enforcement protocol and will aim to promote the licensing objectives by 
targeting known high risk premises following government guidance around better 
regulation. 
 

29.2  In carrying out its enforcement duties with regards to the inspection of premises; and the 
powers to institute criminal proceedings in respect of certain offences under the Act the 
council will endeavour to be: 
 
proportionate:  regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies should 

be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised; 
accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public 

scrutiny; 
consistent:      rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; 
transparent:    regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 

friendly; and 
targeted:    regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side 

effects. 
 
29.3  The council will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 

possible.   
 
29.4  Where there is a Primary Authority scheme in place, the council will seek guidance from 

the Primary Authority before taking any enforcement action.  At the time of the publication 
of this policy there were four Primary Authority arrangements with host local authorities: 

 
  Coral       London Borough of Newham 
  William Hill     City of Westminster 
  Ladbrokes     Milton Keynes 

Paddy Power     Reading 
 
29.5  Further information, including an index of all Primary Authority arrangements can be found 

at https://primaryauthorityregister.info/par/index.php/home 
 
29.4  The council will also adopt a risk‐based inspection programme in line with government 

recommendations around better regulation and the principles of the Hampton Review.   
 

Page 322



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 35 

29.5  The main enforcement and compliance role for the council in terms of the Gambling Act 
2005 will be to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other permissions which 
it authorises. The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the operator and 
personal licences. Concerns about the manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines 
will not be dealt with by the council but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. In 
circumstances where the council believes a premises requires a premises licence for 
gambling activities and no such licence is in force, the council will alert the Gambling 
Commission.  

   
29.6  The council will also keep itself informed of developments as regards the work of the 

Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory functions of local 
authorities. 

 
29.7  The council’s enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available 

upon request.  
 
30.   Reviews 
 
30.1  A review is a process defined in the legislation which ultimately leads to a licence being 

reassessed by the Licensing Committee with the possibility that the licence may be 
revoked, suspended or that conditions may amended or new conditions added. 

  
30.2  Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 

responsible authorities; however, it is for the council to decide whether the review is to be 
carried‐out. This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is:  

 
i) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
ii) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission  
iii) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 
iv) in accordance with this authority’s Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Licensing 

Policy. 
 
  In addition the council may also reject the application on the grounds that the request is 

frivolous, vexatious, will certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter, revoke or 
suspend the licence, or is substantially the same as previous representations or requests 
for review.  

 
30.3  The council can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks 

is appropriate. 

Page 323



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 36 

 

Appendix 1  Gaming machines 

 
This appendix describes the categories of gaming machine as set out in the Act (and in regulations) 
and the number of such machines that may be permitted in each type of gambling premises.  
 

 Table 1 below sets out the current proposals for the different categories with the 
maximum stakes and prizes that will apply. This table will be updated as soon as the 
proposals are confirmed. 

 

 Table 2 overleaf shows the maximum number of machines permitted and in the case of 
casinos the ratios between tables and machines. 

 
Table 1 

Category of machine  Maximum Stake  Maximum Prize 

A  Unlimited  Unlimited 

B1  £5  £10,000 (with the option of a 
max £20,000 linked progressive 
jackpot on a premises basis only) 

1B2  £100  £500 

B3  £2  £500 

B3A  £2  £500 

B4  £2  £400 

C  £1  £100 

D – money prize  10p  £5 

D – non‐money prize  
(other than a crane grab machine) 

30p  £8 

D – non‐money prize (crane grab machine)  £1  £50 

D – combined money and non‐money prize 
(other than a coin pusher or penny falls 
machine) 

10p  £8 (of which no more than £5 
may be a money prize) 

D – combined money and non‐money prize 
(coin pusher or penny falls machine) 

20p  £15 (of which no more than £8 
may be a money prize) 

                                                      
1 The category B2 is not actually a traditional slot machine. It refers to a type of gaming 
machine known as a fixed odds betting terminal (FOBTs). These are a new type of gaming 
machine which generally appear in licensed bookmakers. FOBTs have ‘touch-screen’ displays 
and look similar to quiz machines familiar in pubs and clubs. They normally offer a number of 
games, roulette being the most popular. 

Page 324



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 37 

Table 2 

  Machine category

Premises Type  A B1  B2 B3 B4  C  D

Large casino (machine/ 
table ratio of 5‐1 
up to maximum)  

 

Maximum of 150 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A machines), 

within the total limit of 150 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Small casino 
(machine/table ratio of 
2‐1 up to maximum) 

Maximum of 80 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A machines), 

within the total limit of 80 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Pre‐2005 Act Casinos 
(no machine/table 
ratio) 

Maximum of 20 machines categories B to D (except B3A machines),  
or any number of C or D machines instead 

Betting premises and 
tracks operated by pool 
betting 

 

Maximum of 4 machines categories B2 to D (except B3A machines) 

Bingo Premises1 

 

Maximum of 20% of the 
total number of gaming 
machines which are 
available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or 
B4* 

No limit C or D machines 

Adult gaming centre2 

Maximum of 20% of the 
total number of gaming 
machines which are 
available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or 
B4* 

No limit C or D machines 

Licensed family 
entertainment centre3 

 

 

No limit C or D machines 

Family entertainment 
centre (with permit) 

 
No limit on 
category D 
machines 

Clubs or miners’ 
welfare institutes with 
permits4 

Maximum of 3 machines in categories B3A 
or B4 to D* 

Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises  

 

1 or 2 machines of 
category C or D automatic 

upon notification 

Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises with 
licensed premises 
gaming machine 
permit 

Number of category C‐D 
machines as specified on 

permit 

Travelling fair   
No limit on 
category D 
machines 

  A B1  B2 B3 B4  C  D

 

Page 325



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 38 

 

1.Bingo premises licence are entitled to make available for use a number of category B gaming machines 
not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines on the premises.   Where a premises licence 
was granted before 13 July 2011, they are entitled to make available eight category B gaming machines, or 
20% of the total number of gaming machines, whichever is the greater. Category B machines at bingo 
premises are restricted to sub‐category B3 and B4 machines, but not B3A machines. 
 
2 Adult gaming centres are entitled to make available for use a number of category B gaming machines not 
exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available for use on the premises and 
any number of category C or D machines. Where a premises licence was granted before 13 July 2011, they 
are entitled to make available four category B gaming machines, or 20% of the total number of gaming 
machines, whichever is the greater.  Category B machines at adult gaming centres are restricted to sub‐
category B3 and B4 machines, but not B3A machines. 
 
3.Only premises that are wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines available may hold an 
unlicensed FEC gaming machine permit or an FEC premises licence. Category C machines may only be sited 
within licensed FECs and where an FEC permit is in force. They must be in a separate area to ensure the 
segregation and supervision of machines that may only be played by adults. there is no power for the 
licensing authority to set a limit on the number of machines under the FEC permit. 
 
4.Members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes with a club gaming permit or with a club machine permit, 
are entitled to site a total of three machines in categories B3A to D but only one B3A machine can be sited 
as part of this entitlement.  
 
5. Commercial clubs with club machine or gaming permits are entitled to a total of three machines in 
categories B4 to D. 

Page 326



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 39 

 

Appendix 2  Glossary of terms 

 

Term  Description

ATM  Auto teller machine or cash machine.

Betting  Betting is defined as making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a 
race, competition or other event or process or on the outcome of 
anything occurring or not occurring or on whether anything is or is 
not true. It is irrelevant if the event has already happened or not and 
likewise whether one person knows the outcome or not. (Spread 
betting is not included within this definition). 

Betting Machines /  Bet Receipt 
Terminal 

Betting machines can be described as automated betting terminals 
where people can place bets on sporting events removing the need 
to queue up and place a bet over the counter.  

Bingo  There are essentially two types of bingo: cash bingo, where the 
stakes paid make up the cash prizes that can be won and prize 
bingo, where various forms of prizes can be won, not directly related 
to the stakes paid. 

Book  Running a 'book' is the act of quoting odds and accepting bets on an 
event. Hence the term 'Bookmaker'. 

Casino games  A game of chance, which is not equal chance gaming. Casino games 
includes Roulette and black jack etc. 

Chip   Casinos in the U.K require you to use chips to denote money. They 
are usually purchased and exchanged at a cashier's booth. 

Coin pusher or penny falls 
machine 

A machine of the kind which is neither a money prize machine nor a 
non‐money prize machine 

Crane grab machine  A non‐money prize machine in respect of which every prize which 
can be won consists of an individual physical object (such as a 
stuffed toy) won by a person’s success in manipulating a device 
forming part of the machine so as to separate, and keep separate, 
one or more physical objects from a group of such objects. 

Default condition  These are prescribed in regulations and will be attached to all classes 
of premises licence, unless excluded by the council. 

Equal Chance Gaming  Gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank.

Fixed odds betting  If a gambler is able to establish what the return on a bet will be 
when it is placed, (and the activity is not 'gaming' see below), then it 
is likely to be betting at fixed odds. 

Fixed Odds betting terminals 
(FOBTs) 

FOBTs are a type of gaming machine which generally appear in 
licensed bookmakers. FOBTs have ‘touch‐screen’ displays and look 
similar to quiz machines familiar in pubs and clubs. They normally 
offer a number of games, roulette being the most popular. 

Gaming  Gaming can be defined as 'the playing of a game of chance for 
winnings in money or monies worth, whether any person playing the 
game is at risk of losing any money or monies worth or not'. 

Page 327



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 40 

Term  Description

Gaming Machine  Any type of machine allowing any sort of gambling activity including 
betting on virtual events but not including home computers even 
though users can access online gaming websites.  

Licensing Objectives   The licensing objectives are three principal goals which form the 
basis of the Act. Stakeholders who have an interest in the Act need 
to try and promote these objectives: The licensing objectives are: 

 preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, 
being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime 

 ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling. 

Lottery  A lottery generally refers to schemes under which prizes are 
distributed by chance among entrants who have given some form of 
value for their chance to take part. A lottery is defined as either a 
simple lottery or a complex lottery. A simple lottery is one where 
persons are required to pay to participate and one or more prizes 
are allocated to one or more members of a class and the prizes are 
allocated by a process which relies wholly on chance. A complex 
lottery is where persons are required to pay to participate and one 
or more members of a class and the prizes are allocated by a series 
of processes where the first of those processes relies wholly on 
chance. Prize means money, articles or services provided by the 
members of the class among whom the prize is allocated. (It should 
be noted that the National Lottery is not included in this definition 
of lottery and is regulated by the National Lottery Commission). 

Mandatory condition 
 

A condition which will be set by the Secretary of State (some set out 
in the Act and some to be prescribed by regulations) which will be 
automatically attached to a specific type of premises licence. The 
council will have no discretion to alter or remove these conditions. 

Money prize machine  A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a 
result of using the machine is a money prize. 

Non‐money prize machine A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a 
result of using the machine is a non‐money prize.  The winner of the 
prize is determined by:  

(i) the position in which the coin or token comes to rest after it has 
been inserted into the machine, together with the position of other 
coins or tokens which have previously been inserted into the 
machine to pay a charge for use, or  

(ii) if the insertion of a single coin to pay the charge for use enables 
the person using the machine to release one or more tokens within 
the machine, the position in which such tokens come to rest after 
being released, together with the position of other tokens which 
have previously been so released. 

Page 328



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 41 

 
Term  Description

Odds   The ratio to which a bet will be paid if the bet wins. e.g. 3‐1 means 
for every £1 bet, a person would receive £3 of winnings. 

Off‐course betting operator  Off‐course betting operators may, in addition to premises away from 
the track, operate self contained betting premises within a track 
premises. Such self contained premises will provide facilities for 
betting on both events taking place at the track (on‐course betting), 
as well as other sporting events taking place away from the track 
(off‐course betting). In essence such premises operate like a 
traditional high street bookmakers. They will however only normally 
operate on race days.    

On‐course betting operator  The on‐course betting operator is one who comes onto on a track, 
temporarily, while races are taking place, and operates at the track 
side. On‐course betting operators tend to offer betting only on the 
events taking place on the track that day (on‐course betting). 

Pool Betting  For the purposes of the Gambling Act, pool betting is made on terms 
that all or part of the winnings: 1) Shall be determined by reference 
to the aggregate of the stakes paid or agreed to be paid by the 
persons betting 2) Shall be divided among the winners or 3) Shall or 
may be something other than money. For the purposes of the 
Gambling Act, pool betting is horse‐race pool betting if it relates to 
horse‐racing in Britain. 

Regulations or Statutory 
instruments 

Regulations are a form of law, often referred to as delegated or 
secondary legislation. They have the same binding legal effect as 
Acts and usually state rules that apply generally, rather than to 
specific persons or things. However, regulations are not made by 
Parliament. Rather, they are made by persons or bodies to whom 
Parliament has delegated the authority to make them, such as a 
minister or an administrative agency. 

Representations  In the context of the Gambling Act representations are either 
positive statements of support or negative objections which are 
made in relation to a licensing application. Representations must be 
made in time, e.g. during a designated notice period.     

Responsible authority 
(authorities) 

Responsible authorities (RAs) are agencies which have been 
appointed by the Gambling Act or regulations to fulfil a designated 
role during the licensing process. RAs must be sent copies of all 
licensing applications and have the power to make representations 
about such applications. RAs also have the power to ask for licences 
to be reviewed. For Leeds the RAs include West Yorkshire Police, The 
local Safeguarding Children Board, Leeds City Council’s Development 
Department as well as several others.    

Page 329



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 42 

 
Term  Description

Skill machine / Skill with prizes 
machine 

The Act does not cover machines that give prizes as a result of the
application of pure skill by players. A skill with prizes machine is one 
on which the winning of a prize is determined only by the player’s 
skill – any element of chance imparted by the action of the machine 
would cause it to be a gaming machine. An example of a skill game 
would be trivia game machines, popular in pubs and clubs, which 
require the player to answer general knowledge questions to win 
cash prizes. 

Spread betting  A form of investing which is more akin to betting, and can be applied 
either to sporting events or to the financial markets. Spread betting 
is regulated by the Financial Services Authority. 

Stake  The amount pledged when taking part in gambling activity as either 
a bet, or deposit to the bank or house where the house could be a 
gaming machine.  

Statement of principles 
document 

A document prepared by the council which outlines the areas that 
applicants need to consider before applying for gaming permits.  

Table gaming  Card games played in casinos.

Tote   "Tote" is short for Totaliser, a system introduced to Britain in 1929 
to offer pool betting on racecourses.   

Track  Tracks are sites (including horse tracks and dog tracks) where races 
or other sporting events take place. Examples of tracks within the 
Leeds district would be Elland Road Football ground and Headingley 
Stadium.  

 

Page 330



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 43 

A  

Appendix 3  Summary of gaming entitlements for clubs and pubs 

 

  Members’ club 
or MW institute 
with club gaming 
permit 

Bridge or whist 
club 

Members’ club 
or commercial 
club with club 
machine permit 

Members’ club, 
commercial club 
or MW institute 
without a club 
gaming permit 

Pubs and other 
alcohol‐licensed 
premises 

Equal chance 
gaming 

Yes  Bridge and/or 
whist only 

Yes Yes Yes 

Limits on stakes  No limit  No limit Poker
£1000 per week 
£250 per day 
£10 per person 
per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Poker
£1000 per week 
£250 per day 
£10 per person 
per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Cribbage & 
dominoes 
No limit 
 
Poker 
£100 per 
premises per day 
 
Other gaming 
£5 per person 
per game 

Limits on prizes  No limit  No limit Poker
£250 per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Poker
£250 per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Poker 
£100 per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Maximum 
participation 
fees – per 
person per day 

Bridge and/or 
whist* 
£20 
 
Other gaming 
£3 

£18 (without 
club gaming 
permit) 
 
£20 (with club 
gaming permit) 

Bridge and/or 
whist* 
£18 
 
Other gaming 
£3 (commercial 
club) 
£1 (members 
club) 

Bridge and/or 
whist* 
£18 
 
Other gaming 
£1 

None permitted
 

Bankers or 
unequal chance 
gaming 

Pontoon 
Chemin de Fer 

None permitted None permitted
 

None permitted  None permitted

Limits on bingo  Maximum of 
£2,000 per week 
in stakes/prizes.  
If more then will 
need an 
operating 
licence. 

No bingo 
permitted 

Maximum of 
£2,000 per week 
in stakes/prizes.  
If more then will 
need an 
operating 
licence. 

Maximum of 
£2,000 per week 
in stakes/prizes.  
If more then will 
need an 
operating 
licence. 

Maximum of 
£2,000 per week 
in stakes/prizes.  
If more then will 
need an 
operating 
licence. 

 
* On a day when no other facilities for gaming are provided 
 
 

Page 331



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 44 

A  

Appendix 4  Large Casino 

 
The current status of the Large Casino is that a premises licence has been granted.  The following 
process will apply should the current licence cease to exist because it has either been surrendered 
or revoked. 
 
1.  Background 
 
1.1  The Act introduces three new categories of casino; one regional casino, eight large casinos 

and eight small casinos.  In 2006 the council submitted a proposal for a regional and large 
casino to the Casino Advisory Panel.   

 
1.2  On 15th May 2008 the Categories of Casino Regulation 2008 and the Gambling 

(Geographical Distribution of Large and Small Casino Premises Licences) Order 2008 was 
approved.  This specified which licensing authorities could issue premises licences for large 
and small casinos.  Leeds City Council was authorised to issue a large casino premises 
licence. 

 
1.3  On 26th February 2008 the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport issued the Code 

of Practice on Determinations Relating to Large and Small Casinos (Code of Practice).  The 
council will comply with this Code which sets out: 

 
a. the procedure to be followed in making any determinations required under Paragraphs 

4 and 5 of Schedule 9 to the Gambling Act 2005 and 
b. matters to which the Licensing Authority should have regard in making these 

determinations. 
 
1.4  The council recognises that applicants may either apply for a casino premises licence or a 

provisional statement.  As for all premises licences, applicants for a casino premises licence 
must fulfil certain criteria in that they must: 

 
a. hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission; and 
b. have the right to occupy the premises in question. 

 
1.5  Should an applicant be unable to meet these two criteria they should apply for a 

provisional statement. 
 
1.6  Unless otherwise specified, any reference to the application and procedures for a premises 

licence for a casino in the following parts of this section will also include the application 
and procedures for a provisional statement for a casino. 

 
1.7  Where a provisional statement application is successful, the council may limit the period of 

time for which the statement will have effect.  This period may be extended if the applicant 
so applies. 

 

Page 332



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 45 

1.8  The council will ensure that any pre‐existing contract, arrangement or other relationship 
with a company or individual does not affect the procedure for assessing applications so as 
to make it unfair or perceived to be unfair to any applicant. 

 
1.9  In making a decision on both stages the council will take heed of any current Codes of 

Practice, current Regulations and guidance issued by the Secretary of State for the 
Department of Culture, Media and Sport and the Gambling Commission. 

 
1.10  The council has not passed a “no casino” resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 

2005, but is aware that it has the power to do so.  It may choose to exercise this option 
should there be only one application for a large casino premises licence or should, where 
there is more than one application, those applications fail to meet the council’s aspirations 
for benefit for the Leeds metropolitan area.  Should the council decide in the future to pass 
such a resolution, it will update this policy with details of that resolution and any such 
decision will be made by full Council. 

 
1.11  As per Part 8, Section 210 of the Gambling Act 2005 the council will not have regard to 

whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to be permitted in accordance with the 
law relating to planning or building and any licensing decision will not constrain any later 
decision by the council under the law relating to planning or building. 

 
1.12  The council does not have a preferred location for the new large casino. Applicants can 

submit proposals for any site or location within the Leeds metropolitan area and each will 
be judged on its own individual merits. 

   
2.  Application Process 
 
Stage 1 
 
2.1  The council will publish an invitation calling for applications.  This invitation will be 

published in a trade newspaper, journal or similar publication.  It will state the latest date 
the application must be made and the place from which a person may obtain an 
application pack. 

 
2.2  The part of the application pack which relates to stage 1 will include, as a minimum, the 

following: 

 Guidance for applicants 

 Application form for Stage 1 

 Example notices 
 

2.3  With regard to stage 1 of the application process, the general principles as stated in Part C 
of this gambling policy will apply to all applications. 
 

2.4  At stage 1 the Licensing Committee or sub‐committee, will determine, if there are valid 
representations, which applications would be granted if they were able to grant more than 
one application. 
 

2.5  At stage 1, the council will not consider whether any of the applications is more deserving 
of being granted. 

Page 333



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 46 

Stage 2 
 
2.6  Should more than one applicant pass through stage 1, the process will proceed to the 

second stage with each successful applicant being invited to submit information about how 
their application would, if granted, benefit the area. 

 
2.7  The part of the application pack which relates to stage 2 will include, as a  minimum, the 

following: 

 Stage 2 evaluation methodology, including scoring matrix 

 Details of current Licensing Committee 

 Details of the Advisory Panel 

 Terms of reference for Advisory Panel 

 Example Schedule 9 agreement 

 Glossary 

 Vision for Leeds 2011 to 2030 
 
2.8  At stage 2, the procedure will follow the DCMS Code of Practice.  However, the Code leaves 

individual councils to determine the detail of their own procedure. 
 
2.9  The council will not bear any abortive costs of the unsuccessful applicants and their 

participation in all phases of the licence process is conducted entirely at the applicants risk. 
 
Advisory Panel 
 
2.10  It is recognised that the Licensing Committee does not necessarily have specialised 

expertise required to fully evaluate each application.  It will seek professional expertise 
from officers of the council.  Where this expertise is not available, it may seek independent 
expertise from outside the council. 

 
2.11  For this purpose, the Licensing Committee will appoint a non‐statutory panel to assist it in 

the evaluation of the stage 2 application process.  This panel will be called the “Advisory 
Panel”.  The Advisory Panel will evaluate each application using the evaluation 
methodology and scoring provided in the application pack. 

 
2.12  To ensure there are no conflicts of interest, applicants will be provided with a list of 

Advisory Panel members.  Where objections are made, it will be necessary to give details of 
the substance of such objection.  These objections will be considered by the Licensing 
Committee before the evaluation of stage 2 applications commence. 

 
2.13  The Advisory Panel will engage in discussions with each second stage applicant with a view 
  to the particulars of an application being refined, supplemented or otherwise altered so as 
  to maximise the benefits to the Leeds metropolitan area that would result from it (were it 
  granted). 
 
2.14  The Advisory Panel will report its findings to the Licensing Committee.  The report will be 

made available to the applicant before being submitted to ensure that the information 
provided within it is accurate.  Should the applicant disagree with the evaluation, this will 
be noted and reported to the Licensing Committee, together with any necessary changes 
to the Advisory Panel’s report. 

Page 334



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 47 

 
2.15  The Licensing Committee will consider all the applications at Stage 2, and the report of the 

Advisory Panel.  They will evaluate the proposals, in line with the principles below and 
determine which application, if granted, is likely to result in the greatest benefit to the 
area.  This will involve an evaluation both of the benefits and the likelihood of their 
delivery. 

 
2.16  The Licensing Committee will instruct officers to complete negotiations on any written 

agreements made under Paragraph 5(3)(b) of Schedule 9 of the Act.  Once the negotiations 
have been completed officers will report to Licensing Committee who will then grant the 
licence to the successful applicant and reject the remaining applications. 

 
2.17  In line with paragraph 5.7.4 of the Code of Practice, in determining the principles the 

council intends to apply in making any determination for a casino premises licence, the 
council has had specific regard to the following: 

 
a. The financial and other contribution a second stage applicant proposes to make to the 

Leeds metropolitan area, 
b. The likely effects of an application on employment, the local economy and 

regeneration within the authority’s area, 
c. Whether, and the extent to which, the benefits offered are pursuant to an agreement 

under paragraph 5(3)(b) of Schedule 9 or otherwise. 
 
2.18  In line with paragraph 3.3 of the Code of Practice, in determining the principles the council 

intend to apply at Stage 2, it disregarded the existence of any contract, arrangement or 
other relationship already in place; and will 

 put in place arrangements to ensure that any such contract, arrangement or other 
relationship does not, actually or apparently, prejudice its ability to conduct the 
procedure fairly; and will 

 prepare a register of interests disclosing their interest in any contract, arrangement or 
other relationship with an applicant or a person connected or associated with an 
applicant.  

 
3.  Principles 
 
3.1  At stage 2 the applicant will be required to state and demonstrate the benefit that they can 

bring to Leeds metropolitan area. 
 
3.2  The council will seek to determine the greatest benefit through the following principles: 
 

Financial  To seek to maximise the financial return to the council. 
Social    To use any financial return accrued to facilitate the delivery    
    of programmes and projects that support the Council’s      
    social and economic inclusion agenda, for the benefit of the    
    Leeds metropolitan area. 
Economic  To secure a positive and significant economic impact for the    
    local economy through the provision of a Large Casino in      
    Leeds. 

 

Page 335



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 48 

4.  Evaluation Criteria 
 
4.1  The council will publish a detailed evaluation methodology, which includes the information 

applicants are required to supply in order to support their application, and the weight that 
will be placed on each criterion.  This evaluation methodology will be included in the 
application pack. 

 
4.2  Applicants should carefully examine the evaluation methodology and tailor their 

application accordingly to ensure that they maximise benefits in accordance with this 
methodology. 

 
4.3  In line with paragraph 5.7.4 of the Code of Practice, and the principles stated at 16.37 of 

this policy, the council has selected the following criteria which they will use to evaluate 
and score applications: 

   
Financial Contribution  This criterion relates to 16.33a and the first and    
        second principles 
Socio‐economic  This criterion relates to 16.33b and the second and third 

principles 
  Risk and deliverability  This criterion relates to 16.33c and all three     

        principles 
 
Financial Contribution 
 
4.4  The council is seeking to identify and quantify the level of financial contribution that could 

be secured for the Leeds metropolitan area.  It is expected that the contribution will 
comprise a mixture of annual payments received from the applicant and a lump sum 
payable upon signing of any agreements and on specified dates and/or events thereafter. 

 
4.5  The financial contribution will be used by the council to establish and maintain the council 

administered Social Inclusion Fund (SIF) which will facilitate the delivery of programmes 
and projects that support the council’s social and economic inclusion agenda, for the 
benefit of the Leeds metropolitan area. 

 
4.6  The financial contribution will be evaluated in terms of its ability to fund a credible and 

sustainable SIF.  As such a mixture of upfront and annual payments is required. 
 
4.7  The scoring of financial contributions will be weighted as follows: 
 

1.0  1.0 Financial Contribution          33% 

1.1  Net Present Value of total financial offer 

1.2  Upfront capital payment paid to the council on completion of the 
Schedule 9 Agreement 

1.3  Net Present Value of annual cash sum offer 

1.4  Credibility of financial assumptions and offer 

 

Page 336



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 49 

4.8  Further detail including the information required, its format and how the submission will 
be evaluated can be found in the evaluation methodology included in the stage 2 
application pack. 

 
Socio‐economic 
 
4.9  The council is seeking to identify and quantify the level of expected net socio‐economic 

benefits that could be secured for the Leeds metropolitan area based on the projected 
gross levels applicants believe their proposals will generate. 

 
4.10  The council will expect to see that the applicant has tailored its proposals specifically to the 

requirements of Leeds through research and detailed assessment of the physical, social 
and economic position as outlined in its vision documents.  These documents will be made 
available in the stage 2 application pack. 

 

4.11  Applicants should have regard to the proposed location of the premises, with regard to 
meeting the licensing objective which seeks to protect children and vulnerable persons 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling.  Applicants will be asked to provide 
information related to the area in which their proposed developed is situated in their 
strategy and vision documents. 

 
4.12  Applicants will be asked to provide information on how their development will impact on 

employment and training, including amongst others, graduate training, NEETs and 
vocational qualifications as well as opportunities for Leeds businesses and the local supply 
chain. 

 
4.13  Applicants must demonstrate a firm commitment to mitigation of negative impacts and 

ensuring residents’ safety and health is not put at risk by the large casino. In particular, 
attention should be focussed on mitigation for the most vulnerable in society and for those 
living closest to the proposed casino and applicants must ensure that problem gambling 
issues do not increase in the Leeds area. Applicants must provide an assessment of the 
social, equality and health impacts of their proposed casino developments and provide 
mitigation plans to minimise and eliminate negative impacts. Applicants should also 
commit to supporting the ongoing monitoring of negative social, equality and health 
impacts of the large casino and make contractual commitments in the schedule 9 
agreement on all mitigation measures proposed. 

 
4.14  The scoring of the socio‐economic benefits will be weighted as follows: 
 

2.0 Socio‐economic            34% 

2.1 Strategy and vision for proposed development 

2.2 Economic Benefits (Gross): 

- Net contribution to local economy (including direct employment 
and GVA) 

- Credibility of economic assumptions 

2.3 Net social impacts 

 

Page 337



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 50 

4.15  Further detail including the information required, its format, data requirements and how 
the submission will be evaluated can be found in the evaluation methodology included in 
the stage 2 application pack. 

 
Risk and deliverability 
 
4.16  At stage 2 the council will assess the risk and deliverability of the proposed scheme.  In 

particular the council will wish to consider what legal and financial assurances there are 
that the proposed development will be delivered within 5 years, and that the promised 
benefits will both materialise and be maintained.  Firm evidence is required that all 
benefits and development proposed can be funded and a contractual obligation with 
penalties for non‐delivery is required. 

 
4.17  The application pack will include a template agreement under paragraph 5(3)(b) of 

Schedule 9 to the 2005 Act (‘a schedule 9 agreement’).  Such an agreement will be 
negotiated with the applicants during the stage 2 evaluation process.  This agreement will 
include a list of the benefits proposed, along with delivery targets and details of the 
penalties for non‐delivery.  Applications where the benefits, including delivery of the 
development itself, are made subject of contractual obligation and where the applicant 
provides damages for non‐delivery are likely to receive greater weight in the evaluation 
process. 

 
4.18  The council is aware that the casino application may form part of a wider development 

proposal or be a new development. A casino development with firm contractual 
commitment to be fully operational within a 5 year timescale with proof of funding and 
with meaningful payment proposed for late or non‐delivery will score more highly than a 
casino development that is not supported by a contractual commitment and/or meaningful 
payments for late or non‐delivery and/or proof of funding.  Any part of a wider 
development proposal which is not directly required for the delivery of the casino will 
score more highly if the applicant commits to completing the wider development within a 
5 year timescale, proposes meaningful payment for late or non‐delivery and provides proof 
of funding.  These commitments will be contained within the schedule 9 agreement and 
the five year timescale will start from the signing of the schedule 9 agreement. Applicants 
must demonstrate that all development proposals are credible. 

 
4.19  The scoring of risk and deliverability will be weighted as follows: 
 

3.0 Risk and deliverability          33% 

3.1 Contents of the Schedule 9 Agreement 

3.2 Deliverability: 

- Financing 

- Financial Standing 

- Right to occupy the site/premises 

- Credibility of approach to implementation 

 

Page 338



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 51 

4.20  Further detail including the information required, its format and how the submission will 
be evaluated can be found in the evaluation methodology included in the stage 2 
application pack along with a template schedule 9 agreement. 

 

Page 339



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016‐2018            Page | 52 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Produced by 
Entertainment Licensing 

Leeds City Council 
Civic Hall 
Leeds 
LS1 1UR 

 
Tel: 0113 247 4095 
Fax: 0113 224 3885 

 
Email: entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk 

Web: www.leeds.gov.uk 

Page 340



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Citizens and Communities Service area: Entertainment Licensing 

 
Lead person: Susan Holden 
 

Contact number: 0113 395 1863 

 
1. Title:  
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 the Licensing Authority is required to 
prepare a statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their 
functions under this Act.  This process is to be repeated every three years from 31st 
January 2007.   
 
The consultation process is laid out clearly in the Gambling Act 2005, the Gambling 
Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement)(England and Wales) Regulations 
2006 and the Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission 
(www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk). 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Appendix B 

Page 341



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

Page 342



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The concerns relate to gambling and vulnerable people.  Vulnerable is defined in the policy as: 
 
The Gambling Commission, in its Guidance to Local Authorities, does not seek to offer a definition for the 
term “vulnerable people” but will, for regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people: 
 
“who gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means, elderly persons, and people 
who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental impairment, 
or because of the influence of alcohol or drugs.” 
 
The Department of Health document “No Secrets” offers a definition of a  vulnerable adult as a person: 
 
“who is or may be in need of community care services by reason of mental or other disability, age or 
illness; and who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself, or unable to protect him or herself 
against significant harm or exploitation.” 
 
Vulnerable people, especially the elderly, people with disabilities, people who are ill can be 
considered at protected characteristics and have been forefront when reviewing the policy. 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The impact on vulnerable people specifically relates to gambling premises which are embedded 
within the community such as betting shops and adult gaming centres.  Betting shops in particular 
are plentiful and on every high street.  They also have fixed odds betting terminals which are 
considered to be highly addictive gaming machines, offering casino style games.  The increase in 
the availability of these machines is of concern nationally.  Additional requirements under the 
Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) seek to address risks 
to vulnerable people.   
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
This is the fourth review of the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy.  At this review 
the council does not seek to remove any of the protections included in other versions of the 
policy.  It does seek to include additional requirements on licence applicants to consider their 
local area when making their application and for all existing gambling premises to undertake a 
similar review.  These measures are included in  paragraph 13.10, on page 17 of the policy, 
onwards. 
 
 

Page 343



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Nicola Raper 
 

Section Head 
Entertainment Licensing 

16th March 2015 

Date screening completed 16th March 2015 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 16th March 2015 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 344



Report of Assistant Chief Executive – Citizens and Communities

Report to Executive Board

Date: 21 October 2015                              

Subject: Equality Update; Improvement Priorities 2016 – 2020, and the Equality 
Framework Reaccreditation

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes x  No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

x  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? x   Yes    No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes x  No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. The Equality Improvement Priorities 2011-15 have been reviewed.  As a result of 
this the Equality Improvement Priorities 2016 - 2020 have been produced.  These 
continue to ensure that the council meets its legal duties under the Equality Act 
2010.  

2. The priorities have been developed to compliment the Best Council Plan priorities 
and help to underpin our renewed ambition to be a compassionate city with a strong 
economy, thereby tackling the range of inequalities that still exist.

3. The Equality Improvement Priorities are encompassed in a standalone document, 
but also form a part of the Equality Action Paper and are linked to and referenced 
within the Best Council Plan.

4. The council attained Excellence of the Equality Framework for Local Government in 
2011.  To gain reaccreditation a self-assessment, narrative and supporting 
evidence have been produced.

5. Assessment of the council against the Equality Framework is via a desk top 
exercise and peer assessment which will take place in November 2015.
 

Report author:  Anne McMaster
Tel:  0113 39 50432

Page 345

Agenda Item 14



Recommendations

Executive Board is recommended to:

 Note the contents of this report;

 Note the contents of the Equality Framework narrative, and that an update 

on the outcome and actions arising will be provided in spring 2016, and;

 Endorse the Equality Improvement Priorities 2016-20, and note that annual 

reports will be provided on progress against these.

 

Page 346



1 Purpose of this report
1.1 This report sets out the approach taken to develop the Equality Improvement 

Priorities 2016 - 20 and how these support the ambitions of the city.
1.2 It also outlines the plans for reassessment of the council against the Equality 

Framework for Local Government at excellent level (the highest available).

2 Background information
2.1 Compliance with the Equality Act 2010 includes a specific duty to develop equality 

priorities which are reviewed every 4 years.  The specific duty requires local 
authorities to:

 publish accessible information outlining the equality analysis which has taken 
place to inform equality objectives;

 engage with people who have an interest in furthering the aims of the general 
equality duty; and

 demonstrate progress against equality objectives for both employment and 
service delivery.

2.2 To develop the equality improvement priorities consideration has been given to 
understanding the nature of any disproportional outcome on different groups 
covered by equality legislation.  This information is included in the Equality Action 
Paper at Appendix 1.  Appendix 2 summarises the equality improvement priorities 
for the council for 2016-20, and Appendix 3 shows which of these have been 
retained from 2011-15.  

2.3 Progress has been reported on an annual basis against the 2011-15 priorities, 
and this year’s Annual Update is included in the Equality Action Paper.  In addition 
to progress, it shows the consultation which has taken place in order to inform the 
current priorities, and the specific equality analysis which underpins why these are 
areas to focus on.  

2.4 The information contained within the Annual Update was informed by the 
evidence which has been collected for the reaccreditation against the Equality 
Framework.  The Equality Framework narrative is at Appendix 4.

2.5 The Equality Framework narrative is supported by a self-assessment and the 
storyboards, some of which are also included in the Annual Update.  

2.6 Re assessment of the Equality Framework will take place 25 -26 November.  The 
peer assessors will consider the evidence provided and will conduct a series of 
interviews and focus groups whilst here, as well as attending some or all of the 
Equality Assembly conference on 26 November.

2.7 The outcome of the reaccreditation is expected in January 2016.  The Assistant 
Chief Executive is leading on this work and will provide Executive Board with 
information about the outcome of the accreditation and an evaluation of further 
work that the council is taking forward as a result of any feedback.  This will be in 
spring 2016.

Page 347



3 Main issues
3.1 Many of the Equality Improvement Priorities 2011-15 have been retained into 

2016 -20; these are showing progress and continue to be areas of focus.  
Appendix 3 shows these.  There are a number of these which are specifically 
highlighted below to provide additional information in relation to their continuation 
as priorities:  

   To develop a skilled and diverse workforce – there has been little 
change in the outcomes for people with protected characteristics.  
There has been a move to focus on the culture of the organisation so that 
we are more of an employer of choice when we are recruiting.  Work 
continues to provide direction and to address this area.  The commitment 
and challenge is being strongly led by the Corporate Leadership Team.

    Domestic Violence –  is a major social issue which is systemically 
entrenched within generations of family groups and as such there is a need 
to be constantly re-evaluating our response to the crime type. There is a 
need to fully understand the changing nature of domestic violence and 
abuse in Leeds, particularly within the context of constantly changing 
demographics. Domestic violence has now been identified as a top priority 
for LCC and as such is one of seven breakthrough projects and significant 
work is taking place, with partners, to address this at a city wide and 
council level. Its prioritisation is critical at this time.

    Hate Crime – has seen a slight rise in reported incidents over the last 
year.  This is seen as a sign of success in improving confidence in the 
systems and therefore increased reporting.  In addition to increasing 
reporting the focus is on decreasing repeat incidents. The reports have 
been predominantly in relation to race, but also include incidents against 
disabled people, LGB T, people of faith, and transgender people.  Race 
hate crime in Leeds is complex and reflects the changing nature of 
communities and some of the tensions therein.  The current Hate Crime 
Strategy for Leeds was developed in 2014 and this outlines the approach 
taken to challenge, report and stop hate crime.   

    Understand the context and impact of migration on Leeds – Leeds is a 
diverse and ever changing city.  We want to ensure that we take all 
possible steps to meet the needs of new communities and build 
sustainable and strong communities.  There is an increased focus on this 
area due to the international position and reduced funding

    Financial hardship – the current economic climate has meant that there 
are more people facing this position and therefore this is a harder area to 
address.  The Supporting Communities and Tackling Poverty narrative 
outlines all the work which is taking place which should alleviate some of 
the issues.

3.2 The Equality Improvement Priorities is one of the key council documents 
supporting the Best Council Plan.  The plans cover similar time frames, and this 
will facilitate joint reviews.  The priorities set out here will inform the refresh of the 
Best Council Plan for 2016/17 which itself will have a clear overarching aim of 
tackling inequalities.    

Page 348



3.3 The Equality Improvement Priorities and the Equality Framework information were 
welcomed by the Citizens and Communities Scrutiny Board on 14 September, 
and the following points made:

   that further work is still needed to create a diverse workforce and 
particularly in relation to improving opportunities to progress to 
middle and senior levels in the organisation,

   the drop in the Stonewall Champions Index was noted and the Board 
were pleased that the council is continuing to engage with this 
process.

3.4 The Scrutiny Board also considered the learning outcome in relation to those 
receiving free school meals and reflected the need for this to be broader and take 
eligibility criteria into account.  There was also a request for a specific focus on 
Children Looked After.  Both these areas are fully covered in the Children and 
Young Peoples Plan 2015-19, and the Equality Improvement Priorities provides a 
brief and focussed picture of work being undertaken.

3.5 In addition the following suggestions were made and are being considered/taken 
forward separately:

 consider providing a sign language interpreter at Full Council 
meetings;

 consider the feasibility of undertaking comparator research involving 
other large employers within the city in relation to income inequality, 
and;

 ensure that Parks and Countryside programme of works take account 
of inclusive design principles.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 
4.1.1 Extensive public consultation has taken place on major pieces of work including 

the Beset City Priorities and budget setting.  Both these have been used to inform 
the priorities as have service specific consultations which continue to take place.  
All information is recorded in TalkingPoint so that there can be easy and shared 
learning.

4.1.2 As part of the localisation agenda more conversations are happening locally and 
these are being used to shape and inform further and future work.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
4.2.1 The Equality Improvement Priorities are in place to provide focus to address 

issues of inequality.  They are based on evidence of disproportionate outcomes, 
which we are seeking to challenge and change.

4.2.2 The tools and mechanisms that the council use will continue to play a pivotal role 
in identifying and addressing inequality and these priorities form one part of this 

Page 349



approach.  Equality Impact Assessments continue to take place and will inform 
further developments in each of these priorities.

4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan
4.3.1 The Equality Improvement Priorities sit with the council priorities and are an 

integral part of the renewed ambition to be a compassionate city and to tackle 
inequalities in the city

4.4 Resources and value for money 
4.4.1 There are no additional resource implications arising from this report.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
4.5.1 Developing and publishing our 4 year Equality Improvement Priorities is in 

compliance with the Equality Act 2010
4.5.2  This report does not contain any confidential or exempted information and is 

  subject to call in.

4.6 Risk Management
4.6.1 Any risks associated with specific priorities are addressed as part of service 

delivery.  
4.6.2 The risk to the council in not developing 4 yearly equality priorities and/or not 

publishing these is that we will be in breach of the Equality Act 2010

5 Conclusions
5.1 The Equality Improvement Priorities have been developed following a robust 

process and will help the council to focus on areas of disproportionality and tackle 
inequalities

6 Recommendations
6.1        Executive Board is recommended to:

 Note the contents of this report;
 Note the contents of the Equality Framework narrative, and that an update 

on the outcome and actions arising will be provided in spring 2016, and;
 Endorse the Equality Improvement Priorities 2016-20, and note that annual 

reports will be provided on progress against these.

7  Background documents1 

7.1 Self assessment for Equality Framework for Local Government
7.2 Supporting storyboards for Equality Framework for Local Government

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 350



 

1 
 

  

 

 

Leeds - the Compassionate City: tackling inequalities 

 

 

Equality Action 

 

 

 

Equality Progress 2011 – 2015 

Equality Improvement Priorities 2016 – 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 351



 

2 
 

 

 

Contents 

This annual report is in 3 sections: 

 

 

Section 1 Introduction and context of Leeds 
 

Page 3 

Section 2 Progress against equality improvement priorities 
2011-2015.  This is a look back at what we have 
achieved in the last 4 years.  It cannot include 
everything we have done, but gives a flavour, and 
indication of direction of travel.  Where the equality 
improvement priorities are being continued for 2016-
20, detailed information about these are included in 
section 3 rather than repeated in this section 

 

Page 8 

 Summary of equality improvement priorities 2011-
2015 
 

Page 26 

Section 3 Equality Improvement Priorities 2016– 2020.  This 
outlines the equality areas that we will be focussing on 
in the future.  It includes the rationale for each area, 
and how we will know we have made a difference. 
 

Page 28 

 
 

Summary of our Equality Improvement Priorities 
2016-2020 
 

Page 58 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 352



 

3 
 

Section 1 
 

Introduction and Context of Leeds 
 
 
Setting the Scene 

“Our vision is for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring city that helps 
all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic growth. 

We will focus on creating the right conditions for the economy in Leeds 
to prosper and, hand in hand with that, ensure a consequence of that 

growth is a reduction in the inequalities that exist in Leeds.”  
(Cllr Blake and Tom Riordan 2015) 

 
We are committed to making equality a reality for all the citizens of Leeds.  Leeds will 
be a city where people are able to recognise, value and embrace diversity and 
difference. We will support people from different backgrounds and ages to feel 
comfortable living together in communities. We will work with organisations across 
Leeds to promote a clear and consistent message that prejudicial views or behaviour 
that could result in hate incidents or crimes are not tolerated or condoned. We will 
work with communities to ensure people are treated with dignity and respect and the 
causes of unfairness are understood and addressed. 
 
We will ensure that we show kindness, and empathise with the difficult situations 
people find themselves in.  We will do what we can to work with them to help them 
alleviate these. 
 
In our aim to be a compassionate city we want to live in an equal society which 
recognises different people’s different needs, situations and goals and removes the 
barriers that limit what people can do and can be 

 
In line with our duties and responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010 we are 
committed to: 
 

 eliminating unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 
 advancing equality of opportunity; and  
 fostering good relations within and between our communities with a view to 

building good community relations 
 
Our equality aims are that: 
 

 all our existing and potential service users are treated with dignity and 
respect; 

 our partnership and contract arrangements promote equality of opportunity; 
 we will work with and between communities to help develop and strengthen 

relationships; 
 our workforce will be reflective of all sections of society; and 
 each employee feels respected and able to give of their best. 

Page 353



 

4 
 

 
We will treat everyone with the same attention, courtesy and respect regardless of: 

 Age,  
 Disability,  
 Race or racial group (including colour, nationality and ethnic origin or national 

origins),  
 Religion or belief,  
 Sex  
 Marriage and Civil Partnership,  
 Gender reassignment,  
 Pregnancy and maternity  
 Sexual orientation,  
 Caring responsibilities,  
 Social class, or  
 Trade union activity.  

 
Leadership 
 
Our strong, visible political leadership and organisational commitment to improving 
our equality outcomes are key drivers in making progress around equality. Our 
leaders have sponsored individual objectives and continue to promote equality and 
diversity through strategic decision making, management responsibility and influence 
through committees and steering groups. Our leadership comes in many forms 
including structurally: 
 
Member Champions Working Group role is to support and promote the 
development of the equality agenda for Elected Members, engage with communities,  
and to act as a political interface with key policy areas 
 
The Inclusion and Diversity Members Steering Group review and advise on the 
workforce and make-up of Leeds City Council (LCC).  They assist and enable 
officers to help make the LCC workforce population representative of the city; it 
focuses in on protected characteristics, targeting chief officer hot spots and cross-
cutting initiatives. 
 
Executive Member for Communities 
 
Executive Member for Employment Enterprise and Opportunity (with a lead on 
inequality) 
 
Member Champions for Older People, Lesbian, Gay Bisexual and Transgender 
(LGB T) , and Religion or Belief 
 
Communities Board - supports partnership work that takes action to deliver the 
aspirations of the Leeds Vision 2030 in relation to ‘all Leeds communities will be 
successful’ 
 
Corporate Leadership Team with corporate responsibility for championing and 
steering the equality agenda 

Page 354



 

5 
 

Equality and Diversity Board promotes, integrates and progresses equality and 
diversity issues consistently across all council directorates and services.   It provides 
challenge and sharing mechanisms in relation to both employment and service 
delivery, to support the council in meeting its aims.    
 
Migration Partnership is a cross-sector, city wide, strategic forum for those working 
with all migrant communities in Leeds. It provides a mechanism for developing and 
influencing policy, and driving forward good practice in relation to migrant 
communities in Leeds, across the region and nationally’ 
 
Cross Council Migration Group aims to understand migration issues at a cross 
council level and work together to address them 
 
Equality Policy 
 
We have a clear equality policy which outlines our approach.  The tools that we use 
make sure that this is consistent and sustainable.  It describes how we use our 
equality impact assessment tool, use consultation and engagement to inform us, 
focus on equality strategically and within services, as well as in relation to 
commissioning and partnership working 
 
Monitoring and publishing progress 

Each year we produce an annual update showing progress against our equality 
priorities, and this is the final report against the 2011-15 priorities.  It is impossible to 
reflect all the work that has been done, so this account does not set up to do this, but 
provides a short narrative on progress and/or with examples of the priorities in 
action. 
 
About Leeds 
 
In order to be able to make good decisions we need to understand Leeds and who 
lives here.  We use a range of information to do this including both qualitative and 
quantitative information. An overarching description follows with information taken 
from the census, and this information, combined with other information included on 
the Observatory (http://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/)  is used to inform our council 
priorities.  
 
Based in West Yorkshire, Leeds is the second largest local authority in England, 
covering an area of 552 square kilometres. It is an area of great contrasts. It includes 
a densely populated, inner city area with associated challenges of poverty and 
deprivation, as well as a more affluent city centre, suburban and rural hinterland with 
villages and market towns.   The most recent census (2011) indicates that Leeds has 
a population of 751,5001, representing a 5% growth since the previous census in 
2001. The age structure for Leeds is broadly similar to that for England and Wales 
with the notable exception of the 20-29 age band which in Leeds accounts for 17.5% 
of the population compared to13.6% in England and Wales; children (aged 0-15) 

                                                             
1 OSN latest data estimates the population of Leeds at 761,500 (mid-year estimate of population 
2013) 

Page 355



 

6 
 

account for 18.3% of the city’s population, while people aged 65+ accounts for 
14.6%. 
 
Leeds is an increasingly diverse city with over 140 ethnic groups including black, 
Asian and other minority ethnic populations representing almost 19% of the total 
population compared to 11% in 2001.  The number of Leeds residents that were 
born outside of the UK has increased from 47,636 (6.7% of the population) in 2001 
to 86,144 (11.5%) in 2011, with just over 20,300 people being born in the EU (12,026 
born in EU accession countries) and just over 61,000 born elsewhere.   Of the 
86,144 people born outside the UK, more than half arrived in the last 10 years, 67% 
were between the ages of 16 and 44 when they arrived in the UK and 29.5% were 
aged 15 or younger.  Data from the city’s schools, shows there are more children 
and young people of black and minority ethnic heritage, particularly Black African 
and White Eastern European. The number of children and young people with English 
as an additional language (EAL) has also increased in recent years, from 13% in 
2010 to 16% in 2014. In addition to English language, there are over 170 languages 
spoken in Leeds schools with the main languages spoken being Urdu, Punjabi and, 
increasingly, Polish.  
 
There is no direct count of disability, but the census collects information in relation to 
‘long term health problems or disability’.  In Leeds 83.4% of people say that their day 
to day activities are not limited by long term health problems or disability, 7.7% say 
they are limited a lot and 8.9% say that they are limited a little. Leeds has a relatively 
high level of its working age adult population in receipt of Incapacity Benefit (IB) due 
to mental ill health (50% of IB claimants identify a mental health problem). 
Employment rates for female users of mental health services in Leeds are 
significantly below the national average.   In 2014, 3,099 adults in Leeds were 
identified as having a moderate or severe learning disability. Over the last four years 
there has been an increase in the Leeds learning disabilities population of about 5%. 
This growth is particularly focussed amongst younger people with the most profound 
needs for care. 
 
In addition we know that many people have dual equality characteristics which can 
increase the barriers they may have in accessing services eg   
 

 Women are more likely to have a limiting health problem or disability; 17.7% 
of all women and 15.4% of all men have a limiting health problem or disability; 

 Just over 4,600 young people (aged 0-15 years) have a limiting health 
problem or disability; 

 Just under 57,000 older people (aged 65 and over) have a health problem or 
disability.” 

 
The proportion of people who say they are Christian is lower in Leeds (55.9%) than 
across the whole of England and Wales (59.3%), while the  proportion of people who 
say they have no religion is higher (28.2% and 25.1% respectively) and; compared to 
England and Wales, Leeds has higher than average proportions of people stating 
their religion as Jewish (0.9% compared to 0.5%), as Muslim (5.4% compared to 
4.8%) and as Sikh (1.2% compared to 0.8%). 
 

Page 356



 

7 
 

The 2011 Census collected information on civil partnerships for the first time, 
reflecting the Civil Partnership Act 2004 which came into effect in the UK on 5 
December 2005. Married people account for 41.5% of adults in Leeds; 0.2% of 
adults in Leeds are in a registered same-sex civil partnership, mirroring the rate for 
England and Wales and; 40.8% of adults in Leeds are single (never married or never 
registered in a same-sex civil partnership), much higher than the England and Wales 
rate of 34.6%.  We do not publish data relating to transgender as due to small 
numbers individuals would be easily identified. 
As a growing city Leeds is seeing significant changes to the make-up of the 
population, in particular… 

 We have an ageing population; as the baby-boomer generation grows older there 
will be implications not only in terms of public services, ensuring that older people 
get excellent care and support when they need it and are enabled to live 
independently, but also in terms of the labour market as we make the most of the 
skills and talents that everyone has to offer. 
 

 In the last decade the BME population in the city has increased from 11% to 
19%, and the number of residents born outside of the UK has almost doubled.  
There have been many localised impacts across the city - with complex, related 
issues such as ‘national identity’, language proficiency, transient populations and 
variations in birth rates that in turn influence service provision and the wider 
interface between communities.   
 

 In part linked to demographic change, in part linked to wider social change, 
patterns of faith have also changed across the city - different ethnic and religious 
groups have very different age profiles and understanding these differences are 
key to helping plan and deliver the appropriate services. 

 
 Economic and social deprivation remains concentrated in specific localities, with 

long-term challenges such as access to employment, poor housing, language 
and literacy, skills, health and care responsibilities, being compounded by the 
recent welfare changes.  According to the Index of Multiple Deprivation, over 
150,000 people in Leeds live in areas that are ranked amongst the most deprived 
10% nationally more than 20% of the city’s population. While the impact of 
poverty on children can be found in all areas of the city, two of our wards have 
over 40% of children in poverty. 

 
 

 

 

Page 357



 

8 
 

Section 2 

Progress in Equality Improvement Priorities 2011 -2015 

Equality in action … 

The following provides an overview of the 2011-15 equality priorities with examples 
of what we have done to make a difference.  The priorities were developed in line 
with, and to compliment, the council values and the best council business plan.   
This update is not intended to provide a comprehensive view of all the work that has 
been undertaken, but rather to provide a flavour and examples from across all 
services.  More detailed information against each equality objective is included in the 
annual reports which were produced in 2012, 2013 and 2014. 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Equality-improvement-priorities.aspx 
 
Much of the work described will continue alongside and/or are embedded within the 
new priorities which have been established for 2016 –20, and where this is the case 
it is clearly indicated alongside the priority information. 
 
The 2011-15 equality priorities were developed alongside the council values and the 
city priorities, and relate to these areas.  The progress information is therefore 
organised in the same way, beginning with the equality priorities relating to the 
council values, and then looking at the equality priorities relating to each of the Best 
Council City Priorities 
 
Equality Priorities in relation to the Council Values  

There were a number of agreed equality objectives which responded to the council 
values which are: 

 Working as a team for Leeds 
 Being open, honest and trusted 
 Working with communities 
 Treating people fairly 
 Spending money wisely 

 
Examples of how we have met each of these, and our approach to them is included 
below: 
 
Equality objective:  There is good evidence of the equalities profile of Leeds based 
on national and local data which is regularly reviewed 
 
Progress:    The demographics of Leeds continues to inform our work and we 
actively strive to understand where there are differences in outcome for different 
communities.  Our demographic evidence (overview in Section 1) is included in the 
Observatory (http://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/) and this is used widely, both in terms 
of service delivery, understanding our workforce and to develop our equality 
improvement priorities. 
 
We use both qualitative and quantitative data to help us understand the position.  We 

Page 358



 

9 
 

therefore ensure that there is robust consultation and engagement which informs 
what and how we try to improve services. 
 
By using and reviewing the data and engaging with communities we can improve 
access to services and facilities as the example below shows: 
 
Allotments and Equality Monitoring  We wanted to ensure that issues of equality 
were being considered on allotments, e.g. when serving eviction notices, managing 
waiting lists and general consideration to accessibility.  Responses to a survey  
showed that 23% of allotment holders have a mental health condition; 3.1% have a 
physical impairment; and users are predominately male. 
 
The results of the summary were shared with the self-managed allotment 
associations who were encouraged to be aware that a percentage of their allotment 
plot holders would likely have a mental health condition and to take this into 
consideration with any communication with plot holders.  In relation to this, Allotment 
Associations reviewed their procedures with some updating their allotment rules. 
 
Many allotment sites are reliant on using temporary chemical toilet facilities; there 
was a need for better toilet facilities and to provide better access for those with 
mobility issues.  Using the equality data analysis and raising the value and 
importance of an allotment site, enabled some sites to secure grant funding for better 
toilet facilities.   
 

Equality objective: Equality groups are integrally involved in consultation and 
engagement activities 
 
Progress: All consultation and engagement opportunities strive to engage the 
appropriate groups including all equality characteristics.  Work is currently taking 
place to strengthen their involvement with locality working eg through community 
committees. 
 
The Equalities Assembly continues to be one of the ways in which we engage with 
equality groups.  Specific examples have included workshops around: 

 Better lives  
 Transport 

 
Examples of where we have consulted equality groups and the difference this has 
made have included: 
   
Out 2 18 and Transtastic  Out 2.18 and Transtastic is a youth group that provides a 
safe and secure location for people who identify as Lesbian,Gay, Bisexual, 
Transgender, Questioning (LGBTQ).  This is one of the few places that allow 
attendees to feel confident in their sexuality.   
 
The group has been involved in fun, supportive and influencing activities including 
attending the Youth Pride Games in Manchester 2013, working with Blast - an 
organisation who works with boys and young men around child sexual exploitation, 
and working with the Fixers media project to produce a website for young LGBTQ 

Page 359



 

10 
 

youths.  The outcomes for young people in the group include: 
 Learning skills that help them make informed choices and stay safe 
 Improve service provision for LGBTQ people by challenging the way things 

are done 
 Building confidence and self esteem 

 
Signing the Covenant between Religion or Belief Organisations and Leeds City 
Council   In summer 2014, a report titled ‘Leeds City Council - Taking Religion or 
Belief Seriously’ was produced.  One of the recommendations was for the council to 
publish a clear strategy for engagement with religious communities.   
 
Working with Leeds Faith Forum, the council have set out the relationships between 
the council and religion or belief organisations in the city.  The Covenant, which is a 
joint commitment between faith communities and local authorities, will practically 
focus on developing the following key areas of work:  
 
• Sharing examples of work already being undertaken, in particular best 

practice. 
• Ensure the council and the religion or belief sector share learning and 

development opportunities where possible. 
• Provide clarity around the availability of support and funding from the council 

and Third Sector. 
• Ensure the religion or belief sector take part fully in city wide and local 

community consultations to inform the delivery of public services.  
 
All key religion or belief organisations along with the council have signed the 
Covenant.  Leeds Faith Forum is acting as the key delivery partner and a working  
group formed from the Third Sector Partnership is to monitor the covenant. 
 
Tenant Empowerment  As a result of information from responses from the  STAR 
survey (tenant satisfaction survey 2013) the following projects were developed: 
 

 Leeds Parent Champion Project: to improve parenting skills and improve 
cultural awareness, within Burmantofts’ large BME population, a pilot was run 
(summer2014) in partnership with the Together Women’s Project and 
facilitated by Total Families.  Free 6-8 week courses for 16-45 year olds were 
held.  Topics covered included ‘supporting parents with children with disability’ 
and ‘improve families’ opportunities to be heard’. 

 
 HUGO (Helping You Get Online): the STAR survey showed that 50% of 

tenants citywide had internet access in their homes (not including mobile 
devices), and in some areas (e.g. inner south) the figure was as low as 47%.  
This project involves  a digitally enabled bus bringing an internet style cafe to 
the doorstep.  It does this by flooding free Wi-Fi across each neighbourhood 
that it visits.  The project, assisted by volunteers, was created in partnership 
with Leeds Federated, First Bus, Job Centre Plus, IGEN and Learning 
Partnerships.  
 

These projects have resulted in improving skills, increasing community involvement 
and reducing anti-social behaviour. 

Page 360



 

11 
 

 
Equality objective: Councillors and officers have a reputation for championing 
equality issues relevant to Leeds and ensuring they are taken into account when 
making major decisions 
 
Progress:  At all stages there has been strong political and officer leadership around 
the equality agenda, including with a clear focus on poverty.  We have had two 
performance indicators which have enabled us to be clear about the extent to which 
decisions have taken equality and consultation consideration into account.  These 
have been beneficial and helped us learn.  However, the assessment of the 
indicators was made retrospectively and, whilst useful in terms of providing feedback 
to officers undertaking these decisions, it was less helpful in terms of informing the 
decisions under review.  They have helped us to put a `spotlight’ on equality in the 
decision making process. 

There is a member champions working group which is a cross-party forum involving 
elected members from all the main political parties: Labour, Conservative, Liberal 
Democrat and Green, and it is chaired by the Assistant Chief Executive.  The forum 
addresses and challenges progress against the council’s equality priorities. 

Scrutiny have, in the last year have led inquiries into domestic violence, including a 
focus on female genital mutilation, and on migration.  Both of these have further 
informed the agendas and led to specific work being taken forward to address these 
areas.  

On an individual basis leaders are keen to support equality and 2 examples follow: 
 
Olewale Symposium 17 April 2015 – The Leader of the Council (2003-4 and 2010-
15), Cllr Wakefield  attended to give his support and during his speech he reiterated 
that Leeds will not tolerate racism and said that ‘Leeds is a City of Sanctuary within 
the UK wide network of Cities of Sanctuary, and we are striving to make this concept 
a reality, with Leeds as a safe and welcoming place for everyone ‘ 
Female Genital Mutilation NHS conference 24 February 2015 – Tom Riordan, 
Chief Executive, spoke at the conference and reflected on the current position and 
progress which had taken place since the first city region conference on FGM which 
was held in Leeds in September 2014 (where both Cllr Blake, elected Leader of the 
Council 2015, and James Rogers, Assistant Chief Executive, spoke).  He said that 
he was pleased that Leeds was working together as a city to eradicate female genital 
mutilation, which was totally unacceptable.   
 

Equality objective: To make Leeds City Council an ‘employer of choice’ for people 
from groups in our communities whose diverse backgrounds are not yet fully 
represented in our workforce 
 
Progress:  Work is continuing to encourage self-identification and disclosure, and to 
ensure there is an open and welcoming culture.  This priority continues to be an 
equality improvement priority for 2016 – 2020. 
 
Since 2011 there have been a variety of projects and work areas taken forward to 

Page 361



 

12 
 

strengthen the open and welcoming culture and examples are:  
 
Graduate programme: BME testimony  Below is the testimony of a BME member of 
staff on the council’s graduate programme:  
 
The graduate programme has presented me with some fantastic opportunities.  I 
have helped to organise a key regional event in the Education Summit 2015, I have 
been involved in a cross council project on safeguarding, and I have become a 
governor at a primary school in Leeds, which has been great in better understanding 
my role within Children Services. 
 
With a strong support network from colleagues and with opportunities to develop and 
strengthen my skills and knowledge; working in Leeds City Council has been a very 
positive experience.  I look forward to developing my career further. 
 
 

Equality Objective: To improve opportunities for progression to senior levels in the 
organisation particularly for black and minority ethnic and disabled staff 
Progress:  There are a range of development opportunities which have been 
developed over the last 4 years, which are aimed at supporting people to reach their 
potential within the council.  One example is around mentoring and the following 
gives an individual’s experience of participating in this:   
 
Mentoring made a difference to me – personal testimony from a disabled member 
of staff about being mentored: 
 
I found out about the opportunity for mentoring through the Disabled Staff Network 
and I jumped at the chance.  My mentor asked me what I wanted from being 
mentored, so I have been focusing on building my skills to be able to advance my 
career.  She is a great listener, she encourages me, sets me challenges, and helps 
me explore my reluctance to deal with certain situations.  She is warm and friendly.  
Most importantly, my mentor is in my corner.  
 
. 

Equality objective: To demonstrate increased engagement, year on year, for staff 
 from groups whose diversity is not yet fully represented in our workforce. 
 
Progress:  The council continues to support the corporate staff networks which 
represent BME, women, LGB T, and disabled staff.  These are largely self-managed 
groups, whose chairs meet on a regular basis with the Assistant Chief Executive, 
Head of Equality and a Head of HR as the Diversity Staff Forum.  This provides a 
conduit for discussions and concerns to be raised.   
 
The example below focussed on the further development of the LGB T hub: 
 
LGB T Hub and Staff Network Working in Partnership   Work has been 
undertaken to align the internal LGBT Staff Network more closely with the Councils 
LGB T consultation Hub. 

Page 362



 

13 
 

 
A staff survey, open to all staff not just LGB T, has attracted 40 new members to the 
Staff Network mailing list.  However, numbers willing to attend meetings and events 
were low with most only wanting to receive electronic communication updates. 
 
To address this, members of the Staff Network were actively encouraged to take part 
in Hub events.  Now, regular meetings are taking place with the Staff Network 
organiser and Hub organizer to ensure that resources (including staff time and 
budget) are shared as effectively as possible.  
 
Marketing and communications go to both mailing lists where appropriate.  The 
venue for the Hub meetings changes from meeting to meeting to encourage a wider 
participation.  A social element has also been added to the end of meetings.  Also, 
social media has been used to communicate with other pre-existing LGB T networks.  
In addition, targeting of sub-groups such as women, Trans and BME has also taken 
place, sometimes via other agencies. 
 
There have been a lot of positive outcomes from the changes.  For example, 
volunteers have come forward to write a Terms of Reference for the Hub and set up 
a Bi sub group and to work on proposals for an LGBT Community Centre.  
 
Further proposals are being developed to focus on Trans, BME and Women’s 
issues.  The Hub / Staff Network is also discussing assisting with setting up an LGB 
T Professionals Network in the city and working with a private sector sponsor (a 
large construction company) who wish to support LGB T issues as part of their 
Corporate Social Responsibility. 
 
 

Equality priorities in relation to City Priority  

Reduce crime levels and their impact across Leeds 

Equality objective:  Address the impact of burglary on vulnerable communities 
 
Progress:  Burglary rates dropped significantly after this priority was developed and 
therefore resources and attention were diverted into other priorities including 
domestic violence 
 

Equality objective:  Tackle domestic violence and protect and support the most 
vulnerable young people 
 
Progress:  Domestic violence was identified in 2014 as one of the council’s 
breakthrough projects.  This highlights the importance of this issue to the council and 
provides a focus on cutting through traditional boundaries and engaging partners 
and communities differently. 
 
This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 2020. 
 

Page 363



 

14 
 

An action plan was developed as described below: 
 
Domestic Violence Local Action Plan  On 3 September 2014, members 
participated in a domestic violence workshop which brought together participants 
from a range of partners.  These partners included: Housing Leeds; Asha; Hamara 
Centre; Leeds Domestic Violence Team; Leeds Safeguarding Team; West Yorkshire 
Police; the JESS; Beeston, Cottingley, Middleton clusters; members of the public 
from across the inner south area. 
 
 After a brief presentation about the new city wide Domestic Violence Strategy and 
an action plan, the group was presented with a local flavour of the domestic violence 
issues affecting inner south Leeds.  The group then split into three discussion groups 
covering each of the three wards which make up inner south: City and Hunslet; 
Beeston and Holbeck ; Middleton Park. 
 
Participants were given the opportunity and space to talk about domestic violence 
and abuse and the way it manifests itself in relationships.  A particular challenge is 
recognising domestic violence and abuse in a relationship.  Examples of this 
discussed include: controlling behaviour in relationships between young people; 
emotional and financial control in a relationship; intergeneration violence and abuse; 
domestic abuse for individuals living in extended families; the way domestic violence 
and abuse manifests in different communities who make up inner south Leeds. 
 
Following the workshop, a local action plan was drafted and services are currently 
discussing how the action plan can be resourced.  This supports the wider strategy 
for Leeds. 
 
 

Equality objective – To improve city wide approaches to dealing with hate crime 
 

Progress:  There has been a slight rise in reported incidence over the last year.  
This is seen as a sign of success in improving confidence in the systems and 
therefore increasing reporting.  In addition to increasing reporting the focus is on 
decreasing repeat incidents. The current Hate Crime Strategy for Leeds was 
developed in 2014 and this outlines the approach taken to challenge, report and stop 
hate crime.    
 
This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 2020. 
 
An example of work is below: 

 
Hate Incident Reporting System  for schools and children’s settings in Leeds 
 In autumn 2014, the Children’s Services Equality and Diversity Board implemented 
a revised process for reporting hate incidents in schools and other children’s 
settings. Pre- 2014, hate incident reporting only focussed on schools and academies 
(excluding other children’s setting such as children centres) and didn’t meet the 
requirements of the latest equality legislation (for example: in terms of the breadth of 
protected characteristics) nor of Ofsted’s new inspection framework. Collecting 
numbers of incidents rather than specific details of incidents made it difficult to track 

Page 364



 

15 
 

the impact of the interventions which were implemented.  
 
The new process was developed through a multi-agency approach which bought key 
stakeholders together to develop preventative strategies in order to ensure that 
children and young people feel safe and supported. The new system encompasses 
all hate incident categories and provides intelligence and support for addressing 
issues, identifying incidents and patterns within communities.  
 
Hate incidents and bullying can potentially have a detrimental impact on the 
experience of children and young people growing up in Leeds. This system is an 
attempt to develop a coordinated city wide approach to monitoring and tackling hate 
crime and bullying, including responding to patterns of activity at both school and 
cluster level. It provides invaluable intelligence and assists in the delivery of the 
Children and Young People`s Plan and the Leeds Hate Crime Strategy. 
 

 

Equality priority – To increase a sense of belonging that builds cohesive and 
harmonious communities 

 
Progress:  With increasing focus in recent years on migration we are keen to ensure 
that our ambition to be an open and welcoming city is a reality for everyone.  We 
recognise the tensions that can arise as new people come into our city and we want 
to ensure that there is understanding and respect on both sides.  Work continues to 
encourage innovative ways of doing this.  One example is the ‘Conversation dinners’ 
arranged for local residents, in Chapeltown, Harehills, and Alwoodley.  People came 
together to share good food and chat with neighbours they had never met before.  
The events were enjoyed by all who attended with everyone meeting new people, 
particularly people from different walks of life and backgrounds.  
  
This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 2020. 
 
Another example of work is below: 

 
Migrant Access Project  (MAP) is very important to Leeds City Council to help 
reduce pressures on statutory services and to help new arrivals settle in Leeds. 
 
Two hour weekly drop-in sessions are delivered in partnership with Touchstone and 
Public Health. Members drop in to share their successes as well as their issues. 
Those who are unable to attend are offered the opportunity to a separate one to one 
with the Commissioning Officer for the MAP or the Community Development Worker 
at Touchstone. Services have been informed of the drop in and are invited to attend, 
some services such as Leeds Skyline (works with mainly African communities in 
preventing and testing of HIV), Niche tobacco, Voluntary Access Leeds have 
continued to attend drop-ins to learn about the migrant community network and to 
support their activities. Members of the Migrant Community Network (MCN) raise 
concerns and possible solutions, request support needed in order to meet the needs 
of their communities.  
 
Through the project, members are fully supported and connected to services who 

Page 365



 

16 
 

both understand and are able to support their needs. The project helps members to 
build their confidence and also provides the necessary support to help members to 
integrate. 
 
Since the drop-in started in June 2014, there have been 27 drop-ins and 199 visits.  
A total of 11 services have attended - a mix between the public and third sectors.   
 

 

Equality priorities in relation to City Priority  

Maximise regeneration investment to increase housing choice and 
affordability within sustained neighbourhoods 

Equality objective: Ensure that housing and regeneration investment meets the 
changing needs of individuals and communities 
 
Progress:  There is increasing change in the demographics of Leeds which impacts 
on the housing requirements.  We are constantly reviewing this to ensure that we 
understand the changes and are able to respond to these in a timely way.  Our 
housing strategy has been developed to help us do this and the example below 
gives more details: 
 
Increasing housing provision, to meet the changing needs of individuals and 
communities and to provide choice and affordability  Leeds has one of the 
fastest rates of population growth in the UK.  Analysis of the census from 2001 – 
2011 illustrated the population of Leeds had increased by 5.1%, from 715,600 to 
751,500.  Research identified that households headed by women with children, BME 
groups and those living in social rented housing are more likely to live in 
overcrowded  or substandard housing.  Almost 40% of Council tenants identify 
themselves as disabled or with long term ill health.  In addition there are significantly 
high numbers of BME people and disabled people who are unemployed. 
 
To meet increasing housing demand, the council has embarked on the largest 
programme of council housing development in the city, working with partner 
agencies and departments such as City Planning to increase housing choice and 
affordability within sustainable neighbourhoods.  The Council Housing Growth 
Programme will provide 1500 new council homes including 750 new build; bring back 
400 long term empty properties into use and the acquisition of other new properties 
directly from private developers.  
 
To ensure that these new properties are let sensitively to meet the needs and 
aspirations of tenants, individual local lettings policies have been developed for each 
of the new build sites to allow the council to respond to local needs and have a 
localised approach to the letting of specific property type. The vision for Leeds is to 
be a compassionate, caring city that helps all its residents to benefit from the effects 
of the city’s economic growth.  The focus is on creating the right conditions for the 
economy in Leeds to prosper and as a consequence of the growth, reduce the 
inequalities that exist in Leeds. 
 

Page 366



 

17 
 

In comparison to the city wide average of 33% properties offered to non-white British 
applicants in 2014/15, a total of 109 new build properties have been successfully let 
to date as part of Little London and Beeston Hill and Holbeck Regeneration Project.  
A breakdown of lettings is given below: 

 50% of properties are let to people who were overcrowded  
 58% of properties are let to women who were the main applicant. 
 39% of properties are let to Black/Black British. 

 
 

Equality objective: Improve housing conditions and energy efficiency 
 
Progress:  This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 
2020. 
 
The example below sets out work which has taken place in Armley to improve 
heating efficiency. 
 
Introduction of Biomass Heating in Armley  Leeds has continued to make 
informed investments to ensure housing conditions are of a good standard.  These 
investments include removing less efficient heating systems and replacing them with 
modern, low carbon alternatives.  Work is currently in progress to install a Biomass 
heating system at three sites in Armley: Phil May Court, Armley (a sheltered complex 
of 30 one bed flats), and two multi story flats Clyde Grange and Clyde court, 200 
high rise flats.  The new Biomass system will provide heating and hot water to all 
dwellings and it is anticipated that it will achieve at least a 10% reduction in energy 
costs for the residents.  The provision of low carbon and affordable heating will 
contribute to the city’s priority of tackling fuel poverty and carbon reductions.  The 
project is underway and it is anticipated it will be completed by December 2015. 
Fuel poverty is broadly defined as households on lower incomes living in a home 
which cannot be kept warm at a reasonable cost.  Fuel poverty is usually a result of 
three interacting factors: low household income, low energy efficiency standard of a 
property and high fuel prices. 
 
The Biomass district heating scheme in the Phil May court and The Clyde’s will 
provide green energy and give tenants controllable heating and hot water facilities, 
allowing them to monitor and manage their own energy consumption.  In addition, 
Housing Leeds has a £12 million investment programme to upgrade or replace 
domestic central heating installations.  A significant proportion of this spend is the 
removal of inefficient heating systems for new, more efficient system and the 
introduction of gas heating systems in up to 500 properties, currently serviced by 
electric storage heaters.  
 
 

 

 

 

Page 367



 

18 
 

Equality priorities in relation to City Priority  

Increase the number of people supported to live safely in their own home 

Equality focus:  All citizens of Leeds will have access to, and benefit from, joined up 
services provided by integrated health and social care teams 
 
Progress:  The council is working hard to ensure that services are joined up and 
that there is easier access to services by the citizens of Leeds.  A major area of work 
has been in relation to the health and social care teams, in order to bridge the 
potential gaps that can occur when an individual is receiving care from both the 
health sector and social care. 
 
This continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2015-18, and information in 
relation to this is included in section 3.  An example of how working across teams 
and organisations benefits the family follows: 
 
Families First Programme: Domestic violence / parental mental health issues  
The circumstances in this particular household involved a Mum who was addicted to 
prescription medication.  She was struggling with parenting and needed support to 
apply behaviour strategies within the home, including bedtime routines.  
 
In addition, the family had financial issues and needed support to increase 
household income and ensure the house had appropriate beds etc. for the children.   
The mother had also experienced significant domestic violence from a former 
partner, some of which had been witnessed by her children.  The emotional impact 
had led to school attendance issues and limited involvement in leisure activities.  The 
extended family also had support issues.  
 
Intervention was led by the Health for All Families First keyworker.  This intervention 
included: home visits; close working with the Targeted Services Leader; addiction 
support; self-esteem and confidence support; support to get job ready; support to the 
extended family; advice on health; access to social activities  Positive outcomes from 
the interventions included:  
• The children’s presentation, attainment and attendance at school improved. 
• A restraining order against the ex-partner was secured. 
• The family are more financially stable. 
• Mum is engaged in appropriate treatment for her substance misuse. 
• Mum is continuing to engage with key worker support to enhance her 

approach to parenting  in the home 
 

Equality objective: To promote achievement of agreed personal outcomes 
(including increasing access and equity of access to services) across all equality 
characteristics to encompass all communities and citizens of Leeds 

 
Progress:  This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 
2020. 
 
The information below is an example of work which has taken place to progress this 

Page 368



 

19 
 

objective 
 

Transforming Day Provision for people with Mental Health Needs   Day service 
provision in Leeds, for people with mental health needs, has always been made up 
of a mixture of council run and voluntary sector provision. These provide both 
building based and community services. Responding to need, significant financial 
challenges, and a reduction in grants a review was undertaken in 2011 to ensure a 
model of service provision was in place that used resources effectively and efficiently 
to deliver positive outcomes for service users.  
 
The review included: research and analysis of existing provision and potential need; 
an audit of service usage across all day services; extensive consultation and 
engagement activities with all interested stakeholders, with significant contributions 
from existing service users. This was then used to inform the proposed new 
provision for the Mental Health Recovery Service, the tendering process and 
contract specification and future monitoring of service provision.  
 
The following outcomes are as a direct result of involving service users:  
 

 Setting up the Mental Health Advisory Board (the body overseeing the 
transformation programme) which included a specific requirement within its 
constitution for a co-chair role, to be filled by a service-user representative – 
ensuring the voice of service users is always heard  

 Agreement to continue work supporting those people concerned with the term 
‘recovery’ – concerns had been raised during consultation about what a 
recovery service would mean to people and specifically whether this would 
lead to discharge, some felt they would ‘never recover’  

 user led recovery groups in addition to staff led recovery groups  
 

 

Equality objective: All citizens will have access to appropriate services and or 
support, with assistance to develop appropriate services from within the community 

 
Progress:  This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 
2020. 
 
The information below is an example of work which has taken place to progress this 
objective 
 
Community Consultation of Leeds Adult Social Care directly managed BME 
Day services for older people  Adult Social Care manages ten day-centres for 
older people. Two of these centres (Apna and Frederick Hurdle day centres) provide 
specialist support to Black and Minority Ethnic communities. A review was 
undertaken taking into account: the needs of existing and potential service users; 
take up of current service provision; demographic data; research into other 
complimentary services within Leeds and financial pressures. 
  
An important aspect of this was involving people who currently use these services, 
their carer’s and family as well as other interested groups such as: staff; elected 

Page 369



 

20 
 

members; trade unions; partner organisations. All methods of engagement were 
used including workshops, questionnaires, briefings with trade unions and staff, 
letters to GP’s and establishing a reference group. This was designed and done 
jointly with the council and Leeds Involving People, a service user and carer 
organisation. 
  
Although service users could and did use these mechanisms it was also felt that 
some people may find it difficult to express their views, experiences and concerns in 
such settings. So 1-2-1 meetings were arranged with all service users.  
Adopting a co-production and co-design approach meant that everyone who 
participated was able to be involved in the design of a service that would meet the 
needs of the diverse communities.  
 
Outcomes of discussions included:  

 Some people preferring ASC continuing to manage the service, but the 
majority recognised that keeping things as they are is not viable  

 Suggesting a partnership with a voluntary sector provider taking over 
management of the two services and delivering a wider range of day support 
to BME communities – was the preferred model  

 Recognising that there should be better links should be established with local 
BME community groups and Neighbourhood Networks  

 Proposing the centres should have a wider remit in relation to the services on 
offer, explore opening to a wider client group and operate as a Community 
Resource Centre  

 Recognising that existing resources within BME communities should be more 
effectively used, in particular volunteering opportunities  

 
 

Equality priorities in relation to City Priority  

Do well at all levels of learning and have the skills for life 

Equality objective: Support children from all equality communities to be ready for 
learning 
 
Progress:  This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 
2020. 
 
The information below is an example of work which has taken place to progress this 
objective 
 
Every Disabled Child Matters Charter (EDCM)  Councillor Judith Blake signed the 
revised EDCM ‘Local Authority Disabled Children’s Charter’ on behalf of the council 
enabling Leeds to fulfil its pact with disabled children and to put them at the heart of 
all future decisions which impact upon them. A comprehensive audit was undertaken 
to assess whether Children’s Services and its key partners were meeting the 
commitment of the charter, which identified some areas for improvement.  
 
A ‘monitoring plan’ was created, implemented, monitored and revised on a regular 

Page 370



 

21 
 

basis. Progress against the monitoring plan and the charter in general is reported 
regularly to the Complex Needs Partnership Board and Children’s Trust Board .  
 
As a result, the following areas for disabled children and their families have been 
improved:  
 

• Better and additional short breaks.  
• Joint working and a coordinated approach through disabled children working 

group.  
• Access to child care for working parents of disabled children.  
• Empowerment and participation through parents groups and forums.  
• Early support and improved transition for disabled young people to adult 

services.  
• A sub-group of disabled children under Leeds youth council to increase their 

voice and influence. 
 
 
 

Equality priorities in relation to City Priority  

Create more jobs and improve skills 

Equality objective: Increase access to employment opportunities and up skill the 
workforce 
 
Progress:  This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 
2020 with a focus on mental health, and apprenticeships. The council is keen to 
focus on both skills to enable people to be successful in the work place, and in 
promoting work.  The example below highlights a project to ensure  language 
provision is accessible, so that people are closer to the job market 
 
Learning English in Leeds Website  English for Speakers of Other Languages 
(ESOL) provision used to be overseen by Skills for Life. Despite central government 
funding cuts, which have had a negative impact on ESOL provision nationally, Leeds 
has continued to provide ESOL. The main provider is Leeds City College, with more 
provision now in the hands of the voluntary and private sector.  
 
Research and analysis undertaken in 2010 identified patterns of ESOL provision, 
funding and attendance were complex. Key to this was access to information about 
ESOL provision across the city.  
 
The Learning English in Leeds website made a difference to students and 
professionals by providing:  

• An accessible and comprehensive online directory of ESOL provision in 
Leeds  

• A ‘one stop shop’ for adult migrants wanting to develop their English language 
skills, and for advisers  

• Assisting new arrivals in finding the most appropriate ESOL classes and 
planning their progression across provision in Leeds  

Page 371



 

22 
 

• Space for the ESOL sector in Leeds to develop practice and plan strategically 
to meet the language education needs of learners  

 
Website: www.lel.help 
 
 

Equality priorities in relation to City Priority  

Support the sustainable growth of the Leeds economy 

Equality objective: Improve financial inclusion 
 
Progress:  This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 
2020. 
 
The example below gives an indication of work which is taking place 
 
Welfare Benefits Advice  Welfare Benefits were approached by members of the 
Bangladesh Centre Committee in Harehills who were concerned about the lack of 
advice services available to members of the Bengali speaking community who were 
not confident with their English. As a result of this, a pilot of welfare advice surgeries 
was set up within the Bangladesh centre on Roundhay Road.  
 
The surgeries were supported by a local Bengali interpreter and advice workers 
provided for free from GIPSIL’s welfare team, a voluntary sector serving the local 
community.  
 
Detailed evaluation is currently taking place on the project however initial feedback is 
that residents are:  

• now accessing services that they feel comfortable using  
• seeking more informal advice that reduces the risk of being misadvised  
• needs are being identified and addressed at an earlier stage reducing the 

need for crisis intervention  
 
 
Leeds City Credit Union stories  The Leeds City Credit Union has assisted 
numerous people with saving, debt advice and solving debt issues.  Below are 2 
examples. 
 
Mrs X had rent arrears of over £3k.  She was signposted to a Money and Budgeting 
Support Officer (MABS) which assisted her with reducing her arrears prior to 
appearing in court in regards to her tenancy. Mrs X works in a supermarket and 
worked overtime in an attempt to save as much money as possible. Despite this, 
struggling to budget after separating from her husband, LCCU intervention saved 
Mrs X’s tenancy and also saved Housing Leeds the cost of court proceedings to 
have her evicted. 
 
Mr and Mrs Y were struggling with numerous debts after finding themselves on 
benefits for the first time in their lives.  Both of them were in a serious car accident 

Page 372



 

23 
 

leaving Mr Y to act as Mrs Y’s carer.  Also, Mr Y incurred injuries that caused his 
HGV license to be revoked.  Mr and Mrs Y are proud people and were initially 
resistant to LCCU's help.  
 
These financial pressures led to anxiety and further health issues. Ultimately, LCCU 
attended several appointments with Mr and Mrs Y including two home visits to tackle 
all their debts and open a budget account.  Mr and Mrs Y subsequently started 
paying into a LCCU bill paying account for 7 months and cleared their rent arrears.  
They are feeling happier and their health has improved. 
 
 

Equality priorities in relation to City Priority  

Improve journey times and the reliability of public transport 

Equality objective: Enable access for all to local services, education and 
employment centres by public transport 
 
Progress:    Work with partners has continued and will do so.  There has been 
discussions via the Equalities Assembly which resulted in some specific work eg  
with the Youth Council about bus prices, a workshop led by WYPTE around equality 
and diversity issues.  As a result of these a good working relationship with WYPTE 
has been developed, and when they want to engage with customers (usually around 
disability) eg trolley bus (see example below), 20 year transport strategy, they 
approach the Equalities Assembly.  
 
New Generation Transport Project   
 
Leeds City Council in partnership with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority has 
been working on the development of the New Generation Transport (NGT) scheme 
for Leeds since 2007. NGT would see the creation of a 14.3km rapid transport 
network running from South to North Leeds via the city centre. At a capital cost of 
£250m, it is one of the largest investments in UK transport infrastructure outside 
London.  One of the City’s main transformational projects, the NGT trolleybus 
scheme is key to creating an integrated rapid transport network for Leeds to support 
the city’s future development, transform public transport and offer a real and 
attractive alternative to travel by car. 
 
A significant amount of consultation has taken place with members of the public, 
residents and businesses dating back to 2008. In November 2013 the NGT project 
team established the ‘Equality Access User Group’ (EAUG) to specifically advise on 
the development of the NGT project. The purpose of the group is to act as the ‘voice 
of the customer’, in order to provide the NGT Team with a practical understanding 
across a range of equality characteristics, on the equality access issues involved in 
providing Leeds with a trolleybus system throughout the key milestones of the NGT 
scheme. 
 
The issues and possible solutions that have been identified to date have been fed 
back into the design process for NGT and it is envisaged that this iterative process 

Page 373



 

24 
 

will continue at each stage.  Establishing the EAUG has helped to develop a 
constructive working relationship with equality representatives that is adding value to 
the development of the designs for NGT. Members of the EAUG group have 
expressed their support for the process that has been established to identify and 
action equalities issues on the NGT project and have cited it as an example of good 
practice. 
 
 

Equality priorities in relation to City Priority  

Get more people involved in the city’s cultural opportunities 

Equality objective: Increase participation in Leeds’ cultural and sporting 
opportunities 
 
Progress:  Considerable work has taken place to ensure everybody can participate 
in the cities big sporting events such as the Tour de Yorkshire where we provided 
disabled viewing areas, with adjacent parking and fully accessible toilet facilities, at 
the finish line This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 
2020. 
 
The example below gives an indication of work which is taking place 
 
Leeds Museums and Galleries – volunteering  Effort continues to be made to 
attract a diverse array of people to become volunteers at Leeds Museums and 
Galleries. Analysis of equality data supplied through volunteers application forms, 
findings from an on-line survey, feedback from Volunteer Managers and Voluntary 
Action Leeds networks and lessons learned from previous volunteering projects 
identified under-representation of men and Black and Minority Ethnic people 
volunteering, particularly in Museums and Galleries.  
 
A number of actions were identified to increase volunteering in general but also to 
target those under-represented groups. These include for example:  

• Creating broader advertising opportunities through Voluntary Action Leeds 
and producing some targeted advertising  

• Ensuring that volunteering opportunities are flexible enough to meet the 
needs of volunteers and the service  

• Arranging visits to communities and organisations to spread the word about 
volunteering opportunities.  

• Making connections with people by collecting oral stories and ‘objects in a 
suitcase’ – these will form changing and emerging history  

• Offer a range of projects at Temple Newsam, other museums and within 
communities.  

• Write to all key BME organisations and societies across the city to arrange 
publicity sessions.  

• Use current volunteers to help sell the benefits of volunteering e.g. social and 
confidence building  

 
Over time these actions have led to the following outcomes: 

Page 374



 

25 
 

 
• Improved the diverse representation of volunteers  
• Increased the range of volunteering opportunities  
• Capturing people’s stories and journeys that will contribute to the rich history 

of Leeds  
• Gained positive feedback from volunteers and sharing their time to promote 

motivation and to recruit new volunteers  
 
 

Equality objective: Enhance the quality of Leeds’ parks 
 

Progress: Work continues to develop play areas that are accessible for children with 
disabilities eg next to the car park at Temple Newsam, and to take account of local 
people’s thoughts eg Norma Hutchinson Park in Chapeltown.  There has also been a 
refurbishment at Middleton Park which makes it more accessible in terms of the café, 
car park and footpaths.  
 
This priority continues to be an equality improvement priority for 2016 – 2020. 
 
The example below gives an indication of work which is taking place to make sure 
that events held in parks are more inclusive.  
 
Volunteer Access Stewards Scheme at Leeds City Council Outdoor Events The 
need for specialist stewards at LCC events was identified in 2014 based on feedback 
from disabled customers, and officers (LCCs Access Officer and the Events Team). 
This feedback highlighted that some disabled people attending events would benefit 
from being able to identify stewards on site who could provide specific information on 
the accessible services and facilities provided at events. It was also identified that 
accessible services and facilities which were provided at events sites required 
supervision/ management to avoid mis-use or abuse by people who did not require 
them.  
 
Introducing the Access Stewards has enhanced the experience of many disabled 
visitors. Through good practice, the council hopes to create a culture of confidence in 
the disabled community such that all disabled users have no ‘perception’ of barriers 
when considering attending an event. The council has made a commitment to 
always endeavour to ‘go beyond the minimum’ in terms of provision of accessible 
services and facilities. 
 

Page 375



 

26 
 

Summary of Our Equality Improvement Priorities 2011-2015 

This list below shows all our 2011-15 equality priorities which are explained later in 
more detail in section 2.  Many of these priorities are continuing into 2016-20 (these 
are shown by *), as there are still gaps in outcomes that we have prioritised as areas 
to address.  Section 3 gives more details of the 2016-2020 equality priorities 
 
Equality Focus in relation to Council Values: 

 There is good evidence of the equalities profile of Leeds, based on national 
and local data, which is regularly reviewed 

 Councillors and Officers have a reputation for championing equality issues 
and ensure that the equality issues relevant to Leeds are taken into account 
when making major decisions 

 Equality groups are integrally involved in consultation and engagement 
activities 

 To make LCC an employer of choice’ for people from groups in our 
communities whose diverse backgrounds are not yet fully represented in our 
workforce* 

 To demonstrate increased engagement, year on year, for staff from groups 
whose diversity is not yet fully represented in our workforce* 

 To improve opportunities for progression to senior levels in the organisation 
particularly for black, minority ethnic and disabled staff* 

 
Equality Focus – Best City for Communities 

 Address the impact of burglary on vulnerable communities 
 Tackle domestic violence and protect and support the most vulnerable young 

people* 
 Improve citywide approaches to dealing with hate crime* 
 There is a sense of belonging that builds cohesive and harmonious 

communities 
 
Equality Focus – Best City to Live 

 Ensure that housing and regeneration investment meets the changing needs 
of individuals and communities* 

 Improve energy efficiency* 
 
Equality Focus – Best City for Health and Wellbeing 

 All citizens of Leeds will have access to, and benefit from, joined up services 
provided by integrated health and social care teams* 

 We will promote achievement of agreed personal outcomes (including 
increasing access and the equity of access to services) across all equality 
characteristics to encompass all communities and citizens of Leeds* 

 All citizens will have access to appropriate services and or support, with 
assistance to develop appropriate services from within the community* 

 
Equality Focus – Best City for Children and Young People 

 Support children from all equality communities to be ready for learning* 
 
 

Page 376



 

27 
 

Equality Focus – Best City for Business 
 Increase access to employment opportunities and up-skill the workforce* 
 Improve financial inclusion* 
 Enable access for all to local services, education and employment centres by 

public transport 
 Increase participation in Leeds cultural and sporting opportunities* 
 Enhance the quality of Leeds’ parks* 

 
 
 

Page 377



 

28 
 

Section 3 

Equality Improvement Priorities 2016- 20 

 
Our Approach to Protected Characteristics 
 
We have taken into account the protected characteristics as required under the 
Equality Act 2010.  In addition we are conscious that a number of the protected 
characteristics are disproportionately represented in those living in poverty and we 
also recognise poverty as a barrier that limits what people can do and can be.  
Priorities are therefore included that address poverty. 
 
We are conscious that there is not an equality priority for every protected 
characteristics but all characteristics are taken into account.  We are committed to 
equality for all our citizens and believe that improving a service for one community 
will have knock on effects for all.  We will continue our work across all the protected 
characteristics, whether or not there are specific equality improvement priorities 
which are explicitly focussing on them.  We will consider all communities when we 
give due regard to equality at both strategic and operational activities.  This will 
include through work taken forward by services and through our staff networks and 
Equalities Assembly work 
 
How we have developed our priorities 
 
Our Equality Improvement Priorities for 2016-2020 have been informed by 
knowledge captured in a variety of ways including during the development of our 
Best Council Plan and our budget setting process.  They link closely to these as they 
are the overarching priorities for the council. 

 
The Best Council Plan (BCP) sets out what the council will do to help improve the 
lives of local people and how we will measure progress in delivering better outcomes 
across Leeds.  For 2015/16 the council has 6 strategic objectives: 
   
1 Supporting communities and tackling poverty 
2 Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth 
3 Building a child-friendly city 
4 Delivering the better lives programme 
5 Dealing effectively with the city’s waste 
6 Becoming a more efficient and enterprising council 
 
We have also identified 7 break-through projects that will help to deliver these 
objectives.  Five of the projects are explicitly linked to equality:  
 

 Domestic violence and abuse; 
 Housing growth and jobs for young people; 
 Making Leeds the best place to grow old and; 
 Reducing health inequalities through healthier lifestyles 
 Rethinking the city centre 

 

Page 378



 

29 
 

Equalities (and specifically tackling inequalities) is integral to our BCP 2015/16 
objectives. Performance in delivering our BCP objectives and breakthrough projects 
is monitored on a regular basis by the Corporate Leadership and elected members.  
Progress is published quarterly.   
 
Work is underway to refresh the Best Council Plan for 2016/17 with refreshed 
outcomes, priorities and key performance indicators.  These will support a renewed 
ambition: for Leeds to be the ‘best city in the UK’, it must be a compassionate, caring 
place that helps all its residents contribute to and benefit from the effects of 
economic growth, thereby reducing the range of inequalities that still exist.  An 
emphasis on tackling inequalities will therefore be at the heart of the council’s 
strategic planning, drawing on the equality improvement priorities presented here. 
 
Consultation 
 
Equality improvement priorities have been informed by a wide range of appropriate 
engagement and consultation opportunities 
 
We aim to avoid duplicating consultation and over consulting and we aim to use the 
outcomes from existing consultation exercises, where this is appropriate and 
relevant.  All council officers have access to the results of our consultation activities 
through our `talking point’ online database which can be used to inform decisions. 
 
Two major consultation exercises which have informed both the council priorities and 
the equality priorities have been: 
 

 The Vision for Leeds 2030 - After listening carefully to what local people, 
businesses and organisations said the Vision reflects that to be the best city in 
the UK, we need to: 
 

• Be fair, open and welcoming; 
• Have a prosperous and sustainable economy; and 
• Have successful communities. 

 
 Budget setting has used ongoing consultation as well as specific and focused 

events.  Our budget is informed through the wealth of consultation evidence 
gathered and since 2012 there have been only minor changes to these 
priorities.  In addition, residents and service users have had significant 
involvement in on-going service-led change projects.   
 

We use different ways of engaging with communities so that we can engage widely 
eg 
 

 Our Equalities Assembly was established in 2009 as a mechanism for 
communities to engage, challenge and influence equality related decisions by 
participating in themed workshops, focus groups and challenge events.  Adult 
Social Care, for example, engaged the Assembly as part of their `Better Lives 
Lived Local’ Account Annual Refresh.  As a result of this engagement, Adult 
Social Care gained a greater insight into the needs of clients and this 
informed the development of their priorities 

Page 379



 

30 
 

 
 The use of social media activity across the council which has increased 

significantly over recent years and as a result we are better able to engage 
with a different and growing audience for example, Housing Leeds use social 
media to get information to their online tenants in a timely manner and have 
established a single Facebook page 877 followers – March 2015) and a single 
twitter account (1,232 tweets and retweets – March 2015) for the city to 
promote awareness campaigns/days; celebrate Religious/Cultural events; 
promote housing campaigns, partnership working, good news events and; 
answer questions from tenants who post on Facebook/Twitter.   
 

 Engaging directly with service users to ensure that service provision meets 
their needs for example, in June 2014, Adult Social Care carried out 
community consultation and engagement activities (involving service users, 
their families and carers) to ensure that services were meeting the current and 
potential future needs of BME day centre service users and related BME 
Older Peoples services in the community.  The outcomes of these 
engagement activities are being used to inform the design of a service that will 
meet the need of the diverse communities. 

 
 Marketing campaigns eg our domestic violence marketing campaign 

provides a further example of the methods that we use to interact with our 
communities which included the use of focus groups with service users, 
perpetrators and the general public (through our citizen’s panel, which has in 
excess of 4000 members representative of our communities) and groups of 
young people who evaluated the effectiveness of posters produced by other 
cities across the UK.  Our domestic violence engagement process resulted in 
the collection of `stories’ for a DVD which highlighted the different aspects of 
domestic violence and abuse. 
 

 Citizens panel - we run the Leeds Citizens’ Panel to find out what people in 
Leeds think and need.  This panel has 4,000 members who are representative 
of our communities, and provide a balance of people of different ages, 
backgrounds, and from different parts of Leeds.  They are invited to take part 
in around 5 to 10 surveys each year (either online or through the post) and to 
attend discussion groups in person to talk about things in more detail 
 

Monitoring 
 
Our Equality Improvement Priorities are an integral part of the council`s performance 
management system, and will be reported on accordingly.  In addition, there will be a 
formal annual report to indicate progress. There will be further equality 
considerations as our priorities are implemented. 
 
An annual update will be provided against the equality improvement priorities in line 
with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 
 

Page 380



 

31 
 

Equality Improvement Priorities 2016 – 20 
 

The equality improvement priorities are shown under the 2 headings of ‘Strong 
Economy’ and ‘Compassionate City’, and are then grouped for ease of reference and 
reading.  The sub headings do not relate to specific priorities for the council within 
the Best Council Plan 
 

Strong Economy 
 

Achieving Potential 
 
Improvement Priority – children and young people do well at all levels of learning 
and have the skills for life 
 
Equality focus –The gaps in learning outcomes 
 
What difference do we want to make – Narrowing the gaps in learning outcomes 
for those on free school meals, looked after children, special education needs or 
disability, and BME children 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality improvement priority 
 
Education and learning has a significant impact on life chances.  Higher levels of 
numeracy and literacy are associated with a range of improved outcomes such as 
higher incomes and chances of long term, well paid employment.  Anyone part of the 
40+ % of young people not getting 5 good GCSEs has a 1 in four chance of being 
not in education, employment or training two years later. 
 
Learning outcomes are improving in Leeds, but not at a fast enough rate to close the 
gap with national levels.  Learning outcomes for vulnerable groups are improving, 
but not fast enough to close the gap between the Leeds average and their peers 
nationally.  Vulnerable groups of children and young people can include those with 
special educational needs and disability, some ethnic minority groups, those in 
receipt of free school meals (FSM) or pupil premium, Children Looked After and 
Care Leavers, those with English as an additional language and those living in 
deprived communities. 
 
Not all vulnerable groups do less well at all ages in all schools, but broadly speaking 
the gaps between vulnerable groups and their peers, alongside the gaps to national 
performance, are one of the toughest and most complex problems facing the city. 
For example, in 2007, the gap between the proportion of FSM eligible and non-
eligible students achieving 5+A*-C including English and maths at GCSE was 31 
percentage points.  By 2013, despite an increase of 15 percentage points in the raw 
attainment for FSM students, the gap between FSM and Non-FSM in Leeds had 
increased by 1 percentage point, and the gap between Leeds FSM and national 
FSM had also increased by 1 percentage point. 
 
There are important contexts.  The most recent school census shows: 

 16% of the school population have English as an additional language 
 24% are from Black or minority ethnic groups 

Page 381



 

32 
 

 20% of children are eligible for FSM  
 18% had special educational needs.   
 26% of children lived in households in areas identified as being amongst the 

10% most deprived areas in the country 
 37% of children live in the 20% most deprived areas of Leeds 
 for some individual schools over 90% of children live in the 20% most 

deprived areas.  
 21% of children- 33,175 in total- are in child poverty and numbers are 

expected to grow significantly 
 
The city is growing fast, with an additional 10,000 people since the 2011 census.  
There are over 10,000 new births in the city per year and the latest Migration Profile 
indicates that over 7,000 international migrants arrived in the last 12 months.   
Around 19% of the total population comes from minority ethnic groups. 
Additional documents:  Annual report on Educational Standards 
 
Key Actions:  Targeted support and challenge for schools with significant 
proportions of relatively low achievers from vulnerable groups, including academies. 
 
Recognise that while the issue is concentrated in some schools, all schools have 
some vulnerable pupils and otherwise good or outstanding schools can need support 
and challenge around the performance of vulnerable groups, and performance in 
particular year groups and subjects can vary. 
 
Support and challenge schools around the use of the pupil premium as a way to 
maximise the performance of vulnerable groups. 
 
Act as a key broker in developing support to schools to improve through the use and 
promotion of school led improvement systems 
 
Key Indicators: Educational achievement gaps at age 5, 11, 16 and 19  for those on 
free school meals, looked after children, special education needs or disability, and 
BME children 

 
------------------------------------------ 

 
Improvement Priority – the jobs market  
 
Equality focus –Integrate employment support with mental health support, and 
        Set equality targets for BME apprenticeships 
 
What difference do we want to make – improve access to the jobs market for 
those with mental health conditions, and to increase the number of apprenticeships 
accessed by BME communities 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
14,010 Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) claimants and 1,440 Incapacity 
Benefit (IB) Claimants working age in Leeds have a mental and behavioural disorder, 
which has increased over the last 2 years by 2,930 as claimants move from IB to 

Page 382



 

33 
 

ESA.  
 
10% of learners on apprenticeships are from Black and Minority Ethnic groups, 
compared with 19% across adult learning as a whole 
 
Additional documents:  Mental Health Framework 2013 
Key Actions:  Improve employment outcomes for out-of-work claimants with mental 
ill health. 
Improve access to apprenticeships for BME young people. 
Ensure equal access to the economy, skills and jobs and work to reduce poverty. 
 
Key Indicators:  Increase the number of people experiencing mild to moderate 
mental ill health moving into work. 
 
Increase the proportion of BME young people accessing and completing 
apprenticeships 
 
Improve digital infrastructure and digital inclusion to improve access to  jobs, skills & 
learning (in conjunction with digital inclusion priority below). 
 
 

---------------------------------------- 
 
Improvement Priority –  Digital inclusion   
 
Equality focus – ensuring digital inclusion to provide greater access to jobs, skills 
and learning to reduce poverty 
 
What difference do we want to make- ensure all residents have greater access to 
information and services 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
Lack of connectivity impacts on people’s ability to easily and readily access services 
and opportunities which adds to financial and rural exclusion. 
  
Analysis of the 2010 Index of Multiple Deprivation shows that 23% of premises in 
West Yorkshire with the poorest connectivity (no superfast provision) are in the 20% 
most deprived areas in the country.  Lower income levels and lower rates of adoption 
mean there is less incentive for the market to extend into these areas.   
 
For some people the costs of having a home broadband connection (which all rely 
on having a landline telephone contract) are prohibitive 
 
Key Actions:  Deliver the Superfast West Yorkshire Phase II programme to increase 
the coverage of superfast broadband provision across the district. 
Deliver enhanced connectivity to priority locations by encouraging development  of 
wireless networks across the city using LCC owned tall residential buildings, and 
encourage providers to make free residential wifi provision available to residents in 
the blocks concerned 
Work with delivery partner on the LCC free city wireless concession agreement to 

Page 383



 

34 
 

encourage roll out of free public wifi using LCC street furniture and buildings 
   
Key Indicators:  98% of premises across West Yorkshire and York able to access 
superfast broadband by end 2018. 
 
Number of buildings with free residential wifi provision 
 
Utilisation rates including number of sessions used and average length of session. 
 
Number of locations/neighbourhoods with free outdoor public wifi 
 
 

----------------------------------- 
 

Improvement Priority –  Financial inclusion 
 
Equality focus – Helping people out of financial hardship; Tackling the financial 
challenges of poverty, deprivation and inequality 
 
What difference do we want to make- support vulnerable people who face financial 
hardship 
 
Equality analysis – why this is an equality improvement priority 
Poverty is recognised as an issue that impacts on equality, and financial exclusion 
as a barrier to an equal society.  We know that poverty and financial exclusion 
disproportionately affect people within specific equality groups, particularly single 
parents, and people with mental health problems. For example, a report by the 
Mental Health Foundation asked people to identify the causes of their anxiety, 
almost half of those survey (45%) said that financial issues caused them to feel 
anxious (Living with Anxiety, 2014).  
 
The recession, the slow recovery and welfare changes have impacted on the poorest 
members of our society, and have led to increased problems of financial hardship 
and distress. Over the past five years the total number of people claiming benefit has 
grown, with the number of both housing benefit and council tax benefit claimants 
increasing by 10%.   
 
The implementation of the welfare changes from April 2013 has contributed to many 
families fall into rent and council tax arrears or further into arrears.  As a result in 
2013/14 the council saw over 6,000 people accessing its Local Welfare Support 
Scheme for both emergency (food and fuel) and basic needs provision (household 
goods) totalling over £1.4 million in direct awards.  Mirroring national trends the city 
has also seen the emergence and significant growth of foodbanks, supported by the 
establishment of the Leeds Food Aid Network to coordinate emergency food 
provision across the district.   
 
Another trend which has emerged in recent years is an increase in the number of 
people in employment who are living in poverty. Nationally over 5 million people now 
live in households where at least one member of the household is in work, yet they 
live in poverty. This is symptomatic of a labour market which is characterised by low 

Page 384



 

35 
 

pay, temporary, part time and zero hour contracts.     
 
Running alongside these changes has been a rise in the number of high cost lenders 
and the widening of financial exclusion.  Data from StepChange debt charity shows 
the number of people seeking debt advice is increasing year on year. A report 
published in 2011, on financial exclusion in Leeds since 2004, found that financial 
exclusion was not only impacting on the poorest households but had also extended 
to areas where households were generally on median earnings.   The 2010 research 
also highlighted that lone parents (38%) were far more likely than the average survey 
sample to use high cost sources of credit, have less savings and be experiencing 
financial difficulties.   
 
Key Actions:  Deliver financial support schemes which support the most vulnerable. 

                   Promote affordable credit and banking services as an alternative to  
                    high cost lenders. 

                         Prepare for the implementation of Universal Credit 
 
Key Indicators: Increase provision of free welfare and debt advice 
                           Growth in credit union membership. 
                          All front line staff are trained 
 

---------------------------------------------- 
 

Improving Representation 
 
Improvement Priority –  Workforce  
 
Equality focus – developing a skilled and diverse workforce which is: 
 

 representative of the City and citizens feel that the City is theirs 
 a safe, inclusive and welcoming  workforce where everyone is treated with 

respect and dignity and people say “I feel like I count “ 
 one where every person who works for the Council will have an appraisal and 

development plan which gives them the opportunity to develop their careers 
with the Council. 

 inclusive at all levels of the organisation 
 engaged ,empowered and motivated to take personal responsibility for 

creating an inclusive and diverse workforce   
 
What difference do we want to make- the council workforce will be representative 
of the communities in Leeds 
 
Equality analysis –why this is an equality improvement priority 
We collect workforce data and have compared our data against the census 
information. Since the last census the profile of Leeds has changed and our work 
force no longer reflects the community in terms of some protected characteristics. At 
31st March 2015 the council employed approximately 15605 people: 

 Women make up two-thirds of our workforce (50% of whom are employed at 
senior levels - JNC); 

Page 385



 

36 
 

 BME staff makeup 13% of our workforce (the majority of whom are within the 
lowest pay grade band, A1-C3); 

 Over one-third of our staff identify as religious, the largest proportion of people 
identify as Christian; 

 less than 5% of people below the age of 25 and;  
 7% of our workforce identify as carers 
 2% of our workforce disclose their identity as LGB T 
 6% of our workforce disclose that they identify as disabled 

 
We recognise that our workforce profile needs to improve to better reflect our 
communities and a key challenge is for us to maintain and improve a diverse and 
representative workforce against a backdrop of a shrinking Council.  We are striving 
to become a Council which remains high performing, efficient and enterprising 
despite being smaller in size. The financial and economic backdrop remains 
challenging and we have seen many people leave the organisation under our 
Voluntary Early Leaver Initiative.  However, we continue to recruit in many service 
areas and we have the opportunity and ambition to be an employer of choice for all 
communities in the City. 
 
Key Actions Revisit existing development programmes eg Step up and Emerging 
Leaders and co-ordinate all recruitment pathways with better utilisation of existing 
schemes such as Graduate/School leavers and Apprenticeships to target protected 
characteristics. 

 
Increase disclosure rates of staff by leading a campaign around the topic of ‘why we 
need your information’ through use of insite etc. to build trust  
 
Introduction of compulsory e-learning module around Inclusion and Diversity (timed 
for September around Inclusion week) 
 
Key Indicators  Increase in the proportion of people with protected characteristics 
recruited into the Council 
 
An increase in the representation  of employees with protected characteristics at 
leadership and management levels in the Council 
 
Improved disclosure rates of protected characteristics 
 
Increased engagement scores 
 
Appraisal rates of 100% 
 
An increase in the number of people meeting or exceeding Values and behaviours 
on Treating People Fairly 
 

---------------------------------- 
 
 
 
 

Page 386



 

37 
 

Improvement Priority – Ensuring the membership of major boards, including City 
Development’s extended management team and those for key events, is broadly 
representative of the city’s population.  
 
Equality focus – representation on major project and partnership boards 
 
What difference do we want to make- increase the diversity of board membership 
 
Equality analysis –why this is an equality improvement priority 
Due to personnel changes and reorganisation, representation of women at a senior 
level in City Development has fallen in the last two years. There is also a lack of 
representation across most of the other protected characteristics but particularly in  
ethnic minority and disabled groups at first, second and third tiers in the directorate.  
 
Key Actions: Review membership of major boards. 
 
Memberships of Sustainable Economy & Culture Partnership Board, Extended City 
Development Directorate, 2023 European Capital Of Culture Board and proposed 
South Bank Partnership Board analysed and compared to Leeds population. 
 
Where no appropriate and relevant representative exists, identifying the steps 
required to ensure that in the future there is a sufficient pool of people from groups 
that are under-represented. 
 
Key Indicators:   
Reduce the gaps in representation between % of board membership and resident 
population of specific identified boards 
 

 
 
 

Page 387



 

38 
 

Compassionate City 
 

Living Safely and Well 
Improvement Priority – keeping people safe from harm 
 
Equality focus –domestic violence 
 
What difference do we want to make – people in Leeds can lead safer, healthier 
and happier lives and are free from the risks, threats and harms associated with 
Domestic Violence and Abuse 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
One of the ambitions of the city is to tackle the prevalence and impact of domestic 
violence and abuse and it has been named as one of the Council’s 7 breakthrough 
projects.   
 
There have been over 14,000 reported incidents of domestic violence and abuse in 
Leeds within the last 12 months. Both men and women may experience incidents of 
inter-personal violence, however; women are considerably more likely to experience 
repeated and severe forms of violence.  Within Leeds, over 80% of victims of 
domestic violence and abuse are women.  A third of all domestic violence reported 
incidents had children present.  There are issues relating to under-reporting from 
victims of different communities. 
 
Additionally those communities/ wards with the highest levels of poverty and 
deprivation account for a disproportionately higher levels of domestic violence and 
abuse reporting than the more affluent parts of the city.  The ten most deprived 
wards across Leeds account for almost 50% of all reported domestic violence 
incidents.   
 
Key Actions:  Introducing a ‘routine enquiry’ pilot initiative in GP practices, to 
promote early identification and timely intervention for women  
 
Implementing a range of perpetrators/ instigator programmes to change behaviour, 
and sustain change 
 
Delivering an Integrated Offender Management response for high risk perpetrators  
 
Deliver effective publicity and marketing campaigns 
 
Develop and introduce a network of  DV Champions/ Ambassadors across the city 
 
Encourage greater reporting of domestic violence and abuse amongst BME 
communities 
Establish the front door safeguarding hub to respond effectively to the risk of 
domestic violence and abuse and coordinate effective support 
 
Key Indicator:  Reduce repeat incidence rate of domestic violence and abuse 
 

----------------------------- 

Page 388



 

39 
 

Improvement Priority – Community Tolerance and Respect 
 
Equality focus – increase awareness and understanding of hate crime and 
         Reduce the occurrence and impact of hate crime 
 
What difference do we want to make – improve community tolerance and respect 
 
Equality analysis –why this is important as an equality priority 
 
In 2014 Leeds Anti Social Behaviour Team (LASBT), working in partnership with the 
Police, Stop Hate UK and Hate Incident Reporting Centres across Leeds, played a 
lead role in developing and delivering the current ‘Hate Crime Strategy for Leeds’. 
The strategy reflects the Government’s Plan to tackle hate crime, ‘Challenge it, 
Report it, Stop it’, published In 2012, aiming to prevent and reduce levels of hate 
crime by ensuring victims and witnesses are supported, and offenders are brought to 
justice. 
 
During the year to end of March 2015, LASBT received 293 reported Hate Incidents, 
(slightly down on the figures for 2013/13 when it received 331 reports).  227 (77.5%) 
of all reports received were identified as being reported under the ‘Race’ strand, 26 
(8.9%) were linked to ‘Sexual Orientation’ reports and 23 (7.8%) were identified as 
‘Disability’ hate incidents, with 17 (Faith, Transgender and Other).  LASBT 
subsequently opened 108 hate related cases for investigation. 
 
Data from West Yorkshire police shows that during the same period the police 
recorded 1282 reported Hate Incidents across Leeds, an increase from the previous 
12 month period of 107 reports (2013/14 – 1175 hate incidents).  
 
1072 (83.6%) of all reports received were identified as being reported under the 
‘Race’ strand, 88 (6.8%) were linked to ‘Sexual Orientation’ reports and 58 (4.58%) 
were identified as ‘Disability’ hate incidents, with 64 (Faith and Transgender reports). 
 
Hate Crimes recorded by the police also rose slightly during 2014/15 to 831 from the 
2013/4 figure of 810.  
 
Taking the three sets of data together the overall figures for Hate Incidents and hate 
Crime were 2406 in 2014/5, a small increase on the 2316 recorded during the same 
period in 2013/4.  
 
Additional documents:  Safer Leeds Plan 2015/16, Hate Crime Strategy for Leeds, 
‘Challenge it, Report it, Stop it’ (2012)  
 
Key Actions: Deliver training and publicity to increase awareness and 
understanding of what constitutes hate crime  
 
Build victims’ confidence to report hate crime  
 
Key Indicators:  Number of Hate Crime reports 
 
Reduce the number of repeat victims 

Page 389



 

40 
 

Improvement Priority – people in Leeds are safe and feel safe in their own homes, 
in the streets and in places they go 
 
Equality focus –child sexual exploitation 
 
What difference do we want to make – Prevent and protect children from sexual 
exploitation 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality improvement priority 
Child sexual exploitation has been recognised as a strategic priority for both the 
Community Safety Partnership (Safer Leeds Executive) and the Leeds Safeguarding 
Children Board.   
 
In 2013 - 2014, 153 new cases were recorded in Leeds and between April 2014 and 
April 2015 there were 317 new cases recorded.  The majority of cases were 
recorded as White British, (75%) and 65% were aged between 14 and 18 years old 
at the time sexual exploitation was recognised as a concern, with girls and young 
women accounting for 81% of all cases. This mirrors the previous local data and is in 
accordance with the national picture.  The increase in the number of young people 
identified as at risk of, or experiencing CSE, highlights the commitment of all 
agencies to safeguard children and young people in Leeds from being sexually 
exploited. 
 
Research indicates that boys and young men are less likely to be identified as at risk 
of, or experiencing sexual exploitation, partly due to professional attitudes being less 
protective towards them than towards girls and young women. Also there are 
possibly more barriers for boys and young men in telling a trusted adult of their risk 
or experiences. One consequence of this is that, boys and young men may be more 
likely to externalise their thoughts and feelings, which may influence behaviours that 
can be interpreted and responded to as anti-social or offending behaviour rather than 
vulnerability.  Whilst there has been a marked increase in the number of boys and 
young men identified as at risk of CSE locally, the under representation of boys and 
young men remains a recognised area of challenge. 
 
For children and young people from Black, Asian or other ethnic minorities, there are 
a number of complex and interrelating reasons as to why they are less likely to be 
identified by agencies and why their experiences of CSE remain ‘hidden’.. 
Additionally, for children and young people from South Asian communities in 
particular, there is a recognised gap with regard to understanding and identifying the 
complexities of CSE and how it can be linked to other emerging areas that require 
strategic and operational attention, such as forced marriage and honour based 
violence.  
 
The under-identification of children and young people from Black, Asian or other 
ethnic minorities, and also for children and young people who have a physical or 
learning disability ‘’remains a concern’’ both nationally as recognised by Office of 
Children’s Commissioner, and locally and is key challenge and priority area for 
strategic development. 
 
Additional documents:  Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy  

Page 390



 

41 
 

 
---------------------------------- 

Improvement Priority –supporting all citizens of Leeds to live safely in their own 
home 
 
Equality focus –is on ensuring that we have identified and removed as many 
organisational barriers as possible to people who need to access services through 
health and social care teams. We have identified that one of the key barriers is 
information. We must ensure that people who require services can make fully 
informed decisions about their care. To do this they need to have clear and concise 
information on the options available to them and on the potential consequences of 
any choices, in formats they can easily understand. 
 
What difference do we want to make – to increase the number of people 
supported to live safely in their own home by ensuring that all citizens of Leeds have 
access to accurate timely and appropriate information on what is available. Access 
to such information supports people using the service, and those who support them, 
to make high quality informed decision about how they want their care needs 
meeting. 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
The way we develop and deliver Adult Social Care in Leeds is directed by the three 
better lives themes  

 Better Lives through Housing Care and Support - we will promote 
achievement of agreed personal outcomes (including increasing access and 
the equity of access to services) across all equality characteristics to 
encompass all communities and citizens of Leeds  

 Better Lives through Enterprise – all citizens will have access to appropriate 
services and or support, with assistance to develop appropriate services from 
within the community   

                                      Unheard Voices report 
 
Key Actions:   increase understanding of locations and individuals or groups who 
sexually exploit  children and young people  
 
Develop agency reach and impact on harder to reach communities  by delivering a 
programme of CSE awareness raising and training sessions /events for children, 
young people, parents /carers and the wider communities 
 
Work proactively with education establishments and local communities to help them 
to better  identify and respond appropriately to concerns about CSE 
 
Key Indicators:  Increase the overall number of boys assessed to be at risk of, or 
experiencing CSE  and provide appropriate intervention, support and protection in 
accordance with the Leeds managing a CSE concern pathway 
 
Increase the overall number of girls and young women from South Asian 
communities assessed to be at risk of, or experiencing CSE and provide appropriate 
intervention, support and protection in accordance with the Leeds managing a CSE 
concern pathway 

Page 391



 

42 
 

 Better Lives through integration – all citizens of Leeds will have access to, and 
benefit from, joined up services provided by integrated health and social care 
teams 
 

The Adult Social Care equality priorities were refreshed in May/June 2014 to reflect 
what we were being told was important to our service users and carers and to align 
to the three Better lives themes. The messages we have been receiving are that 
communication at all levels needs to be improved. People who use the service, their 
families and others important to them are telling us that either they feel they do not 
have the information they need, or that it is in a format or language they find difficult 
to understand. We need to ensure that people have all the relevant information to be 
fully involved in the planning and provision of their care and make high quality 
decisions about their care. 
  
Examples are the use of jargon, not providing clear and concise information 
regarding the various options available, not checking understanding and proceeding 
in a manner and at pace appropriate to the individual.  

 
Though we are able to evidence clear progress against the priorities there is still 
some way to go. The degree of change in Adult Social Care, the integration agenda, 
the Care Act and the need to reduce costs, make it critical that we ensure good clear 
communication. The priorities in place provide the drive to ensure that the people 
using our services have the information they require to make clearly informed 
decisions on what is best for them, being clear about what is available, how it is 
provided and what it may mean for them. 
 
Additional documents: Care Act 2014 
 
Key Actions Development of an Information and Advice  Strategy to support the 
implementation of the Care Act 2014 
 
Work to enhance staff skills in communicating with a range of individuals provide 
Master classes by an expert in the use of Plain English in social care and included 
this in QA of case files. Provide sessions to new social workers around 
communication. 
 
Support work to enhance the design of information pathways to ensure clarity and 
understanding. 
 
Work with emergent communities to identify and where possible remove the 
organisational barriers to accessing services and ensure these communities can 
access the support they need 
 
Key Indicators  One of the National reported Indicators asks people receiving 
services about whether they have adequate information and this is being used as the 
Key indicator to judge progress.  We will use this as an overarching Key Indicator of 
progress 
 
We will be collecting data regarding information accessibility through consultation 
and engagement and via our quality assurance processes. 

Page 392



 

43 
 

We will present both the over-arching KPI and a range of stories and feedback from 
communities and individuals to provide a broad understanding of the progress of the 
priorities. 
 
 

------------------------------------------- 
 
Improvement Priority - To improve the health of the most vulnerable in Leeds 
 
Equality Focus – Perinatal education programme targeting families with additional 
needs.  
 
What difference do we want to make – Improve perinatal support to families with 
additional needs and at risk of poorer outcomes including recent migrants; asylum 
seekers; refugees; those who have difficulty reading/speaking/understanding 
English; have learning difficulties; those who have low level  mental health problems; 
and others made vulnerable through a variety of factors. 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
The link between poverty and health and the importance of redressing health 
inequalities has been well-documented (e.g. Marmot 2010). The Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) provides evidence of health inequalities that exist for 
vulnerable groups, and this priority seeks to address one aspect of this. 
 
This is new work with planned capacity, utilises an evidence based approach, and  
targets protected groups to reduce health inequalities. Leeds Maternity Health Needs 
Assessment provided the evidence of poorer outcomes among the families targeted 
with this programme while Leeds Service Review of Ante-natal and Early Post-natal 
Support for Families with Complex Lives highlighted the limited availability of 
targeted and community based perinatal support.  
 
The Perinatal Education Programme targets families with additional needs as there 
is evidence in this group of poor access to services and poor outcomes such as 
infant mortality, low birth weight, poorer language and communication skills in young 
children, and poorer school readiness. 
 
Additional documents:  Marmot (2010); JSNA 2015, Leeds Maternity Health Needs 
Assessment, Leeds Service Review of Ante-natal and Early Post-natal Support for 
families with Complex Lives 
 
Key Actions Deliver a programme of support to 200 families which targets families 
with additional needs and who have been made vulnerable through a variety of 
factors. 
 
Key Indicators The number of families with additional needs at risk of poorer 
outcomes engaged with the programme. 
 

---------------------------------------- 
 
 

Page 393



 

44 
 

Improvement Priority –  Fuel Poverty and Improving Energy Efficiency 
 
Equality focus – work to improve properties and assist tenants living in fuel poverty 
over the next 4 years 
 
What difference do we want to make – Reducing Fuel Poverty for Housing Leeds 
tenants in order to improve health and wellbeing   
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority   
Fuel poverty is a product of low incomes and high energy costs. It affects the most 
vulnerable residents in our communities and can have adverse impacts on their well-
being. Fuel price rises are combining with flat incomes to increase fuel poverty, with 
3.5 million households living in fuel poverty in 2010 compared to 1 million 
households in 2004. As fuel bills continue to rise and incomes remain stagnant, 
Leeds recognises that more residents will be at risk of falling into fuel poverty unless 
the causes are addressed.  
 
The effects of cold caused by fuel poverty are not evenly spread - young children, 
particularly disabled children, and old people are most at risk of hypothermia. 
Children living in cold homes are twice as likely to develop respiratory conditions. 
Cold can make some health conditions such as musculoskeletal disorders, 
respiratory illness, mental health and cancer worse and can mean that frail people 
are more at risk of falls.  These conditions make a major contribution to the gap in 
life expectancy between the most prosperous and most disadvantaged wards.   
 
Reducing fuel poverty, and therefore increasing affordable warmth, increases life 
expectancy, improves mental health and wellbeing and reduces health inequalities. It 
improves children’s educational achievements and school attendance and reduces 
the incidence of childhood asthma. It also promotes social well-being and 
independent living, with older people able to use the whole house following central 
heating installation. This potentially reduces or delays admission to hospitals and 
care homes and reduces bed-blocking and winter pressures on the NHS.  
 
The five Leeds wards with the highest percentage of households that suffer fuel 
poverty all have an above average (or higher) concentration of BME communities in 
council housing. They are likely to have low incomes which will exacerbate fuel 
poverty. Income maximisation will also help alleviate fuel poverty. 
 
Some property types are inherently more expensive to heat than others, particularly 
system-built properties and pre-1930 buildings. Housing Leeds will therefore target 
energy efficiency improvements in the lowest performing property types (according 
to SAP), which are the most expensive to heat, thereby addressing the energy 
demands of properties on a ‘worst first’ basis.  
  
Key Actions: Install solar panels and reduce energy costs for tenants 
                       Build a new, biomass fuelled district heating scheme in Armley 
                       Programme of external wall insulation to improve energy efficiency 
                       through Green Deal to be rolled out. 
                       Gas central heating and boiler replacements to take place in  
                       prioritised areas. 

Page 394



 

45 
 

                       Targeted Improvements to properties with Low ‘SAP’ Ratings 
 
Key Indicators: 230 properties in the Clydes multi-storey blocks and Phil May Court 
sheltered complex will be provided with affordable, energy-efficient heating and hot 
water.  
 
Reduce number of households in fuel poverty 
 
 

---------------------------------------------- 
 
Living at Home 

 
Improvement Priority – to enable older people to remain in their homes as long as 
they wish 

 
Equality focus – Provide support and accommodation needs of older people 

 
What difference do we want to make – to enable older people to remain in their 
homes as long as they wish 

 
Demographic growth: The number of older people in Leeds is growing and by 
2020 it is anticipated that those most in need of care and support, mainly older 
people aged 75 plus will increase by around 13%. Leeds City Council has 
recognised that this demographic shift requires a change in how services for older 
people are delivered. Overall, 39% of Council tenants are currently aged 55 and 
over and 4% are aged 85 and over.   It is projected that over the next 15 to 20 years 
this could increase significantly to 68% of tenants being over 55, and 18% of these 
being over 85 years old (Renew Research, 2014). The LCC Adult Social Care 
Strategy - ‘Better Lives for Older People’ has identified the need for approximately 
900 units of Extra Care housing by 2020.  
  
Housing Leeds has a portfolio of approximately 4200 Category 2 sheltered units in 
127 schemes across the city (these are purpose built units for older people usually 
with communal facilities and a visiting Sheltered Support Officer).  Housing Leeds 
also manages 235 Category 1 properties (purpose built units for older people but 
with no communal facilities or visiting Sheltered Support Officer, but with the 
availability of telecare).  In addition, Telecare Leeds also provides 24 hour 
emergency support to a further 831 general needs council properties. 
 
As 75% of LCC tenants over 65 (and 66% of tenants over 85) live in general needs 
housing it is essential that the project also considers options for developing other 
housing and support solutions for all older tenants. It is well known that social 
isolation has a huge impact on overall physical and mental health, and so an 
important part of the project is to look at the wider role of sheltered housing in 
providing a community that all tenants feel part of, within the wider community 
 
Customer consultation: Emerging themes from customer consultation are: most 
tenants moving into sheltered housing do so at the point that their support needs 
increase, usually once diagnosed with an illness or their mobility has reduced.  Most 

Page 395



 

46 
 

don’t wish they had moved earlier to plan for the future; the property was the main 
consideration when applying for housing, rather than the support package, e.g. 
applying for bungalows regardless of whether sheltered or not; level access and a 
reliable working lift to flats on the first floor and above was very important; security 
was very important, particularly window locks, security lighting 
 
Key Actions: Review the support models available for older tenants 
 
Support the Development of Extra Care housing provision by joint working with Adult 
Social Care and other local housing providers 
 
To improve accessibility and kerb appeal across sheltered schemes 
 
Key Indicators: To have a wider range of support choice available to better meet 
the needs of older people in Leeds 
 
Increased availability of housing choice and provision including Extra Care and 
Sheltered Schemes across Leeds for older people 
 
That accessibility and the physical appearance of sheltered schemes is improved. 
The service better meets the long term needs and sustainability of sheltered housing 
for older people in Leeds 
 

----------------------------------------- 
 

Improvement Priority – housing options for young people 
 
Equality focus – to reduce homelessness for 16 to 24 year olds, such as care 
leavers, young offenders and young people whose relationship with family has 
broken down. In addition, to reduce homelessness from existing young tenants 
who find it difficult to maintain successful council tenancies 
 
What difference do we want to make – improve housing options for young people 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality improvement priority 
National research indicates that under 25s now account for more than half of people 
seeking help with homelessness and make up over half of those living in homeless 
accommodation services in England  62% are young people becoming homeless 
due to family and friends no longer willing to accommodate due to a relationship 
break down. Some are more at risk than others, 13% of young people experiencing 
homelessness are young offenders, 11% are care leaver (source Young & Homeless 
2014: Executive summary- Homeless Link).  
 
In 2014 Leeds had 2,339 16-24 year olds presented themselves as homeless. Out of 
the 2,339, 302 of them were 16/17 year olds. In most circumstances, it has been 
identified that the interests of young people (especially 16 and 17 year olds) are best 
served by living with their parents and that they should move to independent living in 
a planned way.  In 2014 the youth mediation workers in Housing Leeds  prevented 
homelessness in 447 cases, and  there have been no B&B placements for 16-24 
year olds in the past 12 months.  

Page 396



 

47 
 

 
There are 2,861 (5%) lead tenants aged between 16-24 who live in council 
properties. A customer STAR satisfaction survey in 2014 identified that 59% of 16-24 
year olds who complete the survey were satisfied with the overall service from 
Housing Leeds, and those least satisfied also finding their current financial situation 
difficult.  The findings also showed that younger tenants were most likely to find it 
difficult to manage their finances and afford energy bills. 
 
Key Actions:  Develop a new tenants (aged 16-24) focus group to better understand 
support needs and how young tenants can be better supported to maintain a 
successful tenancy. 
 
Review the way Housing Leeds supports tenants with additional support needs 
including young people, and deliver relevant service enhancements. 
 
Replacing Local Lettings Policies with Community Lettings Policies.  
 
Engage with young tenants by modernising communication methods and using 
eg live Twitter feeds and online forums 
 
Key Indicators: Improve the tenant STAR satisfaction survey of 2014 
 
Reduce the number of age related Local Lettings Policies (currently covering almost 
7000 properties)  
 

------------------------------------------------ 
 
Enjoying Culture and Sport 
 
Improvement Priority –  Cultural opportunities 
 
Equality focus – working to ensure equality groups are fully involved in the 
European Capital of Culture bid development and engagement, and  
Make all aspects of our activities as fully accessible as our resources allow, including 
access to buildings, collections, events, exhibitions, learning and to our staff and 
volunteers as well as visitors 
 
What difference do we want to make- improving access to and involvement in 
cultural opportunities. 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
 
There are physical access challenges which exist at several sites, and we are 
working to overcome these so that everyone can access the cultural opportunities in 
Leeds Museums and Galleries. 
 
There is scope to improve intellectual access at our sites, and we are taking into 
account people’s varied needs and preferred learning styles by adopting clear 
interpretive guidance 
 

Page 397



 

48 
 

Key Actions:  Continue to consult and engage with all equality groups in developing 
the Capital of Culture bid to ensure it reflects the diversity of the city’s population and 
encompasses events, experiences and opportunities that are accessible to different 
audiences. 
 
Complete physical access audits of nine sites  

 
Review existing interpretive guidance / marketing 
 
Key Indicators:  Number of Audits completed 
 
Review completed 
 

------------------------------ 
 
Improvement Priority –  Quality of parks in Leeds 
 
Equality focus –  Equal access for all: 

 Something for everyone - young and old 
 Facilities for disabled people - including play 
 Reflect cultural / ethnic / religious background of visitors 

 
What difference do we want to make – To improve the quality of parks in Leeds 
with a focus on community parks that provide and develop facilities and activities 
available for everyone who wishes to visit. 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
Parks and Countryside operate a site assessment programme based on the national 
Green Flag Award standard known as Leeds Quality Park (LQP). This assesses the 
quality of provision on a range of site typologies with emphasis placed on the user 
experience. The sub-criteria in the Green Flag/Leeds Quality Park covers the 
following from an equality perspective: 

Equal access for all 
 Something for everyone – young and old 

 Facilities for disabled people – including play 

 Reflect cultural/ ethnic/ religious background of visitors 
Analysis of the assessment data allows for ‘scoring’ of provision against a 10 point 
scoring line with 0 being very poor and 10 being exceptional. To be considered as 
passing LQP a site must score 7 or more.   
 
From 2015 onwards Parks and Countryside will conduct these assessments with 
support from volunteer judges drawn from the community who have been provided 
with training to undertake the judging alongside council staff. 
 
Our performance against the LQP assessments is currently reported annually using 
the existing indicator ‘the percentage of parks and countryside community parks 
which meet Leeds Quality Park status’ and we propose to add an additional equality 
sub-indicator ‘percentage of sites assessed that achieve a score of 7 or above 

Page 398



 

49 
 

against equal access for all’. This is measured as a score out of 10 across the broad 
‘equal access for all’ perspective not for each individual strand ( e.g. age, 
accessibility, ethnicity, religion etc.) 
 
Key Actions:  Develop an additional equality sub indicator 
 
Key Indicators:  Increase the percentage of parks and countryside community parks 
which meet Leeds Quality Park status: 
 
100% of community parks meet Quality Park status by 2020  
 
Increase percentage of sites assessed that achieve a score of 7 or above against 
equal access for all sub criteria 
 

------------------------------------------ 
 

Improvement Priority –  Ensure that all sports and leisure facilities and activities 
are as fully accessible as reasonably possible 

 
Equality focus – to improve access to sports and leisure facilities 

 
What difference do we want to make- to increase participation in sports and 
leisure facilities for disabled people and women. 

 
Equality analysis – why this is an equality improvement priority? 
 
We offer a wide range of activities that can enhance the physical activity levels of a 
broad section of the community, offering access to public sessions for people of all 
abilities and backgrounds through intelligent programming, reasonable adjustments 
and specific sessions such as Leeds Let’s Get Active, women’s and disability sport 
sessions.  However, the annual customer survey identifies access is an issue for 
some groups. 
 
This is supported by local knowledge, customer suggestions and complaints 
regarding sessions and facilities.  This also shows that participation of girls/young 
women in sport reduces significantly as they hit puberty/become teenagers.  
Nationally this has resulted in the This Girl Can campaign 
 
The sport service had developed strong partnerships with Adult Social Care and 
currently hosts learning disability bases in 10 leisure centres and plans to expand on 
this where possible. ASC are keen to develop further bases for older people and are 
working with sport to identify possible locations. 
 
A partnership with ASC led to the development of Holt Park Active, which provides 
activity for people with learning disabilities, older people and people with physical 
disabilities. ASC provide specialist services and support people to attend the 
mainstream activities in the centre. The provision of this wellbeing type of centre is 
now central to the Vision for Leisure Centres. 
 
To ensure the community are aware of sessions, facilities and opportunities available 

Page 399



 

50 
 

to them a wide range of media including website, twitter, facebook, leaflets, posters, 
newsletters, one to one sessions, meetings and links with external organisations are 
used to ensure  people receive information in a format that is relevant to themselves 
 
We continue to ensure a fair pricing policy that allows people to use our facilities and 
attend our activities at appropriate pricing levels. Examples include: Breeze Card, 
LeedsCard, LeedsCard extra, Bodyline Card, free access to carers, foster children 
scheme, Leeds Let’s Get Active, junior prices and reduced entry at off peak times. 
Partnerships.  We will continue to review pricing and adapt it where appropriate. 

 
Key Actions: Access audit on each facility prior to development as part of the Vision 
for leisure centres. 
 
Review pricing policy annually 
 
Develop partnerships with other organisations to increase opportunities to access 
facilities and programmes. 
 
Implement staff training in equality, disability awareness and adapting activities. 
 
Identify barriers to female participation through work with Leeds Trinity University 
 
Key Indicators:  Number of access issues identified and addressed 
 
One wellbeing centre developed as part of the Vision for Leisure Centres 
 
Delivery of a comprehensive disability sport programme 
 
% staff trained in equality, disability awareness and adapting activities 
 
Barriers to female participation and measures required to address them are identified 
 

--------------------------------------- 
 
Promoting an Inclusive Environment 
 
Improvement Priority –  Planning design and access 
 
Equality focus  - the production and adoption of  a Supplementary Planning 
Document on Inclusive Design and Access   
 
What difference do we want to make- an inclusive physical environment for all 
 
Equality analysis – why this is an equality improvement priority 
 
An inclusive physical environment delivers benefits to disabled people, older people, 
parents, and children and young people  
 
National Planning Policy Guidance states: “Planning should promote access and 
inclusion. An inclusive environment is one that can be accessed and used by 

Page 400



 

51 
 

everyone. It recognises and accommodates differences in the way people use the 
built environment. 
 
“Good design can help to create buildings and places that are for everyone. Planning 
can help break down unnecessary physical barriers and exclusions caused by the 
poor design of buildings and places. Inclusive design acknowledges diversity and 
difference and is more likely to be achieved when it is considered at every stage of 
the development process, from inception to completion. Too often the needs of 
users, including disabled people, older people and families with small children, are 
considered too late in the day. 
 
Inclusive design should not only be specific to the building, but also include the 
setting of the building in the wider built environment, for example, the location of the 
building on the plot; the gradient of the plot; the relationship of adjoining buildings; 
and the transport infrastructure. 
 
The planning process is an ideal opportunity to ensure that LCC plays its part in 
delivering an inclusive environment, working towards the aim of Leeds creating an 
environment which: 
 

 provides built, future proofed solutions, which enable independent access and 
which work with minimal (if any) management/ human intervention; 

 goes beyond minimum design standards to ensure the highest standards in 
terms of inclusive design are met, to create environments that work for a wide 
range of people, avoiding disabling barriers and which provide an intuitive and 
enjoyable environment to use for current and future users. 

  
Additional documents: The National Planning Policy Framework and Guidance  
 
Key Actions: Carry out external consultation and involvement of LCC’s Access and 
Use-ability Group and/or LCC’s Equality Hubs in the design of the guidance 
 
Key Indicator: Produce and adopt the guidance on inclusive design and access 
 

-------------------------------------- 
 
Improvement Priority – Clean and Clear Pavements 
 
Equality focus – To improve the accessibility of pavements by tackling physical 
obstructions and seasonal hazards 
 
What difference do we want to make – Easier access to pavements particularly for 
elderly or disabled people 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
The Locality teams are focused on improving their local neighbourhoods for the 
benefit of their communities.  Tackling these issues will assist blind and partially 
sighted people, older people and those with physical disabilities to access their local 
neighbourhoods independently. 
 

Page 401



 

52 
 

The areas of work identified account for a significant number of service requests 
from the public each year and prioritising them will improve the general 
neighbourhood for all. 
 
Key Actions: Take action against residents/businesses who are causing access 
problems on public pathways through such issues as overgrown vegetation (eg. 
hedges), wheelie bins left out well after/before collection day and illegal/unauthorised 
advertising (eg.  A-boards).  
 
The autumn/early winter programme of leaf clearance will focus on those 
paths/streets where leaf fall is known to cause the most problems. Requests for 
additional sweeping to remove leaves in this period will be responded to as a 
priority. 
 
Provide support to gritting and snow clearance around sheltered housing complexes 
and other known vulnerable housing locations. 
 
Key Indicator: Reduction in service requests in relation to access to pavements 
 
 

---------------------------------------- 
 
Improvement Priority – The city centre 
 
Equality focus – Making Leeds City Centre more accessible and user friendly  
 
What difference do we want to make- improve provision of information so 
everyone can find their way around the city centre 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
For people to be fully involved in everyday life in Leeds and to access services they 
need to be able to find their way around the city centre.  Feedback tells us: 
 

 Pedestrians with mobility impairments generally prefer to know the average 
length of time it takes to walk to a destination 

 Pedestrians with limited knowledge of written English or with visual 
impairments need information in a different format eg supported with 
universally understood symbols and large, uncluttered maps without clashing 
logos styles.  Pictograms (illustrated buildings) are highlighted as destinations 
but also act as landmarks for users to locate themselves by 

 Paper based information is important for pedestrians without access to digital 
technology such as international visitors, or those lacking in digital skills 
 

Key Actions:  Continue to keep the paper, downloadable and digital maps up to 
date. 
 
Seek external funding to update Walk it master map and extend on street mapping in 
the city centre, including the South Bank. 
 
Provide information in a range of ways so they are accessible to all. 

Page 402



 

53 
 

Key indicators:  Total take up of paper maps at the Visitor Information Centre and 
other outlets. 
 
Up to date downloadable maps available online including through our on-line partner 
Walkit.com/Leeds 
 
Support secured from the Business Improvement District company, retailers and 
other businesses through paper map sponsorship, funding contributions and other 
measures. 
 
Feedback from access groups. 
 

------------------------------------ 
 
Improvement Priority –  Simplified street space in the city and district centres  
 
Equality focus – Develop an approach to the city centre and district centres around 
simplified street space   
 
What difference do we want to make- ensure simplified street space is safe and is 
recognised as safe for all 
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
A case by case approach will help to allay any fears about the appropriateness of 
shared (now referred to as simplified) spaces in certain circumstances. The following 
have and will continue to be taken into account: 
 

 Local data relating to accidents and use of street space 
 National guidance on the design of streets and street space 
 Feedback from consultation and engagement activities 

 
Key Action:  To implement simplified street space in a way that allays concerns of 
disabled people 
 
Key Indicator:  Number of accidents and claims against the Council in general, and 
particularly for children and older people, disabled people (especially visually and 
impaired people) and cyclists. 
 

--------------------------------------------------- 
 
Improvement Priority – Parking facilities  

 
Equality focus – Ensure proper use of disabled parking facilities in Leeds 

 
What difference do we want to make- increase disabled peoples access to a wide 
range of shops and facilities 

 
Equality analysis – why this is an equality priority  Access to parking has a 
significant effect on the ability of disabled people to participate in everyday life.  We 

Page 403



 

54 
 

are committed to taking steps to make sure that disabled parking facilities are 
available for disabled people 
 
Between September 2013 and June 2015 the council has successfully prosecuted 
274 individuals due to their misuse of blue badges and disabled parking facilities 
within the City.  In addition over recent years there have been regular articles in the 
national press about the misuse of disabled parking facilities.   
 
We take action through penalty charge notices and we have without a genuine need.  
The aim has been to promote the message that this is not acceptable and will not be 
tolerated in Leeds. 
 
Key Actions:  Take action against people who have used disabled parking  facilities 
illegally 
 
Publicise cases where people have been abusing disabled parking facilities 
 
Key Indicators: Number of successful prosecutions of misuse of disabled parking 
facilities 
 

---------------------------------- 
 
Improving Access to Language Provision 
 
Improvement Priority –  Customer experience  
 
Equality focus – improve the customer experience for deaf people and those with 
English as a second language  
 
What difference do we want to make- increase access to services for sign 
language users and those with English as a second language 
 
Equality analysis – why this is an equality priority - Conversations with the Leeds 
Deaf Forum led to Customer Services looking at the experiences of deaf customers. 
This showed that some sign language users had waited 2 weeks for an interpreter, 
and this is considered unacceptable.  For the majority of enquiries the resident 
couldn’t wait this length of time and the Deaf Forum asked the Council to lead the 
way and look at how it could deal with request from deaf customers differently.   
 
Our records show that between April and Sept 2015 76% of BSL requests were 
confirmed booked either the same of the next day, and 89% were within 5 days, but 
there were 11% that took over 5 days.  (This is a similar position to that from 
2014/15).  We are keen to improve this further. 
 
The deaf forum were involved in deciding what the best solution was. Analysis 
showed that the majority of sign language users attend the Compton Centre, City 
Centre, Reginald Centre and Armley facilities.  The BSL video interpreter service is 
therefore being used in these areas. There are plans to provide the service at 
Dewsbury Road One Stop Centre too so that the facility is available in all parts of the 
City. The service means that a deaf resident can access services there and then just 

Page 404



 

55 
 

as a hearing customer can. 
 
The one stop centres have recognised that there are higher numbers of people 
wanting to access their services who have very limited English.  This prevents them 
from accessing benefits and other services, without the use of an interpreter.  To 
make the services more accessible work is taking place to increase information in 
relation to both accessing interpreters and also accessing English language classes. 
By using the Learn English Website anyone can look and see up to date information 
on where ESOL classes are available.  The web page can be translated into the 
residents’ language so they can access where the classes are available. 
 
Kay Actions - Use of the new BSL video interpreter service 

- to promote the availability of the service at Compton Centre and City Centre 
- to extend the service to Reginald Centre and Armley 
- to see if residents from other parts of the city travel to these centre for BSL 

and if so to extend the service to other centres 
Key Actions - Promote the Learn English website 

- to people coming into Council One Stop Centres and Libraries 
- on the website 
- to customers using interpretation services 

 
Key Indicators Increase the number of residents who use the BSL service 

                    Reduce the Councils spend on interpreting services 
                         Number of free hours of rooms and facilities for ESOL classes            

provided 
 

----------------------------- 
 

Improvement Priority – Recycling rates and quality of recycling 
 
Equality focus – Improve recycling rates and quality of recycling from residents new 
to Leeds and/or where English may not be the primary language. 
 
What difference do we want to make – We are looking to ensure that our 
communication approach and activities recognise the barriers faced by residents 
new to Leeds and/or  where English may not be the primary language.  
 
Our aim is to simplify our waste and recycling message, using pictorial symbols on 
literature, supported by other communications activities such that residents better 
understand and so are able to comply the waste and recycling systems provided in 
Leeds.  
 
Equality analysis – why this is important as an equality priority 
 
We want to improve the natural environment by dealing effectively with the city’s 
waste.  By encouraging residents to participate correctly with waste and recycling will 
improve the local environment as there will be reduced instances of overflowing and/ 
or contaminated recycling bins left on the street. This, in turn, looks to improve 
resident pride in their local area and as such make areas more pleasant to live and 
feel safer. 

Page 405



 

56 
 

 
An improved environment has an impact on health and wellbeing, which is also one 
of our priorities.   
 
The census data will help identify potential barriers to recycling such as language 
issues. It will also help inform how to tailor our approach in specific areas.  
 
We have already developed a pictorial leaflet to help people understand our service 
where English may not be their first language. This information needs to be tested in 
various localities such that the improvement priority is successfully delivered. 
 
Key Actions:  Use targeted intelligence based communications and other targeted 
action to support residents to improve recycling. 
 
Implement suitable service where alternative weekly collection service is not suitable 
 
Key Indicator;  Increase recycling tonnage in targeted areas. 

 
--------------------------------------- 

 
Valuing New Communities 
 
Improvement Priority –  Supporting communities working together 
 
Equality focus – Understand the context and impact of migration on Leeds 
 
What difference do we want to make- to ensure differences are valued, and 
support communities to be cohesive 
 
Equality analysis – why this is an equality priority 
 
We aim to be a welcoming city.  Many of Leeds’ communities are made up of people 
from different backgrounds, beliefs and cultures.  People live and work together and 
where differences are not fully understood or valued then tensions can occur.  It is 
important that we support communities to work together, strengthen community 
cohesion and help break down barriers. 
 
Leeds is one of the fastest growing cities in the UK, and currently home to over 140 
ethnic groups – making Leeds’ black and minority ethnic population the most diverse 
outside of London. This means that we have a wide diversity of people from different 
countries of origin, as well as from different regions and backgrounds within those 
countries. 
 
Data from the 2011 Census on country of birth, together with new questions on 
age and year of arrival for those born overseas, provides a reliable indication of 
internationally migrant communities of Leeds.  It shows that between 2001 and 2011, 
the number of Leeds residents born outside of the UK almost doubled from 47,636 in 
2001 to 86,144 in 2011, alone currently making up just over 11% of the Leeds 
population. Of those, more than two-thirds were born outside of the EU, and just over 
half arrived at some point in the last 10 years. 

Page 406



 

57 
 

 
Asia is dominant among ten world regions of birth, followed by the EU. In contrast, 
the EU is the most common passport type; the difference is likely to reflect the fact 
that many Asian-born residents also have British citizenship. In Leeds, Pakistan 
is the most common country of birth for non-UK born residents and accounts for 
1.2% of the whole population with India also at a similar level. 
 
In terms of actual numbers, Poland showed the largest increase for those born 
outside the UK (2001-2011), from 830 (0.1% of the population) in 2001 to 7,139 
(0.9%) in 2011 (an increase of 6,309) - this was followed by India and Pakistan a 
joint increase of almost 6,000. 
 
Whilst there is some understanding of the changing nature of the communities a 
clearer picture of the different and emerging communities will enable consideration of 
the services needed, how there are provided and what further work needs to take 
place in order to support strong local communities.  
 
Key Actions  Develop understanding of new and emerging communities in each 
locality 
 
Establish needs of new communities and how the council can best support/influence 
delivery of appropriate services 
 
Consider and adopt appropriate models to strengthen communities working together 
 
Develop approach to recognising and valuing differences 
 
 
Key Indicators  are not currently in place and consideration will be given to how to 
understand success in this area 
 
 
 

Page 407



 

58 
 

 
Summary of Our Equality Improvement Priorities 2016-2020 

This list shows all our 2016-20 equality priorities.   
 

Strong Economy 
 
Achieving potential 

 The gaps in learning outcomes  
 Integrate employment support with mental health support and set equality 

targets for BME apprenticeships 
 Ensuring digital inclusion to provide greater access to jobs, skills and learning 

to reduce poverty 
 Helping people out of financial hardship; tackling the financial challenges of 

poverty, deprivation and inequality 
 
Improving representation 

 To develop a skilled and diverse workforce in the council 
 Include equality representation on relevant major project and partnership 

boards  
 
 

Compassionate City 
 
Living Safely and Well 

 Domestic violence 
 Increase awareness and understanding of hate crime and reduce the 

occurrence and impact of hate crime 
 Child sexual exploitation 
 Identify and remove organisational barriers for people to access services 

through health and social care teams 
 Perinatal education programme targeting families with additional needs 
 Work to improve properties and assist tenants living in fuel poverty over the 

next 4 years 
 

 
Living at home 

 Support and accommodation needs for older people remaining in their own 
home 

 To reduce homelessness for 16-24 year olds, such as care leavers, young 
offenders and young people whose relationship with family has broken down.  
In addition to reduce homelessness from existing young tenants who find it 
difficult to maintain successful council tenancies 

 
Enjoying Culture and Sport 

 Working to ensure equality groups are fully involved in the European Capital 
of Culture bid development and engagement, and that all aspects of our 
activities are as fully accessible as our resources allow, including access to 

Page 408



 

59 
 

buildings, collections, events, exhibitions, learning and to our staff and 
volunteers as well as visitors 

 Ensure equal access for all, something for everyone (young and old), provide 
facilities for disabled people (including play) and reflect 
cultural/ethnic/religious background of visitors in parks 

 Improve access to sports and leisure facilities for women and disabled people 
 
Promoting an inclusive Environment 

 The production and adoption of a Supplementary Planning Document on 
Inclusive Design and Access 

 To improve the accessibility of pavements by tackling physical obstructions 
and seasonal hazards 

 Making Leeds City Centre more accessible and user friendly 
 Develop an approach to the city centre and district centres around simplified 

street space 
 Ensure proper use of disabled parking facilities in Leeds 

 
Improving Language Access 

 Improve the customer experience for BSL users and customers with English 
as a second language 

 Improve recycling rates and quality of recycling from residents new to Leeds 
and/or where English may not be the primary language 

 
Valuing New Communities  

 Understand the context and impact of migration on Leeds 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 409



 

60 
 

For enquiries about this paper please contact the Equality Team: 
 
By email: equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 
By telephone: 0113 2474190 
 
By text: 07891 270162 
 
Website: www.leeds.gov.uk/equality  
 

By post: 
Equality Team 
Ground Floor, 
Civic Hall 
Calverley Street 
Leeds  
LS1 1UR 
 

 
 
This publication can also be made available in alternative formats on request. 
 
If you do not speak English and need help in understanding this document, please 
telephone the number below and state the name of your language.  We will then put 
you on hold while we contact an interpreter.  The number is 0113 247 4190.  
 
Arabic: 
 

 
Bengali: 
 

 
Cantonese: 
 

Hindi: 
 

 
Punjabi: 

 
Kurdish: 

Page 410



 

61 
 

 
 
 
Tigrinya: 
 

 
Urdu: 

 
Czech: 
 
Jestliže nemluvíte anglicky a potřebujete, aby vám někdo pomohl vysvětlit tento 
dokument, prosím zavolejte na níže uvedené číslo a uveďte svůj jazyk. Potom vás 
požádáme, abyste nepokládal(-a) telefon a mezitím zkontaktujeme tlumočníka. 
 
French: 
 
Si vous ne parlez pas anglais et que vous avez besoin d'aide pour comprendre ce 
document, veuillez téléphoner au numéro ci-dessous et indiquez  votre langue. Nous 
vous demanderons d'attendre pendant que nous contactons un(e) interprètre. 
 
Polish: 
 
Jeżeli nie mówią Państwo po angielsku i potrzebują pomocy w zrozumieniu tego 
dokumentu, prosimy zadzwonić pod poniższy numer telefonu. Po podaniu nazwy 
swojego ojczystego języka prosimy poczekać – w tym czasie będziemy kontaktować 
się z tłumaczem. 
 
Slovak: 
Ak nehovoríte anglicky a potrebujete, aby vám niekto pomohol vysvetliť tento 
dokument, prosím zavolajte na nižšie uvedené číslo a uveďte svoj jazyk. Potom vás 
požiadame, aby ste nepokladali telefón a medzitým skontaktujeme tlmočníka. 
 
 

Page 411



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 LEEDS:  

STRONG ECONOMY,  
COMPASSIONATE CITY,

TACKLING INEQUALITIES
EQUALITY IMPROVEMENT PRIORITIES  

SUMMARY 2016-20

Page 413



 
INTRODUCTION

We know that some of our communities have poorer outcomes than others and this affects 
them individually as well as the city as a whole. It is important for everyone to benefit from 
being part of a strong economy and our focus on a compassionate city approach will help  
us do this.

We are committed to making equality a reality for all the citizens of Leeds. Leeds will be a 
city where people are able to recognise, value and embrace diversity and difference. We will 
support people from different backgrounds and ages to feel comfortable living together. We 
will work with organisations across Leeds to promote a clear and consistent message that 
prejudicial views or behaviour that could result in hate incidents or crimes are not tolerated 
or condoned. We will work with communities to ensure people are treated with dignity 
and respect and the causes of unfairness are understood and addressed. We value the 
contributions that all citizens in Leeds make to our city and we want everyone to recognise 
and appreciate these.

We will ensure that we show kindness, and empathise with the difficult situations people 
find themselves in. We will do what we can to work with them to help them alleviate these.

In our aim to be a compassionate city, we want to live in an equal society which recognises 
different people’s different needs, situations and goals and removes the barriers that 
limit what people can do and can be. We will consider all the protected characteristics 
covered in the Equality Act 2010, and we will also widen our considerations to others 
who are disadvantaged in other ways eg by poverty. Our priorities do not include all our 
work across all the protected characteristics, but highlights those areas where there are 
significant differences in outcomes for people due to those characteristics. We believe that 
by addressing these areas we will make Leeds a better city for everyone.

We welcome all communities here and value the contributions that our citizens make  
to our city.

The	following	pages	outline	our	equality	
priorities	which	have	been	developed	
because	we	recognise	that	there	are	
currently	different	outcomes	and	
experiences	for	different	groups	and	
communities.	This	is	not	acceptable	and	
we	will	address	these	differences	where	
ever	we	can.

More	information	about	the	equality	
priorities	and	how	they	have	been	
developed	is	in	the	Equality	Action	Paper.	
These	priorities	are	clearly	referenced	
within	the	Council	Business	Plan	which	
also	has	equality	underpinning	it	and	
running	through	it.

Page 414



 COMPASSIONATE CITY
Living safely and well, living at home, and valuing communities

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT:
•	 317	new	cases	of	child	sexual	exploitation	recorded	

in	Leeds	between	April	2014	and	March	2015
•	 Over	14,000	reported	incidents	of	domestic	violence	

in	Leeds	in	2014/15,	and	over	80%	of	victims	are	
women

•	 2,406	hate	crimes	and	hate	incidents	in	2014/15	in	
Leeds	(involving	race,	sexual	orientation,	disability,	
faith	and	transgender)

•	 Reducing	fuel	poverty	increases	life	expectancy,	
improves	mental	health	and	wellbeing	and	reduces	
health	inequalities

•	 People	using	Adult	Social	Care	services	tell	us	they	
do	not	have	the	information	they	need	,	or	that	it	is	in	
a	format	or	language	they	find	difficult

•	 Over	the	next	15/20	years	it	is	projected	that	68%	
of	council	tenants	will	be	over	55	with	18%	of	these	
being	over	85

•	 2,339	young	people	(16-24	year	olds)	presented	
themselves	as	homeless	in	Leeds	in	2014.	30%	of	
these	were	16/17	year	olds

•	 2,861	(5%)	of	lead	tenants	in	council	properties	are	
between	16-24

KEY ACTIONS
•	 Create	a	team	of	practitioners	dedicated	to	

supporting	victims	and	families	affected	by	child	
sexual	exploitation

•	 Support	200	targeted	families	through	perinatal	
education

•	 Improve	communications	
•	 Review	the	way	Housing	Leeds	supports	tenants	

with	additional	support	needs
•	 Develop	understanding	of	new	and	emerging	

communities	in	each	locality
•	 Consider	and	adopt	appropriate	models	to	

strengthen	communities	working	together
•	 Review	the	support	models	available	for	older	

tenants

KEY INDICATORS
•	 Reduce	repeat	incidence	rate	of	domestic	violence	

and	abuse
•	 Reduce	number	of	repeat	victims	of	hate	incidents	

and	hate	crime
•	 Increase	availability	of	housing	choice	and	provision	

including	Extra	Care	and	Sheltered	Schemes	
across	Leeds	for	older	people

•	 Reduce	number	of	households	in	fuel	poverty

OUR EQUALITY PRIORITIES
although a specific protected characteristic is identified for each priority, work in these 
areas will improve the position for everyone

Young people:   
Improve	housing	options

Those in poverty:  
Improve	perinatal	education Those in poverty:  

Reduce	fuel	poverty
BME:  
Understand	the	context	and	
impact	of	migration	on	Leeds

Women:   
Reduce	the	prevalence	and	impact	
of	domestic	violence	and	abuse

Older people and 
disabled people: 
Identify	and	remove	as	many	
organisational	barriers	as	
possible	to	people	who	need	
access	to	Adult	Social	Care	
services

BME, LGB T, and 
disabled people: 
Reduce	the	impact	and	
occurrence	of	hate	crime

Young people:  
boys	and	girls	from	South	
Asian	communities:	Protect	
children	from	child	sexual	
exploitation

Older and disabled people:  
Supported	to	live	safely	and	as	long	
as	they	wish	in	their	own	homes

Page 415



 COMPASSIONATE CITY
Enjoying culture and sport, inclusive access and 
language access

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT:
•	 Annual	sports	customer	survey	identified	access	as	

an	issue	for	some	groups,	particularly	women	and	
people	with	disabilities	

•	 Inclusive	design	acknowledges	diversity	and	
difference	and	can	help	create	buildings	and	places	
for	everyone

•	 Older	and	disabled	people	tell	us	that	they	have	
problems	with	obstructions	on	pavements,	and	this	
makes	it	difficult	to	get	out	safely

•	 People	with	mobility	impairments	tell	us	it	is	easier	
to	get	around	the	city	centre	if	you	know	the	average	
time	it	takes	to	walk	to	a	destination

•	 Between	Sept	13	and	June	15	the	council	
successfully	prosecuted	274	individuals	due	to	
their	misuse	of	blue	badges	and	disabled	parking	
facilities	in	Leeds.	This	illegal	parking	prevents	
disabled	people	from	using	these	spaces

•	 Some	sign	language	users	have	had	to	wait	over	5	
days	for	an	interpreter	to	support	them	at	Customer	
Services	in	the	council

•	 There	are	higher	numbers	of	people	wanting	to	
access	council	services	who	have	limited	English	
and	this	prevents	them	from	doing	so	easily

KEY ACTIONS
•	 Identify	barriers	to	female	participation	in	sports
•	 Carry	out	external	consultation	and	involvement	of	

the	council’s	Equality	Assembly	and/or	the	Access	
and	User-Ability	Group	in	the	design	of	the	Inclusive	
Design	and	Access	document

•	 Take	action	against	residents	who	are	causing	
access	problems	on	public	pathways	eg	wheelie	
bins,	A	boards,	overgrown	hedges

•	 Provide	relevant	and	appropriate	information	in	a	
way	that	is	accessible	to	all

KEY INDICATORS
•	 Number	of	access	audits	undertaken	on	museums	

and	galleries	in	Leeds
•	 Increase	the	percentage	of	parks	and	countryside	

community	parks	which	meet	Leeds	Quality	Parks	
Standard

•	 Percentage	of	staff	trained	in	equality,	disability	
awareness	and	adapting	activities	(sport)

•	 Produce	and	adopt	the	guidance	on	inclusive	design	
and	access

•	 Reduction	in	service	requests	in	relation	to	access	
to	pavements

OUR EQUALITY PRIORITIES
although a specific protected characteristic is identified for each priority, work in these 
areas will improve the position for everyone

Older people, children, 
disabled people, BME:   
Improve	access	to	cultural	
opportunities	and	sport

Those in poverty and 
new to Leeds:   
Improve	recycling	rates

Deaf people and those 
with limited English:  
Continue	to	improve	awareness	
of	availability	of	ESOL	classes	
and	improve	BSL	interpretation

BME, people of faith, young 
and old, disabled people:   
Improve	the	quality	of	parks

Older people, children 
and disabled people: 
Produce	and	adopt	a	
Supplementary	Planning	
Document	on	Inclusive	Design	
and	AccessOlder people, children, 

disabled people, BME:  
Improve	access	to	Leeds	
city	centre,	pavements	and	
disabled	parking

Older people, children, 
disabled people:  
Ensure	that	simplified	street	
space	is	safe

Page 416



 STRONG ECONOMY
Achieving potential, and improving representation

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT:
•	 Children	living	in	poverty	do	not	do	as	well	at	school	

and	this	affects	their	life	opportunities.	The	gap	
between	the	proportion	of	those	eligible	for	free	
school	meals	and	those	not	eligible	achieving	5+	
A*-C	GCSEs	has	remained	relatively	constant.

•	 10%	learners	on	apprenticeships	are	from	BME	
groups	compared	with	19%	of	the	adult	learners	as	
a	whole

•	 15,450	Employment	Support	Allowance/Incapacity	
Benefit	claimants	of	working	age	in	Leeds	have	a	
mental	and	behavioural	disorder

•	 23%	of	premises	in	W	Yorkshire	with	the	poorest	
connectivity	(no	superfast	broadband	provision)	are	
in	the	20%	most	deprived	areas	of	the	country

•	 Over	6,000	accessed	Leeds	Local	Welfare	Support	
Scheme	for	both	emergency	(food	and	fuel)	and	
basic	needs	provision	(household	goods)

•	 Research	in	2010	indicated	that	lone	parents	(38%)	
were	more	likely	than	the	average	survey	sample	to	
use	high	cost	sources	of	credit,	have	less	savings	
and	be	experiencing	financial	difficulties

•	 At	March	2015	the	council	employed	15605	staff,	of	
these	2%	disclosed	they	were	LGB	T,	6%	disabled,	
and	13%	BME

KEY ACTIONS
•	 Targeted	support	and	challenge	for	schools	with	

significant	proportions	of	relatively	low	achievers	
from	vulnerable	groups,	including	academies

•	 Promote	affordable	credit	and	banking	service	as	
an	alternative	to	high	cost	lenders

•	 Increase	disclosure	rates	of	council	staff	by	leading	
a	campaign	around	the	topic	of	‘why	we	need	your	
information’

KEY INDICATORS
•	 Reduce	educational	achievement	gaps
•	 Increase	the	number	of	people	experiencing	mild	to	

moderate	mental	ill	health	moving	into	work
•	 98%	of	premises	across	W	Yorkshire	and	York	able	

to	access	superfast	broadband	by	end	2018
•	 Growth	in	credit	union	membership
•	 Increase	the	proportion	of	people	with	protected	

characteristics	recruited	into	the	council
•	 Reduce	the	gaps	in	representation	between	%		

of	board	membership	and	resident	population,	
of	specific	identified	boards

OUR EQUALITY PRIORITIES
although a specific protected characteristic is identified for each priority, work in these 
areas will improve the position for everyone

Those In poverty:  
Support	people	out	of	financial	
hardship

Those in poverty:  
Increase	digital	inclusion

BME people:   
Increased	access	to	apprenticeships

Child carers, those on  
free school meals,  
disabled children: 
Reduce	the	gaps	in	learning	
outcomes

Those with mental  
health issues: 
Increased	access	to	employment

BME, LGB T, women, 
and disabled people:  
Develop	a	skilled	and	diverse	
workforce

BME, LGB T, women, 
and disabled people:  
Increase	board	representation

Page 417



Ò	Our vision is for Leeds to be a 
compassionate, caring city that helps 
all its residents benefit from the effects 
of the city’s economic growth. We will 
focus on creating the right conditions 
for the economy in Leeds to prosper 
and, hand in hand with that, ensure 
a consequence of that growth is a 
reduction in the inequalities that exist in 
Leeds. Working together, we will achieve 
our ambition of Leeds being the UK’s 
best council and best city.Ó 

Cllr Judith Blake  
Leader of Leeds 
City Council 

Tom Riordan  
Chief Executive of  
Leeds City Council

Page 418



Appendix  

Equality Improvement Priorities 2011-15 continuing into 2016-20 

 

Equality Objectives  
2011-2015 

Equality Focus 
2016-2020 

To make LCC and employer of choice’ for people 
from groups in our communities whose diverse 
backgrounds are not yet fully represented in our 
workforce 

To develop a skilled and diverse workforce 
which is: 
-representative of the City and citizens feel 
that the City is theirs 
-a safe, inclusive and welcoming  workforce 
where everyone is treated with respect and 
dignity and people say “I feel like I count “ 
-one where very person who works for the 
Council will have an appraisal and 
development plan which gives them the 
opportunity to develop their careers with the 
Council. 
-inclusive at all levels of the organisation 
-engaged ,empowered and motivated to take 
personal responsibility for creating an 
inclusive and diverse workforce   

To demonstrate increased engagement, year on 
year, for staff from groups whose diversity is not yet 
fully represented in our workforce 
To improve opportunities for progression to senior 
levels in the organisation particularly for black, 
minority ethnic and disabled staff 

Tackle domestic violence and protect and support 
the most vulnerable young people 

Domestic violence 

Improve citywide approaches to dealing with hate 
crime 

Increase awareness and understanding of 
hate crime and reduce the occurrence and 
impact of hate crime 

There is a sense of belonging that builds cohesive 
and harmonious communities 

Understand the context and impact of 
migration on Leeds 

Ensure that housing and regeneration investment 
meets the changing needs of individuals and 
communities 

Support and accommodation needs for older 
people remaining in their own home 

Improve energy efficiency Work to improve properties and assist 
tenants living in fuel poverty over the next 4 
years 

All citizens of Leeds will have access to, and 
benefit from, joined up services provided by 
integrated health and social care teams* 

All citizens of Leeds will have access to, and 
benefit from, joined up services provided by 
integrated health and social care teams* 

We will promote achievement of agreed personal 
outcomes (including increasing access and the 
equity of access to services) across all equality 
characteristics to encompass all communities and 
citizens of Leeds* 

We will promote achievement of agreed 
personal outcomes (including increasing 
access and the equity of access to services) 
across all equality characteristics to 
encompass all communities and citizens of 
Leeds* 

All citizens will have access to appropriate services 
and or support, with assistance to develop 
appropriate services from within the community* 

All citizens will have access to appropriate 
services and or support, with assistance to 
develop appropriate services from within the 
community* 

Support children from all equality communities to 
be ready for learning 

The gaps in learning outcomes   

Increase access to employment opportunities and 
up-skill the workforce 

Integrate employment support with mental 
health support and set equality targets for 
BME apprenticeships 

Page 419



Improve financial inclusion Helping people out of financial hardship; 
tackling the financial challenges of poverty, 
deprivation and inequality 

Increase participation in Leeds cultural and 
sporting opportunities 

Working to ensure equality groups are fully 
involved in the European Capital of Culture 
bid development and engagement, and that 
all aspects of our activities are as fully 
accessible as our resources allow, including 
access to buildings, collections, events, 
exhibitions, learning and to our staff and 
volunteers as well as visitors 

Enhance the quality of Leeds’ parks Ensure equal access for all, something for 
everyone (young and old), provide facilities 
for disabled people (including play) and 
reflect cultural/ethnic/religious background of 
visitors in parks 

*these were refreshed in 2013/14, and so remain the same; they are described as ‘identify and remove 
organisational barriers or people to access services through health and social care teams. 

 

Page 420



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 1

Leeds City Council – our 
ongoing improvement journey 
 
Narrative 

Equality framework for local government      
November 2015 

Page 421



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 2

 
“Our vision is for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring city that 
helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s 
economic growth. We will focus on creating the right conditions for 
the economy in Leeds to prosper and, hand in hand with that, 
ensure a consequence of that growth is a reduction in the 
inequalities that exist in Leeds.” 
 
Council Values 

 Working as a team for Leeds  
 Being open, honest and trusted  
 Working with communities  
 Treating people fairly  
 Spending money wisely  

 
This narrative report outlines how we have continued to improve our services and to 
ensure that equality is at the heart of all that we do. Since achieving Excellence in 
2011 we have continued to use the principles of the Equality Framework to support 
our ambitions.  This narrative forms part of our overall submission and is supported 
by the self assessment, key evidence and story boards, which are used to provide a 
‘snap shot’ of the breadth of equality activity undertaken across the organisation, 
demonstrating improved outcomes.  It has the following sections: 
 

 About Leeds  
 About Leeds City Council 
 Knowing your communities 
 Place shaping, leadership, partnership and organisational commitment 
 Involving communities 
 Responsive services and customer care 
 A skilled and committed workforce 
 Next steps 

 
 
About Leeds 
 
Based in West Yorkshire, Leeds is the second largest local authority in England, 
covering an area of 552 square kilometres. It is an area of great contrasts. It includes 
a densely populated, inner city area with associated challenges of poverty and 
deprivation, as well as a more affluent city centre, suburban and rural hinterland with 
villages and market towns.   The most recent census (2011) indicates that Leeds has 
a population of 751,5001, representing a 5% growth since the previous census in 
2001. The age structure for Leeds is broadly similar to that for England and Wales 
with the notable exception of the 20-29 age band which in Leeds accounts for 17.5% 
of the population compared to13.6% in England and Wales; children (aged 0-15) 

                                            
1 OSN latest data estimates the population of Leeds at 761,500 (mid-year estimate of population 
2013) 

Page 422



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 3

account for 18.3% of the city’s population, while people aged 65+ accounts for 
14.6%. 
 
Leeds is an increasingly diverse city with over 140 ethnic groups including black, 
Asian and other minority ethnic populations representing almost 19% of the total 
population compared to 11% in 2001.  The number of Leeds residents that were 
born outside of the UK has increased from 47,636 (6.7% of the population) in 2001 
to 86,144 (11.5%) in 2011, with just over 20,300 people being born in the EU (12,026 
born in EU accession countries) and just over 61,000 born elsewhere.   Of the 
86,144 people born outside the UK, more than half arrived in the last 10 years, 67% 
were between the ages of 16 and 44 when they arrived in the UK and 29.5% were 
aged 15 or younger.  Data from the city’s schools, shows there are more children 
and young people of black and minority ethnic heritage, particularly Black African 
and White Eastern European. The number of children and young people with English 
as an additional language (EAL) has also increased in recent years, from 13% in 
2010 to 16% in 2014. In addition to English language, there are over 170 languages 
spoken in Leeds schools with the main languages spoken being Urdu, Punjabi and, 
increasingly, Polish.  
 
There is no direct count of disability, but the census collects information in relation to 
‘long term health problems or disability’.  In Leeds 83.4% of people say that their day 
to day activities are not limited by long term health problems or disability, 7.7% say 
they are limited a lot and 8.9% say that they are limited a little. Leeds has a relatively 
high level of its working age adult population in receipt of Incapacity Benefit (IB) due 
to mental ill health (50% of IB claimants identify a mental health problem). 
Employment rates for female users of mental health services in Leeds are 
significantly below the national average.   In 2014, 3,099 adults in Leeds were 
identified as having a moderate or severe learning disability. Over the last four years 
there has been an increase in the Leeds learning disabilities population of about 5%. 
This growth is particularly focussed amongst younger people with the most profound 
needs for care. 
 
The proportion of people who say they are Christian is lower in Leeds (55.9%) than 
across the whole of England and Wales (59.3%), while the  proportion of people who 
say they have no religion is higher (28.2% and 25.1% respectively) and; compared to 
England and Wales, Leeds has higher than average proportions of people stating 
their religion as Jewish (0.9% compared to 0.5%), as Muslim (5.4% compared to 
4.8%) and as Sikh (1.2% compared to 0.8%). 
 
The 2011 Census collected information on civil partnerships for the first time, 
reflecting the Civil Partnership Act 2004 which came into effect in the UK on 5 
December 2005. Married people account for 41.5% of adults in Leeds; 0.2% of 
adults in Leeds are in a registered same-sex civil partnership, mirroring the rate for 
England and Wales and; 40.8% of adults in Leeds are single (never married or never 
registered in a same-sex civil partnership), much higher than the England and Wales 
rate of 34.6%.  We do not publish data relating to transgender as due to small 
numbers individuals would be easily identified. 
As a growing city Leeds is seeing significant changes to the make-up of the 
population, in particular… 

Page 423



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 4

 We have an ageing population; as the baby-boomer generation grows older there 
will be implications not only in terms of public services, ensuring that older people 
get excellent care and support when they need it and are enabled to live 
independently, but also in terms of the labour market as we make the most of the 
skills and talents that everyone has to offer. 

 In the last decade the BME population in the city has increased from 11% to 
19%, and the number of residents born outside of the UK has almost doubled.  
There have been many localised impacts across the city - with complex, related 
issues such as ‘national identity’, language proficiency, transient populations and 
variations in birth rates that in turn influence service provision and the wider 
interface between communities.   

 In part linked to demographic change, in part linked to wider social change, 
patterns of faith have also changed across the city - different ethnic and religious 
groups have very different age profiles and understanding these differences are 
key to helping plan and deliver the appropriate services. 

 Economic and social deprivation remains concentrated in specific localities, with 
long-term challenges such as access to employment, poor housing, language 
and literacy, skills, health and care responsibilities, being compounded by the 
recent welfare changes.  According to the Index of Multiple Deprivation, over 
150,000 people in Leeds live in areas that are ranked amongst the most deprived 
10% nationally more than 20% of the city’s population. While the impact of 
poverty on children can be found in all areas of the city, two of our wards have 
over 40% of children in poverty. 

 
About Leeds City Council 
 
At December 2014, the council employed approximately 16,096 (excluding schools 
and casual staff) people.  We spend almost £2 billion (2013-14) each year to deliver 
hundreds of different services both directly and with our partners. The size of the city 
means that the scale of service delivery by the council is also considerable. 
 
Our services are arranged in the following directorates: Adult Social Care, Children`s 
Services, City Development, Environment and Housing, Public Health, Strategy and 
Resources and the Citizen`s and Communities directorate which was established in 
2013 specifically to lead the council’s fight against poverty and financial hardship.   
 
Each service is led by representatives of the council’s corporate leadership team 
who are responsible for meeting the needs of the city and its citizens through closer 
working with other public sector partners.  The Corporate Leadership Team is 
actively engaged and committed to the ambitions of Leeds being the UK`s best 
council and best city: a city that is great for all ages; where people are earning, 
learning, safe, healthy and engaged. 
 
 
 

Page 424



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 5

 
Corporate Leadership Team  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Leeds City Council has 99 councillors, three for each of 33 designated areas of 
Leeds known as electoral wards. The city is represented in the House of Commons 
by eight MPs. The current political composition of the council is shown below: 
 

 Labour - 63 
 Conservative - 19 
 Liberal Democrat - 9 
 Morley Borough Independents - 5 
 Green Party - 3 

Knowing your communities 
 
Collecting information 
 
Our work around the equality framework has informed a number of improvements in 
the information that we collect about local communities/protected characteristics and 
the ways in which we use this information to inform our understanding of our 
communities and identify priorities for local areas.  The processes and systems that 
we have in place to capture information includes: 

 The Leeds Observatory – a `one-stop-shop’, website for information and 
intelligence about communities in Leeds.  The website is free and publicly 
available.  

 Strategic Needs Assessments – these provide a shared understanding of 
the current and future needs and assets of the local population.  A number of 
Strategic Needs Assessments exist (and are accessible via the Leeds 

Tom Riordan (Chief 
Executive) 

Deputy Chief 
Executive/Director 

of Strategy and 
Resources 
-Alan Gay 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens 
and Communities) 

James Rogers 

Director of Adult 
Social Care 
Cath Roff 

Director of 
Children`s Services 
Nigel Richardson 

Director of 
Environment and 

Housing 
Neil Evans 

Director of City 
Development 

Martin Farrington 

Director of Public 
Health  

Dr Ian Cameron 

Page 425



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 6

Observatory) and cover a range of areas which include: The Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment; the Crime and Disorder Strategic Needs 
Assessment and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment which focuses on 
understanding the key health and well-being needs and inequalities across 
and within Leeds. 

 Data Mill – This is managed and owned by Leeds City Council in partnership 
with a Leeds based company specialising in digital content, data insight and 
storytelling.  Open data is collected from multiple sources into a single website 
which enables people and organisations to explore the different and complex 
relationships between the city’s services and businesses, offering a greater 
insight into the workings of the city. Our community steering group includes 
members of the public who are both community leaders and interested in 
data.  The idea is that members can help influence decisions made on how 
the Data Mill is developed and what datasets we publish to help address 
community issues. 

 Council-wide systems and process – we have a range of initiatives in place 
across the organisation for example: SIEBEL which is used to manage our 
compliments and complaints; Adult Social Care`s Electronic Social Care 
Records system which collects basic demographic data and data which 
informs needs; Our Welfare and Benefits Academy System, which holds data 
relating to benefit claimants and; our approach to Hate incident reporting. 

 Research studies – where local data is not available we will use 
regional/national data or research studies.  For example a research study was 
carried out which involved Public Health Leeds, Leeds Faith forum and the 
University of Leeds exploring places of worship in the city as a setting for 
BME public health initiatives. 

 
 All of this information, along with population statistics (e.g. census (2011) and other 
specific research) is used to inform our strategic, local and service improvement 
priorities. 
  
We gain additional local perspective in a range of different ways such as; Community 
Committee workshops, Neighbourhood Improvement Boards, Local Neighbourhood 
Plans and; requests for data at a more local level that is held by local services and 
partners. 

 
Analysing and using information  
 
Following our assessment as excellent in 2011, we introduced `State of the City’. 
These were annual reports (supported by events) which were developed closely with 
the annual Equality Report and set out a comprehensive analysis of progress against 
our `Best City’ priorities.  However, since May 2015 we no longer have `Best City’ 
priorities or annual report instead we hold themed sessions which bring together a 
range of stakeholders to discuss city-wide issues. State of the City has now been 
superseded by our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (supplemented by a range 

Evidence: 
Leeds Observatory website link  
Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (NE001) 
Data Mill website link  
Knowing your communities  - Stories (SD001) 

Page 426



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 7

of other documents).  The benefits of collaborative working across the intelligence 
and information related initiatives have been clearly demonstrated.  

 
Our strategic approach to considering equality focuses on all of the characteristics 
protected by law in addition to our areas of local focus which include: carers, armed 
forces personnel and poverty and deprivation.  We are currently refreshing our 
Equality Improvement Priorities for 2015-2018 which will be informed by 
knowledge captured during the development of our Best Council Plan and our 
Budget setting process.  Our Equality Improvement Priorities will be an integral part 
of the council`s performance management system. There will be further equality 
considerations as our priorities are implemented.  
 
The Best Council Plan (BCP) sets out what the council will do to help improve the 
lives of local people and how we will measure progress in delivering better outcomes 
across Leeds.  It was recently refreshed and explains the council’s six objectives for 
2015-16, the values that underpin everything we do and the longer-term challenges 
and opportunities we face over the period 2015-20.  The BCP draws on a range of 
supporting plans and documents (for example, the Children and Young People’s 
Plan; Adult Social Care Local Account) for which individual equality impact 
assessments have been carried out on specific initiatives and decisions.  These 
assessments will continue to be undertaken on particular initiatives as required to 
ensure due regard is taken. 
 
The six objectives have been rolled forwards from the previous BCP 2013-17 on 
which a comprehensive equality screening process was undertaken to review how 
equality, diversity, cohesion and integration are relevant to, and addressed within the 
Plan.  The screening confirmed that equality had already been fully considered and 
therefore no changes were required.   
 
Equalities (and specifically tackling inequalities) is integral to our BCP 2015/16 
objectives which are: supporting communities and tackling poverty; promoting 
sustainable and inclusive economic growth; building a child-friendly city; delivering 
the better lives programme; dealing effectively with the city`s waste and; becoming a 
more efficient and enterprising council.  We have also identified 7 break-through 
projects that will help to deliver our strategic objectives.  Five of these projects are 
explicitly linked to equality:  

 Domestic violence and abuse; 
 Housing growth and jobs for young people; 
 Making Leeds the best place to grow old and; 
 Reducing health inequalities through healthier lifestyles 
 Rethinking the city centre 

 
Performance in delivering our BCP objectives is monitored on a regular basis by the 
Corporate Leadership and elected members.  Progress is published quarterly.   
 
Sharing information between partners  
 
Migration Yorkshire is a local authority-led regional migration partnership which 
works with national and local government and others to ensure that Yorkshire and 
Humber deal with and benefit from migration.  A local migration profile is 
completed twice yearly for: the region, every town within the region, the two sub 

Page 427



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 8

regions (West Yorkshire and South Yorkshire) and the Leeds City Region.  This 
information is published to the Migration Yorkshire website and a full copy of the 
profile is made available to our partners. Since July 2014, Migration Yorkshire has 
been working in partnership with the University of Salford and MigrationWork to 
deliver the `Integration up North’ Project.  The project aims to mainstream the 
integration of Third Country Nationals through a comprehensive and co-ordinated 
programme of research, training, guidance, strategic support and migration 
participation for local authorities and other key practitioners. Our Roma Matrix 
Project (April 2013 -March 2015) aimed to identify and action the most effective 
ways to combat racism and xenophobia towards Roma and to improve Roma 
inclusion.  This is an example of partnership working across 10 countries led by 
Migration Yorkshire.  The research undertaken considered the value of some 
interventions and addressed the barriers to Roma inclusion and has added 
considerably to the learning within the sector. 
   
Our information sharing policy and practices enables information sharing to take 
place between the council and our internal and external partners.  For example, 
Migrant Third Sector organisations were able to use information sharing to provide 
information about people accessing their services which, in turn, informed the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment.  Information sharing has, however, presented us with 
a number of challenges many relating to the different ways that organisations collect 
data (for example paper based system versus ICT based systems), incompatible 
data sharing systems, differences in the type of data collected  (some organisations 
collect data relating to some or all of the protected characteristics, others collect data 
based on their specific funding regimes/areas of interest) and, the inability to access 
specific types of data due to legislative restrictions. 
 
Since achieving Excellence in 2011, we have continued to work closely with our 
partners to enable us all to identify how communities are changing and the impact 
that this has on equality priorities for example, we are working alongside Black 
Health Initiative who have obtained funding to do some specific work relating to 
Female Genital Mutilation (FGM).  The FMG research was launched at the Civic Hall 
in September 2014, and was fully supported by our staff and elected members.  As a 
result of the initial research, work is currently taking place to fully understand and 
develop pathways to address the issue.  In addition, a project is being developed in 
Harehills which will give practical expression to this.  
 
Evidence 
State of the City (2012) (NE002) and NE003) 
Best Council Plan 2015-20 (NE004 and NE005) 
Equality Improvement Priorities for 2015-2018 (NE006) 
Equality Screening for the Best Council Plan (NE007) 
Performance Management Best Council Plan scorecard 2014-15 (NE008) 
Leeds Local Migration Profile summary (NE009) 
Integration up North (NE010, NE011, NE012 and NE013) 
Roma Matrix Project – summary (August 2015) (NE014 and NE015) 
Information Sharing policy (NE016 and NE017) 
 
 
 
 

Page 428



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 9

Place shaping, leadership, partnership and organisational commitment 
 
Leadership 
 
Our strong political leadership and organisational commitment to improving our 
equality outcomes are key drivers in delivering our journey to excellent so far.  
Council, Keith Wakefield former Leader of the Council (until May 2015) and our Chief 
Executive, Tom Riordan, maintained their commitment to the equality agenda by 
ensuring that equality continued to be a high priority.  They have championed 
initiatives such as our `be reasonable’ project which aimed to raise awareness of our 
legal responsibility to make reasonable adjustments in the workplace. Tom Riordan 
produces a regular on-line `blog’ which focuses on equality issues. Following the 
2015 Local elections (May 2015) our Lead Member(s) with responsibility for equality 
are now Councillor Rafique and Councillor Coupar. 
 
Members continue to play an active role in championing equality.  Our Member 
Champion Working Group, chaired by the Assistant Chief Executive and our 
Members Steering Group, chaired by Councillor Lowe are responsible for: leading 
and influencing Elected Member contributions to the equality agenda, assisting in 
developing corporate policy approaches to equality and diversity and acting as 
champions for each of the equality characteristics.   The Member Champions have 
been challenging progress against our Improvement Priorities since 2014.  This has 
resulted in an increased focus by directorates and services on delivering improved 
outcomes and has allowed a space for debate and discussion about some of the 
areas of equality which have traditionally received less focus. The Member Steering 
Group is a newly formed group (established March 2015) and its main focus is in 
relation to inclusion and diversity. 

All of our Elected Members have access to appropriate learning and development 
opportunities which helps them to fulfil their role.  Our programme of equality 
briefings was rolled out to all new Members following the 2014 Elections and is 
scheduled to be rolled out to new Members post 2015 elections.  

The Area Review report, 2011, introduced the concept of developing the Area 
Champions role into the Area Lead Members role (renamed in 2014 to Community 
Committee Champions).  The role of Community Committee Champion provides a 
local `lead’ perspective on various issues and a practical expression of the strong 
local leadership role as set out within the locality working design principles and Best 
City and Best Council Ambitions.  One Champion is in place for the following 
themes: 

 Employment and Skills – working with large employers across the city to 
secure local jobs for local people.  Specific work has also taken place 
focussing on disabled people. 

 Adult Social Care, health and well-being – currently undertaking work relating 
to older people and social isolation. 

 Environment and Community Safety – domestic violence 
 Children`s Services – youth panel work.  

Page 429



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 10

The initial findings from the review of the Community Committee Champions show 
that communications are working, albeit better in some areas than others, and that 
equality is implicitly reflected in all four themes. 

Councillor Keith Wakefield and Tom Riordan represented the Council at the 
`Remember Oluwale’, Partnership Symposium which took place on the 17th April 
2015.  The aim of the Symposium was to `raise the voices of those who are 
excluded; improving existing partnerships and developing new ones; forming the 
basis for unified campaigning against marginalisation and exclusion in the city of 
Leeds; raising hope and promoting change and; improving research in these fields 
and developing effective policy and practice’.  In his speech, Councillor Wakefield 
said that `Leeds is signed up as a City of Sanctuary … we are striving to make this 
concept a reality with Leeds as a safe and welcoming place for everyone… we will 
not tolerate racism and believe that as a city we are far less tolerant than was the 
case when David Oluwale lived here.’ 

Our themed Challenge events and themed Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) 
Events provide forums for the council, other public bodies and the third sector 
organisation to share the council`s approach to equality and diversity.  So far, we 
have delivered two challenge events - Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Trans-sexual and; 
Older People.  A further challenge event is scheduled to take place during 2016, 
focussing on religion and belief.  Our CLT events have focussed on a range of 
equality related topics including domestic violence and human trafficking.  The latter 
resulted in the development of a council strategy. 

Evidence 
`Toms Blog’ (NE018) 
Member Champions Working Group – Terms of Reference (NE019) 
Member Steering Group – Inclusive Leadership (NE020)  
Elected Members induction (NE021 and NE022)  
Community Committee Champions (NE023, NE024 and NE025) 
Key messages and Background notes for Oluwale Partnership Symposium (NE026) 
CLT themed challenge events (NE027, NE028 and NE029) 

Local vision and priorities 

Our governance arrangements provide a range of forums for promoting and 
challenging equality initiatives.  Our Equality Board (chaired by the Assistant Chief 
Executive) specifically supports cross council work which supports the aspirations of 
our Vision for Leeds 2030 to be the best city in the UK and provides strong and 
effective leadership to promote and progress equality and diversity across the 
council. 

We currently have two performance indicators which help us to measure the extent 
to which due regard is taken within our decision making process.  However, this 
assessment is made retrospectively and, whilst useful in terms of providing feedback 
to officers undertaking these decisions, this information is not helpful in terms of 
informing the decisions under review.  These indicators help us to put a `spotlight’ on 
equality in the decision making process.  

Our equality impact process is used to inform all decision making.  It is particularly 
useful to inform equality considerations in difficult and contentious situations.  For 

Page 430



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 11

example our decisions relating to the future provision of residential day care services 
for older people. 

Partnerships have become an increasingly important part of how we promote 
equality as a council and our relationships with the voluntary, community, faith 
sectors, public and private bodies continue to influence and challenge the council. 
Examples of our partnership arrangements include: 

 Leeds Migration Partnership (a cross sector, city wide strategic forum for 
those working with migrant communities in Leeds) held the round table 
discussion during February 2015 entitled `What`s next for Leeds@ Tackling 
Asylum-Related Destitution in 2015’ as a vehicle to come up with `tangible, 
practical solutions to alleviate the problem of asylum-related destitution in 
Leeds’.  Following the discussions an action plan was developed outlining 
proposed action, collaboration and partnership to address some of the issues 
discussed. 

 Leeds City Wide Equality Network, Leeds Third Sector Partnership, and 
the Poverty Truth Challenge.  The Poverty Truth Challenge Partnership 
aimed to `provide a really good understanding of what poverty means for 
Leeds’ and, following the launch of the Poverty Truth Challenge 3 sub-groups 
were established to take this work forward.  The sub-groups focussed on:  
mental health and poverty; achieving potential and; stigma and awareness 
around poverty.  An event is scheduled to take place during 2015 to review 
the changes which have taken place since the challenge, activities and 
outcomes from the sub-groups and calls to action.  

Equality objectives 

Our ongoing commitment to equality is demonstrated through a range of 
initiatives, each of which has resulted in positive outcomes for our communities 
for example:  

 Our ambition for Leeds to be the UK`s best city for children and young 
people to grow up in – to study, work and play – over 6000 children and 
young people were asked what would make Leeds a better place to group 
and live in.  Their responses led to the `12 wishes for Child Friendly Leeds’. 

 Our Commitment to making Leeds a LGBT friendly city was approved by 
elected members in 2012 and a range of activities were identified and 
supported including our minority, equality and diversity group known as `out 2 
18’.  This group provides a secure space for those who identify as lesbian, 
gay, bisexual, Trans or questioning.  In response to the needs of 
transgender/gender variant young people, a sub group of the out 2 18 group, 
known as Transtastic was established.  This group offers support specifically 
for young people aged 13-18 who are transgender or questioning their gender 
identity.   

 The Leeds Carers’ Charter, which reflects the Council`s and the NHS Trust`s 
commitment to Carers.  

 Our `every disabled child matters charter’ which puts children at the heart 
of every decision which impacts on them. 

 Our response about advice service provision to refugees and asylum 
seekers following the review of the Home Office contract in April 2014. 

Page 431



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 12

 Our Discretionary Housing Payment pilot schemes – which aim to help 
vulnerable tenants (receiving Housing and/or Council Tax Benefit) to deal with 
the welfare changes. 

 Our Family First Programme which aims to help families with a number of 
complex problems by working with them to help turn their lives around, 
improving outcomes for the whole family and thereby reducing the need for 
more intensive and costly interventions 

 Our back to front initiative - which involved Public Health working in 
partnership with other organisations to support residents in some of the most 
deprived areas of Leeds to use land to grow food.  The outcomes of this 
initiative include - direct health benefits, waste reduction and community 
cohesion. 

 Our  Children`s commissioner`s take over day 2014 where we recruited 2 
young people to work alongside the Assistant Chief Executive on his 
community centre responsibilities. The young people were asked to take part 
in some field visits and give their opinion about the running of the Centres.   

 Our weekly Wednesday morning drop-in session which takes place at 
Hunslet Methodist Church attracts more than 30 people each week, of all 
ages.  The drop-in was initially established in response to local parents who 
expressed a need for a playgroup.  However it now serves pre-school 
children, their parents, grandparents, carers and isolated older people.  In 
addition to a range of other services, the drop-in provides a free simple 
breakfast.  The drop-in is unique in that it has a food-bank which operates 
upstairs, this means that food-bank clients can share breakfast and access 
drop-in facilities and the  drop-in can refer it`s clients to the food-back. With 
this symbiotic relationship operating, we are able to serve the community of 
many levels. 

 Our Front Door Safeguarding Hub which looks at all high risk domestic 
violence cases.  This offers a ‘whole system’ response including prevention, 
victim support, recovery and aftercare to women who are victims of domestic 
violence.   Domestic violence and abuse has been identified as one of our 
breakthrough projects. 
 

Evidence 
Place shaping, leadership, partnership and organisational commitment – stories 
(SD001) 
Vision for Leeds 2011 to 2030 (NE030) 
Performance indicators – consultation and equality (NE031, NE032 and NE033) 
Leeds Migration Partnership – Terms of Reference, action plan (NE034 and NE035) 
Leeds City Wide Equality Network – Terms of Reference (NE036) 
What`s next for Leeds@ Tackling Asylum-Related Destitution in 2015 – flyer, email 
and action plan (NE037, NE038 and NE039) 
Third Sector – Compact for Leeds, Ambition Statement, Responding to the 
Challenge (NE040, NE041 and NE042) 
Making Leeds an LGBT friendly city – executive board report (NE043) 
Leeds Carers Charter (NE044) 
Leeds Carers Strategy 2015-18 (NE045) 
Every Disabled Child Matters – Charter and action plan (NE046 and NE047) 
Financial inclusion initiatives – partnership working with LCC and third sector 
(NE048) 
Families First – One Minute Guide, performance update and highlights, and case 

Page 432



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 13

study (NE049, NE050 and NE051) 
 
Monitoring and Scrutiny 
 
Although formal Core Cities (local authority equalities) meetings no longer take 
place, officers from the former network continue to benchmark and share 
information via email and telephone. We have shared our good practice around the 
establishment of our Equalities Assembly with Sheffield City Council and shared our 
good practices with Bradford Metropolitan Council in relation to the development of a 
migration partnership.  
 
We also utilise Peer reviews, inspections and awards as a way of scrutinising our 
performance.  For example; in 2014, in response to concerns raised by some 
members of the Equalities Assembly (and at the request of the Leader of the 
Council) we conducted a scrutiny review to determine whether the current Equality 
Impact Assessment process was fit for purpose.  The Scrutiny panel agreed that 
they had confidence in our EIA process and that the council was meeting it`s legal 
duty of giving due regard.  However, a number of recommendations were made to 
strengthen the process which were welcomed and have now been incorporated. 
 
In March 2015, Ofsted inspectors rated our Children`s services in Leeds as 
`Good’ overall – making it the only `core city’ in the country to be rated so highly (of 
those inspected under the new framework). The report stated that `Children`s 
services in Leeds benefit from outstanding, inspirational and confident operational 
and political leadership’. 
 
We are assessed annually against the National Standard for Customer services 
and have recently been accredited as compliant against all 57 elements of the 
standard.  The assessors specifically recognised how our three community hub path 
finders are managing a wider range of services with a wider potential impact on their 
localities; that managers have an excellent grasp on who their customers are and the 
services that they require, recognising the excellent high levels of customer 
satisfaction and the continued development of services to meet changing needs 
within a difficult financial environment; customers feel they are equally treated and 
that young people (16 -25) are equally satisfied; that community hubs and centres 
continue to develop access to services through new channels and that the use of 
`BSL contact centre’ has improved the customer journey by having translators 
accessible through a video link. The assessors stated that `staff continue to deliver 
an excellent front line service’.  
 
The `Attitude is Everything` standard aims to improve deaf and disabled people's 
access to live music by working in partnership with audiences, artists and the music 
industry.  As a council we have achieved an overall rating of silver and a gold rating 
specifically for our Classical Fantasia event (2014).  We are currently working 
towards an overall council rating of gold for 2015/16.  A further five submissions are 
planned for 2015/16 (Leeds Town Hall, Carriage Works, Millennium Square, City 
Varieties and The Grand Theatre). 
 
Since achieving excellent in 2011 we have signed the Armed Forces Covenant and 
more recently (2015) the Religion or Belief Covenant demonstrating our 
commitment and engagement with these areas.  A review of the work undertaken in 

Page 433



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 14

delivering the Armed Forces Covenant during 2014/15 and planned activities for 
2015/16 has taken place.  
 
Through our range of communications we have gained a reputation for championing 
and improving equality outcomes, balancing competing interests and fostering good 
relations. Our annual equality reporting processes includes our Equality and 
Diversity Annual Update and Best Council Plan update. Leeds Local Account is 
produced by on an annual basis and reflects the progress and developments within 
Adult Social Care over the previous year.  The Director of Public Health annual 
report shares successes and challenges in improving the health of communities.  
The report includes case studies relating to child poverty, breast feeding, tackling 
smoking in pregnancy and being a new mum. 
 
We showcase the positive contributions of equality communities to the life of the city 
and highlight the barriers that people experience through a number of International 
days and events including:  International day of Disabled People; International Day 
of Older People; LGBT and Women`s events, Leeds Pride and the Leeds West 
Indian Carnival.  During 2014, we awarded grants to 26 organisations to deliver 
events for older people across the city.  These events were attended by more than 
900 older people (aged 60+) and 199 younger people. One organisation (OPAL) 
invited members of the Leeds 16 community to meet and sample foods from around 
the world which enabled people from different cultural and ethnic backgrounds to 
share, with their friends, their own stories and experiences which in turn creates a 
better understanding of each other.  
 
Commissioning and procuring services 
 
Equality considerations are embedded into the procurement and commissioning 
process.   Our Procurement Unit assisted Strategy and Commissioning in scoping 
and procurement of the new integrated Community Drug and Alcohol Prevention, 
Treatment and Recovery Service between 2013 and 2014.  During this process, 
young people (drug and alcohol users) were asked to respond to a user survey and 
the outcomes (along with other sources of information) were used to inform the 
Equality Impact Assessment.  A number of issues relating to young people were 
highlighted and incorporated into service delivery.  This has, for example, informed 
the location of the young people`s base so that they do not come into contact with 
older drug and alcohol users. 
 
Adult Social Care take part in a wide range of outcome based surveys that 
demonstrate the link between procured and contracted services including;  the 
Personal Budget Recipients survey (June 2014) and the Personal Social Services 
survey (2013/14). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 434



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 15

Fostering good relations 
 
Our equality impact assessment process includes consideration of fostering good 
practice.  All partnership working is underpinned with principles of fostering good 
relations for example; by working in partnership with schools, local residents, the 
police and services across the council the Area Support Teams were able to agree 
ways of making better use of a playing field at Ley Lane, Armley.  This has helped to 
forge better links within the local community and boost cohesion.  
 
Prevent is one of the four elements of CONTEST, the government’s counter-
terrorism strategy. It aims to stop people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism.  
Within the Prevent strategy there are three key areas that local authorities must 
address; effective leadership, effective governance and support available.  So far, 
we have been involved in training the trainer sessions and will be scheduling a series 
of sessions to raise awareness and help to tackle nervousness about reporting.  
Over the last 10 years we have sought to engage with local communities through a 
variety of activities by (for example), building the capacity of community and faith 
organisations to reject extremist voices; developing strong leadership within local 
communities to provide them with a voice; supporting schools to enable them to 
understand the role they have to play within the Prevent agenda and identifying how 
we can assist them with this work. 
 
Evidence 
Place shaping, leadership, partnership and organisational commitment – stories 
(SD001) 
Equalities Monitoring email (29/1/2015) (NE052) 
Scrutiny Inquiry Final Report – Leeds City Council`s Decision Making Process and 
Due Regard to Equality (NE053) 
Children`s Services Ofsted Report and blogger press release (NE054 and NE055) 
Assessment Report - Customer Service Excellence (NE056) 
Attitude is everything – charter submission from Leeds City Council (NE057 and 
NE058) 
Armed Forces Covenant and update (June 2015) (NE059 and NE060) 
Religion and Belief Covenant and Executive Board Report (NE061 and NE062) 
Equality and Diversity Annual update (available summer 2015) (NE063) 
Leeds Local Account 2014/15 (NE064) 
Director of Public Health annual report – Protecting health in Leeds (NE065) 
International Day of Older People Celebration Week Evaluation – 2014 (NE066) 
Equality and Diversity Procurement Workshop – Pack (NE067) 
Background information on prevent activity over the last 10 years (NE068) 
 
Involving your communities 
 
Our 6 principles of communications provide the framework which underpins our 
approach to effective and consistent communications across the council.  We 
explicitly focus on putting people first, supporting colleagues to be good 
communicators, providing honest, clear, understandable, relevant and consistent 
communications, two way communication, accessibility, relevant and effective 
messages and; championing diversity, promoting equality and challenging 
stereotypes.  We have a range of web based toolkits available to support services to 
improve their communications through which ever methods they deploy.  Through 

Page 435



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 16

our Introduction to community engagement training we aim to avoid duplicating 
consultation and over consulting.  Our staff are also encouraged to use the 
outcomes from existing consultation exercises.  All council officers have access to 
the results of our consultation activities through our `talking point’ online database 
which can be used to inform decisions. 
 
Engagement structures 
 
Our innovative approaches to involving communities have resulted in both formal 
and informal interactions.  Through these approaches we ensure that arrangements 
are in place to identify and meet the specific needs of individuals for example we 
provide; personal assistance; language interpreters; translation; access to transport 
and expenses; information in alternative formats; alternative ways of involving and 
engaging with individuals and support for disabled visitors at outdoor events through 
our Volunteer Access Steward Scheme (see Responsive Service and Customer 
Care section below).  The approaches that we use to involve our communities 
include: 
 

 The use of social media activity across the council which has increased 
significantly over recent years and as a result we are better able to engage 
with a different and growing audience for example, Housing Leeds use social 
media to get information to their online tenants in a timely manner and have 
established a single Facebook page 877 followers – March 2015) and a single 
twitter account (1,232 tweets and retweets – March 2015) for the city to 
promote awareness campaigns/days; celebrate Religious/Cultural events; 
promote housing campaigns, partnership working, good news events and; 
answer questions from tenants who post on Facebook/Twitter.   

 Our Equalities Assembly was established in 2009 as a mechanism for 
communities to engage, challenge and influence equality related decisions by 
participating in themed workshops, focus groups and challenge events.  Adult 
Social Care, for example, engaged the Assembly as part of their `Better Lives 
Lived Local’ Account Annual Refresh.  As a result of this engagement, Adult 
Social Care gained a greater insight into the needs of clients and this informed 
the development of their priorities. Our Equalities Assembly also hosts an 
annual conference attended by members of the 6 equality hubs, 
(representing – Age, BME, Carers, Disability, LGBT and, Religion or Belief).  
Members of the Citizens Panel are invited to the event which is chaired by our 
Assistant Chief Executive.  Senior managers are invited as guest speakers.  
The aim of this year’s conference (scheduled for November 2015) is to 
generate conversations about the Citizens@Leeds programme (which aims 
to  help citizens and communities in Leeds access vital services and tackle 
poverty) specifically in relation to the extent to which it has met expectations 
and contributed to improvements in the quality of life for Leeds’ residents.  
These events are invaluable in terms of influencing our priorities and the ways 
in which we deliver our services. 

 Engaging directly with service users to ensure that service provision meets 
their needs for example, in June 2014, Adult Social Care carried out 
community consultation and engagement activities (involving service users, 
their families and carers) to ensure that services were meeting the current and 
potential future needs of BME day centre service users and related BME 
Older Peoples services in the community.  The outcomes of these 

Page 436



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 17

engagement activities are being used to inform the design of a service that will 
meet the need of the diverse communities. 

 Our sexually transmitted disease testing initiative for older men was 
established, as a pilot in August 2013, at Armley Steam Complex.  The need 
for this service was informed by evidence from statistical data and expressed 
community needs.  Leeds is a high HIV prevalence area and Armley Steam 
Complex is the largest and busiest men`s sauna in Leeds.    Due to the 
success of the pilot this service is now an integral part of the integrated sexual 
health service and we are currently exploring additional outreach in other 
(men who have sex with men) Saunas in Leeds. Outreach in saunas forms 
part of the integrated service specification with clinical and voluntary sector 
providers working in partnership. 

 Marketing campaigns – we undertake a range of marketing campaigns 
targeted specifically at protected characteristics. For example, our `Do 
nothing is not an option’ campaign, which was one of a series of 
safeguarding campaigns across Leeds, focussed on raising awareness of 
adult safeguarding issues and also on the support available to people within 
the city.  Our Facebook advert reached over 161,000 accounts over the four 
week period and saw 2424 clicks to the Leeds Safeguarding website.  Twitter 
activity reached 56,817.  People engaged with the campaign both on-line and 
off-line.  Our domestic violence marketing campaign provides a further 
example of the methods that we use to interact with our communities which 
included the use of focus groups with service users, perpetrators and the 
general public (through our citizen’s panel, which has in excess of 4000 
members representative of our communities) and groups of young people 
who evaluated the effectiveness of posters produced by other cities across 
the UK.  Our domestic violence engagement process resulted in the collection 
of `stories’ for a DVD which highlighted the different aspects of domestic 
violence and abuse. 

 Our approach to involving our communities in the decision about whether or 
not Leeds should submit a bid to become European Capital Culture in 2023.  
This involved a public open meeting attended by a diverse range of more than 
300 stakeholders (including the culture and arts sector, business community, 
colleagues across Leeds City Council and third sector organisations) and 
conversations across social networks. Further consultation is planned across 
Leeds in a variety of settings including an online discussion forum, the 
Citizens panel and direct communication with the 42,000 young people who 
have a Breeze card. Additionally, staff within Culture and Sport will support 
community and cultural organisations that want to find out more about the bid 
and what it could mean to them. 

 
Evidence 
Involving your communities – stories (SD001) 
Equalities Assembly Annual Conference 2014 - `involving local people in local 
decision making’ (NE069) 
`Doing nothing is not an option’ campaign – Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 
(NE070) 
European Capital of Culture: Executive Board Report Jan 2014/ Email Bulletin  
Summer 2014/ Survey questions February 2014/ Survey leisure and culture 
activites/Video Booth/ Tweets/ Leeds Migration Partnership update (NE071, NE072, 
NE073, NE074, NE075, NE076 and NE077) 

Page 437



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 18

 
Through our existing partnership arrangements we have improved participation rates 
of under-represented groups in public life for example our: Equalities Assembly, 
Citizens@Leeds Programme, Migration Yorkshire, and Leeds Migration Partnership 
Strategic Needs Assessments, Community Committees and Leeds Third Sector 
Partnership 
 
Participation in public life 

 
Volunteering helps to build capacity both within the council and the third sector. Our 
`inspire to achieve’ project was implemented to address the concerns (at Mount St 
Mary`s school) relating to the number of BME students with low aspirations, 
borderline C and D grades and limited prospects for progression. Mentors were 
recruited from Leeds City Council employees and the African Caribbean Society at 
the University of Leeds (under-graduate students became mentors).  Positive 
outcomes from these mentoring arrangements have been identified by the school 
which includes pupils committing to their mentoring sessions, working on targets set 
out with their mentors and talking about their aspirations.  This project has involved 
young people, Leeds City Council employees and graduates who may otherwise not 
have participated in these activities. 
 
Our Independent Visitor scheme is a further example of how we have improved 
participation rates of under-represented groups in public life. Through this scheme 
we recruit people to support and mentor young people from a range of settings, who 
are unable to live with their parents and will have likely come through some 
difficulties to get to where they are today. The scheme identified that they had a 
waiting list of boys who wanted a male to befriend them and insufficient male recruits 
to provide this support.  To address this, we carried out a recruitment campaign 
which was supported by our Assistant Chief Executive who encouraged our staff 
(men in particular) to become an Independent Visitor. The scheme has led to 
improved participation from young men and is viewed as an extremely valuable 
resource both for the young person and the Independent Visitor alike. 
 
Other initiatives such as Tenfold (Council Chamber Take Over event by people with 
learning difficulties) and the Student Union Challenge Event provide further 
examples of how people across a range of protected characteristics are able to 
influence our decision making process. 
 
Evidence: 
Involving your communities – stories (SD001) 
Advert from In-site/ Independent Visitors Scheme – blog by James (NE078 and 
NE079) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 438



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 19

Responsive services and customer care 
 
Services continue to use the impact assessment process to give due regard to 
equality and diversity.  Actions arising from the impact assessments are either 
integrated into their service plans or developed into a separate equality action plan, 
both of which are monitored through existing, local, performance management 
arrangements. We provide responsive services and excellent customer care through 
a range of approaches for example, the feedback that we received from disabled 
customers, officers and the Events teams about the accessibility of Leeds City 
Council outdoor events led to the development and implementation of a Volunteer 
Access Stewards Scheme.  This Scheme enhances the experience for many 
disabled visitors by ensuring that accessible facilities are available to those who 
need to use them and are not abused by those who do not. Our Access Stewards 
have supported events such as; Tour de France, Classical Fantasia and the 
Christmas Lights Switch on. 
 
The nature of citizen contact is becoming more complex and multi-faceted due in 
part to the changing social and economic environment, which is causing significant 
hardship to individuals and families across the city.  One of the ways in which these 
changes are being addressed is through the Citizens@Leeds Programme`s 
`integrated and accessible proposition’ which has provided a new approach 
focussed on the delivery of true service integration across three main channels;  face 
to face (through our Community Hubs); Telephone (through our corporate contact 
centre) and;  Digital Access (through our website).  Through this programme, we 
have delivered three Community Hub pathfinders in the city which has integrated 
services from the council and partners to make it easy for people to get the services 
they need.  We have a comprehensive Customer Strategy 2012-15 which has 
established the foundation blocks for understanding our customers better and 
designing access to our services with them and around their needs.  A new 
Customer Strategy for 2015-2020 is in development.  In the feedback received from 
our 2014 annual assessment against the National Standard for Customer 
services the assessor stated that our `staff continue to deliver an excellent front line 
service’. 
 
In 2013, the Digital Accessibility Centre (DAC) conducted an accessibility audit on 
our internal and external websites and concluded that 16 of the 31 areas passed the 
standard.  In order to be eligible for a Digital Access Centre Accreditation Award, 
improvements need to be made across the 15 areas.  We are currently implementing 
the recommendations from the audit with a view to attaining AA standard which will 
provide assurance that our digital media is accessible to all members of a 
population, and meets best practice accessibility standards and legislation. 
 
Our Web chat service was introduced in 2013 (this is an interactive way of 
supporting people to complete online forms and orientate around the council`s 
website). We receive up to 7000 web chats per month and 120,000 telephone calls 
for support. We receive lots of positive comments, through our feedback process, 
relating to our web chat service particularly from deaf and hearing impaired 
customers.   
 
During 2013/14 an external audit was carried out on the quality of Adult Social Care 
case files. The auditors specially looked at the involvement of service users and 

Page 439



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 20

carers in the development and implementation of their care packages.  Areas of 
good practice as well as areas of development were identified from this audit.  A 
number of recommendations were made including the requirement for consistent 
case recording, staff training, the need to place more effort on putting the service 
user voice at the centre of all recording and ensuring that the `assessor’s view’ and 
the `service users  view’,  are completed correctly and consistently  This feedback 
has been used to improve our services. 
Since achieving excellence in 2011, we have continued to delivery equality 
outcomes across the organisation for example: 
 

 Leeds City Credit Union is one of the largest Credit Unions in the UK with 
33,000 members. They continue to provide affordable loans, help members 
save and manage their money. 

 Our Smoke Free homes intervention (joint working between Public Health 
Service and York University) has been trialled with South Asian Muslim 
Communities, schools and pregnant women and will be used to inform the 
future commissioning/ delivery of tobacco control interventions 

 The Welfare and Benefits Service`s Multi-Storey flats project was set up 
for those affected by the Under Occupancy change resulting from the Welfare 
Reform Act.  The project awarded discretionary housing payments to 
customers for up to 6 months in return for agreeing to have some form of 
support package in place to meet their needs. By the end of the project 102 
tenants had moved into work; 73 tenants had carried out voluntary work and 
97% of participants felt that the project contributed to an improvement in their 
quality of life. 

 Through our Citizens@Leeds Programme `accessible and integrated 
services proposition’ we have co-located services (such as health services, 
community policing, libraries, job-shops, and other services) within our  
Community Hubs.  This has resulted in many benefits for our communities for 
example, by working in partnership with Children`s Services we have provided 
80 additional nursery places at one of our Community Hubs; we have worked 
closely with our co-located partners to support women fleeing forced 
marriages; we provide outreach work for people who are recovering from 
brain injuries and meet requests for books/library services for customers 
where English is not their first language.  

 Our Employment and Skills service has supported 1,724 young people into 
work (April 2014), Supported 787 young people considered as NEET (not in 
education, employment or training) into EET and  have seen a 23% reduction 
in JSA claimants aged 16-24 in 2015, compared to 2014; 

 The Local Welfare Support Scheme seeks to help vulnerable people in 
meeting their needs for subsistence/financial support where they are unable 
to meet their immediate short terms needs or where they require assistance to 
maintain their independence within the community. In the event of an 
emergency, managers can make a discretionary payment as in the case of 
the young woman who arrived at a community hub in a distressed state 
saying that she had been raped and needed some money to clean herself up.  
Applying discretion the manager was able to support this request. 

 Feedback from Passenger Transport customers (specifically older people 
and children) and Passenger Transport drivers led to the implementation of 
some simple but effective vehicle modifications, such as installation of 
handlebars to assist people to get in and out of vehicles and safety bars.  

Page 440



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 21

 Our `Presto’ Scheme launched in April 2015, initially in  the Moortown and 
Alwoodly areas of Leeds, offers a wide range of services including: 
companionship, housekeeping, home and garden maintenance, social 
support and transport facilities through Passenger Transport. The service is 
aimed at older people who need a helping hand to maintain their 
independence but are not eligible for services and from June 2015 became 
available city wide. 

 The safeguarding work that we have carried out around child sexual 
exploitation and taxi licensing has confirmed that efficient processes are in 
place.  This has confirmed that robust checks are in place and this has been 
further strengthened to ensure that only fit and proper persons will be granted 
taxi licenses.   Prompt and appropriate action is taken where there are any 
indications that the public are at risk.  

  Modern day slavery (human trafficking) had not been formally addressed in 
Leeds at a city level, primarily due to lack of understanding of the issue and 
lack of recognition of the extent to which it is an issue for Leeds.  In 2013 
Operation Angelstoke took place.  This was a major anti-trafficking operation 
in Leeds, led by West Yorkshire Police. The operation was a catalyst for 
enhancing our understanding of the nature and potential scale of the problem 
across the city. The net result of Operation Angelstoke to date is the rescue of 
approximately 70 vulnerable individuals.  It has raised the profile of modern 
day slavery and has resulted in better partnership working and understanding 
how to address this area so that there are positive outcomes for individuals.  

  
Evidence 
Responsive services and customer care – stories (SD001) 
Supporting Communities and Tackling Poverty (NE080) 
Combatting modern Day Slavery in Leeds – A Strategy (NE081) 
Customer Strategy 2012-15 (NE082) 
National Standard for Customer services/Email – Customer Excellence Feedback – 
8th September 2014 (NE083 and NE084) 
Digital Accessibility Audit Reports – 11th December 2013/17th December 2013 
(NE085 and NE086) 
Adult Social Care case files – Independent Audit  (Overview Report  
2013/14) (NE087) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 441



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 22

A Skilled and Committed Workforce 
 
Workforce diversity 
 
We collect workforce data and have compared our data against the census 
information. Since the last census the profile of Leeds has changed and our work 
force no longer reflects the community in terms of some protected characteristics. At 
31st March 2015 the council employed approximately 15605 people: 

 Women make up two-thirds of our workforce (50% of whom are employed at 
JNC level – senior manager level); 

 BME staff makeup 13% of our workforce (the majority of whom are within the 
lowest pay grade band, A1-C3); 

 Over one-third of our staff identify as religious, the largest proportion of people 
identify as Christian; 

 Less than 5% of our staff are below the age of 25 and;  
 7% of our workforce identify as carers 

 
Disclosures from staff identifying as LGBT is particularly low with less than 2% of our 
workforce identifying as LGBT.  Like-wise, disability disclosures are low with only 6% 
of our workforce identifying as disabled.    
 
We recognise that our workforce profile needs to improve to better reflect our 
communities and a key challenge is for us to maintain and improve a diverse and 
representative workforce against a backdrop of a shrinking council.  We are striving 
to become a council which remains high performing, efficient and enterprising 
despite being smaller in size. The financial and economic backdrop remains 
challenging and we have seen many people leave the organisation under our 
Voluntary Early Leaver Initiative.  However, we continue to recruit in many service 
areas and we have the opportunity and ambition to be an employer of choice for all 
communities in the city. 
 
We are aware that we have under-reporting in some areas and have included an 
objective within our equality action plan 2015/16 to `build trust and improve 
disclosure levels’ which should help increase disclosure rates.   Another workforce 
profile audit is scheduled to take place during April 2016, when it is anticipated that 
disclosure rates will increase.   
 
Our Corporate Leadership team (CLT) are aware of the workforce profile concerns 
and plans are in place for them to receive regular reports and information as part of 
the staffing dashboard information which is reported on a monthly basis at council 
wide and directorate level. 
 
We have a range of initiatives in place to improve our workforce profile some of 
which are described below. 
 
Evidence 
A Skilled and Committed Workforce – stories (SD001) 
Workforce profile as at 1 April 2015 (Excluding ELI leavers) (NE088) 
Comparison – workforce profile and census (NE089) 
Equality scorecard analysis report – quarter 4 2013-14 (NE090, NE091 and NE092) 
Equality and diversity Q4 2013/14 dashboard (NE093) 

Page 442



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 23

Inclusion and Diversity action plan 2015/16 (NE094) 
CLT report – Equality and Diversity in the workforce (2013) (NE095) 
CLT report – Engaging with Diversity (2014) (NE096) 
 
 
Workforce strategy 
 
Our equality improvement priorities (2015-18) are currently being reviewed 
following the refresh of the Best Council Plan 2015-2020.  The outcomes which have 
been achieved for the whole workforce since 2011 are outlined in our Equality 
Improvement Priority Annual Report (available Summer 2015). 
 
Our Chief Executive committed to providing a mentor for all of our employees who 
would like one.  Mentoring provides enormous benefits to both mentor and mentee 
these include:  increasing confidence and self-esteem, providing challenge, 
increasing knowledge and skills and providing opportunities for career advancement.  
Through our scheme, employees can be mentored by people who are both internal 
and external to the council.  We also have mentoring scheme which targets specific 
protected characteristics including: disabled staff, BME staff and young people 
(schools and graduates). A disabled employee who took part in our `Inspire 
Programme’ (supported by the Disabled Staff Network Champion, Chief Officer and 
the Assistant Chief Executive) described their experience as a mentee as 
`challenging, helping [them] explore their reluctance to deal with certain situations… 
a warm and friendly and supported’. 
 
Our Employer Supported Volunteering scheme allows every employee to take 10 
hours (per year) paid time off to volunteer in their local community.  Our employees 
can offer up their professional skills (such as marketing, HR and Finance). 
 
Our Step-up programme, Emerging Leaders events/networks and care2work 
scheme have all provided positive outcomes for our workforce. For example,  
 

 Step-up programme aims to support the aspirations of a more diverse 
workforce and was to develop a pool of future leaders.  Of the 32 people 
selected to take part in the programme, eight have now been promoted, two 
are in temporary promotions and a further two have been offered the 
opportunity to work on specialist programmes. An evaluation is currently 
taking place prior to the launch of the new programme. 

 
 Emerging Leaders is a self- managing group which supports under-

represented groups to aspire to leadership roles.  An evaluation is currently 
taking place prior to the launch of the new programme. 

 
 Our care2work scheme focusses specifically on young people leaving local 

authority care and is designed to improve their career and job prospects.    
Through this scheme we have ring-fenced entry level posts for care leavers 
and supported them through the recruitment process.  Since September 2014 
this has resulted in four care leavers securing jobs with further recruitment 
underway and one work placement taking place with work ongoing to 
implement more. 
 

Page 443



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 24

We offer a range of work opportunities for young people (18-24) across the city for 
example: 

 We currently employ 137 apprentices.   
 The recruitment cycle for our graduate programme is currently underway 

and in addition to attending job fairs at local universities we have created new 
social media accounts for Facebook and Twitter and created media clips of 
our current graduate programme participants as a method of promoting the 
scheme more effectively 

 This year we aim to take at least five Nari Ekta placements (work experience 
for Asian women and girls).  Last year we supported four placements 

 Our Enabled4Leeds scheme which commenced in May 2014, offers a 
structured work experience for unemployed disabled people in Leeds.  
Working in partnership with Remploy, we have supported eight people 
through the full 12 week programme.  We are currently working with Mencap 
to take a new cohort of eight for 2015 

 During April/May 2015, we worked in partnership with Aspire Igen on a 
programme aimed at providing employability skills and building the confidence 
of ten care leavers of these, nine have commenced the 6 week Head Start 
work experience programme within the council. 

 
 
Leadership Development – each year we host a conference for our senior leaders 
and managers.  The conference is based around a different theme each year 
(building on our Values and behaviours) and our 2015 conference will focus on 
engaging communities, partners and staff with an emphasis on culture and inclusion.  
 
Our comprehensive suite of flexible-working policies are reviewed periodically to 
ensure they continue to meet the needs of the organisation and the workforce. 
Our Changing the Workplace project provides all staff with further flexibility in 
terms of where, when and how they work.  This increases flexibility for colleagues 
who need reasonable adjustments, have caring responsibilities or need a better 
work-life balance. We recognise that employee experiences of our changing the 
work project haven’t always been positive, specifically in relation to ICT equipment 
and remote working.  To ensure the ICT needs of disabled staff are met, our 
Assistant Chief Executive has established a small project team to ensure these are 
fully considered.  
 
We operate a Collective Bargaining Framework.  Trade Unions are involved in the 
development of all of our policies. We consult with the Trade Unions through our 
Joint Consultative arrangements at directorate and organisational level. All 
organisational reviews take place in consultation with the Trade Unions for example; 
we worked closely with the Trade Unions regarding recent changes to terms and 
conditions, resulting in a signed collective agreement.  These changes were Equality 
Impact Assessed.   
 
Evidence 
A Skilled and Committed Workforce – stories (SD001) 
Equality Improvement Priority Annual Report (NE064) 
Mentoring – Insite Screen shot (NE097) 
Inspire – letter inviting mentors to join (NE098) 
Step up to Leadership Programme – update (NE099) 

Page 444



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 25

Emerging Leaders – Screen Shot (NE100) 
From care2work (NE101, NE102, NE103 and NE104) 
Corporate Leadership Team – Diverse Work Programmes (NE105) 
Overview of flexible working (NE106) 
 
 
Workforce monitoring 
 
Workforce profiling data has always been available to us.  We previously provided a 
comprehensive suite of data which was reported at both directorate and service 
levels and to trade Unions. This did not change significantly and we started to 
produce this information by exception. However we now recognise the need to start 
reporting this data again and from 2015 reports will again be available at both 
directorate and service levels to enable us to monitor and measure progress.  Adhoc 
reports are currently taken to CLT and our Joint Consultative Committees (JCC) and 
in the future this information will be included in the staffing dashboard information 
and presented at regular intervals. 
 
Our recently established Elected Members Steering Group is in place to drive the 
delivery of the Inclusion and Diversity Action plan 2015/16 which includes reviewing 
workforce profile statistics. 
 
Our in-house Occupational Health Service provides referral data across protected 
characteristics, however this is currently done manually and to improve how we 
collect and report data, we are currently in the process of establishing computerised 
mechanisms to do this with a strong emphasis on confidentiality. This will enable us 
to establish any trends or themes in terms of absence and Health issues.  This type 
of data has not been reported on in the past. 
 
Managers and staff can access our Employee Assistance Provider for telephone 
or face to face counselling.  We are currently discussing reporting arrangements 
relating to take up of services across the protected characteristics. This will be 
available if we need it for reporting on an adhoc basis, we had it before with Carefirst 
(our previous provider) and it was reported to the Health and Safety Committee, it 
wasn’t used to inform provision as take up was low at that time and the emphasis 
was on increasing take up.  
 
Employment Policies and Procedures 
 
We have a wide range of employment policies and practices in place which are 
promoted to staff from all protected groups for example our People Resourcing 
Strategy which supports our ambition to be an inclusive and diverse organisation 
and our Access to Work policy.  Our polices are reviewed on a regular basis and 
we are currently in discussions with the Trade Unions regarding our new Dignity at 
Work Policy (this replaces our Bullying and Harassment Policy).   We promote our 
policies and practices through a variety of medium including:  In-site (intranet), our 
Essentials email update for all colleagues with network access (approximately 
12,000 staff and all 99 elected members), briefing sessions and toolbox talks for 
colleagues who are not connected electronically.   We launched our Reasonable 
Adjustment Toolkit in 2014 at a conference organised by our Disabled Staff 
Network, attended by 200 managers and supervisors. Our Staff Networks play a 

Page 445



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 26

vital role in sharing information to colleagues in the workplace through their actual 
and virtual networks.  
 
We are signed up to the Mindful Employer Charter and are committed to 
supporting our staff. As the city’s biggest employer, we put the positive promotion of 
mental health in the workplace at the heart of our agenda.  As part of an ongoing 
process of embedding the aspirations of the charter, our HR team has also been 
working closely with Leeds Mind/ WorkPlace Leeds to tackle stigma and address any 
issues as they arise.   Our Healthy Minds group was established by a group of 
colleagues as a self-managing group for colleagues.  It creates a virtual and physical 
space where people with mental health issues can support each other, be informed 
of mental health-related events and campaigns throughout the City and within the 
Council, work with other organisations to offer self-help/development learning and 
training opportunities for Healthy Minds members and signpost Healthy Minds 
members in need of advice.  Members have found the meetings useful from a 
personal perspective as they have been able to discuss their situation with other 
people with similar experiences. We held a Mindfulness course for the group which 
was well received.  
 
Evidence 
A Skilled and Committed Workforce – stories (SD001) 
Elected Members Steering Group (Minutes of meeting and agenda) – Inclusion and 
Diversity (NE107 and NE108) 
People Resourcing Strategy (NE109) 
Access to Work – screen shot and Employers Guide (NE110, NE111, NE112 and 
NE113) 
Dignity at Work – Acceptable Standards of Behaviour Policy (NE114) 
Reasonable adjustment – guidance for managers and supervisors making 
reasonable adjustments for disabled staff (NE115, NE116, NE117 and NE118) 
Mindful Employer – Screen shot (NE119) 
Healthy Minds Group (NE120) 
 
Staff engagement 
 
We have traditionally carried out an annual Employees engagement survey.  The 
responses from our most recent survey (2014) were analysed against the protected 
characteristics (this was the first time that staff had been asked to disclose against 
the protected characteristics). After each survey, individual services establish their 
own employee engagement plans and actions to address their own specific issues.  
The 2014 survey indicated that seven out of ten people in the workplace were 
engaged with the organisation. The next survey is scheduled to take place in 
December 2015. 
 
Our staff networks (LGBT; Women; Disabled and Black and Minority Ethnic and our 
Diversity forum) also provide an opportunity for representatives to consider, advise 
and influence equality issues and their impact on the council and its workforce. 
 
Evidence 
A Skilled and Committed Workforce – stories (SD001) 
Employees engagement survey `We`re making good progress’ (NE121, NE122 and 
NE123) 

Page 446



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 27

Disabled Staff Forum – Agenda/terms of reference/minutes of meeting (NE124, 
NE125 and NE126) 
Disabled Staff Network – screen shot and agenda examples (NE127, NE128 and 
NE129) 
 
Equal Pay 
 
Pay and terms and conditions of employment for many our employees are 
determined by the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services. We 
have adopted the (national) NJC job evaluation framework scheme for posts up to 
and including PO6, point 49, to ensure that there is a systematic, fair and 
consistent way of setting salaries, on a recognised salary scale, which is free from 
gender and other bias. The ongoing maintenance of job evaluation and pay and 
grading is undertaken jointly with the trade unions.  
 
For JNC posts we use the Chief Officer Job Evaluation scheme. This scheme is 
an analytical-factor and points based scheme which covers all significant features of 
a job. The factor levels within the scheme represent fair and discrete steps in 
demand.  Posts evaluated using this scheme are also benchmarked across the 
authority to ensure consistency. 
 
During 2008 we reviewed our pay and grading structure, aiming to end any pay 
inequality at the time and going forwards. Measures have been put in place to 
monitor this which includes; an annual equal pay audit from which action plans are 
developed to ensure that the our pay and grading arrangements are both fit for 
purpose and mitigate the risk of future challenge, risk management and regular 
assessment of NJC and JNC and wider pay structures which is reported to the Pay 
Strategy Group.  Risk and issues are then escalated as needed to the Council’s 
Leadership Team to determine appropriate mitigation. 
 
The 2015 equal pay audit is currently underway and a draft Pay Strategy for 2015 
has been written and is awaiting formal approval. We review our risks in relation to 
equal pay on a quarterly basis considering controls that are in place to prevent pay 
inequality. 
 
We are a member of a working group commissioned by the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority (WYCA) to look at how councils could take an innovative 
approach for addressing the causes and consequences of low pay and associated 
in-work-poverty. As a consequence we have now signed up to the WYCA Low Pay 
Charter which sets out how councils in the region can individually and collectively 
work to ensure that low pay matters are better addressed.  It specifically recognises 
the importance of paying the Living Wage and a wide variety of other non-pay issues 
that can also improve opportunities, promote fairness and wellbeing and increase 
engagement with low paid workers. In our refreshed BCP we have included two key 
performance indicators to help monitor and review progress on these areas 
throughout 2015/16: `Begin implementing the WYCA Low Pay Charter’ and `Reduce 
the number of people working in Leeds who are earning below the Living Wage’ 
 
Evidence  
Pay Strategy 2015 (NE130) 
Pay Plan to 2016 (NE131) 

Page 447



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 28

Best Council Plan – Detailed Objectives 2015/16 (NE132) 
 
Harassment and Bullying 
 
Our new Dignity at work policy is currently being discussed with the Trade Unions.   
We do not routinely report on casework data across protected characteristics, as this 
can cause confidentiality issues.  However, we are considering how we can ensure 
that colleagues across the range of protected characteristics are not 
disproportionately affected by any of the procedures.   
 
Appraisals 
  
Our Staff Appraisal scheme is built on the councils’ values and behaviours.  Our 
staff are assessed in terms of their performance and also against the behaviours we 
expect to see. This year`s appraisal cycle includes a specific appraisal objective for 
Directors which will give them personal accountability for creating a diverse, inclusive 
workforce supporting our value “Treating People Fairly.”  
 
Our Manager Challenge, a cultural change programme for 2,500 appraising 
managers, was launched in 2014 based around the theme of `doing our best’. This 
along with our Manager Habits has contributed to a noticeable improvement in our 
Investors in People results and our employee survey feedback.  Phase 2 of the 
Manager Challenge programme (2015) has inclusion at its heart.  Phase 2 kicked off 
with our `Give it a go June’ initiative, providing an opportunity for all services and 
managers to try something different (building on our values, behaviours and strong 
teams as well as having fun). 
 
Our Awards for Excellence Events celebrate the exceptional performance and 
hard work of colleagues (and partners) who pride themselves in delivering high 
quality services to the people of Leeds. All of our staff are encouraged to take part by 
nominating colleagues, teams, volunteers and partners who have made a difference.   
 
Evidence: 
A Skilled and Committed Workforce – stories (SD001) 
CLT Report - Manager Challenge 2015 (NE133, NE134, NE135 and NE136) 
Awards for Excellence 2014 Winners (NE137 and NE138) 
 
Learning and Development 
 
Having recognised that that Equality Training has generally been under-utilised by 
managers and staff, we have recently reviewed our equality training provision and 
set out our proposals for the future which includes a `blended’ approach to learning 
by providing access to equality and diversity training through different learning 
approaches such as e-learning, workshops and specialist training. 
 
Our approach to (equality related) learning and development interventions includes: 

 Delivery of general equality training on specific issues such as trans 
awareness 

 Delivery of specialist training via an independent organisation and also 
through our Children`s Services 

Page 448



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 29

 The Learning Pool Contract, signed 1st April 2015 which allows us to access a 
range of eLearning tools 

 The development of a mandatory e-learning module for all staff ( this is 
already mandatory in Adult Social Care Services) 

 Leaders for Leeds breakfast events 
 Manager Challenge – bite size development sessions 

 
Migration Yorkshire secured funding for their Integration Up North training 
programme (2014-2015).  This focused on improving and mainstreaming the 
integration of Third Country Nationals through fifteen training sessions delivered to 
authorities across the region.  The session delivered in Leeds was targeted at 
frontline staff and third sector organisations and focused on migration issues 
impacting on protected characteristics. 
 

 Equality Board report: equality training (NE139)  
 Integration up North - Email following the session held on March 19 

2015/Evaluation report (NE140 and NE141) 
 
Next steps 
 
We were extremely proud of the improvements that we have made to Leeds as a 
council, place to live and to the services delivered across our city since 2011.  
However, we know that these improvements are part of a continual journey.  Equality 
is at the heart of our six key objectives which are set out in our Best Council Plan 
and will be delivered through our break through projects and other initiatives.  Our 
specific focus for 2015/16 includes: 
 
Our focus for the 2015/16 includes: 
 

 Delivering a  Council Tax Support Scheme that helps people into work 
 Further joining up health and social cares services and meeting new Care Act 

2014 duties 
 Delivering housing growth and meeting housing needs 
 Promoting community committees and the role of community champions 
 Continuing focus on helping all children to be healthy, safe from harm and to 

progress and achieve at school 
 Establishing new integrated sexual health service and new drug and alcohol 

treatment services for the city 
 Expanding services that support families to resolve problems impacting on the 

welfare of children using £4.8m national funding attracted from Innovation 
Fund 

 Reducing the council’s workforce by the equivalent of 400 full-time staff 
 Improving customer access to Council services 
 Promoting good mental health 
 Securing investment, delivering economic growth, new jobs and development 

in the Aire Valley Enterprise Zone 
 Rolling out city network of community hubs, joining up services to tackle 

inequality 
 

Page 449



Leeds City Council – our ongoing improvement journey 2015 
 

 30

In addition, the framework has highlighted some areas of improvement such as the 
challenges presented in relation to our information sharing policies and practices and 
the changing profile of Leeds which has contributed to a workforce which is no 
longer representative of our communities as outlined earlier in the document, plans 
are in place to address the areas which require improvement. 

Page 450



1

Report of Director City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date:   21st October 2015

Subject: An Approach to Street Design and the Public Realm in Leeds City Centre

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes  No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This paper outlines the main principles for the Council’s approach to improving 
public realm in Leeds City Centre. Good quality public spaces and street design is 
important to improving the experience and ease of movement of pedestrians of all 
ages and physical abilities, to supporting the economic success of Leeds City 
Centre and, through a greater emphasis on pedestrian movement, to the Council’s 
emerging transport strategy. 

2. This paper is one of three complementary papers on the 21st October 2015 
Executive Board agenda related to pedestrian movement, transport and the public 
realm.  As the city centre has developed and grown, the pedestrian core has been 
established, while around this the more traditional public realm and transport 
network has remained.   The city now needs to look forward to how Leeds could 
develop the look and feel of the public realm across the whole of the city centre. 
Consideration needs to be given to our approach to street design and the quality of 
the public realm to ensure that the pedestrian experience is enhanced as well as 
continuing to play a positive role in attracting and sustaining both investment and 
major events.  It is evident that there is a strong demand to place greater emphasis 
on the pedestrian and while an ever expanding pedestrian core is not sustainable, 
our present street design puts constraints on pedestrian movement, place making 
and commercial opportunities. 

3. Our public realm does not just provide routes from one destination to another but 
increasingly provides destinations in their own right for people’s leisure, social 

Report author:  Cath Follin/Fiona 
Moore
Tel:  24 77861

Page 451

Agenda Item 15



2

interaction and even work, thereby making a vital contribution to creating an 
economically successful, liveable and healthy city centre for people of all ages. It is 
important we create welcoming, calmed and inviting places and spaces for all in 
Leeds. 

4. The Breakthrough Project ‘World-class events and a vibrant city centre that all can 
benefit from’ recognises that city centres are evolving as critical centres for people 
to interact, exchange knowledge and drive commerce. Consultation undertaken as 
part of the Breakthrough Project prioritised improving the quality of our public realm, 
re-thinking our approach to street design and reducing the impact of traffic, to 
improve the pedestrian experience while creating enhanced settings for our cultural 
and heritage assets and key gateways. Our proposed approach will help to ensure 
the delivery of the Breakthrough Projects and our aspiration for Leeds to be a 
compassionate, caring city that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the 
city’s economic growth.  It will help us achieve Council Policies and the Best 
Council Plan.

5. We are already making steps to improve the environment around City Square via 
West Yorkshire +Transport Fund City Centre Package alongside the HS2 South 
Bank master planning. Steps are also underway to redevelop the West Yorkshire 
Playhouse building, ensuring it is set within good quality public realm with enhanced 
pedestrian connectivity which is crucial to realising the full potential of this 
investment.

6. High volumes of through traffic or standing traffic can severely limit pedestrian 
movement, dwell time, place making, regeneration, environmental improvements 
and economic opportunities.  We want to inspire people to walk and cycle more 
often as part of a healthy lifestyle. Our pedestrian infrastructure for crossing roads is 
becoming out dated and lacks capacity in some places. Prioritising pedestrian 
movement, however, may result in unacceptable congestion unless schemes are 
considered within a holistic strategic context and their cumulative impact appraised. 
Provision for buses can also impact on the footway and carriageway space 
available for public realm improvement schemes. In order to maintain public 
transport accessibility to the city centre and help reduce car dominance, both urban 
realm and public transport will need to be considered hand-in-hand, together with 
the accommodation of other street uses, to achieve an appropriate balance. This 
report provides a vision and strategy for a new direction in street design; it 
complements another report on this agenda on a proposed vision and strategy for 
transport for Leeds, as creating a more people friendly, productive and accessible 
city centre will require transformational change in the way we travel into and around 
the city centre.

7. Other cities are investing heavily in their public realm to improve the visitor 
experience, increase dwell time, attract further investment, reduce accidents and 
stress: Leeds needs to do likewise.  Resources are scarce and the Council wants to 
work closely with the private sector, Leeds Business Improvement District (BID), the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to 
identify potential funding to raise our game, create more jobs and compete 
effectively.

Page 452



3

Recommendations

8. Executive Board is recommended to:

i) endorse the principle of the Council developing a strategic plan for public 
realm improvements in the City Centre based on principles outlined in 
paragraph 3.7;

ii) agree to the Council consulting and engaging with stakeholders on potential 
schemes to be brought forward based on the design ideas and opportunities 
document attached at Appendix 1; and

iii) subject to the outcome of consultation, request officers to bring back a report 
to Executive Board outlining a proposal plan of public realm improvements, 
costings and funding and note that the Head of Strategic Projects, City 
Development, will be responsible for bringing this report back.

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report outlines an approach to street design and the public realm, identifying 
some main principles to ensure schemes are designed and implemented within 
agreed corporate parameters and objectives. It provides some artist’s impressions 
of how some areas of the city centre might look if this approach was adopted. 
Although the examples are drawn from the city centre, many of the principles 
proposed are applicable across the district.

1.2 The report provides a proposed prioritised programme for public realm 
improvements in the city centre which takes account of other major developments 
and events which will impact on the city centre. 

2 Background information

2.1 Good quality public realm can enhance people’s experience of Leeds, while 
improving, promoting and managing the city centre as a business location, an 
engine for economic growth and retail and visitor destination of national 
significance.  Improvements in the public realm will help Leeds to be an 
economically strong and compassionate city in three ways. Firstly, there is 
potential to create employment opportunities both through the supply chain to 
deliver the public realm improvements and by enhancing commercial 
opportunities arising from both the subsequent higher levels of footfall and space 
for street cafes/events etc. Secondly,public realm can create better, less stressful 
and healthier environments for residents, workers and visitors. Thirdly by 
improving connectivity and ‘walkablity’ public realm can give better access to 
employment and leisure opportunities.

2.2 The Core Strategy plans for 10,200 additional dwellings in the City Centre. Car 
use by city centre residents is very low; the subsequent higher demand for 
walking and cycling to access facilities within the City Centre reinforces the need 
to enhance public realm and reduce severance.

Page 453



4

2.3 Investment in the city centre’s public realm has already paid dividends, making 
the city centre more welcoming for people of all ages, encouraging both large and 
small scale investment and creating employment. Further investment is required if 
Leeds’ expanded city centre is to continue to fulfil its potential as the economic 
engine of the city region.

2.4 High volumes of through traffic, or lower volumes of standing traffic, can severely 
limit pedestrian movement place making, regeneration, environmental 
improvements and economic opportunities across certain areas of the city. 
Prioritising pedestrian movement may result in unacceptable congestion unless 
schemes are considered within a holistic strategic context and their cumulative 
impact on the highway network appraised. Provision for buses can also impact on 
the footway and carriageway space available for public realm improvement 
schemes; nonetheless maintaining bus access to the heart of the city centre is 
essential. The impact of public realm schemes on the bus network will need to be 
strategically reviewed in order to ensure public transport accessibility to the city 
centre is maintained.

2.5 Work is already under way to create more accessible and people-friendly spaces 
by reducing the impact of traffic in the city centre.  The West Yorkshire +Transport 
Fund City Centre package will deliver the changes to the highway infrastructure 
needed to facilitate the closure of City Square to general traffic by 2021. This is a 
significant aim for the 2023 European Capital of Culture Bid and is a crucial 
element of the emerging transport strategy; a separate report on the agenda 
outlines the vision and principles for a new direction in transport for Leeds. 

2.6 The ‘West Yorkshire Playhouse’ report to Executive Board in July 2015 set out the 
importance of investing in our cultural asset. The refurbished building would 
attract more people and new audiences, be a visible and striking landmark and an 
exciting place to be and support the long term financial resilience for the 
organisation. Symbolically, the proposals will re-orientate the building to face the 
City to the west, rather than the current situation where it faces the Quarry Hill car 
park.  Again, high quality and fit for purpose public realm with pedestrian 
movement at its heart will galvanise the route between the Playhouse and Victoria 
Gate and the attached carpark.  This will be a key element in retaining patronage 
once the Quarry Hill Car Park closes.

3 Main issues 

3.1 As the city centre has developed and grown, the pedestrian core has been 
established, while around this the more traditional public realm and transport 
network has remained.   The city now needs to look forward to how Leeds could 
develop and evolve the look and feel of the public realm to ensure that it is more 
people friendly, playing a positive role in pedestrian movement, in people’s 
experience of the city and in attracting both investment and major events.  It is 
evident that there is a strong demand to place greater emphasis on the pedestrian 
however, while an ever expanding pedestrian core is not sustainable, our present 
street design puts constraints on pedestrian movement, place making and 
commercial opportunities. Consequently this paper outlines an approach to the 
Council could take in rebalancing street design to upgrade our public realm and 
place a greater emphasis on pedestrian movement and enhancing people’s 
experience of the city. 

Page 454



5

3.2 Over the last 15 years the Council’s approach to improving the public realm in the 
city centre has been firstly to focus on enhanced wayfinding, improving the quality 
of surfaces and street furniture, reducing clutter and introducing public art 
primarily within the pedestrian precinct and, secondly, to enhance ‘pocket’ spaces 
including Park Square, Merrion Gardens and Chancellor Court, with funding from 
the former Regional Development Agency. In addition we have delivered smaller 
scale interventions, often utilising contributions from the private sector in, for 
example, Albion Place, Bond Court and the Arena quarter which have added 
value to adjacent developments, attracting significant investment.  

3.3 We now need to increase our ambition and create a forward thinking vision for our 
public realm.  One which not only identifies a forward plan of interventions, but 
also recognises the importance of delivering high quality environments in a range 
of materials.  Of course yorkstone and granite are the right choice for some areas 
but we need to explore the cost effective development of our quality public realm 
in a range of materials which is suitable for a high volume of pedestrians and 
range of uses.  This Civic ambition to develop a programme of high impact 
schemes will help to re-shape the city centre and contribute towards our strategic 
priority of making Leeds the best city for residents, visitors and businesses. This 
ambition needs to recognise that the city centre has expanded to include the 
whole of the waterfront and South Bank; walking links to residential 
neighbourhoods around the whole of this expanded city centre are becoming 
increasingly important. As a result we need to further extend the city centre’s way 
finding system into the West End, the hospital and universities quarter and the South 
Bank.  Executive Board on 15th July 2015 agreed that a report is brought back to it with 
proposals to invest in the public realm across the South Bank.

3.4 Maximising the value of our Public Realm by ensuring it is well used and 
animated, through events, street cafes etc, will help to enhance the visitor 
experience, create natural surveillance and deliver income. We are currently 
rethinking our events strategy and how we can work with Bid4Leeds, to deliver the 
greatest benefits from the public realm in the Business Improvement District. As 
the city centre is a 24 hour destination, the public realm and highway 
infrastructure needs to be designed to be flexible, changing from day to evening to 
night time uses for example by possibly making day-time delivery bays available 
to taxi-ranks in the evening.    

3.5 We will need to work with our partners in Leeds BID, West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority and the Local Enterprise Partnership to ensure we are meeting their 
needs and aspirations and to identify and secure sources of funding. 

3.6 The attached document ‘Leeds Public Realm: Design, Ideas and 
Opportunities’ shows some before and after photos of areas where we have 
previously improved the public realm as well as providing an artist’s impressions 
of key gateway sites and areas around some of our major cultural and heritage 
buildings. These are not intended to be detailed designs but simply the means to 
help us visualise what some key areas of our city centre might look and feel like if 
we adopted some different street design principles.

3.7 These principles are summarised below and are compatible with the Council’s 
Highways and Transportation policy principles and those of the Property Forum’s 
Quality Places and Spaces Group.

Page 455



6

 Understand the place.

 Develop high quality buildings and spaces.

 Increase connectivity, respect desire lines.

 Remove clutter.

 Retain/add trees and enhance landscaping.

 Build with simple robust and quality materials.

 Reveal beautiful architecture and respond to the character of Leeds.

 Design places to sit comfortably, whilst avoiding obstructions to pedestrian flow.

 Integrate public art.

 Co-ordinate signage.

 Provide quality lighting.

 Work together.

 Manage and maintain the place (long-life, loose-fit).

3.8 The prioritisation of areas for improvement has been undertaken using the 
following criteria:

 footfall;  

 opportunity to create a new quality public space and destination for all ages; 

 connectivity value and importance as a pedestrian route for commuters, 

visitors and shoppers;  

 setting for key cultural attractions and buildings of architectural significance;

 potential health benefits; 

 opportunity to improve dwell time;  

 proportion of current physical obstructions;  involvement of proactive third 

parties;  

 opportunity to make a significant impact;  

 provide a catalyst for further investment;  

 economic benefits including potential for income-generating uses and 

reduction in maintenance costs; and  

 contribution to achieving our wider transport strategy and other corporate 

objectives including bidding for Capital of Culture 2023.

3.9 The resulting prioritisation for improvements is attached at Appendix 2, these are 
also mapped out in Appendix 3. This would need to be the subject of further 
engagement and collaboration with key stakeholders including potential funders.  

Page 456



7

One of the priorities identified is the New Briggate area and a separate report on 
this agenda outlines some proposals in relation to this area.

3.10 Reducing the impact of traffic and improving the pedestrian environment through 
highway interventions will be a primary driver of an enhanced urban realm offer 
across all of the higher priority proposals listed in Appendix 2. As all of these 
proposals contain public highway, a holistic approach is required to the design 
and implementation of a combined public realm and highways programme in the 
city centre. This approach will reduce the risk of abortive work, reduce 
inconvenience to city centre users and avoid displacing issues such as conflicting 
uses and demands from one area of the city into another, while enabling us to 
deal strategically with key issues such as public transport accessibility, access to 
parking and loading, and facilities for pedestrians and cyclists. Furthermore it will 
facilitate an informed dialogue with potential funders and partners as we will have 
a cohesive forward plan for our city centre; a cohesive forward plan and vision can 
also aid our planning colleagues in negotiations with developers over planning 
conditions, which can assist in delivering the bigger picture.  This is additional to 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions.  

3.11 This holistic approach will involve four phases:

i) Strategic context. Establish a holistic strategic vision to deliver an 
aspirational urban realm by 2023, supporting our European Capital of Culture 
ambitions to provide the foundation for designing the public realm and 
transport network that will serve the future city centre; agree urban realm 
requirements and priorities by location; develop traffic circulation options for 
modelling in the next phase; conduct further consultation and engagement 
and explore funding options;

ii) Model traffic circulation options, including bus movements and appraise 
them against the strategic vision;

iii) Detailed highways and public realm design, including identifying 
opportunities for public art, undertaking site surveys, consultation, 
engagement and collaboration, assessing cost etc; and

iv) Implementation on a phased prioritised basis.

3.12 As a feasibility study will be required for each scheme, and the complexity of the 
challenge makes it hard to presently define each package of work, it would be 
sensible to approach the budget allocation in three stages. Firstly to undertake a 
highways feasibility study to understand any constraints and opportunities for the 
site and its interdependencies, secondly a capital allocation for detailed design 
and costings and thirdly a capital pot for delivery.  A mixed funding package from 
internal and external sources can be pursued at all stages.  Finally, a revenue 
commitment from LCC and potentially other stakeholders will be required to 
maintain the public realm and highways infrastructure.  Naturally schemes will 
seek not to increase revenue requirements.  However, in certain cases an 
enhanced level of funding may be needed.  This could be delivered through 
increased income from the public realm such as events and other activities.

Page 457



8

3.13 Another report on this agenda explains how we will work with the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority to reduce the impact of traffic in the city centre through 
developing a compelling ambition and spatial vision for investment in an 
integrated mass rapid transit network for the city supported by strategic park and 
ride facilities and car parking policy contained in the emerging Parking 
Supplementary Planning Document.

3.14 Incremental Approach.  By clearly setting out our aspirations for the city centre 
as a whole and undertaking detailed designs for each key area, we will be able to 
develop a set of criteria to deal with smaller scale proposals as they emerge, 
encourage meanwhile uses and experimentation, particularly for problematic 
spaces. It will help to facilitate implementing incremental improvements as 
opportunities arise, without prejudicing future work or undertaking work that might 
ultimately prove to be abortive.

3.15 Alongside the improvements to the highway and public realm, the Council is 
committed to developing both a public art strategy and an events strategy for 
the city centre contributing to creating an inviting and engaging city centre for all.  
It is important to have actives within our public realm which engage with a broad 
range of user groups. This is crucial as a key factor influencing the design of our 
public realm will be how it could be used - for events, to accommodate both 
temporary and more permanent works of art as well as for street cafes and more 
informal interactions.  Our existing approach of incorporating public art into 
features such as seating and bollards will doubtless continue and could be 
extended and enhanced to accommodate stand-alone world class public art. This 
strategy will also encompass use of event spaces and the approach to market 
pitches and events such as farmers markets.

3.16 Management and Maintenance. When choosing materials and creating designs 
we need to be mindful of the maintenance legacy in terms of ease of cleansing, 
durability and patch replacement.  There are a number of quality alternatives to 
yorkstone including granite and manufactured materials with a lower cleansing 
requirement. The holistic approach to transport feasibility will also be able to 
inform the highways planned maintenance schedule, further safeguarding Council 
investment and allowing for effective resource planning.  

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 There has already been widespread engagement and collaboration on the overall 
aspirations through Breakthrough Project workshops, Access Groups, the 
Transport Symposium, The Grand Quarter Stakeholders Group, the Property 
Forum Quality Places and Spaces Group, The Calls Stakeholders’ Group etc. 
Further detailed engagement and collaboration will be undertaken on a scheme 
by scheme basis to include these and other stakeholders including children and 
young people.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Different users have different needs and these are sometimes conflicting.  The 
Council is committed to continuing dialogue with a wide range of stakeholders to 

Page 458



9

ensure that our streets are designed in such a way as to improve road safety 
particularly for pedestrians of all ages and wheelchair users. A full equality impact 
assessment will be undertaken for each scheme. 

4.2.2 A screening document has been prepared and an independent impact 
assessment is not required for the approvals requested. The document can be 
found in Appendix 4.

4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposals contained in this report will further the delivery of the Breakthrough 
Projects and our aspiration for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring city that helps 
all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic growth.  It will also 
help us achieve Council Policies and the Best Council Plan including enabling 
everyone in Leeds to ‘move around a well-planned city easily, be safe and feel 
safe, enjoy happy healthy, active lives, earn enough to support themselves and 
their families, enjoy greater access to green spaces, leisure and the arts’.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Investing now to identify the optimum highway design options needed to deliver 
our urban realm ambitions for 2023 will identify the critical path to delivering key 
urban realm interventions, opportunities for scalable and early wins, help realise 
the benefits of the West Yorkshire +Transport Fund City Centre package as well 
as harness devolution and local funding opportunities.

4.4.2 The phased approach outlined in paragraph 3.11 potentially offers the best value 
for money for the Council. 

4.4.3 We will explore how we could use a ‘cocktail’ of funding through s106/CIL 
contributions, the private sector, West Yorkshire Combined Authority, other 
sources and mainstreaming within the capital budget. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 This report is eligible for call-in. There are no specific legal implications arising 
from this report.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 There are no immediate risk management issues. A holistic approach to feasibility to 
progress a long term public realm improvement programme is the preferred option 
to deal strategically with transport issues, ensure co-ordination between adjacent 
schemes and avoid potentially abortive work. The BID4Leeds is one of the key 
drivers for urban realm improvements in the city centre’s Business Improvement 
District and will be keen to see outcomes delivered within a 4 year time frame.  
The Council will need to balance the needs of different stakeholders who will want 
to see localised schemes progressed through the identification of potential quick 
wins. 

4.6.2 Both the timescales and costs will be subject to refinement following the 
completion of the first Strategic Context phase. 

Page 459



10

5 Conclusions

5.1 A key component in improving pedestrians’ experience of their environment, and 
in attracting and sustaining both investment and major events is the quality of the 
public realm. Our public realm does not just provide routes from one destination to 
another but is increasingly a destination in itself, providing people with places for 
leisure, social interaction and even work, thereby making a vital contribution to 
creating an economically successful, liveable and healthy city centre for people of 
all ages. Changing our highway infrastructure and maintaining strategic highway 
assets to facilitate a transformation in the scale and quality of our urban realm will 
be challenging and take significant capital funding. 

5.2 Given the complexity and interdependencies of implementing major transport and 
public realm improvement schemes while planning for major developments & 
events, a holistic approach to feasibility development and programme delivery is 
the optimum means to:

 identify the critical path to delivering key urban realm interventions; 
 realise the benefits of the West Yorkshire +Transport Fund City Centre 

package;
 provide a platform for taking forward our urban realm ambitions for the Capital 

of Culture; 
 engage with WYCA on the emerging Single Transport Plan ‘Place Making’ 

core principle; and 
 harness opportunities for funding through devolution and from local 

contributions.

6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Endorse the principle of the Council developing a strategic plan for public 
realm improvements in the City Centre based on principles outlined in 
paragraph 3.7;

ii) Agree to the Council consulting and engaging with stakeholders on potential 
schemes to be brought forward based on the design ideas and opportunities 
document attached at Appendix 1;

iii) Subject to the outcome of consultation, request officers to bring back a report 
to Executive Board outlining a proposal plan of public realm improvements, 
costings and funding and note that the Head of Strategic Projects, City 
Development, will be responsible for bringing this report back.

7 Background documents1 

7.1   None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 460



11

8 Appendices

8.1 Appendix 1 ‘Leeds Public Realm: Design, Ideas and Opportunities’ 

8.2 Appendix 2 Prioritisation for improvement 

8.3 Appendix 3 Map of locations

8.4 Appendix 4 EIA

Page 461



This page is intentionally left blank



Leeds Public Realm
Design, Ideas and Opportunities
Draft for Discussion Purposes Only
August 2015

P
age 463



St
ra

te
g

y 1

2
3

4

5

6

7
9

13

11

10

12

14

15

17

8

18

16

All rights reserved.  Copyright Leeds City Council 2015.  All Images Leeds City Council unless otherwise stated.

P
age 464



Lands Lane: before  ...and after 

1. Albion Street (upper)

2.  Albion Place

3.  Lands Lane

4.  Albion Street (lower)

5.  Kirkgate

6.  Merrion Street & temporary              
     works

7.  Bond Court

8.  City Park & Sovereign Square

9. Greek Street 

10.  Mill Hill Place (Lower
      Basinghall Street)

11.  Town Hall Square

12.  Park Cross Street

13.  City Square

14.  Merrion Way/Arena

15.  New Briggate/Grand 
        Theatre

16.  Eastgate

17.  Lower Kirkgate THI

18.  New Spaces, Holbeck
       Urban VillageD

el
iv

er
ed

 S
ch

em
es

O
ng

oi
ng

 S
ch

em
es

Fu
tu

re
 S

ch
em

es
O

ng
oi

ng
 

Fu
tu

re
 S

ch
em

es
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

P
age 465



St
ra

te
g

y
Introduction

It is a Landmark moment for Leeds.  Over recent years we have 
delivered some world class developments that are resulting in 
great benefits for the people of Leeds and their quality of life.  Such 
developments as Trinity Leeds and the First Direct Arena have 
contributed to increasing footfall significantly.  The importance of 
the streetscape and public realm is key to this increase in pedestrian 
activity not only to move people to their destinations, but as a 
destination in itself.  Our public realm is quickly becoming a 
place for work, leisure and living and contributes to creating an 
economically successful, but also a liveable and healthy city centre 
for people of all ages and abilities.  

New developments in the pipeline include the Eastgate development 
and  the city centre park.  These changes will enable the city to 
expand, but will also give us a quality green space in the city centre 
that will lead onto the fulfilment of the greater city park and the 
regeneration of South Bank.   

Pedestrian movement will be increased through ensuring that 
the car does not dominate our city but rather contributes to its 
vibrancy.  Simplified spaces and the removal of clutter will assist in 
this endeavour and is reflected in many of the ideas and proposals 
contained within this document.  

This document contains illustrations of a number of recent schemes, 
improving the city and learning lessons to deliver new and exciting 
projects to reinvigorate and grow the city well.  New ideas and 
projects that will contribute to the continued process of delivering 
city centre breakthrough projects and making great spaces for the 
people of Leeds are also included here.  

Pedestrian Dominance Map by LCC Urban 
Design showing the existing people friendly places 
(yellow) and the potential routes that could be 
improved with targeted investment and new 
development (purple). 

P
age 466



Pedestrian Dominance 
Mapping shows the spaces 
(in yellow) where the 
pedestrian feels comfortable 
within the space.  This 
is not necessarily 
pedestrianised space (see 
table below) but does 
require certain criteria such 
as slow traffic speeds.  The 
purple routes are roads 
and spaces identified that 
could easily ‘become yellow’ 
and therefore  fill the gaps 
where we currently have no 
yellow.  LCC Urban Design

Pedestrian Dominance Mapping Project

In 2013 Leeds City Council undertook an 
exercise to examine where people-friendly spaces 
and routes existed with the initial intention of 
improving targeted investment to nearby green 
spaces and linkages to them.  

The simple exercise of identifying ‘people friendly 
streets and spaces’ in yellow was undertaken.  
When the base map is removed from the drawing 
the ‘gaps’ in these spaces become clear.  (see map 
below right)

The second stage was to identify in purple (see 
map opposite) which routes were necessary or 
potential easy wins, in order to create a more 
fully linked public realm.  

This exercise therefore illustrated that there are 
several opportunities to reconnect from the city 
centre to outlying communities such as Holbeck 
and Richmond Hill as well as creating better 
connections to the city’s natural landcapes and 
parks.  

The diagram provides a loose strategy of public 
realm improvements with the ultimate desire to 
‘change the streets to yellow’ and so re link not 
only the spaces within the city centre but also the 
city centre to its outlying communities.  

P
age 467



D
el

iv
er

ed
 

Top Left:  Initial designs for seating that was 
commended in the British Standard.  (LCC Urban 
Design) 
Below:  Indicative sketch that led the design 
process. Photos:  completed scheme. 

P
age 468



1. Albion Street (Upper) 

Albion Street (Upper)
Date: 2007
Funder:  Yorkshire Forward
Design and Concepts: LCC
Cost:  £1m

Lands Lane is a key north south street within 
the city of Leeds that gives a direct alternative to 
Briggate or Park Row.  Although the architecture 
is mixed there are some quality buildings and the 
street is an active and important shopping street 
within the city centre.  

The simple palette of materials was used, using 
York stone with selected tree planting at strategic 
locations.  

Perhaps the main outcome of Albion Street was 
the installation of seating and trees along its 
length.  Seating to this street was challenging 
due to the slope of the street however seating 
designs that were conceptualized and designed 
by Leeds City Council Urban Design Team 
Leader Mark Burgess achieved the outcome of 
being low maintenance, simple in design but also 
accessible for all.  The seats were later cited in the 
British Standard for seating for their ability to 
enable seating at various levels for a wide range of 
abilities for different people including children.  

Albion Street also enabled other landowners to 
see the benefit of a consistent palette of quality 
materials and the benefits this had on desirability 
for people to use the street and for businesses to 
invest in the street.  As a result there has been 
a ripple effect where other surrounding streets 
have followed suit with impressive, and profitable 
outcomes. 

P
age 469



Need Before Image of Sketfchj

D
el

iv
er

ed
 

In progress

Before

Completed scheme.
Left:  Indicative sketch by LCC Urban 
Design showing aspirations for the scheme. 

P
age 470



2. Albion Place

Albion Place
Date:  2008
Funder:  Leeds City Council & Private Sector
Design and Concepts:  LCC
Cost:  £1.3m

Albion Place epitomises the Georgian grandeur 
of 18th century Leeds with some fine buildings 
orientated along the strong grid iron pattern that 
is a key characteristic of Leeds city centre.  Albion 
Place was closed to traffic in the late 1980’s and 
the ‘Leeds Look’ defined the palette of materials 
with planters allowing a row of street trees to be 
located along the street.  However there was little 
seating and little activity from the surrounding 
buildings.  

The Making Spaces programme once again took 
the approach of a minimal backdrop of simple 
but quality materials.  The old planters were taken 
away and new trees were planted flush with the 
paving that allowed visibility to the frontages of 
buildings and contributed significantly to the 
quality of the space.  Artist Peter Yarwood was 
commissioned to create bespoke seating that 
was locally distinctive and reinforced sense of 
place.  These seats were of Portland Stone  and 
were inspired by the architectural details of the 
surrounding buildings.  

Albion Place today runs seamlessley between 
Lands Lane and Albion Street and links along 
to Briggate.  The premises along the street have 
begun to activate their street frontage with 
outdoor seating and a welcoming face towards 
the public realm.  The result is a civilised street 
where people dwell and even manages to sustain 
its own art market on Saturdays throughout the 
year.  

P
age 471



Lands Lane: before  ...and after 

D
el

iv
er

ed
 

Before

After

After

Top right: Indicative sketch by LCC Urban Design showing opportunities and 
emerging concepts for the space.  
Photos of compelted scheme resulting in more seats but less clutter in the space. 

P
age 472



3. Lands Lane

Lands Lane
Date:  2009
Main funder:  Leeds City Council
Design and Concepts: Leeds City Council
Cost: £1.3m

Lands Land was reinvigorated as part of the 
Making Spaces project following the success 
of Briggate.  The emphasis was to reduce street 
clutter and clarify the levels of the space in 
order to enable the palette of materials to be 
simple and form a suitable ‘background’ to the 
fine architecture of surrounding buildings.  A 
large scale tree was proposed and the seating 
was modified and replicated from the previous 
success on Albion Street.  

Public art built upon the reference in historic 
maps to an orchard use in the 17th century and 
the motifs used upon the maps to show this were 
used as inspiration for a bespoke piece of art for 
drainage channel covers.  Armrests by artist Lucy 
Casson were also commissioned and lend a sense 
of quirkiness to the space.

The seating was angled to allow a sociable 
relationship and privacy but also to allow free 
flow to the forthcoming Trinity Leeds that flows 
into this space.  

Today the space is still well used and has a high 
footfall due to its location between Briggate 
and the Trinity centre.  The quality of materials 
and orientation of seating enhances this space 
substantially.  The space also allows three times 
the amount of people to seat and enjoy the 
space than the previous scheme and without the 
cluttered effect of many benches.   

P
age 473



D
el

iv
er

ed
 

Before Before

AfterAfter

P
age 474



4. Albion Street (Lower) 

Albion Street (Lower)
Date:  2013
Main funder:  Land Securities
Design and Concepts: LCC
Cost: £1.3m

Albion Street (lower) was inspired by the 
public realm initiatives that had previously 
been delivered by the Council.  As a result the 
remaining half of Albion Street was funded as 
part of the Trinity Leeds development whereby 
the developers saw the benefit of investing £1.5 
million into the public realm around their site.  
Albion Street runs between the two halves of the 
Trinity Leeds development and was previously 
a dark street with its fair share of chewing 
gum cluttering up the space.  It was not a very 
desirable street to walk along.  

Since this time however the same simple 
materials have been used and reflected in the 
cladding of the surrounding buildings.  Active 
frontages are everywhere and shop fronts and 
cafes face directly onto the street and give a 
natural surveillance to Albion Street for a much 
longer distance.  Some small retail units also 
add to the vibrancy of the street and results in a 
quantity of uses that are encouraging of footfall.  

The street is now light and much busier than it 
has been over recent years and has a vibrancy, a 
footfall and sense of quality that would not have 
happened without this improvement.  The result 
is a place where people enjoy spending time and 
do not anymore feel afraid of walking down this 
important street.  

P
age 475



D
el

iv
er

ed
 

Before

After Top Left:  Indicative sketch showing 
opportunities for Kirkgate by LCC Urban 
Design.  Photos showing befores and afters. 

P
age 476



5. Kirkgate

Kirkgate
Date:  2009-10
Main funder:  Leeds City Council
Design and Concepts: LCC
Cost: £1m

Kirkgate is the oldest street in Leeds and marks 
the main street of the early medieval town prior 
to the laying out of Briggate in 1207.  It was here 
that the eminent Leeds historian Ralph Thoresby 
had his museum and Kirkgate has always been a 
bustling and important street that has real ‘Leeds 
character’.

The Making Spaces programme focussed upon 
the link that Kirkgate makes from Briggate to 
Vicar Lane and the Markets.  The palette of 
materials was still simple but with some subtle 
contrast and clutter was removed and condensed 
into a more logical layout.  The paving uses bands 
of contrasting grey granite and York stone that 
provides a pleasing contrast in wet weather or 
when the sun shines, the reflective quality of the 
granite contrasting to the matt of the york stone.

New seating of a similar design to Albion 
Street was installed and new high canopy tree 
planting was installed with the correct amount of 
underground infrastructure to enable the trees to 
grow to a mature age.  

Kirkgate is now an interesting street and 
accomodates the whole mix of people who use 
and enjoy the city centre.  The potential of the 
refurbishment is also to re link Lower Kirkgate 
and the Townscape Heritage Initiative around the 
First White Cloth Hall and Markets back to the 
core of the city centre. 

P
age 477



C
u

rr
en

t &
 F

u
tu

re Some of temporary and ‘pop up’ 
uses recently within the city centre 
including:  Far Left:  German 
xmas market, Lower Left: ‘pop 
up’ parking garden by DLA 
Architecture. Top Left: Child 
Friendly event in the city.  Bottom 
centre:  Street poetry in 2015.  
Top right/lower right:  the use of 
Merrion Way has transformed the 
space since the road was closed 
to traffic.  Opposite:  Wimbledon 
event in Millenium Square. 

P
age 478



Bond Court

Temporary and Events 

The city is host to many varied temporary and 
annual events throughout the calender year.  
Such events have the benefit of using spaces in 
different ways and encouraging a wider number 
of people to visit the city.  

Recently such temporary events have been 
supplemented by semi permanent schemes 
such as at Merrion Street where part of the road 
has been temporarily closed to traffic.  With a 
minimal spend the street was closed and this 
allowed users to spill out onto the road.  The 
result has been extra investment, more use, a 
safer and more accessible space and the multi 
use of the space for more events and uses.  The 
recent planning application for the former Tower 
Cinemas has also retained a hint to the area’s past 
in the form of the ‘Tower’ signage which was 
retained following suggestions by officers.  

A list of some events is as follows:

Sports events - Tour de France, Wimbledon, 
Rugby World Cup, Tour De Yorkshire.
Child Friendly events 
On street poetry
Light Night - annual event
Temporary ‘pop up parklet’ by DLA Architecture.
German Christmas Markets
IceCube ice rink
Live Music Bond Court6. Temporary and Events

P
age 479



C
u

rr
en

t &
 O

n
go

in
g

Before

Bond Court before and sketch 
schemes showing opportunities 
and the importance of the space 
as a connector to the wider city.  
The intimacy of the space is also 
important and contributes to the 
potential for greater ‘dwell time’ in 
the city centre. 

P
age 480



Bond Court

Bond Court
Date:  2014/15
Main funder:  Leeds City Council & Private 
Sector - Wilton Developments, Evans of Leeds
Design and Concepts: LCC
Cost: tbc

Bond Court has been a joint refurbishment, 
project managed by the City Council but 
involving private investors and nearby 
landowners in its investment and ultimate 
success.  Previously Bond Court was a forgotten 
space within the city centre.  It was often wind 
blown and acted as bin storage for nearby 
businesses and other uses.  The boules court to 
the centre of the square was sometimes used and 
the surrounding trees gave some quality to this 
space but the lack of active frontages and activity 
created a neglected space in need of renewal.

With a collection of interested landowners a 
partnership was established to reinvigorate the 
space.  Trees were replaced with new specimen 
trees with appropriate root technology installed 
to allow them longevity and new entrances, 
re cladding and even a new development is 
underway.  The appearance of new cafes and 
a new entrance to one of the major employers 
facing the square has already has a great impact 
and the space is now used more, feels more 
welcoming and even has its own place in the 
emerging events calendar of the region such as 
the Tour de Yorkshire recently where a big screen 
was installed.  

The use of granite in dark and lighter tones has 
given the space a distinctive pressence, both in 
keeping with the architecture but improving the 
overall quality and sense of place. 

7. Bond Court

P
age 481



Image by Re-form

Image by Re-formC
u

rr
en

t &
 O

n
go

in
g

Phase 1 Sovereign Square

Phase 2 Bridge Connections

Phase 3 City Park

P
age 482



The City Park/Sovereign Street

The city centre park has been a priority within 
the wider South Bank Planning Framework 
and is to be focussed around the former Tetley’s 
brewery along Hunslet Road.  Parts of the park 
have already been implemented as temporary uses 
to the front of the Tetley’s arts venue.  However 
development nearing completion on Sovereign 
Square will see the first completed phase of the city 
park.  

The aspiration is for a space that achieves all the 
aspirations for green space within the city centre 
and will include child friendly spaces and enough 
greenery to enable city dwellers, workers and 
visitors a much needed psychological break.  

Re-form Landscape Architects followed concepts 
initially drawn up by Leeds City Council and have 
produced a convincing, high quality scheme that 
will be open for the public in 2016.  

Image by Re-Form

8.  City Park & Sovereign Street
1

2
3

P
age 483



P
ro

p
os

ed

Le Cafe La Nuit - Vincent Van 
Gogh 1888
Right:  Sketch of how Greek 
Street could ‘spill out’ onto the 
street. LCC Urban design.

Existing

Potential

P
age 484



Greek Street

Greek Street has over recent years been known as 
a destination in its own right and has resulted in 
a large selection of bars and restaurants creating a 
vibrant attraction within the city.  The poor public 
realm within Greek Street has resulted in the area 
being dominated by cars and the street is failing in 
its potential to become a great outdoor place for 
visitors and residents.  

Over recent years however, there has been signifi-
cant interest in investing within the public realm, 
largely as a result of the successes seen further into 
the city centre retail core.  Visuals presented here 
illustrate that a shared/simplified space could be 
provided that allows people to spill onto the street 
with the potential to exemplify the European ‘cafe 
culture’ that has been a long held ambition.

The painting Le Cafe La Nuit painted by Vincent 
Van Gogh in 1888 was used to illustrate this 
potential after a negative filter was placed upon a 
preparatory sketch of the space.  The similarities 
can be seen opposite and it is not difficult to see 
the dramatic change that could occur in this street 
through selective public realm investment. 

9. Greek Street

P
age 485



P
ro

p
os

ed

Lower Basinghall Street creates an important connector between Trinity and City Square.  
Improvement of this space with a direct crossing to the entrance of Trinity would maximise active 
use and desirability of this intimate space within the city centre with the church as a focal point.  
The church itself feels lost in its space and although it still performs an important social function 
the approach and spatial surroundings are poor. Sketch by LCC Urban Design.

P
age 486



10. Mill Hill Place (Lower 
Basinghall Street)

Mill Hill Place (Lower Basinghall Street)

Lower Basinghall Street is a key connector to City 
Square and Trinity where there is a desire for 
improved public realm that is recognised and is 
jointly being explored by Leeds City Council and 
local landowners and interested parties. 

Lower Basinghall Street runs in front of Mill 
Hill Chapel and leads to the rear of the Trinity 
Leeds centre.  Lower Basinghall Street was once 
a prestigious address with such residents as 
Joseph Priestly (member of the Royal Society, 
Founder of The Leeds Library and discoverer 
of oxygen) living here.  In recent times however 
the Georgian city has given way to the street 
being a service street for the many shopping 
centres and hotels in the area.  Through  analysis 
of the area a short stretch of the street was 
identified as providing an opportunity for a much 
improved link from City Square and the Trinity 
Leeds centre.  It is hoped that such a link could 
reactivate the space and allow pedestrians a more 
comfortable entrance to the nearby shopping, 
hotel and cultural uses.  In light of this a name of 
Mill Hill Place has been suggested to reflect the 
stature and sense of place associated with this 
important connector in the city centre. 

P
age 487



P
ro

p
os

ed

Town Hall

Reduce Headrow 
by moving central
reservation to N side Maintain Processional

route to main entrance

Create Greenspace as
destination for Town Hall

Potential water 
features

Downgrade of Headrows
creates opportunity
for wider grassed 
areas

Straight Crossings
at Nodal points

Important Trees

Potential Development 
site created by reduction 
in Headrow

Activate Courtyards
for new Mix of Uses

Park Cross ‘Laneways’
with mix of uses and 
vibrant community

Simplify crossing,
possible shared space

Important Tree

Town Hall, Headrow Public Realm Options
For Discussion Only

Queen Victoria

Analysis and sketch ideas for the changes to Headrow 
and concepts for a Town Hall Square to create a nicer 
environment for visitors. LCC Urban Design,

P
age 488



Town Hall

Reduce Headrow 
by moving central
reservation to N side Maintain Processional

route to main entrance

Create Greenspace as
destination for Town Hall

Potential water 
features

Downgrade of Headrows
creates opportunity
for wider grassed 
areas

Straight Crossings
at Nodal points

Important Trees

Potential Development 
site created by reduction 
in Headrow

Activate Courtyards
for new Mix of Uses

Park Cross ‘Laneways’
with mix of uses and 
vibrant community

Simplify crossing,
possible shared space

Important Tree

Town Hall, Headrow Public Realm Options
For Discussion Only

Queen Victoria

Leeds Town Hall and Headrow

As part of the Breakthrough Project initiative an 
exercise was undertaken to examine the setting 
of the Town Hall and the Headrow with the 
intention of illustrating potential opportunities 
and solutions to enable the Town Hall to feel 
‘part’ of the city core once again.  After analysis 
it became clear that the highway infrastrucutre 
hinders people from visiting the Town Hall as 
a destination. There is little to encourae visitors 
to linger around Leeds’ most impressive and 
favourite building.  

Initial ideas focussed on three areas: the reduction 
in width of the Headrow, creation of quality public 
realm around the Town Hall Square, and the 
opportunities around Park Cross Street.

The exercise concluded that there may be a way, 
through combined highway and design work, to 
reduce Headrow to enable more space to the front 
of the Town Hall.  With associated green space or 
cafe uses within the Town Hall (such as the recent 
‘pop up bars’) the space could be reclaimed and 
people would once again have a reason to visit 
the Town Hall even when there was no special 
event ongoing.  Changes in surface material to the 
highway would tame traffic and also give people 
the confidence to cross what are at present very 
busy roads as part of the Inner City Loop.  

 11. Town Hall and Headrow

P
age 489



P
ro

p
os

ed

Indicative sketch for Park Cross Street 
showing minimal intervention needed 
to create a truly active street that could 
benefit the Town Hall.   LCC Urban 
Design.

P
age 490



12. Park Cross Street

Park Cross Street

Park Cross Street has a direct alignment to the 
Town Hall tower and there is a major opportunity 
here to create a diversity of uses.  

A similar initiative was undertaken in Melbourne 
and Copenhagen, where the intimate spaces 
between buildings were reconfigured from untidy 
and dirty bin stores to some of the most vibrant 
and creative places in the city. 

Park Cross Street already has some quality and 
only needs the uses to change, it contains active 
frontage, quality surface treatment and some 
quality architecture at strategic points.  The only 
element missing are the uses.  When seen from 
the Town Hall steps after a performance the street 
should be an inviting place before leaving the city.  
Perhaps a temporary use associated with the many 
festivals and events at the Town Hall could help in 
the short term. 
 

View from the Town Hall steps after a 
performance.  Park Cross Street becomes a logical 
destination. At present however the street is 
uninviting with no use or attractions. 

P
age 491



P
ro

p
os

ed
Existing

Right and Far Right:  
Indicative sketches 
showing placemak-
ing opportunities for 
City Square. LCC 
Urban Design. 
Photos:  Existing 
situation and event 
special during Tour 
de France, 2014. 

P
age 492



City Square

City Square is perhaps the most impressive 
arrival point within the city centre.  It is a space of 
true civic proportions and with the improvement 
in the seating in the early 2000’s the space has 
obtained a greater amount of ‘cafe culture’ activity 
with uses now occupying the former post office 
building and spilling onto the square. 

The space is primarily accessed from the City 
Station Northern Concourse entrance and forms 
a strong sense of arrival for visitors arriving by 
train.  

The concept of removing large amounts of traffic 
that are using the inner city loop will significantly 
improve the space and pedestrian permeability.  
The sketch right show the concept of City Square 
hosting a major event.  

The dominance of transport could be calmed 
through the use of calmed surface or simplified 
street scene although much is reliant upon the 
detailed design and delivery of the potential NGT 
scheme that intends to create bespoke stops and 
its own dedicated lane within this space.   

13. City Square

P
age 493



P
ro

p
os

ed
Lower Left:  Long term, high 
spec view along Merrion Way. 
Top Right: Sketch showing 
reconfigured Clay Pit Lane 
Junction.
Lower Right:  Analysis and 
concepts sketch exploring con-
nections, links and positive 
aspects. 
Opposite:  Sketch showing 
reconfigured Clay Pit Lane 
junction. 
All images LCC Urban Design.

P
age 494



Merrion Way and Clay Pit Lane

Merrion Way is a core element to the emerging 
Arena Quarter around the completion of the 
major Arena venue that opened in 2014.  Merrion 
Way is currently a quietly trafficked street that 
provides a strong point of arrival to the Arena.  
However traffic on event days is heavy and 
creates large amounts of congestion.  Due to 
the increase in new uses within the Merrion 
Centre however visions have been prepared by 
Leeds City Council and Farrells in conjunction 
with Town Centre Securities that illustrate how 
Merrion Way could change in the future.  A series 
of visions were prepared that show medium 
and long term solutions.  Shown here are long 
term, shared space/simplified streetscene, type 
solutions that would enhance the sense of place 
and improve connectivity. 

Clay Pit Lane is a major connector to the Arena 
Quarter.  At present it is a large traffic junction 
with staggered crossings and little attraction to 
encourage ‘dwell time’.  However the junction 
does provide the direct link between Millennium 
Square, Park Row and the City Station to the 
Arena and therefore there is a need to improve 
pedestrian facilities.  Ideas have been drawn up 
illustrating how the traffic infrastructure can be 
reduced and how better straight across crossings 
could be installed to enable pedestrians to regain 
ownership of the space.  New developments 
such as the Hilton hotel, Merrion House 
refurbishment and the closure of the subways 
should enable this place to change significantly in 
the coming years to be more people friendly.  14. Merrion Way/Arena Quarter

P
age 495



P
ro

p
os

ed Central Image: Vision for outside the Grand 
Theatre with wide crossing and minimised 
traffic.  LCC Urban Design.
Lower Left: Indicative sketch for ‘super cross-
ing’ at the junction of Headrow and Briggate.  
LCC Urban Design. 

P
age 496



New Briggate and The Grand Theatre

The Grand Quarter represents a unique 
opportunity to invest significantly into the cultural 
side of the city centre.  The Grand Theatre is one 
of the gems of the ‘Great Victorian City’ and 
epitomises the Victorian grandeur of the city in its 
Industrial heyday.  

Following an initial analysis several options 
have been examined that encourage linkage, 
placemaking and re-establishing this important 
area of the city as a true destination.  

There are several issues to overcome, not least the 
dominance of traffic, poor pedestrian crossing 
facilities, negative shop fronts and the feeling 
amongst theatre goers in particularly that the area 
around the Grand is not a place to linger longer 
than is absolutely necessary. 

The investment within the Grand Arcade and 
opposite near to the Belgrave Music Hall has 
begun to re establish this area as an alternative 
attraction built around the independent sector 
with a quality and vibrancy hard to find in many 
other cities outside of London.  

The visions therefore continue this success 
and of the success of the closure of Merrion 
Street and introduce visions for quality street 
surface, reduction of traffic, improved pedestrian 
permeability and with a proposed THI 
(Townscape Heritage Initiative), the reinvigoration 
of some unique and quality architecture.  

Town Hall and Headrow
Yo

rk
 S

to
ne

 P
av

in
g

Improve primary
frontage to The Grand

Harrison Street opportunities

Shared surface 
junction

Shared surface 
junction

Shared surface 
junction

Improve access
into St Johns

Potential 
new access
to St Johns & 
Merrion Gdns

To Arena

To Eastgate
Phase 2

To Eastgate
 Phase 2

To North Street
Quarter

To Merrion Gdns

Briggate

15. New Briggate & Grand Theatre

P
age 497



P
ro

p
os

ed
Left top:  Sketch showing 
connections between 
Eastgate and WY 
Playhouse.
Left Bottom:  Sketch 
towards John Lewis from 
WY Playhouse.
Lower Right: Sketch along 
St Peters St showing 
indicative crossing and 
new WY Playhouse 
extension. 
Right: Samples for 
Eastgate. 

P
age 498



Eastgate

With the flagship John Lewis development due 
for completion in 2016 the orientation of the 
city centre has once again been re-focussed.  
This time we have an opportunity to improve 
connections to the West Yorkshire Playhouse as 
well as encouraging greater movement to Quarry 
Hill and even Richmond Hill and creating a true 
civic space to this important area of the city.

The grand civic approach that is Headrow has 
the potential to reinvent itself as a grand street 
linking east and west of the city.  To do this the 
eastern end of Headrow requires improvement in 
terms of its sense of arrival and the existing assets 
that currently exist.  Whether this is the BBC, 
Yorkshire Dance or the Duke Street Studios and 
other Leeds Independents, there are substantial 
benefits of overcoming the barrier of St Peter’s 
Street and reconnect the city centre. 

The West Yorkshire Playhouse has the greatest 
opportunity here.  Currently its main entrance is 
to the north and disjointed from St Peter’s Street.  
There is a great opportunity here to reorder the 
entrance to present a more positive lower level 
towards Eastgate and John Lewis.  With ‘super 
wide’ pedestrian crossings, changes in surface 
material and active frontages, along with the 
potential for lowering traffic speeds or resigning 
traffic onto the city loop, the potential here is 
real and creates a new ‘bookend’ to this principal 
street.     16. Eastgate/Playhouse

P
age 499



P
ro

p
os

ed

Top: Kirkgate Street 
elevation that has 
identified and led to 
strategy for frontage 
improvements. 
Left: Precedents for 
historic schems else-
where.
Right:  Buildings 
prior to THI bid. 
Opposite:  Public 
Realm plan for 
Kirkgate by LCC 
Urban Design. 

P
age 500



Lower Kirkgate THI

Kirkgate is recognised as the oldest street in 
Leeds and likely provided the focus around the 
early Medieval and Anglo Saxon settlement 
around the site of the Leeds Minster.  Kirkgate 
therefore predates the laying out of Briggate in 
1207 which largely refocused the commercial 
centre of the town.  The THI builds upon the 
Making Spaces project earlier in this document.

As a result of past clearances in the Quarry Hill 
area in the 1930’s Kirkgate has felt isolated and 
on an outer spur of  the city centre.  However 
recent new developments to the east and south 
of the River Aire has created more activity and 
improved the potential of Kirkgate to once 
again become a prime street and connector.  
This together with the historic importance that 
is focussed around the First White Cloth Hall 
and the importance of this building and what it 
represents is a key catalyst for future heritage led 
regeneration.   

The Townscape Heritage Initiative has been 
focussed around the First White Cloth Hall that 
enabled Leeds to achieve economic dominance 
over its neighbours in the 18th century.  Without 
this building Leeds would not be the place 
we know today.  The THI is concerned with 
restoration and heritage led regeneration of 
shops, shop fronts and public realm.  The visions 
for Kirkgate reflect these aspirations in terms 
of detailed design guidance for shop fronts and 
properties as well as looking at connections and 
potential public realm improvements, including 
pavement widening and traffic calming, to 
Kirkgate itself.     

17. Lower Kirkgate THI

P
age 501



P
ro

p
os

ed

Concept plans and 
images from urban 
design analysis and 
concepts undertaken 
by Leeds City 
Council.  Plans show 
the connectivity, 
opportunities 
and potential 
for regenerative 
development around 
the Grade I Listed 
Temple Works. 

P
age 502



Holbeck and Temple Works

Temple Works is a Grade 1 Listed Building within 
the Holbeck Urban Village.  Improvements 
around this nationally significant building have 
the opportunity to maximise the impressive 
architecture  and create some quality civic spaces.     

In a recent exercise to analyse and reassess the 
linkages, spaces and opportunities around this 
area work was undertaken that ilustrated the 
catalytic effect that Temple Works could have 
upon future spatial strategies here. 

Firslty Temple Works itself is able to provide a 
focal point to a new space on development sites 
adjacent to it.  Such spaces would also enable 
new development to respond to the important 
setting of Temple Works and enable height whilst 
at the same time respecting the dominance of the 
conservation area.  

Other endeavours that identify linkages and 
developing patterns of materials have been 
undertaken and will contribute to relinking 
Holbeck to the wider area, especially to Holbeck 
itself which lies a short distance away.  Public art 
initiatives and community involvement will also 
direct future spatial improvements.  Together 
with the Holbeck Urban Village Framework the 
potential for this area of the South Bank of Leeds 
is real and should result in quality spaces for all.       

18. Holbeck & Temple Works

P
age 503



P
ri

n
ci

p
le

s
LCC Highway’s Principles QPS Quality Places and Spaces 

(subgroup of Leeds Property Forum) 
Principles

Leeds City Council Making Spaces 
Principles

The public realm examples given in this booklet have evolved through careful consideration over the last decade.  The 
principles related here illustrate the attention that has been observed in order to enable the public realm to be robust and 
sustainable.  Building from the initial concept of a ‘blank canvas’ approach and simple, minimal background for the city 
spaces there are now three layers of principles that assist us in creating quality public spaces for the future.  These include 
the Leeds City Council Urban Design principles for public realm and the QPS (Quality Places and Spaces) principles that 
have been instrumental in informing our work over recent years.  Recently also Leeds City Council Highways have been 
examining highway principles that will see us in the future enjoy a safer environment with less signage and less barriers. 
The result will be a built environment where all road users feel equal, speeds are low and pedestrians have a higher quality 
of life.            
          Image Right: Growing a Compact City 2014 

P
age 504



Principles 

P
age 505



Leeds Public Realm
Design, Ideas and Opportunities

Produced by Design Team, Sustainable Development Unit, Planning Services
Following from the document ‘Growing a Compact City of 2014.
All images copyright Leeds City Council unless otherwise stated.  
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 2015

P
age 506



Appendix 2 

C:\Users\20024477\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\OWMLFIJD\Appendix 2 locations 
v0 04 DRAFT.docx 

Locations in alphabetical order Map Ref
 Term  

Narrative 
Short Medium Long 

Albion Street (Short St - Headrow) 1     
It is anticipated exact timing of 
individual schemes will not be 

finalised until the feasibility 
work is completed to allow 
efficiencies in the delivery 

process and any 
interdependencies to be 

identified. 
 

Schemes delivery may cross 
over multiple time frames.  This 

will be influenced by the 
approach to the design process, 

complexity of individual work 
packages, external 

factors/adjacent developments 
and minimising the disruption 

within the city centre.   
 

The make-up of funding package 
available may also influence the 

phasing of schemes. 

Boar Lane/ Duncan Street/ New Market Street 2    
Bond Ct/ Park Row / Greek Street / South Parade / Crossing point at St 
Paul's St & East Parade 

3    

Buttons Yard (Minor Scheme) (supports City Sq & station environs) 4    
Central Road 5    
City Park and Sovereign Street footbridge 6    
City Square (inc. fountain) and station environs 7    
Clay Pit Lane/ Merrion Way 8    
Commercial Street 9    
Corn Exchange and frontage 10    
Eastgate 11    
Gateway junction and Ibis area 12    
Lands Lane (top ⅓) 13    
Lower Briggate / Bridge End / Water Lane 14    
Lower Kirkgate (Inc Townscape Heritage Initiative Area) 15    

New Briggate/North Street/The Headrow – Briggate Crossing 16    
Quarry Hill/WYPH/St Peter’s Street Crossing 17    

The Headrow (entire length) 18    

Town Hall forecourt and Victoria Gardens connectivity 19    
Woodhouse Lane 20    

 

P
age 507



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

 
 

8 

     6 

      17 

19 

15 

14 

16 

7 
     2 

  12 

6 

Locations in alphabetical 
order 

Map 
Ref 

Albion Street (Short St - 
Headrow) 

1 

Boar Lane/ Duncan Street/ 
New Market Street 

2 

Bond Ct/ Park Row / Greek 
Street / South Parade /  
Crossing point at St Paul's St 
& East Parade 

3 

Buttons Yard (Minor Scheme) 
(supports City Sq & station 
environs) 

4 

Central Road 5 

City Park and Sovereign 
Street footbridge 

6 

City Square (inc. fountain) 
and station environs 

7 

Clay Pit Lane/ Merrion Way 8 

Commercial Street 9 

Corn Exchange and frontage 10 

 

Locations in alphabetical 
order 

Map 
Ref 

Eastgate 11 

Gateway junction and Ibis 
area 

12 

Lands Lane (top ⅓) 13 

Lower Briggate / Bridge End / 
Water Lane 

14 

Lower Kirkgate (Inc 
Townscape Heritage Initiative 
Area) 

15 

New Briggate (Grand Qtr) 
/North Street/The Headrow – 
Briggate Crossing 

16 

Quarry Hill/WYPH/St Peter’s 
Street Crossing 

17 

The Headrow (entire length) 18 

Town Hall forecourt and 
Victoria Gardens connectivity 

19 

Woodhouse Lane 20 

 

1 

5 9 

20 

20 

13 
     3 

18 
11 

10 

4 

18 18 P
age 509



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Economic Development 

 
Lead person: Cath Follin/Fiona Moore 
 

Contact number: 39 50465 

 
1. Title: An Approach to Street Design and the Public Realm 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify: developing an approach to public realm in the city 
centre 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The proposal to develop a cohesive investment plan for city centre public realm, 
responding to the needs of a compact city centre. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 511



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 512



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
We are currently putting forward a proposal to develop an investment plan for public 
realm in the city centre.  Any subsequent design and delivery of any public realm will be 
developed in collaboration with stakeholders and full consideration given to the end user. 
 
Improvements in public realm will have a positive impact on connectivity and city identity 
which could boost inward investment and access to employment.  Improved public realm 
reduces isolation for individuals and communities and also supports healthy living by 
improving walkability. 
 
Key to mitigating any public concerns will be a well planned and robust approach which 
clearly identifies the end product and the rationale for completion.  Working within 
national and corporate best practice and a collaborative approach will minimise concerns.  
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
We are currently at proposal stage; seeking approval to secure the necessary funding to 
develop an approach to investment in public realm within the city centre.  We have an 
open approach to the best ways to improve spaces; there will be a feasibility study to 
identify how areas can be enhanced to improve permeability for all where the quality of 
the pedestrian journey in the city centre is at the heart of the project. 
 
The subsequent design of spaces will be a collaborative approach. 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

Collaboration and sharing good news stories are key to spreading the message about 
improvements to the public realm Leeds City Council’s commitment to improving the 
pedestrian environment.   
 
For the delivery of the projects working with a multi-disciplinary design team who can 
account for the needs of a variety of user groups and taking forward good practice 
from earlier public realm schemes will minimise any negative impacts.   
 
We are also committed to an open and accessible city centre through the construction 

Page 513



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

period ensuring access to areas is maintained and there is quality information 
available on the development with contact details. 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Cath Follin 
 

Head of Strategic Projects 30th September 2015 

Date screening completed 28th September 2015 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 1st October 2015 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 514



1

Report of Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date:  21 October 2015

Subject: The Regeneration of the New Briggate Area

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City & Hunslet

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes  No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 10.4(3)

Appendix number: 3

Summary of main issues 

1. This report outlines the issues and opportunities regarding the regeneration of 
the area around New Briggate.  It identifies how, through a number of 
regeneration proposals, the Council and other stakeholders could re-energise 
this area, thereby supporting the competitiveness of the Leeds Grand Theatre 
and Opera House and other local businesses, improve connectivity to Lovell 
Park, the prime retail quarter and the Victoria Gate phase 2, while helping to 
create an urban village feel in this cultural quarter.

2. Some of the proposals for regeneration will be financially challenging, however 
there is an opportunity to dispose of a nearby vacant Council asset (26-32 
Merrion Street) and car park at Cross Belgrave Street in order to generate 
capital receipts which could be utilised to fund Council priorities and facilitate 
the lease of vacant units at 34-40 New Briggate. 

3. The potential to secure active usage of these currently vacant properties and 
make improvements to the public realm would help to provide a more fitting 
environment for The Grand and other local businesses and enhance the overall 
visitor experience. This regeneration would support the City Council’s 
Breakthrough Project ‘World-class events and a vibrant city centre that all can 
benefit from’ and our aspiration for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring city 
that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic growth; 
it will also help us achieve many of our Best City outcomes.

Report author:  Cath Follin/Mary Stockton

Tel:  24 77861

Page 515

Agenda Item 16



2

Recommendations

4. Executive Board is recommended to:

a) Declare surplus and market 26-32 Merrion Street and add the property to the 
capital receipt programme. The approval for the terms for any such disposal 
to be delegated to the Director of City Development;

b) support in principle the invitation of proposals for the potential development of 
the pay and display car park and the re-ordering of the public open space at 
Belgrave Gardens for further consideration by the Council to provide an 
additional capital receipt; 

c) request officers to undertake an initial ‘expressions of interest’ marketing 
exercise for the lease of 34-40 New Briggate (i.e. the vacant shops under The 
Grand and Howard Assembly Rooms) with a reverse premium payment 
available (detailed in the Confidential Appendix 3);

d) request officers to develop an initial feasibility scheme for improvements to 
the public realm of New Briggate and the immediate surrounding area; 

e) request officers to continue partnership working and improvements to the 
public realm to stimulate the regeneration of this area and develop options 
above and beyond ‘match funding’ of any contribution by the Council; and

f) request officers to report back on progress in due course; and to note that the 
Head of Land and Property will be responsible for the implementation of 
recommendations a), b) and c) above and that the Head of Strategic Projects, 
City Development, will be responsible for the implementation of 
recommendations d), e) and f) above.

1.0 Purpose of the report 

1.1 This report outlines the issues and opportunities regarding the regeneration of 
the area around New Briggate. It identifies how, through a number of 
regeneration proposals, the Council and other stakeholders could re-energise 
this area. 

1.2 The report highlights the opportunity to dispose of the vacant Council asset (26 
– 32 Merrion Street) and the Council owned car park at Cross Belgrave Street 
in order to generate capital receipts to support Capital Programme priorities and 
facilitate the lease of 34-40 New Briggate. This would help to provide a more 
fitting environment for the Grand Theatre and Opera House, thereby supporting 
the competitiveness of the theatre and other local businesses and enhance the 
overall visitor experience. This regeneration would support the City Council’s 
Breakthrough Project ‘World-class events and a vibrant city centre that all can 
benefit from’ and many of our Best City Outcomes including enabling everyone 
in Leeds to move around a well-planned city easily; be safe and feel safe; enjoy 
happy, healthy, active lives; earn enough to support themselves and their 
families, and enjoy greater access to green spaces, leisure and the arts.

Page 516



3

2.0 Background and Context

2.1 The ‘World-class events and a vibrant city centre that all can benefit from’ 
Breakthrough Project’s ambition is that Leeds has an exemplar 21st century city 
centre that is regarded as inclusive, friendly and cutting edge by residents, 
visitors, businesses, place-makers and others.  A number of workshops have 
identified the need to make incremental improvements while developing longer 
term game changing projects and to work differently so that where appropriate, 
external stakeholders take the lead in galvanising action. A priority agreed by 
many stakeholders was to improve the setting for our cultural assets such as 
the Leeds Grand Theatre (See Appendix 1).  A report elsewhere on this agenda 
proposes a new approach to street design and highlights New Briggate in a 
proposed programme of improvements.

2.2 New Briggate presents many challenges to pedestrians and some of the 
businesses located there both in terms of place-making and how the space 
functions including relatively narrow pavements with very high levels of footfall 
particularly during the rush hour and before and after performances at the 
Grand, a lack of opportunity for street cafes, difficulties in following natural 
desire lines in crossing the Headrow and New Briggate and the general 
appearance of many properties including Council owned empty units.  There is 
now an opportunity to address these issues and create a more positive, 
sustainable future for this neighbourhood by working in partnership and making 
best use of Council’s assets.

2.3 Town Centre Securities recently approached the Council offering to establish a 
group of stakeholders to work together to develop a vision for New Briggate and 
its environs, working with the Council, Leeds Business Improvement District 
(BID) and the LEP to explore improving the street design in this area as well as 
its management and  maintenance. The stakeholder group have requested that 
an Executive Member acts as a Champion for the area.

2.4 Redesigning New Briggate and upgrading the public realm in this area to 
improve the pedestrian experience whilst enabling continued access by bus 
passengers, taxis, business deliveries etc will be financially challenging and 
this report sets out an approach to how this might be accomplished.

3.0   Main Issues

3.1 The New Briggate Public Realm

3.1.1 The theatre and independent businesses are key economic drivers in this 
area, however there is a discrepancy between the prominence of the theatre 
and its resident companies, and the condition of New Briggate. Although the 
Grand Arcade and surrounding streets are slowly improving and becoming 
more popular destinations, this area is still a place in which few people choose 
to linger. New Briggate and the surrounding streets also act as a barrier 
between inner city residential areas and the economic opportunities that the 
city centre presents, between the Arena Quarter and other city centre leisure 
offers and phase 2 of the Victoria Gate development.  

3.1.2 However this area could provide a ‘village centre’ for surrounding residents as 
well as an attractive lunchtime and evening leisure offer to workers, visitors 

Page 517



4

and residents. It could facilitate access to Lovell Park and to Merrion Street 
Gardens and St John’s churchyard. Improving the quality of the public realm 
and bringing some of the Council’s assets forward for development could 
create a ‘tipping point’ to realise the regeneration of this area in time for Leeds’ 
bid for European Capital of Culture. The proposed improvements will build on 
the positive momentum in the area, helping to secure the continued 
reinvigoration of Grand Arcade and surrounding streets, growing the area’s 
reputation as location for high quality independents and facilitating Leeds Indie 
Food and the Leeds Indie initiative. Regenerating New Briggate and improving 
the pedestrian crossings at the Headrow/Briggate junction will also help to 
make empty units at the top of the pedestrianised area of Briggate more 
attractive to occupiers, counterbalancing the retail and leisure shift towards 
Trinity and Victoria Gate.

3.1.3 There is a report elsewhere on this agenda proposing a new approach to 
street design from which this neighbourhood and its businesses would greatly 
benefit.  New Briggate has been identified as a priority area for public realm 
improvements to give greater priority to pedestrians, support quality 
independent businesses and animate the street, to make this area a place to 
linger and enjoy.  There is an opportunity now to realise opportunities to better 
utilise Council assets to facilitate this regeneration and to work with 
businesses and other stakeholders in the area, including Leeds BID, to 
improve the design and maintenance of the public realm.

3.1.4 In order to make step changes in the quality of the environment and the public 
realm in the New Briggate area, the Council needs to consider how it can work 
in partnership with stakeholders to bring forwards a coherent programme of 
improvements. Members are asked to note that work is being commissioned 
to look at options to enhance public realm in the area which could include re-
routing of bus services in order to offer up further opportunities for 
enhancements in New Briggate. In addition, as part of a holistic approach, 
bringing Council assets forward for redevelopment to provide finance to 
support Capital Programme priorities will be necessary. Accordingly, key 
assets are outlined below.

3.2    26 – 32 Merrion Street (Site A on Plan A at Appendix 1)

3.2.1 This was formerly licensed premises that is now vacant. Planning officers 
have indicated that a range of City Centre uses could be acceptable, subject 
to any required planning application. 

3.2.2 There is no operational reason to retain this property and as such members 
are requested to declare it surplus to Council requirements and that it be 
placed on the open market. This will ascertain the level of interest and 
potential receipt. 

3.2.3 It is recommended that the terms for any such disposal be delegated to the 
Director of City Development for approval.  

3.2.2 34 – 40 New Briggate (Site B on Plan A at Appendix 1) 

3.2.3 Currently, the units at 34-40 New Briggate are vacant therefore, as part of the 
lease arrangements with Opera North, the Council has to pay a proportion of 

Page 518



5

the Service Charge costs for the maintenance of the structure. Whilst the 
current condition of the units impacts on their viability, it is considered that with 
the upturn in the property market the timing is now right to bring the units 
forward for re-development.   

3.2.4 Historically there has been interest in 34-40 New Briggate from Leeds Grand 
Theatre and Opera House Ltd, from Opera North and from local entrepreneurs 
for restaurant /licensed premises uses. Given the range of interest and with 
the objective of bringing forward the best scheme, it is proposed that this is 
best achieved by running a competitive process which will incentivise bidders 
to be competitive. 

3.2.5 In view of the poor condition of the 4 units, members are advised that a 
reverse premium is likely to be required from the Council to make occupation 
viable. Members may recall that this approach was successfully used for The 
Roundhay Mansion House and Engine House at the Tower Works site in 
Holbeck.

3.2.6 Given these issues and the range of interest in the properties it is 
recommended that officers undertake an initial ‘expressions of interest’ 
marketing exercise with the opportunity to discuss a reverse premium on the 
properties given that this project is in the early phases. 

3.3    Belgrave Gardens  

3.3.1 The Council owns the freehold of a site in Belgrave Gardens which comprises 
an area of Public Open Space (POS) and a public pay and display car park 
(see Plan 10386/D at Appendix 2).  Part of the POS is affected by a restrictive 
covenant — the extent of this is shown by stippling on the attached plan. The 
covenant prevents any building to take place on the stippled area. Further 
details on the nature of this covenant are contained in Appendix 3.

3.3.2 Local Ward Members were originally consulted on a proposed scheme for 
student accommodation on this site, CIIr Davey and CIIr Nash stated that they 
were not supportive of the proposal, firstly as they did not want to see any 
reduction in greenspace in the city centre as this is already in short supply and 
secondly that purpose built student accommodation is in over-supply.

3.3.3 Ward members were consulted again on the principle of development (no use 
prescribed at this time) in July 2015 and Cllr Nash reconfirmed opposition to 
the loss of public open space.

3.3.4 The site is designated as greenspace and this designation is continued in the 
Site Allocation process. However, the greenspace could be re-ordered and 
improved to facilitate development and provide a receipt to re-cycle into the 
wider New Briggate improvement scheme. 

3.3.5 A development at this site and the associated receipt could bring the benefits 
of improved and re-ordered greenspace, CRIS monies for the Ward and, 
depending on the final development, linkages to the Arena; the Council may 
be able to request the re-instatement of some car parking. 

Page 519



6

3.3.6 A development on the site will have the potential for the loss of a proportion of 
the existing amount of greenspace but if it could be re-ordered and improved it 
could have benefits.  

3.3.7 Given the potential benefits to the regeneration of the wider area, it is 
proposed that scheme ideas are invited from the developer identified in 
Confidential Appendix 3 and that mitigation of the concerns of Ward Members 
are explored.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 Ward Members have been consulted and their views are outlined above. The 
Grand Theatre and Opera North have also been consulted. A wide range of 
stakeholders have been consulted on the principles of letting the vacant 
shops under the Grand and they have been very supportive as there active 
and complementary usage is seen as critical to the regeneration of this area. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration screening document has 
separately been prepared for these proposals and is attached as  Appendix 4.

4.2.2 The regeneration of New Briggate will benefit the local business and 
residential communities and will not have any detrimental effects on equality 
and diversity.  

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Transforming vacant units into active leisure/retail units, stimulating the 
regeneration of this area and supporting the continued success of the Grand 
Theatre would contribute to Council’s Breakthrough Project ‘World-class 
events and a vibrant city centre that all can benefit from’ and our aspiration for 
Leeds to be a compassionate, caring city that helps all its residents benefit 
from the effects of the city’s economic growth; it will also help us achieve 
many of our Best City Outcomes.  

4.4    Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The recommended steps will bring Council assets forward for redevelopment 
and provide revenue to support Capital Programme priorities. The 
regeneration of this area may lever in additional funding from other sources 
and should result in increased business tax revenue. While the costs of the 
initial feasibility scheme for the public realm improvements referred to in the 
recommendations will be met primarily through existing City Development 
resources, officers will also seek contributions for a more enhanced feasibility 
study from external sources.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The information contained in Appendix 3 is exempt under Access to 
Information Rule 10.4(3) as they contain information relating to the financial or 

Page 520



7

business affairs of a particular organisation and of the Council.  It is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the content of the 
appendices as exempt outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information due to the impact that disclosing the information would have on 
the Council and third parties.

4.5.2 The decision is eligible for call-in.

4.6    Risk Management

4.6.1 There is a risk that by not maximising the Council’s assets in New Briggate 
and surrounding streets in line with a co-ordinated strategy for the 
regeneration of this area, the city will not make the most of both opportunities 
to support cultural and wider leisure economy in this relatively marginal area 
of the city centre.  Furthermore there is an increasing risk to the Council’s 
reputation if it is perceived as hampering, rather than facilitating the 
regeneration of this area which contains one of the city’s most prized cultural 
assets. By endorsing the recommendations contained within this report, these 
risks are mitigated. 

5.0 Conclusions

5.1 The regeneration of New Briggate and its surrounding streets will be greatly 
facilitated by the occupation of vacant units currently in the Council’s 
ownership. The sale of 26-32 Merrion Street , of part of an area of Council 
owned public open space and the Council owned pay and display car park at 
Belgrave Gardens will generate significant capital receipts. These capital 
receipts will contribute to the Council’s wider priorities. 

6.0     Recommendations

6.1     Executive Board is recommended to:

a) Declare surplus and market 26-32 Merrion  Streetand add the property to 
the capital receipt programme. The approval for the terms for any such 
disposal to be delegated to the Director of City Development;

b) support in principle the invitation of proposals for the potential development 
of the pay and display car park and the re-ordering of the public open space 
at Belgrave Gardens for further consideration by the Council to provide an  
additional capital receipt; 

c) request officers to undertake an initial ‘expressions of interest’ marketing 
exercise for the lease of 34-40 New Briggate (i.e. the vacant shops under 
The Grand and Howard Assembly Rooms) with a reverse premium payment 
available (detailed in the Confidential Appendix 3);

d) request officers to develop an initial feasibility scheme for improvements to 
the public realm of New Briggate and the immediate surrounding area; 

Page 521



8

e) request officers to continue partnership working and improvements to the 
public realm to stimulate the regeneration of this area and develop options 
above and beyond ‘match funding’ of any contribution by the Council; and

f) request officers to report back on progress in due course; and to note 
that the Head of Land and Property will be responsible for the 
implementation of recommendations a), b) and c) above and that the Head 
of Strategic Projects, City Development, will be responsible for the 
implementation of recommendations d), e) and f) above.

7.0 Background documents1 

7.1 None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s 
website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents 
does not include published works.

Page 522



PLAN A

(A) 26 - 34 MERRTON STREET ( B) 34 40 NEW BRTGGATE

{o
Hall

(Þ

lr

5tc

St John's Church

Harfield
House

o
ID3o¡
co

.p

e
o-

PH
o,ø
o
@

rCWIl(Ð€ claia (ig

'----'-j
f¡-

46.9m

---_--- _-_-_--__-
I
I

I
ofRest

,

è,à

I
t
I
I
)
I
I
t
,
I
,
I

I
,
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

I
I
I
I
II

u¡z
J
É.

C)

Car

IE

I
I
I
I
a
I
a
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

b'

o

Club

ct)

o
cno

(
c

2

Bank

Clinic
18

iiOû19.:ôi (i r:::=+

CITY COUNCIL
@ Crown copyr¡ght and database rights [2015]

Ordnance Survev LA1 0001 9567

Scale 1:1,250

Date 25t09t2015

Drawn By

Leeds
Page 523



This page is intentionally left blank



! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

El

17

21

Belgrave

50.6m

54 52

46.9m

66a 10

NORTH STREET

Hu
me

 Ho
us

e

Commerce House

Point

Shelter

44

Symons House

House

Office

15

55

61
a

62

10

74

Office

HA
RT

LE
Y

El

St John's

House
Register

(PH)

Club

MERRION PLACE

1

Zicon House

House

17
13

1a
3

64

22

130

A 64 (M) A 64 (M)

HARTLEY HILL

BACK BRUNSWICK STREET

BELGRAVE STREET

19 21
57

CR
OS

S B
EL

GR
AV

E 
ST

RE
ET

66

8 6

18

44.2m

Warwick

Memorial
Brunswick

A 64 (M)

7

Zicon House

32 34
26 to 30

MERRION PLACE

Belgrave Hall

5

NE
W BR

IGG
AT

E

A 6
4 (

M)

4

A 64 (M)

Belgrave

PL
AC

E

1 to 46

TheWrens

9

16

68 to 72

7
3

A 64 (M)

12
3

NEW YORK ROAD

WADE LANE

Register

A 64 (M)

DW

Sub Sta

59

11
1

MERRION STREET

5

Clinic

125

TCBs

TCB's

TO
WE

R H
OU

SE
 ST

RE
ET

House

St Alban's Place

DW

Centenary House

1:1,254Scale

®

LAND AT
BELGRAVE STREET

LEEDS LS2

DATE
PREP BY

OS No

PLAN NoCrown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Leeds City Council 100019567 2009

SUE HALLIDAY
20/01/2009

SE3033NW

10386/D
Map Document: (G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\10300 - 10399\10386D Belgrave Street.mxd)
08/03/2010 -- 15:49:39

LAND OWNED BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

LAND LEASED OUT BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

´

SUBJECT SITE´

LAND SOLD BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

Commerce House

Warwick
 House

Belgrave 
 House

AREA TO
REMAIN OPEN

Page 525



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 527

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Economic Development 

 
Lead person: Cath Follin/Mary 
Stockton 
 

Contact number:24 77861 

 
1. Title: The Regeneration of the New Briggate Area 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify: Identifying how Council Assets could contribute to the 
Capital Programme and help to stimulate the regeneration of New Briggate and its 
surrounding area. 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

The proposal is to dispose of a vacant Council asset (26 – 32 Merrion Street) and a 
car park at Cross Belgrave Street in order to generate capital receipts which could 
be utilised to fund Council priorities and facilitate the lease of vacant units at 34-40 
New Briggate. The potential to secure active usage of these currently vacant 
properties and make improvements to the public realm would help to provide a more 
fitting environment for the Grand Theatre and Opera House, thereby supporting the 
competitiveness of the theatre and other local businesses and enhancing the overall 
visitor experience. 

  
 
 

Appendix 4 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 529



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 530



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Cath Folin 
 

Head of Strategic Projects 30th September 2015 

Date screening completed 23rd September 2015 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 

Page 531



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 1st October 2015 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 532



Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 21st October 2015 

Subject: Our Transport Vision for a 21st Century Leeds 
Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): All 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

Summary of main issues 

1. This report provides our transport vision for Leeds as a 21st century city, building on 
the vision for the city centre which has emerged from the two city centre conferences 
held in 2008 and 2010, and the first Leeds Transport Symposium last year. 

2. The economic geography of the UK is changing with the growth of knowledge 
intensive employment sectors, such as financial and professional services. City 
centres are evolving as critical centres for people to interact, exchange knowledge and 
drive commerce. With this infrastructure is high on the government’s agenda, 
technology advances are happening and devolution is a real possibility. Transport is a 
fundamental component of what makes a prosperous and liveable city. Our vision is 
for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring city with a transport system that helps all our 
residents benefit from the city’s economic growth. Getting our transport system right is 
a critical element of achieving the Council’s Best City ambition.

3. Leeds provides a strong historical illustration of how major investment in transport 
infrastructure has resulted in transformational economic growth - from the Leeds 
Liverpool Canal, to the Victorians who cemented the city’s position on the railway 
network, to our emergence as a ‘motorway city’ in the 1970s. Another defining moment 
is fast approaching. Leeds is following the global trend towards highly skilled jobs 
clustering in a compact environment. There is an opportunity to nurture this economic 
growth through a transport system that can move more people to a denser and more 
productive city centre. We need to invest now in a transport infrastructure fit for a 21st 
century city if we are to harness the increasing opportunities provided for by devolution 
and maximise the benefits of HS2 and Trans North (the proposed fast East-West 
network between Leeds and Manchester and across the north).  

4. Transport investment from the 1970’s has created a legacy where traffic dominates 
parts of our city, with roads engineered for capacity rather than streets that cater for 

Report author: L Bennett 
Tel: 78228  

Page 533

Agenda Item 17



people. Changing our highway infrastructure to create a more people friendly city 
centre will be challenging and take major capital funding. Creating a more people 
friendly, productive and accessible city centre will also require transformational change 
in the way we travel into and around the city centre.

5. Work is already underway to reduce the impact of traffic across the city. The West 
Yorkshire +Transport Fund City Centre Package will enable the creation of a world 
class gateway through the closure of City Square to general traffic by 2021. Alongside 
this we want to make it more attractive for people to travel to the city centre by 
sustainable modes. We are also working with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
through the emerging Single Transport Plan to develop a compelling ambition for 
investment in an integrated mass transit network for the city and city region, supported 
by strategic park and ride infrastructure and car parking policy.

6. Successfully balancing conflicting and complex demands on our land use and road 
space across different stakeholder groups will be a major challenge for the city. 
However, we must not lose site of the end goal of delivering a transport system fit for a 
Leeds as a 21st century city. This will not be realised without clear leadership, close 
partnership working and a coherent policy approach to transport from the Council. We 
need to:
  i) Reshape our city centre for a more attractive place to live, work and visit;
  ii) Enable a new dimension of travel choice;
  iii) Reduce the cost of doing business across the city; and 
 iv) Unlock housing and employment growth - through the adoption of the following  
      key principles;

a) The Council will continue to take a lead role in HS2 and Transport for the North to 
develop a transport system that helps to rebalance the economy and positions Leeds 
City Region at the heart of a strong Northern economy. The Council supports the 
creation of a major rail hub for the city, the city region and the North which provides 
the optimum solution for the use of rail capacity capitalising on HS2, TransNorth and 
the increasing demand for rail.  

b) The Council supports the creation of a world renowned gateway to the city via the 
closure of City Square to vehicular traffic with the exception of cyclists, NGT, buses 
and taxis, the principle of the closure of Neville Street with the possible exception of 
NGT, and the reduction in traffic in Leeds city centre through infrastructure 
improvements to the M621 and Armley Gyratory. The Council also recognises the 
strategic importance of the Inner Ring Road in reducing the impact of traffic in the city 
centre and the need to review long term options for this key highway asset. 

c) The Council supports the principle of providing greater priority measures for 
pedestrians and cyclists alongside integrated proposals for enhancing public realm 
through reduced vehicle capacity and priority within the city centre and South Bank, 
in addition to proving enhanced walking and cycling connectivity with the areas 
surrounding the city centre.

d) The Council supports the principle of increasing travel to the city centre by 
sustainable modes through high quality, high capacity public transport and the 
creation of an integrated mass transit network for the city. The Council supports the 
provision of additional public transport and cycling priority on radial routes into the 
city, alongside attractive strategic park and ride facilities. 

Page 534



e) The Council will develop a complementary car parking policy which supports the city 
centre economy maintaining accessibility to the city centre for retail, business and the 
visitor economy, whilst reducing the economic dis-benefits of congestion and 
unlocking the productivity benefits of brownfield sites in the city centre.

f) The Council supports the principle of improving journey time reliability through 
targeted highway efficiency improvements for orbital movements to alleviate 
congestion, alongside complementary investment in radial public transport for routine 
trips, which frees up space on our roads for those with fewer alternatives, servicing 
the needs of businesses and improving freight efficiency.

g) The Council supports the delivery of an integrated approach to street design which 
will unlock the wider economic benefits of a prosperous urban realm for all.  

h) The Council supports the development of a cycle strategy and low emission strategy 
that promotes healthy living, better air quality and carbon reduction. 

i) The Council supports the provision of transport infrastructure to serve new 
developments, with a focus on sites of economic importance to the city and city 
region including Leeds Bradford Airport, the Aire Valley Enterprise Zone and East 
Leeds Extension.  

Recommendations

Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Approve the vision outlined in paragraph 3.11 and adopt the key policy principles a - i 
above;

ii) Request that officers use the vision and principles to work with the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority to help shape the Single Transport Plan and that as part of this, 
develop a compelling ambition for investment in an integrated mass transit network 
with supporting strategic park and ride infrastructure, and HS2 connectivity package;

iii) Request that officers bring a report to Executive Board in 2016 which reviews the long 
term options for Leeds Inner Ring Road;

 
iv) In accordance with the Leeds Core Strategy Local Development Framework, request 

that officers bring a Car Parking Supplementary Planning Document to Executive 
Board for adoption during 2016;

v) In partnership with the Communications Team and the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority request that officers develop a holistic transport communications strategy, 
compatible with social media that engages key stakeholders, government, and general 
public in a city wide conversation;

vi) Instruct the Director of City Development to co-ordinate the above work with an update 
to Executive Board in 2016.

Page 535



1.           Purpose of this report

1.1 This report sets out a transport vision for Leeds as a prosperous, liveable, healthy and 
sustainable 21st century city contained within Appendix 1. 

1.2 This report recognises the challenges and complexities of changing the way we 
travel into and around the city to create a more people friendly and productive urban 
core, identifying the key policy principles that the Council will need to adopt to 
deliver a transport system fit for a Leeds as a 21st century city. 

2 Background information

Transport and the economy – the changing role of city centres
2.1 Nationally, there is an increasingly widely held consensus that transport is an 

enabler of economic growth. Our city’s growth has been predicated on, and in turn, 
shaped by our transport infrastructure. Leeds provides a strong historical illustration 
of how major investment in transport infrastructure has resulted in the 
transformational economic growth of a city. From the completion of the Leeds 
Liverpool Canal in 1816, to the Victorians who cemented the city’s central position 
on the railway network, to our emergence as a ‘motorway city’ in the 1970s.

2.2 We are fast approaching a defining moment in the evolution of the Leeds economy 
and its relationship with transport. The government’s recent commitment to further 
devolution and investment in our West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF) will 
underpin growth by improving both the city and the city region’s transport 
infrastructure. Alongside the national commitment to the arrival of High Speed Rail 
(HS2) in Leeds, and Trans North providing enhanced east-west connectivity 
between Northern cities, this marks a watershed in our national transport strategy. 
This investment in the North will provide a once in a lifetime opportunity to 
rebalance the economic geography of the nation, consolidating our city’s long term 
international economic competiveness.

2.3 The economic geography of the UK is also changing. City centres once traditionally 
the centre of retail activity in a city concentrated around the ‘high street’, now 
increasingly play a much more fundamental role in bringing people together to not 
only exchange goods and services, but to exchange ideas and information and 
drive commerce. Leeds and the City Region are ideally placed to seize these 
opportunities with the financial and professional services key economic drivers.  

A defining moment to reshape our city

2.4 Capitalising on this growth trend where an increasing share of the economy is 
located in concentrated areas of land, will require a transport system that can move 
more people to a denser and more productive city centre.   Alongside this we will 
need to reduce the impact of traffic in the city centre to ensure that our city is an 
attractive, welcoming, healthy, liveable and well-connected place where people 
want to live and interact, firms want to congregate and do business, and premises 
can access the commercial opportunities of the subsequent high levels of footfall

2.5 Leeds is planning for growth - the Council has recently adopted the Core Strategy 
as part of our Local Development Framework (LDF). This sets out the strategic 
planning policy framework for the district to 2028 with a long-term spatial vision for 
housing and employment growth, supported by thematic policies. Spatial Policy 11 
(SP11) sets out our transport infrastructure investment priorities, with Transport 

Page 536



Policy 1 (T1) setting our transport management priorities and Transport Policy 2 
(T2) which sets out our accessibility requirements for new developments. The first 
West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan (LTP) was adopted in 2001, investment in 
local transport has been guided by the strategies and policies within the plan and its 
two successors. These are not isolated improvements but part of a pipeline of 
transport schemes spatially aligned to our strategic transport investment priorities to 
deliver housing and employment growth as set out in the LDF.

2.6 Devolution brings opportunities for new powers and funding for the city region.  In 
2014 the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) was set up with responsibility 
for managing the £1 billion WY+TF. WYCA are currently developing a Single 
Transport Plan. The new plan will be a twenty year vision for developing an 
integrated transport network that supports the Leeds City Region Enterprise 
Partnership’s Strategic Economic Plan for sustained and healthy economic growth. 

2.7 People and places do not stand still. Given the opportunities of new powers and levels of 
funding through devolution, the changing economic geography and focus on city centres as 
places for people to interact, it is important to restate within our existing policy framework 
what our ‘best city’ ambition means in terms of transport and outline how we will work with 
our partners to deliver this.    

3 Main issues

Growing a compact city well

3.1 Leeds is following the global trend towards highly skilled jobs, with financial services 
and knowledge intensive business services clustering in a compact environment. 
Our economy is worth £18bn, is home to over 25,000 businesses, and has grown 
almost 40% over the last decade. Leeds is also evolving, outside of London, we 
have the largest financial and business service sector and largest concentration of 
UK data scientists. With major developments providing new jobs and news homes 
alongside more shopping and leisure facilities. The city has recently benefited from 
over £0.5 billion in retail investment, with 600,000 sq. ft. of office space under 
construction in the city centre and 300 000 sq. ft. of industrial space under 
construction in the enterprise zone.  

3.2 Leeds helps drive the growth of the city region, the largest English city region 
outside London with a £60.5 billion economy. Rail is an essential element in 
supporting this economic activity and growth as it improves connectivity, opens up 
the labour market and is critical to the success of the Northern Powerhouse. Leeds 
railway station is a national piece of transport infrastructure. It is the busiest station 
in the North of England, and the second busiest in the UK outside London. Over 28 
million passengers use the station a year which is comparable to Kings Cross. 
Leeds station is fundamental to ensuring this growth can continue.

3.3 Keeping Leeds moving is an essential element of our economic success story. Cars 
and the movement of freight will be an important part of our future economy. As the 
Local Highway Authority under the 2004 Traffic Management Act we have a duty to 
manage the efficient use of the road network to ensure the smooth flow of goods 
and people. Targeted highway efficiency schemes across the district to alleviate 
pinch points on the network and promote the smooth flow of traffic such as the 
recent capacity improvements on the Leeds Outer Ring Road at Thornbury, Rodley 

Page 537



and Horsforth, will be needed to help deliver the housing and employment growth 
contained within the Local Development Framework.  

3.4 The delivery of new highway infrastructure through the WY+TF will be critical to 
unlocking key areas of growth across the district. The East Leeds Orbital Road will 
unlock the development capacity of the East Leeds Extension. New road 
improvements will aim to reduce journey times by car and bus, between the Outer 
Ring Road and the Airport, reduce traffic on local roads and support the 
development of employment sites in the vicinity of the Airport to assist the managed 
growth of the Airport. The provision of new highway infrastructure to access 
development sites in the Aire Valley enterprise zone will also help drive the growth 
of the Leeds city region. 

3.5 Intelligent transport systems will be an intrinsic part of 21st century infrastructure. 
We will need to be ready for technological advances to future proof our city, 
providing electric vehicle charging points to promote the uptake of electric cars, as 
well as helping to ensure the smooth flow of traffic through the use technology to 
help manage congestion and keep people and goods moving for a more efficient 
and resilient local and strategic road network. Examples already implemented 
include ‘Leeds Travel Info’ which provides real time travel information to road users, 
and the Highways England delivery of ‘Smart Motorways’. 

3.6 Following the arrival of high speed rail in Leeds, the area around the planned HS2 
station, including the South Bank will be amongst the best rail connected locations 
in the country. Other things being equal, this means businesses that benefit most 
from this kind of connectivity will be more productive if they locate around these 
stations. To maximise these productivity gains work is underway on a South Bank 
masterplan. Alongside HS2, the emerging Northern Transport Strategy, overseen 
by Transport for the North, will also deliver significant connectivity improvements 
between and within our great Northern cities.

3.7 As a city we need to be ready to capitalise on these game changing opportunities.  
‘World-class events and a vibrant city centre that all can benefit from’ is one of the 
Council’s Breakthrough projects, with the central ambition to create a city centre 
widely recognised as an exemplar 21st century city that is inclusive, friendly and 
cutting edge by residents, visitors, businesses, place-makers and others. Key to 
delivering this vision is to create a people friendly European facing animated city 
centre, increasing the quality of public realm and reducing the impact of traffic. 
Leeds is also bidding to be the European Capital of Culture in 2023. As the bid 
develops we will need to demonstrate the provision of an enhanced cultural and 
urban realm offer through a programme of improvements to streets, roads and 
public spaces.

3.8 Building upon the work of two city centre conferences a clear vision for a city centre 
has emerged as a welcoming, liveable, well connected , walkable, cultural and 
business friendly place. Critical to achieving this vision is the provision of a 21st 
century infrastructure for the city, with a world class railway station and arrival 
gateway to the city. The latter will require significant investment in the short, 
medium and long term with the arrival of HS2 in Leeds.

3.9 We also need to connect up better our economic assets in our growing city centre. 
To create a more people friendly city centre a transformation in pedestrian and 
cycle connectivity is needed between the pedestrian retail core, Financial and Legal 
Quarter, to the Civic Quarter, Universities and Hospitals, Cultural Quarter and 

Page 538



Waterfront, to the key areas of growth in the South Bank, West End, Victoria Gate 
and Quarry Hill.  

3.10 ‘The Loop’ now separates the pedestrainised core from the surrounding key growth 
areas of the city centre. The resulting dominance of traffic in certain areas 
contributes to pedestrian severance and limits the place making and economic 
potential of our city. For Leeds to prosper as a 21st century city we need a new 
approach to the way we think about transport in Leeds.  In short to create a more 
people friendly and productive city centre we need to rethink the way we travel into 
and around the city centre.

21st Century Leeds - a new direction in transport

3.11 ‘Our Transport Vision for a 21st Century Leeds’ is contained within appendix 1. 
Transport is a fundamental component of what makes a prosperous, liveable, 
healthy and sustainable 21st century city – to realise our best city ambitions we 
need a transport system that enables the following;

 Prosperous Leeds - A transport system for Leeds that facilitates a 
prosperous, sustainable economy for the City, the City Region, the North, 
cementing our long-term economic competitiveness both nationally and 
internationally.

 Liveable Leeds - A transport system which helps Leeds to be a great place to 
live and work for everyone.

 Healthy Leeds - A transport system that has a positive effect on people’s 
health and wellbeing and raises health standards across the city through the 
promotion of walking and cycling and the reduction of air pollution.

 Sustainable Leeds - A transport system that does not harm the environment 
and will specifically reduce the impacts of air and noise pollution, greenhouse 
gas emissions and energy consumption.

3.12 The vision presents a short, medium and long term transport investment 
programme contained within appendix 1.  This long-term vision for transport in 
Leeds will enable us to build on the significant major programme of transport 
improvements recently delivered, already planned or currently underway. Schemes 
already prioritised in the WY+TF, together with existing major transport schemes 
such as City Connect, Kirkstall Forge station and NGT, represent a significant 
investment approaching £900M planned by 2025. Looking to the future the vision 
identifies a number of unfunded critical transport interventions that we will need to 
progress.

Key transport challenges ahead for the city

3.13 We need to ensure that this vision for a transport system for Leeds as a 21st century 
city is one that everyone can support, which helps all our residents benefit from the 
city’s economic growth. Making our transport vision a reality requires 
transformational change, not only in the way we travel but also in the level of 
investment in transport and the way we plan, deliver and manage transport in Leeds 
and across the city region.  As we progress with our transport vision for a 21st 
Century Leeds, this will involve difficult decisions and require close partnership 
working across the city and city region to explore innovative solutions to the 
following key challenges;

Page 539



Balancing competing demands on our land use and road space  

3.14 We need to ensure that our city centre is an attractive place where families and 
people of all ages want to live and interact. Reconciling the impact of traffic in towns 
across the UK has historically been problematic. Towns derive their economic and 
social rationale from the concentration of activities in one place and productivity 
benefits through density of land use, but as they grow the movements they generate 
progressively worsen conditions on the street.

3.15 In Leeds, we have a proven track record of reducing the impact of traffic to enable a 
civic scale quality urban environment. Millennium Square, once a car park is now a 
major cultural asset. We have also unlocked the economic potential of our retail 
offer - Briggate, once a congested through route for traffic, is now one of the retail 
jewels of the North.  The 1990s Leeds Transport Strategy was critical to the 
success of these improvements, facilitating major changes to the physical and 
social fabric of the city. The new traffic circulation arrangements and creation of 
‘The Loop’ enabled traffic to by-pass the central pedestrainised core, alongside the 
Public Transport Box and new quality bus corridors increased city centre 
accessibility supported a new era of development led growth for the city. 

3.16 It is important to note that prioritising pedestrian movement can reduce vehicle 
capacity, and impact on local access, which in turn may produce the economic dis-
benefit of congestion unless considered within a wider strategic transport context. 
Twenty years on from the last Leeds Transport Strategy, current traffic 
arrangements mean that ‘The Loop’ services a significant movement of through 
traffic. In order to maintain network efficiency this high throughput of traffic is 
currently managed largely through vehicle priority and pedestrian and vehicle 
segregation , and has the unintended consequence of a poorer quality environment 
for residents, occupiers and street users including pedestrians and cyclists in 
certain areas of the city. 

3.17 Work is already underway to reduce the impact of traffic in the city centre. The 
WY+TF City Centre Package alongside the HS2 South Bank Master plan work will 
enable the creation of a world class gateway through the closure of City Square to 
general traffic by 2021 (with the exception of NGT, buses, taxis and cyclists). As 
well as creating a HS2 ready site, this package will reduce the impact of through 
traffic across the city centre by infrastructure improvements to Armley Gyratory, 
Ingram Distributor and the M621 that will reroute traffic onto the Inner Ring Road. 
Depending on which HS2 station option is finally agreed, Neville Street could be 
closed to general traffic, with the possible exception of NGT. The WY+TF City 
Centre Package will also reduce the scale of highway infrastructure in the South 
Bank by reallocating space to sustainable modes and enhanced urban realm, 
providing a further catalyst to this key regeneration area. The closure of City Square 
to general traffic also opens up the opportunity to review traffic arrangements in the 
North Bank aligned to our public realm ambitions and bid for the European Capital 
of Culture in 2023. 

3.18 The further growth of city centre living is a vital component of the sustainable growth 
of Leeds. The LDF Core Strategy plans for 10,200 additional dwellings in the city 
centre. A significant proportion of city centre residents work in the city centre or 
travel by sustainable modes to locations elsewhere in the city creating an increased 

Page 540



demand for walking and cycling to access facilities within the city centre. New jobs 
created in the city centre could also be filled by new city centre residents, reducing 
travel demands and freeing up public transport and road space for other users.

3.19 The Leeds Inner Ring Road (LIRR) is a strategic highway asset for the city and an 
integral part of traffic movement across the whole of urban Leeds. Performing an 
urban distributor function the LIRR keeps our city moving and reduces the impact of 
traffic in the centre. Leeds has a significant number of highway assets that we 
maintain. Following a successful bid for funding from the Department for Transport, 
we are in the process of completing a short term refurbishment scheme on the LIRR 
with extensive and high priority repair works to the oldest sections which will enable 
us to safely manage these structures over the next 15 years. These repairs, 
although costly, had a very robust business case with significant transport benefits 
of approximately £2 billion. However, given the age of the LIRR and the lifespan of 
these original structures, the recent repair works are only an interim solution and we 
are fast approaching a point where it is becoming unviable from both an economic 
and engineering argument to continue with repairing these structures. 

3.20 For the LIRR to continue to perform this strategic traffic distribution function we 
need a long term strategy. Given the life cycle and cost of such infrastructure 
investment as a forward thinking city we need to work in partnership with those who 
live and work in the city to explore long term options for this strategically important 
highways asset.

Delivering an integrated mass transit system for the city and the city region

3.21 To realise the economic benefits of HS2 and Trans North in the near future our 
transport system will need to move more people to a denser, knowledge rich and 
productive urban core through a step change in investment in an integrated mass 
transit system for the city and city region. For our urban realm ambitions to be 
realised we will also need to reduce the impact of traffic in the city centre – to 
achieve this more people will need to travel by sustainable modes.  

3.22 Currently many people feel that they have no real alternative to driving their car. A 
new dimension in travel choice is needed to better connect all Leeds residents with 
employment opportunities, especially those in areas of high unemployment. It is 
perhaps not surprising that given our legacy of highways infrastructure and historic 
under investment in a viable attractive public transport alternative, that currently 
Leeds has a higher level of car usage for commuting than most other Core Cities. 
Single car occupancy and car parking reduce the benefits of density in the urban 
core and take up valuable potential development land, use more road space as well 
as contribute to congestion, which impacts on freight efficiency. Whilst public 
transport, combined with excellent conditions for walking and cycling, provides an 
optimum mechanism for the mass movement of people.  

3.23 The Council supports the introduction of an integrated mass transit system for West 
Yorkshire. The emerging West Yorkshire Single Transport Plan sets out the 
ambition for a ‘metro-style’ public transport network. Integrating all transport modes 
into one system that is easily understood, easy to access by a range of options and 
offers quick, convenient connections. This system needs to be fully integrated city 
region wide system that can help move people easily and conveniently, particularly 
between our main city and town centres and between our rail and airport hubs. 
Different corridors will require different technology (NGT, light rail, heavy rail, 

Page 541



strategic park and ride) but all should have the passenger experience at the heart of 
its design.

3.24 Nevertheless, cars and the movement of goods will still be an important part of our 
future economy. Investing in a mass transit system which enables a new dimension 
of travel choice for routines trips, means that space on our roads will then be freed 
up for those with fewer alternatives, servicing the needs of businesses and 
improving freight efficiency. Park and ride at strategic locations across the city will 
be a crucial element of an integrated mass transit system offer in ensuring 
accessibility to city centre from the strategic road network. With the success of 
Elland Road Park and Ride and the anticipated opening of Temple Green Park and 
Ride in 2016, we will continue to progress our park and ride strategy in partnership 
with WYCA. 

3.25 A consequence of the recent economic downturn in Leeds was that many 
development sites in the South Bank and across the city centre stalled, and were 
subsequently used to provide temporary long stay parking.  A major sustainable 
growth location for the Leeds City Region, the South Bank provides the room to 
grow that Leeds now needs.  The further regeneration of the South Bank and arrival 
of HS2 will deliver land values significantly greater than at present, with an 
economic viability greater than the current temporary car parking use which 
dominates a number of potential development sites. 

3.26 One of the key supporting documents to the Core Strategy is the Parking SPD, 
which will contain the detailed parking policies for the city that underpin Transport 
Policy 1. Following public consultation in 2014 the SPD is currently being revised 
with the intention to formally adopt it during 2016. The Parking SPD will seek to 
maintain accessibility to the city centre for retail, business and the visitor economy, 
whilst reducing the economic dis-benefit of congestion and unlocking the 
productivity benefits of brownfield sites in the city centre, alongside an attractive 
park and ride offer providing access to the city centre from the strategic road 
network.  

3.27 We are working with WYCA to increase accessibility whilst reducing the impact of 
traffic in the city centre through developing a compelling ambition for investment in 
an integrated mass rapid transit network for the city supported by strategic park and 
ride facilities and the car parking policy contained within the LDF Car Parking 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).

Delivering a holistic integrated approach to street design

3.28 We want to inspire more people to walk and cycle more often as part of a healthy 
lifestyle and getting people active. Introducing greater priority measures for 
pedestrians and cyclists within the city centre core and district centres will create 
better conditions for these modes. Providing residents and visitors with greater 
choice helps reduce congestion, improves the environmental sustainability of our 
transport system, and promotes individual health and wellbeing. 

3.29 To do this we need to work towards a cycling and walking friendly city with 
appropriate infrastructure, adequate training and safety initiatives and which 
capitalises on major events to secure greater participation. In creating a more 
people friendly city centre there are several elements in terms of modern quality 
street space and design.  These include how the street space and movement is 
managed, how the street looks and is designed, and how these concepts manifest 

Page 542



themselves in the design of junctions and pedestrian crossings and the use of street 
furniture to deliver outcomes.

3.30 A new holistic integrated policy approach to urban design, traffic engineering and 
road safety which unlocks the wider economic benefits of a safe and prosperous 
public realm environment for all in our city and district centres is a key element of 
our transport vision. Through prioritising the role of people and place, we can 
facilitate our growth potential through the delivery of a world class transport system 
fit for a 21st century city. A separate report on this agenda outlines our approach to 
street design and public realm.

Promoting a transport system which improves air quality and reduces carbon

3.31 Working towards decarbonising our transport system is a crucial element of a 21st 
century transport system. We have the opportunity to be at the forefront of 
technology changes to the vehicle fleet. To accelerate the uptake of cleaner 
vehicles, people need to have support through incentives and greater confidence to 
switch, the provision of appropriate refuelling infrastructure, be that gas or electric is 
an essential element of a smart and future proofed city centre.  

3.32 As a Council we can lead the way by making significant steps to greening our own 
fleet. We have also been shortlisted for Government funding to become a Low 
Emission City. A West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy 2016 to 2021 has been 
developed through collaboration between the Councils of Bradford, Calderdale, 
Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield Council as well as Public Health England and West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority. A separate report on this agenda provides an update 
on air quality in Leeds. 

Harnessing the opportunities of devolution

3.33 Achieving our vision requires transformational change, not only in the way we travel 
- but also in the level of investment in transport and the way we plan, deliver and 
manage transport in Leeds and across the city region. Transport has been a main 
element in city devolution deals so far. Now is the time to ask for greater control to 
be passed to the local and regional level so we can determine our own priorities for 
funding. Working in partnership with the Combined Authority securing greater 
devolution will help us explore innovative solutions to these transport challenges.

4. Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Schemes already prioritised with the WY+TF will be subject to the appropriate 
individual scheme consultation. There has already been wide spread consultation  
and engagement on the overall aspirations of  the transport vision from city centre 
conferences held in 2008 and 2010, and more recent consultation undertaken as 
part of the Council’s Breakthrough Project ‘World-class events and a vibrant city 
centre that all can benefit from’ workshop and Transport Symposium. Core Strategy 
Polices SP11, T1 and T2 were subject to formal consultation in accordance with the 
LDF.

4.1.2 We will use our annual stakeholder event to continue this city wide conversation on 
transport. As we develop our transport vision for the Leeds as a 21st century city we 

Page 543



will work alongside our partners at the Combined Authority to fully integrate our 
vision with the emerging Single Transport Plan for city region connectivity.   

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening (EDCI) has be 
undertaken on this report and identifies that the strategic proposition for our 
transport vision for a 21st century Leeds has the potential positive impact of 
improved public transport and local connectivity, which in turn could increase 
access to employment, education and leisure services and facilities for all equality 
groups. 

4.2.2 The screening highlights that any specific impacts on equality characteristics will 
need to be looked at as part of the progression of individual transport schemes.  As 
the project proceeds the appropriate EDCI assessment procedure will then be 
invoked. It is anticipated that this will highlight that any specific impacts on equality 
characteristics will need to be looked at in-line with the specific areas identified for 
progression.

4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan
4.3.1 The anticipated benefits of our transport vision for Leeds as a 21st century city have 

the potential to contribute to the vision for Leeds 2030 to be the best city in the UK, 
and the following best Council objectives; promoting sustainable and inclusive 
economic growth, supporting communities and tackling poverty, building a child-
friendly city and contribute to the Council’s cross cutting ‘World-class events and a 
vibrant city centre that all can benefit from’ Breakthrough Project’. The vision also 
contributes to the objectives of the Local Development Framework, Leeds Core 
Strategy, Local Transport Plan 3, emerging WYCA Single Transport Plan, and 
Strategic Economic Plan. 

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The development of our transport vision for Leeds as a 21st century city is currently 
being met through existing staffing resource within Highways and Transportation.  
Staffing resources for the progression of schemes identified with in the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund are being supported as part of this fund.

4.4.2 It is anticipated that the unfunded critical transport interventions will be secured 
through a devolution deal and associated new levels of investment across the city 
region.  In order for Leeds to be ready to secure the very best outcome from 
devolution for the city, it is likely that Council funding will be requested to support 
feasibility work to progress critical future transport interventions identified within the 
vision. The Council is also exploring funding and financing options through national 
funding streams and mechanisms such as Tax Incremental Financing, as well as 
seeking opportunities for local funding through Community Infrastructure Levy and 
the Leeds Bid. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 This report is eligible for call-in. There are no specific legal implications arising from 
this report. 

Page 544



4.6 Risk Management
4.6.1 There are no immediate risk management issues. Appropriate risk management 

arrangements are in place for the progression of the WY+YF schemes. 

5. Conclusions

5.1 Successfully balancing conflicting and complex demands on our land use and road 
space across different stakeholder groups will be a major challenge for the city. 
However, we must not lose site of the end goal of delivering a transport system fit 
for a Leeds as a 21st century city. This will not be realised without clear leadership, 
close partnership working and a coherent policy approach to transport from the 
Council.
We need to:
i) Reshape our city centre for a more attractive place to live, work and visit;
ii) Enable a new dimension of travel choice;
iii) Reduce the cost of doing business across the city; and 
iv) Unlock housing and employment growth. It is proposed to adopt the following 
principles:

a) The Council will continue to take a lead role in HS2 and Transport for the North to 
develop a transport system that helps to rebalance the economy and positions 
Leeds City Region at the heart of a strong Northern economy. The Council 
supports the creation of a major rail hub for the city, the city region and the North 
which provides the optimum solution for the use of rail capacity capitalising on 
HS2, TransNorth and the increasing demand for rail.
  

b) The Council supports the creation of a world renowned gateway to the city via the 
closure of City Square to vehicular traffic with the exception of cyclists, NGT, 
buses and taxis, the principle of the closure of Neville Street with the possible 
exception of NGT, and the reduction in traffic in Leeds city centre through 
infrastructure improvements to the M621 and Armley Gyratory. The Council also 
recognises the strategic importance of the Inner Ring Road in reducing the impact 
of traffic in the city centre and the need to review long term options for this key 
highway asset.

c) The Council supports the principle of providing greater priority measures for 
pedestrians and cyclists alongside integrated proposals for enhancing public 
realm through reduced vehicle capacity and priority within the city centre and 
South Bank, in addition to proving enhanced walking and cycling connectivity with 
the areas surrounding the city centre.

d) The Council supports the principle of increasing travel to the city centre by 
sustainable modes through high quality, high capacity public transport and the 
creation of an integrated mass transit network for the city. The Council supports 
the provision of additional public transport and cycling priority on radial routes into 
the city, alongside attractive strategic park and ride facilities. 

e) The Council will develop a complementary car parking policy which supports the 
city centre economy maintaining accessibility to the city centre for retail, business 
and the visitor economy, whilst reducing the economic dis-benefits of congestion 
and unlocking the productivity benefits of brownfield sites in the city centre.

Page 545



f)   The Council supports the principle of improving journey time reliability through 
targeted highway efficiency improvements for orbital movements to alleviate 
congestion, alongside complementary investment in radial public transport for 
routines trips, which frees up space on our roads for those with fewer alternatives, 
servicing the needs of businesses and improving freight efficiency.

g) The Council supports the delivery of an integrated approach to street design 
which will unlock the wider economic benefits of a prosperous urban realm for all.
  

h) The Council supports the development of a cycle strategy and low emission 
strategy that promotes healthy living, better air quality and carbon reduction. 

i)   The Council supports the provision of transport infrastructure to serve new 
developments, with a focus on sites of economic importance to the city and city 
region including Leeds Bradford Airport, the Aire Valley Enterprise Zone and East 
Leeds Extension.  

6. Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board  is recommended to:
i) Approve the vision outlined in paragraph 3.11 and adopt the key policy 

principles a - i above.

ii) Request that officers use the vision and principles to work with the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority to help shape the Single Transport Plan and 
that as part of this, develop a compelling ambition for investment in an 
integrated mass transit network with supporting strategic park and ride 
infrastructure, and HS2 connectivity package.

iii) Request that officers bring a report to Executive Board in 2016 which reviews 
the long term options for Leeds Inner Ring Road. 

iv) In accordance with the Leeds Core Strategy Local Development Framework, 
request that officers bring a Car Parking Supplementary Planning Document to 
Executive Board for adoption during 2016.

v) In partnership with the Communications Team and the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority request that officers develop a holistic transport 
communications strategy, compatible with social media that engages key 
stakeholders, government, and general public in a city wide conversation.

vi) Instruct the Director of City Development to co-ordinate the above work with 
an update to Executive Board in 2016.

7. Background documents1 

7.1 None 

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 546



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
Our transport vision for a 

21st Century  
 

Moving     
Growing    

Reshaping   
 

P
age 547



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

21st CENTURY LEEDS: THE VISION 

Transport is a fundamental component of what makes a 
prosperous and liveable city. Getting our transport system 
right is a critical element of achieving our Best City 
ambition. For Leeds to be widely recognised as an exemplar 
21st century city, that is considered to be inclusive for all, 
compassionate, friendly, and cutting edge by residents of 
any age, visitors and businesses alike, we need a transport 
system that enables the following; 

Prosperous Leeds - A transport system that facilitates a 
prosperous and sustainable economy for Leeds, the City 
Region, the North, securing our long-term economic 
competitiveness both nationally and internationally. 

Liveable Leeds - A transport system which helps Leeds to 
be a great place to live and work for everyone. 

Healthy Leeds - A transport system that has a positive 
effect on people’s health and wellbeing and raises health 
standards across the city through the promotion of walking 
and cycling and the reduction of air pollution. 

Sustainable Leeds - A transport system that does not 
harm the environment and will specifically reduce the 
impacts of air and noise pollution, greenhouse gas 
emissions and energy consumption. 

 

P
age 548



 

  
Transport and the economy 

Our city’s growth has been predicated on, and in 
turn, shaped by our transport infrastructure. Leeds 
provides a strong historical illustration of how major 
investment in transport infrastructure has resulted in 
the transformational economic growth of a city - 
from the completion of the Leeds Liverpool Canal in 
1816, to the Victorians who secured the city’s central 
position on the railway network, to our emergence 
as a ‘motorway city’ in the 1970s. 

Balancing competing demands 

Reconciling the impact of traffic in towns across the 
UK has historically been problematic. Towns derive 
their economic and social rationale from the 
concentration of activities in one place and 
productivity benefits through density of land use, but 
as they grow - the movements they generate 
progressively worsen conditions on the street.  

Investment from the 1970s, and focus on dealing 
with traffic demand through prioritising cars and 
separating pedestrians has created a legacy where 
traffic dominates parts of our city, with roads 
engineered for vehicle capacity rather streets that 
cater for people.  

Whilst from a place making perspective this 
highways infrastructure especially around the edge 
of the city where inner ring road carries high 
volumes of traffic, represents a significant barrier to 
the movement of pedestrians and cyclists, from a 
transport and economic perspective the successful 
completion of a complete ring road keeps our whole 
city moving. 

The 1990s - a new era of growth  

In Leeds, we have a proven track record of reducing the 
impact of traffic in the heart of our city to enable quality 
urban realm. Millennium Square, once a car park is now 
a major civic and cultural asset. Briggate, once a 
congested through route for traffic, is now one of the 
retail jewels of the North.   

The 1990s Leeds Transport Strategy was critical to the 
success of these urban realm improvements and 
facilitated major changes to the physical and social 
fabric of the city.  

Key interventions included the introduction of ‘The Loop’ 
and completion of the Inner Ring Road. These new 
traffic circulation arrangements enabled traffic to by-
pass the central core. Alongside the Public Transport Box 
and new quality bus corridors, increased public transport 
accessibility supported a new era of development led 
growth for the city.  

Leeds today 

Twenty years on ‘The Loop’ now caters for a significant 
proportion of through traffic travelling across the city 
centre.  

As our city continues to grow from a once tightly defined 
core ‘The Loop’ now bisects the pedestrainised core with 
other keys growth areas of the city - the Civic Quarter, 
West End, South Bank, Victoria Gate and Quarry Hill.  

The resulting dominance of traffic in certain areas of the 
city centre and elsewhere contributes to pedestrian 
severance and limits the place making and economic 
potential of our city.  

 

21st CENTURY LEEDS: HISTORICAL CONTEXT 
 

P
age 549



  

Knowledge economies - a new era for cities 

City centres across the UK are changing, once traditionally the centre of business 
and retail activity in a city concentrated around the high street, now play a vital 
central role as the hub for bringing people together to not only exchange goods 
and services, but to exchange ideas and information, and drive commerce.  

Leeds is also evolving, with major developments providing new jobs and new 
homes alongside more shopping and leisure facilities. Leeds is following the 
global trend towards highly skilled jobs, with financial services and knowledge 
intensive business services clustering in a compact environment. 

Capitalising on this growth trend for Leeds 

Capitalising on this current growth trend where an increasing share of the 
economy is located in concentrated areas of land, will require a transport system 
that can move more people to a denser and more productive city centre.    

We will also need to ensure that our city is an attractive, welcoming, liveable     
and well-connected place - where people want to live and interact, firms want      
to congregate and do business, and premises can access the commercial 
opportunities of the subsequent high levels of footfall serviced by an efficient 
freight network.  

Accessible to all, a transport system which facilitates a legible, walkable,    
cultural and child friendly city will enable everyone to benefit from the effects    
of the city’s economic growth. 

 

21st CENTURY LEEDS TODAY: GROWING A COMPACT CITY WELL 

P
age 550



 

  21st CENTURY LEEDS: THE HEART OF THE CITY REGION 

 A global northern powerhouse 

Leeds City Region is at the heart of the country.  
Geographically it sits in the middle, at the cross roads of 
London, Edinburgh, Liverpool and Hull. It at the centre of 
our national transport networks – from East Coast Mainline 
and TransPennine to the M1 and M62.  

This is not all about the city of Leeds. Our distinctiveness as 
a city region is our polycentric nature. We are building on a 
strong foundation. We have world class assets across the 
region – be they in business, culture or heritage.  

Excellent connectivity is key for the city region to reach its 
full potential, ensuring that the parts of the region can work 
effectively together, and each add value so that the sum of 
our parts is greater – with distinct towns and cities joining 
to form a single economy, the Northern Powerhouse starts 
here. 

 

 

 

  

Our Strategic Economic Plan sets ambitious targets for 2021 
– for an additional £5.2bn in economic output, 62,000 extra 
jobs with an overall ambition to be a net contributor to the 
public purse. We see rail as an essential element in 
supporting this economic activity and growth as it improves 
connectivity, opens up the labour market and is critical to the 
success of the Northern Powerhouse.  

The renaissance in rail travel is well under way. Leeds railway 
station is a national piece of transport infrastructure. It is the 
busiest station in the North of England. 28million passengers 
use the station a year which is comparable to Kings Cross. 

Securing High Speed Rail in Leeds will create stronger north 
to south connections and create a powerful connection to 
Sheffield, East Midlands and Birmingham. Alongside this, a 
new rail connection east to west across the Pennines will be a 
complementary investment that sees Leeds City Region at 
the heart of a globalised Northern Powerhouse.  

 

 
Leeds City Region connectivity  

West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) is developing a 
Single Transport Plan for West Yorkshire. The new plan will 
be a twenty year vision for developing an integrated 
transport network that supports the Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Partnership’s Strategic Economic Plan for 
sustained and healthy economic growth - especially for jobs 
and housing.  
We need to ensure that our local transport network is ready 
so that new labour market opportunities are accessible from 
across the region. 
 

P
age 551



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

A new direction in transport  

We are fast approaching another defining 
moment in our city’s history with an unrivalled 
opportunity to reshape our growing city centre. 
 

For a number of years an increasing consensus 
about how the city should grow in the future to 
create a more people friendly city centre has 
emerged from the major city conferences held 
in 2008 and 2010.   
 

We have an opportunity to nurture economic 
growth opportunities through a transport 
system that can move more people to a denser 
and more productive city centre. 

Public transport provides for the optimum mass 
movement of people and helps to free up the 
city from traffic - not only for the growth of 
these industries but also to attract visitors and 
residents to create a family friendly city centre. 
 

For Leeds to prosper as a 21st century city we  
need a new approach to the way we think 
about transport in Leeds and rethink the way 
we travel into and around the city centre.  
 

 

  

21st CENTURY LEEDS: A DEFINING MOMENT TO RESHAPE OUR CITY  

 

70,000 
additional dwellings  
needed by 2028 

 

15% 
projected population 
increase by 2028  
 

23% 
predicated growth in 
Leeds traffic by 2028 

New powers, funding and technology 

We need a step change in the level of investment  
in transport. With infrastructure high on the 
government’s agenda, technology advances 
happening and devolution a real possibility, the 
time is now through our transport system, to plan 
for a dramatic and positive change to the urban 
environment across our city. 
 

Transport has been a main element in city 
devolution deals so far. Now is the time to ask for 
greater control to be passed to the local and 
regional level so we can determine our own 
priorities for funding.  
 

Through partnership working with the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority and Transport for the 
North we need to be ready to secure a step change 
in the transport offer across Leeds, the city region 
and the North.  
 

There may be difficult decisions along the way as 
we decide how to allocate road space for different 
modes. Changes to the way we access the city 
centre will affect everyone and we will need to 
successfully balance these conflicting demands to 
create world-class connectivity for both people and 
goods.  
 
 

 

  

P
age 552



 

 

 

 

  

 

21st CENTURY LEEDS: A EUROPEAN FACING CITY 
Leeds 2023 European Capital of culture 

Leeds is bidding to be the 2023 European Capital of Culture. We will need to 
demonstrate through a programme of changes to roads, streets and public 
spaces that we are going to provide an urban realm offer comparable to 
premier European Cities.   

Reducing the impact of traffic in our urban core will support our long term 
public realm ambitions for the city. Alongside a clear vision of what Leeds will 
look and feel like in 2023 and beyond - a central area with a civic arrival 
space, welcoming and easy to walk and cycle around. An accessible city centre 
park, with quality urban spaces, European style greened boulevards and well-
connected cultural assets.  

An example of a recent success is the closure of Merrion Street to traffic, 
which has created a vibrant additional area for street café culture.  

 Vision for a mass transit system 

We support the introduction of an integrated mass transit system for West 
Yorkshire.  

The West Yorkshire Single Transport Plan sets out the ambition for a ‘metro-
style’ public transport network that integrates all transport modes, including 
High Speed Rail, into one system that is easily understood, easy to access by 
a range of options, offering quick and convenient connections. 

We support the need for a city region wide system that can help move people 
easily and conveniently, particularly between our main city and town centers 
and between our rail and airport hubs. Different corridors will require different 
technology (NGT, light rail, heavy rail) but all should have the passenger 
experience at the heart of its design. We will work with the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority to help make this a reality. 

P
age 553



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A key meeting place and interchange  

City Square is one of the busiest pedestrian nodes in the city, 
forming a pivotal role in connecting the rail station to the office, 
retail and civic quarters, as well as providing a route to the 
arena and the universities from the station. It will also be one 
of the main routes into to the north of the city from the HS2 
station. 

A civic gateway  

As the first point of arrival for many to our city, our railway 
station and City Square should reflect its landmark civic status, 
and both our identity and values as a city.  

Across the city people have told us they want City Square to be 
more welcoming, animated by active uses that draw visitors 
into to a vibrant city centre. As key part of our cultural heritage 
and space of civic pride, above all the square should be a 
gateway which provides easy access to the economic, social 
and cultural opportunities of a knowledge rich city centre. 

Reducing the impact of traffic  

Currently the space struggles to provide seamless onward 
pedestrian connectivity from the station, or to encourage the 
50,000 pedestrians passing through the square every day to 
dwell in the area. With the pedestrian crossing on Bishopgate 
Street carrying substantial volumes of pedestrians to and from 
the station, pedestrian facilities frequently become over 
crowded, with the balance between pedestrians and vehicles 
currently dominated by the 24,000 vehicles passing in front of 
the Queen’s hotel.  

 

 

Reshaping the city centre  

The West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund City Centre Package 
will enable the creation of a world class gateway through the 
closure of City Square to vehicular traffic by 2021 (with the 
exception of buses, taxis and cyclists).  

As well as creating a HS2 ready site, this package will reduce 
the impact of through traffic across the city centre by 
infrastructure improvements to Armley Gyratory, the Inner 
Ring Road and the M621. Alongside changes to the highway 
infrastructure in the South Bank this will provide a further 
catalyst for this key regeneration area of the city. 

We are also exploring the benefits of introducing a 20 mph 
zone across the city. The closure of City Square also opens up 
opportunities for enhancing urban realm and reducing the 
impact of traffic in the North Bank, improving the setting and 
connectivity our cultural assets such as the Leeds Town Hall 
as well as improving connectivity between key areas of 
growth.  

 

21st CENTURY LEEDS: A WORLD CLASS CITY  

 

P
age 554



 

  

Leeds Bradford Airport  

The managed growth of Leeds Bradford Airport 
will support our ability to access international 
markets by providing a more extensive airline 
route network that will also enhance the ability 
of Leeds City Region and its businesses to 
attract inward to investment and tourism. 

With investment in transport infrastructure to 
improve surface access, the airport would be 
well placed to grow to its forecasted 7million 
passengers by 2030.  

 

Leeds City Region Aire Valley Enterprise Zone  

Excellent access which facilitates the movement of people and 
goods into, out of, and around Aire Valley Leeds is critical to the 
success of the overall vision for this key regeneration of the 
area.  

Opened in 2008 the East Leeds Link Road provides a crucial 
highway link through the area - opening up development and 
job opportunities.  

Building on this infrastructure an integrated transport package 
for the enterprise zone is prioritised as part of the West 
Yorkshire + Transport Fund. Aire Valley’s Temple Green Park 
and Ride (due to open in 2016), will cater for trips from the 
north and east of the city with access via junction 45 of the M1. 
The bus service will also provide a high quality public transport 
link between the city centre and the Enterprise Zone. 

 

 

21st CENTURY LEEDS: UNLOCKING HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT GROWTH 

 East Leeds Extension  

The delivery of East Leeds Orbital Road is critical to unlocking 
the development capacity of the East Leeds Extension, 
stretching from Red Hall round the east side of Leeds this new 
road will connect into the existing highway infrastructure and 
link to the M1 motorway.  

The new road will become a 4.3 mile route to provide the 
critical highway capacity to support all allocated and approved 
development in the East Leeds Extension and to relieve 
congestion on the existing network. It will also enable new 
public transport and support the provision of park and ride 
and bus services. 
 

 

 

P
age 555



 

 

 

 

  

 

21st CENTURY LEEDS: PROMOTING PEOPLE FRIENDLY QUALITY PLACES 
Connected neighbourhoods 

Excellent transport links to the district’s centres for residents are critical to making 
Leeds a liveable city. Through a quality public transport network alongside excellent 
walking and cycling routes we want everyone to be able to access employment, leisure, 
shopping, education and health facilities.  

Good connectivity plays a vital role in supporting attractive, legible and welcoming 
district centres and quality local environments - where people feel safe, social 
interaction is encouraged and local pride is fostered. To build on this we must make 
district centres more walking and cycling friendly. 

Transport provision which links areas of social deprivation to jobs and opportunities of a 
prosperous city centre is also central to our vision. Improving local accessibility through 
an excellent public transport offer is also a key element of Leeds being an age friendly 
city. Whilst ensuring that people with disabilities have access to the transport network is 
an important part of Leeds being an equitable city.  

More active and healthy travel 

By investing in public transport and reducing the impact of traffic in our districts centres 
we will also become a more child friendly and healthy Leeds, where more young people 
can walk and cycle to school safely. Investment in safer, more pleasant streets as well 
as walking and cycling training will encourage many more local journeys to be made by 
sustainable modes.  

Reducing the impact of traffic on local neighbourhoods 

It is also important that the effects of transport are mitigated through the effective 
network management of traffic on our key routes and investment in our low emission 
strategy. Particularly as the effects of poor air quality are often felt across our most 
deprived communities. Future proofing developments, supporting low emission 
technologies and further greening of the public transport system are all key elements   
of our vision. 

 

P
age 556



 

  21st CENTURY LEEDS: A TRANSPORT SYSTEM THAT MAKES IT HAPPEN  
 For our city to fully realise the benefits of 
a devolution deal that secures greater 
local powers on transport and investment, 
which delivers an infrastructure fit for a 
21st century city - we need to adopt the 
following key principles; 

1. Reshaping our City Centre 

• The city will seize the transformational 
opportunities of HS2 and Transport for 
the North to create a major rail 
interchange in Leeds City Centre 
cementing our long term international 
economic competitiveness. 

• A larger more densely developed city 
centre will be easier to walk and cycle 
around with significantly reduced 
vehicular capacity and priority within in 
the central area. 

• A world class arrival gateway will be 
created by closing City Square to traffic, 
re-routing through traffic on to the inner 
ring road through infrastructure 
improvements to the Armley Gyratory 
and the M621. 

• A reduction the scale of highway 
infrastructure in the South Bank by 
reallocating space to sustainable modes 
enhancing the urban realm. 

• Aligned to an urban realm strategy for 
the 2023 European Capital of Culture,  
,  
 

4. Enabling a new dimension  
of travel choice 

• We will increase travel to the city 
centre by sustainable modes 
through high quality, high capacity 
public transport and cycle provision 
on more radial routes.  

• Building on NGT a compelling 
ambition for a quality integrated 
mass transit system for the city will 
bring a new dimension of choice to 
public transport across the city. 

• An attractive park and ride offer 
and car park strategy will support 
the visitor and business economy, 
while maximising the productivity 
of brownfield site uses and 
maintaining accessibility to the city 
centre. 

5. Unlocking housing 
and employment growth 

• We will unlock housing and 
employment growth through the 
provision of transport infrastructure 
to serve new developments, 
housing and employment. 

• With a focus on sites of economic 
importance to the city and city 
region, including the Airport and 
the Aire Valley Enterprise Zone. 

 

we will unlock the place making 
potential of the North Bank through 
reducing the impact of traffic.  

• Explore long term strategic options for 
the Leeds Inner Ring Road. 
 

2. Promoting people friendly quality 
places across the district 

• Greater priority measures for 
pedestrians and cyclists and a new 
integrated approach to street design.   

• Safer Streets 20 mph zones.  
• Safer Roads Action Plan. 
• A cycling strategy and investment in 

infrastructure for a cycling revolution.  
• A low emission strategy for better air 

quality and carbon reduction. 
 

3. Reducing the cost of doing 
business across the city 

• Cars will still be a crucial part of our 
future economy. Journey time 
reliability will be improved through 
targeted highway efficiency orbital 
infrastructure improvements to 
alleviate congestion.  
 

• Alongside investment in radial public 
transport for routine trips, space on 
our roads will then be freed up for 
those with fewer alternatives, servicing 
the needs of businesses and improving 
freight efficiency. 

•  

P
age 557



 

   
 

21st CENTURY LEEDS: 
DELIVERING OUR 
VISION 

Schemes already prioritised in 
the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund, together with 
existing major transport 
schemes such as City Connect, 
Kirkstall Forge station and NGT, 
represent a significant 
investment approaching £900M 
planned by 2025. 

These are not isolated 
improvements but part of a 
pipeline of transport schemes 
spatially aligned to our strategic 
transport investment priorities 
to deliver housing and 
employment growth set out in 
the recently adopted Leeds 
Core Strategy. 

The following tables set out how 
we intend to deliver our 
transport vision for Leeds as a 
21st century city. 

P
age 558



 

 

 

21st CENTURY LEEDS: THE NEXT TWO YEARS Timescale Funding 

Elland Road Park and Ride  

Temple Green Park and Ride  
Major investment towards an integrated Park and Ride Strategy for the city. 
Providing a viable alternative for car commuters to reach the city centre. 

Open 

2016 

Funded 

Funded 

Quality Bus Corridors A65 Quality Bus Corridor enhanced bus priority, complementing previous 
investment on the A61 Scott Hall Road, the A64 and A63 in east Leeds. Open Funded 

Local Pinch Point Schemes Orbital improvement signalisation schemes at Thornbury, Rodley and 
Horsforth to support housing growth. 2015 Funded 

Leeds Station Southern 
Entrance  A new entrance to Leeds Station from the South Bank.  2015 Funded 

City Connect 1 23km of segregated cycle superhighway connecting Bradford to East Leeds via 
Leeds city centre. 

2015 Funded 

Leeds Rail Growth Package  Two new stations with associated car parks on the electrified Airedale and 
Wharf dale lines. 

2015 Funded 

M1 Junction 44  Highways England improvement scheme to the strategic road network.  2015 Funded 

Leeds Station Masterplan A series of improvements to Leeds Rail Station, including improvements to the 
station entrance, Bishopgate St, Aire St and New Station St. 

(Phase 1) 

2016 
Funded 

Leeds Inner Ring Road Major 
Maintenance Scheme 

A programme of essential maintenance work will ensure the continued 
availability of the critical Woodhouse tunnel. 

2016 Funded 

With a focus on delivery in the short to medium term, the Council alongside our partners are currently 
progressing a number of strategically important major transport schemes across the city. 

P
age 559



 

21ST CENTURY LEEDS:  THE NEXT 7 YEARS Timescale Funding 

City Connect 2 City centre cycling connectivity supported by a cycling strategy for further 
investment in cycling infrastructure. 2018 Funded 

21st Century Mass Transit 
System 

• Mass Rapid Transit with NGT Phase 1 with Park and Ride at Boddington 
and Stourton. 

• Leeds Park And Ride Strategy & NGT Phase 2. 

2019 

TBC 

DfT TBC 

Unfunded 

WY+TF City Centre Package 

Closing City Square to traffic with the exception of cyclists, NGT, buses and 
taxis, enabling the reduction of through traffic in Leeds city centre through 
infrastructure improvements to the M621 and Armley Gyratory and the South 
Bank. 

2021 WY+TF 

City Centre Urban Realm Urban realm strategy and traffic study to facilitate a public realm programme 
for Leeds 2023 Capital of Culture Bid. 

Quick 
wins - 

2023 

Unfunded 

 

Local Development 
Framework Site Allocations 

To enable housing development across the district through a package of 
measures which improve journey times and reliability for public transport and 
other road users.  

2016 to 
2026 

 

Unfunded 

 

Leeds Bradford Corridor  A package of measures to improve journey times and reliability for public 
transport and other road users along this corridor.  2021 WY+TF 

Low Emission City 
Infrastructure  

Low Emission Strategy alongside investment in new technologies and 
infrastructure seizes the opportunities to be at the forefront of technology 
innovation.  

TBC TBC 

East Leeds Orbital Road ELOR will unlock the East Leeds Extension housing developments through a 
proposed dual carriageway road from M1 Junction 46 to the A6120. 2021 WY+TF 

Airport Road Improvements Airport road improvements to facilitate the managed growth of the airport and 
reduce traffic levels on local roads. 

2021 WY+TF 

P
age 560



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21ST CENTURY LEEDS: LOOKING TO THE FUTURE  Timescale Funding 

HS2 & South Bank Masterplan Creating a HS2 ready site which maximises the benefits of the 
arrival of HS2.  

HS2 Arrival 
2033 Unfunded 

21st Century Mass Transit System  WYCA HS2 Leeds City Region Connectivity Package. TBC Unfunded 

Leeds Inner Ring Road Long-term 
Strategy  

Given the strategic importance of the LIRR, significant and 
costly on-going repairs a long term strategy for this 
significantly importance urban distributor is required.  

2030 Unfunded 

Airport Fixed Rail Link A fixed rail link ambition to Leeds Bradford Airport. TBC Unfunded 

Aire Valley Integrated Transport 
package (Phase 2) 

Highway improvements to access development areas in the 
Leeds City Region Aire Valley Enterprise Zone. Post 2022 WY+TF 

Leeds Dewsbury Corridor  A package of measures to improve journey times and reliability 
for public transport and other road users along this corridor. Post 2022 WY+TF 

Leeds A6110 Outer Ring Road Highway improvements package for the A6110 from M621 J1 to 
the A647 Stanningley bypass. Post 2022 WY+TF 

 

Looking to the future to deliver our transport vision for Leeds as a 21st century city – working in partnership with 
the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, we will seek to secure funding through a devolution deal which brings new 

levels of investment to the city and city region.   

 

P
age 561



  

21ST CENTURY LEEDS: WHAT WE WILL KEEP ON DELIVERING  

Network Efficiency  
Urban Traffic Management control maintains network efficiency across Leeds though 
signals linked to the central control computer, utilising signals to deal with localised 
problems. 

Highway Maintenance 
Highways across the city will continue to be invested in through a programme of 
resurfacing and footway maintenance, ensuring that residents and visitors will benefit 
from convenient and reliable journeys on the highway network.  

Road Safety Casualty Reduction  

• An annual programme of road safety education, training and publicity campaigns 
• Provision of pedestrian skills and Bikeability training.  
• A programme 20 mph zones for residential streets across the district.  
• Provision of safe pedestrian crossing facilities through physical measures to reduce 

the likelihood of collisions in response to community concerns and accident data. 
• Analysis of road traffic injury data to provides safety cameras at junctions with a 

high road traffic casualty record alongside the West Yorkshire Casualty Reduction 
Partnership. 

Influencing Sustainable Travel Behaviour  

• Through the promotion of School Travel Plans we will implement a range of 
measures and initiatives including safer routes to school, walking buses, cycling 
facilities and scoot to school scheme. 

• Workplace Travel Plans, to promote sustainable travel to new developments. 

Accessibility and Mobility  Provision of dropped kerbs and parking bays for blue badge residents, and addressing 
diverse issues of accessibility for disabled people across the district.  

 

Across Highways and Transportation we will continue to work to make roads and pavements in Leeds as efficient, safe 
and well maintained as possible through the following key measures;  

 

P
age 562



 

  
21st CENTURY LEEDS: DELIVERING OUR VISION 

 This vision will enable us to build on the major 
programme of transport improvements already planned 
through the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. 

Changing our highway infrastructure to create a more 
people friendly city centre will be challenging and take 
major capital funding. Greater devolution will help us 
explore innovative solutions to these challenges.  

Transport has been a main element in city devolution 
deals so far. Now is the time to ask for greater control to 
be passed to the local and regional level so we can 
determine our own priorities.  

Next Steps 

We are keen to continue this conversation across the city 
to make sure that the vision is one that we can all 
support. As we develop our transport vision for Leeds as 
a 21st century city we will work alongside our partners in 
the West Yorkshire Combined Authority to fully integrate 
our vision and principles within the emerging Single 
Transport Plan for city region connectivity.    

 

This document is a result of wide spread consultation and 
engagement from city centre conferences held in 2008 and 
2010, as well as more recent consultation undertaken as 
part of the Council’s Breakthrough Project . 

People and places do not stand still. Given the opportunities 
of new powers and new levels of funding through 
devolution, it is important to restate within our existing 
policy framework what our ‘best city’ ambition means in 
terms of transport.  

Transformational change 

Achieving our vision requires transformational change in 
the following areas; 

• The way we travel into and around the city centre. 
• New levels of investment in transport across the city and 

city region. 
• New Powers through greater devolution - this vision will 

provide a platform for engagement with West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority, and enable us to work proactively 
with Government. 

• We will need to explore new opportunities for funding, 
including local contributions.   

• We will need to think long term about our strategic 
highway assets. 
 

 

 

 

P
age 563



 

 
 
 
 

  

Contact: Leeds City Council Highways and Transportation 
highways@leeds.gov.uk 

P
age 564



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development  Service area: Transport Policy  

 
Lead person: Andrew Hall  
 

Contact number:  

 
1. Title: : Our Transport Vision for a 21st Century Leeds  
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

This report considers the challenges and complexities of changing the way we travel 
into and around the city to create a more people friendly and productive urban core, 
identifying the key policy principles that the Council will need to adopt and progress 
to deliver the benefits associated with this transformational change.  Appendix 1 
presents a vision to Executive Board for a new direction in transport, for Leeds as a 
prosperous, liveable, healthy and sustainable 21st century city. The vision presents a 
short, medium and long term transport investment programme.   

 

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 565



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

Page 566



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 

The strategic proposition for Our Transport Vision for a 21st Century Leeds has the 
potential positive impact of improved public transport and local connectivity, which in turn 
could increase access to employment, education, and leisure services and facilities for all 
equality groups.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 

The screening highlights that any specific impacts on equality characteristics will need to 
be looked at as part of the progression of individual transport schemes.   

 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

As the project proceeds the appropriate EDCI assessment procedure will then be 
invoked. It is anticipated that this will highlight that any specific impacts on equality 
characteristics will need to be looked at in-line with the specific areas identified for 
progression. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 

Page 567



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

N/A 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

N/A 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

N/A 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Andrew Hall  
 

Head of Transport 
Planning 

18/09/15 

Date screening completed 18/09/15 
 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 568



1

Joint Report of: Director of City Development and the Assistant Chief Executive 
Citizens and Communities 

Report to: Executive Board  

Date: 21st October 2015

Subject: The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy – Spending of the 
Neighbourhood Fund, and Other Spending Matters

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): ALL

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

1. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule was implemented on 
the 6th April 2015 and charging has been underway since then on all relevant 
developments.  However, there will be a time lag before the Council holds any 
meaningful CIL receipts as a result.  Central to the Best Council Plan is the desire to 
boost the local economy and maximise housing growth while ensuring that this is 
planned and delivered in a sustainable way, and that associated and necessary 
infrastructure is provided.  Implementation of the CIL and gaining funding for 
infrastructure will directly contribute towards the Best Council Plan objective of 
promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth.  The CIL will assist in meeting 
Leeds’ priorities by generating some funding to help provide infrastructure while 
being at appropriate rates which will continue to attract investment, create jobs, and 
deliver new housing.  It could help fund some of the ‘breakthrough projects’ such as 
rethinking the City Centre.  In this way the CIL is one of the delivery strands of the 
Core Strategy, and similarly will generate infrastructure funding from the development 
of sites identified in the emerging Site Allocations Plan, from windfall development, 
and from that occurring within future Neighbourhood Plan areas.  

2. Executive Board in February 2015 made key decisions around spending of the future 
CIL income, directing it into two main funding streams; a strategic fund, and a 
neighbourhood fund, plus up to 5% for administrative costs.  Executive Board agreed 
that the strategic CIL fund will be 70-80% of the total CIL received, and that priorities 

Report author:  Lora Hughes                           
Tel:                   50714

Page 569

Agenda Item 18



2

for its spending will be decided on an annual basis as part of the Council’s budget 
setting process, in line with the Regulation 123 List, and taking into account the 
impact of specific and cumulative infrastructure needs arising from new development.  
This demonstrates how the CIL is a part of the wider Council funding package that 
also includes aspects such as the New Homes Bonus and retained business rates, 
the West Yorkshire Transport Fund, and other public sector grants. 

3. In relation to the neighbourhood fund, Executive Board agreed that this is to be 15% 
in an area without a Neighbourhood Plan, and 25% in an area with an adopted 
Neighbourhood Plan.  In town and parish council areas this CIL neighbourhood fund 
is to be passed directly to those local councils, as required by national CIL 
regulations.  In non-parished areas the decisions about spending are delegated to 
the relevant Community Committee (as the lowest democratic representative), and 
the CIL neighbourhood fund ringfenced by the City Council for that purpose. 

4. Executive Board requested a further report outlining in more detail how this decision 
making process would work in Community Committees, to expand on its decision for 
“guidance/protocols to be established to ensure a consistent approach to defining the 
locality for spending and consultation purposes.”  Officers in Forward Planning and 
Implementation therefore worked jointly with officers in the Communities Team to 
undertake four workshops in July 2015 to which all ward members, town and parish 
councils, and neighbourhood planning groups were invited.  Through this 
consultation and engagement, a wide range of issues relating to the CIL spending 
were explored.  The overall outcome was the production of neighbourhood fund 
spending guidance which has been generated directly from those involved in the 
process.  This was also in line with the Executive Board requirement that the Council 
would “continue to work closely with parish councils and other community groups and 
infrastructure providers, including through the Site Allocations Plan and 
Neighbourhood Planning, with the aim of shared infrastructure planning and 
maximising use of CIL resources.”

5. Within the parameters set out in the CIL Regulations this report therefore provides 
spending guidance for Community Committees in making decisions on spending of 
their CIL neighbourhood funds.  Executive Board is recommended to agree that all 
Community Committees follow this guidance and abide by its general principles in 
making their CIL spending decisions. A summary of feedback from the CIL 
workshops is also provided as the background context.  This includes opinions made 
on matters and issues which are outside the direct remit of the guidance but which 
attendees wished to bring to the attention of the Executive Board, such as the CIL 
strategic fund, resourcing, and neighbourhood planning.

6. This report also covers other matters relating to the CIL, namely proposed minor 
amendments to the Regulation 123 List, and proposed withdrawal of the Council’s 
current policy allowing discretionary charitable relief for investment activities.

Recommendations

7. Executive Board is recommended to :

i) Agree the CIL neighbourhood fund spending guidance for use by Community 
Committees as set out at Appendix 1;

Page 570



3

ii) Agree the proposed minor changes to the Regulation 123 List (as set out at 
Appendix 2), to note that these changes will be subject to local consultation and 
to authorise the Chief Planning Officer to consider any representations made 
and to make any further amendments considered necessary as a result of the 
consultation prior to implementation of the revised list.

iii) Agree to remove the Council’s policy allowing discretionary charitable relief for 
investment activities to take effect form 1 December 2015.

iv) Approve the amendment to the Community Committee Executive Delegation 
Scheme as set out at Appendix 3, noting that the delegation is shared with the 
Director of City Development.

v) Note that the Chief Planning Officer is the officer responsible for 
implementation.

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This joint report from the Director of City Development and the Director of Citizens 
and Communities explains the process undertaken to generate spending guidance 
for Community Committees in making decisions on the CIL neighbourhood fund.  A 
range of options are presented, and the proposed formal guidance document is 
included at Appendix 1.  The report also proposes minor changes to the Regulation 
123 List and withdrawal of the Council’s policy allowing discretionary charitable relief 
for investment activities, to address and clarify some implementation issues following 
6 months of charging.

2 Background information

2.1 Executive Board in February 2015 made key decisions around spending of the future 
CIL income, directing it into two main funding streams; a strategic fund, and a 
neighbourhood fund, plus up to 5% for administrative costs.  Executive Board agreed 
that the strategic CIL fund will be 70-80% of the total CIL received, and that priorities 
for its spending will be decided on an annual basis as part of the Council’s budget 
setting process, in line with the Regulation 123 List, and taking into account the 
impact of specific and cumulative infrastructure needs arising from new development.  

2.2 There is a national requirement for a ‘meaningful proportion’ of the CIL revenue to be 
passed directly to local communities, and in Leeds this is termed the ‘CIL 
neighbourhood fund’.  Executive Board agreed that this is to be 15% in an area 
without a Neighbourhood Plan, and 25% in an area with an adopted Neighbourhood 
Plan.  In town and parish council areas this CIL neighbourhood fund is to be passed 
directly to those local councils, as required by national CIL regulations.  In non-
parished areas then the decisions about spending are delegated to the relevant 
Community Committee and the CIL neighbourhood fund ringfenced by the City 
Council for that purpose. 

2.3 The CIL neighbourhood fund has to be spent on: “The provision, improvement, 
replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure; or, anything else that is 

Page 571



4

concerned with addressing the demands that development places on an area” (CIL 
Regulations 59C and 59F).

2.4 Executive Board requested that officers produce a further report to give more 
detailed guidance on what is the ‘local area’ in terms of the CIL, and how Community 
Committees should make their spending decisions.  This would ensure that spending 
decisions by Community Committees across the City are viewed as consistent, fair 
and transparent with sufficient information to manage expectations about the 
amounts of CIL which may be received, provide clarity on the accountability of parish 
and town councils to their residents, and help better understand Community 
Committee involvement with reviewing Neighbourhood Plans.

2.5 Officers in Forward Planning and Implementation therefore worked jointly with 
officers in the Communities Team to undertake four workshops in July 2015.  One 
workshop covered the Outer North East Community Committee area, one covered 
the Outer South and Outer East areas, one covered the Outer West and Outer North 
West areas, and the final one covered all the Inner areas.  All the ward members, 
town and parish councils, and neighbourhood planning groups in each relevant area 
were invited.  The aim of the workshops was to generate consensus on key ideas 
from partners and stakeholders in order for officers to then produce the CIL spending 
guidance.  It was also recognised that the workshops would present an opportunity to 
develop relationships, raise awareness of the CIL process and issues and choices 
around its spending, and create links with neighbourhood planning.  

2.6 Following the consultation and engagement, the proposed CIL Neighbourhood Fund 
Spending Guidance has been produced and is attached at Appendix 1.  

2.7 It was intended that working together to create the guidance should help improve 
relationships between the City Council and with town/parish councils in line with the 
Town and Parish Council Charter, and with neighbourhood planning and other 
groups.  It should help create better links with and certainty of neighbourhood 
planning proposals, including cross-boundary issues.

2.8 For information, as at the 5th September 2015 (5 months since CIL charging was 
introduced in Leeds), Demand Notices for a total of £30,748 CIL have been issued 
(although none have as yet paid).  This is very low but this is as expected due to the 
necessary time lag between planning applications being granted, progressing to start 
on site, and then the subsequent timescales for payment.  In the same period the 
Council sent out 78 Liability Notices worth £1,289,659, i.e. if all those permissions go 
forwards to commencement then the Council will receive nearly £1.3m of CIL.  This 
figure will rise as more and more developments commence which are subject to CIL 
charging.  In meeting the challenges associated with the Council’s ambition for Leeds 
to be the best City in the UK, central to the Vision for Leeds is the desire to ensure 
that the need for growth in jobs and housing is planned and delivered in a 
sustainable way together with providing appropriate supporting infrastructure.  The 
CIL income clearly will not meet all the District’s infrastructure needs but will provide 
an important contribution.  Adoption of the CIL was included as an objective in the 
Best Council Plan as part of promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth.  

Page 572



5

3 Main Issues

Development of the CIL Neighbourhood Fund Spending Guidance

3.1 Over the course of the four workshop sessions held in July, a broad number of 
questions and concerns were raised. Issues ranged from those that would directly 
help shape the CIL spending guidance and those that formed part of broader 
conversation on both the neighbourhood planning and site allocations processes.

3.2 The issues raised relating to the CIL guidance, when grouped thematically, fell into 
six key areas:
 The spending of CIL Neighbourhood Fund in a Neighbourhood Plan area.
 The spending of CIL Neighbourhood Fund in an area not covered by a 

Neighbourhood Plan(s).
 CIL Neighbourhood Funding generated in the City Centre.
 Consultation and relationships between Neighbourhood Forums, Town and Parish 

Council and Community Committees.
 Cross boundary projects and spending.
 Project delivery.

3.3 Accepting that the four workshop sessions, held geographically, were always likely 
to produce a wide range of feedback, it has been the aim of officers to produce a 
set of guiding principles for the spending of the CIL Neighbourhood Fund that 
acknowledges consensus concerns and seeks to address common issues.  
Community Committees may then choose to create further bespoke and more 
detailed guidance for their own area.

Other issues raised in workshops outside of direct remit of the spending guidance

Strategic Fund

3.4 Alongside the CIL neighbourhood fund is a strategic fund (70-80% of the total CIL 
received).  The only decision made thus far relating to the spending of the strategic 
fund is that: “priorities for its spending will be decided on an annual basis as part of 
the Council’s budget setting process, in line with the Regulation 123 List, and taking 
into account the impact of specific and cumulative infrastructure needs arising from 
new development” (Executive Board decision 11th February 2015).  

3.5 Workshop attendees broadly queried the reasoning behind the 70% to 80% directed 
into the strategic fund and considered it should be lower, with more directed into the 
neighbourhood fund, match funded against neighbourhood fund spending, or 
ringfenced through another mechanism for local spending.  

3.6 The reasons for the percentage split between the strategic and the neighbourhood 
fund are outlined in the Executive Board report of 11th February 2015.  They can be 
summarised as:
 A large strategic fund increases flexibility to provide the sort of infrastructure that 

CIL is intended to deliver as a replacement for S106 (such as schools and public 
transport improvements).

Page 573



6

 Retention of the majority of CIL in the local area may be insufficient to fund a key 
infrastructure need.  Some areas will have significant development but raise little 
funding.  It gives the potential to balance out the different charging rates across 
the District (ranging from £90 psm down to £5 psm for residential development).

 Whilst some strategic spend will be on schemes of city wide significance such as 
NGT or flood alleviation, many projects will directly benefit/mitigate the localities in 
which the development generating the CIL has taken place.

 New developments will be subject to policies requiring necessary infrastructure on 
site such as greenspace and drainage/flood alleviation and access.  Site specific 
impacts of new developments will therefore largely be mitigated.

 Increased ability to match with other funding sources. To maintain as much 
simplicity and flexibility as possible.  Ideas around per square metre, further 
ringfencing etc add even more complexity to an already very complex system. 

3.7 Additional comments and discussion from the workshop sessions included concerns 
relating to: 
 Transparency around the spend of the strategic CIL Fund.
 The potential for conflict between City-wide and local priorities, and the need to 

mitigate local impacts from development.
 The scope of what the neighbourhood fund could and should be used to support, 

such as education or major transport projects.
 How Community Committees and local groups can influence the Reg123 List and 

other elements of the strategic fund spending.

3.8 To date, there have been no detailed decisions on the spending of the strategic 
fund, and the budget setting process is only now underway.  The comments above 
have therefore been included in this report in order to raise awareness of local 
concerns or ideas with Executive Board and other officers involved in the strategic 
fund decision making.  Various LCC Services have also queried how they could 
‘bid’ for some of the CIL in the strategic fund to meet the impacts of developments 
granted planning permission.

Resources for Community Committees and communities to develop CIL spending plans

3.9 The workshops also highlighted that there were widespread concerns around the 
amount of resources available to assist in infrastructure planning, CIL spending 
decisions, and neighbourhood planning.  

3.10 These were particularly related to the need for further officer assistance, support 
(both financial and administrative), and access to Elected Members.  The 
Regulations allow the Council to keep 5% of the CIL to cover administration costs, 
although in Leeds this is not anticipated to be available for additional resources over 
the next year as it needed to backfill the CIL set up costs.

Miscellaneous Matters Raised

3.11 Executive Board should also note the following broader comments were also raised 
as part of the CIL workshop sessions:

 Many attendees considered the neighbourhood fund should be 25% regardless of 
the status/presence of a Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 574



7

 The spending of CIL at all levels should be transparent.
 The planning process needs to take into account infrastructure impacts and needs 

from the earliest opportunity.
 How Neighbourhood Plans can be used as a lever for funding opportunities 

outside of the CIL?

Regulation 123 List – Proposed Minor Changes

3.12 CIL Regulation 123 requires the Council to set out a list of those projects or types of 
infrastructure that it intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded through the 
CIL.  In order to ensure that individual developments are not charged for the same 
infrastructure items twice, a S106 contribution or a S278 agreement cannot then be 
made towards an item already on the List.  Executive Board agreed the Leeds 
Regulation 123 List on 17th September 2014.  This version was unchanged from 
that consulted on in October 2013.  Following the adoption of the Core Strategy in 
November 2014, the implementation of the CIL on a day to day basis from April 
2015, and the preparation of the Publication Draft of the Site Allocations Plan (SAP) 
in September 2015, minor issues have arisen relating to the precise wording of the 
R123 List.  Minor changes are therefore proposed in order to increase clarity, 
provide consistency, and to reflect the current position as set out in the SAP.

3.13 The CIL Regulations are silent on the process for amending the Reg123 List.  The 
Planning Practice Guidance states; “When charging authorities wish to revise their 
Regulation 123 List, they should ensure that these changes are clearly explained 
and subject to appropriate local consultation… Charging authorities should not 
remove an item from the Regulation 123 List just so that they can fund this item 
through a new Section 106 agreement.  Authorities may amend the Regulation 123 
List without revising their Charging Schedule, subject to appropriate consultation. 
However, where a change to the Regulation 123 List would have a very significant 
impact on the viability evidence that supported examination of the Charging 
Schedule, this should be made as part of a review of the Charging Schedule.”

3.14 It is considered that the changes proposed are minor and therefore would not 
impact on the viability evidence assessed at the CIL examination.  The changes are 
also not being proposed in order that a specific infrastructure item can be funded 
through a new S106, but to give more clarity.  Therefore the only requirement is that 
‘appropriate local consultation’ takes place on the changes.  In reality the changes 
are only likely to be of real interest to those submitting applications and becoming 
liable for the CIL charge. It is therefore proposed that the changes and the 
opportunity for comment be made available through the Council`s website and 
through limited targeted consultation.Given that only minor amendments are 
proposed to the Reg 123 list it is suggested that the Chief Planning Officer be 
authorised to make any further changes arising from this consultation.

3.15 Appendix 2 sets out the proposed Regulation 123 List as revised.  The table below 
highlights what is proposed to be changed from the current version and provides an 
explanation.  

Page 575



8

Current Reg123 
List

Proposed change Explanation 

Leeds Core Cycle 
Network

Leeds Core Cycle 
Network, except 
for where 
improvements or 
additions are 
necessary as a 
result of a specific 
development.

Where appropriate for the site, a development 
may be expected to provide a new cycle link or 
upgrade an adjacent existing route, via a S106.  
However, where that link or route happens to 
be part of the Leeds Core Cycle Network, this 
is not possible due to the generic category on 
the R123 List. Therefore by inserting the 
exclusion on the List, it will allow the CIL to be 
the main contributor (alongside other funding 
sources), yet not preclude S106 contributions 
from individual developments.  

The Public Right 
of Way network

The Public Right of 
Way network, 
except for where 
improvements or 
additions are 
necessary as a 
result of a specific 
development.

Almost all development sites are expected to 
provide new pedestrian links or upgrade an 
adjacent existing route, and sometimes this is 
best sought through a S106.  However, there 
have been instances where applicants have 
argued that because all walking routes are part 
of the public right of way network, then no 
S106 contribution should be made.  It was 
never the intention that the CIL should 
supersede the proper planning of new 
development sites, therefore providing further 
clarity on this wording is considered 
appropriate.   

Page 576



9

Primary education, 
except for large 
scale residential 
development 
identified in the 
Site Allocations 
Plan, which will be 
expected to 
provide primary 
schools either as 
an integral part of 
the development 
or as the result of 
no more than 5 
separate planning 
obligations

Primary education, 
except for large 
scale residential 
development, 
which will be 
expected to 
provide primary 
schools as an 
integral part of the 
development.

It is very difficult to identify in advance which 
should be the specific sites to contribute 
towards off-site school need in each area.  
This is because it does not work out evenly 
basing this on size or location or phasing, 
because the need for the school and the timing 
of it will alter in each case depending on which 
sites come forwards at which points, and 
because there are inevitably more than 5 sites 
in most instances that will generate a 
cumulative demand for places. It also cannot 
be guaranteed which sites would come 
forwards first.

In addition, the CIL Regulations refer to pooling 
of 5 S106 ‘obligations’, which means that the 
tally includes where schemes may change and 
new/revised applications/S106s are required, 
and where reserved matters applications come 
forwards in phases spread across one sight 
which would each then require a S106.    
Therefore even a single site could on its own 
generate 5 obligations, after which no more 
could be taken into account either from that 
site or from any other site, no matter what was 
set out in the SAP and no matter whether the 
contributions would ever actually be received 
(i.e. if superseded by another application).  

The statutory consultation procedures relating 
to school expansions also means that even if a 
specific school were cited for expansion in the 
SAP or a S106 agreement, there is no 
guarantee that the outcome of the consultation 
would agree the expansion of that school.

It is therefore more appropriate to remove the 
reference to identification of sites in the SAP to 
pool together up to 5 obligations.

Page 577



10

Secondary 
education

Secondary 
education, except 
for large scale 
residential 
development 
which will be 
expected to 
provide secondary 
schools as an 
integral part of the 
development

To provide consistency with the position for 
primary schools, and to support the few sites in 
the Site Allocations Plan where on-site 
secondary provision will be a requirement.

 

Green 
infrastructure and 
public greenspace, 
except for on-site 
provision required 
by
Core Strategy 
policies

Green 
infrastructure and 
public greenspace, 
except for site 
specific provision 
required by Core 
Strategy policies

To provide better clarity about the scope of 
Core Strategy Policies G4 and G5, and the 
potential for site-specific provision to be 
provided by an ‘on-site contribution in lieu’ and 
not just physically on-site provision.

Public realm 
improvements, 
except for on-site 
provision or where 
this is required as 
a direct result of 
an adjacent 
development

Public realm 
improvements, 
except for on-site 
provision, and off-
site provision 
where this is 
required as a 
direct result of an 
adjacent 
development

To provide better clarity.

Removal of CIL Discretionary Relief for Charitable Investment

3.16 The final CIL spending matter relates to charities. Some charitable relief is 
mandatory through a nationally set exemption under Regulation 43. This gives 
charitable relief from paying the CIL on anything developed on the charities land 
which is directly related to their charitable purposes. An example would be a 
university/college proving e.g. student accommodation, car parking, retail, and 
education buildings.  

3.17 On top of this the Council also set a Policy on Discretionary Relief for Charitable 
Investment (approved by September 2014 Executive Board alongside the Charging 
Schedule adoption), under CIL Regulation 44 whereby CIL relief is granted where 
the profits applied are for charitable purposes:
- In accordance with Regulation 46 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 
2010 (as amended), this document gives notice that discretionary charitable relief 
for investment activities is available in the Leeds District under Regulation 44.  
- Subject to the requirements as set out in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended), 
the following are the circumstances in which discretionary charitable relief will be 
granted by Leeds City Council:

Page 578



11

Where a charitable institution is otherwise liable for the CIL, and the whole or 
greater part of the development will be held by the charitable institution as an 
investment from which the profits will be applied for charitable purposes,
That portion of the chargeable development to be held as an investment will not 

be occupied by the claimant for ineligible trading activities, and,
The relief would not constitute notifiable State Aid.  

3.18 It was not fully appreciated that this policy could allow charities to avoid paying any 
CIL in circumstances where the sole purpose is to provide market housing.  It is 
considered that all market housing should be liable for the CIL, in order to reflect the 
infrastructure needs arising from market housing and to provide benefit residents in 
those local communities.  Therefore for the avoidance of uncertainty over future CIL 
payments on such land, it is recommended that the Policy on Discretionary Relief 
for Charitable Investment be withdrawn.  Mandatory charitable relief under 
Regulation 43 will continue. The CIL Regulations require the Council to give 14 
days’ notice before the Policy is withdrawn and it is therefore proposed that this 
change takes effect from 1st December 2015.

4.   Corporate Considerations

4.1   Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 The strategic overview for the CIL spending as set by the Reg123 List has already 
been agreed by Executive Board.

4.1.2 Four workshops were undertaken in July as part of the exercise to draft the CIL 
neighbourhood fund spending guidance, jointly facilitated by the Council’s Forward 
Planning and Implementation team, and the Communities team.  One was held for 
the Outer North East Community Committee, one for the Outer South and Outer 
South East CCs, one for the Outer North West and Outer West CCs, and one for all 
of the Inner CCs.  All elected Members, town and parish councils, and existing and 
emerging Neighbourhood Forums were invited.  A full list of attendees can be made 
available on request.  The workshops included an overview presentation and then 
themed discussion sessions, concluding with a final feedback opportunity.

4.1.3 In addition, correspondence has been received from the Inner North West 
Community Committee (Planning Sub-Group) relating to their suggestions for the 
spending guidance.  These broadly reflect the comments and consensus at the 
workshops, and therefore have the same broad remit as is set out in the guidance 
document. 

4.1.4 It is proposed to carry out appropriate consultation on the changes to the Reg 123 
list as referred to in paragraph 3.15 above.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 A number of Equality, Diversity, Cohesion, and Integration Screenings were 
undertaken relating to the adoption of the CIL Charging Schedule, and also for the 
previous Executive Board report on 11th February 2015.  Those screenings 

Page 579



12

identified that the consideration of most relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion, 
and integration will be relating to the choices to be made in spending the CIL. 

4.2.2 A new Screening is attached as Appendix 4 of this report relating to the 
neighbourhood fund guidance.  Issues which have been considered include:

 The consensus gained at the four Community Committee workshop events in July 
2015.

 The need to ensure equal outcomes across the Community Committee areas and 
across the District, bearing in mind the constraints about where development 
occurs and the differential CIL rates charged.

 The need to ensure transparency in decision making and involve local 
communities in decision making.

 The relationships with town and parish councils, Neighbourhood Forums, and 
other community planning groups.

4.2.3 The conclusions of the screening report are that Community Committees are an 
important part of the Council’s decision making process.  Attending the meetings 
allows local people and councillors to get to know groups and organisations that 
work in the area.  Similarly, the role of parish councils as democratically 
accountable bodies means they offer a way of shaping the decisions that affect their 
communities. Parish and town councillors and officers possess local knowledge to 
make informed decisions, including on the equality needs and impacts of their 
communities.

4.2.4 That the guidance sets out the need for spending to consider cross boundary 
working and projects will assist the more disadvantaged inner city communities 
adjoining the City Centre, and allow best value for money and maximise 
infrastructure provision across the District.

4.2.5 The guidance requires Community Committees to have awareness of the need to 
include young people in their engagement work, with bespoke consultation as 
necessary. It also requires local communities to be consulted on spending, 
including as a minimum the relevant Neighbourhood Forum or other constituted 
urban environment group covering that area, plus those and Town and/or Parish 
Councils in adjacent areas.  It recommends that City Councillors should continue to 
strengthen relationships with Town and/or Parish Councils through the Community 
Committee, and that the CC should strongly consider the use of sub groups and co-
optees to be advisory consultees, with the potential for a formal agenda item on 
neighbourhood planning or infrastructure planning at meetings.  

4.2.6 The Council will monitor the type, location, and value of CIL receipts and CIL 
infrastructure funding, and town and parish councils will also have to report on their 
own spending.  

4.2.7 The proposal to remove the Council’s policy allowing discretionary charitable relief 
for investment activities would disadvantage any charities proposing to use the 
current policy.  However, it is considered that all market housing should be liable for 
the CIL, and this would create increased income for communities and equity for a 
wider range of stakeholders, which outweighs the potential negative impact for very 

Page 580



13

occasional instance for a charity.  It would be to the benefit of all people in those 
local communities, including those with protected characteristics.

4.3 Council Policies and  the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The CIL is a process which the Council has chosen to set up, as supported by the 
CIL Regulations 2010 (and Amendment Regulations 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014), and 
the formal Charging Schedule is a document within the Local Development 
Framework.  The CIL broadly reflects Council policies and City priorities in that it 
emphasises incentivising growth, both to the development industry and local 
communities.  Implementation of the CIL continues to contribute funding towards 
infrastructure which will therefore directly support the Best Council Plan objective to 
promote sustainable and inclusive economic growth.  It could help fund some of the 
‘breakthrough projects’ such as rethinking the City Centre.  In this way it is a 
delivery mechanism for the Core Strategy, the Site Allocations Plan, and future 
Neighbourhood Plans.  

4.3.2 The production of more detailed spending guidance, and using that process to build 
working relationships between a range of stakeholders, is considered to directly 
contribute to the Best Council Plan approach of adopting a new leadership style of 
civic enterprise, where the council becomes more enterprising, and citizens become 
more actively engaged in the work of the City.  

4.4 Resources and Value for Money

4.4.1 The implementation of the CIL in Leeds is expected to result in increased funding 
for infrastructure across the District overall, alongside the context of a forced 
reduction in the current use of S106s from April 2015 (via national Regulations).

4.4.2 The Regulations allow up to 5% of future CIL receipts to be reclaimed for the CIL 
set up and ongoing administration costs, and this has been previously agreed as 
appropriate for Leeds by Executive Board. This report includes a commentary on 
issues surrounding staffing and resources which have been raised by ward 
members and community stakeholders.

4.4.3 The recommendation that Community Committees follow the spending guidance 
allows for maximising value for money by encouraging communities to work with the 
Council and each other, for instance by further pooling across boundaries where 
appropriate.

4.4.4 The CIL Regulations state that the Council “must apply CIL to funding the provision, 
improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure to support 
the development of its area.”  The CIL from the neighbourhood fund has a slighter 
wider remit as it must support the development of the local area or any part of that 
area, by funding “(a) the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or 
maintenance of infrastructure; or (b) anything else that is concerned with 
addressing the demands that development places on an area.”  This could therefore 
include affordable housing, or the costs of setting up a neighbourhood plan.  

Page 581



14

4.4.5 The Regulations set limits on spending of S106s, so that income from only five or 
less S106 obligations can be pooled towards a specific item or type of infrastructure 
and this must not be a type or project which is on the Reg123 List.  Affordable 
housing S106s are exempt from this pooling, and the Council’s strategic CIL cannot 
be spent on affordable housing.

4.4.6 Both the City Council and town and parish councils will have to provide annual 
reports on their CIL receipts and spending.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (2010 as amended) set out that a 
charging authority can choose to charge the CIL on new development in its area.   
The Council has adopted its Charging Schedule and associated policies.  The 
recommendations proposed will have implications for most communities across the 
District.  The Council has a lot of discretion over how it spends the CIL income, 
provided that it is in line with the Regulations and particularly the Reg123 List and 
regulations relating to the neighbourhood fund. 

4.5.2 This report is a key decision and is therefore subject to call-in following Executive 
Board.  

4.5.3 The Council’s Constitution sets out executive delegations to Community 
Committees at Part 3, Section 3D. It is proposed that this new delegation in relation 
to CIL spending is reflected in the delegation scheme as shown at Appendix 3 
attached. Executive Board will note that the proposed wording includes reference to 
both the guidance and the requirement that Community Committees work with 
partners to ensure best use of CIL monies. The delegation is shared by the Director 
of City Development who can take decisions in respect of CIL funding where such 
decisions cannot be delayed until the meeting of the relevant Community 
Committee.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 As the CIL will be an income stream treated in a similar manner to other income 
streams within the Capital Programme, risk will be assessed and managed through 
the Council’s standard financial management procedures as part of that process.  
The use of new CIL guidance for Community Committees means that their 
spending decisions will be transparent and fair across the District, with influence 
from local communities. The guidance has been worked up after consultation and 
engagement with key stakeholders.  This means that spending decisions made are 
more likely to receive support from local residents, and foster good relationships.  
This report has provided the range of opinions and options generated by the 
workshop attendees, even where those opinions do not align with the guidance 
itself. 

4.6.2 Officers will continue to work with local communities in giving advice on maximising 
and managing their CIL spending, including through developing Neighbourhood 
Plans and shared priority arrangements as appropriate.  The progression towards 

Page 582



15

adoption of the Site Allocations Plan and therefore the increasing certainty on the 
amount of CIL which individual areas may generate will also help with this process.

4.6.3 There is a risk that some types of infrastructure or some areas may result in lower 
infrastructure spending than they have received through the previous (S106) 
system, but this can be mitigated through the annual priority setting, which will also 
consider the balance of other funding sources and development and infrastructure 
pressures.

4.6.4 The CIL Regulations require LCC to publish an annual report of spending in relation 
to the strategic and neighbourhood fund CIL, and also requires town and parish 
councils to report annually on their own proportion of the neighbourhood fund. This 
will allow for transparency of decisions and for the Council and other stakeholders 
to monitor, review, and feedback as necessary.

5 Conclusion

5.1 The CIL will be one of the delivery strands of the Core Strategy and is a key part of 
delivering the Best Council Plan objective of promoting sustainable and inclusive 
economic growth.  It will be a part of the wider Council funding package that also 
includes aspects such as the New Homes Bonus and retained business rates, the 
City Region Infrastructure Fund and other public sector grants.  The CIL will assist 
in meeting Leeds’ priorities by generating some funding to help provide 
infrastructure while being at appropriate rates which will continue to attract 
investment, create jobs, and deliver new housing.  

5.2 The need to work with local councils and neighbourhoods to explore opportunities 
for maximising available resources has to be set against the need to streamline the 
process by using existing decision making structures where possible, and also the 
technical requirements of financial administration within the authority.  

5.3 It could help fund some of the ‘breakthrough projects’ such as rethinking the City 
Centre.  In this way the CIL is one of the delivery strands of the Core Strategy, and 
similarly will generate infrastructure funding from the development of sites identified 
in the emerging Site Allocations Plan, from windfall development, and from that 
occurring within future Neighbourhood Plan areas.  

5.4 The CIL neighbourhood fund has been agreed at 15% in an area without a 
Neighbourhood Plan, and 25% in an area with an adopted Neighbourhood Plan.  In 
town and parish council areas the neighbourhood fund is to be passed directly to 
those local councils, as required by national CIL regulations.  In non-parished areas 
the decisions about spending of the CIL neighbourhood fund are delegated to the 
relevant Community Committee (as the lowest democratic representative), and the 
fund is ringfenced by the City Council for that purpose. 

5.5 Four workshops were undertaken in July 2015 to which all ward members, town 
and parish councils, and neighbourhood planning groups were invited.  The overall 
outcome was the production of CIL neighbourhood fund spending guidance which 
has been generated directly from those involved in the process.  Community 

Page 583



16

Committees may then choose to create further bespoke and more detailed 
guidance for their own area.

5.6 This report and Appendix 1 therefore provides spending guidance for Community 
Committees in making decisions on spending of their CIL neighbourhood funds.  
Executive Board is recommended to agree the spending guidance for use by all 
Community Committees.  The issues raised in the workshops led to the creation of 
guidance grouped around six key areas:
 The spending of CIL Neighbourhood Fund in a Neighbourhood Plan area.
 The spending of CIL Neighbourhood Fund in an area not covered by a 

Neighbourhood Plan(s).
 CIL Neighbourhood Funding generated in the City Centre.
 Consultation and relationships between Neighbourhood Forums, Town and 

Parish Council and Community Committees.
 Cross boundary projects and spending.
 Project delivery.

5.7 This report also covers the comments made at the workshops around the strategic 
CIL fund and resourcing.  Other matters relating to the CIL are also identified, 
namely proposed minor amendments to the Regulation 123 List, and proposed 
withdrawal of the Council’s current policy allowing discretionary charitable relief for 
investment activities.

6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is requested to agree:

i) Agree the CIL neighbourhood fund spending guidance for use by Community 
Committees as set out at Appendix 1;

ii)  Agree the proposed minor changes to the Regulation 123 List (as set out at 
Appendix 2), to note that these changes will be subject to local consultation and 
to authorise the Chief Planning Officer to consider any representations made 
and to make any further amendments considered necessary as a result of the 
consultation prior to implementation of the revised list;

iii)  Agree to remove the Council’s policy allowing discretionary charitable relief for 
investment activities to take effect form 1 December 2015;

iv) Approve the amendment to the Community Committee Executive Delegation 
Scheme as set out at Appendix 3, noting that the delegation is shared with 
the Director of City Development;

v) Note the Chief Planning Officer is the officer responsible for implementation.

7 Background Papers1 

7.1 There are no background papers associated with this report.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 584



17

8 Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Proposed Leeds CIL Neighbourhood Fund Spending Guidance

Appendix 2 – Proposed Leeds CIL Regulation 123 List 

Appendix 3 – Proposed amendment to the Community Committee Executive Delegation 
Scheme

Appendix 4 – Equality, Diversity, Cohesion, and Integration Screening

Page 585



This page is intentionally left blank



1

LEEDS CITY COUNCIL
CIL NEIGHBOURHOOD FUND –

SPENDING GUIDANCE FOR COMMUNITY COMMITTEES

Introduction to the CIL

2.1 The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule was adopted in 
November 2014, with charging underway since 6th April 2015 on all relevant 
developments.

2.2 The CIL is a non-negotiable charge on many new buildings in £s per square metre on 
gross internal floor area. Developments become liable at grant of planning 
permission (or as they start to be built if no planning permission is required) and the 
Demand Notice (invoice) is sent when works commence on site.  CIL payments are 
then made in set time periods from the start on site.

2.3 The rates were not set by where development is 
predicted to or preferred to occur, but were based on 
over 250 viability appraisals included in the Leeds CIL 
Economic Viability Study, a range of other evidence, 
and the requirements set by the CIL Regulations.  The 
Study tested a range of uses across the District based 
on example sizes and sites, which took into account 
the full planning policy requirements e.g. affordable 
housing targets.  The theory is that a developer will 
make the same amount of profit in building the same 
number of houses anywhere in Leeds, because any 
‘surplus’ is taken up by charging higher CIL rates.  
Higher CIL rates are possible in some areas because 
for example house prices are higher.  The 
Government’s intention is for the CIL cost to be taken 
off the price that the developer pays for the land, so 
that effectively the landowner pays for the CIL.  

2.4 The CIL rates were set at a point that balances the need to gain sufficient funding to 
contribute towards infrastructure needed to support growth, but not so high that they 
would threaten the viability of growth and development as a whole.  The residential 
zone boundaries were based on average house prices, policy constraints, local 
knowledge, and the need to follow physical attributes.  

2.5 The CIL Charging Schedule underwent two formal public consultation stages in 2013 
followed by a public examination with a Government Examiner in June 2014.

Page 587



2

The CIL rates in Leeds: 

P
age 588



3

Type of development in Leeds CIL Charge per square metre

Residential – Zone 1 £90
Residential – Zone 2a £23
Residential – Zone 2b £45
Residential – Zone 3 £5
Residential – Zone 4 £5
Supermarkets* ≥ 500 sqm in City Centre £110
Supermarkets* ≥ 500 sqm outside of City Centre £175
Comparison Retail ≥ 1,000 sqm in City Centre £35
Comparison Retail ≥ 1,000 sqm outside of City Centre £55
Offices in City Centre £35  
Development by a predominantly publicly funded or not for 
profit organisation, including sports and leisure centres, 
medical or health services, community facilities, and 
education

Zero

All other uses not cited above £5
*Supermarket definition:
Larger format foodstores that sell a full range of grocery items and are shopping destinations 
mainly used for a person’s main weekly food shop, although generally they also contain a smaller 
range of comparison goods.

Instalment Payments Policy:

≤ £9,999 Due in full within 2 calendar months of commencement
£10,000 to £59,999 Due in 2 equal instalments within: 3 and 6 months of commencement
£60,000 to £99,999 Due in 3 equal instalments within: 3, 6, and 9 months of 

commencement
£100,000 to 
£499,999

Due in 3 equal instalments within: 6, 12, and 18 months of 
commencement

≥ £500,000 Due in 4 equal instalments within: 6, 12, 18, and 24 months of 
commencement

Further information and a more detailed map can be found at: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx

Page 589

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx


4

Introduction to the Neighbourhood Fund Spending Guidance

2.1 There is a national requirement for a ‘meaningful proportion’ of the CIL revenue to be 
passed directly to local communities, and in Leeds this is termed the ‘CIL 
neighbourhood fund’.  The CIL Regulations 59C and 59F set out that the CIL 
neighbourhood fund has to be spent to support the development of the relevant area, 
funding:
(a) the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of 

infrastructure;   
or 

(b) anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that development 
places on an area.

2.2 This is clearly a very broad remit.  Infrastructure’ has a very wide definition and 
includes transport, flood defences, schools, health facilities, parks and green spaces, 
cultural and sports facilities, as well as maintenance and improvement of facilities 
affected by development.  Other possibilities could include affordable housing, 
preparation of the neighbourhood plan, or many other ideas.  Infrastructure may be 
viewed on 3 levels:
 Small-scale local projects which affect one village/community.  

e.g. new benches and signage in a local greenspace, improvements to a 
community building. 

 Projects affecting more than one village/community, which need wider co-
operation and planning.

e.g. a cycle path or footpath linking two communities, junction/highways 
improvements, sports facilities drawing more than local use.

 ‘Strategic’ infrastructure affecting a number of communities.  The City Council 
has a key responsibility for planning and delivering this but this does not mean 
that the neighbourhood fund cannot or should not assist.

e.g. school expansions, major transport schemes, major flood defence works.  

2.3 The system of using Section 106 Agreements does also continue under the CIL 
regime, although there are more restrictions on what they can be used for.  S106s 
will be used to mitigate site specific infrastructure requirements such as affordable 
housing, on-site greenspace, flood defences, or pedestrian and vehicle accesses.  
Nearby junction improvements may also be required through S106s, or nearby 
greenspace improvements where the development is not providing sufficient on-site. 

2.4 Executive Board in February 2015 made key decisions around spending of the future 
CIL income, directing it into two main funding streams; a strategic fund, and a 
neighbourhood fund, plus up to 5% for administrative costs.  The neighbourhood fund 
is 15% in an area without a Neighbourhood Plan, and 25% in an area with an 
adopted Neighbourhood Plan.  In town and parish council areas it is to be passed 
directly to those local councils, as required by national CIL regulations.  In non-
parished areas the decisions about spending are delegated to the relevant Leeds 
City Council Community Committee (CC), and the CIL neighbourhood fund 
ringfenced by the City Council for that purpose.  Funds will be transferred to 
parishes/CC as follows: 1st October to 31st March receipts transferred by 28th April, 
and 1st April to 30th September receipts transferred by 28th October.

2.5 The remaining 70-80% of the total CIL received is called the CIL strategic fund.  
Priorities for its spending will be decided on an annual basis as part of the Council’s 
budget setting process and capital programme, in line with the Regulation 123 List, 

Page 590



5

and taking into account the impact of specific and cumulative infrastructure needs 
arising from new development.  

How the Guidance was created

3.1 Executive Board requested that further guidance and protocols should be established 
to ensure a consistent approach to defining the local area for spending and 
consultation purposes.  Therefore four workshops were held in July 2015, to which all 
ward members, town and parish councils, and neighbourhood planning groups were 
invited.  One workshop covered the Outer North East Community Committee area, 
one covered the Outer South and Outer East areas, one covered the Outer West and 
Outer North West areas, and the final one covered all the Inner areas.  All the ward 
members, town and parish councils, and neighbourhood planning groups in each 
relevant area were invited.  The aim of the workshops was to generate consensus on 
key ideas from which to develop the CIL spending guidance. It was also recognised 
that they would help to build relationships between all parties, raise awareness of the 
CIL process and issues and choices around its spending, and create links with 
neighbourhood planning.  Through this consultation and engagement, a wide range 
of issues relating to the CIL spending were explored.  The overall outcome was the 
production of this neighbourhood fund spending guidance.

3.2 This guidance is to be adopted by CCs in making decisions on spending of their CIL 
neighbourhood funds.  CCs may also then wish to create further bespoke guidance 
for their own area as appropriate.  Some of the issues identified are also intended to 
help prompt further discussion on this topic, rather than provide a definitive answer.

3.3 It is also intended/hoped that town and parish councils and Neighbourhood Forums 
will also voluntarily adopt the principles in the guidance, in order that all the decision 
makers make rational and complementary decisions to best maximise the value of 
the CIL income.

Page 591



6

PRINCIPLES FOR SPENDING THE CIL NEIGHBOURHOOD FUND

1. NATIONAL GUIDANCE

National guidance gives only broad guidelines about neighbourhood fund spending, as 
set out in ‘Planning Policy Guidance’: “Charging authorities should set out clearly and 
transparently their approach to engaging with neighbourhoods using their regular 
communication tools… The use of neighbourhood funds should therefore match 
priorities expressed by local communities… authorities should use existing community 
consultation and engagement processes. This should include working with any 
designated neighbourhood forums preparing neighbourhood plans that exist in the area, 
theme specific neighbourhood groups, local businesses… and using networks that ward 
Councillors use.  Crucially this consultation should be at the neighbourhood level.  It 
should be proportionate to the level of levy receipts and the scale of the proposed 
development to which the neighbourhood funding relates.  Where a Neighbourhood 
Plan has been made, the charging authority and communities should consider how the 
neighbourhood portion can be used to deliver the infrastructure identified in the 
neighbourhood plan as required to address the demands of development.  They should 
also have regard to the infrastructure needs of the wider area.”

2. SPENDING CIL GENERATED FROM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREAS

Principles 
 In spending CIL generated from a Neighbourhood Plan area, due regard must be had 

to the projects and proposals in that Neighbourhood Plan, whether emerging or 
adopted.  

 However, this is on the proviso that if the Neighbourhood Forum wishes the CIL 
neighbourhood fund to be spent on projects outlined in their Neighbourhood Plan, it 
must consult and work with the CC at an early stage in the formation of that plan. (It is 
acknowledged that some plans have already progressed past this point). The CC 
must be receptive of this and should work together with the Neighbourhood Forum to 
help them agree the most urgent funding priorities.  

 Agreement of changes to funding priorities can and should be ongoing even after the 
adoption of a Neighbourhood Plan (see the Consultation section).

 The need for flexibility is accepted if an unforeseen need or priority project emerges.

3. SPENDING CIL GENERATED OUTSIDE OF NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREAS

Principles 
 Size thresholds: small scale sums should be spent only in that community/ward.  

Larger receipts can be spent more widely.  Each CC will need to determine the 
appropriate thresholds for this split.

 Due regard must be had to the impact of the development that generated the CIL, 
and what infrastructure that development is also providing in mitigation.

 CIL spending decisions should, where possible, reflect infrastructure 
priorities/projects/ideas in documents which are not formal Neighbourhood Plans, 
such as Neighbourhood Improvement Plans or Neighbourhood Design Statements.

 The need for flexibility is accepted if an unforeseen need or priority project emerges.
 See the consultation section for further principles.

Issues to consider:

Page 592



7

 CIL funds can be spent anywhere in the CC area, distributed equitably across the CC 
area, or ringfenced to the ward that generated it.  

 It was agreed that the CC would listen to local views and apply council priorities to make 
an informed and transparent local decision.  

 The size of the CIL receipt should also be a factor depending on where the pressure on 
infrastructure facilities will be.  

 There was an emerging theme that smaller CIL receipts in Wards with limited 
development opportunities should be reinvested in very (Ward-based) local 
infrastructure projects 

4. CITY CENTRE 

Principles 
 Where development occurs close to the City Centre boundary, or the development 

will impact on a community outside of the boundary, the expectation is that the CC 
will make spending decisions which take account of the cross-boundary needs and 
opportunities.   The definition of ‘close’ is for the relevant CC to determine.

 The City Centre Management Team and the Business Improvement District should 
be consulted on spending decisions, which should take account of existing plans and 
programmes.

Issues to Consider:
 There is no single community in the City Centre, and it also includes a wide range of 

business communities.  Identifying and agreeing infrastructure priorities could be more 
difficult than in other areas.

5. CONSULTATION AND RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUMS, 
PARISHES, AND COMMUNITY COMMITTEES

Principles 
 Local communities must be consulted on spending.  This must include as a minimum 

the relevant Neighbourhood Forum or other constituted urban environment group 
covering that area, plus all such groups and Town and/or Parish Councils in adjacent 
areas.  CCs should work in partnership to come to a solution.  However, this should 
be proportionate to the amount of CIL under discussion, and the CC should be aware 
it is their role to take a broader area view than local residents.

 CCs should be aware of the need to include young people in their engagement work, 
with bespoke consultation as necessary e.g. through schools, Youth Panels, youth 
groups etc.

 Discussions will be needed with the relevant LCC department e.g. Parks and 
Countryside or Highways, or other relevant providers (e.g. GP surgeries).

 City Councillors should continue to strengthen relationships with Town and/or Parish 
Councils through the CC.  

 The CC should strongly consider the use of sub groups and co-optees to be advisory 
consultees, with the potential for a formal agenda item on neighbourhood planning or 
infrastructure planning at meetings.

Issues to Consider:
 Consultation will be easier once tangible projects are identified, and the knowledge of 

the prospect of funding will help in identifying projects and their relevant scale.

Page 593



8

 Examples of consultation could include an annual residents’ survey to identify priorities, 
or a smaller working group to put forwards a shortlist to residents.    

6. CROSS-BOUNDARY PROJECTS AND SPENDING

Principles 
 CCs should pay due consideration to the cross boundary impact of CIL spend as 

development mitigation needs are not confined to a single Ward/Community 
Committee/Neighbourhood Forum/ Town or Parish Council area.

 CCs should seek further clarity around the spending of the strategic fund and the 
mitigation needs arising from a development before allocating the neighbourhood 
fund on local infrastructure. Examples of this would include key issues such as 
school places, road investment and additional green space.

 CCs and Town and Parish Councils should use cross boundary working 
arrangements to collaboratively define relevant local boundaries.

Issues to Consider:
 Many issues, infrastructure projects, or mitigation needs are not confined to a single 

Ward/Community Committee/Neighbourhood Forum/ Town or Parish Council area. 
People do not necessarily perceive their community to fall solely within ward or parish 
boundaries.  

 Some issues cross the LCC boundary and communication across District boundaries is 
difficult, especially where neighbourhood planning is not in progress. 

 More clarity is needed about the spending of the strategic fund and mitigation of 
development e.g. the need for school places.  

 There is the possibility for the LCC strategic fund to match fund the neighbourhood fund 
spending where there is a cross-boundary impact.

 Some Town and Parish Councils or communities without proposed development 
themselves consider that discussions around the allocation of the neighbourhood or 
strategic fund should not automatically exclude them due to an infrastructure need 
arising from development in neighbouring areas, e.g. through traffic generated from a 
development elsewhere. 

 There are many examples of CCs or town and parish councils delivering cross-
boundary projects.

7. PROJECT DELIVERY PRINCIPLES 

Community Committees should consider:
 How ongoing revenue/maintenance costs for new 

infrastructure - initially funded by the CIL - can be identified.
 How the City Council can support and fund Neighbourhood 

Forums to implement projects post-adoption.
 The CIL is not the only infrastructure funding source available.  

Neighbourhood Plans may be used to assist funding bids if 
they contain tangible projects.  The CC has a strong role to 
play in identifying other income streams and match funding 
opportunities. 

Page 594



 

 

 
 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 
 

REGULATION 123 LIST 
 

October 2015 
 

DRAFT for Executive Board 
 

Regulation 123 provides for the Council to set out a list of those projects or types of 
infrastructure that it intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded through the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  In order to ensure that individual 
developments are not charged for the same infrastructure items through both 
Section 106 Agreements and the CIL, a S106 contribution or a S278 agreement 
cannot then be made towards an infrastructure item already on the List. 
 
Strikethrough indicates deletions from the October 2014 adopted version, underlined 
indicates additions. 
 

Sustainable transport schemes: 

New Generation Transport (NGT) 

The Public Right of Way network, except for where improvements or additions are 
necessary as a result of a specific development 

Leeds Core Cycle Network, except for where improvements or additions are 
necessary as a result of a specific development    

Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS) 

Primary education, except for large scale residential development identified in the 
Site Allocations Plan, which will be expected to provide primary schools either as an 
integral part of the development or as the result of no more than 5 separate planning 
obligations 

Secondary education, except for large scale residential development which will be 
expected to provide secondary schools as an integral part of the development 

Green infrastructure and public greenspace and community sports facilities, except 
for on-site site specific provision required by Core Strategy policies 

Public realm improvements except for on-site provision or and off-site provision 
where this is required as a direct result of development 

Community sports facilities 

Cemeteries  

District heating networks 

Public health facilities 

Page 595



 

 

 
The Council will review this list at least once a year, as part of monitoring of CIL 
collection and spend, and any changes will be justified and subject to appropriate 
local consultation. 
 

The R123 List does not identify priorities for spending within it, or any apportionment 
of the CIL funds across the District, and does not signify a commitment from the 
Council to fund the projects listed through the CIL. 
 

The Council will work with local communities and parish/town councils to agree local 
priorities for spend.  The neighbourhood fund determined by local communities can 
be spent on the R123 List, but it does not have to be. 
 
 
ONGOING USE OF SECTION 106 AND SECTION 278 AGREEMENTS 
 
For clarity, the list below provides an outline of the types of matters which will 
continue to be addressed through S106 or S278 Agreements, but it is not intended to 
be an exhaustive list. 
 
- Affordable housing 
- Employment and skills agreements e.g. local employment or apprentice contracts 
- Metrocards, travel plans, and monitoring fee / co-ordinator posts 
- Site specific matters needed to make a specific development acceptable in 

planning terms, including: 
o New bus connections or services or bus stops/bus stop improvements  
o Cycle and pedestrian routes and connections  
o Local junction / highways improvements and access into the site  
o Primary and secondary schools/extensions as an integral part of large scale 

residential development 
o On-site green infrastructure and public greenspace and community sports 

facilities as required by Core Strategy Policies G4 and G5, which include 
requirements for a financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision in certain 
circumstances.  

o Public realm improvements on-site, and off-site where this is required as a 
direct result of an adjacent development 

o Drainage and flooding solutions necessary for the development 
o Sustainable energy requirements necessary for the development 

 
 

Page 596



Executive Functions 
 

Part 3 Section 3D(a) 
  Page 1 of 3 

Issue 2 – 2015/16 
 

 
SECTION 3D(a):  
COMMUNITY COMMITTEE EXECUTIVE DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
 
Well-Being  
Function 
To promote and improve the 
economic, social and environmental 
well-being of the Committee’s area1. 
  

To take decisions about, and monitor 
activity relating to the use of the annual 
capital and revenue allocation to each 
Committee. 
 

 
Local Services 
Function 
Community Centres2 In relation to each community centre 

identified by the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities) as 
within the Committee’s area, to: 

 oversee controllable revenue 
budgets, operational arrangements 
and the use of the centres; 

 agree and implement a schedule of 
charges and discounts for directly 
managed centres; 

 make asset management and 
investment proposals to ensure the 
portfolio is sustainable and meets 
local needs. 

 
CCTV3 To maintain an overview of the service in 

the Committee’s area and receive regular 
information about it. 
 

Neighbourhood Management  
Co-ordination4 

In relation to the Committee’s area: 

 to agree priority neighbourhoods 
(through the approval of the 
Community Plan); and 

 to agree and monitor Neighbourhood 
Improvement Plans for the 
Committee’s area. 

 

                                            
1 Function also delegated to Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) 
2 Function also delegated to Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) 
3 Function also delegated to Director of Environment and Housing 
4 Function also delegated to Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) 

Page 597



Executive Functions 
 

Part 3 Section 3D(a) 
  Page 2 of 3 

Issue 2 – 2015/16 
 

Street cleansing & Environmental 
Enforcement Services5: 
 

 Litter bin emptying 
 Litter picking and associated 

works 
 Street sweeping and associated 

works 
 Leaf clearing 
 Ancillary street cleansing functions 

including Graffiti removal, Gully 
and Ginnel cleansing. 

 Dog Controls (fouling, straying, 
dogs on leads, dog exclusions) 

 Fly tipping enforcement 
 Enforcement of domestic & 

commercial waste issues 
 Litter-related enforcement work 
 Enforcement on abandoned & 

nuisance vehicles 
 Overgrown vegetation 
 Highways enforcement (placards 

on streets, A boards, cleanliness) 
 Graffiti enforcement work 
 Proactive local environmental 

promotions. 
 

 

To develop and approve annual Service 
Level Agreements to achieve as a 
minimum, the service standards set by 
Executive Board. Via the Service Level 
Agreement, to determine the principles of 
deployment of the available resources 
by:  
 
 the identification of priorities for 

service delivery annually (both 
geographical and in terms of types of 
services delivered) 
 

 the agreement of the most 
appropriate approaches to be taken to 
achieve local environmental 
cleanliness and quality. 

 
To be responsible for monitoring and 
reviewing the delegated activities in 
relation to the service outcomes specified 
in the SLA. 
 
To be responsible for negotiating 
amendments to the SLA with service 
providers to accommodate unforeseen 
events or patterns of service failure, 
during the course of the SLA. 
 

Youth Activity Fund6 
 
To commission, monitor and evaluate 
local play, arts, sports and cultural 
activity for young people age 8-17 with 
the involvement and participation of 
children and young people.  

To commission services in the area 
designed to meet identified need with 
suitable provision. 
 
To monitor:- 
 the range, quality and suitability of 

provision for children and young 
people in the committee’s area in 
order to identify gaps and build on 
provision; 

 the range, quality and suitability of 
activity commissioned; and 

 the take up by and engagement of 
children and young people in the 
activity commissioned  

                                            
5 Function also delegated to Director of Environment and Housing 
6 Function also delegated to Director of Children’s ServicesAssistant Chief Executive (Citizens and 
Communities) 

Page 598



Executive Functions 
 

Part 3 Section 3D(a) 
  Page 3 of 3 

Issue 2 – 2015/16 
 

 
To evaluate (having taken into account 
the views of children and young people in 
the area) 
 the success, range, quality and 

suitability of activity delivered; and 
 the engagement of children and 

young people with the Community 
Committee throughout the 
commissioning and monitoring 
process   

 
To actively involve children and young 
people throughout the planning, decision 
making, monitoring and evaluation 
process. 
 

Parks and Countryside7 In relation to  the horticultural 
maintenance of community parks, 
cemeteries, closed churchyards, 
recreation grounds, urban woodland, 
natural areas, maintenance of 
roundabouts, other floral features and 
local green space: 
 to be responsible for the prioritisation 

and allocation of investment funding 
available for parks and green space; 
and 

 to be responsible for labour resource 
allocation decisions on an annual 
basis using the parks asset register to 
calculate requirements and plan 
alternative management scenarios. 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
Neighbourhood Fund8 

To make decisions in relation to 
spending CIL neighbourhood funds in 
accordance with the neighbourhood fund 
spending guidance. 
 
To work closely with Parish Councils, 
community groups and infrastructure 
providers to promote shared 
infrastructure planning and maximise use 
of CIL resources. 
 

 

                                            
7 Function also delegated to Director of Environment and Housing 
8 Function also delegated to Director of City Development 

Page 599



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Forward Planning and 

Implementation 
 

Lead person: Lora Hughes 
 

Contact number: 50714 

 
1. Title: The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy – Spending of the 
Neighbourhood Fund, and Other Spending Matters 
 
Is this a: 
 
            Strategy / Policy                 Service / Function                        Other 
                                                                                                                
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The Council adopted the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule on 12th 
November 2014, and charging commenced on the 6th April 2015.      
 
This Screening Report assesses the recommendations on guidelines for spending of the 
CIL neighbourhood fund, and particularly the guidance to be adopted by Community 
Committees as the delegated authority to make those decisions.  It is also intended that 
town and parish councils may voluntarily sign up to make spending decisions in 
accordance with this guidance.    
 
Specifically, the report to Executive Board recommends the following: 
i) The content of the CIL neighbourhood fund spending guidance. 
ii) That the CIL neighbourhood fund spending guidance is adopted by all Community 
Committees in making decisions on CIL spending. 
iii) To continue to work closely with town and parish councils and other community 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 601



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

groups, with the aim of shared infrastructure planning and maximising use of CIL 
resources. 
iv) To note the other issues and points made by attendees at the workshops which relate 
to the CIL and neighbourhood planning.  
 
The Screening also assesses other minor points relating to the CIL which are proposed to 
Executive Board: 
v) To agree the minor changes to the Regulation 123 List. 
vi) To agree to remove the Council’s policy allowing discretionary charitable relief for 
investment activities. 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

X  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 

Page 602



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related information, 
gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement activities (taken place or 
planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
1.1 In developing the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charge setting process, 

previous screening reports have already considered equality to ensure that there is 
equal and fair consultation throughout the charge setting process, and equality for 
those who will have to pay the charge.  Executive Board in February 2015 also 
determined the broad principles for spending of the CIL, which was accompanied by 
an EIA Screening Report.  The conclusions of that screening were that there are no 
equality impacts that have not been given due regard or which are not planned to be 
mitigated through future work. A key element of the recommendations to Executive 
Board were concerned with ensuring that the governance structure for allocating CIL 
will be transparent and ensure that the allocation of funds to projects is undertaken 
in a fair and consistent manner.  Crucially, this will include considerations of equality 
and cohesion within those decisions. Overall the CIL will be a benefit for the people 
of the District.  It was anticipated that much of the agreed spending would be locality 
based, reflecting Members’ views on priorities at the time, and in turn reflecting 
views of their local communities. This was expected to reflect where significant 
development had taken place or was on-going as well as other funding sources. 
Flexibility enables the balance to vary year on year to respond to changing 
circumstances, and any impacts (real or perceived) on equality. Annual monitoring of 
a number of elements of the CIL will be important in managing and responding to 
any real or perceived risks and any other implications on equality which have not 
been identified or addressed. 
 

1.2 This current report is concerned with equality as a result of decisions on spending 
the CIL neighbourhood fund, and the subsequent infrastructure delivery as a result.  
It also addresses the positive community and relationship building benefits of the 
approach taken in preparing and using the CIL neighbourhood fund guidance. 

 
1.3 There are a number of possibilities in how the CIL neighbourhood fund may be 

spent.  In narrowing these down to the final recommendations, issues which have 
been considered include: 
 The consensus gained at the four Community Committee workshop events in 

July 2015. 
 The need to ensure equal outcomes across the Community Committee areas 

and across the District, bearing in mind the constraints about where development 
occurs and the differential CIL rates charged. 

 The need to ensure transparency in decision making and involve local 
communities in decision making. 

 The relationships with town and parish councils, Neighbourhood Forums, and 
other community planning groups. 

 

Page 603



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

1.4 The neighbourhood fund is not the total amount of the CIL which could be spent by 
LCC in local communities with new development, as the Council could choose to 
match fund local spending, plus the strategic infrastructure items provided by the 
LCC strategic fund will inevitably have a local benefit wherever they are located.  
The Government’s intention for the CIL is to specifically break the link between a 
specific development, and the infrastructure it funds, in order to provide pooled funds 
for strategic infrastructure necessary as a cumulative result of development.  
 

1.5 It is difficult to ascertain where any impact on people with protected characteristics 
may lie.  The inner area has a low CIL rate of £5 psm for residential development 
compared to £90 psm in the north.  However, the exemptions from paying the CIL 
relating to whether a scheme includes affordable housing, existing buildings on site 
to be demolished, or self-build, are non-geographic and vary on a site by site basis.  
In addition, some areas in the £90 zone may have little development anyway.  Both 
of these points may alleviate to some extent the range of the charges.  
 

1.6 The area not covered by emerging Neighbourhood Plans (and which therefore will 
receive 15% for their neighbourhood fund rather than 25% in a Neighbourhood Plan 
area) is the majority of the main Leeds urban area.  This contains a very wide range 
of communities and therefore will not impact solely on certain protected 
characteristics.  This concept has already been subject to an equalities screening as 
part of the February 2015 Executive Board decisions.  The neighbourhood fund 
spending guidance has considered the relationship with Neighbourhood Plans and 
the consequences for those areas without. 
 

1.7 Community Committees are an important part of the Council’s decision making 
process and each Committee has elected members as voting members.  Attending 
the meetings allows local people and councillors to get to know groups and 
organisations that work in the area.  Similarly, the role of parish councils as 
democratically accountable bodies means they offer a way of shaping the decisions 
that affect their communities. Parish and town councillors and officers possess local 
knowledge to make informed decisions, including on the equality needs and impacts 
of their communities. 
 

1.8 Executive Board is also considering some other CIL spending issues which are not 
related to the neighbourhood fund.  In relation to proposed minor changes to the 
Regulation 123 List, it is considered that these are solely to give more clarity to 
communities and the development industry and will not have any equality impacts as 
a result. The proposal to remove the Council’s policy allowing discretionary 
charitable relief for investment activities would disadvantage any charities proposing 
to use the current policy.  However, it was not fully appreciated that this policy would 
allow charities, and in particular the Universities, to avoid paying any the CIL if their 
land is developed for market housing, particularly land which is not within one of the 
campus areas.  It is expected to be very rare that the policy would have been used 
anyway (as the majority of charities would either have a CIL exemption through the 
statutory charity exemption in the CIL Regulations, or not be in the business of 
providing market housing).  It is considered that all market housing should be liable 
for the CIL, and this would create increased income for communities and equity for a 
wider range of stakeholders, which outweighs the potential negative impact for very 
occasional instance for a charity.  It would be to the benefit of all people in those 
local communities, including those with protected characteristics. 

Page 604



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality characteristics, 
potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, potential to bring 
groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception that the proposal could 
benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
2.1 Bringing forwards the CIL in Leeds aims to enable the Council to direct spending on 

necessary infrastructure items, give more choice in priority setting for spending to 
local communities, and balance out the costs and benefits of growth across the 
District (these matters have already been subject to an equality screening).  It is 
therefore considered that it is a beneficial mechanism to help promote equality 
overall.  The CIL has never been expected to fund all the necessary infrastructure for 
Leeds and other sources of funding will continue to be sought.   

 
2.2 The introduction of the CIL should benefit all groups by contributing to the delivery of 

strategic and local infrastructure and helping to achieve more sustainable 
development. Preparing CIL Spending Guidance in conjunction with Community 
Committees and relevant community representatives has been positive in building 
relationships between them, and with LCC officers.  The content of the CIL 
neighbourhood fund guidance will enable communities to determine their own 
priorities, within the context of giving due regard to equality. It provides increased 
potential and requirements for groups to work together to shared outcomes, and so 
different groups will come into increased contact with each other.  Working closely 
with parish councils and local communities to identify shared priorities will be a 
positive equality action. 
 

2.3 The detailed governance of the CIL may have unequal impacts in Leeds, primarily 
based on a geographical basis (because of concentrations of groupings of people 
with the protected characteristics in different areas). The workshop events did 
highlight that representatives felt some groups were not sufficiently consulted in 
spending decisions, specifically, young people, Neighbourhood Forums, and the City 
Centre community (the latter because it is too broad to define a specific community).  
Comments were also made about the more disadvantaged inner city communities 
adjoining the City Centre and the need for further investment in those areas. 
 

2.4 Communities across Leeds are too diverse and the amount and timing of the CIL 
which will be generated in each too complex and unknowable to be able to 
generalise about equality impacts and specify any bespoke CIL %s accordingly at 
the moment.  No CIL income has as yet been received.   
 

2.5 The types of impacts would arise at the point at which money has been secured 
through CIL and new or improved infrastructure is actually delivered.  Such matters 
will also involve consultation and agreement with a wide range of stakeholders, and 
equality and cohesion will need to be fully integrated into decision making, including 
monitoring, to mitigate any disproportionate impacts.   

 
2.6 The CIL Regulations require LCC to publish an annual report of spending in relation 

to the strategic and neighbourhood fund CIL, and also requires town and parish 
councils to report annually on their own proportion of the neighbourhood fund. This 
will allow for transparency of decisions and for the Council and other stakeholders to 
monitor, review, and feedback as necessary. 

Page 605



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

6

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
3.1 The CIL neighbourhood fund spending will be locality based, reflecting Members’ 

views on priorities at the time, and in turn reflecting views of their local communities. 
This will reflect where significant development had taken place or was on-going as 
well as other funding sources. Flexibility enables decisions to vary year on year to 
respond to changing circumstances, and any impacts (real or perceived) on equality. 

 
3.2 The need for spending to consider cross boundary working and projects will assist 

the more disadvantaged inner city communities adjoining the City Centre, and allow 
best value for money and maximise infrastructure provision across the District. 
 

3.3 The governance structure for allocating CIL will be transparent and ensure that the 
allocation of funds to projects is undertaken in a fair and consistent manner, taking 
account of the views of stakeholders and local communities for instance through 
neighbourhood planning.  Any impacts would be dependent on the type of 
infrastructure to be provided and its location.   
 

3.4 The Scrutiny report ‘Strengthening the Council’s relationship with local Parish and 
Town Councils’ (Scrutiny Board Safer and Stronger Communities, May 2013) 
contained recommendations relating to a commitment from parish councils and Area 
Committees (now Community Committees) to work closely together for open and 
meaningful dialogue, and that “Area Leaders proactively work with local councils and 
Area Committees to identify opportunities for maximising available resources to best 
meet the needs of their local communities.”  An action proposed as part of the 
report’s recommendations is therefore that the Council continues to work closely with 
parish councils and other community groups and infrastructure providers, including 
through the Site Allocations Plan and Neighbourhood Planning, with the aim of 
shared infrastructure planning and maximised use of CIL resources.  This action has 
been carried through by the workshop methods used to draft the CIL spending 
guidance, and by the provisions within it relating to consultation. 
 

3.5 The guidance requires Community Committees to have awareness of the need to 
include young people in their engagement work, with bespoke consultation as 
necessary. It also requires local communities to be consulted on spending, including 
as a minimum the relevant Neighbourhood Forum or other constituted urban 
environment group covering that area, plus those and Town and/or Parish Councils 
in adjacent areas.  It recommends that City Councillors should continue to 
strengthen relationships with Town and/or Parish Councils through the Community 
Committee, and that the CC should strongly consider the use of sub groups and co-
optees to be advisory consultees, with the potential for a formal agenda item on 
neighbourhood planning or infrastructure planning at meetings.   
 

3.6 The Council will monitor the type, location, and value of CIL receipts and CIL 
infrastructure funding, and town and parish councils will also have to report on their 
own spending.   

 
3.7 Annual monitoring of a number of elements of the CIL will be important in managing 

and responding to the risks identified above and any other implications on equality 
which have not been identified or addressed.  This includes keeping a record of any 

Page 606



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

7

discretionary charitable relief requests, to monitor the impact of removal of the 
existing charitable relief policy. 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Lora Hughes 
 

Principal Planner 17/09/2015 

Date screening completed  
 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent:  

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 
 

Page 607



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 21st October 2015

Subject: East Leeds Extension Update & Next Steps

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Crossgates & Whinmoor, Harewood

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 10.4(3)

Appendix number: 2 

Summary of main issues 

1. The East Leeds Extension is strategic growth point and the largest single area of 
allocated housing land in the Leeds City Region.  This area will play a major role in 
delivering the housing required to meet the Core Strategy requirements for 70,000 
new homes by 2028 and assist in the delivery of the Best Council Plan, particularly the 
objective of promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth. 

2. The programme for the ELE is ambitious and complex.  It involves a range of 
landowners and developers, major infrastructure proposals, the use of Council land 
and resources, public and private funding and a series of linked project activities which 
require the Council to fulfil a strong co-ordination and enabling role.

3. Executive Board was last updated on the programme in January 2014 and approved 
initial positions in relation to discussions with the Northern Quadrant Consortium and 
the delivery of the East Leeds Orbital Road.

4. This report sets out progress in the planning and delivery of key projects and sites – 
the East Leeds Orbital Road, proposals for Council-owned land at Red Hall, proposed 
development in the Northern Quadrant, Thorpe Park and guidance to establish 
consistent planning and delivery principles across the area.

Report author:  Adam Brannen
Tel:  0113 2476746

Page 609

Agenda Item 19



5.   Specifically the report sets out:

 Background to the growth potential of the East Leeds Extension and how this 
complements regeneration activities within the existing urban area of East Leeds;

 Progress on the East Leeds Orbital Road project (ELOR) and forthcoming 
consultation on this;

 Progress at Thorpe Park and the Manston Lane Link Road;

 Land assembly and facilitation of ELOR by the Council at the Northern Quadrant; 

 Next steps in taking forward consultation, planning and disposal of land at Red Hall;

 Next steps in establishing certainty through a planning framework that will cover the 
Southern & Middle Quadrants of the East Leeds Extension.

Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

i. Note the report and the positive progress made by the Council in its enabling 
activities to bring forward the major strategic growth area of the East Leeds 
Extension and the major infrastructure project for the East Leeds Orbital Road;

ii. Approve in principle that the Council continues to develop a funding case for the 
costs of the East Leeds Orbital Road through the West Yorkshire Plus Transport 
Fund, prudential borrowing and developer contributions and continues to explore 
alternative means of financing;

iii. Reaffirm its commitment to the ELOR Roof Tax as the principle mechanism through 
which developer contributions will be secured from the East Leeds Extension 
towards the delivery costs of the East Leeds Orbital Road, as set out in paras 3.1.6 
– 3.1.8;

iv. Note the programme for the planning, procurement and construction of the East 
Leeds Orbital Road as set out in para 3.1.10 – 3.1.13 and approve that the Chief 
Officer for Highways and Transportation submits a detailed planning application for 
the project, in consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport 
and Planning; 

v. Note the progress made in assembling land to facilitate the route of ELOR at the 
Northern Quadrant and consider the recommendations in Exempt Appendix 2.

vi. Note that the Council will make land available on the Red Hall site for the initial A58 
junction infrastructure that will enable access to the Northern Quadrant site, as set 
out in paras 3.3.12 – 3.3.14, subject to the discharge of relevant statutory processes 
by the Head of Land and Property and the delegated approval of the Director of City 
Development;

Page 610



vii. Approve that the Chief Planning Officer prepares and publishes a Draft Planning 
Brief for Red Hall, with the detailed timetable to be agreed with the Executive 
Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning

viii. Approve the approach to marketing and disposal of the Red Hall site set out in 
paras 3.4.18 – 3.4.22, with the details to be confirmed by the Director of City 
Development in consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration, 
Transport and Planning; 

ix. Approve that the Chief Planning Officer prepares and publishes a Draft 
Development Framework for the Southern and Middle Quadrants, with the detailed 
timetable to be agreed with the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and 
Planning

x. Approve a co-ordinated programme of public and stakeholder engagement for the 
East Leeds Extension from November 2015, to include public consultation on the 
East Leeds Orbital Road, Red Hall and the Southern & Middle Quadrants, with the 
details to be confirmed by the Head of Regeneration in in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning and Ward Members.

Page 611



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report provides Executive Board with an update on progress in planning for 
the delivery of major housing growth and infrastructure investment in the East 
Leeds Extension and requests approval on a number of matters to enable this to 
be moved forward.

1.2 Specifically the report sets out:

 Background to the growth potential of the East Leeds Extension and how 
this complements regeneration activities within the existing urban area of 
East Leeds;

 Progress on the East Leeds Orbital Road project (ELOR) and forthcoming 
consultation on this;

 Progress at Thorpe Park and the Manston Lane Link Road;

 Land assembly and facilitation of ELOR by the Council at the Northern 
Quadrant;

 Next steps in taking forward consultation, planning and disposal of land at 
Red Hall;

 Next steps in establishing certainty through a planning framework that will 
cover the Southern & Middle Quadrants of the East Leeds Extension.

2 Background information

2.1 Executive Board has previously noted the potential for significant housing 
development in this area of green field housing land which has been allocated 
through the Local Development Framework (LDF). This area is known as the East 
Leeds Extension (ELE) and the Board has previously considered issues relating 
to the planning and funding of essential infrastructure to support this.

2.2 The ELE covers some 215ha at the edge of the city and together with adjacent 
sites with residential planning permissions or with applications coming forward at 
Grimes Dyke and at Manston Lane the area has the potential to accommodate up 
to 7,000 new homes and make a significant contribution to the Core Strategy 
housing growth target of 70,000 new homes by 2028.  The plan at Appendix 1 
shows an overview of the area.

2.3 This is the single largest opportunity in the city to deliver new high quality 
residential neighbourhoods on allocated green field housing land.  By embedding 
the Best City ambition in the ‘place-making’ approach to the co-ordination of 
development interests and the design and development of the area, the Council is 
in a position to:

Page 612



 support communities and tackle poverty by ensuring all stakeholders are 
engaged in the planning, design and delivery process and ensure that new 
development meets the needs of existing and new residents and businesses;

 promote sustainable and inclusive economic growth, by providing new 
housing and meeting housing needs as the city grows, boosting the local 
economy, delivering new social and physical infrastructure and improving 
travel and access to new employment opportunities;

 build a child friendly city through the integral design and provision of new 
schools, open spaces, play and leisure facilities, ensuring there are enough 
school places as the city grows and meeting the needs of young people to 
grow up in a safe, welcoming child-friendly neighbourhood;

 assist in delivering the better lives programme by meeting the needs of 
older people through new housing choices and new local health facilities;

 enable positive public health outcomes through the provision of new 
primary health facilities, opportunities for active leisure, planning for 
pedestrians and cyclists and enabling access to good quality affordable 
housing;

 ensure that sustainable development is achieved in a way that meets the 
growth needs of the city whilst protecting the character and improving the 
amenity of existing neighbourhoods;

 become more efficient and enterprising by working with investment and 
development interests to ensure the use of public funds is optimised, to gain 
maximum benefit for the city from private funds and to take an approach to 
the Council’s land and assets that delivers the best value for the city.

2.4 The programme for the ELE is ambitious and complex.  It involves a range of 
landowners and developers, major infrastructure proposals, the use of Council 
land and resources, public and private funding and a series of linked project 
activities which require the Council to fulfil a strong co-ordination and enabling 
role.

2.5 There is the potential for significant employment growth at the adjoining Thorpe 
Park to complement the ELE as a desirable residential neighbourhood with high 
quality transport links, new community facilities and access to local jobs and 
training, which would also benefit existing neighbourhoods in the area and 
contribute to the regeneration of East Leeds as a whole. 

2.6 Progress is also being made in bringing forward regeneration in the existing urban 
areas of East Leeds, particularly through the disposal and development for 
housing of Council-owned land in Seacroft, Gipton and Halton Moor.  It is 
anticipated that a report will be brought to the next meeting of the Board setting 
out this work in inner parts of the city in more detail. 

Page 613



2.7 In delivering the city’s housing growth needs and meeting its full economic 
potential, there is a need to ensure all residents and neighbourhoods get the 
benefit of investment and that there is a continued approach to developing on 
brownfield land as well as green field sites.

2.8 The regeneration of East Leeds and activities to deliver the East Leeds Extension 
strategic growth point are therefore very strongly related.  The delivery of new 
strategic highway infrastructure, improvements to public transport and movement 
networks, the green space network, connecting residents to employment and 
training opportunities arising through investment and the overall strengthening of 
choice and quality in the local housing market are all being approached on an 
area-wide basis that considers the integration of existing neighbourhoods and the 
new areas of development that will come forward.

2.9 The main part of this report sets out the current position and proposed next steps 
in respect of the following elements of the ELE programme, to move this Strategic 
Growth area towards delivery:

 The East Leeds Orbital Road
 Progress of development and infrastructure at Thorpe Park
 Progress of housing proposals at the ‘Northern Quadrant’
 Council owned land at Red Hall
 Planning for new homes in the ‘Southern & Middle Quadrants’

3 Main issues

3.1 The East Leeds Orbital Road (ELOR)

3.1.1 Central to the ELE programme is the co-ordination of planning and investment 
activities to ensure the delivery of major new transport infrastructure, particularly 
the provision of a new East Leeds Orbital Road (ELOR), a new 7.5km dual 
carriageway, which will connect the existing Outer Ring Road at Red Hall to the 
M1 at junction 46.  

3.1.2 The ELOR is a requirement established through policy in the LDF and will provide 
access to the development areas enabling their construction and occupation; it 
will offer strategic network benefits for traffic movements between the motorway 
and North Leeds; and it will relieve the additional demands arising from 
development on the existing local highways network.

3.1.3 At its meeting in January 2014, Executive Board received an update on the ELOR 
project and noted the Council’s continued leading role in this work, with progress 
in the feasibility design of the route, cost estimates and possible funding sources, 
with the intention to take a business case through the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority’s (WYCA) West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund (WYPTF) and to 
establish a ‘roof tax’ on development in the area as a means of securing 
developer contributions.

Page 614



Funding

3.1.4 Project funds through the WYPTF programme are released on the same basis as 
a Department for Transport gateway assessment.  The Council submitted a 
‘Gateway 1 Business Case’ to WYCA in January 2015 for an East Leeds transport 
infrastructure package.  This was approved in April 2015, establishing a grant 
allocation of £76.233m and releasing £3.9m of this to enable further project 
development up to the point at which a planning application for the road can be 
submitted.  

3.1.5 The East Leeds transport package is comprised of three related projects, which in 
combination are considered essential to the overall improvement of travel and 
movement across East Leeds and the promotion of growth.  These elements are 
set out below with their outline cost estimates (currently including provision for risk 
and optimism bias at 2014 prices):

3.1.6 The overall provisional grant allocated through the WYPTF Gateway 1 approval is 
on the basis that third party contributions of £40m are also obtained towards the 

East Leeds Orbital Road, Red Hall to M1 J46 
(incorporating expansion of the MLLR through Thorpe Park)

£96.35m

Outer Ring Road (A6120) 
(environmental improvements between Red Hall and Cross Gates 
to discourage through journeys and encourage use of the new 
ELOR route)

£8.7m

Outer Ring Road (A6120) 
(junction Improvements at Roundhay Park Lane, A61 Harrogate 
Road, King Lane and Stonegate Road, to ensure the ORR with 
ELOR functions with maximum efficiency)

£11.2m

Total Package Cost Estimate £116.23m

Page 615



total cost.  It is currently anticipated that these will be secured through the ‘roof 
tax’ applied to all residential development in the East Leeds Extension, with 
developers expected to contribute, pro rata, to the full cost of ELOR in each 
section of the area where they have land and bring forward proposals.   The 
related works to the Outer Ring Road would not be expected to secure any third 
party contributions.

3.1.7 The scale of costs and funding required is anticipated to reduce over time as more 
certainty is achieved  in regard to scheme design and the risks that have been 
identified (with costs against them) can be mitigated or removed from the project.  
As the cost estimate for the package of works reduces, it is expected that the 
WYPTF grant contribution will also reduce, so that the WYCA contribution to the 
scheme remains at the same proportion, once a final Business Case for the funds 
is submitted and subject to its final approval.

3.1.8 At this point in time no roof tax contributions have been secured, though the 
principle of this approach is now firmly established in discussions with developers 
at different stages of their proposals (see further sections of this report).  The gap 
in the initial capital costs of the ELOR scheme will need to be met by the Council, 
using prudential borrowing, the full costs of which would ultimately be recovered 
via the roof tax.  In effect the Council will provide a cash flow facility to enable the 
scheme to move forward and for the housing potential to be fully realised.

3.1.9 Officers are currently exploring other funding options that could offset, in whole or 
in part, the need for the Council to borrow to fund this infrastructure. It is intended 
that a further report on these issues will be submitted to Executive Board in due 
course.

ELOR Programme

3.1.10 The outline programme for the ELOR scheme is set out in the table below:  

Page 616



Milestone Forecast
Start Date

Forecast
Finish Date

Planning Application Preparation & Submission April 2015 March 2016
Planning Application Determination March 2016 July 2016
Statutory Procedures March 2016 Oct 2016
Public Inquiry & SoS Decision Nov 2016 Aug 2017
Detailed Design & Tender Document Preparation Jun 2016 March 2017
WYPTF Gateway 2 – Procurement Approval 
(Submitted to WYCA)

June 2017 Sept 2017

Scheme evaluation – pre-scheme survey planning and 
data collection

July 2017 Oct 2017

Procurement March 2017 Dec 2017
WYPTF Gateway 3 – Implementation Approval 
(Submitted to WYCA)

Dec 2017 Dec 2017

Construction Jan 2018 Dec 2021
Post Construction Evaluation – 1 Year Post 
Construction (Submitted to WYCA)

July 2021 May 2022

3.1.11 The Council is taking all possible proactive and positive steps towards the delivery 
of the project - this is an optimised programme and although the anticipated 
opening date of December 2021 is six years away, it is in reality as quick a 
delivery timescale as can be committed to for such a major infrastructure scheme, 
with a start to the works in only a little over two years from now. 

3.1.12 The programme provides for land assembly that will be undertaken to facilitate the 
route in a timely manner, either by negotiation or if appropriate (and subject to 
Executive Board resolution) through recourse to compulsory purchase, that would 
if necessary be resolved at the Public Inquiry.

3.1.13 Currently work is underway on the site surveys that are required to inform the 
detailed designs that will support a planning application for the full route in March 
2016, to be submitted by the Council.  These surveys will become more visible 
locally as intrusive ground investigations proceed over the autumn.

Other Transport Improvements

3.1.14 Inclusion of the Outer Ring Road in the East Leeds Transport Package will allow 
measures to be implemented to reduce severance between Seacroft, Crossgates, 
Whinmoor and Swarcliffe and change the character of the route towards better 
provision for active modes of travel and to better serve local travel and movement 
needs.

3.1.15 An East Leeds Transport Strategy has also been drafted to guide the way the 
Council’s and Combined Authority’s transport investments can be effectively co-
ordinated with new development and major new infrastructure provision to the 
benefit of the wider area as a whole.  This will assist in scoping new bus services 
to meet increasing demand, defining transport hubs for service and modal 
interchange and pedestrian/cycle facilities – for example development and 
expansion of Leeds Core Cycle Network including the Cross-City Cycle 

Page 617



Superhighway.

Consultation

3.1.16 Critical to the submission and determination of the planning application for ELOR 
to the project timetable will be the progression of formal public consultation and 
information provision from November.  This will need to take place with a range of 
interests and stakeholders, including:  

 Local residents and businesses – there is generally a good level of 
knowledge locally that the ELE has been allocated for housing development 
and that ELOR will need to come forward to support this, following dialogue 
with residents on Red Hall and the Northern Quadrant.  There has however 
been limited specific engagement on ELOR itself and there is a need to 
generate more detailed and wider spread understanding of the project, as 
well as highlight matters where there may be genuine scope for change 
through consultation.

 Local bodies – including Parish Councils, Community Committees/Ward 
Members, neighbourhood organisations.

 Statutory bodies – including utilities, departments and agencies of 
government.

 Landowners – those whose land may be required for the route of the road, 
and those whose land may be indirectly affected by the works to be 
undertake.  This will include freehold owners, leaseholders and tenant 
farmers where applicable. 

 Special interest groups – including access, cycling, countryside, environment, 
transport.

3.1.17 A series of engagement events within all adjoining neighbourhoods are planned to 
be held from late November.   These will support the pre-application consultation 
for ELOR and also cover, where geographically relevant to the respective 
neighbourhoods, other aspects of the East Leeds Extension programme as set 
out in this report.   It will be the critical first step in formally engaging with the 
public and a range of stakeholders on plans for the orbital road and will provide an 
opportunity to comment on the impact of proposals, mitigation measures and 
identify what other opportunities might exist for meeting the schemes objectives. 

3.1.18 The events will be supported by a range of engagement materials including 
leaflets, a dedicated webpage and social media presence, in order to ensure key 
messages and information about engagement events are widely disseminated.

3.1.19 Executive Board is asked to agree to this outline programme and delegate details 
of its delivery to the Chief Officer for Highways & Transportation in consultation 

Page 618



with the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning, ensuring 
where appropriate alignment with the requirements for consultation on other 
aspects of the ELE as set out in this report.

3.2 Progress at Thorpe Park

3.2.1 Whilst not forming part of the East Leeds Extension, Thorpe Park is a 
fundamental part of the overall growth potential of this area.  The site already 
accommodates 56,000 sq m of office space providing c.4,500 jobs.  A masterplan 
for the site received outline planning approvals in March 2014, with variations in 
April 2015, to enable the delivery of the next phase of growth comprising a further 
84,000 sq m of office development, 20,000 sq m of leisure uses, 18,000 sq m of 
retail and 300 new homes.  Scarborough Development Group envisages the site 
will deliver a further 13,000 jobs as a result of this mixed use development.

3.2.2 Planning approvals in place for this development require the delivery of the 
Manston Lane Link Road (MLLR), a dual carriageway to join up junction 46 of the 
M1 with an upgraded Manston Lane north of the Leeds-York main rail line.  This 
road infrastructure received detailed planning approval in July 2014.  

3.2.3 The Council, as landowner to the north of the line, Network Rail and Scarborough 
Development Group have now put in place the appropriate legal and funding 
agreements to enable the detailed design and delivery of a rail bridge and the 
major highways infrastructure through Thorpe Park.

3.2.4 Significant ground works are now underway at Thorpe Park, with incidental coal 
extraction taking place as a precursor to the road building.  Scarborough 
Development Group anticipates the MLLR being completed by mid 2017 – this will 
in effect provide the southernmost leg of the ELOR in advance of the main project, 
connecting into the M1.

3.2.5 Thorpe Park is a key asset for the city, offering real opportunities for high quality 
employment growth in key sectors, in a business and leisure destination that has 
the potential to offer a unique and high quality environment.   In August 2015, it 
was announced that Legal & General had taken a 50% stake in Thorpe Park 
through the delivery vehicle for the site, Thorpe Park Developments Ltd, 
reportedly for an equity investment of £162m.

3.2.6 This is a major mark of confidence in both Thorpe Park and Leeds as an 
investment proposition, demonstrating the scope for growth, quality and value to 
be achieved here.  In discussions with the developers and investors, it is clear that 
the plans for the East Leeds Extension, the infrastructure proposed and the wider 
success and growth potential of Leeds as a city have played a key role in 
providing the confidence for this investment.

Page 619



3.2.7 This is one of L&G’s first commitments to come through its involvement with the 
Government’s Regeneration Investment Organisation (RIO). The firm committed 
at the start of the year to invest £1.5bn in joint ventures with other groups involved 
in RIO, with a particular aim to support the government’s ‘Northern Powerhouse’ 
aspirations.

3.2.8 The Council has an active dialogue with RIO as part of its activities to promote 
Leeds and secure private investment in the city and efforts are continuing to 
explore opportunities that may be of investment attraction to institutional and 
private funds, as with Thorpe Park.

3.3 Northern Quadrant Proposals

3.3.1 A consortium of developers and landowners submitted an outline planning 
application in July 2012 for the construction of 2,000 homes, community facilities, 
open space and a section of ELOR on land between the A58 and A64, known as 
the Northern Quadrant.

3.3.2 In January 2014 Executive Board received details of the negotiations on the 
planning application and supported a number of key principles for the Council to 
carry forward in working with the developers and in delivering on its role in 
enabling the delivery of infrastructure and housing in the ELE:

 subject to the grant of planning permission, the delivery of ELOR 
between the A58 and A64 roundabouts should be funded by developer 
contributions, to be included in a s106 agreement to be negotiated by the 
Chief Planning Officer;

 direct delivery by the Council of ELOR between the A58 and A64, to be 
led by the Chief Highways & Transportation Officer, subject to securing 
the necessary statutory consents, the grant of planning permission 
including the completion of the s106 agreement and the approval of a 
detailed financial business case;

 should any compulsory purchase of land be required or the acquisition of 
land be agreed via private treaty, the s106 agreement negotiated by the 
Chief Planning Officer will include an indemnity to the Council from the 
Northern Quadrant consortium for all costs properly incurred in pursuing 
a CPO or land assembly;  

Progress of the Planning Application

3.3.3 A significant amount of work has taken place with the applicants since the 
submission, to achieve a scheme that could be considered viable whilst delivering 
an appropriate package of planning obligations and prioritising a contribution to 
the full cost of the ELOR through this part of the ELE.

Page 620



3.3.4 The consortium has committed to the payment of the ‘roof tax’ towards ELOR in 
this section and to dedicating the necessary land between the A58 and A64 for 
the construction and adoption of ELOR.

3.3.5 At its meeting of 10th March 2015, City Plans Panel was presented with a 
recommendation to defer and delegate determination of the outline application to 
the Chief Planning Officer, with all s106 requirements delivered per planning 
policy with the exception that 12% affordable housing be delivered.  Panel was 
also asked to consider the principle of allowing a start to the development of 
housing on this site in advance of ELOR being provided, on the basis that the 
Council has control over the delivery of ELOR, to the timetable set out above. 

3.3.6 Panel agreed to the principles presented in the deferral and delegation 
recommendation, with the exception that 15% affordable housing be required, as 
per current planning policy requirements for this area.  

3.3.7 Further discussions with the consortium have proceeded to review the viability of 
the scheme in meeting this target and within the new planning obligations regime 
provided by the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  It is anticipated that a 
revised position will be reached to enable a further report for determination by 
Plans Panel by the end of the year.

Land Assembly 

3.3.8 In December 2014, Executive Board noted that the NQ consortium has ownership 
or control over the majority of land within the NQ area, with the exception of two 
parcels of land.  One of these interests is critical to the route of ELOR through the 
site and therefore to the achievement of planning for the scheme and it had not 
proved possible for the consortium to reach an agreement to acquire.  The parties 
involved had approached the Council to establish whether it would be in a position 
to directly acquire the relevant land, in its leading role in delivering ELOR and as a 
strategic enabler for housing growth.  

3.3.9 Executive Board agreed that the Council should enter into negotiations to agree 
terms for the purchase of the land interest on the basis of its strategic position in 
enabling the delivery of ELOR and requested a report back on the terms to be 
provisionally agreed.

3.3.10 Executive Board has previously noted that for any land not available for the 
construction of the NQ section of ELOR, the consortium has stated that it would 
indemnify the Council for the costs incurred in acquiring the land. 

3.3.11 The Council has now provisionally agreed terms with the landowner and the 
provisional basis of an indemnity agreement with the consortium.  Details of these 
terms are provided in Exempt Appendix 2 and Executive Board approval is 
requested to enable completion of the deal, an injection into the Capital 
Programme and an Authority to Spend the monies for its purchase.

Site Access Works

Page 621



3.3.12 The proposed junction location for ELOR and the A58 Wetherby Road in the 
NQC’s outline application was not considered acceptable by the Council in 
highways terms, being contained entirely within the NQ site to the east of the A58.  
Subject to approval of the outline planning application, the consortium must meet 
a condition to submit a further planning application for a revised junction in a 
centralised position that will require the dedication by the Council of a small area 
of land currently in its ownership from the Red Hall side of the A58.

3.3.13 This would be entirely in keeping with the principles agreed by Executive Board in 
September 2013 for the future development of the Red Hall site, in so far as the 
revised junction would provide for the route of ELOR around the northern edge of 
the allocated land as per the emerging designs through the Council’s project and 
maximise the development land available on Red Hall itself.  This is a key 
principle in the routing of ELOR along the full length of the ELE, where the viability 
and cost of development will be central to the ability of the Council to obtain a full 
package of s106 planning obligations, CIL and ELOR roof tax.  As such the 
optimal location of the strategic road infrastructure should avoid leaving allocated 
housing land on the ‘outside’ edge, where it would not be developable.

3.3.14 Executive Board is asked to note that the dedication of this land on the Red Hall 
site will be subject to statutory procedures but can be undertaken through existing 
delegations to the Director of City Development and will be managed through the 
s278/s38 Highways Act Agreement that will govern the design and delivery of the 
junction works.

3.4 Red Hall

3.4.1 The Red Hall site covers around 29 hectares and is located between the Outer 
North Ring Road and A58 Wetherby Road. The majority of the land is in Council 
ownership comprising operational Parks & Countryside facilities (17ha) and 
playing fields and open space (11ha), though the original Red Hall House and 
stables (1ha) are owned and occupied by the Rugby Football League as its 
headquarters.  A plan showing the site is attached at Appendix 3. 

3.4.2 A separate item on the agenda of this meeting sets out details and required 
approvals of the Council’s project to relocate the horticultural nursery to a site at 
Whinmoor Grange.

3.4.3 Although the existing sports pitches have fallen into disuse due to very poor 
drainage, which is financially unviable for the Council to address and manage 
sustainably, this part of the site does remain publically available as informal 
playing fields.  These are a well-regarded resource by some local residents but 
are not in heavy use.  

3.4.4 The Red Hall site as a whole is one of the Council’s most significant and valuable 
strategic land holdings due to its size and location on the northern fringe of the 
built up area of Leeds and its allocation in the Local Development Framework for 
development.  There is the potential for a significant capital receipt from its sale, in 
support of the Council’s financial plan.   

Page 622



3.4.5 The principle of redevelopment of the site is a long-standing one.  The 2006 
Unitary Development Plan Review allocated the land for both housing and a key 
business park, within the ELE.  The principle of wholly residential use across the 
whole of the Red Hall site was put forward in the Site Allocations (Issues & 
Options) consultation undertaken in June/July 2013 and is now proposed as the 
allocated land use here through the Site Allocations Plan Publication Draft, with 
consultation on that plan to be undertaken in September/October.  

3.4.6 The five sports pitches notionally provided on Red Hall have been considered in 
the green space analysis undertaken as part of the Site Allocations Plan and are 
assumed as being retained or re-provided so there is no overall impact on the 
quantum of provision through redevelopment of the site.   The green space 
analysis is undertaken at a ward level, as a proxy in the absence of a better 
alternative, but when assessing specific schemes it is also appropriate to consider 
geographical proximity.  Red Hall is in Crossgates & Whinmoor ward but is 
located at the boundary with two others and is close to Roundhay Park in the 
Roundhay Ward.  

Planning Brief 

3.4.7 Further to the outline development principles agreed by Executive Board in 
September 2013, work has progressed on a draft Planning Brief for the Red Hall 
site.  This is attached as Appendix 4.

3.4.8 The purpose of this document will be to: 

 set out a vision for a high quality residential development and to guide 
developers on the constraints, opportunities and requirement

 provide a basis for consultation and to offer certainty for local residents 
and stakeholders on the future of the site, 

 assist in the marketing and disposal of the site; and

 be used as a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications 

3.4.9 Vision, Guidance and Site Requirements - The Draft Planning Brief will set out a 
vision that:

3.4.10 The Red Hall area will be developed as a new high quality residential 
neighbourhood forming the north-western quarter of the East Leeds Extension.  
The new development will provide high quality new housing, well related to 
surrounding neighbourhoods, supported by enhanced and usable public 
greenspace and sustainable transport links.  The site will facilitate the connection 
of the East Leeds Orbital Road between the existing Ring Road and the A58.The 
document will be structured to provide historical background and site analysis, an 
overview of the planning policy context, development guidelines and indicative 
approaches to site layout.  It is not intended to be prescriptive but will indicate the 

Page 623



principal constraints and opportunities that development proposals would be 
expected to consider.  These include:

 the route of the ELOR to be provided for around the edge of the site and 
how development will be required to relate to this;

 the requirement that development contributes to the costs of delivering 
the Red Hall section of ELOR through a roof tax, in common with all sites 
in the East Leeds Extension and their respective sections of ELOR;

 the retention and funding of green space on site in the form of at least 
two playing pitches, with options on how and where these could be 
located on site;

 the existing Listed Buildings – protection of their setting and views as well 
as maintaining the operational function of the majority of these as they 
form the headquarters of the Rugby Football League;

 the need for a comprehensive drainage solution;

 retaining Public Right of Way links to the countryside and new links to 
Roundhay Park;

 vehicular access points to the site.

3.4.11 Consultation & Certainty - There is local interest in the site and a need to ensure a 
range of residents and local stakeholders are properly engaged in discussions to 
agree the final form of the development brief.  It should be emphasised that the 
Draft Planning Brief will not revisit the principle of development, which is a matter 
to be clarified through the Site Allocation Plan Publication Draft.  It will focus on 
matters relating to the scope, scale, design and delivery of development.

3.4.12 It is important to recognise that whilst the potential scale of the development 
(estimated as up to 400 dwellings) is equivalent to a new neighbourhood in its 
own right, it must integrate with existing residential areas adjoining and ensure 
that open spaces and routes to the countryside remain accessible for all local 
people.

3.4.13 The form and location of retained open space on site will be of particular interest 
locally and requires transparent discussion on how this aspect will be taken 
forward.

3.4.14 It is proposed that a public consultation exercise on the Draft Brief proceeds from 
November, following the completion of the Site Allocations Plan Publication Draft 
consultation meetings, with the detailed timetable to be agreed by the Chief 
Planning Officer in consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration, 
Transport and Planning.

3.4.15 Informal Planning Guidance - Following consultation it is intended that the 
document is adopted as informal planning guidance, as a material consideration 
in determining future planning applications.  This will not replace or duplicate 

Page 624



existing policy provision in the Local Development Framework or detailed design 
and place-making guidance (including the Core Strategy, Site Allocations Plan 
and Neighbourhoods for Living SPD), but offer a clear expression of the local and 
site specific responses that will be considered appropriate here.

3.4.16 Executive Board is asked to approve that the Chief Planning Officer publishes the 
drat Red Hall Planning Brief on the basis set out above and brings forward a 
programme of public consultation on this from November, in liaison with the 
Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning and with Crossgates 
and Whinmoor Ward Members, ensuring where appropriate alignment with the 
requirements for consultation on other aspects of the ELE as set out in this report.

3.4.17 A final version of the Planning Brief will be reported to Executive Board for 
approval in the Spring of 2016.

Marketing and Disposal Strategy 

3.4.18 The timing for the disposal and development of the Red Hall site needs to be 
carefully considered in relation to the key influencing factors of the construction of 
ELOR and an ability to confirm a ‘start on site’ date. There is an anticipation that 
the receipt for the disposal could be programmed in 2017/2018, however this will 
need to be kept under review so that the disposal fits in with the Planning and 
ELOR programmes. 

3.4.19 It is currently anticipated that Red Hall nursery site will be vacant in 2016, which 
should tie in with the approval of the planning brief for the site. Whilst marketing of 
the site could take place at that point, potential purchasers / developers are 
unlikely to purchase at its full value until there is planning certainty relating to the 
local highway capacity that is available for new dwellings to be built, released and 
occupied on the site. 

3.4.20 The timescale for development of the site will therefore need to be closely aligned 
with the delivery programme for ELOR.  Whilst it is not anticipated that access to 
the site will be required from ELOR itself, it is possible that without it the local 
highway network would not have the capacity to take the impact of traffic growth 
arising from the development, in addition to that arising from other adjoining 
housing schemes such as the Northern Quadrant. 

3.4.21 Although the Red Hall site could be sold relatively soon after the point that vacant 
possession is secured it would be without the benefit of an approved planning 
permission, which is unlikely to secure best value and therefore comply with 
obligations under the Local Government Act.   It is anticipated that the site will be 
marketed for a period of 6 to 9 months through the invitation of offers and 
development proposals with the possibility of refining the most preferable 
schemes for a period of 3 months.  Following this, conditional contracts would be 
prepared for the disposal of the site subject to the preferred purchaser securing 
planning permission. Planning may take 12 months to obtain. This is a complex 
and highly desirable site that has the ability to create its own sense of place so it 
has to be carefully considered.  The timetable indicated above is very high level 
but it demonstrates that it may take in the region of 2 years from marketing to 

Page 625



disposal and that disposal may need to coincide with the delivery of the road to 
provide the necessary comfort to the developer on site. 

3.4.22 Executive Board is asked to approve the outline marketing and disposal strategy 
for the Red Hall site as set out above but to note that this will be kept under 
review to ensure the timetable for an expected capital receipt reflects the planning 
and highways position as it evolves, to ensure the Council’s financial planning 
relating to this site remains realistic. 

3.5 Southern & Middle Quadrants

3.5.1 In March 2014, the Council began a process of engaging with landowners and 
developers with an interest in the land to the south of the A64 and north of the 
York/Selby railway line.  Since then officers have sought to provide updates to all 
the landowners on the status and progress of the wider programme, though there 
is now a need to progress with an increasing focus on development principles and 
delivery arrangements.

3.5.2 The Council is in the process of preparing a Development Framework which will 
guide the future delivery of the Middle and South Quadrants of the East Leeds 
Extension and would be capable of being adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD).  This document will not duplicate existing guidance such as the 
Neighbourhoods for Living (SPD), but will focus primarily on how the Council 
expects planning and phased delivery of new housing in the area to take place in 
a co-ordinated way across ownerships.  Particular areas of focus will be around 
the roof tax arrangements, and a requirement for proposals to come forward on a 
consortium basis (either formally or informally), ensuring the co-ordinated 
provision of all required community facilities and infrastructure.  

3.5.3 Key delivery principles will include the need for an agreed approach to land value 
equalisation across the area, ensuring that the burden of land costs for shared 
uses such as schools, open spaces, drainage etc are not unfairly placed on 
individual land owners, without receiving the due market value of residential land.  
It will also be necessary to ensure through this Framework that the housing 
developments in the allocated area are subject to the requirement for 
contributions to the ELOR through the roof tax, with the principle that development 
in each quadrant pays for the respective section of ELOR (with its junctions) and 
that public funding will be brought in to provide for costs that cannot be met due to 
viability or to provide the cash flow for the initial capital cost.

3.5.4 Whilst it is acknowledged that the SPD will be a technical document and will 
primarily of interest to landowners and developers given its focus on delivery, 
wider public consultation on the areas that the document will focus on and 
emerging principles will be undertaken in line with the Statement of Community 
Involvement.  In addition the Council will continue to work with landowner and 
developer interests to ensure that the SPD is realistic and supported.

3.5.5 Preparation of the SPD is underway and it is recommended that the Chief 
Planning Officer progresses this document through public and stakeholder 
consultation over the Autumn in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Regeneration, Transport and Planning and with Ward Members.

Page 626



4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The East Leeds Extension is a large area and the activities involved in bringing it 
forward as a strategic growth point for the city cannot easily be broken down into 
separate matters on which to engage stakeholders or consult.

4.1.2 It is proposed that a programme of co-ordinated consultation, information 
provision and publicity takes place from November, bringing together the various 
elements of the programme to ensure residents, businesses and other 
stakeholders have a clear view on all the proposals for the area, how they are 
linked and where they are able to comment and influence the future of the area.

4.1.3 Although there will be defined timescales for some aspects of the consultation 
referred to in this report, engagement is not intended to take place simply in fixed 
short term windows.  A comprehensive communication and engagement strategy 
has been prepared and the Council will shortly be in a position to launch a number 
of channels through which interested parties will be able to engage with the 
programme.

4.1.4 Executive Board has previously approved development principles for the Red Hall 
site, which have informed further work on the Draft Planning Brief.  The Executive 
Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning and the Executive Member for 
Communities have been consulted on the draft brief and both support the 
proposals.

4.1.5 Officers have been in regular dialogue with Crossgates and Whinmoor Ward 
Members about the progression of the Northern Quadrant proposals, the ELOR 
and the future of the Red Hall site.  There is a wish to see delivery of ELOR as 
quickly as possible to mitigate the local impact of traffic growth from new homes.  
There is also a wish to see retention of as much green space as possible on the 
Red Hall site and support for the provision of two playing pitches as part of any 
redevelopment.  

4.1.6 The ELE and ELOR have been the subject of regular and ongoing discussion at 
the East Leeds Regeneration Board, where ward members from across East 
Leeds have expressed their support for the delivery of ELOR as quickly as 
possible as part of a co-ordinated approach to realising the housing and economic 
growth potential of this area.

4.1.7 Officers have also been in regular communication with local residents who are 
part of the Friends of Red Hall Playing Fields group.  Executive Board should note 
that there is opposition to the loss of the playing fields, which is reflected in the 
deputation to Full Council at its meeting in July 2015, to seek their retention and 
upgrading. There has not been any substantive consultation on the draft brief and 
subject to Executive Board’s views on this report, a programme of public 
consultation on the will be taken forward from November.

Page 627



4.1.8 Landowners in the Southern and Middle Quadrants have been kept updated on 
the progression of the East Leeds Extension programme, over the last two years.

4.1.9 The Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning and Ward 
Members in the Harewood Ward and Crossgates and Whinmoor Ward have been 
consulted on the land assembly within the Northern Quadrant.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 EDCI screenings have previously taken place for ELOR and Red Hall.     An 
updated EDCI screening for the whole of the ELE programme as set out in this 
report is provided at Appendix 5 and this indicates that the equality, 
diversity/cohesion and integration issues identified remain very high level and that 
there is no need for a full assessment at this stage.  It will however be necessary 
to ensure full regard and consideration is given to EDCI issues in relation to any 
consultation work that is undertaken in relation to the matters raised in this report. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The East Leeds Extension will play a major role in delivering the housing required 
to meet the Core Strategy requirements for 70,000 new homes by 2028 and will 
assist in the delivery of the Best Council Plan, particularly the objective of 
promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth.  There are also strong 
linkages to other objectives in the BCP, where work to plan for and develop 
significant new neighbourhoods for the city, effectively integrated physically and 
socially with the existing urban area, will require inputs from all services of the 
Council to ensure opportunities to deliver the best city are met.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The ability to deliver the full infrastructure requirements to support the East Leeds 
Extension will require financial contributions from both private and public sectors.  
Private contributions will be secured through the direct delivery of any relevant 
planning approvals, s106 agreements secured in relation to these (including the 
ELOR roof tax) and the Community Infrastructure Levy.  However opportunities 
for securing other means of private investment that offer value for money to the 
Council and which assist in bringing forward the overall growth proposition in an 
efficient and timely way will be explored on an ongoing basis and Executive Board 
will be advised accordingly.

4.4.2 Public funding for ELOR will continue to be pursued through the West Yorkshire 
Plus Transport Fund.  As cost estimates continue to be refined on the scheme a 
further report will be brought to Executive Board to set out the further borrowing 
requirements to meet the initial capital cost of the works and the revenue 
implications to the Council in carrying this debt until it is repaid through the roof 
tax.

4.4.3 The planning documents and related consultation exercises for Red Hall and the 
Southern & Middle Quadrants will be undertaken through existing officer 
resources. 

Page 628



4.4.4 The ELOR consultation exercise will be resourced through WYTF monies 
available for project and business case development, with external services 
commissioned where necessary to support this work and to ensure information 
management is properly managed and robust to support planning and statutory 
processes.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The Council may complete the acquisition of land in the Northern Quadrant by 
virtue of Section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972 which covers acquiring 
land for “the benefit, improvement or development” of the Council’s area, or for 
the purposes of any of the Council’s functions under any enactment.. Section 120 
also allows the Council to acquire land for any purposes notwithstanding that the 
land is not immediately required for that purpose. 

4.5.2 The information contained in the Exempt Appendix 2 attached to this report relate 
to the financial or business affairs of a particular person, and of the Council. This 
information is not publicly available from the statutory registers of information kept 
in respect of certain companies and charities.  It is considered that since this 
information was obtained through initial one to one discussions for the acquisition 
of the property/land then it is not in the public interest to disclose this information 
at this point in time.  

4.5.3 Also it is considered that the release of such information would or would be likely 
to prejudice the Council’s commercial interests in relation to other similar 
transactions in that prospective purchasers of other similar properties would have 
access to information about the nature and level of consideration which may 
prove acceptable to the Council. It is considered that whilst there may be a public 
interest in disclosure, much of this information will be publicly available from the 
Land Registry following completion of this transaction and consequently the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
this information at this point in time.  It is therefore considered that this element of 
the report should be treated as exempt under Rule 10.4(3) of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules.

4.5.4 Legal matters relating to land assembly in the Northern Quadrant are set out in 
the Exempt Appendix 2. 

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The principle risks to the East Leeds Extension programme were set out in the 
January 2014 report to Executive Board, which focused specifically on ELOR.  
These have not changed and work across the programme is continuing to seek 
mitigation of these.  

4.6.2 Board should note that there is an overarching risk to the delivery of the growth 
ambition here, which is that the ability to deliver the envisaged new homes and 
places and to pay the costs of ELOR delivery will be sensitive to changes in the 
wider economy and housing market and the viability of development.  The 
programme itself cannot control this but close working with landowners, investors 
and house builders will ensure the Council puts in place appropriate legal and 

Page 629



commercial arrangements to mitigate the impacts of such change on the Council 
and the city.

4.6.3 In view of the complexity and scale of the programme, the Council is in the 
process of procuring an external legal advisor, to provide support on all aspects of 
the programme.

5 Conclusions

5.1 The programme for the ELE is ambitious and complex.  It involves a range of 
landowners and developers, major infrastructure proposals, the use of Council 
land and resources, public and private funding and a series of linked project 
activities which require the Council to fulfil a strong co-ordination and enabling 
role.

5.2 Momentum is now building in the Council’s activities and there is a need for 
Executive Board to consider various decisions to enable the next stages of work.  
Consultation will need to proceed across all elements of the programme from the 
Autumn to support this and to begin to give the programme greater visibility for 
residents and stakeholders, starting the process towards certainty for all parties in 
this area of major change over the coming year.

6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is asked to:

i. Note the report and the positive progress made by the Council in its enabling 
activities to bring forward the major strategic growth area of the East Leeds 
Extension and the major infrastructure project for the East Leeds Orbital 
Road;

ii. Approve in principle that the Council continues to develop a funding case for 
the costs of the East Leeds Orbital Road through the West Yorkshire Plus 
Transport Fund, prudential borrowing and developer contributions and 
continues to explore alternative means of financing;

iii. Reaffirm its commitment to the ELOR Roof Tax as the principle mechanism 
through which developer contributions will be secured from the East Leeds 
Extension towards the delivery costs of the East Leeds Orbital Road, as set 
out in paras 3.1.6 – 3.1.8;

iv. Note the programme for the planning, procurement and construction of the 
East Leeds Orbital Road as set out in para 3.1.10 – 3.1.13 and approve that 
the Chief Officer for Highways and Transportation submits a detailed 
planning application for the project, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning; 

v. Note the progress made in assembling land to facilitate the route of ELOR at 
the Northern Quadrant and consider the recommendations in Exempt 
Appendix 2.

Page 630



vi. Note that the Council will make land available on the Red Hall site for the 
initial A58 junction infrastructure that will enable access to the Northern 
Quadrant site, as set out in paras 3.3.12 – 3.3.14, subject to the discharge of 
relevant statutory processes by the Head of Land and Property and the 
delegated approval of the Director of City Development;

vii. Approve that the Chief Planning Officer prepares and publishes a Draft 
Planning Brief for Red Hall, with the detailed timetable to be agreed with the 
Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning

viii. Approve the approach to marketing and disposal of the Red Hall site set out 
in paras 3.4.18 – 3.4.22, with the details to be confirmed by the Director of 
City Development in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Regeneration, Transport and Planning; 

ix. Approve that the Chief Planning Officer prepares and publishes a Draft 
Development Framework for the Southern and Middle Quadrants, with the 
detailed timetable to be agreed with the Executive Member for Regeneration, 
Transport and Planning

x. Approve a co-ordinated programme of public and stakeholder engagement 
for the East Leeds Extension from November 2015, to include public 
consultation on the East Leeds Orbital Road, Red Hall and the Southern & 
Middle Quadrants, with the details to be confirmed by the Head of 
Regeneration in in consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration, 
Transport and Planning and Ward Members.

7. Background documents1 

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 631



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST LEEDS EXTENSION
®DATE

PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

M. CHRISTIAN
13/01/2014

SE3637

11041/AZ
Scale 1:20,000

(c) Crown Copyright and database right [2014]
Ordnance Survey LA100019567

Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\11000 - 11099\11041AZ  East Leeds Relief Road Sections Revised.mxd

Legend

SECTION 3 Southern Quadrant

Red Hall & East Leeds Extension
UDP Allocations
SECTION 1 Red Hall
SECTION 2 Northern Quadrant
Grimes Dyke

Former Optare Site
Former Vickers Site Phase 1
Former Vickers Site Future Phases
SECTION 4  Southern Quadrant

Indicative route of East Leeds Relief Road
Indicative route of Manston Lane Link Road

Green Park
SECTION 5 Thorpe Park

Whinmoor Grange

Page 633



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 635

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 643

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



Trees

Co C
on

st 
& W

ard
 Bdy

Co Const Bdy

28

23

RH

Pond

Und

C 
Tk

1

18
5a

Winn

33

20
7

21
3

278

(PH)

42

58

2

15

Wes tbourne

5

RED HAL L LA NE

1

Wind Turbine

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

26

11

RING ROAD (SHADWELL)

2 21

GRA NGE VIEW GARDENS

16

Depot

El Sub Sta

RED HAL L GARD ENS

3

22

Boro Const Bdy

WET
HE

RB
Y R

OA
D

85

266

16

El Sub Sta

RE
D 

HA
LL

 W
AY

Def

Highway s

Hill smea d

1

2

11

RED HALL GARTH

9

17

Track

RING ROAD (SHADW
ELL)

15

Cottages

FW

4

1.22m RH

91

12

Co Const & Ward Bdy
1.22m RH

30

2

1.22m RH

66

1

1

55

Co Const & Ward Bdy

18

15

RING ROAD (SHADWELL)

132.0m

TB

132.3m

Red Hall Nurseries

BRANDON CLOSE

15

24

Pa
th 

(um
)

Boro Const Bdy

Und

16

1.22m RH

18
5

1

4

28

ROSEBANK CLOSE

21
5

Pump

Hobbe rley  Cotta ge

WINN MOOR LAN E

15

15

WHI
NM

OO
R C

OU
RT

WET
HE

RB
Y R

OA
D

75

GP

8

1

Wes tway

RE
D 

HA
LL

 G
RE

EN

2

43ELMETE LANE

Leeds Golf Course

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

Drain

22

14

Lodge

3

Hill top

10 5

13
5.5

m

23

30

46

BS
21

Sunnyme ad

11

15

1.22m RH

Boro Const Bdy

20

11

Redhall

Co Const & Ward Bdy

12

10

3a

Cottage

19
3

1

256

272

135.9m

2

1

WHI
NM

OO
R G

AR
DE

NS

35

3

26

36

65

132.0m

20

Pond

Brev ity

Peniel

14

53

14

Cobble Hall Farm

Boro
 Con

st 
Bdy

CR

1

House

10

8

RED HAL L AVENUE

Def

19
1

87

RED HAL L LA NE

Red Hall Playing Fields

36

19
5

79

Dr
ain

WE
TH

ER
BY

 R
OA

D

29

77

27

The Wellington

57

Boro Const Bdy

11 15

11

Co Const & Ward Bdy

127.1m

CR

133.5m

Wood
Red Hall

22

19

18

Tr
ac

k
Def

Barnaby

9

WINN MOOR LAN E

Well ga rth

14

135.6m

HO
BB

ER
LE

Y 
LA

NE

MS

14

11

27

29

Dermont

Max wellton

11

3

1

12

LAND AT
RED HALL

RED HALL LANE
SHADWELL
LEEDSLS14© Crown Copyright and database right 2011 Ordnance Survey LA100019567 

Map Document: (G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\16700 - 16799\16514J Red Hall_AREAS.mxd)
17/01/2014

DATE
PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

M. CHRISTIAN
17/01/2014

SE3438

16514/M
Scale 1:3,000

P
age 645



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Text Only Draft 05/10/15

A VISION FOR RED HALL

PLANNING BRIEF 

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Vision for Red Hall:

The Red Hall area will be developed as a new high quality residential neighbourhood 
forming the north-western quarter of the East Leeds Extension.  The new development 
will provide high quality new housing, well related to surrounding neighbourhoods, 
supported by enhanced and usable public greenspace and sustainable transport links.  
The site will facilitate the connection of the East Leeds Orbital Road between the 
existing Ring Road and the A58.

Purpose of this Document

1.1 This document sets out the overarching planning and development principles for the Red 
Hall site, as part of a consistent approach to guiding development proposals across the East 
Leeds Extension.  It will help developers to prepare proposals for the site, but will also 
provide others interested in the Red Hall area, including local residents and adjoining land 
owners, an understanding of the scope for development and the underlying planning 
principles.  It is intended that this document is taken forward from draft with input from a 
range of statutory consultees (including Sport England and English Heritage) residents and 
other interested local parties, including the Rugby Football League based at Red Hall itself.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Red Hall as it is today, has been a house and estate since the 1650s but with many changes 
and additions in the 1800s including the new turnpike road built between Roundhay and 
Wetherby.  Since the 1960s a large part of the site has been developed as a nursery and 
operational depot for Leeds City Council Parks and Countryside Department.

[Historic Site Plan to illustrate]

2.2 The 28 hectare site lies to the north of Leeds and is bounded by agricultural fields and 
woodland to the north and west, the A6120 Leeds Ring Road and housing to the south, and 
the A58 Wetherby Road to the east.   

2.3 The site today is composed of three distinct parts:

[Current Site Plan to illustrate]

Operational Nursery and Depot - Approximately 18 ha has been used by the Parks and 
Countryside service as a horticultural nursery, composting, and office accommodation since 
the 1960’s.  The site is to be vacated in late-2016 primarily to a new purpose-built facility at 
nearby Whinmoor Grange.

Playing fields - Approximately 11 hectares of Red Hall is laid out as playing field land 
containing approximately 4 hectares of playing pitches and a 6 team changing block, now 
unused. These were previously laid out as 5 playing fields (4 football and 1 rugby league) but 
have not been used since 2006, as a result of ongoing drainage issues that were proving too 

1
Page 647



costly to address in a sustainable way. The playing fields remain in a water-logged state for a 
large part of the year but remain capable of use for informal amenity purposes in dry periods.

The Red Hall listed buildings - These are within the middle of the site, owned and occupied 
by the Rugby Football League as its headquarters.  There are no development proposals for 
this part of the site but its setting and functions require protection and enhancement.

3 BACKGROUND TO PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

[Historic map, map showing 4 sections of the ELE, to illustrate]

3.1 Development at Red Hall was first mooted in the early 1990s when work on the Local Plan 
for Leeds was started. With the Parks and Countryside Service relocating its operational 
facilities to Whinmoor Grange and the strategic infrastructure proposals for the East Leeds 
Orbital Road now coming forward there is a need to consider a new future for the site, 
including how the playing fields can be incorporated and improved. 

Planning Policy Context

3.2 Various forms of development at Red Hall have been proposed in planning policy documents 
since 1990, supported by proposals for an orbital road (previously referred to as the 
Seacroft/Cross Gates bypass or the North East Leeds Relief Road).  The Red Hall site was 
provisionally allocated in the UDP (2001) and formally allocated for development in the 
Leeds Unitary Development Plan Review (UDPR) 2006 and. 

3.3 The UDPR policies which allocate land at Red Hall are E4:11 Key Business Park, H3-3A.33 
Housing (part of the East Leeds Extension) and H3-2A.03 Housing.  The Site Allocations 
Plan (SAP) will supersede the UDPR and is at Publication Draft stage (public consultation) in 
late 2015.  The SAP Publication Draft proposes to allocate the whole of Red Hall for housing, 
along with the associated policy requirements for greenspace and the matters outlined in this 
Brief.

3.4 Since 2006 there has been no evidence of demand for new office development at Red Hall 
due to the availability of much better located business parks with motorway accessibility and 
planning consents elsewhere in the city.  It is also now directly contrary to national and local 
policy to locate offices away from city and town centres and so the allocation is no longer 
supported on sustainability grounds.  As such, it is now proposed that this element of the site 
can too come forward for residential development as part of a comprehensive redevelopment 
scheme.

Local Development Framework and Site Allocations Plan (Publication Draft)

3.5 The Core Strategy was adopted in November 2014 setting a target of 66,000 net new homes 
to be delivered across the city by 2028.  Within the Leeds Local Development Framework, 
the Site Allocations Plan will allocate sites that will help to deliver the Leeds Core Strategy 
long term spatial vision, objectives and policies and in particular ensure that sufficient land is 
available in appropriate locations to meet the housing growth targets.

3.6 At Red Hall the Site Allocations Plan at both Issues and Options stage (June 2013) and 
Publication Draft stage (September 2015) proposed that the land currently covered by the 
UDP business park allocation is a site which is better allocated for housing when considered 
with others in the City and the need to deliver the City’s housing growth targets by 2028.  The 
remainder of the Red Hall site, excluding the RFL land and listed buildings, is confirmed as 
an existing housing allocation carried forward from the 2006 UDP Review.

2
Page 648



3.7 Housing development on a site of this size must provide on-site public open greenspace and 
linkages to the wider countryside beyond.  The pitches at Red Hall have protection under the 
UDP Policy E4:11 (extant until superseded by the adoption of the Site Allocations Plan) 
whereby there is a requirement for their replacement if the site is developed.  However, this 
part of the site is not allocated greenspace, and the intention for the pitch relocation dates 
back to the early 1990s.  Redevelopment of the site as proposed by the Site Allocations Plan 
Publication Draft is therefore subject to the retention of a single area equivalent in size to at 
least two playing pitches, so that re-provision for formal sports on-site and elsewhere can be 
made as part of any redevelopment and in response to identified need in the wider area.

3.8 Immediately to the north of Red Hall is an area known as the ‘5 acre field’ which is currently 
Green Belt and which the Site Allocations Plan also proposes within the Red Hall housing 
allocation.  It would not be developed for housing itself (as the East Leeds Orbital Road will 
form the outer edge of the built up area) but provides the opportunity to provide partly for the 
route of ELOR around the edge of the site, and potentially some of the green space 
requirement associated with the housing development.  

3.9 As well as the detailed public consultation through the Northern Quadrant planning 
application, there have already been a range of meetings about Red Hall with local residents,  
Ward Members, and all relevant Leeds City Council departments.  The Site Allocations Plan 
also underwent public consultation in June 2013 (Issues and Options) with a further 
consultation period on the Publication Draft in Autumn 2015.  

The East Leeds Extension

3.10 Red Hall forms the northern most part of a much larger allocation of land for residential 
development known as the East Leeds Extension (ELE) which stretches around the eastern 
edge of the Leeds main urban area adjacent to the Green Belt. The whole ELE covers 215 
hectares (with capacity for around 5,000 houses) and is best understood as four sections 
split by the existing main routes through the area:

Section 1 – A6120 to A58: Red Hall
Section 2 – A58 to A64: Northern Quadrant
Section 3 – A64 to Leeds Road: Middle Quadrant
Section 4 – Leeds Road to the Leeds-York rail line: Southern Quadrant 

In addition is the area from the Leeds-York rail line to M1: Thorpe Park.  This is not a formal 
part of the ELE but is integral in terms of wider masterplanning, Vision, and ELOR planning.

3.11 Development of the wider ELE is to include housing, greenspace and ancillary uses such as 
neighbourhood shopping, education, and community facilities.  Its urban edge location will 
allow residents to benefit from integrated services and facilities available within the City 
Centre and adjacent neighbourhoods, while also creating a formal ‘edge’ to the urban area 
with a strategic green gap between it and the separate villages beyond.

3.12 On the adjoining part of the ELE, residential development proposals have also already come 
forward. A consortium of landowners submitted a planning application in 2012 for an area 
known as the Northern Quadrant between the A58 and A64.  This included proposals for 
2,000 houses, land for a primary school, a local centre with provision for community/health 
buildings, together with details of the ELOR route through the site.  The application states 
that the Northern Quadrant “will create a residential led, mixed use sustainable urban 
extension to Leeds of the highest design quality. It will deliver the first phase of the wider 
East Leeds Extension allocated in the adopted Unitary Development Plan Review 2006 to 
meet current and predicted future housing need and provide the first phase of the East Leeds 
Orbital Road to improve the quality of life for surrounding communities.”  

3
Page 649



3.13 The Northern Quadrant scheme will be required to construct a new roundabout junction with 
the A58 to enable initial access to and development of the consortium’s land.  This junction  
will also form the junction with ELOR, providing for its westward connection around Red Hall 
to the A6120. In accommodating the appropriate design for this junction it is likely that part of 
the Red Hall site will need to be dedicated to the works as an early phase of construction.  

3.14 In the remaining sections of the ELE, known as the Southern and Middle Quadrants between 
York Road and Manston Lane, the Council is working with landowners and development 
interests to bring forward area-wide planning guidance that will assist proposals coming 
forward in a co-ordinated and phased way in relation to infrastructure requirements and local 
needs.  It is envisaged that the Northern, Southern and Middle Quadrants will have principal 
vehicular accesses from the junctions of ELOR with the existing arterial routes and so there 
will be a close relationship between the progression of housing proposals and the 
construction of the ELOR to ensure minimal impact on surrounding neighbourhoods and 
transport networks.

East Leeds Orbital Road

3.15 The progression of housing development in the ELE will be very closely linked to the 
provision of a new East Leeds Orbital Road (ELOR) which will define the outer edge of the 
built up area across the whole ELE.  This will be a major new dual carriageway road 
connecting the A6120 where it abuts Red Hall, around the edge of the allocation via the 
arterial routes of Wetherby Road (A58), York Road (A64) and Barwick Road, connecting to 
the M1 at Junction 46 through Thorpe Park via the new Manston Lane Link Road.  The 
ELOR will have a dual purpose; to provide new strategic transport connectivity for east and 
north Leeds, and to open up the development of the ELE by providing new highway capacity 
to offset the impact of traffic growth on the existing network. It will include landscape buffers, 
drainage swales, and pedestrian/cycle routes as part of a larger ‘country park’ proposal 
around its outside edge.

3.16 Leeds City Council is taking a leading role in planning, procuring and delivering ELOR and 
intends to construct the road as a single project which will open up access to development 
land across the ELE.  The Council has secured funding from the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (via the West Yorkshire Transport Fund) to allow detailed feasibility, design and 
planning for the road, and has provisionally secured a significant grant contribution towards 
the delivery costs. However, this public grant will need to cover a range of additional works to 
change the character and function of the A6120 between Red Hall and Cross Gates and will 
be conditional upon third party contributions to the costs of the new road build.  

3.17 The Council has determined that the third party contributions to ELOR should to be funded 
by development across the East Leeds Extension via a ‘roof tax’ secured through s106 
agreements, based on payments to the Council upon completion of each dwelling.  The 
developments in each section of the allocation will be expected to assume the full cost of the 
road building in their respective sections and to prioritise this in the package of planning 
obligations and as part of development appraisals.

3.18 The latest ELOR route proposal and how its junctions could relate to the Red Hall site are 
contained within this brief.  Although the site will not be accessed directly from ELOR, 
housing development across the ELE will contribute singularly and cumulatively to overall 
traffic growth in the area and thereby to the need for this new highway capacity.  As such 
development at Red Hall will be subject to the ELOR roof tax to fund the section between the 
A6120 and A58.

 

4
Page 650



4 DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITY AND DESIGN PRINCIPLES

4.1 Red Hall is an important strategic site that offers the potential to accommodate up to 400 
new homes, which will help the City to meet its housing growth targets.  Development 
proposals must meet the policy requirements of the Core Strategy and Council’s 
Neighbourhoods for Living Supplementary Planning Document.  Notably, development 
proposals must take advantage of the site’s prominent and attractive location in north Leeds 
to deliver: 

- a development that protects and enhances the setting and use of the Red Hall Grade II 
listed building;

- easy access to both the strategic road network the adjacent open countryside and 
Roundhay Park;

- new and improved public open space and retention of key existing natural features, 
maintaining access to playing spaces and improving drainage, sustainability and 
usability;

- a design approach that will maximise ‘liveability’ of new development;
- links to a new network of public green space stretching through and around the outside 

of the East Leeds Extension;
- new pedestrian and cycle links both for leisure and commuting;
- the westernmost section of the East Leeds Orbital Route.

4.2 The following section provides site specific guidance.  Further general site development 
information, including information on rights of way, drainage, ground conditions and statutory 
undertakers is contained in the Technical Information which can be found in Appendix 1.

DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES

Listed Buildings 

4.3 The Red Hall listed buildings are important heritage assets for the local area and City that 
add value to their surroundings.  They are a well-known local landmark whose prominence 
needs to be respected and responded to sympathetically in the future development of the 
site.  It is vital that the sense of place, history and culture that Red Hall imparts to the area is 
retained and enhanced.

4.4 Red Hall was built in the 1640s with its principal outlook to the east.  Development in this 
area needs to have excellent and discreet design and landscape buffering.  Development to 
the rear of the listed building complex (the west) is much less sensitive to the character of 
the listed buildings due to it being already developed for the nursery.  However, development 
here should still improve the setting of the main complex.  

4.5 The Dovecote is a separate building in a state of disrepair and is an important part of the 
listed building complex.  It is essential that the building is recognised in any layout and 
brought into viable use. The dovecote must be improved as part of the wider development of 
the site.   

The Rugby Football League

4.6 The RFL is a high profile and valued employer in the city.  Its operational needs as an owner 
and occupier at the heart of the Red Hall site must be maintained in the approach to place-
making and during the process of any redevelopment.

5
Page 651



Green Space and the Natural Environment

4.7 The Core Strategy’s Greenspace Policies must be applied when preparing development 
proposals.  Key site specific greenspace principles are to: 

 recognise the importance of amenity space currently available and retain the benefits of 
this for local people so that if it is smaller in scale it is higher in quality;

 augment the spine road and views through the site with green corridors creating an 
impression of space on principal routes, allowing for higher densities elsewhere on site; 

 extend the ’country park’ concept around outside of the whole ELE.  Improving links to 
adjoining  neighbourhoods;

 create links to Roundhay Park, and maintain/improve existing public rights of way across 
the site;  

 deliver drainage solutions which take advantage of sustainable soakaways/swales and 
combined use of greenspaces to provide these;  

 retain veteran trees and mature landscape to be retained for the benefit of new 
development as far as possible.  

4.8 There is scope for the overall area of amenity space provided at Red Hall to be reduced so 
that the necessary funding can be generated from development for investment in a viable 
area of retained open space.  It is important that any retained open space is adequately 
drained, to secure its long term sustainable use.  Any formal playing pitches not to be 
retained on site will be relocated to Whinmoor Grange, adjacent to the proposed new 
Nursery facilities to create a hub for local sports clubs.  

4.9 The exact location of the retained green space area equivalent in size to at least two playing 
pitches can be flexible but it will need to be effectively drained and contribute to the 
protection of the Red Hall listed building complex.  

4.10 An indicative development framework is provided, with three possible approaches to how 
this green space might be provided on-site.

Design 

4.11 Leeds City Council has established Ten Urban Design Principles, which should be embodied 
into the design process.  In addition, the principles in the following sections must be taken 
into consideration.

- Adopt shared spaces and high quality surface materials where possible, creating safe 
and liveable environments which accommodate cars without prioritising them, and 
which provide appropriate settings for the buildings which define them.

- Block Structure / Density / Links - Green corridors and spaces create open settings 
which support higher densities, but also create an impression of openness for the 
development as a whole – they set a scene which then allows for greater densities 
within the blocks themselves.  Traditional villages are often very dense, yet remain 
highly desirable and aspirational places to live.  Housing Typologies and Character - To 
maximise value, extend and build on aspects of existing local character which are 
already popular and which complement the semi-rural estate setting of Red Hall.

6
Page 652



Access

4.12 Although ELOR will be the principal element of infrastructure associated with the site, access 
to development at Red Hall will not be taken from the ELOR or its roundabout junctions.  
There is therefore the need for a spine road connecting the A58 to the A6120 Ring Road, 
which will serve the new housing and which will be capable of accommodating bus services.  
This will start on the existing Red Hall Lane, off the A58 and end to the east of the new 
ELOR junction on the A6120.  Detailed design of this spine road will need to reflect the traffic 
volume on the A58, and the possible closure of the junction with Red Hall Lane (east).

4.13 A Travel Plan will be required in line with the Core Strategy Policy T2 and the Travel Plans 
Supplementary Planning Document adopted in February 2015.  Please refer to the Council’s 
website or contact the TravelWise team on travelwise@leeds.gov.uk or 0113 395 0276.

Affordable & Older People’s Housing

4.14 A minimum of 15% affordable housing will be required in line with the Council’s Core 
Strategy Policy H5.  Of this, the policy requirement equates to 40% social rented housing 
and 60% sub market / intermediate housing.  This should be ‘pepper potted’ throughout the 
site, and should be indistinguishable from the equivalent market housing.  The size of such 
housing will be dependent on local need and will be the subject of further discussion with the 
Council at the pre-application stage.

4.15 The Council currently has no specific requirement for older people’s housing on this site, but 
would welcome discussions with developers that may seek to provide such dwellings either 
of a specialist nature (such as extra care) or for more general market sale.

Education

4.16 The site is not considered a suitable location to provide for new school places.  Land for a 
primary school will be provided at the nearby Northern Quadrant, whilst secondary provision 
for the wider east and north east Leeds area will be accommodated at other sites.  Therefore 
no specific payment or requirement for school provision will be taken.  The Council’s CIL 
receipts will help to fund education across the District.  

Health

4.17 To support the wider East Leeds Extension, there will be a requirement for additional health 
facilities and it is expected that these will be located close to other community facilities within 
new or nearby existing local centres, in consultation with NHS England and the relevant 
Clinical Commissioning Groups.  As such, it is not a requirement for the Red Hall site to 
incorporate such facilities.

Drainage

4.18 The City Council commissioned a drainage study for the site which was undertaken by 
Mouchel in 2014.  This set out a range of options to meet drainage requirements, including 
the use of bore holes and SUD systems which could be incorporated into dual function green 
corridors and spaces. The indicative development framework provides for the possible 
locations of these spaces.

Sustainable Construction

4.19 In preparing development proposals, developers will be expected to apply the principles set 
out in the Core Strategy (Policies EN1 and EN2) and the Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPD.

7
Page 653



Community Infrastructure Levy

4.20 The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was implemented in April 2015.  The Red 
Hall site sits within Zone 2a of the CIL residential Charging Schedule and therefore new 
residential floorspace will be CIL liable at a rate of £23 per square meter (index linked each 
year).  Further information is on the CIL page of the Council’s website: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx  The CIL rates 
may be reviewed in late 2016/17 and therefore may increase or decrease for the Red Hall 
site, as the rate used is that current on the date that planning permission is granted.

5 PRE-APPLICATION

5.1 Before submitting a planning application for redevelopment of the site, applicants are 
encouraged to contact the City Development Department to agree the information required 
as part of the planning application submission, including a Design and Access Statement, 
and Statement of Community Involvement.  However, there will be a fee charged for this 
advice.  For further information, please refer to the website at: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Pre-application-enquiries.aspx or contact the 
Development Enquiry centre on 0113 222 4409.

Technical Site Information

5.2 A Preliminary Site Appraisal including a Geotechnical Desk Top Study is attached as 
Appendix 1.  

8
Page 654

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Pre-application-enquiries.aspx


P
age 655



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 657



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 659



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration.

A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.  

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.

Directorate: City Development Service area: Asset Management & 
Regeneration

Lead person: Adam Brannen Contact number: 0113 2476746

1. Title: East Leeds Extension Update & Next Steps

Is this a:

     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other
                                                                                                               

If other, please specify:  Programme

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

This equality impact screening is to support an Executive Board report setting out the 
next steps in bringing forward a major strategic programme of housing growth and 
infrastructure investment at the East Leeds Extension.

1

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening

x

Page 661



EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.  

The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels).

Questions Yes No
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics? 

x

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal?

x

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom?

x

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices?

x

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7

If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 

cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 

integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

2

Page 662



EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment. 

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

The East Leeds Extension is strategic growth point and the largest single area of 
allocated housing land in the Leeds City Region.  This area will play a major role in 
delivering the housing required to meet the Core Strategy requirements for 70,000 new 
homes by 2028 and assist in the delivery of the Best Council Plan, particularly the 
objective of promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth. 

The programme for the ELE is ambitious and complex.  It involves a range of landowners 
and developers, major infrastructure proposals, the use of Council land and resources, 
public and private funding and a series of linked project activities which require the 
Council to fulfil a strong co-ordination and enabling role.

The report sets out progress in the planning and delivery of key projects and sites – the 
East Leeds Orbital Road, proposals for Council-owned land at Red Hall, proposed 
development in the Northern Quadrant, Thorpe Park and guidance to establish consistent 
planning and delivery principles across the area. 

There are not yet any detailed proposals for the Council to make decisions on or through 
which detailed EDCI impacts can be considered – Executive Board will be asked to 
approve consultation on a number of matters, following which adoption of planning 
guidance for the sites will be considered and subject to specific EDCI assessments.  As 
projects develop in detail and decisions are required by the Council for their delivery, 
specific EDCI assessments will be undertaken to inform these decisions.

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another).

There is likely to be some public concern about the development of the East Leeds 
Extension as it is currently a greenfield site.  Although this has been allocated for 
development for some years, some local residents may not be aware of this and perceive 
the programme as a threat to their current local environment and amenity.  The scale of 
the growth area is such that it will inevitably have a major change impact on this part of 
the city.  As part of development it is likely that a range of new public infrastructure and 
facilities will be delivered – new public roads, footpaths and cycleways, enhanced public 
transport services and connections, new school places, new areas of publically 

3

Page 663



EDCI Screening Updated February 2011

accessible open space and green space, new local retail and community buildings, 
including the potential for new primary care facilities.   

This screening recognises the scope for public concern related to the programme and the 
potential for increase in the scale and quality of new public facilities, but does not find 
that there is an impact on any equality characteristics.

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

The report outlines the proposals for public engagement and consultation to take place in 
relation to the planning guidance proposed for the area to ensure residents, businesses 
and other stakeholders have an opportunity to be informed, comment and influence the 
programme.  This will also help the Council in understanding and responding to local 
concerns far as possible.  EDCI considerations will be factored into the consultation 
programme to ensure accessibility in choice and timing of venues and the format and 
content of publicity material.

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

Date to complete your impact assessment

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name Job title Date
Adam Brannen Programme Manager 9th January 2014

7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published.

Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing

Date screening completed 5th October 2015
Date sent to Equality Team

Date published
(To be completed by the Equality Team)

4

Page 664



1

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive, the Director of Children’s Services and the 
Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 21st October 2015

Subject: Learning Places Programme - Capital Programme Update

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): All wards

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues 

Executive Board in September 2014 considered and supported the adoption of a 
programme approach to the implementation of Learning Places projects which form part of 
the strategy for ensuring sufficient good quality learning places in Leeds. The Learning 
Places Programme represents the Council’s response to the demographic growth 
pressures on the school provision in the city. The rapidly increasing birth rate in Leeds has 
required the Council to approve over 1400 new reception places since 2009 in order to 
fulfil its statutory duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. The programme will continue 
as there are ongoing pressures on school places. This report provides an update on the 
scale of the future programme and seeks authority to spend for the next tranche of 
schemes and includes an update on applications to the programme capital risk fund. 

Across the 22 planning areas there is a need for up to 25FE of additional primary capacity 
in 2016, with 20FE being permanent expansions and 5FE being one-off ‘bulge’ cohorts.  
Demographics suggest that the birth rate levels out after 2016, with 20FE (of the 25FE) 
continuing to be required in 2017 and 2018.  Conversations with schools, and initial 
viability work is currently underway to identify agreed permanent solutions. Pressure on 
places will also generate a number of large scale projects to expand secondary and 
specialist provision.  The overall indicative financial implications of the identified need at 
primary level is estimated to be £146m.  

Funding provided by central government to provide additional pupil places is known to be 
insufficient to meet current scheme cost estimates. The funding model assumes that 

Report authors:  
Jill Gough Tel:  07891 278 063
Viv Buckland Tel : 0113 37 83588

Page 665

Agenda Item 20



2

abnormal costs and site costs will be met by local authorities. The projects in development 
are becoming more complex, which increases the ‘abnormal’ cost estimates These 
pressures include the cost of land acquisition for expansion purposes or additional sites to 
locate new schools, and the possible loss of capital receipts to the Council. Latest 
discussions for increasing school places, particularly within the secondary sector, have 
more examples of these pressures included within them

As the construction industry continues to revive, sharp increases in tender prices have and 
are likely to continue to occur. As a consequence, Executive Board is asked to note the 
current Council estimate of the funding gap is £69.5m; this calculation is primarily based 
on EFA funding rates, which is known to be insufficient to meet current scheme cost 
estimates.  Elected Members should note that this does not include the cost for additional 
nursery and sixth form places where required, and there are increasing pressures on the 
accommodation providing specialist provision. The need for additional places in these 
areas is likely to significantly increase this funding gap. 

Since the last update to Executive Board in May 2015 the programme team led by officers 
from PPPU and assisted by colleagues in Children’s Services and City Development have 
successfully delivered a further £33.5m of investment into 8 schemes. A further 12 
schemes totalling an investment of £37.7m are on programme to deliver across 2015 and 
2016.

The Learning Places Programme is currently made up of 13 active schemes including one 
scheme to be injected into the programme through this report. Work continues to be 
undertaken in other areas of the city identifying possible solutions to satisfy the need for 
further places and further detail on this is set out in section 3.  Of the active schemes, 9 
have authority to spend from Executive Board (or under delegation for smaller schemes) 
with a total value of £23.4m. 

Executive Board is also asked to give authority to spend on the next phase of the 
programme, totalling £13m.

Recommendations

Executive Board is requested to approve:

 additional authority to spend on the Learning Places programme for the 
Roundhay scheme with a value of £13m.  This resets the overall approval of the 
schemes currently in the programme to £56.355m;

 that the balance of the programme risk fund is reset to £5.635m, to facilitate 
effective risk management at programme level; and

 that any savings made on applications to the programme risk fund are returned 
to the risk fund to support continued management of programme risks.

Executive Board is requested to note:

 the scale of identified need at primary level and the indicative financial 
implications of  £146m; 

Page 666



3

 the projected funding deficit which currently stands at £69.5m based on EFA 
rates. Members should note that this is likely to increase due to a number of 
factors set out in 4.4.5; and

 that the Head of Learning Systems continues to have client responsibility for the 
programme and the Chief Officer, Projects, Programmes and Procurement Unit 
continues to be responsible for the delivery of the projects in the Learning 
Places programme. 

Page 667



4

1 Purpose of the Report

1.1 To update Executive Board on the three year strategy for providing sufficient school 
places in the city, an update on progress of the projects currently forming part of the 
Learning Places Programme, seek approval for further authority to spend on the 
programme along with an update on applications made and approved for access to 
the programme risk fund.

2 Background information

2.1 The demand for additional school places has been increasing across the city as 
birth rates started to rise in 2000/2001. The Council has so far successfully 
delivered over 1400 reception places. The Cross-Party Steering Group, chaired by 
the Executive Member for Children’s Services and endorsed by Executive Board in 
July 2013, continues to assist the programme with Members from across the 
Council taking a proactive role. The group is supported by senior officers in 
considering strategic issues for the programme.

2.2 The Council retains a statutory responsibility to ensure that there are sufficient 
school places in the city, but in an environment of very limited direct control. 
Foundation Schools, Academies (including Free Schools) and Voluntary Aided 
Schools all have increased powers to make changes to their capacities. This 
means that the Council must work in partnership with schools and with sponsors of 
schools to meet its legal responsibility on school places. The local authority’s role 
is as a commissioner of places and it will seek to ensure good quality school 
places are provided to meet local demand.  However the local authority is the 
provider of last resort and is only able to open a community school if no other 
provider wishes to do so.

2.3 Children’s Services is responsible for ensuring that capacity and sufficiency 
planning leads to proposals for good quality local learning places. Children’s 
Services leads the management and delivery of consultation and approvals for 
schools. Clear responsibility and accountability protocols have been established to 
support the client role and transparency. The Projects, Programmes & 
Procurement Unit is responsible for the delivery of Learning Places projects 
following organisational changes approved by Executive Board in September 
2014.

3 Main issues

3.1 Forward plan of need 

3.1.1 All children and young people should be able to achieve well at school, from the 
earliest years through primary, secondary and specialist education, no matter what 
their background. The goal of the education system in Leeds is to enable all young 
people to have the best opportunities and to gain the right qualifications for 
rewarding employment and independence as they become young adults. Securing 
good quality learning places in every community is essential for every young 
person to have the best start in life.

Page 668



5

3.1.2 Leeds City Council has a statutory duty to ensure the provision of good quality 
learning places and to secure an appropriate balance locally between education 
supply, demand, choice and diversity. It is the role of the City Council to plan, 
organise and commission learning places in Leeds in a way that raises 
educational standards, manages fluctuations in pupil numbers and creates a 
diverse community of good schools. The Authority seeks to exercise this function 
in partnership with children and families, elected members, diocesan education 
boards, governing bodies of schools, head teachers, local communities and other 
key stakeholders.

3.1.3 Planning for changes in demand for education places is an important function 
which can only be fulfilled locally, at a level above the individual schools. 
Estimating school places is a complex process and rapid shifts in demographic 
changes, economic conditions, patterns of migration, parental preference 
patterns, and house building create uncertainties that require robust 
methodologies and responsive implementation.  It is imperative that the best 
information on housing, access to services, economic development and 
regeneration are brought together, alongside data held by other agencies, to 
inform the future needs for school places. Planning for learning needs to take into 
account the requirement to provide a learning offer across a wide age spectrum, 
from eligible 2 year olds right up to 18 year olds.

3.1.4 For Early Years provision, the latest DfE figure of eligible 2 year old places 
needed in Leeds is 4250 new places.  The expectation is that around 80% of 
families will want to take up a place, and a target has been set of 3,400 places 
opened and filled by January 2016.  At July 2014 take up of places was 1763.  At 
July 2015 take up of places was 2706 leaving a gap of 694 places to be filled.  
There has been a great deal of attention on place creation in the first 2 years of 
this project.  However, the focus now is to gather detailed intelligence around 
take-up to provide a comprehensive understanding of the barriers/attitudes which 
may prevent families from taking advantage of the offer.

3.1.5 Free early education places, for 3 and 4 year olds, can be accessed in a variety of 
settings across the city.  These include school nurseries, private nurseries, pre-
school groups and child-minders.  The take up of places as at Summer 2014 was 
15421, 95% of eligible children.  The estimated data for take up as at Summer 
2015 is 15,745, this figure may be subject to change at the end of term.  The 
increasing demand for early education places in the last 12 months has been met 
across a range of provisions in the city.

Primary

3.1.6 Across the 22 planning areas there is a need for a total of up to 25FE of extra 
capacity in 2016, with 20FE being permanent expansions and 5FE being one-off 
‘bulge’ cohorts.  Demographics suggest that the birth rate levels out after 2016, 
with 20FE continuing to be required in 2017 and 2018.  Conversations with 
schools and initial viability work to establish permanent solutions is underway and 
a number of governing bodies have already agreed to take additional children in 
2016. There will be a requirement for temporary solutions to be in place to cover 
the interim period until permanent expansions can be delivered in either 2017 or 
2018.  A table detailing the requirements across the 22 planning areas is attached 

Page 669



6

at appendix A, with a further city wide graphical representation at Appendix E.  It 
should be noted that the places agreed will be out of date at the point of 
publication as additional forms of entry are being agreed with governing bodies on 
a weekly basis.

3.1.7 It is unlikely that all of the 20FE additional capacity will be delivered within the 
existing school estate due to site constraints in terms of size or topography, 
therefore discussions are taking place cross-council in order to identify existing 
Council owned sites which may be suitable for use for the development of school 
accommodation.  Where sites are identified adjacent to existing schools, this 
could facilitate the expansion of existing schools, or where non-adjacent sites are 
identified, the development of a ‘through school’ model in conjunction with existing 
schools or the formation of new schools through the Academy and Free School 
presumption process.  It is also possible that a degree of capacity may emerge 
through a Free School independently of the presumption process, as the deadline 
for applications to establish a wave 10 free school was 7 October 2015.

Secondary provision

3.1.8 Projections have previously indicated that 4 new schools are required before 2019 
in the following areas: Inner East, Inner North East, Outer South and Outer North 
West. We are currently looking at potential expansions of existing 
schools/academies in the area, which could potentially deliver an additional 2FE 
within the Inner East.  An additional 50 places have been created at Roundhay in 
the Inner North East. The whole East will be impacted by the East Leeds 
Extension and initially by the 2000 houses that form part of the Northern 
Quadrant, where the need for 2 additional schools has been identified based on 
projections in these areas by 2020. Evaluation of potential sites is being 
undertaken to meet this need.

3.1.9 The Outer North West and Outer South areas are projecting the need for 5 
schools between them by 2022, with 2 of this 5 being by 2019. The table in the 
appendix A represents that need. Changes to 6th form may release some space 
within schools to allow for expansion and this will need to be investigated 
alongside current/best use of space. Appendix F shows a representation of this 
future need in the City.

3.1.10 Some of the changes that have occurred this year such as increases at Morley 
Academy, Rodillian, Allerton High and Ruth Gorse will change projections within 
the areas where these schools are located and although demand for places in 
these areas is starting to increase, these changes have been implemented by the 
schools themselves without financial assistance from the Council.

Post 16

3.1.11 Discussions are continuing to progress with Secondary Schools regarding their 
Post 16 provision. Following the launch of a Discussion Document with Heads, 
Chairs of Governors and Elected Members in the Summer of 2014, many schools 
are now considering their Post 16 provision which could create capacity in 
Secondary provision for 11-16 year old learning places.

Page 670



7

3.1.12 The opening of the Elliott Hudson 6th Form College in Sept 2015 has created 
capacity at The Morley Academy, The Farnley Academy, Bruntcliffe High School 
and Swallow Hill Community College who have all closed their 6th form provision 
within their schools, allowing potential use of that space for additional 11 – 16 
year olds.

SEN

3.1.13 Demand for specialist provision has risen more steeply than the increase in the 
overall birth rate would suggest. There is an increasing trend for children and 
young people with higher levels of need; data from January School Census and 
Leeds Funding for Inclusion shows a 16% increase in children from N1 to Year 14 
classified as Statement or School Action Plus. There has been a particularly sharp 
rise in under-fives with higher levels of need; children from N1 to reception show 
an increase of 84% over the period of 2001 to 2014 from 626 children to 1153. 

3.1.14 Across primary and secondary schools a projected 9% increase is expected 
between now and 2019. Complexity is also rising; increasing numbers are 
accessing Funding for Inclusion (FFI) for multiple needs: 386 in 2012 compared to 
252 in 2009, a 53% rise. 

3.1.15 Demand for specialist school places has also risen; to meet future need and 
respond to increasing demand for generic specialist places, there will be 
increased capacity in areas of increased demand. In April 2013 the Complex 
needs service was successful in their bid to the DFE to fund the cost of this 
expansion of provision.  The North East SILC (Woodhouse Site) will increase by 
50 places for the academic year 2015-2016 and full capacity of 150 places will be 
reached by the academic year 2017-18.  The South SILC will increase by 25 
places for the academic year 2015-2016 and full capacity of 50 will be reached in 
the next academic year. The Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team are 
exploring ways to increase the availability of resourced provision in mainstream 
schools.

3.2 Strategy of Delivery 

3.2.1 As highlighted previously, it is unlikely that all of the additional primary capacity will 
be delivered within the existing school estate, and there is also a need for 
additional sites to be identified for the new secondary provision that is being 
projected.  A ‘School Review Group’ has been established, the purpose of which is 
to develop a strategic plan for primary and secondary school sites on a city wide 
basis.  Whilst recognising the Council's statutory responsibility to ensure that there 
are sufficient school places, the group provides a Council-wide check and 
challenge of the demographic assumptions and land requirements, and considers 
them against other corporate priorities.  . 

3.2.2 In areas where expansion of existing schools cannot be achieved and/or where 
the demand for school places exceeds supply, the group will identify and review 
Council owned sites which may provide a suitable location for a new school, or 
where land is owned adjacent to existing school sites, provide opportunities for 
further expansion.  Consideration will be given in regard to the opportunity cost of 
utilising existing council-owned sites which have been identified within the capital 

Page 671



8

programme for disposal, where a capital receipt would have been realised.  Under 
such circumstances, a report would be submitted to Asset Management Board 
requesting that the site is reserved for potential future school use.  

3.2.3 Under circumstances where there are no council-owned sites available in an area 
of demand, the group will consider other land options available, such as buildings 
and sites in private ownership which may be available for sale.  Where such 
buildings and sites are identified, reports will be submitted to both Asset 
Management Board and Strategic Investment Board for consideration.  

3.2.4 To deliver such a high profile and challenging programme of work to the 
timescales required by colleagues in Children’s Services, will necessitate 
development of an effective partnership approach with around five key contractors 
utilising a pre-existing framework arrangements.  It should be noted that the 
default procurement strategy for the Learning Places programme is the YORBuild 
framework unless exclusivity provisions apply eg the Leeds Education Partnership 
who have exclusive right to works over £100k on the secondary estate.   We would 
look to bundle schemes together where ever possible to standardise design and 
material selection, this would enable the delivery team to build a common 
approach and understanding to minimise delivery timescale and maximise value 
for money.

3.3 Current programme

3.3.1 The Learning Places Programme has been successful since 2009 in delivering 
over 1400 new places. Executive Board in September 2014 approved a 
programme approach to the implementation of the Learning Places Programme 
realigning roles and responsibilities to make best use of Council resources and 
mitigate programme risks. The programme is currently made up of 13 active 
projects to provide places across the city, including one scheme to be injected into 
the programme through this report. 

3.3.2 Eight schemes have completed and been handed over in 2015 as indicated in 
Appendix B, Table 1. These schemes are to be removed from the programme. 
Nine schemes are in construction for delivery in 2015 / 2016 with Design Cost 
Report approval as indicated in Appendix B, Table 2. Three schemes are in 
development for completion in 2016 with indicative budget estimates, as indicated 
in Appendix B, Table 3.  Detailed Design and Cost reports for these schemes will 
be submitted to the Director of Children’s Services following detailed design and 
submission of tender prices.

3.4 Projects in the next phase of the Learning Places programme

3.4.1 Executive Board approval is sought for additional authority to spend on the 
Learning Places Programme of £13m for the Roundhay expansion scheme in the 
next tranche of delivery set out in Appendix B, Table 4. At this stage, this is an 
updated high level indication of the anticipated cost of the scheme, which has now 
progressed into the concept design phase. Scheme costs will be refined and 
updated at Design and Cost Report stage following more detailed design and 
submission of tender prices. 

Page 672



9

3.5 Applications to the Programme Capital Risk Fund 

3.5.1 In the September 2014 Basic Need Programme report, Executive Board approved 
the establishment of a Capital Risk Fund.  Approval was given to allow the Director 
of Children’s Services delegated authority to manage decisions on the allocation of 
money from the fund in to individual schemes budgets.  Decisions by the Director 
of Children’s Services to access the fund must be made with the prior approval of 
the Director of City Development and the Deputy Chief Executive and be in 
consultation with the appropriate Executive Members.

3.5.2     This approval process provides a mechanism which will enable timely and 
proportionate responses to variations which are required to individual project 
budgets pre and post DCR as well as providing an effective mechanism to 
manage financial risks at a programme level.  The Capital Risk Fund Budget was 
originally set at £10m or 10% of the total programme value. 

3.5.3 In the current reporting period since the 22 April 2015 Executive Board Report -  
Basic Need Programme - Capital Programme Update which reset the Capital Risk 
Fund at £8,975,570  there have been a further 4 requests to access the risk fund 
totalling £4,661,079 leaving a balance of £4,315,491.  

3.5.4 Three of the applications have facilitated a realignment of budgets, for these 
schemes the initial funding envelope had been based on EFA funding rates which 
are considered to be insufficient to deliver the complexity of schemes required by 
the programme and a high-level desktop viability study of additional 
accommodation required to facilitate an expansion.  Detailed design and costing 
works had not commenced to allow accurate scheme budgets to be set based on 
site conditions and design solutions proposed. As such these are not scheme 
overspends, but a realignment of budgets once the scheme has developed and a 
robust design freeze or pre-tender estimate can be provided. A Design and Cost 
Report (DCR) was subsequently approved for each of these schemes within the 
realigned approved budget. 

3.5.5   The fourth application indicated as 4 in the table below is the only request during 
the life of the programme to access the Capital Risk Fund after DCR approval has 
been achieved. Details of the reasons for this application are included in Appendix 
C.

Scheme Contingency application value 
(£)

1. Farsley Springbank and Westroyd 1,708,179 

2. Moor Allerton Hall Primary School 85,415

3. Guiseley Infants School 2,070,061

4. Farsley Westroyd Infant School 797,424
Total Risk Fund Applications 
current reporting period 

4,661,079

Approved Capital Risk Fund  Total 8,975,570

Total Remaining in Capital Risk  4,315,491

Page 673



10

3.5.6 An evaluation of risks that could impact on programme delivery has taken place to 
establish whether it may be necessary to adjust the amount of funding retained in 
the Programme Capital Risk Fund. The main risks to the programme include 
increases in construction costs, which are reported by the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors to be between 5% and 7% per annum, site abnormals, and 
resource constraints across the delivery partnership.  On this basis it is proposed 
that the capital risk fund be enhanced to £5.635m which maintains the fund at 
10% of the current programmes capital value. 

3.5.7 Where an application is made to the capital risk fund and subsequent savings are 
made, those savings made should be returned to the capital risk fund to support 
continued management of programme risks. There are currently two examples of 
where this scenario has arisen, an adjustment will be made to the fund when the 
scheme is complete on site and the final account has been agreed. The two 
schemes are Calverley - The actual tender returned price was £1,364,621 realising 
a  saving against DCR budget of £490,523.  Pudsey Primrose - The actual tender 
returned price was £2,056,284 realising a saving against DCR budget of 
£104,116.

  

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The programme includes a comprehensive approach to consultation with 
programme and project stakeholder engagement plans in place. Consultation is 
managed in accordance with relevant legislation and good practice.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Each Learning Places project is assessed on an individual basis, with EDCI 
screening accompanying the Design and Cost Report. Each project is designed to 
comply with British building regulations including adherence to the building 
regulations associated with the Disability Discrimination Act. A completed EDCI 
form for this report is attached as Appendix D. 

4.3 Council Policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The recommendations are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory 
duty to ensure there are sufficient school places for all children living in Leeds. 
Providing places local to where children live improves accessibility, reduces the 
journey to school and reduces the risk of non-attendance.

4.3.2 An objective in the Best Council Plan for 2015-16 and the vision in the Children & 
Young People’s Plan 2015-19 is to build a child-friendly city with a focus on 
ensuring all children and young people are safe from harm; do well at all levels of 
learning and have the skills for life; enjoy healthy lifestyles; have fun growing up; 
are active citizens who feel they have a voice and influence.  The programme 

Page 674



11

seeks to deliver a supply of good quality accessible local school places which can 
contribute to these outcomes.

4.3.3 When consulting on the schemes to progress as part of this programme, the 
consultation process is in line with the Best Council value ‘working with 
communities’ in ensuring that 100% of major decisions are supported by 
community engagement, consultation and due regard for equality.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Current position and funding allocations and funding gap 

4.4.2 Funding for new school places is provided by central government in the form of an 
annual basic need capital grant allocation and this has previously been 
supplemented with bid rounds for targeted funding. The funding provided to local 
authorities is rationed by central government based on the projections of places 
required nationally and locally. Some funding adjustments are made to the 
allocations to fund the national Academy and Free School programmes.

4.4.3 Allocations for Leeds are shown in the following table. 

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 Total 
2014-18 

Annual basic 
allocation

18,480,325 19,430,969 20,402,517 33,141,952 91,455,763

4.4.4 The latest announcement by the Department for Education was made on the 12th 
February 2015 and provided allocations for 2017-18, for which Leeds is due to 
receive £33,141,952. The Education Funding Agency has advised that this 
amounted to £12,320 per primary place and £15,400 per secondary place, an 
increase of 8.7% over the 2016-17 allocation. The latest Department for 
Education scorecard showed that Leeds is one of the best performing local 
authorities for the value for money on Learning Places schemes delivered. 
However, projects are becoming more and more complex, which increases the 
‘abnormal’ costs, reduces the opportunity to utilise standardised designs and 
makes the projects less attractive to the contractors, which results in higher ‘risk 
pricing’.  Contractors are becoming more selective around the schemes they 
tender for leading to either low tender return rates, or inflated prices.

4.4.5 The Council continues to monitor the overall deficit in funding which will arise from 
the need for new school places. This takes into account the latest demographic 
projections for primary and secondary places, the existing capacity in schools and 
projected funding assumptions up to 2018-19. The current Council estimate of the 
funding gap is £69.5m; however, this calculation is primarily based on EFA 
funding rates, which is known to be insufficient to meet current scheme cost 
estimates.  Elected Members should note that this does not include the cost for 
additional nursery and sixth form places where required, and there are increasing 
pressures on the accommodation providing specialist provision. The need for 
additional places in these areas is likely to significantly increase this funding gap. 

Page 675



12

4.4.6 The capital required to fund the 25FE primary places identified in section 3.1.6 of 
this report is estimated to be £146m based on current projections and costs on 
recent schemes in delivery. 

4.4.7 The discrepancy between funding provided by government and the cost of new 
places is most noticeable where new schools or large expansions have to be 
delivered.  This appears to be because the DfE assumes that abnormal costs and 
site costs will be met by local authorities and these costs are not generally 
assumed to be covered by these funding allocations. These pressures include the 
cost of land acquisition for expansion purposes or additional sites to locate new 
schools, and the possible loss of capital receipts to the Council. Latest 
discussions for increasing school places, particularly within the secondary sector, 
have more examples of these pressures included within them.

4.4.8 There has been a general increase in construction costs, heightened by the 
increase in demand for construction related services as a result of the improving 
economy. Construction firms with strong order books are being selective about 
the schemes for which they bid and are including risk premiums in the prices they 
quote.  It is expected therefore that tender prices will continue to rise for the 
foreseeable future potentially resulting in further applications to the programme 
capital risk fund.   

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report.

4.5.2 The processes for school expansions which have been followed are in 
accordance with the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the School 
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2013.

4.5.3 The proposals in this report are subject to call in.

4.5.4 Delegated decisions made by officers are subject to the usual constitutional rules 
on decisions. Decisions are subject to call in at their design and cost stage and 
where funding from the Learning Places risk capital fund is proposed in excess of 
£250,000 they will be key decisions subject to call in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 There are a range of risks on projects which are managed by the programme 
approach to the governance and funding of the schemes. Projects to deliver new 
places routinely carry a range of risks from their inception and the Council 
continues to review its approach to ensure risks are effectively managed. 

4.6.2 Risks arise because project delivery timescales are limited, school sites are 
constrained, land in the right locations is limited, funding is limited, disruption to 
the school must be minimised and new school places must be available from the 
respective Autumn term (September) to meet the statutory duty. A cross-Council 

Page 676



13

approach to dealing with site issues is in place to deliver solutions when risks 
materialise. 

5 Conclusions

5.1 The Council has responsibility for delivering new school places where needed. 
The Children’s Services Learning Places programme delivers on key strategic 
outcomes for the city and must continue its success against the background of 
Council budget saving targets, the pace and scale of the Learning Places 
programme and the complex risks on projects including a rising economy.

6 Recommendations 

Executive Board is requested to approve:

 additional authority to spend on the Learning Places programme for the 
Roundhay scheme with a value of £13m.  This resets the overall approval 
of the schemes currently in the programme to £56.355m;

 that the balance of the programme risk fund is reset to £5.635m, to 
facilitate effective risk management at programme level; and

 that any savings made on applications to the programme risk fund are 
returned to the risk fund to support continued management of programme 
risks.

Executive Board is requested to note:

 the scale of identified need at primary level and the indicative financial 
implications of  £146m; 

 the projected funding deficit which currently stands at £69.5m based on 
EFA rates. Members should note that this is likely to increase due to a 
number of factors set out in 4.4.5; and

 that the Head of Learning Systems continues to have client responsibility 
for the programme and the Chief Officer, Projects, Programmes and 
Procurement Unit continues to be responsible for the delivery of the 
projects in the Learning Places programme. 

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None

 

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 677



This page is intentionally left blank



 Appendix A 

This appendix provides an overview of how the forecasting of need is assessed and the anticipate need 
for the next three years.  For more than a decade the City has been notionally divided into Primary 
Planning Areas.  These are groups of primary schools within a geographic area that historically have 
been considered together.  Sometimes these may be village schools that are looked at in a wholly 
different way than more urban areas where often two or more planning areas may be considered 
together.  The areas do not match ward boundaries and are always considered both at a more granular 
level as well as in a wider area context. 

Many factors are considered together including births, cohort information as those children become 
older, housing, as well as historic patterns of preferences for schools.  These trends enable us to 
estimate the number of places that may be required, but it must be recognised that a range of factors 
that cannot be accurately foreseen also affect the level of overall demand that is experienced. 

The table below summarise the current forecast of the number of places likely to be required for the 
next three years.  Typically around 95% to 97% of births arrive in Reception classes.  The remainder 
may enter special schools, private schools, or be home educated.  On occasion, such as in 2009 and 
2015 this percentage increases, and may coincide with a net migration into the City.  Leeds is a 
growing and vibrant economy where there are new houses and a continued growth in the overall 
population.  Such changes may not be connected with any reasonably foreseen event, or in specific 
areas of the city. 

It should be noted that the table represents the number of places we anticipate being required to ensure 
that we maintain some spare capacity within the City. This enables parents to express their preferences 
and to have a reasonable expectation that one of those preferences can be met, where they have 
requested local schools. 

Although there is a need for 25FE from 2016, some of this includes one off bulge cohorts, where there 
may have been a spike in the birth rate for one year. The comment box shows the areas where this 
6FE needs is required.  

Summary of primary school places needed 2016 – 2018 

Primary Planning Area 

Summary for 2016 ‐ 2018 

Comments on need 
Need 

Amount 
agreed 

In discussion 
or 

consultation 

Alwoodley  1  0  1   

Ardsley Tingley  1  0  1 
Permanent need is 0.5FE / bulge 

need is 0.5FE 

Armley / Wortley  1.5  0.5  1 
Permanent need is 1FE / bulge 

need is 0.5FE 

Beeston  0.5  0.5  0   

Belle Isle  0.5  0  0.5   

Boston Spa  0         

Bramhope / Pool  0         

Bramley  0.5  0.5  0   

Burmantofts  1  0  1   

Calverley  0         

Page 679



Chapel Allerton  1  0  1   

Cookridge / Adel  1  0  1   

EPOS Villages South  0         

EPOS Villages West  0         

Farnley  0         

Farsley  0         

Garforth  0.5  0  0.5 
No permanent need / bulge 

need of 0.5FE 

Gildersome / Drigh  0         

Guiseley / Yeadon / Rawdon  0       
 

Harehills  2  0  2 
Permanent need is 1FE / bulge 

need is 1FE 

Holbeck  0         

Horsforth  0.5  0  0.5   

Hunslet  1  0  1   

Hyde Park / Headingley  1.5  0  1.5   

Kippax  0         

Kirkstall / Burley / Hawksworth 
Wood 

2  0.5  1.5 
Permanent need is 1.5FE / bulge 

need is 0.5FE 

Lower Aire Valley  0         

Manston  0         

Meanwood  2  1  1 
Permanent need is 1FE / bulge 

need is 1FE 

Middleton  1.5  0.5  1 
Permanent need is 1FE / bulge 

need is 0.5FE 

Morley  1  0  1 
No permanent need / bulge 

need is 1FE 

Osmondthorpe / Temple 
Newsam 

0       
A permanent need of 0.5FE was 
initially identified, but has been 

address through the TLA 

Otley  0         

Pudsey  1.5  0.5  1 
Permanent need is 1FE / bulge 

need is 0.5FE 

Richmond Hill  0         

Rothwell / R Hood / 
Woodlesford 

0       
 

Roundhay  2  0  2   

Seacroft  0.5  0  0.5   

Stanningley  0       
Permanent need is 0.5FE / No 

bulge need 

Swarcliffe / Whinmoor  1  0  1   

Wetherby  0         

Woodhouse  0         

Page 680



Total need (FE)  25  4  21   

Planning areas with need  22         

 

You will note from the table that the majority of places required peaks in 2016 with only the Stanningley 
area with any additional requirements from 2017.   

In an open letter from central government on 8 September Ministers indicated the intention to consult 
on a proposal that summer born children, those born between 1 April and 31 August, being permitted to 
defer entry to Reception for a full year.  We would anticipate that consultation will take place this 
autumn and could potentially come into force for entry in September 2016.  Approximately 4000 
children in Leeds would fall into this group and whilst we would not anticipate that the majority of these 
parents would seek to defer entry, potentially it could significantly affect the number of places required 
in the City. 

As part of the planning to ensure there are sufficient places discussions are being held with existing 
schools across the City and with all schools within affected areas.  Free school proposers also come 
forward and the majority discuss their plans with the local authority so that we can avoid a duplication of 
places within an area. Where the local authority is proposing any permanent change a public 
consultation will be undertaken.  Free schools are also required to undertake their own consultations if 
they are approved to proceed to the next stage following their initial applications. 

During the course of the next few months we will publish on the council website information for parents 
who are applying for school places where additional places have been agreed.  The website will also 
contain information about any consultations taking place.  Parents should apply online where possible 
for Reception places as they are easily able to amend their preferences if they wish to as further 
information is published. 

Some examples of discussions taking places are highlighted below. 

Alwoodley 

On 18th September a Stakeholder (OBA) event was held for the combined Roundhay and Alwoodley 
areas  to support the identification of solutions to meet the 1FE shortfall within the Alwoodley area.  The 
Khalsa Academies Trust have highlighted that their intention is to increase the PAN at Khalsa Science 
Academy from 1FE to 2FE from September 2017. This would have a significant impact on our position 
and would increase capacity in the area but a potential solution for 2016 may still have to be identified.  

Roundhay 

On 18th September a Stakeholder (OBA) event was held for the combined Roundhay and Alwoodley 
areas  to support the identification of solutions to meet the 2FE shortfall within the Roundhay area. A 
number of options were put forward and are currently being investigated to determine the viability of 
these. In addition a free school group are looking within the area and also attended the stakeholder 
event.  

Pudsey / Swinnow 

A Stakeholder (OBA) event was held in the spring of 2015 to identify solutions to meet the need for an 
additional 1FE permanent and 0.5FE bulge. Following the event discussions continued with all schools 
alongside site feasibility work. With Pudsey / Swinnow being a large area with 10 primary schools, the 
strategic plan was to spread the additional provision, rather than place this all at one school, and help 
meet the need at a much more local level. Consultations are now progressing on proposals to 
permanently expand Park Spring Primary School from 1.5FE to 2FE and Greenside Primary School 

Page 681



from 1.5FE to 2FE with effect from September 2017. In addition, both these schools have agreed to 
take a 0.5FE bulge for September 2016 to help address the need in the short term. An additional 0.5FE 
bulge is required for 2016 and discussions are ongoing with other schools.  

 

Page 682



Appendix B

Schemes in the Learning Places Programme

Table 1: Schemes completed and in defects to be removed from the programme

Scheme

Places to 

be created

Year 

places 1st 

available Current ATS/DCR Scheme Status

Asquith Primary School Phase 3, Bnew build 210 2014 £2,895,100 Complete in defects

Barwick in Elmet Primary School sufficiency scheme n/a n/a £297,400 Complete in defects

East Ardsley Primary School Phase 3 105 2014 £884,200 Complete in defects

Little London Community Primary School 420 2014 £6,633,300 Complete in defects

NE SILC (West Oaks) 150 2015 £10,311,000 Complete in defects

Robin Hood Primary School 105 2014 £1,201,500 Complete in defects

South Leeds (Lane End) Primary School 420 2014 £7,205,100 Complete in defects

South SILC (Broomfield) 420 2015 £4,071,100 Complete in defects

£33,498,700

Table 2: Schemes with ATS and in construction currently in the programme

Scheme

Places to 

be created

Year 

places 1st 

available Current ATS/DCR Scheme Status

Calverley C of E Primary School 105 2015 £2,555,000 On site

Farsley Springbank Junior School 180 2015 £4,462,800 On site

Farsley Westroyd IS convert Primary School 30 2015 £2,092,824 On site

Guiseley IS convert to Primary School 150 2015 £5,039,061 On site

Horsforth Broadgate Primary School 210 2015 £2,786,400 On site

Moor Allerton Primary School DAHIT provision 0 2015 £363,800 On site

Pudsey Primrose Hill Primary School 105 2014 £2,719,430 On site

Pudsey St Joseph's Primary School 105 2015 £1,500,000 On site

St Oswalds JS convert to Primary School 60 2015 £1,900,000 On site

£23,419,315

Table 3: Schemes in development to complete 2016 currently in the programme

Scheme

Places to 

be created

Year 

places 1st 

available Scheme estimate Scheme Status

Castleton Primary School 210 2016 £5,000,000 Developed Design

Gledhow Primary School 210 2016 £5,300,000 Developed Design

Hollybush Primary School 210 2016 £4,000,000 Developed Design

£14,300,000

Table 4: Schemes in development to complete 2017 to be added to the programme

Scheme

Places to 

be created

Year 

places 1st 

available Scheme estimate Scheme Status

Roundhay 325 2017 £11,200,000 Feasiblity

Total Revised Programme Budget £48,919,315

Page 683



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 

Background to Capital Risk Fund Application

Farsley Westroyd Infant School

There has only been one request to access the Capital Risk Fund after a DCR has 
been formally approved for the scheme, for Farsley Westroyd Infant School.

The scope of the project at Farsley Westroyd Infants School is to build a single 
storey small group room extension to the main infants building alongside internal 
remodelling works to the classrooms, toilets, kitchen, improved circulation in the 
main corridor; and improved access to Reception and Office for all users to enter via 
the Main Entrance.

At the Farsley Westroyd Nursery site there will be a single storey classroom 
extension with toilets and a wet area to house the reception class which will create 
an Early Years Foundation unit.

The programme risk fund application has been required to address:-

Almost £500k of pricing discrepancies was found with the previously submitted price from 
the former contractor. The original contractor submitted tender price was used as part of the 
pre-tender estimate and formed the basis of the documentation that was used to complete 
the Design and Cost Report.

In order to complete the works in line with the agreed programme  a significant amount of 
double shift working will be required  (15 hour work days.)

Drainage works and attenuation to the rear play area were missed out of the original tender 
price and have had to be designed and included within the revised tendered costs.

Initial design fees of approx. £120,000 to the previous contractor for their design costs up to 
Stage E.

The cost of the modular temporary classrooms provided by the original contractor as part of 
their tender was based on half the quantity of the actual required spaces. The revised 
temporary teaching rooms have increased in value from £250,000 up to £450,000.

Page 685



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D 

EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 
 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate:   Strategy and Resources Service area:  PPPU 

Lead person:  Jill Gough Contact number: 07891 278 063  

 
1. Title:  Executive Board Report – Learning Places Programme - Capital 

Programme Update 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 

 
 Main aim 

The rapidly increasing birth rate in Leeds has resulted in the need to provide 
additional pupil places on a city wide basis.  Executive Board in September 2015 
considered and supported the adoption of a programme approach to the 
implementation of Learning Places projects which form part of the strategy for 
ensuring sufficient good quality learning places in Leeds. The Learning Places 
Programme represents the Council’s response to the demographic growth 
pressures on the school provision in the city. The rapidly increasing birth rate in 
Leeds has required the Council to approve over 1400 new reception places since 
2009 in order to fulfil its statutory duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. The 
programme will continue as there are ongoing pressures on school places. This 
report provides an update on the scale of the future programme and seeks 
authority to spend for the next tranche of schemes and includes an update on 
applications to the programme capital risk fund.  
 

 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 687



Appendix D 

EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

2

 Purpose 
A screening exercise has been carried out to determine whether future building 
projects associated with this report have the potential to impact on equality, 
diversion, cohesion and integration. 

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

 
All the Council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, 
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also 
have a greater/lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other 
relevant characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, 
unemployment, residential location or family background and education or skills 
levels). 

 

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 
Yes  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 
No 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 

No 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 
No 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

Yes  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity; 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 

Page 688



Appendix D 

EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

3

 
 
 
 
 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How equality, diversity, cohesion and integration will be considered during 
each Basic Need project 

 
Consultation and Involvement 
 
Consultation will take place with the following key stakeholders throughout each 
Learning Places project.   
 
o Public consultation sessions 

These will be held from the outset of the expansion proposal and also prior to 
the submission of the planning proposal when detailed plans will be presented.  
Local residents and parents will be targeted as part of this process.   
 

o Consultation with Planning & Highways Officers 
Periodic discussions will take place with colleagues at key junctures within the 
project development and all comments will be incorporated into the final 
proposals submitted for planning.   
 

o Staff Briefing Sessions 
The core school management team will be involved in the development of the 
proposals and key considerations regarding accessibility will be included within 
the design.   
 

o Councillor Briefing Sessions 
Local ward members will be kept abreast of the design proposals and their 
subsequent development as the scheme progresses.   
 

o School Governing Body 
The school governing body will be regularly updated on progress and allowed 
to feedback with comments on an ad hoc, upon request basis.   
 

 Key findings 
 

Each Learning Places project will be designed to comply with British building 
regulations, a requirement of which is the adherence to the Disability 
Discrimination Act (DDA) and the associated building regulations linked to this 
legislation.  As such all aspects of the building and associated development will be 

Page 689



Appendix D 

EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

4

designed with accessibility and inclusion in mind as a core facet.   
 

 Actions 
 

Each scheme will be assessed on an individual basis to ensure compliance with 
current DDA regulations. Existing access issues and other DDA related issues will 
be addressed where possible within the overall scope of works. 

 
 

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:  

Date to complete your impact assessment:  

Lead person for your impact assessment: 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

   

 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
Date screening completed  
Date sent to Equality Team 
 

 

Date published 
(To be completed by the Equality Team) 

 

 

Page 690



-1681 

-1459 

-1079 

-708 

-346 
-440 -432 

-326 
-203 

-293 -343 

444 

139 

-36 

281 

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

05/06 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

 City-wide PANs/Births/Under-5s Cohorts/Projections by Year of Reception 
Admission 

Difference PAN v Recep. Projection Admission Limits (PAN) Reception Jan Census/Projection

Births (lagged by 5 years) Current Under-5's Cohorts

P
age 691



T
his page is intentionally left blank



-384 -344 
-277 

-442 
-531 

-401 

-792 -828 -826 

-974 

-842 

-542 

-54 

313 

606 

955 

1267 

1126 

1316 

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

05/06 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

City Wide Admission Limits & Year 7 Numbers on Roll/Projections by Year of 
Admission 

Difference ALs v Yr 7 NOR/Projection Admission Limits (ALs) Yr 7 Jan Census NOR/Projection Most recent Census figure

P
age 693



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Long Term Strategic Partnership with Leeds City Credit Union
	7 Re-location of Red Hall Horticultural Nursery to Whinmoor Grange
	Redhall Whinmoor Report Appendix 1 091015
	Redhall Whinmoor Report Appendix 2A 091015
	Redhall Whinmoor Report Appendix 2B 091015

	8 Commissioning a new model for the delivery of Supporting People Services
	Supporting People Services Report Appendix 1 091015
	Supporting People Services Report Appendix 2 091015
	Supporting People Services Report Appendix 3 EIA screening 091015

	9 Improving Air Quality within the City
	Air Quality Report Appendix 1 091015
	Air Quality Report Appendix 2 091015
	Air Quality Report Appendix 3 EIA 091015

	10 Strong Economy, Compassionate City
	Strong Economy Compassionate City Report Appendix 1 EIA 021015

	11 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 - 2019/20
	12 Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 - Month 5
	13 Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy
	Licensing Policy Report Appendix A 081015
	Licensing Policy Report Appendix B ECDI Screening 081015

	14 Equality Update: Improvement Priorities 2016-2010, and the Equality Framework Re-accreditation
	Equality Update Appendix 1 Equality Action 29 09 15
	Equality Update Appendix 2 eip summary 29 09 15
	Equality Update Appendix 3 carry forward of 2011 to 2016 priorities 29 09 15
	Equality Update Appendix 4 EF Narrative 2015 29 09 15

	15 An Approach to Street Design and the Public Realm in Leeds City Centre
	Public Realm Report Appendix 1 091015
	Public Realm Report Appendix 2 091015
	Public Realm Report Appendix 3 091015
	Public Realm Report Appendix 4 EIA 091015

	16 The Regeneration of the New Briggate Area
	New Briggate Report Appendix 1 091015
	New Briggate Report Appendix 2 091015
	New Briggate Report Appendix 3 091015 EXEMPT
	New Briggate Report Appendix 4 EIA 091015

	17 Our Transport Vision for a 21st Century Leeds
	Transport Vision Report Appendix 1 121015
	Our transport vision for a
	21st Century Leeds
	Moving
	Growing
	Reshaping
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: THE VISION
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: THE HEART OF THE CITY REGION
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: A DEFINING MOMENT TO RESHAPE OUR CITY
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: A WORLD CLASS CITY
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: UNLOCKING HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT GROWTH
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: PROMOTING PEOPLE FRIENDLY QUALITY PLACES
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: A TRANSPORT SYSTEM THAT MAKES IT HAPPEN
	4. Enabling a new dimension
	of travel choice
	5. Unlocking housing
	and employment growth
	2. Promoting people friendly quality places across the district
	3. Reducing the cost of doing business across the city
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: DELIVERING OUR VISION
	21st CENTURY LEEDS: DELIVERING OUR VISION

	Transport Vision Report Appendix 2 EIA 091015

	18 The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy - Spending of the Neighbourhood Fund and Other Spending Matters
	CIL Report Appendix 1 091015
	CIL Report Appendix 2 091015
	CIL Report Appendix 3 091015
	CIL Report Appendix 4 091015

	19 East Leeds Extension update and next steps
	ELE Update Report Appendix 1 121015
	ELE Update Report Appendix 2 121015 EXEMPT
	ELE Update Report Appendix 2A 121015 EXEMPT
	ELE Update Report Appendix 3 121015
	ELE Update Report Appendix 4 121015
	ELE Update Report Appendix 4 Plan1 121015
	ELE Update Report Appendix 4 Plan2 121015
	ELE Update Report Appendix 4 Plan3 121015
	ELE Update Report Appendix 5 EDCI 121015

	20 Learning Places Programme - Capital Programme Update
	Learning Places Report Appendix A 121015
	Learning Places Report Appendix B 121015
	Learning Places Report Appendix C 121015
	Learning Places Report Appendix D 121015
	Learning Places Report Appendix E 121015
	Learning Places Report Appendix F 121015




